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TRANSLATOR’S PREFACE

1

Tay, Emperor Akbar (reign 1556-1605 A.D.) set the example of
having a detailed history of his reign written by official command.
The result was the Akbar-namah or ‘Book of Akbar’ of Abul Fagl
{(completed by other hands after that author’s death). Then came
the Emperor Jahangir, who dictated his own memoirs, known as
the Tuzuk-i-Jahangiri, and therefore no official Jahangir-namah had
to be written about him. This book, however, combines the literary
characteristics of an autobiography with those of an official history,
or in other words, it gives the Emperor’s own reflections and feelings
as well as an objective record of the events of his reign. Indeed, in
this reign, the literary type of the Mughal official histories was
determined for the future, as was exemplified by the Padishihnamah
(Shah Jahan), the ‘Alamgir-namah (of Aurangzib, completed by the
Maasir-i-Alamgiri), the Bahddur Shah-n@mah (Shah Alam I) and later
attempts like the Tarikh-i-Ahmad Shahi and the Tarikh-i-‘Alamgir
Sani.

In all these works, or Namahs proper, the events are built upon
a rigid skeleton of dates chronologically arranged ; there "is an
accurate but tiresome assemblage of minute names of persons and
places in the course of every month’s narrative of occurrences, and
the mechanical division of the book into a chapter for each regnal
year is followed. Such a collection of facts, if it is to be correct,
requires a basis of written official records, and this basis was supplied
by the waqai’ or official reports of occurrences regularly sent from
every province to ‘the central Government of Delhi. By an order
issued in the 24th year of his reign (1580), Akbar appointed in
each province of his empire a uniform set of officers, one of whom
was the Waqai‘-navis or Recorder of Events. (Akbar-ndmah, Bev.
tr., iii. 413, also 559). Jahangir continued the system. As he writes,
“It had been made a rule that the events of the sybahs should be
reported according to the boundaries of each, and news-writers from
the Court had been appointed for this duty. This being the rule
that my revered father had laid down, I also observe it, .. .. and
information is thus acquired about the world and its inhabitants.”
(Tuzuk, Roger’s tr. i. 247, see also Baharistan-i-Ghayibi, Borah’s
tr. i. 209.) But the system of appointing secret news-writers to the
provinces was really borrowed by the Indian Mughals from the
‘Abbasid Khalifs who had borrowed it from the ancient Irinian
empire. ‘The different classes of these news-reporters and their
method of work are fully described in my book, Mughal Administra-
tion, ch. IV. sec. 6.

When this State intelligence-department was fully developed
with the expansion of the Mughal Empire under Shah Jahin and
Aurangzib; (1627-1707), a huge collection of reports, written on
small slips of paper and transmitted to the capital in bamboo
cylinders (nalo) at regular weekly or fortnightly intervals,—came to
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be formed in the archives at the capital. Besides the_se there were
the akhbarat-i-darbar-i-mu‘ala, or reports of everything that was
done or said in public at the Court or camp where @he Emperor was
present in person. These were written daily,—sometimes twice a day,
when (as usual) there were morning levees and evening Courts held
by His Majesty. Such akhbardts or manuscript news-letters were
sent to the vassal princes, provinéial governors, and generals out on
campaign by their paid agents at the imperial Court, and differed
only in their place of origin from the letters coming in a contrary
direction, namely the Iletters of the Government spies in the
mufassil which supplemented the more open reports of the official
waqai’-navis. -

On this accumulated mass of accurate, detailed, and absolutely
contemporary records of occurrences, some Persian author, known
for his mastery of polished courtierly prose, was selected by the
Emperor to work and write the Namah or official annals of his
reign. The book was read to the Emperor and corrected under the
royal direction before being passed for publication,—the term
‘publication’ here meant, the release of the book for being copied
for presentation to the princes and high nobles. The Emperor, after
one or two trial hearings, delegated the work of revision to his
wazir. )

These official annals, in addition to being full of nauseating
flattery of the author’s patron and his ‘‘sacred” offspring, were
extremely verbose ; for example the record of the first 20 years of
Shah Jahan’s reign occupies 1662 printed pages of 22 lines each (or
83'1 pages for a single year on the average); the history of the
first decade of Aurangzib’s reign covers 1107 pages of the same size
‘(or_ 110'7 pages for one year). But their details and dates of
incidents are valuable, though I have detected instances where the
Namah has given a wrong date owing to the carelessness of the
historian’s clerks in making extracts from the waqi‘@ in the imperial
record office for being worked into his history. However, the
survival of the dkhbarat for that particular day has enabled me to
correct the wrong date entered in the Namah.

It must also be conceded that the author’s flattery of the
Emperor, though fulsome and offensive to modern taste, is more
a defect of manner than one of fact. In these official histories, no
fact has been really falsified, though credit is often given to the
Emperor where he did not deserve it. - We shall have more patience
with the courtly author and derive greater profit from his book if we
remember that he is only following the facon de parler prevalent
in Asiatic courts. And why Asiatic only? The Stuart king of
England was styled ‘““His Gracious and Sacred Majesty” and
Napoleon’s Moniteurs were not models of factual veracity. ‘Thus,
with a Namah in our hands, we get the true basis for a narrative of
the events of that monarch’s reign and can then form our own
judgment of the characters and political forces. Their chief defect
—and one which disqualifies them from being called histories in the
modern sense of the term, is theit absolute silence about the economic

and social aspects of the times, and what is kno b iti
e epe ‘ wn as “‘the qondlgxon
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The history of the first ten years of Aurangzib’s reigm--Was
written, under his orders, in the form of a full-sized Namah, by
Mirza Muhammad Kazim, under the title of ‘Jlamgzr—namah
(Printed in the Bibliotheca Indica series by the R.A.S. Bengal.) But
after the author had completed the first devade, the Emperor forbade
him to continue it any further. The reason for this prohibition is
given by Siqi Musta‘d Khan as, ‘‘Because this monarch of the
external and internal universe preferred laying the foundations of
things esoteric to displaying things external’, (p. 68 of the printed
Persian text.) * What really happened was that when (about 1670)
the history of the tenth year was completed by Kazim, Aurangzib
curtailed his State expenditure and-closed the costly department of
prolix official annals, ‘I'here is no authority for the popular legend
that he forbade the writing of his history by any one else as a crime
or that Khafi Khan’s history is so entitled because it was written
in secret (khufia). in fear of any such royal prohibition. The word
Khafi has nothing to do with _khufie ; it really means ‘a native of
Khwaf’,—a district of XKhurasin situated between Herat and
Nishabur (Encyclopaedia of Islam, ii. 866.)

Aurangzib’s finances did not improve when the second decade
of his reign ended in 1678. He now found himself too much in-
volved with the tribes on the Afghan frontier and was soon afterwards
too hard pressed by the Rajputs and the Marathas, to allow him to
spend any thought or money on such non-utilitarian purposes as
the compilation of a florid and verbose chromicle of his reign. -And
bis circumstances did not improve up to the end of his life. Thus
it happened that no complete history of his reign came to -be
officially composed while he lived.

After his death (in 1707), his last secretary and favourite
disciple in State policy and religiosity, I‘ndyetullah Khan Kashmiri,
urged Saqi Musta‘d Khan to complete the history of such a2 model
sovereign. In order to help him in this work, the State archives
were thrown .-open to him and he made extracts -of the necessary
materials to be used in his book, which was completed in 1710 and
entitled Maasir-i-"dlamgiri. For the career of ‘Indyetullah, see
Irvine’s Later Mughals, 1. 259 and 333 ; he rose to be Wazir under
Muhammad Shah and was keen on reimposing the jazia on the
Hindus, (Ibid. 1. 103-105).

Of our author Muhammad Siqi Musta’d Khan’s life, we know a
few facts only, all supplied by him either in his own History of
Aurangzib or in his preface to his patron Bakhtiwar Khan's book
the Mirdt-ul-‘Alam. "He was brought up by Bakhtiwar Khan (a
favourite officer of Aurangzib, whose character is noted in the
Maasir, (p. 253 of the printed text). In this Khan’s establishment
our author filled the offices of munshi and diwan. He assisted his
patron, during the last seventeen years of his life, in the composition
of the Mirat-ul-*Alam, which Aurangzib authonsed him after
Bakhtawar’s death, to make public. -~ He then passed into the
imperial service with a mansab. He held urder this Emperor in
succession the posts of mushrif of the ji-namaz-khanah, waqii‘navis
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of Thursdays, mushrif of the Khawases, and munshi of the naziral,
{text, pp. 253, 255, 407, 462.)

A gentleman of Patna City, named Babu Ram Bahadur (alies
Chhotu Lal), has a Persian ms. named Inshi-i-Matlub, which contains
letters written by Saqi Musta‘d Khan to his contemporaries, but it
lacks pp. 9-48, and the paper is old and brittle.

The Maasir-i-*Alamgiri has been written in a very much
abridged form compared with the Namahs ; on an average it gives
11 pages to one year’s narrative, against 110'7 pages for one year of
the same reign in ‘the ‘Alamgirnimah. But the loss is really one
of the flowers of rhetoric  rather than of facts. Consequently in
many places it reads like a dry list of official postings and promotions
as in our Government Gazettes. But its other portions give valuable,
sometimes interesting information, especially the few that embody
the author’s personal observations and reflections on events, or
character-sketches.

In this translation the text has been slightly condensed. Not
a single fact or date has been omitted by me, but the prolix wording
of some sentences has been replaced by a plain recital of their
substance, and many trite reflections and moralisations (which are
conventional in Persian historical literature at the beginning of a
chapter or section) have been omitted altogether ; also, verses and
long laudatory phrases. But every significant epithet has been
preserved. I have inserted the page numbers of the Persian original
in the body of my translation, so that any curious reader can easily
satisfy himself that this is a complete reproduction in English of
the historical matter of the original text. All the Hijera dates have
been converted to the Christian era according to Swami-Kannu
Pillai’s Indian Ephemeris.

This translation was made by me many years ago for my own
uyse, and it was laid aside when my History of Aurangzib in 5
volumes was completed. On the Royal Asiatic Society of Bengal
agreeing to print it and thus fill a long-standing gap of 51 years in
the authentic sources of Mughal Indian history available in English,
my translation was compared word for word with the original,
revised, and in several places expanded by the addition of phrases
and sentences from the original which had been omiited in my
rather too utilitarian first version. Every word of the Persian text
which I now consider to be significant and necessary for bringing
out the author’s tone and spirit, has been restored.

In this work of revision I have been very greatly helped by
Professor Nirod Bhusan Roy, M.A., whom the Society has appointed
to assist me in preparing the copy and seeing this (and several other
books planned by the Society) through the press. He has gone
through my translation with meticulous care and persistently drawn
my attention to every point where he thought it better to modify my
former wording or amplify a passage in order to make it correspond
more cl.osely to the original author’s intentions. After discussion,
I have in most cases accepted his view and made the change. After
the press-copy had_ been thus prepared and a portion actually set in
type, I was supplied, through the courtesy of Khan Sahib Sayyid
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Hasan Askari, M.A. (Professor, Patna College), with an old manu-
script of the Persian original, transcribed about 1750, from the
Wagqgf Library of Diwdn Nasir Ali (in Khujwan, Arrah district),
which furnishes a much more correct text than the printed Biblio-
theca Indita edition and fills up certain serious gaps in the latter not
noticed when the text was printed. My English translation has been
revised a second time by collating it witl; this newly found manu-
script under Professor N. B. Roy’s care, and a great improvement
effected. Most of the emendations I have made in the printed Persian
text from this manuscript and other authentic sources, are indicated
by inserting in the body of the book the word Cor within brackets,
without burdening the pages with a footnote on every variant reading.
Many other obvious errors of the printed text also have been silently
corrected. For this enhancement of the usefulness of the translation,
the reader’s gratitude is due to Professor Roy.

Owing to the present difficulty of printing, the translation has
been printed with a bare minimum of the most necessary diacritical
marks, namely &, &, and the apostrophe for ‘ain. But-it has been
considered unnecessary to insert these marks in the .case of words
which occur most frequently, or continue the system to the end of
the book after following the rules for several pages. Nor have I
been able to maintain uniformity in the spelling of proper names
throughout such a long book full of such names. This is particularly
the case with regard to the final b.

The elaborate index has been prepared by Professor Nirod
Bhusan Roy and ought to prove very helpful to the reader by reason
of its accumulation of information and methodical arrangement. The
glossary of obscure words has been added by me.

J adunath Sarkar
Oct. 1947
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Aslam
Khan, Mulla
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Saifuddin [as on p. 84 of text]
a sword-belt decorated with
silver filigree work [cor.]
jilan ’
Ala Tabar
Faziil [cor.]

Khan gained the title of Mukhtar Khan and Qamruddin,
read Nur-ul-dahar

for Nur-ul-bahar
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mashk and matwale
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Asad

langri

and mashk
Islampuri
Mirza Khan

The word manzil means a halting-place

in a journey, or the point at which the reading of a section of the
Quran stopped on a particular day. Does the variant adopted in the
printed text mean that Shih 'Alam at first trained himself by duly
chanting only one verse a day, and after he had memorized the whole
he used to recite whole sections?

For Sakkhar read Sagar, oun- pp. 207, 208, 218, 220, and 204.



MAASIR-I-'ALAMGIRI

CHAPTER I

WAR OF SUCCESSION BEGINS

[2]* On the 6th Sept. 1657/7th Zil.H., 1067 A.H.
the Emperor Shah Jahdn, who will henceforth be designated
‘Ala Hazrat,—fell ill at Delhi, [3] and had to give up the
work of government. Hi$ eldest son, Dara Shukoh, seizing
the opportunity, closed the roads of the arrival of news from
the provinces, and this led to great disorder in the Empire;
(so that) Murid Bakhsh, the fourth son of the Emperor, and
Subahdar of Gujrat, crowned himself (there), and Shah
Shuj‘a, the Emperor’s second son, did the same thing in
Bengal, and. advanced with his army on Patna. Dara
Shukoh, in his fear of Aurangzib’s power, (had) tried to
alienate Shah Jahan’s mind from him, and by means
of various lies induced him to recall to Court the army
previously sent to reinforce Aurangzib. And with the
design that in the Emperor’s lifetime and under his
protection he would get rid of Shuj‘ad and Murad Bakhsh
and then with peace of mind turn to the affairs of the
Deccan and the removal of Aurangzib, Dard conveyed the
Emperor to Agra when his disease was at its worst. He
sent Raja Jai Singh with imperial and his own troops
under the.command of his eldest son Sulaimin Shukoh
against Shuj‘d. At the same time Raja Jaswant Singh,—
who being related to Shih Jahan’s mother, was greatly
trusted and given the title of Mahar3ja, and was one of the
chief Rajas of Hindustan, was sent with a large army
towards Malwa on the way to the Deccan, in order to
bar the road. A separate force under Qisim Khan was
appointed to accompany the Maharaja to Ujjain, and,
%4] if found politic, to start against Murid Bakhsh,

hrough Diard Shukoh’s magic arts the Emperor’s mind

*The figures within square brackets indicate the page-numbers of the
Persian text as printed in the Bibliotheca Indica Series, edited by Agha
Ahmad- ‘Ali, Calcutta, 1871 A.D. All words withln square brackets have
been added by the translator, Sir Jadunath Sarkar, who has silently corrected
the musprints in the text, especially about proper names.



2 MAASIR-I-‘ ALAMGIRI [cH. 1

was somewhat estranged from Aurangzib. He ordered ‘Isa
Beg, Aurangzib’s agent (at Court), to be imprisoned for no
offence, and confiscated his property; but after a time
realising the shamefulness of this act released him. Among
the villainous ways of Dara Shukoh—what became the chief
cause of Aurangzib’s wrath was the inclination of his heart
to the principles (or practices) of the Hindus and the
spreading of disregard of Islamic religious prohibitions
(Ibahat and I1had). Therefore, considering it necessary to
defend the faith and the State, Aurangzib determined to go
to Shah Jahan and to carry (with himself) Murad Bakhsh,
who after doing some foolish acts, had at this time sub-
missively begged the patronage of Aurangzib. As it was
probable that Jaswant Singh and Qasim Khan would fight,
Aurangzib prudently collected the means of war, and on
Monday, the 25th January, 1658 /1st Jamad A., 1068 A.H.,
started from Aurangabad towards Burhanpur, where he
arrived on Thursday, the 18th February/25th Jamad A.,
and whence he sent a letter to Shah Jahan (begging per-
mission) to visit him in his illness. No reply came in one
month, but alarming news continued to arrive. Jaswant, at
the instigation of Dara Shukoh, displayed aggression. On
the 20th March/25th Jamad S., Aurangzib started for
Agra, and on Wednesday, the 14th April/21st Rajab, when
marching from Dipalpur [5] he met on the way Murad
Bakhsh, who had come from Ahmadibad to see him.
Aurangzib halted at Dharthatpur (situated 7 kos from
Ujjain), one kos off from which village Jaswant Singh and
Qasim Khan had encamped for the purpose of fighting.
The enemy stepped beyond their limits and prepared for .
fight. On Thursday, the 15th April 1658/22nd Rajab,
Aurangzib marshalled his army in battle order, and beat
his drums for battle. Jaswant, too, drew up his troops and
rode (out) to fight, and the two armies clashed together.
Though the Hindus were very numerous they were
slanghtered, and at last Jaswant took to flight with a small
party towards his ‘home’ Marwar.

[6] Qasim Khan and other imperial soldiers considered
it fortunate to fly with their lives from such destruction.
Aurangzib gained the victory and captured all the property
of the enemy. At the Prince’s order mearly six thousand
dead bodies of the enemy were counted.

. On Sunday the 23rd May 1658/1st Ramzan,
Aurangzib crossed the Chambal and heard that Dira
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Shukoh had advanced from Dholpur. On Friday, the
28th May/6th Ramzan, he arrived near the army of Dari
and halted at a distance of 114 kos. Dara on horseback
advanced that day a little in front of his camp, but not
daring to step further in his fear of Aurangzib, he tormented
his soldiers, who were all fully armed, by keeping them all
the day in the burning wind. Vast numbers perished of
excessive hunger and thirst. At the end of the day he
retired to his place. The following day, Aurangzib ordered
his army to advance towards Agra. That morning, the
29th May 1658/7th Ramzan, Dara drew up his army on
the ground he had taken up the day before and advanced
against the army of Aurangzib. A violent battle followed ;
it began with the roar of guns and muskets on both sides;
and the fire of slaughter blazed forth. Rustam Khan,
Rao Chhatra Sil, Raja Rai Singh Rathor and other chiefs
of Dara’s army were slain, and although [7] he still had
a (large) body of troops with himself, his firmness was
shaken ; he descended irom his elephant and mounted his
horse. At this untimely move on his part his soldiers were
disturbed in mind and took to flight. The breeze of victory
blew on Aurangzib’s banners. One of the wonderful signs
of Aurangzib’s fortune was this, that, while so many
commanders of Dard Shukoh were slain that the like was
not seen in any other battle,—not to speak of his losses in
common soldiers—not one of the leaders of the victorious
army perished except ‘Azam Khan alias Multafat Khan,
who died after the victory from the violence of the (hot)
wind.

Dara after his flight arrived at his house in Agra in the
evening with his son and a few servants, and after staying
for three prahars (quarters) of the night took the road to
Delhi. Aurangzib, after rendering thanks to the Giver of
Victory, reached the enemy’s camp, and stayed in the tent
of Dara Shukoh, which was standing. Next day the army
marched to Samugarh. This day he sent a humble letter
of apology to Shih Jahan, excusing himself for the occur-
rence of the battle. On Tuesday the 1st June/10th Ramzan,
he reached the garden of Nurmanzil situated in Agra. Shah
Jahdn sent a reply-to the letter, and on the day following
presented to him a sword [8] named Alamgir. The high
grandees and other imperial officers came in troops to the
Court of Aurangzib in hope (of his patronage) and each
received favours suited to his rank. On Friday, the 11th
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June/20th Ramzan he entered the city and occupied Dara
Shukoh’s palace. On the 12th June/21st Ramzan he learnt
that Dara Shukoh had arrived at Delhi on the 5th June/14th
Ramzan. Although Aurangzib’s aim was to see Shih
Jahan, yet Dara had by secret letters filled the Emperor’s
mind with distrust of Aurangzib. Therefore he gave up his
design and on Sunday the 13th June/22nd Ramzan started
for Delhi. On Tuesday, the 15th June/24th Ramzan, he
received at Ghiatsami the news of Dard’s flight from Delhi.
On the 21st June/30th Ramzan, Bahadur Khan was
appointed to pursue Dard. As Murad Bakhsh was violently
preparing for rebellion and was waiting for an opportunity
to carry out his futile plans, Aurangzib made him a prisoner
at Mathurd, on Wednesday the 23rd June/2nd Shawwal,
and thus freed the people from mischief and tumult; the
captive was sent to the fort of Delhi under Shaikh Mir.
On learning that Dara Shukoh had started for Lahore,
Aurangzib decided to set out for the Panjab.

FIRST CORONATION

As astrologers indicated Wednesday the 21st July/1st
Zil Q., as an auspicious day for the accession, [9] and no
time was left to go to Delhi and make preparations for the
ceremony, Aurangzib stayed for a few hours in the garden
of Aghrabad [=Shalamar], and sat on the throne at the
above-mentioned auspicious time. The presents which
were made to the Princes, the high grandees, the mansabdars
and other officers, are beyond numbering. ‘Abdur Rashid
Tatawi found the date of accession in the Quranic text,
Ati’u-allah, &ec.

PURSUIT OF DARA

As this coronation ceremony was decided to be short,
many of the rites of accession were put off to the second
(vear’s) ceremony, e.g., reading the khutba, stamping
coins, and settling the Emperor’s title were not carried out
on this occasion but kept in abeyance. '

Before the accession, an army was, sent under Khalil-
ullah Khan to join Bahadur Khan, reach the Satlej, and
arrange for crossing that river. Aurangzib now learnt that
Sulaiman Shukoh had hastened towards Hardwar from the
other side of the Ganges river, intending to join his father
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by the road of Saharanpur. Aurangzib appointed Amirul-
umara alias Shiista Khan and Shaikh Mir and other chiefs
to engage in the expedition against him.- On Thursday,
the 22nd July/2nd Zil Q., [10] he ordered his tents to be
pitched outside, for the march to the Panjab. On Wednes-
day, the 4th August/15th Zil Q., a letter was received from
Bahadur Khan announcing the crossing of the Satlej by the
imperial army -and the flight of Dara’s men. At this time
Sulaiman Shukoh fled into the hills of Kashmir and so the
Emperor ordered the force sent against him to return.

Dari after reaching Lahore collected: nearly 20,000
troopers, and on hearing the news of Bahiadur Khan and
Khalillullah Khan’s crossing the Satlej, he posted a large
force under Daud Khan on the Bias river to bar their way,
and sent Sipihr Shukoh after him. Thereupon the Emperor
wisely ordered Raja Jai Singh and a few other chiefs to
join the first detachment. Dara learning of it found that
he could not resist, and started from Lahore towards Multan.
At this time Maharaja Jaswant Singh came from his
country ard rubbed his forehead in humility and shame at
the.threshold of the Court. The Emperor graciously par-
doned his faults, showed him imperial favours and sent him
to Delhi. \

On Sunday, the 12th Sept./24th Zil. H., the Emperor
came to know from Khalilullah Khan and other nobles at
Haibatpuri Pati that Dara Shukoh had come out of Lahore
with adequate equipment and was intending to fight the
imperial forces, and that on seeing this the imperial officers
had slackened their pursuit. Thereupon, the Emperor sent
Prince ‘Azam from this station, with the unmnecessary
soldiers and baggage [11] to Lahore, while he himself
decided to make a forced march. When he learnt that Dara
Shukoh, without standing firmly even in Multan, had
startec'i for Bhakkar and that many of his followers had left
him, and the causes of his trouble were on the increase, the
Emperor gave up his forced march and travelled by easy
stages to Multdn, without halting anywhere. Although Saf
Shikan Khan had left Multin on Wednesday, the 22nd
Sept. /4th Muharram, in pursuit of Dara, yet for greater
caution Shaikh Mir too was sent with 9,000 troopers on the
same errand. At this time the Emperor heard that his
brother Shah Shuj‘a to whom he had been strongly attached
before his accession, had come out of Bengal with hostile
intentions.
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Hence Aurangzib set out from Multan on Thursday the
30th Sept./12th Muharram, and arrived in Delhi fort on
Saturday, the 20th Nov./4th Rabi. A., News of Shu_fa’s
disturbance came in succession. The Emperor had intended
to overlook (Shuj’a’s conduct) as far as possible, but when
Shuj’a audaciously advanced to the frontier of Benares, he
determined to fight. ‘The Emperor had no help but to order
Prince Muhammad Sultin to march out of Agra in that
direction on Saturday, the 4th Dec./18th Rabi. A. As it
was repeatedly learnt that Shah Shuj‘d wished to advance
beyond the limits of Benares, the Emperor considered it
politic to go to the hunting-lodge of Soron and wait for the
news about Shuj‘a, so that if he returned towards Patna the
Emperor would recall his deputed troops, otherwise he would
fully engage in the expedition against him. [12]

Therefore, on Thursday the 2nd Dec. 1658/16th
Rabi. A., he left Delhi. On the 6th/20th Rabi. A., news
came that the deputed troops had reached Etawah on the
5th. The Emperor advanced hunting and reached Soron on
Sunday, 19th Dec. /3rd Rabi. S. As his design was to make
a peaceful end to the affair of Shuj‘a, he sent him a letter
full of good counsels to learn the details of his intentions.
But when he learnt for certain that gentleness and mercy
would be thrown away on him, he set out from Soron on
Tuesday the 21st Dec. /5th Rabi. S., to put him down. Order
was sent to Muhammad Sultdn and the detachment not to
force an encounter but wait for junction with the Emperor.

On Sunday the 2nd January, 1659/17th Rabi. S., the
imperial tents were pitched outside the village of Korra,
where Prince Muhammad Sultin was staying with the
advanced detachment, and four kos from which Shuj‘a was
waiting. Mu’azzam Khan, who had been summoned by
command from Khandesh; arrived in the imperial camp on
this day.

BATTLE WITH SHAH SHUJ'A AT XHAJWA

Shuj‘a, planting his artillery in front, wished to
marshal his ranks in battle array. On Tuesday, the 4th
January/19th Rabi. S., the third day following the
Emperor’s arrival at Korra, it was ordered that the artillery
should not be carried in front but made to fire opposite the
army of Shuj‘d, and the imperial army should bravely
engage in battle. [13] At the imperial order, waves upon
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waves of troops rushed forward, while nearly 90,000 horse-
men prepared themselves for action. It was ordered that the
Emperor’s camp and tents should remain where they were.

That day Shuj‘d, too was engaged in marshalling his
troops. After four gharis of -the day had passed,'the
Emperor traversed the distance separating (his camp) from
Shuj‘@’s, and when three prahars had passed he drew up his
ranks a mile from Shuj‘a’s army. Shuj‘a without advancing,
sent some pieces of cannon in front and there was a Kot fight
till nightfall, when Shuj‘a withdrew his artillery. After
takmcr steps for precaution and watchfulness, strengthening
the entrenchments, and urging his troops to be on the alert,
the Emperor retired to a small pavilion, pitched on the
battle-field.

Towards the end of that night an event happened which -
short-sighted men regarded as a .catastrophe, and which
caused a dispersion in the imperial army. It was as follows.
The wicked Maharaja Jaswant Singh, who outwardly pro-
fessed obedience but at heart sought for some occasion for
mischief, at the very time when the Emperor had given him
the command of the right wing, planned to take to flight and
informed Shuj‘d of his design. At the end of the might,
he turned back with all his own troops and another body of
Rajputs, and first plundered the camp of Muhammad Sultan
which was in his way ; great oppression [14] was committed
on the camp; alarming news spread; mischievous people
laid hands on the imperial effects and the property of the
nobles and soldiers. When the Emperor heard of it, he did
not stir from his place. Although nearly half of his army
had dispersed, yet the Emperor relying on Providence did"
not pay any heed to his smallness of number, but set out for
the battle-field. This day Shuj‘a changed the formation he
had adopted the day before, and drew up his troops in
another manner.

The firing of rockets, guns and muskets began between
the two sides, This day many serious reverses befell the
imperial army; the Emperor had not more than 2,000
cavalry round himself, yet in whatever side he turned his
face or made a firm stand, the damage was repaired. And
at the sight of his 1ntrep1d1ty and valour, his Bahram-like
soldiers by their heroic exertions made such a terrible des-
truction of their enemy that Shuj’a’s ranks were broken.
He fled from the field, and the imperialists gained this
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wonderful victory solely through the aid of Heaven and not
through: their own efforts. [15] o

The Emperor thanked the Giver of V1ctor.1‘e_s, and,
passing with his army through the camp of Shuj‘a which
was near the tank of Khajwa, halted. That very day
he sent Prince Muhammad Sultan from the place in pursuit
of Shuj‘d, and himself stayed there till Tuesday, 1lth
January/26th Rabi. S. On Wednesday, the 12th he
marched from the environs of Khajwa and on Friday the
14th/29th Rabi. S., he came to the river Ganges. At that
stage Mu’azzam Khan and other great nobles were deputed
to join Prince Muhammad Sultan in pursuing Shuj‘a.

PURSUIT OF DARA SHUKOH CONTINUED

I shall now write about the army detached under Shaikh
Mir and Saf Shikan Khan to pursue Dard. On Weduesday,
the 22nd Sept./4th Muharram Saf Shikan Khan hastened
from Multan in pursuit of Dard, crossed the Bias river and
heard that Dar3 had gone further on. The Khan, therefore,
advanced and after a few days’ halt in expectation of Shaikh
Mir and Dilir Khan was joined by their army.' News came
that Dard had crossed the river at Bhakkar and halted at
Sakkar. The imperial officers thought it best that Shaikh
Mir and Dilir Khan should cross the river with their soldiers
and march along the other bank towards Sakkar, while Saf
Shikan with his troops should hasten along this side towards
Bhakkar, so that the enemy might be crushed between the
two sides. .

Next day according to the plan Saf Shikan Khan [16]
parted from Shaikh Mir and started for Bhakkar. Shaikh
Mir crossed the river in two days and arrived within 12 kos
of Sakkar on Saturday, the 23rd Oct. /5th Safar, his army
reaching Sakkar on the 24th. Three days before this Saf
Shikan Khan had arrived at Bhakkar but had marched away
the day before Shaikh Mir’s arrival. It was found that Dara
had gone forward on the 18th Oct./30th Muharram, leaving
his heavy baggage in the fort of Bhakkar, the rest of his
treasures and property were in boats while he himself was
travelling through the jungles. Daud Khan and other-
leaders among his followers having deserted him, (Dara)
wanted to go from Sakkar towards Qandahar, but at the
desertion of his followers and the refusal of his women he
had started for Tatta. Saf Shikan Khan left Aghar Khan
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with a force at Bhakkar to press the siege hard and himself
went towards Siwistan. A letter of Muhammad Silih
Tarkhian, qiladdr of the place, now reached him saying
that Dara had come within 5 kos of the fort, and that Saf
Shikan Khan should come up quickly and bar the path of his
treasure boats. The Khan sent his relation Muhammad
Ma‘sum in advance with a force, to pass beyond Dir3’s boats
and entrench on the bank of the river. He himself marched
at night, passed 8 kos from the front of Dara’s army, waited
for the ememy’s boats, and wished to cross the river and
attack the enemy. As Dara’s boats advanced and opposed
the arrival of the boats accompanying Saf Shikan, he sent
a message to Muhammad Silih to send boats from that sidé
and also oppose Dara. As Muhammad Salih was not divinely
guided to carry out this order, he sent to say that on this
side the water ([17] was waist-deep, and so the boats would
pass by the other side; therefore Saf Shikan Khan did not
cross over. Next day it became evident from the dust-cloud
on the other side that Dara was marching and removing his
boats by that side. Thus a splendid victory was frustrated
through the duplicity of Muhammad Salih.-

In short, Dara crossed the low hill of Siwistan,; and Saf
Shikan Khan marched two stages in pursuit of him ‘on that
very side of the river. Shaikh Mir arriving on the other
bank sent a message saying that it was better that Saf Shikan
Khan should cross the river and come over to his side, so
that the two might carry on the pursuit together. Therefore
Saf Shikan Khan crossed the river, and learnt that Diard
had reached Tatta and intended to go to Gujrat. Saf
Shikan Khan bastening before Shaikh Mir came within one
kos of the river at Tatta, but Dara marched away towards
Gujrat from the other bank of the river. Saf Shikan Khan
crossed the river, by building a bridge in seven days.

Meantime an order was sent to Shaikh Mir, Dilir
Khan, and Saf Shikan Khan to .give up the pursuit and
return to the Emperor. When the Emperor heard of Dard’s
going to Gujrat, he returned from Allahabad. On' Satur-
day, the 15th January, 1659/1st Jamad. A., while encamped
on the bank of the Ganges he learnt from Muhammad
Sultan’s despatches of the capture of Allahabad. As it
was necessary to punish Jaswant Singh, who wanted té*join
Dara, he sent Muhammad Amin Khan, Mir Bakhshi, with
9,000 cavalry from Ghatampur on the 16th January/2nd
Jamad. A., to destroy him,

2
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As the Emperor wished [18] to march without del-ay
for the punishment of Jaswant Singh and the suppression
of Dard, he did not go to Agra but on Friday, the 4th
February/21st Jamad. A., started from the garden of Nur
Mangzil towards Ajmir, On the 8th/25th Jamad. A., when
he marched out of the hunting-lodge of Rupbas, Shaikh Mir
and Dilir Khan, having returned from the pursuit of Dar3,
joined the Emperor. ] )

As the return of the army was the cause of Diara’s
enjoying repose, he stepped into the wilderness and reached
Cutch and thence Gujrat. Shah Nawaz Khan Safavi, the
father of the late imperial consort Dilras Banu Begam, who
had been appointed by the Emperor Subahdir of this
province, joined Dird out of lack of spirit. Dara after
passing one month and seven days in Gujrat, gathered
together 22,000 cavalry, issued from it on Monday, the 14th
February/1st Jamad. S., and receiving on the way Jaswant
Singh'’s letters inviting him to go to Ajmir, was emboldened
to advance. On Sunday, the 20th February/7th Jamad S.,
the Emperor encamped near Hind4un ; and no halt was made
from here to the village of . Tuda. On Monday .the 28th
February /15th Jamad. S., Amir Khan, brother of Shaikl
Mir, who had, by order, taken Murad Bakhsh from Delhi
fort to Gwalior, joined the Emperor.

SECOND BATITLE WITH DARA AND HIS FLIGHT

Dard Shukoh after reaching Ajmir got ready for
battle. On Wednesday, the 9th March/24th Jamad. S.,
the Emperor encamped 6 kos from the tank of Rimeshwar,
[19] .and there ordered the marshalling of his army
for battle. Dari strengthened by the hope of the arrival
of Jaswant Singh, acted boldly. Just then Raja Jai Singh,
taking pity on the sinful Jaswant Singh and getting his
offences pardoned through the Emperor’s graciousness,
wrote him a letter giving him the glad news of his being
pardoned and dissuading him from his wish to join Dara.
When he got it, he turned back from a distance of. 20 kos
from Jodhpur. Dari urged him to come and sent his son
Sipihr Shukoh to him, but to no effect. Meantime the
imperial army had arrived near Ajmir; Dar3 was therefore,
compelled to set his heart on battle, but as he was not strong
enough to fight an open battle with the imperial army, he
entrenched the hill-pass of Ajmir across its breadth. The
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imperial army stayed at Deordi, 3 kos from Ajmir, which
was at a short distance from Dira’s station.

Next day, the imperial army advanced half a kos and
halted. The Emperor ordered his artillery to be carried
forward to play upon the enemy. 7The enemy returned the
fire with cannon and musket.

That day and night and up to the 3rd prahar (quarter)
of the next day, the flame of battle raged between the two
sides. Shih Nawiz Khan Safavi, Muhammad Sharif,
[20] Mir Bakhshi of Dara Shukoh, and other leaders of his
army were slain. Among the 1mper1al1sts Shaikh Mir fell
shot through the chest with a musket-ball. But Mir
Hishim, a fellow-clansman of Shaikh Mir, who sat behind
him on the howdah of his elephant, very carefully propped
him up in his arms, so that none knew of his death till the
end of the battle. Dird beholding the heroic exertions of
the imperialists, took to flight inspite of his trenches being
still intact, and turned towards Gujrat. Such a crowning
victory adorned the country and the people. The Emperor
on hearing of it thanked God, the true Giver of Victories.

It is well-known that few kings had to fight so many
royal battles and lordly encounters in such a period, as this
Emperor had to do with powerful enemies in a single year.
But through God’s grace he achieved victory everywhere
by dint of his strong arm and sharp sword. But inspite of
his great valour and activity, so great was his humility that
he never ascribed these victories to his own powers, but
always spoke of them as miracles wrought by God, and
ever rendered his thanks to the Creator for this great good
fortune by adoration of Allah, the establishment of the
Holy Law of the Prophet, and the extinction of all traces
of illegal and prohibited practices. [21] Inspite of his
splendour and power, not for a moment did he yield up
his body to repose or slacknéss, but added a lustre to the
throne by his constant vigilance, devotion to God, dis-
pensation of justice, promotion of the public happmess and
attention to the condition of the peasantry and the soldiery
and the rules of justice and equity. I hope that the spiritual
and material worlds may always be resplendent through
the rule of this religious king.

Next day, Monday, the 14th March 1659/29th
Jamad S., he sent Raja Jai Singh and Bahadur Khan to
pursue Dar3, and being free from anxiety on the score of
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Dara, set out on Monday, the 18th March/4th Rajab on
urn from Ajmir, -
et A despathh from Prince Muhammad Sultin brought
the news that Shah Shuj‘a had halted for a few days in
Mungir wishing to reside there for some time, but through
fear of the approach of the imperial army had fled towards
Jahangirnagar, and Mu’azzam Khan had entered the fort
of Mungir. On Thursday, the 7th April/24th Rajab,
the Emperor reached Fathpur, and on Tuesday, the
19th April/6th Shaban he started for Delhi. He learnt
from Muhammad Sultin’s despatches that Shiah Shuj’i,
who had gone to Rajmahal before this, had removed -his
baggage to boats when the imperial army approached that
city, and Rédjmahal, too, was occupied by the imperialists.
News came that Dara after leaving Ajmir had gone to
Gujrat [=Ahmadabad] and wished to seize it a second
time, but Sardar Khan, one of the officers of the local rein-
forcements [22] opposed him, and Dari, giving up the
desire of capturing the city, fled for refuge to Kanhji Kuli.
On Monday the 2nd May, the Emperor reached the palace
of Khizirabad. A halt of eleven days was made here, and
clgll'}f.h?rsday the 12th May/29th Shaban, he entered the
elh1 rort.



CHAPTER 11

SECOND CORONATION, MAY 1659

At the first auspicious coronation celebrations had been
greatly curtailed on account of the expedition into the
Panjab and also want of leisure, the reading of the khutba,
the stamping of coins, and the proclamation of the
Emperor’s title had been postponed. Now that the work
of conquest had been completed, he ordered his officers to
make preparations for the coronation celebrations, and they
did their best. On Sunday, 5th June 1659/24th Ramzan,
when the Emperor was 40 years 7 months and 13 days
(solar) or-41 years 10 months and 2 days (lunar) old, he
sat on the throne. ...

[23] An eloquent khatib ascended the pulpit and read
an impressive khutbah, and he was rewarded to his heart’s
conteht. Such quantities of gold and silver coins were
distributed in the name of the Emperor that the wide bag
of hope was filled by picking them up. The courtiers
bowed to do honour, and sang the praises.of and prayed
for the Emperor. The - doors of 1mper1a1 treasuries were
opened to all people ; and: the expectations of all, young and
old, were fulfilled.

In former times the sacred Quranic credo (Kalma) used
to be stamped on gold and silver coins, and such coins
were coustantly touched with the hands and feet of men;
Aurangzib said that it would be better to stamp some other
words on coins.. At this time Mir ‘Abdul Bagi, sur-
named Suhbai, showed the following couplet of his own
composition :— -

“King Aurangzib ‘Alamgir
Stamped coins, in the world, like the bright
P full moon.’

The Emperor liked it and ordered that one face of
mohars and rupees should be stamped with this verse and
the other with the name of the mint-city and the year of
accession (in which they would be coined).

The Emperor’s title oh the grand seal was ordered to
be engraved as Abul Zafar Muhi-ud-din Muhammad
Aurangzib Bahadur ‘Alamgir Padishih Ghizi. It was.
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ordered that edicts should be issued announcing the accession
and the happy news [24] of protection and happiness to all
parts of the Empire. The Emperor with openhanded
liberality gave grand rewards to the princes, begams and
imperial handmaids; every one of the nobles and faithful
servants received promotion and title according to his
rank ; pious and religious men, poets, musicians and singers
received suitable rewards and gifts.

The Emperor ordered that these entertainments should
continue on the same- scale up to Friday, the 19th
August/10th Zil H., (the date of Id-uz-buha) and be joined
to the latter, so that during the whole period the desires
of the people might be gratified and’ their long-standing
hopes realised. Mulld Shah of Badakshan found the date
of the accession in the chronogram—Zill-al-:Haq, ‘“The
Shadow of Truth’’.

Another scholar found the date in Padishah-i-mulk-i-
haft-iglim, and a third in Zeb-i-aurang wa taj-i-padishahan.
Mulla ‘Azizullah, son of Mulla Taqi of Isfahan [25] found
the chronogrami in the words of God, Innal-mulk-lilla
yutiyia man yishsha.

As the Emperor’s (first) victories were gained in the
month of Ramzan, he ordered that in official records the
first day of this month should be counted as the commence-
ment of every year of his reign.

As the preceding sovereigns, following the practice of
Jamshid and Naushirwian, used to regard the first day of the
month of Farwardi as a day of great rejoicing and to
celebrate it with festivity, this pious faith-protecting
Emperor ordered that, in the place of the (Persian) new
year’s (nauroz) celebration, an imperial festivity should be
held every year in the month of Ramzan and continued to
the Id-ul-fitr (on the 1st Shawwal), and that this celebration
should be called the nishat-afroz jashan.

In order to put down forbidden practices and vices,
Mulla ’Auz Wajih, the chief of the learned men, was
appointed Censor, and instead of an annual stipend of
15,000 rupees he was given the mansab of a hazari (100 tr.)
Thank God that even now, owing to the piety of the
Emperor, the whole of Hindustan is free from the filth of
innovation and heresy.

At this time the Emperor learnt from the news-letter
cf Bengal that Prince Muhammad Sultain who had been
deputed with Mu’azzam Khan to crush Shuj’, had,
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through the instigation of the latter, gone away on Wednes-
day the 8th June 1659/27th Ramzan with a few servants
by boat with the intention of joining Shuj‘d and was
showing hostility to the imperial cause.

FATE OF DARA SHUKOH

On Saturday the 2nd July/21st Shawwal, néws came
to Court of the capture of Dara Shukoh with his son Sipihr
Shukoh, on Friday the 10th June/29th Ramzan by Malik
Jiwan, the zamindar of Dadar .and [26] of the hastening
of Bahadur Khan on receipt of the letter of the said Malik
and his taking over ‘charge’of both the prisoners. The
Amir-ul-umari was appointed Subahdar of the Deccan vice
Prince Muhammad Mu’azzam, ’Agidat Klan was made
commandant of Daulatabad wvice ’Aqil Khan, who with
Wazir Khan was ordered to come to Court in the company
of the prince. Saturday, the 2nd July, 1659 /21st Shawwal,
was the 6th (solar) birthday of prince Muhammad ’Azam.
He was presented with a jewelled sarpech, a dagger with a
pearl-set strap, and five horses. Malik Jiwan was rewarded
for Dara’s capture by a robe of honour being sent him, and
the rank of a hazari (200 tr.) and the title of Bakhtiar Khan
being conferred on him. Qabil Khan Munshi wanted to
retire to seclusion; he was given an annual stipend of
5,000 rupees. Raja Rajrup was sent to the hills of
Srinagar, to hold before Prithvipat, the zamindar of that
place, hopes and fears and thus induce him to surrender
Sulaiman Shukoh. News came from Bengal that Shah
Shuj’a while going from Akbarnagar to Tanda had sus-
pected from Alawardi Khan’s actions a wish to desert him,
and had therefore slain him-and his son Saifullah. At this
time an order was issued to build a Shir Haji wall around
the fort of Agra, and in three years the work was completed
under the supervision of ’Itibar Khan.

On Tuesday, the 2nd Augiist/23rd Zil.Q., took place
the ceremony of weighing the Emperor on his 42nd lunar
birthday; gold of the Emperor’s weight was distributed
among the poor; and all men, far and near, were rendered
happy by the granting of robes, promotion of rank, and the
gift of jewels, horses, and elephants.

[27] At this time Bahadur Khan brought Dara Shukoh
to the exalted Court. He was kept in the palace of
Khizirabad. As it was necessary for various reasons to
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the dust of his life from the plain of the world of
:ﬁleml)ivving, on the night of Tuesday, the 30th August/21st
Zil.H., the lamp of his life was quenched, and he was buried
in Humayun’s tomb. Saif Khan was ordered to convey
Sipihr Shukoh to the fort of Gwalior, and then return to
Agra and be its Subahdar. Raja Jai Singh who had
lagged behind Bahadur Khan arrived at Court and was
honoured with favours. As owing to their many forced
marches the Raja and Bahadur Khan had lost many
horses, the Emperor graviously presented the Raja with
200 and the Khan with 10Q horses. ]

At this time, according to his usual generosity the
collection of réad-toll (vdhdari) on the transit-of grains and
other articles was abolished for ever. On this account the
Crown-lands made a sacrifice to the amount of 25 lakhs of
rupees-a year ; and what was given up for the whole Empire
cannot be imagined. .

At this time Zulfigir Khan Qarimanlu died. The
Emperor graciously consoled his son Asad Khan and his
son-in-law Namdar Khan by the grant of robes of honour.
Bakhtiar Khan zamindar of Dadar was sent back to his
estate. Mu’azzam Khan during his service under Qutb-ul-
mulk had conquered the country of Karnitik; one of its
strong forts, Kanji Kota, (Gandi Kota) [28] was held by the
men of the Khan, but Qutb-ul-mulk coveted it. Mir Ahmad
Khwafi with the title of Mustafa Khan was sent to govern
this country. News came from the province of Kabul that
Sherullah | =Sher Beg], son of S’adat Khan, grandson of
Tarbiyat Khan deceased, had slain his father with a dagger.
The Emperor ordered Mahabat Khan the ndzim to imprison
him, and appointed Shamshir Khan as commandant of
Kabul fort vice the murdered man.

Now came from Turan-land that love had changed into
quarrel between Subhan Quli Khan, ruler of Balkh, and
his brother Qasim Sultin, who held command of the fort
and that Subhan Quli Khan had got rid of him by clever
devices.

The going over of Prince Muhammad Sultin to Shyj’a
was 2 great calamity to the army in Bengal. Though the
Emperor felt reassured from Mu’azzam Khan’s commanding
the army, yet after the celebration of the weighing ceremony
at the commencement of the 41st solar year of his life,—
when the desires of the people were satiated with gifts—
he set out as a measure of precaution with the army towards
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the bank of the Ganges on Sunday, the 13th Nov./8th
Rabi.A. Raja Jai Singh was rewarded with one lakh of
rupees : Raja Jaswant Singh was pardoned and restored-to
the title of Maharaja. »

Mir Ibrahim, son of the late Mir Numan, was deputed
to convey articles worth 6 lakhs and 30,000 rupees to the
Sharifs of Mecca and Medina. On Thursday the 24th
November /19th Rabi.A., the Emperor reached Garhmuk-
teshwar. On Sunday the 27th/22nd Rabi. A., Prince Mu-
hammad Mu’azzam with Wazir Khan having arrived from
the Deccan, [297] had audience of the Emperor. On Tuesday
the 20th December/15th Rabi.S., the Prince was married
to a high-born lady of Khurdsan. Omn Saturday, the 7th
January, 1660 /4th Jamad.A., the Emperor marched from
Garhmukteshwar towards Allahabad. At this time a
despatch came from Mu’azzam Khan stating that he had
crossed the Ganges, determined to end the war with Shuj’a,
while Shuj’a had left Tanda which was his military base
for Dacca. As the real object of this march of the Emperor
was to strengthen the army of Bengal, and as his mind was
quieted about that affair, he returned from [Mau] Sham-
sibad towards Delhi, the fort of which he entered on’
Monday, the 13th February, 1660/11th Jamad.S. |

As it was the pious Emperor’s intention to offer obli-
gatory prayers in congregation, by the side of his rétiring
place, he laid the foundation of a small mosque of marble
with carvings of plants and fret-work of various kinds. It
was completed in the space of 5 years at an expenditure' of
one lakh and 60,000 rupees. ’Aqil Khan found the chrono-
gram in the holy verse, Innal-masajid-illa fala tad‘ua-
ma‘-allah.

At this time news came from Bengal that prince
Muhammad Sultin [30] at the time of Shuj’a’s flight to
Dacca had repented of his conduct, come back to Akbar-
nagar in the same way that he had left it, and joined Islim
Khan. Muhammad Mirak, macebearer, carried to him a
robe with rarities from the Emperor, and Fidai Khan was
ordered to bring the Prince to Court. When he ‘arrived
near the capital, Alah Yar Khan went forward on Thurs-
day, the 26th April, 1660/25th Shaban, and conveyed
him by water to Salimgarh, his custody being given to
Mu’atamad Khan. s !

3



CHAPTER III
THIRD YEAR OF REIGN : (1070 A.H.)

1st May, 1660—19th April, 1661

Now began the month of Ramzan. On Thursday, the
24th May, 1660/24th Ramzan, 1070 A.H., a charming and
grand assembly was held,; and joyous music was played.

On this auspicious day news came from Bengal that
Shuj’a, unable to make a stand at Dacca, had fled to Arakan,
on Sunday, the 6th May/6th Ramzan and that Mu’azzam
Khan had entered Dacca.

It had been ordered that the celebrations should begin
on the 24th Ramzan, the date of the 2nd accession, and be
carried on to the ‘Id-ul-fitr. During this period all officers
of the Court far and near, great and small, were [31]
gratified with gifts by the Emperor. On the morning of
the 'Id day the Emperor went to the mosque, and for two
days after the "Id the festivities and banquets were continued.

I shall now leave the account of the incidents of the
Court, but this small book cannot hold even an abridged
history of the occurrences of Bengal and the exertions of
the imperial army, which had been deputed from Allahabad.
in January 1659 under the leadership of Prince Muhammad
Sultan and Mu’azzam Khan in pursuit of Shuj’a. There-
fore I give up the attempt to describe this affair in detail.
Suffice it to say that the march of the imperial army put
Shuj’a to such hard straits that none could hold with him
save Sayyid ‘Alam Badah-kash, one of the Sayyids of
Barha, and Sayyid Quli Uzbak with twelve Mughals and a
few other men, After traversing calamitous regions, he:
reached the most villainous island of Arikan where he was.
entrapped in the snare of that land of infidels. His fate will.
be narrated in the proper place. )

On Sunday, the 15th July, 1660/17th Zil. Q., the
Emperor was weighed on his 44th lunar birthday. “The
people were rewarded. ‘The princes received many kinds
of, favour: Mu’azzam Khan [82], the general in Bengal,
was given the high titles of Khan-i-Khanan and Sipahsalar
and the rank .of a 7 hazari, (T hazar doaspa and sehaspa);
a robe and a jewelled sword were sent to him in reward of
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his suppression of ShuJ a. All kinds of reward and favour
wete bestowed on the commanders of the army sent 'to
Bengal and on the viceroys and courtiers.

Najiabat Khan who for some offences had incurred ‘the
imperial wrath, now got his pardon, came unarmed and was
cherished with the gift of a sword. Mansur, brother of the
Kiashghar chief ‘Abdullah Khan and Mahdi, the brother’s
son of the Khan, who in fear of him had come to India
by way of Badakhshin had audience and entered the
imperial service. Presents from the Begam Sahib and
other begams and princes, counsisting of jewels and jewelled
ware, were presented to the Emperor and accepted. At the
joyous ’Id-uz-zuha/7th August 1660, royal gifts were
bestowed on vast numbers of people:

Rao Karn Bhurtia [of Bikanir], at Dard’s instigation
had come home from the Deccan without permission. Amir
Khan was now sent to that quarter to take the frightened
and humiliated man "with himself if he begged pardon,
otherwise to boldly extirpate him. When the Khan reached
the frontier of Bikanjr, the Rao came and waited on him
and through the Khan’s intercession was introduced to the
forgiving Emperor and received gifts.

On Sunday, 2nd September/7th Muharram [33],
Ikhlas Khan Khweshgi, who brought the treasures, Jewels
other effects and women of Shuj’a from Bengal had
audience. At this time the fort of Chakna situated in Konkan
was conquered by the Amir-ul-umiri, viceroy of the
Deccan, who had been sent out to put down the wicked Shiva
and to capture his strong places, which he had seized owing
to changes (decay) in the Bijapur administration and the
slaughter of Afzal, the Bijapuri leader. ‘The Khan after
properly pumshmg Shivd’s men, established outposts in
some places.

At this time took place the festivity of the weighing of
the Emperor on his 43rd solar birthday and vast numbers
of men were gratified with favours.

At this time Parenda was captured without a blow.
Ghalib, the *Adil Shahi commandant of the fort, proposed
to the Amir-ul-umara the surrender of the fort, with a view
to entering the imperial service. The Amirulumiri sent
Mukhtar Khan as qil’adar and summoned Ghilib to himself,
and on behalf of the Emperor gave him the rank of 4 hazam,
the title of Khan and other rewards. At this time Prithvi
Singh, zamindar of the Srinagar hills, wrote a letter to Raja
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Jai Singh begging pardon for his offences and offering to
surrender Sulaimin Shukoh. At the Raja’s request,*his
son Kumir Ram Singh was given leave to depart for
bringing away Sulaiman, and he brought him to Delhi on
Thursday, the 27th December, 1660/5th Jamad. A. He
was kept in Salimgarh. On Tuesday, the 15th Jan.
1661/24th Jamad. A. Murtaza Khan conveyed him and
prince Mubammad Sultan to Gwalior and entrusted them
to Mu‘atamad Khan, its qiladar. .

When the Emperor learnt from the news-letters of the
port of Surat [34] that Husain Pasha, governor of Basra,
had sent with his servant Qdsim Aqa, a letter of congratula-
tion on his accession with horses bf the Persian breed for the
Emperor, an order was issued on Mustafa Khan collector
(mutasaddi) of the port of Surat to give Qasim Aqa 4,000
rupees for his expenses, and send him to the Court. At
this time Ibrzhim Beg, envoy of Subhian Quli Khan ruler
of Balkh, arrived at Court with a special letter and presents
of Turan-land. As he had an old ailment, he died in a few
days; his companions were given robes and 20,000 rupees
and sent away.

As famine appeared in many places of the Empire, it
was ordered that in addition to the permanent alms-houses
ten more should be opened in Delhi and twelve others in
the parganahs around it for the relief of the poor. Similar
arrangements were made in Lahore. In addition to the
amounts customarily spent in the.months of Muharram, .
Rajab, Sha‘ban, Ramzan, Rabi‘-ul-awwal, and Zilhijj, this
year double the amount was distributed. . Orders were issued
to the grandees down to commanders of a thousand that they
should practise charity on their own account, and this alms-
giving continued until the scarcity was turned into plenty.



CHAPTER IV
FOURTH YEAR OF THE REIGN. (1071 A.m.)

20 April 1661—9 April 1662

With the month of Ramzan [35] began the 4th year
of the reign. The 24th of Ramzan was the anniversary of
the Coronation, and last year the celebrations began on that
date. But as owing to the fast the people had no liking
for entertainment, the commencement of this celebration
was' postponed to the day of ‘Id (Ist Shawwal) and it was
given a duration of ten days. A son was born to Prince
Muhammad Mu’azzam, and named Sultin Muhammad
Mui‘zuddin.

The Emperor learnt that Budaq Beg, ambassador of
Shah ’Abbas II, king of Persia, had entered Multan on
Friday, the 19th April, 1661 /29th Shaban. Tarbiyat Khan,
the Subahdar, had entertained him hospitably and presented
him with 5,000 rupees and nine pieces of cloth. At Lahore
Khalilullah Khan very hospitably treated him and gave him
20,000 rupees, an enamelled sword and dagger, and seven
pieces of cloth from among the rarities of India. When he
arrived at Sarai Baoli, food from the Emperor’s own table
was sent to him, and he was ordered to have audience on the
22nd May /3rd Shawwal,

When the month of Shawwal began, preparations were
made for the royal festivities, as ordered before. The
Emperor went to the ‘Idgah. (20th May 1661, ‘Id-ul-fitr.)
After his return from that place he engaged in gratifying
the desires of the world : the Princes, nobles, Rajas, amirs,
all received rewards and gifts beyond their desire.

Qisim Aqi Rumi at interview presented five Arab
hor'ses as an offering from Husain Pasha [36], and some
horses and Georgian slaves also on his own account. He was
favoured with a robe and 5,000 rupees. When Budaq Beg,
envoy of Persia, came to the outskirts of Delhi, on the 3rd
day from the ‘Id, 22nd or 23rd May, Asad Khan, Saif Khan
and Multafat Khan conducted him from outside the city to
the Presence. The interview was ordered to take place in
the Hall of Audience. After bowing he presented the Shah’s
letter of congratulation on the Emperor’s accession. A robe,
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a turban-jewel (jigha), a jewelled dagger, a festive argaja
with a gold cup and saycer, and betels with a gold betel-
casket and.tray, were presented to him. The mansion of
Rustam Khan was assigned for his residence, and Mir *Aziz
Badakhshi as his care-taker. On Sunday the 26th May /7th
Shawwil, the Shih’s presents were offered to the Emperor ;
theseé included 66 horses, one round pearl weighing 37 carat,
and these were valued in all at four lakh and 22,000 rupees.

On Saturday the 6th July, 1661/19th Zil. Q., the
Emperor was weighed on his 45th lunar birthday, in the
customary way; all péople, great and small, at Court and
in the provinces received presents. On Saturday, the 27th
July /10th Zil, H., the ’Id-uz-zuha took place. The Emperor
gave conge to the Persian envoy, with a reward of one lakh
of rupees, robes, an endmelled dagger, with a pearl strap,
a horse with gold saddle and bridle, an elephant with gold
litter and silver trappings, a gold-embroidered housing, one
darigi elephant, and a palki with gold trappings. It was
stated that a reply to the Shah’s letter would be soon [37]
sent. From first to last 5 lakhs of rupees were bestowed on
the ambassador and 35 thousand rupees on his companions.
’Aqil Khan begged permission to go into retirement; an
annual subsistence of 9,000 rupees was settled on him.

The Emperor was weighed on his 44th solar birthday,
and conferred favours on all. Qasim Aqa, an officer of Husain
Pasha, was sent back with 12,000 rupees and a robe, and
his companions got 1,000 rupees; a jewelled sword was sent
for the Pasha.

On Sunday, the 17th November /4th Rabi. S., Khwija
Ahmad, son of Khwija Khiwand Mahmud, envoy of ’Abdul,
’Aziz Khan the ruler of Bukhara, arrived in the environs of
Delhi. Saif Khan advancing conducted him to the Emperor.
He presented a letter and gifts consisting of roadster Turki
horses, large two-humped male and female camels and other
things, one of which being a ruby worth 24,000 rupees. The
Emperor graciously gave him that day a robe, a dagger with
a pearl strap, 20,000 rupees and a mansion to stay in.

At this time the daughter of Raja Rup Singh, who had
been converted to Islam and brought up in the imperial
harem, was married to Prince Muhammad Mu’azzam. The
details of this splendid ceremony can be learnt from the
honoured book (‘Alamgirnamah) * * * *

As Daud Khan the Subahdar of Patna, [38] had by
hard fight conquered the country of Palamau, a dependency
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of the province of Bihir, a robe of honour was sent to him.
Sayyid Amir Khan, was made Subshdir of Kabul vice
Mahabat Khan.

On Monday, the 10th February /1lst RaJab, Fazil Khan
came from Agra and presented some jewels and jewelled
ware sent by Shah Jahan. On the 11th news came that
Khalilullah Khan, Subahdar:of Iahore, who had arrived
sick at Delhi, had died. The second day from his death,
the Emperor visited the house of his surviving relatives, and
favoured Mir Khan, Ruhullah Khan, and ’Azizullah, his
sons and other relatives with robes. An annual stipend of
50,000 rupees was granted to his widow, Hamida Banu,
daughter of Malika Banu, the sister of Mumtiz-uz-zamani.

On Saturday, the 15th February, 1662/6th Rajab,
Prince Muhammad Akbar was circumcised. Khwaja
Ahmad, envoy of Bukhara, was given his conge with a robe,
a jewelled dagger with pearl strap, and 30,000 rupees as
reward: From first to last one lakh and 20,000 rupees were
given to this envoy. On Wednesday, the 12th March/1st
Shaban, eighty elephants of Shuj‘d, sent by the Khan-i-
Khanin and two elephants from the spo1ls of Palamau were
presented to the Emperor.

How can I describe fully the hunting in which His
Majesty often delighted ? I give a little as a sample of-much :
This year 150 kulangs (large cocks or herons) were striick
down by the royal falcons. There was also a hunt, in which
355 deer were driven into the net; eight of these deer [39]
were brought down by the Emperor and 47 others by the
party that had been given permission to hunt in the enclosure
into which the game had been driven. The rest were ordered
to be released. The Emperor was informed that at first
many deer had come within the circle of the gamurgha, but
in fright they fell upon the beaters (3hal-i-qgamurgha) in
a large body, five men were gored with horns and two men
were killed. About a thousand deer escaped.

A curious incident was now reported to the Emperor;
at the village of Sonepat a party of boys played at king and
ministers, two of them were charged (in play) with theft and
taken by the policeman to the king, who ordered punish-
ment. This senseless (mock) policeman hit the two on the
head with the stick he carried in his hand so hard that they
were killed, and this game proved fatal,
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ACCOUNT OF THE CONQUEST OF KUCH BIHAR AND ASSAM

Towards the end of the year 1657 A.D./1067 A.H.,
owing to the illness of Shah Jahan, disturbances broke out
in all the frontiers, Bhim [=Pran] Narain, zamindar of
Kuch Bihir occupied the Kamrup district, appertaining to
the imperial dominions. Just then Jayadhwaj Singh, Raja
of Assam, who considered his country safe from the inroad
of the imperial army and wanted to conquer the aforesaid
district deputed a large army by the land-route to the
district, [40] of Kamryp.

The Khan-i-Khanan, knowing the invasion of these two
countries to be -urgent, started from Khizrpur by order of
the Emperor, on Friday the 1st November, 1661 /18th
Rabi. A. His army occupied the city of Kuch Bihar on
Thursday, the 19th Dec./7th Jamad. A., and. named it,
‘Alamgir-nagar. On Thursday, the 9th January, 1664/
28th Jamad. A., the army set out for the conquest of Assam
by way of Ghoraghat. After campaigning for five months,
the Islamic standard was planted in ‘Garhgion, the capital
of Assam, on ‘Monday, the 17th March/6th Shaban.. I
cannot describe in detail what the ‘Alamgirnamah gives
fully, namely, the great designs of the faithful army, their
exertions and hardships in this campaign through extreme
devotion and fidelity to the Emperor, the capture of count-
less spoils consisting of all kinds of things, money and other
articles, nor describe here the wonders, rarities, strange
things, and precious objects of Kuch Bihidr and Assim
comprising the inanimate and animate creation, the varieties
of trees, fruits, and plants, plains and rivers, food and
dress, forts and houses of these countries.

When the Emperor learnt the details of this famous
victory from the despatches of the Khan-i-Khinan, he
graciously gave the Khan’s son Muhammad Amin Khan
who was then at Court, a robe and sent a farman full of
praise, a special robe, tuman tugh, and a reward of/l kror of
dam (Rs. 274 lakhs) to the faithful Khan. [41]



CHAPTER V
FIFTH YEAR OF THE REIGN (1072 A.1.)

10th April 1662—29th March 1663

The month of Ramzin was spent in the performance of
the appointed religious duties. The fifth year of the reign
began. The imperial officers set about preparing for the
festivities and fireworks in the manner of previous years.
On the day of ’Id 10th May, the Emperor after returning
from the mosque conferred gifts and rewards on the cour-
tiers, commanders in all places, and the amirs in the subahs;
tributes were offered to and accepted by him.

On Monday the 12th May, 1662, the Emperor declined
in health. 7Too much blood-letting caused weakness and
swooning. ‘This continued till Tuesday, the 17th June/10th
Zil. Q., when Hakim Muhammad Amin and Hakim Mahdi
tried the best remedies. - Alms were given for removing the
disease and relieving the needs of the poor. On Tuesday,
the 24th June/17th Zil. Q., he took the bath of recovery.
On Tuesday, thé 17th July/10th Zil. H, (’Id-uz-zuha) he
went to the place of prayer; great and small, rich and poor
on seeing him enjoyed a double ‘Id. On Wednesday, the
23rd July/17th Zil. H. he was weighed on his 46th lunar
birth-day. ’

Mahibat Khan was made subahdar of Gujrat wvice
Maharaja Jaswant Singh, and promoted to be a 6 hazar: (5
hazar tr.). On his coming back from a life of retirement,
Razavi Khan Bukhari was created a 2,500 zat (400 tr.)
[42] The officers of ‘Adil Khan who .had brought his
tribute were dismissed with robes. Taqarrab Khan died.
His son Muhammad ‘Ali Khan, who too had been removed
from his rank for his father’s offences, was graciously pre-
sented with a mourning robe and the rank of 1,500 (200 tr.).
Saif Khan, who had retired, came from Sirhind and received
a robe, and a sword, and the rank of two hazari (1,500 tr.).

On Tuesday, the 2nd December, 1662/1st'Jamad. A.,
the Emperor was weighed on his 45th solar birthday, all
men received .gifts according to their desires. Najabat
Khan who had been punished for some offence in-the first

4
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was again created a 5 hazari (4,000 tr.). On Monday,
ﬂf:réth December /7th Jamad. A. the Emperor started for
Lahore. At Karnial Fizil Khan, Mir-i-Siman, was sent to
proceed with the surplus camp-followers and baggage by
the direct route to Lahore, while the Emperor advanced
hunting in the diréction of Mukhlispur, and reached
Lahore on Sunday the 8th February, 1663/10th Rajab." As
it was the imperial wish to visit Kashmir, he sent Khidmat-
gar Khan to make roads. On Friday the 13th February/
15th Rajab, Qutbuddin Khan Khweshgi, faujdir of Juna-
garh, slew the wicked Rai Singh, uncle of Chhatra Sil,
zamindar of the country of Jam, who had raised dis--
turbances and had dispossessed his nephew after the death
of the latter’s father Rai Mal [ =Ran Mal] with one son,
an uncle and other relatives, numbering in all 300 men.
[43] The Emperor ordered the country to be named Islam-
nagar, in recognition of the bravery of the Khan,

THE CONCLUSION OF THE AFFAIRS OF ASSAM

When the Khan-i-Khinin took up his residence at
Mathurapur for passing the rainy season and water covered
the whole land, the Assamese began to act boldly. As the
Mughal troops could mnot .ride out, the audacity
of the Assamese passed all limits. Their Raja too came
down from the hills of Namrup. The Mughal outposts
wete withdrawn; no other place than Garhgdon and
Mathurapur remained in the possession of the imperialists.
Provisions were exhausted. The poisonous air caused
a pestilence which carried off vast numbers. This affected
the whole land of Assam, and vast crowds of the enemy,
too, in the hills went to hell. During this period the_food
of the soldiers and the cattle was rice and beef, large
quantities of which had been captured from -the* enemy. -
There was no alternative but to wait patiently for the end
of the rains. In the middle [of the month of Safar /mid
September ] the rains decreased and boats of provisions too
arrived at that time. '

By the end of Rabi-ul-awwal, as the land reappeared,
the Mughals sallied forth on all sides and made a terrible
slaughter of the enemy in the same way as before. The
Raja fled to the hills, and made overtures of peace, but the
Khan did not agree and started for Namrup '
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In the meantime many acute diseases attacked the
Khan. The soldiers, worn out with labour and sufferings,
were shaken in mind by the fear of his dying in such a
(terrible) country and wished [44] to desert him, and go
‘back to Bengal. The Khan on learning of it was grieved
and on Friday the 5th December, 1662/4th Jamad. A. he
advanced one stage. Necessity now compelled him to decide
on peace and return. The Raja, who saw his own capture
imminent, made Dilir Khan his mediator, and the latter
induced the Khan-i-Khanan to agree to the Raja’s proposal.

On Monday the 5th January, 1663/5th Jamad. S., the
agents of the Raja arrived, and brought to the imperial
camp a tribute of 20,000 tolahs of gold, 1 lakh and 8 thou-
sand tolahs of silver, 20 elephants for the Emperor, 15 for
the Khan-i-Khanan, and 5 for Dilir Khan, as well as the
daughter of the Raja, the daughter of another Raja of a part
of the country of Assam (a near relative of the chief Raja),
four sons of the nobles of the Raja’s Court (who were to stay
in Bengal as hostages for the arrival of the balance of the
tribute, i.e., what had been promised over and above what
was now delivered.) _

On Saturday, the 10th January/10th Jamad. S., the
Khan-i-Khanan, marched from the mouth of the Niamrup
hill and returned towards Bengal, arriving at Lakhugath
on Thursday, the 22nd /22nd Jamad. S.; on Wednesday, the
11th February/13th Rajab he marched out of Kajli and
affived at Pandu opposite Gauhati on the further side of
the river, sending away Rashid Khan as faujdar of Kamrup.
At this time his illness became past remedy. When he
found himself in this plight, he deputed ‘Askar Khan to
reconquer Kuch Bihar, which Bhim [ =Pran] Narayan had
recovered, and himself started for Khizrpur. On 31st March
1663 /2nd Ramzan, he died within 2 kos of Khizrpur. [45]



CHAPTER VI
SIXTH YEAR OF THE REIGN. 1073 A.H.

80th March, 1663—18th March 1664

On Thursday, the 23rd April, 1663 /25th Ramzan, the
Court officers made preparations for the celebration of the
coronation anniversary in the Dilkasha garden situated on
the other bank of the Ravi. The Emperor, starting on that
day for the trip to Kashmir, halted in the garden. That very
day the news of the Khan-i-Khinan’s death arrived. Prince
* Muhammad Mu’azzam went to the house of Muhammad
Amin Khan and conducted him to the FEmperor, who
consoled him with a robe. The ’'Id prayer (29th April) was
performed in the chapel of the camp. Princes and nobles,
of the Court and the provinces, received favours.

On Friday, the 1st May/3rd Shawwal the Emperor
resumed his journey. One of the occurrences of this period
was the night attack of the infernal Shiva on the camp of
the Amir-ul-umard, the cutting off of his forefinger during
the encounter, and the slaughter of his son Abul Fath Khan.
As this incident was due to the negligence of this premier
noble, the Emperor punished him by transferring him from
the viceroyalty of the Deccan (which was given to printe
Muhamimad Mu’azzam) to that of Bengal vice the deceased
Mu‘azzam Khan. On Tuesday, the 14th May/14th
Shawwal, the Emperor reached Bhimbar, which is the gate-
way to Kashmir. As during his stay in Lahore the snow
in the Pir Panjil route had disappeared, the imperial party
was to proceed by it. It was ordered that Raja Jai Singh
and Najabat Khan {46] should stay on the banks of the
river Chenab with the surplus camp-followers. ‘Tahir Khan
was permitted to depart to his jagir with some other amirs.
Saf Shikan was ordered to stay at the foot of the pass of
Bhimbar with a party in order to guard the mouth of the
hills. Some nobles and servants attended on the Emperor,
while Muhammad Amin Khan and Fizil Khan were to come
three stages behind the imperial party.

On Thursday, the 14th May/16th Shawwal, he
marched out of Bhimbar. While crossing the terrible Pir
Panjal pass a frightened elephant turned back from the
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front and stampeded towards Bhimbar like a sudden calamity
or a whirlwind; a terrible confusion befell the men and
animals in that narrow pass. Some female elephants and
some porters of the government fell into the pit of destruc-
tion and were so thoroughly crushed by the attack of this
moving mountain that not to the speak of the men, not a
bone of the elephants could be seen. On the occurrence of
this terrible accident, the heart of the humble-cherishing
Emperor was greatly grieved, and from that very time he
resolved never again to visit Kashmir. In short, on Thurs-
day, the 28th May/1st Zil. Q., he entered the city of
Srinagar. Raja Raghunath, mutasaddi (Superintendent) of
the revenue department, died. On Sunday, the 7th June/
11th Zil. Q., the post of Wazir was entrusted to Fazil Khan,
Iftikhar Khan becoming Khan-i-Siman.

During the reign of Shih Jahidn, every year 79,000
rupees were distributed in five months through the Sadr-us-
Sadur, but in the other seven ‘months no expenditure was
made (on charity). Now the Emperor ordered that during
five months the existing practice should be followed, and
during the remaining seven months 10,000 rupees were to
be distributed every month so that in all every year one
lakh [47§ and 49,000 rupees were to be spent on the needy.

aturday, the 13th June/17th Zil. Q., the Emperor
was weighed on his 47th lunar birthday ; presents were given
to all the nobles of the Court and the provinces. Fazil Khan,
on obtaining the post of Diwan fell severely ill and died.
On Tuesday, the 23rd June/27th Zil. Q., the Emperor
condoled with his brother’s son Burhanuddin who
had recently come from Persia, by presentmor him with a
robe and kmdly undertook to brmg him 1p.

"After enjoying the scenery of all the places of Kashmir,
he set out from that abode of pleasure on the.16th August/
22nd Muharram on return towards Lahore. ]’afar Khan,
Subahdar of Milwa, was summoned to Court to receive the
Woazirship, Najabat Khan being appointed in his place. The
Emperor reached Lahore on Tuesday, the 29th September /
7th Rabi. A. On Monday, the 2nd November/11th Rabi.
S., he was weighed on his 46th solar birthday. ‘Aqil Khan
who was living in retirement at Lahore, was again taken into
service as a two hazari (700 tr.). Tarbiyat Khan was sent to
Iranland as envoy to carry a reply to the letter of Shiah
‘Abbas brought by Budiaq Beg, with precious things and
rarities worth seven lakhs of rupees. On the 9th November,
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the Emperor started for Delhi. Jafar Khan had audience at
Panipat, and was created Wazir. On Friday the 20th
November/29th Rabi. S., the Emperor arrived in the
environs of Delhi. [48]



CHAPTER VII
SEVENTH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1074 a.n.

18th March 1664—T7th March 1665

With the approach of Ramzan, festive arrangements
were made. After returning from the mosque, the Emperor
sat on the throne and gratified with his royal gifts the
hearts of the princes and nobles, the rich and the poor.
Presents were made to him and accepted.

On’Sunday, the 5th June/21st Zil. Q., he was weighed
on his 48th lunar birthday. A letter was received from
Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam reporting the birth of a son
to the mother of Muhammad Mu‘izuddin; the child was
named ‘Izzuddin. Mustafa Khan Khafi was sent as envoy to
Turan-land. A letter composed by Danishmand Khan
along with certain rare jewelled ware worth one lakh 50,000
rupees was sent with him to ‘Abdul ‘Aziz Khan, ruler of
Bukhari, and another letter with presents worth one lakh of
rupees to Subhdan Quli Khan, ruler of Balkh. )

Although Maharaja Jaswant Singh greatly exerted
himself to root out Shivi, to desolate his country, and to
conquer his forts, yet no result satisfactory to the imperial-
ists was produced. Therefore, Raja Jai Singh was appointed
with other famous commanders to put him down. On Friday,
the 30th September, 1664 /19th Rabi. A., the Emperor was
weighed on his 47th solar birthday; imperial favours were
conferred on the princes and nobles.

The Emperor learnt that Najabat Khan Subahdar of
Mailwa had died; Wazir Khan Subahdar of Khandesh was
appointed to succeed him {49] and Daud Khan one of the
assistants of Raja Jai Singh, was made Subahdar of
Khiandesh ; but a farman was sent to him fo leave one of his
kinsmen at Burhinpur and himself set out for his destina-
tion -[the Maratha country].

A letter was received from Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam
reporting the birth of a son on Monday, the 5th’ December,
1664 /26th Jamad. A., to the daughter of Rup Singh Rithor;
the child was named Sultan Muhammad ‘Azim,




CHAPTER VIII
FIGHTH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1075 A.H.

8th March, 1665—24th February, 1666

With the month of Ramzan began the 8th year of the
reign. Preparations for the celebration were made. After
returning from the mosque on the ‘Id-ul-fitr the Emperor
gratified the hearts of all with many acts of goodness and
favour.

Haji Ahmad Sayyid, who in the fourth year of the
reign had been sent to convey six lakh and 60,000 rupees
worth of presents to the Holy Cities, now (on return) had
audience, and presented 14 Arab horses as peshkash
(offering). Sayyid Yahia, envoy of the Sharif of Mecca
was granted an interview and presented a supplicatory letter,
three Arab horses and some sacred relics. He was rewarded
with a robe and 6,000 rupees. Siddi Kiamil, envoy of the
king of Abyssinia, and Sayyid ‘Abdullah, representative
of the ruler of Hazramaut (in Arabia), arrived at Court with
letters and presents; they were shown high honour by the
grant of robes and cash. Nine Arab steeds which Imam [50]
Ism‘ail, ruler of Yemen, had sent were presented to the
Emperor. This celebration continued for five days.

News reached the Court that ‘Itibar Khan, com-
mandant of Agra, had died. R‘adandaz Khan, faujdir of
the emvirons (of Agra) succeeded him, while the Iatter’s
office was given to Hushdar Khan, the Subahdar.

On Saturday, the 13th May, 1665/8th Zil. Q., Maha-
raja Jaswant Singh came from the Deccan and had audience.

On ‘Sunday, the 23rd April/17th Shawwal, the
Emperor was weighed on his 49th lunar birthday; imperial
gifts and homours glorified the servants at Court 'and the
provinces. The envoys of Mecca, Abyssinia and Hazramaut
were given conge, after being presented with suitable
rewards in cash and kind. On Wednesday, the 14th June/
10th Zil. H., was the ‘Id-uz-zuha. On Friday, the 23rd
occurred the festival of ‘Id-i-Gulabi, when the princes and
nobles presented jewelled or enamelled goblets.

) Thg Ffmperor_l‘earnt that, through the exertions of
Raja Jai Singh, Dilir Khan, and other herces, Puranpdar,
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Rudramal, and other forts of Shiva were captured, and the
latter knowing that his end would be extirpation, had very
prudently sent messengers to the Raja to beg for safety,
and having been freed from despair by the Raja’s promise
and agreement [51] had surrendered twenty-three forts to
the imperial officers. On Monday, the 12th June, 1665/8th
Zil. H., he came unarmed and interviewed the Raja, who
embraced and made him sit near him, promised him safety
of life and property, and presenting a jewelled sword and
dagger urged him to put on the arms, and then sent him
to Dilir Khan, who too treated him with many favours. In
the terms of the Raja’s request, a farman was sent to him
(Shiva) containing pardon and a gracious robe from the
Emperor. His son Sambha was made a five hazari (same
tr.). The Raja Jai Singh was made a seven hazari (same
tr. do-aspa seh-aspa) in recognition of his excellent services.
His son, Ram Singh, who was at Court, Dilir Khan, Daud
Khan, Rai Singh, Kirat Singh and others too received many
kinds of favour. As ‘Adil Khan of Bijapur had delayed in
paying his tribute and tried to help Shiva, an imperial order
was sent to Raja Jai- Singh saying that, after settling the
country and forts gained from Shiva, he should hasten to
attack the Bijapur territory and destroy the enemy without
engaging himself in the siege of the fort. Muhammad
Zahid, son of Qazi Islam, was appointed Censor of the
Court. The high minister J‘afar Khan had built a nice
mansion on the bank of the Jamuna. The Emperor visited
it and that premier noble performed the etiquette of spread-
ing the carpet before the door (pa-dndaz), supplication (nidz)
and offered valuable presents consisting of tarities and
wonderful articles. This year a reply to the letter of
‘Abdullah Khan, ruler of Kashghar [62] was sent with
Khwaja Ishaq along with certain precious articles.

On Wednesday,- the 25th October, 1665 /25th Rabi. .S.,
the Emperor was weighed on his 48th solar birthday; pre-
sents were given to the nobles at Court and the provinces.
At the request of Raja Jai Singh, a farman was issued
summoning Mulla Ahmad Navayet, the chief noble of ‘Adil
Khan, who had come to the Raja to promote the interests of
his master, and being desirous of entering the imperial
service was waiting for an opportunity to do it. He was
granted the rank of a 6-hazari (same tr.).

On Saturday, 9th December/11th Jamad., S., the
Emperor learnt from the despatches of Saif Khan; Subahdar

5
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hmir, that in accordance with-the imperial order
OgalléjlsMuhamal,,* zamindar of Greater Tibet, had accepted
Islam, the khutba had been read in the Emperor’s name in
the country, imperial coins issued and a high mosque built
there. The Khan who had wisely managed this affair was
rewarded with a promotion of rank and the grant of a robe.
Murad Khan, a zamindar of Lesser Tibet, who had shown
great friendliness in this expedition was given a robe of
honour. :

On 'Wednesday, the 3rd January, 1666/7th Rajab,
Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam, having come from the
Deccan, had audience. News came from the Deccan that
Mulla Ahmad Naviyet, who had started for the Court, had
died. An order was issued to send his son Asad and the
other surviving members of his family to His Majesty.
[63] From the letters of news-reporters in Agra it was
learnt that Shah Jahan was seized with strangury on the
8th January, 1666/12th Rajab and that his illness was
increasing in severity, and the doctors had withdrawn their
hands from applying remedies as they declared the disease
to be beyond cure. The Emperor wished to march in that
direction. As a measure of precaution, Prince Muhammad
Mu‘azzam was sent in advance on Friday, the 19th January/
23rd Rajab. Farly in the night of Monday, the 22nd
January, 1666 A.D./26th Rajab, Shah Jahin succumbed to
the disease and gave up the ghost. On the occurrence of
this tragic event, R‘adandiz Khan, Khwija Phul (Bahlol),
Sayyid Muhammad Kanauji and Qazi Qurban entered the
Ghusalkhana at the wish of Begam Sahib [Jahaniri] and
engaged im making the necessary preparations for the
funeral and the burial. The corpse was carried out of the
fort through the door of the octangular (musamman) tower.
Hushdar Khan Subahdar, joined (the procession), took the
coffin across the Jamuna, and carried it to the mausoleum
of Mumtsz-uz-zamani built by His late Majesty. After
reading the funeral prayer, they consigned the body to the
earth under the dome. The chronograms for the death of
Shah' Jahan are ‘“Shah Jahin died”’, and ‘‘Raziullah’’ (by
Ashraf Khan). He had lived 76 years and 3 months, and
reigned 31 years and 2 months. The prince got the news
at a distance of 7 kos at the end of the night of his decease.

* Daldal is a misreading for Dalai. Muhkamal does not resemble any of

the tit ; : . .
fo: 1‘14 ;7:3 :’f‘ rt'?'e ruler of Tibet, and I can only conjecture that 1t is a mistake
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Early in the day of burial he arrived at the city and
performed the ceremony of condolence. [54] On the arrival
of the sad news, the Emperor, the Princes and the Begams
put on mourning. It was ordered that in letters and edicts
Shah Jahan’s title should be given as Firdaus Ashiani. On
Sunday, the 4th February/9th Shab‘dn the Emperor
started by boat towards Agra in order to visit his father’s
tomb. On Friday, the 23rd/28th Shab‘dn, he alighted at
the mansion of Dara Shukoh, and wvisited the tomb. The
next day and the day following he went to the fort amd
made kind inquiries of and gave solace to the Begam Sahib
and all the other ladies of the harem, and made them all
quit their robes of mourning. For certain works' it was
necessary for him to stay (in Agra) for a few days; so he
summoned the ladies of his harem from Delhi.

At this time the fort of Chatgion was conquered
through the efforts 6f the Amir-ul-umara; his son Buzurg
Ummed Khan and other commanders were honoured and
gladdened with many favours.



CHAPTER iX
NINTH YEAR OF THE REIGN (1076 A.H.)
25th February, 1666—14th February, 1667

With the month of Ramzan began the ninth year of
‘the reign. The Court was decorated for the ’Id. On
Tuesday, the 27th March/1st Shawwal, joyous music was
played. After returning from the place of prayer, the
Emperor sat on the throne. The Begam Sahib was given
a reward of one lakh of gold coins, and her annual pension,
formerly 12 lakhs of rupees, was increased by five lakhs
of rupees. [55] Pur Hunar Banu Begam and Gauharara
Begam each received one lakh of rupees.

At this time the imperial treasury, which the officers
had in the fifth year of the reign removed from Agra fort
to Delhi fort, was again transferred to Agra. As Raja Jai
Singh had sent Shiva to the Court and the latter had
arrived in the environs of Agra, Kumar Ram Singh and
Mukhlis Khan were ordered to advance and meet him and
bring him.to His Majesty. On Saturday, the 12th May,
1666/18th Zil. Q., the Emperor was weighed on his 50th
lunar birthday. Shiva with his son Sambha was honoured
with an audience. He presented 1500 ashrafi as nazar and
6,000 rupees as nisar. As Raja Jai Singh had sent Shivd
at his request to the Court, the Emperor overlooking his
former offences wished to confer on him favours and give
him permission to depart after a few days. On the day of
interview he stood at the proper place along with the high
amirs. But this wild animal of the wilderness of ignorance,
who knew not the etiquette of the imperial court, went into
a corner and made improper expressions of dissatisfaction
and complaint to Kumar Ram Singh. His brainless head
led him to make a tumult. The Emperor ordered that he
should return to his lodging, that Kumir Rim Singh
should make him alight in a house near his own pavillion
and bring his son Sambha with himself to the audience, and
that Fulad Khan should watch him in view of the fraud and
satanic trickery of this arch-deceiver.

_ A royal letter containing all these matters was sent to
Raja Jai Singh [56] asking him to write what he considered



1666 SHIVAJI Fi®ES FROM AGRA 37

politic, so that Shiva might be treated accordingly. After
two or three days, this knave in terror of the Emperor’s
wrath, turned to contriving some remedy; and beseeching
the intercession of the nobles, he professed submission and
repentance. About this time the despatch of Jai Singh was
received, saying-‘‘I have given him promise and assurance
of safety and he is engaged in our warfare in this regiomn.
Pardoning his offences would be advisable’’. Therefore
Fulad Khan was ordered to réemove the guards from his
house. Kumir Ram Singh, too, slackened his watch. This
artful cheat feigning sickness fled with his son on Sunday,
the 19th August/27th Safar. Thereupon, Kumir Rim
Singh was dismissed from his mansab. An order was sent
to Raja Jai Singh saying that the trouble-maker Netaji,
who was related to Shiva and had been created a 5-hazari
{same tr.) at the Raja’s request and was staying with him,
should be arrested by cunning and sent to the Court.

As the Emperor had decided on going to Delhi, for
transacting certain affairs, he sent in advance the Begam
Sahib and other ladies of the harem.

At this time a despatch of Tarbiyat Khan, who had
been sent on an embassy to Persia was received, stating the
wickedness of heart, folly, violence of temper, and unimagin-
able haughtiness of the wretched Shah *Abbias, and reporting
that he wished to go to Khurasin with a view to waging
war. After Tarbiyat Khan’s arrival at the Court, this
matter was again communicated to the Emperor by him and
other reporters. The Emperor determined to punish this
empty-headed king, who wished to destroy the alliance
between them without any reason. [57] Accordingly he
first deputed -Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam with Maharaja
Jaswant Singh and declared that he himself would march
to the Panjab. As Tarbiyat Khan had committed some
" faults in conducting the embassy, he was forbidden the
Court. On Tuesday, the 9th October/19th Rabi. S., the
Emperor set out by the Jamuna from Agra to Delhi, which
was reached in 14 stages. -

On Saturday, the 27th October /8th Jamad. A.; he was
weighed on his 49th solar birthday. Amir Khan, nizim
of Kabul had arrested and sent some Mughals to the Court
on the suspicion of their being spies. The Emperor
appointed ‘Itimad Khan and Mulla ‘Abdul Qawi to investi-
gate their case. The Khan took one of them without chains
or handcuffs to his private room. Suddenly the man rushed
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out of the room, went to the servant who stood outside with
his weapons, snatched away his sword, and returning struck
the Khan and killed him. The people around cut the man
down. The Emperor was grieved to hear of the death of
such a faithful old servant, and gave robes and promotions
to his sons and other relatives. He visited the mansion of
J‘afar Khan the premier noble, who offered presents of
jewels and jewelled ware.

Khwija Ishaq who had gone last year on an embassy
to Kashghar, returned (from the way) on hearing of dis-
turbances in that country. But now on hearing of the settle-
ment of peace in that country he was sent a second time. [58]

As the King of Persia was going from Farrukhabad to
Isfahdn he was attacked with an inflammation of the throat
owing to exposure and died at Kharsammin on Wednesday,
the 22nd August/1st Rabi. A, His minister placed his
eldest son Mirza Safi on the throne. On Wednesday, the
12th December /24th Jamad. S., Aurangzib learnt this news
at his private hunting-lodge (khds shikar) from the letters
of reporters on the frontiers, and said ‘‘My wish was
different (from this). But as the T'rue Avenger has punished
him for his sins, it would not be generous and heroic to send
an army against the country of Iran’’. So an order was sent
to Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam not to advance beyond
Lahore, but stay there for a few days.

Bahadur Khan, an officer sent with the Prince, returned
from the way to the Court, and was sent to Allahabad as
Subahdar. Raja Jai Singh, after arresting Shiva’s relation
Netaji sent him to the Court. He was made over to Fidai
Khan and accepted Islam. ’

As Raja Jai Singh after concluding the expedition
against Shiva, had gone with the imperial army to punish
‘Adil Khan, Abul Muhammad, grandson of Bahlol, one of
the ‘Adil Shahi chiefs joined the Raja, after two stages had
been passed. The new-comer was created a 5-hazari (same
number of troopers) at the Raja’s request and appointed to
assist in the war. _At the Raja’s command and through
the exertions and services of Shiva and his general Netaji
[69] the forts Phaltan, Thathwara, Khawan, and Mangal-
beda were captured. During this period many heroic attacks
and fights took place with Abul Muhammad, Khawas Khan
and their countless army. The imperial army triumphed ;
all the villages adjacent to Bijapur were repeatedly overrun
and harried by our troops. In short, the imperial army
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arrived within five kos of Bijapur. ‘Adil Khan after
strengthening the fort of Bijapur, cut the banks of his tanks,
filled up the surrounding-wells with briars, razed to the
ground the homesteads outside the fort, stood-a siege, and
appointed his army to repel the imperial forces. As the
Raja did not design to conquer the fort of Bijapur and had
not brought with himself siege-materials, he halted for some
days, and then marched away. On Saturday, the 20th
January, 1666/24th-Rajab, he crossed the river Bhima.

“Didnat Rai, the trusted servant of ‘Adil Khan, brought a
message to the Raja begging pardon and professing submis-
sion, with some jewelled ware. As the rainy season arrived,
and the Raja got a letter from the Emperor ordering him
to pass the monsoon at Aurangabad, he gave up the campaign
and returned.

At this time Dilir Khan by imperial command first
went to the kingdom of Chanda : Manji Mallar, the zamin-
dar, intetrviewed the Khan, gave him five lakhs of rupees,
and agreed to pay one kror of rupees as fine to the imperial
Government, and two lakhs of rupees as his permanent
annual fribute. Then the Khan went to the kingdom of
Deogarh. Kok (Kukia) Singh, the ruler of the place agreed
to pay 15 lakhs of rupees as the balance (of tribute) for the
past with an additional three lakhs [60] of rupees every
year. After having gained composure about the affairs of
these places, the Khan again marched with his army by
command to the Deccan, and was created a 5-hazari (same
tr. do aspe seh-aspa).



CHAPTER X
TENTH YEAR OF THE REIGN. 1077 A. H.
15th February 1667—3rd February, 1668

The month of Ramzan led to the increase of charity and
good deeds. ‘The Court officers made preparations for the
celebration.

On Sunday, the 24th February/10th Ramzan a prince
was delivered by Udipuri Mahal, and he was mnamed
Muhammad Kambakhsh. Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam,
on return from Lahore, had audience. On Sunday, the
17th March/1st Shawwal, the Emperor, after returning
from the place of prayer, sat on the throne, and conferred
favours on the princes and nobles.

Shiva’s relatin- Neta, who had accepted Islam, was
raised after circumcision to the rank of a 3-hazari (2,000 tr.)
with the title of Muhammad Quli Khan. Mir ‘Imiduddin,
diwan of the bayutadt, got the title of Rahmat Khan, and
‘Azizuddin that of Bahramand Khan. On Saturday, the 23rd
March /7th .Shawwal, Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam was
given conge as Subahdir of the Deccan ; by an increment of
5-hazar, [61] he was created a 20-hazari (12-hazar tr.).
Maharaja Jaswant Singh, Rii Singh, Saf Shikan Khan and
Sarbuland Khan were appointed under him, and given
favours. Raja Jai Singh was recalled to Court.

DISTURBANCES CAUSED BY THE YUSUFZAI AFGHANS

When the Emperor learnt of the rising of the Yusufzai
Afghins, their exalting as their commander a silly beggar
under the hame of Muhammad Shih, the disturbances
caused by the exertions of that deceitful impostor the wicked
Mulla Chalak, and the leadership of the black-faced Bhigu,
he sent orders to Kamil Khan, faujdar of Attock, to gather
together the faujdars and jagirdirs of the environs of the
river Nilab, and engage in crushing the rebels as far as
possible. .

Order was sent to Amir Khan, Subahdir of Kibul, to
depute Shamshir Khan, with five thousand men to put them
down. Kamil Khan in his eagerness, did not wait for the
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arrival of Shamshir Khan, but fought a severe engagement
with the enemy, overpowered them, and recovered the
imperial-outposts. On Thursday, the 2nd May /18th Zil. Q.
Shamshir Khan after crossing the river Nilab, came towards
Attock; and entered the enemy’s territory on the other side
of the river opposite the Yusufzai country. The enemy
went away to the hills and waited for an opportunity. -

On that day, Muhammad Amin Khan Mir Bakhshi,
with Amir Khan, Qubad Khan and other commanders, and
9,000 troopers in all, was sent from the Court to punish
these rebels. Before the arrival of this Khan, Shamshir
Khan had repeatedly fought great battles and engagements.
[62]. Three hundred of the leading maliks of the tribes
were taken prisoner. On hearing of it the Emperor honoured
Shamshir Khan and Kamil Khan with imperial favours.

On Thursday, the 9th May, 1667/25th Zil. Q., the
Emperor was weighed on his 51st -lunar birthday. During
this - celebration Prince Muhamimad ‘Azam was made a
15-hazari (T hazar tr.) by an increment of 3-hazar. Prince
Muhammad Akbar was made a 8-hazdri (2 hazar tr.) and
granted the twman tugh, kettledrum, and umbrella.
‘Umdatul Mulk J‘afar Khan and the officers at' Court and
the provinces were cherished with various favours. Rustam
Bey and Khushi Bey, the envoys of the Kings of Bukhira
and Balkh respectively, were presented with robes and cash
and given conge. From first to last two lakhs of rupees
were spent on the envoy of Bukhard, and one lakh and 50
thousand rupees on that of Balkh. Razavi Khan of Bukhira
was appointed Sadr vice ‘Abid Khan. Tarbiyat Khan’s
offences were pardoned, and he was sent to Orissa as
Subahdar vice Khan-i-Dauran deceased. It was learnt from
the letters of the reporters of Burhanpur that Raja Jai Singh
was coming from Aurangabad to the Court when on arriving
there he died on the 28th of Muharram.* ‘The Emperor
cherished his son Kumar Ram Singh, who had so long heen
under punishment, by giving him the title of Raja and many
favours.

Muhammad Amin Khan after arriving in the Afghin
country harried and desolated their homes as far as possible ;

* This date is incorrect. The writer’s sole authority, the Alamgirnamah
(p. 1051) merely states—‘On the 28th [month not given] from the news-letters
of Burhanpur the Emperor learnt that Raja Jai Singh has died in that city.”
The dynastic list maintained by the Jaipur State gives 28th August 1667
(18th Rabi A) as the date of his death, and therefore the news of it may
have reached the Emperor on the 28th of Rabi-ul-awwal, and not possibly
on that day of the month of Muharram (=10 July), -

6



42 MAASIR-I-‘ALAMGIRI [en. 10

eror ordered him to leave Shamshir Khan there and
iﬁfnfnff Lahore, [63] and be its Subahdar vice Ibrahim
Khan.

On Monday, the 2nd December, 1667 /25th Jamad. S.,
the Emperor was weighed for his 50th solar birthday. From
the letters of the news-writers of the province of Kashmir
and the despatch of Murad Khan, zamindar of [Lesser]
Tibet, the Emperor learnt.that ‘Abdullah Khan the ruler
of Kashghar, after being overpowered by his son Bulbars
Khan, had with his family and dependants and a few of his
servants in a plundered and destitute condition, turned his
face in this direction with a view to seeking refuge with the
Emperor. It was also learnt that Khwija Ishaq,” who had
been sent to him as envoy, had interviewed him in this con-
dition and helped him to be released ftom this difficulty, and
that they would soon reach Kashmir.

On hearing this news the Emperor in his extreme kind-
ness and appreciation of worth, deputed Khwija Sadiq of
Badakhshédn and Saifullah to act as guest-superintendent to
this noble King ; one dagger, one jewelled jigha, one hundred
and nine Arab, Persian and Turki horses, some of which
had jewelled and gold trappings, two elephants, some gold
and silver vessels, a certain number of suits of dress, nice
robes, tents, pavilions, precious carpets, and all other articles
of splendour, were sent with them; and the above officers
were ordered to hasten to Kashmir, meet the noble Khan
there, and act as his caretakers till his arrival at the Court.
An order was sent to Mumtaz Khan, Subahdar of Kashmir,
directing that when ‘Abdullah Khan, [64] would reach that
pleasant land, he should be supplied by the imperial govern-
ment with all his necessaries, and given 50,000 rupees from
the provincial treasury, and that when he would start for
the Court, the Subahdar should accompany and conduct him
to His Majesty, g

An order was issued to Muhammad Amin Khan,
Subahdar of Lahore, that when ‘Abdullah Khan would come
.within the limits of that province he should treat him with
every respect and care, propetly perform the rites of hospi-
tality, and give him 50,000 rupees from the public revenue,
and a large amount and some articles on his own behalf.
Similarly, orders were issued to all the governors and
figggarléss pc;]zt?x:: rimte to perform the rites of hospitality in

heir 1 places, and conduct him over their jurisdic-
tions in the most excellent manper.,
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On Thursday, the 19th December/13th Rajab,
Danishmand Khan was made Mir Bakshi vice Muhammad
Amin Khan, and presented with a special robe and a jewelled
pen-case. At this time Khwaja Bahlol was appointed com-
mandant of Gwalior vice Muhammad Mu‘atamad Khan and
received a robe, a horse, a dagger, and the title of Khidmat-
gar Khan, while the title of Khidmatgar Khan was changed
to Khidmatguzir Khan. At this time it was learnt from
the news-reports of Bengal that the wretched Assamese had
a second time audaciously crossed their own frontier and
attacked Gaudhati on the boundary of Bengal, with a vast
army and a large flotilla; and that as reinforcement had not
reached Sayyid Firuz Khan, the thinadir of the place, the
enemy had conquered Gaudhati, and the aforesaid Khan had
bravely {65] sacrificed his life with many ofehis comrades
in devotion (to duty). The Emperor decided that one of the
gredt and eminent nobles of the Court should be deputed
to Bengal with an army from His Presence to put down the
enemy and that he should join this force to some of the troops
serving in Bengal, and engage in chastising this wicked
tribe. Therefore, Raja Ram Singh was appointed to perform
this exploit. On Friday, the 27th December, 1667 /21st
Rajab he was sent off with a robe, a horse with gold
trappings and a jewelled dagger with .pearl strap. Nasiri
Khan, Kesari Singh Bhurtia [Rathor], Raghunath Singh
Mairtia, Brahmadeo Sisodia and many other nobles and
mansabdirs, 1,500 ahadis, and 500 barqandazes were
appointed under him.

Here ends my abridgment of the history of the first
ten years.



CHAPTER X1

AUTHOR’S PREFACE
[Twenty-two lines of trite remarks omitled.]

[67] Be it known to the reader that the ‘Alamgirnamah,
giving the incidents of the first ten years of the reign of the
Emperor Abul Zafar Muhiuddin Muhammad Aurangzib
‘Alamgir Ghazi, was written by * * * [68] Mirza Muham-
mad Kizim. The Emperor forbade the writer to continue
the history thereafter. * * ¥ .

After theg death of this Emperor, in the reign of Abul
Nasar Qutbuddin Shih ‘Alam Bahadur Padishah Ghazi,
‘Inayetullah Khan, chief of the wazir’s diwan and personal
disciple of ‘Alamgir, urged this worthless fool Muhammad
Must‘ad Khan that many of the occurrences and incidents,
sdyings and acts of Aurangzib during the (last) forty years
of his reign were hidden from our knowledge and that
‘Alamgir’s deeds had not been collected in a history. ‘“You
have tasted the cup of meaning, and possess sufficient ability
to 1gxpress the .praise of Alamgir, and to discharge this
task.”

I pleaded, ‘“This is [69] a difficult task, beyond the
capacity of man full of defects such as I am. The execution
of such works depends upon the demand of leaders appre-
ciative of merit and right-minded masters expert in handling
words. In their absence, the work produced would be con-
signed to the niche of forgetfulness. If the sheets of the
news-letters of the Court and the provinces be collected,
then the work of the composition may be accomplished with
ease. A passionate friend has no other thought than to
realise his desire by any means whatsoever, and (thus) to
leave a memorial for all times.”> [But] my entreaty pro-
duced no effect (on his mind). .

This humble servant, who considered it his dutv to be
true to the salt of the virtuous Emperor, and had been all
his life one of the knot of servants standing outside the door
of His Majesty’s Court, recorded what he had seen, and
what he had learnt on inquiry from the trusty friends who
had borne office during that reign. As this book of fortunate
victories contains the triumphs of the Emperor ‘Alamgir,



1668] AUSTERITY AT COURT 45

1 considered ‘“Madsir-i-Alamgiri”’ as its proper title, that
phrase being its title as well as giving its date (year of
completion), 1120 A. H./1708 A. D. [70]

11TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1078 a. H.

4th February, 1668—22nd January, 1669

With the month of Ramzan, the 11th year began. The
courtiers set about making preparations for the (annual
coronation) festivity. The month of Ramzan was spent in
fasting during the day and remaining quiet at night. On
Thursday, the 5th March/1st Shawwal, the Emperor went
to the mosque to perform the two-fold prayers of ‘Id-ul-fitr,
and on his return sat on the throne in the Public Audience
Hall. The Princes and peers made their salutations and
were granted promotions, robes of honour, and titles.

Coronation Gazette : Muhammad ‘Azam got a robe and
a jewelled dhup, and Mubammad Kambakhsh a robe.
Umdat-ul-mulk J‘afar Khan was given a robe and a silver-
hilted dagger, Danishmand Khan, Mir Bakhshi, a robe, an
elephant, and promotion to the rank of a 5-hazar: (2,000 tr.),
The imperial physician, gained promotion to the rank of
2,500 zat, (100 tr.), [71} Himmat Khan to the rank of
214 hazari (1,200 tr.), and Lutfullah Khan to that of 114
hazari (500 tr.), Muhammad Ism‘ail, son of Asad Khan,
got his appointment to the rank of 3-sadi. Muhamsiad
Y*aqub, son of Shaikh Mir, formerly a 4-sadi (100 tr.) now
got an increment of 200 troopérs. Ibrahim Khan was
appointed Subahdar of Bihar, vice Lashkar Khan and raised
to the rank of a 5-hazari (5,000 tr.) Mahabat Khan, Subah-
dar of Ahmadabad Gujrat, had audience, and was created
Subahdir of Kabul vice Sayyid Amir Khan.

As the Emperor had no liking for pleasure, and his
devotion to duty left him no time for festivity, he ordered
that the chief musician Khush-hil Khan, Bisrim Khan,
Ras-bin, and others might come to the Court, but must not
make music. -Gradually (music) was entirely forbidden.

On Thursday, the 12th March /8th Shawwal, ‘Abdullah
Khan (the expelled King of Kashghar), who had come to the
environs of Delhi, alighted in one of the gardens. The
Emperor ordered arrangements to be made for his hospitable
reception. On Sunday, the 15th March/11th Shawwal,
Umdat-nl-mulk J‘afar Khan and Asad Khan went outside
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the city to bring him to His Majesty. While riding he
shook hands with the two,-came to the door of the Halls of
Audience on horseback, thence reached the red barrier
(kathra) in a palki, [72] and the silver barrier on foot.
Sitting down near the golden barrier, he partook_of the
Emperor’s own bread and water, which had been presented
to him. He then kissed the jewelled staff presented to him
and took it in his arms. After one prahar and six gharis
he went to see the ghusalkhana, and then sat on the river-
side. After an hour, the Emperor appeared ; the Khan went
up to him, made his salutation, and shook hands with His
Majesty. The Emperor took him by the hand to the mosque.
After half an hour he was permitted to depart. Ekkataz
Khan, Mubiariz Khan, and Khwaja Mubhammad Sadiq con-
ducted him to the kaveli of the late Rustam Khan, a charm-
ing house which had been furnished afresh with carpets
and other things from the Emperor’s personal furniture
department. He was now presented with 11 lakhs of rupees
in cash, 20,000 rupees in kind, and 18 horses with trappings
of jewel, gold and silver, and gold-embroidered horse-cloth,
- which had been assembled in the Audience Hall. He with
his ladies passed the whole of the next day in visiting and
merry-making in the garden of Sahibabad. {737 On behalf
of the Begam Sahib he was presented with 20,000 rupees,
eighteen thans of cloth, a jewelled dagger with phul-katara,
a jewelled betel-case with a gold tray, an enamelled spittoon,
a crystal chaughara, and 200 dishes of food with argajah and
pan. On the 29th March /25th Shawwal, when the Emperor
after rising (from the throne) was standing near the fountain
of the Court, ‘Umdat-ul-mulk brought the Khan with him-
self to the Presence, There was not a yard’s distance
between them: "The Khan bowed, the Emperor laid his
hand on his gracious breast. At his command, he stood in
front of the Emperor near the fountain and was presented
with a tuighun falcon. '‘Umdat-ul-mulk was commanded
to entertain the Khan with an elephant-fight and to sit with
him there, while the Emperor went to his Khawabgah
(sleeping room). -

On Saturday, the 25th April/23rd Zil. Q., the Emperor
was weighed in the ghusal-khana, in the customary manner :
the 52nd lunar year of his life began. The Princes and the
grandees received many gifts; while the Begam Szhib and
other ladies and princes sent presents to the Emperor. On
Sunday, the 8rd May/1st Zil. H., Rahmat Banu, daughter
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-of the King of Assam, was married to Muhammad ‘Azam :
the bride’s settlement was 1 lakh, 80,000 rupees.

It was reported from the province of Tatta, that the
village of Samawani, in the jurisdiction of the port of Lari
[74], had sunk down with 30,000 residents, owing to an
earthquake,

On Tuesday, the 12th May/10th Zil. H., the Emperor
went to say his two-fold ‘Yduzzaha prayers. On Friday, the
17th July/17th Safar Muhammad ’Azam was contracted to
Jahanzeb Banu Begam,* the daughter of Dard Shukoh and

hd Alllibar
[ I
Sa]hm Murad
i Jahan Binun
Khulrram Parviz-+Jahan Banu Nadira
Aunimgzeb Dara+|Nadira
AzanI1+Jahinzeb Jahdnzeb Baau

Bidar Bakht.

Nadira Banu Begam, who was the daughter of Jahan Banu
Begam, who was the daughter of Sultan Murad (4th son of
Akbar) and wife of Sultan Parwiz, the elder brother of
Shah Jahan; the ceremony was performed in the house of
the Emperor’s elder sister Jahanara Banu, surnamed the
Begam Sahib, who had brought her up like her own
daughter. ‘Umdat-ul-mulk J’afar Khan and other nobles
conceyed 1,60,000 rupees’to her as nuptial present (sachiq).

On Saturday, 1st August/8rd Rabi. A., Lashkar Khan
was appointed Subahdar of Multan vice T'ahir Khan. News |
came from Bengal-that at first the dust was raised and then
a terrible apparition of great height appeared; after some
hours it disappeared. Then it was found that for half a
league (round it) men and animals were lying killed and
wounded. On Monday, 14th September/17th. Rabi. S.,
news came from Jaunpur that heavy rain had fallen for-22
days commencing on Tth August. -Many high buildings and
22 yards of the east wall of the fort had tumbled down. In
some places the lightning had struck; some men had been
killed, others who had become senseless recovered conscious-
ness with the loss of their hearing.

‘Abdun Nabi Khan [75] after removal from his post in
Fathpur Jhunjhnu, was created a 2-hazari (1,000 tr,) and
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appointed faujdar of Mathurd. Muhammad ‘Ali Khan was:
appointed diwin of Raushanird Banu Begam.

The Emperor ordered the Subahdars and faujdars of
the provinces of Allahabad and Oudh to search for and send
manacled and fettered to the Court those men who castrated
children and to regard it as a peremptory order that no one
should be allowed to engage in this wicked practice.

On Wednesday, 21st October 1668/25th Jamad. A., the
51st solar year of his life began, The Emperor sat on the
throne in the ghusalkhana, which had been decorated for the
ceremony of weighing. He stopped the practice of (birth-
day) weighing. * * * Muhammad ‘Azam got a special
robe with a half-sleeve coat and a jewelled turban. As
‘Abdullah Khan after spending eight months in happiness
in Delhi, wanted to visit the holy cities, [76] he received
leave to depart. The imperial officers prepared the requisites
of his journey. Orders were issued to the Subahdirs,
magistrates and faujdars of the road from Delhi to Surat
that they should conduct the Khan through their respective
jurisdictions in the best manner. ‘Superintendents of
guests’ were appointed, as at the time of ‘his coming. From
first to last ten lakhs of rupees were spent on him.

‘Indyat Khan, the diwan of Khilsa was raised to the
rank of 9-sadi (100 tr.), Shaikh Sulaimin was appointed
darogha of ’adalat, vice Mir Husaini, and a 7-sadi (70 tr.)
Islam Quli, the master of the horse of ‘Abdul ‘Aziz, king of
Bukhari, was made a hazari. Sayyid Amir Khan, the
dismissed Subahdar of Kabul, had audience, and presented
500 mohars and 2,000 rupees. He kissed the Emperor’s
feet, and the Emperor laid his gracious hand on his back.

Khush-hal Khan and other masters of revels were
given 3,000 rupees and 40 suits of khel‘at. Sayyid ‘Usman,
the messenger of the Sherif of Mecca, was allowed to depart
with a robe, 9,000 rupees and a horse with silver trappings.
Shaf’i Khan was appointed diwan-i-tan vice Kifayet Khan ;
Tahir Khan the dismissed Subahdir of Multin, had
audience, and presented 100 mohars and 1,000 rupees. Five
hundred mohars sent by Mahabat Khan [77] on the
occasion of the birth of a son, were presented to the Emperor ;
the son was named Zamana Beg. The imperial Bakhshis
were ordered to dismiss all troopers up to 3-sadis, excepting
the servants and zamindars. Saf Shikan Khan from the
service of Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam and Mukhtar Khan,
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the qiladir of Parenda, came and had audience of the
Emperor.

The Emperor in order to obey the rules of the Holy
law and to put down uncanonical innovations, ordered the
removal of the two stone elephants of exactly the same size
which had been made by skilful artisans and placed on the
two side-posts of the fort, from which c1rcumstance the door
was$ called Hatiapul.

Marriage of ‘Azam. The festivities began on Monday,
the 21st December, 1668/27th Rajab. -On Sundav, the
3rd January, 1669 / 10th Shaban, the Emperor sat in the
Court of Private Audience; the Pnnce received a robe with
chahdrqab, ten Arab and ’I‘raql horses, two elephants with
gold trappings, a taldir, a jewelled sword worth 20,000
rupees, a turban [78] worth 60,000 rupees and cash
amounting to 12 lakhs of rupees. The Begam Szhib was
presented with the elephant Sarwarganj, worth 15,000
rupees and Jahinieb Banu Begam with two elephants
After 5 gharis of night, the Prince came with pomp and
show to the Emperor, who now went to the mosque. The
knot was tied by -Qazi ‘Abdul Wahhab, with Mir Sayyid
Muhammad Qanauji as his deputy, and Mulla ‘Auz Akhsi-
kati and Shaikh Saifullah Sirhindi as the witnesses. The
marriage-portion was six lakhs of rupees. The Emperor
with the prince rode on horseback to the house of the
Begam Szhib. Grandees down to commanders of 1500
formed the train of the Prince. After two prahars and one
ghari of night, the Emperor and the Prince returned.
Towards the morning the bride came to the Prince’s house.

On Sunday, the 10th January, 1669/17th Shaban, the
Emperor visited the Prince at his house. [79] All the
ground from the fort to the seraglio of the prince was
covered with cloth of gold, silver and plain cloth. The
Emperor sat on a throne of gold. The courtiers made their
bows. It was ordered that grandees down to commanders
of 1500 should make their salutations for their robes of
honour through the mediation of the Bakhshi and others
through that of the darogha of khilat-khana. ‘The Prince
made a present of jewels and cloth valued at five lakhs of
rupees. Then the Emperar visited the inner apartments
(mahal) and afterwards returned to the palace. At the time
of the Emperor’s atrival, the Piince had advanced to receive
him outside the door of the band-room, At the time

7 R
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of his return, he was honourably dismissed from within
the ghusalkhana. On Wednesday, the 6th January/18th
Shaban, ‘Abdur Rashid, the ambassador of Bulbaris Khan,
the ruler of Kashghar, had audience and presented his
master’s letter. It was made over to Khidmat Khan, the
darogha of petitions. )

On the 18th January/20th Shaban, the FEmperor
ordered that men should not use in their garments cloth of
gold, as the wearing of it was opposed to the Holy Law,



CHAPTER XII
TWELFTH VEAR OF THE REIGN. 1079 A. H.
23rd January, 1669-—12th January, 1670

The Emperor passed the month of Ramzan in religious
observances. The courtiers made preparations for cele-
brating the cofonation day. [80] The moon of Shawwal
became visible on Friday. On the day of ’Id the Fmperor
visited the ’Idgah, and at the time of return offered his
Friday prayer in the great Jam‘a Mosque. [lst Shawwal
was Monday, the 22nd February]. Next Tuesday, the
2nd Shawwal he sat on the jewelled throme.

Coronation Day Gazette. Prince Muhammad *Azam
got a robe and promotion to the rank of 15-hazari (9,000 tr.)
Prince Akbar a robe, ‘Umdat-ul-mulk J’afar Khan,
Muhammad Amin Khan, Asad Khan, Abdur Rahinan
Sultan son of Nazar Muhammad Khan, Namdar Khan,
Dinishmand Khan, Sayyid Munawwar Khan and other
officers, great and small, were rewarded with robes, horses,
elephants, and promotions. Bad’i Sultin son of Khusrau
Sultan was made a 2-hazari (200 tr7). Amir Khan, son of
Khalilullah Khan, was made darogha of mansabdirs wvice
Hasan ’Ali Khan. Mu’ataqad Khan, son of Najabat Khan,
who had been removed from his mansab for some offence,
was reinstated as a 2-hazari (same tr.). Abul Muhammad
[81] grandson of Bahlul Khan Miyana, who came from the
Deccan, had audience, and was crealed a 5-haziri (4,000 tr.)
with the titlé of Ikhlas Khan. Mukhtdar Khan, the qiladar
of Parenda got leave to return (to his post).

On Thursday, the 8th 'April, 1669/17th Zil. Q.,
occurred an eclipse ; prayers were said and alms distributed,
as-was the custom.

The Lord Cherisher of the Faith learnt that in the
provinces of Tatta, Multin and especially at Benares, the
Brahman misbelievers used to teach their false books in
their established schools, and that admirers and students
both Hindu and Muslim, used to come from great distances
to these' misguided men in order to acquire this vile learning.
His Majesty, eager to establish Islam, issued orders to the
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governors of all the provinces to demolish the schools and
temples of the infidels and with the utmost urgency put
down the teaching and the public practice of the religion of
these misbelievers.

On Friday, the 9th April/18th Zil. Q., occurred the
53rd lunmar birthday of the Emperor, observed with the
usual celebrations at Court ; His Majesty sat on the throne;
but no weighing took place, as that practice was stopped
from the 11th year. Musicians and singers remained
excluded from the Court. The band (naubat), however,
played happy straips, as formerly. Prince Muhammad
‘Azam got a robe and a shield with jewelled knobs,
Muham'mad Akbar a robe, ‘Umdat-ul-mulk J’afar Khan
and other [82] courtiers were rewarded with robes.
Muhammad Mu‘azzam sent to the Emperor a ruby, which
‘Adil Khan King of Bijapur had presented: it weighed
5 tank and b surkh; its price was estimated at 20,000 rupees.
A robe was sent by the Emperor to the Prince. Dilir Khan
was made a 5-hazdri (same tr.) in reward for the capture
of Deogarh. L

News came from the province of Allahabad that
Alawardi Khan ‘Alamgirshahi had died. His brothers
Hasan ‘Ali Khan, Arslin Khan; Muhammad Shah,
Amanullah Khan, Hazbar Khan, Husain ‘Ali Khan, and
Sanjar; were presented with robes of condolence and con-
soled. Mir Khan was created Subahdir of Allahabad, and
a-4-hazari (3,000 tr. do-aspa) vice the deceased, and given
a robe. Mu‘atagad Khan was made dirogha of the servants
of the retinue (jilau) in his place; Himmat Khan was made
darogha of the Diwan-i-Khas; Kimgir Khan, son of
Jtafar Khan, was appointed dirogha of the jewel-market,
Lutfullah Khan, son of the late S‘adullah’ Khan, was
appointed darogha of dak chauki vice ‘Aqil Khan who had
turned hermit, and he received a balaband; two horses
were presented to Mir Shihabuddin, messenger of the king
of Bukhara, )

~ On Saturday, the 1st May/10th Zil. H., the Emperor
went to the mosque to performi the prayers of the ‘Id-uz-zuha.
[83] Buland Khan from the Deccan was granted audience.
Hakim Ibrahim, who had by command accompanied
Abdullah Khan Kashghari to the port of Surat, returned
and had audience. Mirzi Mukarram Khan Safavi, after
giving up the robes of a hermit, came to the Court without
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arms; the Emperor presented him with a sword. It was
ordered that the ranks of officers from 900 to 200 zat should
be reported in their absence, and thosé from 100 to 20
should be personally presented standing. Saif Khan was
made Subahdir of Kashmir vice Mubiriz Khan.

On Wednesday, the 12th May/21st Zil. H., it was
learnt that ‘Abdun Nabi Khan, faujdar of Mathura, in order
to punish the turbulent men ‘of the village of Tﬂpat had
attacked and at first defeated them, but was himself killed
during the fight by a musket-ball. He was a religious and
benevolent man and combined administrative capacity with
bravery in command. He built the lofty*mosque of Mathura.
His brother’s son and (own) son-in-law, Muhammad Anwar
was given a robe of condolence. His property was seized
for the State : the cash amounted to 93,000 gold mohars,
and 13 lakhs of rupees.

On Thursday, the 18th May/22dd Zil. H., R‘adindiz
Khan, was appointed to root out the rebels near Agra [84]
and received a horse” with gold trappings. Sarbuland Xhan
was appointed Qur Begi vice Himmat Khan. Muhammad
Amin Khan, nazim of Lahore got permission to return to
his post. M‘asum Khan reported that a counterfeit Shuj‘a
had appeared in the peighbourhood of Morang and raised
disturbances. Urgent orders were issued to Ibrahim Khan
and Fidai Khan that if he raised his head Wlthm their
jurisdiction, they should behead him.

Saf Shikan Khan, was appointed faujdar of Mathura
vice Abdun Nabi Khan and Dilir Himmat, son of Bahadur
Ruhila, that of Nadarbir. Brahma Deo Sisodid ‘was
appomted to accompany Saf Shikan Khan, Sayyid ‘Abdul
Wahhab, messenger of the King of Machm had audience.
Salih Bahadﬁr macebearer, was sent to demolish the temple
of Malarna.’

On Thursday, the 3rd June 1669/13th Muharram,
after one prahar of the night, the Emperor by way of the
garden of Haiat-Bakhsh, visited the porter’s lodge which
was assigned for the residence of the saint Shatkh Saifuddin
Sirhindi. After an hour spent in talking with*the saint
and honouring him, he returned to the palace.

It was reported that the wandering Hindu saint,
Uddhav Bairagi, was confined in the chabutra of the pohce
station in punishment for his seducing men to false beliefs,
and that two Rajputs who were his disciples used to visit
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Qazi ‘Abul Mukiram, son of Qazi ‘Abdul Wa}hhib f.or the
purpose of trying to get him released, and t_hat finding an
opportunity [85%hthey had fatally stabbed him on the way
with daggers. e Emperor ordered all the three (Hindus)
to be executed. Raghunath Singh Sisodia left the Rani,
joined the Emperor, was created a hazari (300 tr.), and
presented with a dagger worth 1,000 rupees. -

ARRIVAI, OF HUSAIN PASHA, LATE GOVERNOR
OF BASRA

News-writers of Multin had before this informed the
Emperor that Husain Pashd, the governor of Basri had
quarrelled with the ruler of Turkey and been replaced by
Yahia Pasha, that as he could neither stay there nor return
to his king, he chose to banish himself from his country
with his family and.a few servants, and at first went to
Persia, where he met with no welcome, and that at last
deciding to go to the imperial Court he was coming to India
-stage by stage. * * * * :

[86] The Emperor approved of his desire, and ordered
Artaq Beg, macebearer, to carry a robe, a palki, and a
female elephant to this lucky man at Sirhind, and to
persuade him to visit the Emperor with. perfect composure
of mind. On Thursday, the 1st July/11th Safar he learnt
that Husain Pasha had arrived at Aghrabad. By the im-
perial command Fulad Kban the kotwal met him at the
salt-market. Bakhshi-ul-mulk Asad Khan, Sadr-us-sadur
‘Abid Khan and Mir Tuzuk Ekkatiz Khan waited on him at
the Lahore gate of the city-wall, and conducted him to the
Emperor. Bakhshi-ul-mulk Danishmand Khan and Asad
Khan acted as his guides.up to the door of the ghusalkhana.
He made the customary obeisance, was permitted to kiss
the throne, and was stroked by the Emperor on the back.
His sons Afrasiab Beg and ‘Ali Beg presented 5,000 rupees
and he offered a ruby worth 20,000 rupees and ten Arab
horses. The Emperor gave him a special robe, a sword
with jewelled siz worth 6,000 rupees [87] a jewelled
dagger, an elephant with silver trappings and {aldir,
100,000 rupees“in cash, and the rank of 5-hazari (same tr.)
with the title of Islam Khan, Afrasiab Beg was created a
Khan and 2-haziri (1,000 tr.), and ‘Ali Beg, a Khan and
commander of 1,500 (500 tr.). They were given the haveli
of Rustam Khan, an excellent house furnished with carpets
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and other furniture, along with a carpeted boat, in which
he would come by water to pay his respects to the
Emperor. * * * * )

News came from Attock-Benares that on Thursday,
the 24th June/4th Safar, a severe earthquake had formed a
pit 50 yards 1n length and of unfathomable depth. News
came from Kashmir that on Wednesday, the 23rd June/3rd
Safar the earthquake continued from evening to morning.
The buildings rocked like cradles but were not damaged.

Sayyid Munawwar Khan, son of Sayyid Khan Jahan of
Barha, was appointed faujdir of Barha. Rai Makarand
after transfer from Bareli was appointed to Bengal. A baby
elephant was presented to the young Prince Muhammad
Kam Bakhsh. Raja Rzm Singh, son of Mirzid Raja Jai
Singh, was promoted by the addition of 1,000 troopers.
[88] Islam Khan received an increment of 1,000 zat
(same tr.), tankhwa for ten months, and his sons tankhwa
for eight months in cash, and permanent exemption from
the payment of the price of the food of the cattle in his case,
and exemption for two years in the case .of his sonms.
‘Abdullah Khan was restored to the rank of 2-hazari
(1,000 tr.) and granted a robe, an enamelled dagger, and
the post of diarogha of ghusalkhana. -On Thursday, -the
2nd September, 1669/15th Rabi.S., Mirzd Mukarram
Khan Safavi died of a severe fever.

It was reported that, according to the Emperor’s
command, his officers had demolished the temple of
Viswanith at Kashi.

On Saturday, the 18th September/2nd Jamad. A.,
Ekkatiz Khan and Giridhardas Sisodid had a fight in the
course of their watch before the Lahore gate.. The Hindu
went to hell; the Khan received five wounds, and among his
clientele (biradari) some Mughals were wounded. Iftikhar
Khan, Khan-i-Siman, was ordered to make a review of
camels, cows, and mules twice every year. On Saturday,
the 2nd October/16th Jamad. A., after the Emperor had
sat down in the audience hall, Multafat Khan, .Himmat
Khan, and Ruhullah Khan were conversing together, when
Dildar, son of Ulfat Khan (Muhammad T3hir) and grandson
of Daulat Khan, who bare ill will to Multafat Khan,
suddenly struck his sword on_the batk of the Khan with
both his hands. As soon as he faced round, the assailant
struck three other blows; Multafat Khan received them on
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his shield, and thrust at him with his sword. Meantime
Himmat Khan struck at him with his sword, Fazlullah
Khan, Mir-Tuzuk hit him on the head with a rod. Getting
perplexed and [89] receiving blows with- sticks from
Bahramand Khan and others, the assailant ran up to the
marble stool. Jamil Beg Khawas who used to fan the
Emperor with a chamar, stabbed him in the armpit with a
dagger. He was despatched, and his corpse was taken up
and thrown outside. The men of the .left hand group
(dangal-i-chap) and the slaves of that day’s guard, both
high and low, were-degraded in rank. Two kror dam from
the chakla of Hisir which had been assigned as jagir to
Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam was granted as in‘am, and
instead of it a jagir was assigned to him in the Deccan.

On Monday, the 11th October/25th Jamad. A., it was
learnt that when four gharis of-the night had passed, a star
on the east shot out of the sky and fell towards the west,
lighting up houses, as with moonlight, and then a sound
like the rumbling of thunder was heard. By the gracious
‘favour of the Emperor J‘afar Khan was ordered to visit the
gardens of Agharabad and Nulbari, and he did so.

On Monday, the 26th October/10th Jamad. S., began
the 52nd solar year of the Emperor’s life. Festivity,
presents from and to princes and grandees. [90] Islam Khan
was presented with 100 pieces of gold-embroidery, Fazlullah
Khan,and Hazbar Khan conducted Shadmin Khwija, the
messenger of Balkh, from the door of the ghusalkhana. He
presented the respects of Subhan Quli Khan, and received
a robe and 10,000 rupees. Safi Khan was sent as Subahdar
of Orissa vice Tarbiyat Khan. On Sunday and Monday,
81st October and Ist November/15th and 16th Jamad. S.,
the Emperor visited- the tombs of Humiyun, Shaikh
Nizamuddin Aulia,- and Khwaja Qutbuddin Bakhtidf Kaki
Tushi. Rewards in cash were given to the attendants of the
three shrines and they showed the sacred relics. Muhammad
Yar, son of ‘Itigdd Khan, was first appointed a 4-sadi. ‘Ali
Akbar, messenger of the king of Golconda, had audience,
and offered a tributeof 1,000 mohars and 15 elephants.” Mir
Shihabuddin, son of ‘Abid Khan came to the Court from
Vilayet; the Khan presénted.a shield ornamented with
enamelled flowers.. The Mir was made a 3-sadi (70 tr.)
Khwaja Muhammad Yaqub, about whom [91] something
will be written afterw_atrds, narrated to the author, “‘Subhin
Quli. Kﬁan took me with him Qu a visit to his melon-ground.
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Rustam Bé Ataliq and I were sitting together on one side,
when Mir Shihabuddin came to me and said, “My father
calls me, but I am not getting my master’s permission to
go’’. At this time the Ataliq and I supported this request
saying that a letter might be kept written so that after the
permissioni was given there might not be the delay of
writing. We went to him at the time of his meal, made
the request, and got his permission. On that occasion
Shihabuddin, too, presented to the Khan some pieces of
shawl sent by his father. The letter received the royal seal
and the Khan offered prayers for his journey. When he
had gone some steps, the Khan called him back and said;
““You are going to Hindustin where you will become a big
man, [ hope you will not forget me.”

THE EMPEROR’S JOURNEY TO AGRA FOR PUTTING
DOWN REBELS

On Sunday, the 28th November, 1669 /14th Rajab, the
imperial tents [92] were pitched near the Jamuni, and the
army set out towards Agra at the appointed hour. The
Emperor hunted on most of the days of the journey. On
Saturday, the 4th December/20th Rajab, while riding: out
to hunt, he learnt the circumstances of the rebellion in the
villages of Rewara, Chandarkha, and Sarkhud. By order
of the Emperor Hasan ‘Ali Khan attacked them. ‘They
fought up to noon with bows and muskets; and then, being
unable to resist any longer, many of them performed the
jauhar of their women, and rushed to fight at closé quarters;
many of the imperialists including the companions of
Hasan ‘Ali Khan rattained martyrdom, while 300 of the
infidels went to hell and 250 persons, male and female, were
made “prisoners. The Khan returned to the Emperor at
sunset and reported on''the baftle. ‘The prisoners were
ordered to be made over to Sayyid Zain-ul-‘Abidin, jagirdar
of the place. ; i .

Saf Shikan Khan faujdar of Mathura, came to inter-
view. An order was issued that he «should appoint 200
horsemen from among his servants to guard the crops of
the villages and to prevent the soldiers front oppressing any
one or taking any child prisoner. Nimdiar Khan, faujdar
of Muradabad, came to interview, by command. He offered
100 -mohars, 1,000. rupees and two: black-hawks. - Hasan
“Ali Khan was appointed faujddy of Mathura dice Saf Shikan

8 :
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Khan, [93] and made a commander of 3,500 zat (2,000 tr.)
and was given a robe, a sword, a horse. Amanullah, son of
Alawardi Khan ‘Alamgirshahi, the faujdar of the environs
of Agra, got an incremient of 300 troopers and was ordered
to help the aforesaid Khan. Under the Khan were placed
2,000 bargandiz troopers, 1,000 archers, 1,000 musketeers,
1,000 rocket-men, 25 pieces of cannon, 1,000 beldars and
1,000 tabardars (pioneers and sappers). Hushdir Khan
governor of Agra came to interview. .

On Wednesday, the 15th December /1st Shaban a letter
accompanied by 1,000 mohars was received from Prince
*Muhammad Mu‘azzam giving news of the birth of a son
to the daughter of Rup Singh Rathor. The child was named
Daulatafzi ; a letter and jewels worth 100,000 rupees were
sent to the child and its parents. On Friday, the 3lst
December /17th Shaban, the Emperor visited the tombs of
Shah Jahan and Mumtiz-uz-zamini, and presented 44,000
rupees to the officers of the tombs on behalf of himself and
the two princes.

On Saturday, the 1st January, 1670/18th Shaban the
Emperor took up his residence in the palace of Agra fort.

., Gokla Jat, the accursed rebel and the ring-leader of
the disturbance in the country of Tilpat, who was the cause
of the killing of ‘Abdun Nabi Khan and had plundered the
pargana of S‘adabad, [94] was captured through the valour
ard efforts of Hasan ‘Ali Khan and his peshkar Shaikh
Raziuddin. The Khan sent him and his comrade Sonki
to the Emperor in chdrge of Shaikh Qawm. By imperial
order, his limbs were hacked off one after another in the
chabutra of the kotwali. His son and daughter were made
over to,Jawdhir Khan, ndzir, for being brought up (as
Muslims). The daughter” was married to Shah Quli
Chelah (slave), afi intimate servant of high rank. The son
became a memoriser of the Qurin with the name of F dzil,
and in the opinion of the Emperor surpassed in corréctness
all other memorisers, and he had the happiness of hearing
His Majesty’s chanting of the Qurin.

S_haxkh.szmgid_in, a very learned and high-born man
of Bhiagalpur in Bihar, was among the scholars engaged in
compiling the Fatgwa-i-*4 lamgiri, and got a daily stipend
of three rupees. He -had many other accomplishments such
as military skill, administrative capacity, pleasantness of
speech, and kuowledge about most places, His merits were
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reported to the Emperor by Qazi Muhammad Husain
Jaunpuri, Censor of the Court, and Bakhtiwar Khan a
personal attendant. 'He was given the rank of a sadi and
gradually through the help of Hasafa ‘Ali Khan, rose to be
an Amir and then a Khan and did splendid services. At
last he sank into sleep in the cradle of death. [95]



CHAPTER XIII
THIRTEENTH YEAR OF THE REIGN. (1080 a.H.)

13th January, 1670—1st January, 1671.

On Thursday, 27th January /15th Ramzan, the justice-
loving Emperor ordered that complainants should not be
excluded from the side of the window of darsan : the harem-
officers were to draw up their petitions by means of ropes
and show them to His Majesty. During this month of
Ramzan abounding in miracles, the Emperor as the
promoter of justice and overthrower of mischief, as a knower
of truth and destroyer of oppression, as the zephyr of the
garden of victory and the reviver of the faith of the Prophet,
issued orders for the demolition of the temple situated in
Mathura, famous as the Dehra of Kesho Rai. In a short
time by the great exertions of his officers, the destruction
of this strong foundation of. infidelity was accomplished, and
on its site a lofty mosque was bujlt at the expenditure of
a large sum. This temple of folly was built by that gross
idiot Birsingh Deo Bundela. Before ‘his accession to the
throne, the Emperor Jahangir was displeased with Shaikh
Abul Fazl. [96] This infidel became a royal favourite by
slaying him, and after Jahangir’s accession was rewarded
for ‘this service with the permission to build the temple,
which he did at an expense of thirty-three lakhs of rupees.

Praised be thefaygust God of the faith of Islam, that
in the auspicious reign of this destroyer of infidelity and
turbulence, such a wonderful and seemingly impossible
work was successfully accomplished. On ~seeing this
instance of the ‘strength ~of the Emperor’s faith .and the
grandeur of his devotion to God, the proud Rajas were
stifled, and in amazement they stood like images facing the
wall. The idols, large and small, set with costly jewels,
which had been set up in the temple, were brought to Agra,
and buried under the steps of the mosque of the Begam
Sahib, in order to be continually trodden upon. The name of
Mathura was changed to Islimibad.

On 12th February, 1670, the day of ‘Id, the Emperor
rode out on a huge elephant, with Prince Muhammad
Azam seated behind him, and dismounted at the ‘Idgih.
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{97] Next day, he sat on the throne of gold presented by
Amirul-umara ‘Ali Mardan Khan and placed in the middle
of the hall of the palace. Princes Muhammad ‘Azam and
Alkbar received robes. ‘Umdat-ul-mulk-J‘afar Khan got an
increment of 1,000 troopers and 1 kror of dam as reward.
Raja Ram Singh, who was a 4-hazari (4,000 tr. do-aspa,
seh-aspa), was raised higher by 1,000 troopers on condition
of serving in Assam. Kumar Kishan Singh, son of Ram®
Singh, was given a jewelled turban. Hasan ‘Ali Khan’s
conditional rank of 1,500 was made unconditional, and he
was granted kettle-drums. Ashraf Khan and Himmat Khan
were promoted by 500 troopers; Mir Taqi was made a
8-haziri, Multafat Khan and Mughal Khan were promoted
by 500, "and so made 2-hazaris.

Sazawar Khan and Fazlullah Khan were each given
100 troopers. Bakhshi-ul-mulk Asad Khan and Faizullah
Khan were presented with two riding horses of great speed.
‘Abdur Rahm3an Sultin and Bahram Sultdn each got 10,000
rupees as reward. Shadman Khwija, ambassador of Balkh
got leave to depart, with 25,000 rupees in cash, a robe, a
jewelled sword worth 5,000 rupees, an elephant with a silver
saddle, a flowered shawl, 150 pieces of cannon, Aghabani
turban and Gujrati fota ‘of the same value; his follpwers
received 10,000 rupees as reward. Muhammad ‘Abid, son
of Zahid Khan Panjabi got the rank of 1}-hazari (30() tr.)
[98] and the. title of Nawazish Khan. Darab Khan
darogha of the Emperor’s own musket-room, became
dirogha ‘of the ghusalkhana wice ‘Abdullah’ Khan. The
bayutat of Agra thus reported the price of grain to the
Emperor : fine Sukhdis rice at 14 seers, wheat 85 seers,
pulse 1 md. 2 seers, ghee (raughan) 4 seers, for a rupee and
the prices of other articles were also according to this
standard.

On Sunday, the 27th March 1670/15th Zil. Q., the
54th lunar year of the Emperor’s life began. Festive
decorations were suspended. The officers of the band-room
were ordered that the music of the ceremony which used to
be played all day was (henceforth) to be played after the
passing of one prahar, as at the festivity on Sundays.
Bakhtawar Khan, darogha of the khawidses, was presented
with a dagger having a crystal handle. Sayyid Amjad
Khan, son of Mir Sayyid Muhammad Qanauji, was
appointed Censor of the imperial camp vice Qazi Muhammad
Husain, deceased.
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The courtiers who used to salute each other by raising
the hand to the head, were now ordered to say [simply]
salam ‘alekum. . . -

On Wednesday, 20th April/9th Zil. H., Mulla ‘Abdul
‘Aziz ‘Tzzat, son of Mulld ‘Abdul Rashid Akbarabadi, had
[99] audience in the mosque through the medjation of
Himmat Khan and Bakhtiwar [cor.] Khan. He, after acquir-

“ng knowledge of both the traditional and rational branches of

learning alike and attaining to the high rank of a master
of all the sciences, was spending his days in.a life of
seclusion in his house contented with a daily stipend of three
rupees only, and never bowed his head down in supplication
to any of the powerful grandees. As fortune had destined
him for celebrity and advancement, his great intellectual
powers, wisdom, mastery of meaning, elegance of langunage,
sound understanding and agreeable nature, judicious speech
and power of devising plans became the cause of his being
taken up for training and favour at the Court of the
Emperor, who discovers and discerns all merit. The Shaikh
at first got a mansab of 400, a robe, 5 horses, a sword, a
dagger, a spear, a decorated palki and other articles. On
the fourth day, when the grants were reported a second time
for cenfirmation, he got an increnient,of 100 (30 tr,) and the
post of darogha-i-‘arz-i-mukarrar, vice Lutfullah Khan.
He was elevated by being given the right of private
audience, and that of mnot having to raise his hand to
his head before anybody,—‘salam ‘alek’ being enough for
him.

News came from' the Deccan that Shiviji after seizing
the fort of Purandar had captured the giladir; Raziuddin.
Bakhtawar Khan issued orders to the diwidni officers that
they should report to the Emperor the income and expen-
diture at the end of the year and should bring to the ghusal-
khina, (every) Wednesday the registers of the Diwins of
the tankhwa and the Crown-land departments. ‘Inayet Khan
reported that since the reign of Shah Jahan the public ex-
pendityre had exceeded the income by 14 lakhs of rupees. It
was ordered that the privy purse (khalss) income should
be fixed at four krores of rupees, and the expenditure the
same. After looking over the accounts of disbursements,
His Majesty retrenched many items of the expenditure of
the Emperor, the' Princes, and the begams.

It was reported that Hasan ‘Ali Khan was sparing no
exertion in slaying and capturing the infidel rebels, * plun-
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dering their houses, destroying their families and .demolish-
ing their strong forts, and had planted Shih Muhammad
Nawiaz, Sidam Baluch, Shaikh Raziuddin, I‘al Muhammad,
Nazar Muhammad and others in full control over the mahdls
of the zamindari; he was ordered to come to Court. On
Wednesday, the 6th April/25th Zil. Q. he had audience
and was highly praised. On Saturday, the 9th April, 1670/
28thZil. Q., news came from Delhi of the death of
Badrunnisa Begam, daughter of the Emperor. The father
greatly loved her for her Rabi‘a-like. piety, memorisation
of the Quran, good character and manners. «
News came that Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam ha

been instigated by flatterers to act in a self-willed and
independent manner. [101] The Emperor’s letters of
advice producing no effect, he summoned the Prince’s
mother, Nawab Bai from Delhi, in order to send her to her
son for bringing him back to the right path if any trace of
recalcitrancy was found in him. Iftikhir Khan was sent
to the Prince, with a verbal message of mingled kindness
and reproach. The Khan speedily went to his destination
and discharged his mission. As the Prince’s character was
full of .devotion to the Emperor and the reports against
him were utterly false, he replied very submissively,
expressing grief and regret. His Majesty, therefore,
renewed his favour to the Prince, and became very angry
with Iftikhar Khan for his error of judgment. When the
Khan returned he and his brother Multafat Khan [102]
were “deprived of their ranks and titles. Sher Beg, mace-
bearer, conducted Sultin Husain across the river of Attock
and brought Mir Tbrahim Husain to Lahore, under his
strict escort (sazdwali). Ashraf -Khan was made Khan-i-
siman vice Iftikhar Khan and Mughal Khan was made
darogha of the macebearers vice Ashraf Khan. Haji Ahmad
S‘aid Khan became darogha of ‘arz-i-mukarrar vice Mughal
Khan. On Tuesday, the 29th March/17th Zil. Q., news
came that [Dilir Khan after reinstating the zamindir of
Deogarh in his zamindiri had returned to Aurangabad.
Nawab Bai, summoned from Delhi, reached Sikandira on
Thursday, the 18th April/2nd Zil. Q. Princé Muhammad
Akbar, Bakhshiulmulk Asad Khan and Bahramand Khan
advanced to meet her, and conducted her to the imperial
harem, .
" On Thursday, the 21st April/10th-Zil. H., occurred
the ‘Id-uz-zuha. The Emperar visited the ‘Idgah for prayer
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and sacrifice. Dost Muhammad, the Khutba-reader was
rewarded with a robe and 500 rupees and Ni‘amat Khan
Bakawal (superintendent of the kitchen) with a knife,
according to the fixed custom. Robes and jewelled daggers
were sent by a macebearer to Dilir Khan and Daud Khan.
Haji Shaf‘i Khan became diwan of the Deccan vice Mukar-
ramat Khan, Kifayet Khan diwan-i-tan vice the Haji, Shah
Khwija darogha of the departments of branding and muster
(dagh and tashiha) vice Kifayet Khan. Nawab Bai started
for Aurangabad. She was commanded to spend two days
at Gwalior with her eldest son, Muhammad Sultin who was
imprisoned there. [103] Sarbuland Khan was to conduct
her to Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam in the ‘Deccan, and
then return,

As the illness of ‘Umdatulmulk J‘afar Khan became
severer, the Emperor twice went to his house, at first to
comfort the sick man and the second time to-condole with
his relatives. On Friday the 6th May, 1670/25th Zil. H.,
he died. In his character were united all graciousness of
heart and grandeur of behaviour. The Emperor mourned
the death of such a devoted servant, and ordered that for 3
days 120 dishes of food should be sent to the bereaved
family. Princes Muhammad ‘Azam and Akbar ‘were ordered
to go to the houses of his sons, Namdar Khan and Kamgar -
Khan to make the customary inquiries and to console their
mother, Farzana Begam. Special robes were sent to both
and a tora to her. Akbar, after having raised them from
the posture of mourning, brought them both to the Emperar
who honoured them with jewelled daggers having pearl
ilagas and many other favours and kind words. Mourning
robes were presented to Bakshiulmulk Asad Khan, Mirza
Bahrim, and his sons Bahramand Khan and Sharfuddin,
to Iltifit Khan, Muftakhar, Mufikhar, Raushandil and
others. Asad Khan was appointed deputy diwin and pre-
sented with a jewelled dagger and two packets of betels from
the Emperor’s own hand. The Emperor ordered that [on
Asad Khan’s letter of appointment] should be written
through the mediation (rasalatun) of Prince Md. Mu‘azzam
[104] and that the seal of the Prince should be affixed by
Dianat Khan. On Sunday, the 8th May /27th Zil. H.,
Ekkataz Khan was sent as envoy to Bukhira, and presented
with a horse worth 100 mohars, an elephant worth 4,000
rupees, a jewelled dagger, 'a jewelled sword, a jewelled
jigha. -He was_a 1§ hazari (500 tr.).and now. got an incre-
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ment of 500 (100 tr.). For ‘Abdul ‘Aziz, the king of
Bukhira, there were sent with him, besides presents and
rarities of Hindustin worth more than 2 lakhs of rupees
five tazi and four Cutchi horses. Mughal Khan was made
Mirtuzuk vice Ekkataz Khan and given a gold mace (‘asa),
Mubariz Khan became governor of Multan wice Lashkar
Khan, Jahangir Quli Khan was appointed naib (deputy) of
Muhammad ‘Azam in the faujdarship of the chakla of
Sambal, A farmdan was sent to Muhammad Amin Khan
appointing him Subahdar of Kabul wice Mahabat Khan,
Tarbiyat Khan was made Subahdir of Oudh wice Fidai
Khan who came to the Court and was sent to reside at
Gwalior, as was considered expedient. R‘adindiz Khan,
darogha of the topkhana accompanying the Emperor, Raja
Devi Singh, Yahia Khan Deccani, Sayyid ‘Ali Akbar,
Rumi Khan, Kirtalb Khan Miwati, Badi ‘Sultdn of Balkh,
Mirza Sadruddin, son of Mirza Sultdn, and his companions
were rewarded with promotion, robes, borses, swords, and
[105] daggers, according to their ranks. Jani Khan was
made naib of R‘adindaz Khan, in the darogha-ship of the
topkhana accompanying the Emperor.

On Thursday, the 4th August, 1670/27th Rabi. A., .2
son was born to Muhammad ‘Azam and Jahdnzeb Binu
Begam. The Emperor named him Bidar-bakht, and pre-
sented him with a cap worth 10,000 rupees, and the Begam
with a pearl necklace worth 10,000 rupees, and a smarani
worth 7,000 rupees. Amanat Khan, aliss Sayyid Ahmad
Khattab got the title of Khan, and was sent to Bengal as
diwan. ‘Abdullah Khan of Kishghar, after visiting t_he
holy cities, returned to the Court, he was presented with
1 lakh of rupees from the revenue of Surat and Malwa.
News came that Danishmand Khan, Mir Bakhshi, the
nizim and qiladir of Delhi, had died on Monday, the
18th July /10th Rabi. A. He was one of the greatest scholars
of the age and his life was devoted to charity and piety.
Lashkar Khan, Subahdar of Multin, who had come to
Court, was appointed the first Bakhshi vice the deceased ;
he got alift of 1000 (same tr.) on his rank of 4-hazaan
(same tr.) Himmat Khan, the third B?khshl, was made
second Bakhshi wvice Asad Khan, Na;nd’ar Khan 7x};1vas
appointed Subahdar of Delhi, and Mwatamed Khan
commandant of the fort. Sayyid Amir Khan who [] 3 ]i
after resigning his rank was living in Delhi, died on br
September, 1670 /27th Rabi. S, 'The Emperor gave robes

9
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of mourning and words of consolation to Muhammad
Ibrahim, Muhammad Ishiq, and Muhammad Y‘aqub, the
sons of his brother Shaikh Mir. News came from Peshawar
that Muhammad Amin Khan had reached that place on
Wednesday, the 17th August/10th Rabi. S. Riding coats’
for the rainy season were presented to Asad Khan, Murtaza
Khan, ‘Abid Khan, Hasan ‘Ali Khan, Tahir Khan, and
other officers at Court and the provinces. Haji' Ahmad
Sayyid Khan was appointed diwan of Begam -Sahib.
Lutfullah Khan was appointed darogha of ‘arz-i-mukarrar
vice him. Faizullah Khan was made faujdar of Sambal
vice the agents of Prince ‘Azam, and Sarbuland Khan
was made Qushbegi (master of the hunt) vice him. .

On Saturday, the 29th October/24th Jamad. S.,
[the 53rd] solar year of the Emperor’s life began. He sat
on-the throne of gold. * * * Rfadinddz Khan who had gone
with Fidai Khan was summond to the Court and had the
honour of audience.

It was learnt that on Sunday, the 2nd October,
1670/27th Jamad.A., the accursed Shivd had attacked
Surat, burnt and plundered the town for some hours, and
then retired. A letter with 1000 mohars came from Prince
Muhammad Mu‘azzam announcing the birth of a son to him
and Nurunnisi Begam, [107] the daughter of Sanjar,
Najam-i-S3ni. Mirza Muhammad, the agent of the Prince
presented them to the Emperor, who gave the baby the
name of Rafi*-ush-shan. Sarbuland Khan who had gonme
to the Deccan as escort of Nawib Bii, now returned and
had audience. Mahabat Khan, the ex-Subahdar of Kabul,
came and had audience, the Emperor remarking ‘“You are
welcome”. On Monday, the 28th November/25th Rajab
he was sent on the Deccan expedition, and presented with
a robe with half-sleeve and collar, a horse with .gold trap-
pings,-and an elephant with falgir. His son Bahram got a
jewelled dagger. Rao Rup Singh, son of Rao Karn, Raja
Amar Singh, son of Kishan Singh, Dilir Himmat, brother
and Suhrib, brother’s son of Mahabat, and other officers of
that Khan’s army received presents.

It was ordered that ribbon frills in the European style

should not be attached to the boats and palkis of the princes
and peers,



CHAPTER X1V
FOURTEENTH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1081 A.H.

2nd January,—21st December, 1671.

With the’rmonth of Ramzan commenced the 14th year
of the reiga. "* * * * * * 71081 On Wednesday the 1st
February, occurred the ‘Id-ul-fitr. After returning from
‘the mosque, the Emperor sat on the throne, * * *

Asad Khan was made the first Bakhshi wice Lashkar
Khan deceased. Hasan ‘Ali Khan, after receiving a robe’
and a horse, hastened back to his post. Muhammad Sharif,
envoy of Bukhara, got a present of 25,000 rupees and a
robe and a horse with gold trappings. Shaikh ‘Usmin, the
agent of the Sharif of Mecca, placed before the Emperor
his master’s presents consisting of two Arab horses, a silver
sword-belt and baz. He received a jewelled dagger, 10,000 .
rupees and a gold coin weighing 100 mohars and a rupee
weighing 100 rupees. Twenty thousand rupees wete
entrusted to him for the Sharif of Mecca. Sayyid
Muhammad Rumi, the envoy of Abyssinia, presented his
master’s gifts. At his first interview he got a robe, and
at his leave taking a robe and 10,000 rupees. Yalangtosh
Khan Bahadur was, given a sword, a dagger, a.spear, and
a shield. Iradat Khan was made Akhta Begi vice Ruhullah
Khan, S‘adat Khan Qaqshil who had come to the Court,
went back to his post. . )

On Monday, 10th April/10th Zil. H., took place the
‘Id-uz-zuha. Five thousand mohars were presented to
Purhunar, Binu Begam and Gauharird Begam each, On
Monday, the 12th June/l4th Safar, Muhammad Amin
Khan reached the Court by command [109]; Lautfullah
Khan met him at the gate of the fort and Asad Khan at the
door of the ghusalkhina. He presented four Arab a_md
‘Iraqi horses. The Emperor gave him a robe. and made
kind inquiries. On Sunday, the 21st May/ 22nd Muharram
Nauras Binu Begam, wife of Shah Nawaz Khan Safavi died.
Mourning robes .were presented to Darab I.(han! and
Khanazad Khan, the sons of Mirza Abu S‘aid, sister’s son
of Nur Jahin Begam. The Amir-ul-umard’s tribute of
2 lakhs 30,000 rupees, consisting of elephants and othe?
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presents and rare things, was placed before the Emperor,
Shadkam Chela, an old slave of His Majesty, died. Posts
and dresses were conferred on his relatives. Maharaja
Jaswant Singh was appointed thanahdar of Jamrud, and
-given a overcoat for the rainy season (farghal-i-barani) and
a horse worth 500 mohars. Bisrdam Khan the chief musician
died. Robes were given to Bhupat, his son, and Khush-
hil Khan (musician). Ziduddin Husain, Yadgar Husain, -
and Muhammad Husain, daughter’s sons of Ashraf Khan,
had audience and were given robes. As they were very
stout, the Emperor ordered tliat one of them was to be
brought to the Court every day. ) -

Muhammad ‘Ali Beg, son of Amirulumara ‘Ali Mardin
Khan came from Persia, had audience, and received a robe,
a sword, a jewelled dagger with a pearl ilaga, and 10,000
rupees. On Saturday, the 29th July/2nd Rabi. S., Mir
Muhammad brother of Asalat Khan, who had newly arrived
from Persia, interviewed the Emperor [110] and received
a jewelled dagger and 7,000 rupees. Hushdar Khan
was appointed nazim of Burhanpur vice Diud Khan who
after interview. was made nazim of Allahabad, wvice Mir
Khan and received a special robe, a horse with gold
trappings, and an elephant with bronze trappings. ‘Inayet
Khan, daftardar of khalsa (crownlands) got the faujdari
of the chakla of Bareli. Amanat Khan alias Mirak
Mu‘inuddin got his post and an inkpot of crystal stone.
Muhammad Yar, son of ‘Itigdd Khan, got a robe on his
marriage with the daughter of Farrukh Fil. Muhammad
‘Ali Beg got the title of ‘Aliquli Khan and the rank of
2-hazari (same tr.), a standard, kettle-drums, and gold and
silver articles worth 30,000 rupees.

Yahia Pasha, who had been appointed by the ruler of
Turkey, to govern Basra vice Husain Pasha, did not occupy
his office owing to some change in his fortunes, came to the
imperial Court, and received a special robe with buttons of
gold thread, a jewelled sword and dagger, 10,000 rupees and
the rank of 1500 (700 tr.) Barani (rain) robes were presented
to the princes and the grandees, high and low, at the Court
and in the provinces. “‘Abid Khan was made Subahdir of
Multin vice Mubariz Khan. On Monday, the 1l1th
September, 1671/ 17th Jamad. A., Rushanira Begam, the
Emperor’s sister died [111]. She had noble qualities and
admirable traits, and greatly’ loved her brother. The
Emperor gave away large sums in charity for the benefit
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of her soul, and conferred favours on her male and female
servants. -

Muhammad Amin Khan was invited to Court to take
up the duties of Wazir. True, he was unique in counsel
and honesty, but his nature contained the vile characteristics
of self-will and pride. As by making some improper
requests, he alienated the equable mind of the Emperor, on
Friday; the 15th September/21st Jamad. A., he was sent
to Kahul as Subahdir, and presented with a special robe, a
dagger set with jasper and having a pearl “ilaga, and a tall
elephant, with silver trappings. Iftikhar Khan’s and
Multafat Khan’s faults were pardoned and they were
restored to their ranks [112] and titles. ‘The first was sent
t6 Kashmir as Subahdar vice Saif Khan who had turned
hermit and been removed from his rank. The second was
appointed gqiladar of Delhi vice Mu‘atamad Khan. On
Thursday, the 28th September/4th Jamad.S.; Mir Khan,
the ex-Subahdar of Allahabad had audience. Lautfullah
Khan received a robe on his marriage with the daughter of
Lashkar Khan. Kamgar Khan was sent to the Amir-ul-
umiri. Sufi Bahadur was sent as envoy to Anusha Khan,
ruler of Urganj, and received a robe, a jewelled jigha, a
sword, a quiver, and a shield. Namdar Khan was appointed
Subahdir of Agra and Mu‘atamad Khan commandant of
Agra fort. ‘The Emperor learnt that ‘Abdullah Khan after
returning from his pilgrimage, was coming to the imperial
court; he bestowed on him 1,000 mohars and a silver tray
and cover.

THE EMPEROR’S JOURNEY FROM AGRA TO DELHI.

On Thursday, the 2nd November/10th Rajab, he
started from Agra, hunting on the way. He reached
Khizribad on Thursday the 23rd /1st Shaban. On Sunday,
the 26th/4th Shaban, after visiting the tombs of Khwija
Qutbuddin and Shaikh Nasiruddin, the Lamp of Delhi
[118] and presenting 1500 rupees to the residents of the
two places, he arrived at the palace. On Monday, th‘e 18th
December, 1671/26th Shaban, Prince’ Muhammad Azam
sent 1000 mohars on account of the birth of a son to his
begam. He was named Jawan-bakht. Kamyab Khan
Safavi, who had been dismissed, was reinstated in his rank.
‘Abdullah Khan who had arrived at Delhi before the
Emperor, was conducted to the Court by Asad Khan and
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Bahramand Khan and had the honour of being received in,
audience. 2,000 mohars and fifty trays of food were sent
to his house. Dismissed Mir Khan was restored to his
rapk, Mir Mahmud got the rank of a hazari (400 tr.) and
the title of ‘Aqidat Khan. On 16th December /24th Shaban,
the Emperor received the peshkash of Muhammad Amin
Khan consisting of 280 pearls worth 1 lakh and 5,000
rupees, and 50 horses.



CHAPTER XV

FIFTEENTH YEAR OF REIGN : 1082 a.m.

22nd December 1671—10th December 1672.

[Month of Ramzan and the Emperor’s gifts| * * #
[114] ‘Agidat Khan got a robe on his marriage with the -
daughter of Ruhullah Khan. On the death of Hushdir
Khban, son of Multafat Khan ‘Alamgiri and grandson of
‘Azam Khan Jahangiri, Kamgar and J‘afar, sons of Hushdar
(deceased} had audience.

The astonishing occurrence of the suppression of the
Satnamis who are (also) called Mundiyas.

Those who observe the wondrous works of Heaven have
been filled with astonishment at the occurrence of this affair
in which a rebellious horde of low people like goldsmiths,
carpenters, scavengers, tanners [115] and members of
other menial professions, who are naturally weak and fore-
doomed to slaughter, took I know not what into their heads
so that they were filled with a spirit of obstinate self-will,
as if in their rebellious pride they felt their heads to be
an untolerable burden on their shoulders and wilfully
walked into the trap of their destruction. The detailed
account of this affair is as follows : )

A large body of wicked mischief-makers of the Miwat
district suddenly sprang out of the ground like termites
(winged ants) and descended from the sky like locusts. It
was said that these wicked people considered themselves
immortal, and believed that if ome of them was slain,
seventy others would spring up in his place. They defied
the imperial authority and caused disturbances near Nérnol,
in'a body of about 5,000 men, and plundqred the villages
and parganabs. Tahir Khan the faujdar, being unable to re-
sist them came to the Presence, and the Emperor fox:med the
resolution of crushing the despicable infidels. On Friday, the
15th March, 1672/26th Zil. Q., R‘adindiz Khan with thg
artillery, Hamid Khan with the troops of Khas chauki ﬁn
500 troops of his father Sayyid Murtaza Khan, Yahia K .:11_11
Rumi, Najib Khan, Rumi Khan, Kamaluddin, son of Dlﬁr
Khan, Purdil son of Firuz Khan Miwiti, and As..fanryyar, the
bakhshi of Prince Akbar with a body of the Prince’s troops,
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were ordered to set out against these infidels. When the
imperial troops reached the place, the enemy resolving to
fight advanced inspite of their lack of war materials; [116]
they acted the battle described in old Hindu books called
in the Hindu tongue the Mahabharat, which means the
slaying of elephants in the field. The Muslim heroes
charged and reddened their pitiless swords in the blood of
the rebels. A terrible battle was fought. R‘adandaz Khan,
Himid Khan and Yahiya Khan greatly distinguished them-
selves. Many of the Muslims were slain, and many others
wounded. At last the enemy took to flight, and many of
them were slain by the victors in the pursuit, very few
escaped ; our generals won the victory and the tract was
cleared of the infidels. The victors were granted audience
and congratulated by the Emperor. R‘adandiaz Khan was
given the title of Shuji‘et Khan and made a 3500 (2000 tr.)
Hamid Khan, Yahia XKhan, Rumi Khan, Najib Khan and
all other warriors, high and low, got promotions and robes.

On Friday, the 29th March /10th Zil. H., occurred the
‘Id-uz-zuha. [117] Disaster to Muhammad Amin Khan,
and retreat from the Khyber Pass: * * *

Muhammad Amin Khan wanted to go to govern Kabul
and encounter the turbulent Afghans. On Sunday the 21st
April, 1672/3rd Mubarram, though he had got the news
that the Afghans had blocked the pass of Khyber before the
day on which he had planned to cross it, he proceeded on
without paying any heed to it or considering it necessary
to dislodge them. At the time of crossing the same disorder
took place among his troops which had happened in Akbar’s
time to Hakim Abul Fath, Zain Khan Kokah and Raja
Birbal. The Afghans crowded on all sides, and began to hurl
arrows and stones. The troops were scattered and [118] the
horses, elephants, and men were mixed up in confusion.
At this crisis, although several thousand men had lost
their lives by falling from the summit of the hills into the
abyss, M_uhamma@ Amin Xhan from his high sense of
honour wanted tb sacrifice his life in fight. But his servants
seized his bridle and brought him away from the place of
danger. After losing ‘Abdullah Khan, the young and
faithful son of the Khan, and without gaining any honour,
he galloped back to Peshawar in a wretched condifion. The
Emperor got this news on the 30th April /12th Muharram.
- On Saturday, the 18th May/30th’ Muharram, Fidat

an left Lahore for Peshawar,  Qn 8th May, -1672/20th
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Muharram, Sarbuland Xhan was made Suhak\ldér

vice Namdar Khan, Multafat Khan darogha of the %ﬁiﬁ
retinue vice Sarbuland Khan. Faizullah after receiving a
special dress and a horse with gold trappings, started for
Moriadabad. ‘Abgiullah Khan réceived 20,000 rupees, Saif
Khan, the ‘hermit’* was granted interview, a sword, and
restoration to his rank, ’

MARRIAGE OF MUHAMMAD AKBAR WITH
SALIMA BANU BEGAM.

She was the daughter of Sulaiman Shukoh, whom
Gauhar-Ara Begam had adopted [119) as her daughter and
brought up. The Prince got a present of 4 lahks of rupees,
a special robe with half-sleeves, a kalgi, a jewelled dhup,
a necklace and a sahra (bridegroom’s veil) of pearls, and
two Arab and ‘Irdqi horses. On Tuesday, the 18th June,
1672/2nd Rabi. A., the knot was tied in the mosque,
through the agency of ‘Abdul Wabhab, the chief Qazi.
Five lakhs of rupees were fixed as the marriage-portion.
Everyone present pronounced benediction. ‘The Prince,
after five gharis of night, set out on horsebdek in a grand
procession; Muhammad ‘Azam, Bakhshi-ul-mulk Asad
Khan, Mir Khan, Namdir Khan and other high grandees,
accompanied himi. On both sides of the road from the
Delhi gate to the mansion of the Begam, wooden structures
were set up for illumination. * * *

News arrived that Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam was
coming to interview the Emperor. On Thursday, the 25th
July /9th Rabi. S., [120] he had audience, and received a
special robe, a sword with jewelled trapping, a -pearl
necklace, an arsi set with jewels, and 1 lakh of rupees.
Princes Muhammad Mnu‘izuddin and Muhammad ‘Azim
{-ud-din] received neck-pendent.

On Sunday, 15th September /2nd fapz?,d. S., Muham-
mad Silib, son of Khwaja Tahir Nagshbandi was married to
Asiish Binu Begam, daughtes of Murad Bakhsh, and
received a robe, a horse with gold trappings, a jewelled
dagger and a kalgi, and a female elephant. The knot was
tied in the presence of Sarbuland Khan, Qfzi Abdul
Wahhab, and Mulla Muhammad Y‘aqub.

* ‘Hermit’ is a Persian word conventionally used to
private life and uynemployment after voluutanly resigning 60

10

mean ‘r_etired' 0
me public office,!
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On Wednesday, the 9th October/26th Jamad. S.,
Wazir Khan and Muhammad Tahir, the latter an old and
devoted servant, died. Mir Khan got the subahdarship of
Malwa vice Wazir Khan. Sarbuland Khan became second
Bakhshi, vice Himmat Khan, who got Sarbuland’s post viz.
subahdari of Agra. Mughal Khan became Qushbegi vice
him (Himmat), Muhammad Tahir, an old servant of the
period before the Emperor’s accession, who held the diwani
of the household of Hasan ‘Ali Khan by command, was
accused of the sin of cursing the first three caliphs.
According to the canonical law and the insistence of the
chief of the Ulema, Mulla ‘Auz Wajih, he was beheaded on
the 3rd November /22nd Rajab.

Izid Bakhsh, the son of Murdd Bakhsh, who had been
brought to the Court from the prison of Gwalior, was
married on Wednesday, the 27th November/16th Shaban
to Mihrunnisi Begam, the Emperor’s daughter, in the
presence of Qazi ‘Abdul Wahhab, Shaikh Nizam, Bakhtawar
Khan, and Darbar Khan, [121]

«Multafat Khan, who had gone to Gwalior to bring
Muhammad Sultan and Sipihr Shukoh, had audience on
Sunday, the 8th December 1672/27th Shaban. Places were
assigned in the fort of Salimgarh for the residence of both.
On Tuesday, the 10th December/29th Shaban the Emperor
visited the house of Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam, a gold-
embroidered carpet and other things were spread as foot-
cloth from the tower near the bridge gate of Salimgarh to
the mansion of the Prince. Prince Muhammad Akbar was
a 20-hazari (2,000 tr.) ; he now got a promotion of 2,000 zat.
On Thursday, the 5th December/24th Shaban, Khwaja
Jawahir Khan, treasurer (tahvildar) of the FEmperor’s
private jewel department, died. He was an old slave
of the Emperor and very kind to the poor. On
Saturday, the 18th May /30th Muharram, Fidai Khan
started from Lahore for Peshawar. Muhammad Amin
Khan was appointed Subahdar of Ahmadabad Gujrit on the
11th June, and degraded from a 6-hazari (5000 tr.) to a
5-hazari (same tr.). He was ordered to go to his post with-
out being granted an interview. Mahibat Khan who had
come. to the Emperor at Agra and beed appointed on the
Deccan expedition, was in view of his connection with the
Afghans, ordered not to come to Court. ‘ '
Indi ;[S%la;:n fsznli?ln’ on account of his delay in summoning to

y and third son, Mukhtir Beg, had been
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dismissed and forbidden th
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CHAPTER XVI

SIXTEENTH YEAR OF THE REIGN.: 1083 A.H.
_ 11th December 1672—29th November, 1673.

On the 10th January/lst Shawwal took place the
‘Id-ul-fitr, with rejoicing in the palace. As usual, the two
halls of audience and ghusalkhana were decorated. The
princes and courtiers attended at the palace to accompany
the Emperor who went to the ‘Idgah in a high chair. [123]
On Saturday, the 11th January/2nd Shawwal he sat on the
throne in the palace-hall. Muhammad Mu‘azzam got a robe
with half-sleeves, a pearl necklace, one lakh of rupees, and
an elephant with gold trappings worth 5000 rupees.
Muhammad ‘Azam got a robe with half-sleeves, and
Muhammad Akbar, a tora, (jewelled turban-end).

Bakhshi-ul-mulk Asad Khan and other officers, great
and small, were rewarded with a variety of things, such as
jewels, robes, horses, elephants and promotion of rank.
Muhammad Mu‘azzam was a 20-kazar: (15,000 tr.). He
now got a reward of three krors of dam and an increment
of 10,000 (5,000 tr.) Sultan Mu‘izzuddin who was getting a
daily allowance of 150 rupees, now received an increment
of 50 rupees, Sultan Muhammad ‘Azim was getting 100
rupees daily; it was now increased by 50 rupees. The
Princes and grandees of the Court and the provinces sent
peshkash worth about 50 lakhs of rupees. The envoy of
Sikandar ‘Adil Khan, king of Bijapur, presented jewels and
embroidery worth four lakhs of rupees. The envoy of
‘Abdullah Qutb-ul-mulk, king of Haidarabad, presented
articles, gems, and China-ware vases of Golkonda. The
Emperor ordered these presents to be considered as equi-
valent to three lakhs of rupees. Bahadur Khan [124]
became Subahdar of the Deccan wice the agents of Prince
Muhammad Mu‘azzam, and got the title of Khan Jahan
Bahadur; a special robe and a jewelled dagger were sent to
him through a mace-beater. He was a 6-haziri (5,000 tr.)
do-aspa and seh-aspa, and now got an increment of 1,000
troopers. Mir “Ibrahim, son-in-law of Safiyyah Binu
Begam’s Kokah, was given the faujdari of Miwat with the
title of Kartalb Khan, while Murshid Quli Khan became
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darogha of dagh and tashiha in his place. Dianat Khan
who had no equal in the art of astrological calculations,
‘““went to visit the celestial heavens’’. His sons, Diw-afkan,
S};;r-ifkan and Rustam, got promotions and mourniné
robes.

On Monday, the 16th December, 1672, the Emperor
ordered that Dardb Khan should bring Muhammad Sultin
and Sipihr Shukoh into the khwabgah (sleeping chamber)
of His Majesty. Both of them had audience; after interview
they received robes and emerald sarpeches. Muhamimad
Sultan was married to Dostdar Banu Begam, the daughter
of Murad Bakhsh, and presented with a robe, 2 sword, a
jewelled muttaka, and a horse with a jewelled saddle. In
the khwabgah the Emperor put a pearl chaplet on the
Prince’s head with his own hands and took him fo the
mosque. The Qazi-ul-quzat Abdul Wahhab, with Mulla
Muhammad Y‘aqub as his agent, and .Mir Sayyid
Muhammad Qanauji and Mulla ‘Auz Wajih as witnesses,
tied the knot. Two lakhs of rupees were settled as the
marriage-portion. Shuji‘et Khan, Shaikh Nizim, [125]
Darbar Khan, Bakhtiwar Khan and Khidmatgar Khan
were present.

On ‘Thursday, 80th January, 1673/21st Shawwal,

Zubdat-un-nisa Begam was married to Sipihr Shukoh the;

son of Dard Shukoh. - Four lakhs of rupees was fixed as
the marriage-portion. The knot was tied in the mosque,
in the presence of His Majesty, Qdzi ‘Abdul Wahhab,
Mulli ‘Auz Wajih, Mulla Y¢agub, Darbar Khan and
Bakhtawir Khan. Sipihr Shukoh was presented with a
jewelled dagger, a jewelled sarpech, a pearl nec}dace and a
pearl chaplet. Ganharira Begam and Hamida Banu Begam,
arranged the marriage ceremonies. )

Iftikhar Khan, after removal from Kashmir, was sent
to Peshiwar. Prince Muhammad Sultin got a yearly
allowance of 12,000 rupees, Sipihr Shukoh of 6,000 rupees,
and Izid Bakhsh of 4,000 rupees. On _Tuesday, the 11th
February, 1673/4th Zil. Q., Saifullah, inspector (mushrif)
of the Qushkhanah* reported that a hunt-superintendent
{mir-shikar) dreamed in sleep that a man with 2 drawn
sword was encountering him; and when he awoke he found
himself wounded and his sword lying ba're by him. _On
Sunday, the 23rd February/ i6th Zil. Q., Prince

® Qushkhina—the place where beasts of prey (e.g. che}etah, falcon etc.)
are kept.




f8 MAASIR-T-ALAMGIRI [cn. 16

Muhammad Mu‘azzam, by command, visited the tomb of
Khwija Qutbuddin, and presented 1,000 rupees to the
shrine. On Tuesday, the 25th March /16th Zil. H., Prince
Muhammad Sultin too, visited the shrine, and presented
500 rupees. On Manday, the 10th March/1st Zil. H,,
Asad Khan resigned the post of deputy diwan [126]. The
Emperor ordered that Amanat Khan, the diwan of the
Khilsa, and Kifayet Khan, the diwan-i-tan, should affix
their seals a little below that of the high diwan, and transact
the diwani affairs.

Farjam Birlas had agreed to marry his daughter to his
sister’s son, aged 15 or 14. But in the end the match was
broken off, on account of his sister being the greatest shrew
of the age. At this time he came to the Court after his
removal from the faujdari-of Attock, and the sister instigated

- her son saying, ‘‘If you do not kill this shameless wretch in
the Court, I shall not give you a quittance for my milk’’.
Then flinging her veil at his head, she cried out, ‘“Wear
it and stay within doors’’. The son obeying his mother’s
command reached the place where Farjam was standing
during the bustle and noise caused by the Emperor’s taking
his seat in the Hall of Audience, slew him with one stab
and then tried to run away. But he was captured and
thrown into prison. On Thursday, the 18th March/4th
Zil. H., he was executed in accordance with the Qazi’s
decision at the reservoir of the jalaukhana in front of the
Hall of Audience, in the presence of the heirs of the deceased;
viz, his wife and his daughter who was married to ‘Ali Quli
Birlas. 'The Emperor had expressed a wish that they would
renounce their ‘right of blood’, but they did not agree. The
corpse was made over to his mother who was waiting at the
gate of the fort in a chariot (rath).

[127] On Wednesday, the 19th March/10th Zil. H.,
occurred the ‘Id-uz-zuha. The Emperor went to the mosque
for the two-fold prayers of ‘Id, accompanied by the four
Princes, and sacrificed a sheep. Prince Muhammad Sultin
sacrificed a camel, by command. During the return journey
a mad man coming up to the equipage flung a stick. It hit
the corner of the royal Sedan chair (takht) and fell on the
Emperor’s knee. The macebearers arrested him. But His
Majesty ordered him to be released without doing him any
injury.

On Sund_ay, the 23rd March /14th Zil. H., Kam Bakhsh
was circumcised. Man Singh, Mahi Singh and Anup
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Singh, the sons of Rai Singh, came to Court after their
father’s d_eath and were granted audience, and received
robes. Mirza Jan Minu-chehr, faujdar of Irich died. The
Emperor said, ‘I grant the makhi and maratib to Khan
Jaban Bahidur. He should get them made.” Ruhullah
Khan, son of Khalilullah Khan, became faujdir of
Dhimuni. Baqi Khan, bakhshi of the subah of the
Deccan, died, and Murshid Quli Khan, got his place. On
Wednesday, the 23rd April, 1673/16th Muharram, news
came that Mahabat Khan had started from Zafarbigh near
Peshawar towards Kabul. Sarbuland Khan was ordered to
take charge of the records of the Wilashahi department, in
addition to his own. :

On Monday, the 16th June/11th Rabi. A., it was
learnt that two hours before noon a halo appeared round
the sun like a rainbow and lasted for seven gharis.

On Friday, [128] the 18th July/13th Rabi. S,
Muhammad Mu’azzam’s wife, the daughter of ‘Abdul
Mumin, died. After returning from the Jam‘a mosque, the
Emperor paid a visit to the house of the Prince, read the
fatiha, and then returned to the palace by boat. On
Saturday, 2nd August/28th Rabi. S., news came from the
Deccan that Kirat Singh, the son of [Mirza Raja] Jai Singh,
had died. On Wednesday, the 20th August/17th Jamad.
A., a son was born to Prince Akbar, and named ‘Abdul
Wahhib. On Wednesday, the 24th September/22nd
Jamad. S., a son was born to Prince Muhammad Mu'azzam,
and named Khujistah Akhtar. The alarm caused to the
zamindir of Kumdon by the march of the imperial army
across his kingdom, was removed by the mediation of Sayyid
Murtaza Khan, and he was pacified. He requested Hamid
Khan to conduct his son to-the Court. He did so on the 3rd
October /2nd Rajab, and the prince at the time of his audi-
ence presented 1,000 mohars and 8,000 rupees as nazar,
and got a robe. News came from Persia that the cities of
Nishapur, Herat, and Sabzawir, had sunk in the ground.
Khan Jahian Bahadur, after a forced march of 60 kos,
severely defeated the rebel Shivaji, took a large booty, and
sent it with Dalpat Kumar [129] to the Emperor, who
viewed the things on Wednesday, the 22nd October [21st
Rajab. The Khan showed a three-legged bagla (a kind of
heron) brought from the hills of Kumaon. Faizullah Khan
came from Moradabad to interview. Mahabat Khan neglected
1o chastise the Afghdn rebels, and went to Kabul by a secret
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understanding with them that neither side was to harm the
other. The Emperor was highly displeased at this. QOp
Monday, the 17th November/17th Shaban, Shuj‘det Khan
was sent to punish the Afghans with a large army and plenty
of war-materials, and was presented with a special robe; a
jigha of jasper set with jewels, an Arab steed with gold
trappings, and an increment of 500 zat (same troopers).
Sarfaraz Khan was made the naib of the topkhana, Khid-
matgar Khan deputy qiladar, and Darbar Khan, niib of
the ghusalkhana. His (Darbar Khan’s) followers too got
robes, swards, horses, elephants and promotions,



CHAPTER XVII
17TH YEAR OF THE REIGN. 1084 A. m.

30th November, 1673—18th November, 1674

[130] On the 30th December, the day of the ‘Id-ul-fitr,
the Emperor visited the mosque; presents, rewards, and
promotions were given as usual. Fortune led Mir Qawam-
uddin, the Sadr of Persia, and brother of Khalifa Sultan,
the Wazir of the king of that country, to come to India.
On Sunday, the 4th January, 1674/6th Shawwal he had
audience and received many favours, a special robe, a jewél-
led dagger with phul-katara and pearl ilaqa, a sword with a
gold saz, a shield wrought with roses, a mace (asa), kalgi of
"jasper, 10,000 rupees in cash, the rank of 8-hazari (1,500 tr.)
and the title of Khan. His son Sadruddin was given a robe,
a sword with a gold saz, and the rank of 700 (100 tr.). Mir
Ibrahim, the son of Shaikh Mir returned to the Court after
a visit to Mecca and was restored to his rank of 1,500
(1,000 tr.). Hakim Silih Khan died. Mourning robes were
presented to Hakim Muhasan, and to the other soms and
relatives of the deceased. [181] Muhammad ‘Ali Khan,
son of Taqarrab Khgn was made dirogha of the kirkirag-
khanah vice him. Mir ‘Abdur Rahman, son of the late
Islim Khan, was sent as an envoy to Haidarabad. The
8th March/10th Zil. H., was the day of the ‘Id-uz-zuha,
when the Emperor visited the mosque for the two-fold
prayers,

SHUJ‘AET KHAN’S DEATH, THE EMPEROR GOES TO
HASAN ABDAL

The Emperor learnt that on Saturday, the ldth
February /18th Zil. Q., Shuj‘det Khan after crossing the
Gundib had drawn up his forces for crossing the kotal (pass)
of Kharipa. The Afghans, who were waiting for an oppor-
tunity, hemmed him round in the narrow pass. r,’l‘hoggh the
imperial troops fought valiantly and were untiring in their
exertions, yet as Providence had willed it otherwise theg;
failed to carry the day and Shuj‘det fe_ll in the course o
the fight. The rest, who had saved their }wes from the stone-.
showering Afghans, fled broken to Peshawar. The Emperor

11
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decided to go there in person [182], and started on the Tth
April, 1674/11th Muharram, for Hasan Abdal. Himmat
Khan was made dirogha of the ghusalkhina and Saf Shikan
Khan that of the topkhana vice Shuj‘det Khan deceased.
Safi Khan nizim of Agra, was appointed nazim of Delhi.
Mu‘atamad Khan got the subahdari of Agra in addition to
the giladari of Agra fort. Faizullah Khan went back to
Moradabad. Thtamam Khan, darogha of buildings, and other
officers of Delhi went back to their posts. Qawamuddin
Khan and his son were ordered to go to the Emperor after
two months. Shaikh ‘Abdul ‘Aziz, faujdar of the chakla of
Sirhind, got the title of Dilawar Khan. Sarbuland Khan
was ordered to advance along the foot of the hills, with 2,500
troopers and the artillery. Namdar Khan, having incurred
the royal displeasure, was removed from his rank and
granted a pension of 4,000 rupees a year. Muhammad
Salih, son of Fidai Khan, got the %itle of Khan and was
sent to his father. Rahmat Khan bayutit, was sent to
Lahore to arrange for celebrating the anniversary of the
death of the Prophet. Mir Khan, son of Khalilullah Khan
was removed from his rank for refusing to take up the
faujdari of Irich; Ism‘ail Hut, zamindar of Multdn, was
sent back to his home on Twuesday, the 23rd June/29th
Rabi. A., and received the title of Khan and a horse.

__ Iftikhar Khan and ‘Aqidat Khan were sent to reinforce
Fidai Khan in the expedition to Jammu. [133] Raja
‘Indyetullah, zamindar of Rajaor, was given leave to depart.
On Friday, the 12th June/18th Rabi. A. Bakhshi-ul-mulk
Sarbuland Khan was sent to Peshawar with Bad‘i*Sultin,
Namdir Khan and a strong force. On Sunday, the 14th
June/20th Rabi. A., Maharaja Jaswant Singh, thanadar of
Jamrud, advancing from his charge, had audience with the
Emperor at Rawalpindi and received a special robe and an
arst worth 7,000 rupees, and at the time of departure a
sword with jewelled sdz and an elephant with taldir. On
Friday, the 26th June/2nd Rabi. S., the Emperor reached
[the palace at] Hasan Abdal.

A chartning anecdote is told of the virtue and kindness
of His Majesty, the vice-gerent of God the Giver. Two or
three days after his arrival at the above place he visited the
garden of Hasan Abdal. The author’s servants complained
that under the wall of the palace an old man used to work
a water-mill, which was turned by the water that issued
from the garden and fell into 3 nald, As the place was in
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charge of the palace mazir’s officers, they had closed the
path of water. As a consequence the people had difficulty
n grinding flour, and the old man too found it hard te
secure his livelihood. [184] I reported the whole matter
to Bakhtawar Khan, and he in his turn to the Emperor, who
ordered him to go and personally open the water-course, and
issued strict orders so that none should hinder the old man’s
work. In accordance with the Emperor’s order it was doue.
At night, when the Khan returned to his quarters after
1} prahars, His Majesty who was tlien seated at his table
entrusted two dishes of food and five ashrafis to Shaikh
Abu] Khair, son of the great scholar and courtier Shaikh
Nizim, saying, ‘‘Carry these to Bakhtiwar Khan, he will
guide you to the house of the old man, as he may possibly
know it. Convey my salam to the poor man and beg his
pardon saying (on my behalf), You are my neighbour, and
my arrival has caused you hardship. Pardon me,”’ The
Shaikh came to the Khan, and after inquiries and exertions
learnt from a féotman that there was a village on another
hillock, where the old man had his hut. The footman
guided the Shaikh to the place at midnight, awakened the
old man, tendered the apology, and secured the absolution.

Next day Darbar Khan the nazir was ordered to send
the Emperor’s palki to him and bring him to the mahal.
The old man, who had never before in his life heard the
name of palki, not to speak of his seeing a palki with
poles of silver, was brought in. The Emperor inquired
into his circumstances. He replied that he had two
unmarried daughters and two sons with bare heads and
feet, and that his wife was living. Two hundred
rupees were presented to him. He passed two nights in the
mahal, and received money, ornaments, and dresses from
all [185]. As he had heard from some one that I had
pressed his suit on Bakhtawar Khan, he came and stood
before my tent, with a do-shala on his back, a gown
(peshwaz) with a daman (hem) on his body, a scarf with gold
thread (daman-badla) on his head, kinkhab drawers on his
legs, his lap full of gold coins, rupees, and gold ornaments,
and a face full of a hundred wrinkles and bleared eyes. 1
asked *“Who art thou?”’ He replied “‘I am the man, who
has come to such a good fortune through the help of you
and your Khan.”” ““‘Be you blessed I”” I rejoined, and took
him to the Khan, who also made him some presents. _After
two or three days, the Emperor again ordered the ndzir to
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bring him with his daughters. The eunuchs took the palkis
and fetched them. This time he got 1,000 rupees for dowry
(kanyadan). The people of the mahal gave him money,
ornaments and dresses, double those of the first occasion.
He was' granted water for-a second mill in the neighbour-
hood. Order was issued to the nazir to give him sanads
from the imperial daftar exempting him from the payment
of taxes and molestation for any of the prohibited cesses
(abwab). .

Hakim Sanjak went by command to the old man’s
house to treat his eye. Afterwards the man was taken to the
houses of Princes Muhammad Sultdn, Muhammad ‘Azam,
Muhammad Mu‘azzam, Muhammad Akbar, Asad Khan
and Yalangtosh Khan and favoured by them. His daughters
were married. His sons put on cloaks of gold embroidery.
His wife, having passed through the beauty and vigour of
youth, was known as the old crome and leader of the
villagers. But it was seen as a fact that this old woman
Zulekha-like grew youthful again through the grace of the
Yusuf of the Age.” It is no exaggeration to say that the
wrinkles [136] on her face disappeared and gave place to
loveliness. Her bleared eyes sparkled again. * * *

Aghar Khan was sent with Nusrat Khan, Mirza Sultan
and a force with the necessary equipments to chastise the
Afghans of Jamrud and Khyber: Rai La‘l Chand was sent
to investigate the affairs of the Crownlands of the Subah of
Kabul. The Emperor decided that Prince Akbar and Asad
Khan should hasten to Kabul by way of Kohat. On
Tuesday, the 15th September/24th Jamad. S., the Prince
received a special robe, a kalgi of heron’s feather (par-i-
kalang), a sword and a jewelled shield, 50 Arab, ‘Iraqi,
hill-breed and Turki horses, and an elephant with silver
saz; Asad Khan was given a special robe, a sword, a horse,
and an elephant. Shahamat Khan, Ghairat Khan, Sayyid
Munawwar Khan, Mubariz Khan, Siddat Khan, Muftakhar
Khan, Sazawar Khad, Kamyab Khan, Muhammad Isma‘il
the son of Asad Khan, ‘Inayet Khan, Mufakhar Khan,
Bahramand Khan, Hayat Beg, Dilir the son of Bahadur
Khan, Kumiar Kishan Singh the son of Raja Ram Singh,
and other officers were appointed to posts and commands and
received presents. On Sunday, the 27th September/7th
Rajab, Fidai Khan was appointed Subahdar of Kabul vice
Mahibat Khan and a strong force with abundant material
[187] was sent with him. He was directed, through
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Bakhtawar Khan, that when his force would enter the kotal,
at first the van should cross and halt on the further side, next
day the centre should cross, the rear halting on this side,
and if the right wing did not get space enough, it should
march with the van, and the left wing with the rear.

On Monday the 16th November /27th Shaban, Mahabat
Khan had audience and was sent against Bir Singh, grand-
son of Bithaldas Gaur. Shaikh ‘Abdul ‘Aziz, dirogha of
‘arz-i-mukarrar, had reached the rank of 7-sadi (200 tr.),
but owing to his extravagance he had difficulty in securing
his livelihood, even though he was granted some jagirs and
cash rewards. He began to show laxity in discharging his
work and attending at the Court, and as if it were the will
of God that he would not come out of this plight, he applied
to be permitted to go to Lahore for some time. The Emperor
assented after repeating the verse :

“Don’t have your hand tied to your neck, nor open
.it entirely.”’
(Be neither niggardly nor extravagant.)

It was ordered that Lutfullah Khan as his deputy
should present the officers to the Emperor and Bakhtawar
Khan should bring the secret papers for His Majesty’s
sighature. After arriving at Lahore, the Shaikh wrote the
following ghazal to Bakhtawar Khan. [188] Omitted. * * *



CHAPTER XVIII

18TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : [1085 A.H.]

19th November, 1674—8th November, 1675.

*® * ® *

‘Id-ul-fitr, on Saturday, the 19th December/1st
Shawwal ; the customary celebrations at Court. Peshkash
presented by Princes and Peers. Promotions and gifts
bestowed on them.

[139] Prince Muhammad Sultan was made a 20-hazari
(10,000 tr.) and presented with a robe with half-sleeves, a
pearl necklace, a neck-pendent of ruby worth 14,000 rupees,
one lakh of rupees in cash, two horses with gold and enamel
saz, two elephants with silver sdz, kettledrums, tugh,
and banner. Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam was given
a robe, a pearl necklace, a ruby neck-pendent a jewelled
turban-end, and five lakhs of rupees in cash. Muhammad
‘Azam was given a robe'with Half-sleeves, and Muhammad
Akbar and Sultan Mu‘izzuddin the same, Sultan Mu-
hammad ‘Azim got a robe; the last .two got the
rank of 7-hazari, (2,000 tr.) tugh, banners, and kettle-
drums. A special robe, a jewelled dagger, and a gracious
farman (letter) were sent to Rinia Rij Singh ahd a special
robe to Maharaja Jaswant. Himmat Khan, Ashraf Khan
the Khan-i-saman, Sadr-us-sadur Razavi Khan, Sayyid
Murtaza Khan, Tarbiyat Khan, Saf Shikan Khan and other
courtiers great and small, got robes of honour. Bakhshi-
ul-mulk Sarbuland Khan got an increment of 5-sadi and
became a 4-hazari (2,500 tr.) Mir Khan previously dismissed,
was now given the title of Amir Khan and the rank of
4-hazari (3,000 tr.) Qawamuddin Khan got an increment of
5-sadi and became a 3,500 (1,500 tr.) [140] Kamgar Khan
and Muhammad ‘Ali Khan each got an incremfnt of 500
and became a 2-hazari (500 tr.) Khwaja Shah got the title
of Sharif Khan and Kamiluddin, son of Dilir Khan and
Bagr Khan each got an increment of 2-sadi and became
a haz_m:z (700 tr.) Qabil Khan Burhanuddin, brother’s son
of Fazil Khan deceased, got the title of ‘Itimad Khan.
Muhammad Sharif munshi, darogha of dak and the letter-
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office (ddr-ul-.inshd), brother of Abul Fath Qabil Khan, an
old walashahi servant, got that title (Qzbil Khan), and an
increment qf 100. Bakhtawar Khat, was raised to the rank
of a hazari (250 tr.) Sayyid ‘Ali, envoy of the Sharif of
Mecca and Muhammad Amin, master of the horse (salar-i-
aspan) got permission to depart with 5,000 rupees for each.
The chief of the Khwajas of Juibar, Khwija Muhammad
Y'aqub, the son-in-law of Nazar Muhammad Khan king of
Balkh, was presented with 10,000 rupees. It was ordered
that this amount should be sent to the Khwaja’s house
at the beginning of every month. Dilir Khan had audience
and was made Subahdar of Multin vice ‘Abid Khan and
Husain Beg Khan, son-in-law of ‘Ali Mardan Khan, was
made faujdar of Jaunpur. Prithvi Singh, zemindir of
Jammu, was appointed to accompany Ludi Khan in the
Kabul expedition. Muhammad Wafi, son of ‘Abdullah
Khan deceased, was sent as thamahdir of Guzar-rishi and
Kohat. The letter of Bahrim and Farjam [141] sons of
Mahabat Khan informed the Emperor that he had died at
Amandbad, on Tuesday, the 22nd December, 1674/4th
Shawwal. They were summoned to'-Court.

Raghudis Jhala, an officer of the Rani, came to the
Emperor and got the rank of 7-sadi (500 tr.) Muhtasham
Khan, Mir Ibrahim, eldest son of Shaikh Mir, was appointed
faujdar of Langarkot vice Multafat Khan and received a
robe, a banner, and a horse with gold trappings. On
Tuesday, the 9th March, 1675/22nd Zil. H., ‘Abid Khan
on transfer from Multin came and waited on the Emperor.
Mir ‘Abbas, brother of Sayyid Sultin Karbaldi, son-in-law
of Muhammad Amin Khan, who had applied for permission
to go home, received a robe and 2,000 rupees as present.
Aurang Khwija Chauraghasi, when leaving for Bukhara,
received a robe, a jewelled jigha, a female elephant, and
10,000 rupees. Khwiaja Muhbammad Tahir Nagshbandi,
father of Khwaja Muhammad S3lih and son-in-law of Murad
Bakhsh, got leave to go home and a present of 500 mohars.
Bikram Singh of Gwialior was confirmed as a thanahdar
and given a robe, a jewelled dagger, and a horse with gald
trappings. He was ordered to bring with himself 2,500 hill-
infantry. ‘Indyet Khan became faujdar of Khairabad wvice
Mujihid Khan. On Monday, the 24th May /9th Rabi A.,
Saf Shikan Khan died. [142] Multafat Khan replaced
him as dirogha of topkhina. A robe was sent to him with
8 macebearer,
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As Kban Jahin Bahadur had defeated the infernal Shiva
by repeated attacks and many forced marches and greatly
exerted himself in chastising the other rebels of the Deccan,
Bijapur and Haidarabid, on Wednesday, the 7th J uly /23rd
Rabi. S., the Emperor rewarded him by giving him the
titles of Khan Jahan Bahadur Zafar Jang Kokaltdsh, and
promoted him to be a 7-hazari (same tr.) by an increment of
hazari zat, and presented him with 1 kror of dam. His
servant Muhammad Silih, who had brought the cash, horses
and elephants of the tribute, got a robe, and his companions
a reward of 1,000 rupees. Muhammad Mirak, macebearer,
carried to Zafar Jang and his sons splendid robes, high pro-
motions, titles, and a farman of praise. At Zafar Jang’s
request Sambhi, the son of Shiva, was'granted the rank of
6-hazari (same tr.), eighty lakhs of dam as present, kettle-
drums, and banner; a robe and a farman were sent with the
macebearer. Ashraf Khan, Khan-i-simin, [143] condoled
with the Sadr Razavi Khan, for the death of his brother and
brought him ‘to Court. A mourning robe and permission
to go to Delhi were given him. |

Ou Thursday, the 22nd July /9th Jamad. A., a son was
born to Muhammad ‘Azam, named Sikandar-Shan, The
Prince was given a robe, the baby a pearl necklace, and
Jahanzeb Banu Begam 10,000 rupees. This year ‘Abid
Khan was appointed Mir-i-haj for conveying to Mecca and
Medina the gift (nazar) which used to be sent there every
year. Qazi-ul-quzat ‘Abdul Wahhab having fallen ill,
started for Delhi. Sayyid Ali Akbar, Qazi of Lahore,
became his deputy. ‘Abdullah Khan of Kashghar, who had
been living happily on the Emperor’s bounty at Delhi, died
on Wednesday, the 20th October /10th Shaban. Mourning
robes were presented to Nasir Khan and other relatives of
the deceased.

On Monday, the 8th November, 1675/29th Shaban,
news came that ‘Abdullah Qutb-ul-mulk, king of Haidara-
bad, had died, and been succeeded by Abul Hasan, his
brother’s son and own son-in-law. Nimdar Khan was
restored to the rank of 4-haziri (2,000 tr.) and made
Subahd.ér of Oudh wvice S‘aidat Khan ; Mukhtir Beg
the third son of Islam Khan, who had arrived with
tgg Khan’s _family at Ujjain, was created a 7-sadi
( : % tr.) Amanat Khan [144] resigned his post of peshdast
of the khalsa and became commandant of Lahore., Kifayet
Khan peshdast of the daf tar-i-tan, got the vacant office in



1675]  AFGHANS KILL SHAMSHIR AT KHAPASH 89

addition to his own. Khan Zamian, son of ‘Azam Khan
deceased, became nazim of Berar and a 5-hazari (3,000 tr.)
Abul Hasan, king of Haidarabad, sent with his envoy
Qawam-ud-din tribute of nine lakhs of rupees, jewels, and
elephants. Robes were given to the envoy at arrival and
departure. Ruhullah Khan was reinstated in the grade of
1,500 (400 tr.) and made faujdar of Saharanpur. Tarbiyat
Khan became darogha of the FEmperor’s retinue vice
Mukarram Khan Muhammad Ishiq, the second son of
Shaikh Mir,

Mukarram Khan with his younger brother Shamshir
Khan, Muhammad Y‘aqub and a strong force, was ordered
to punish the Afghdns near the kotal of Khipash. On
Friday, the 11th June/27th Rabi. A., it was learnt that he
had repeatedly fought with the enemy, plundered many of
their houses, and taken many prisoners. One day, at first
a few Afghans appeared. The Khan despising their
number, flung himself on the enemy, and at first defeated
them., Afterwards two countless forces, which had lain con-
cealed in the waist of the hill, charged him. Shamshir
Khan and Mir ‘Azizullah, son-in-law of Shaikh Mir, boldly
stood their ground and heroically [145] died, with a large
number of the imperialists. Lack of water and of road on
any side whatever caused the death of ‘many horse and foot
soldiers. A great defeat befell our side, and terrible hard-
ships on high and low alike. Guided by men who knew the
country Mukarram Khan with some other lucky survivors,
went to ‘Izzat Khan thinahdar of Bijaur. The latter, who
had often defeated the Afghins, was firmly entrenched
there with his retinue. He regarded the approach of the
fugitives as a very fortunate circumstance and offered them
various kinds of relief. The Emperor was very sorry to
hear of the death of his servants, especially young Shamshir
Khan, and praised ‘Izzat Khan for his services. He ordered
Mukarram Khan to come to Court. A letter of condolence
and a mourning robe were sent to Muhtasham Khan. On
Monday, the 14th June/30th Rabi. A., Bakhshi-ul-mulk
Sarbuland Khan was sent with a large army (in all 9,000 tr.)
and a vast quantity of material in order to deal effectively
with the enemy. Aghar Khan was made thanahdar of
Jalalabad, Hazbar Khan of Jagdalak, Faraq Khan of Lam-
ghanat, Allahddd of Gharib-Khanah, Suhrib son of
Garshasp, faujdar of Danki; Khanjar Khan that of
Bangashit. The Emperor ordered Sufid Khak to be called

12
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Mughalabad and Bazarak Fatihabad. The news-writer of
the force of Fidai Khan reported that on Thursday, the Ist
July/I7th Rabi S., the Khan [146] had started from
Pesh-Bulaq towards Kabul. As this Khan had done his
utmost in attacking the Afghans, plundering and destroying
their homes, and his services had gained praise, he was
given the title ‘Azam. Khan Kokah. On Thursday,
the 26th August/14th Jamad. S., news came that Hazbar
Khan thianahdar of Jagdalak had fought a battle with
the Afghans, and been slain with his son and other im-
perial soldiers, and that ‘Abdullah Khweshgi, thanahdar
of Barangab and Surkhab had fled from his outpost
(thanah), many of his companions having been slain or
captured.

On Tuesday, the 19th October/9th Shaban, a lettet
from Amit Khan reported that ‘Alam, Ism‘dil and
other Afghan rebels of Shiahjahanpur and Kintgolah, whc
after being defeated by the imperial troops had taken sheltes
in the fort, had been captured and that they were being sent
to the Court with Ibrahim Khan who was coming from
Bengal.

Bakhtawar Khan by order took securities from the
astrologers of the Emperor and the Princes that they wonld
not construct almanacs for the next year and orders to the
same purport were sent to the provinces.

A lLasket fell into the well of the haveli of Muhammad
Shaf‘i Mir-i-saman of Muhammad Sultin; two men who
successively descended to bring it up,. died. The third
shouted from midway ‘“Take me out’’! After remaining
unconscious for an hour, he recovered and said ‘A dark
goblin became visible before me at the bottom of.the well
and [147] cried out in a terrible voice, “Why are you
coming? Get ont’’.

News came from Delhi of the death of Purhunar Banu
Begam, who was™the eldest child of Shah Jahin and had
been borne to him by Qandahiri Mahal, the- daughter of
Mirza Husain Safavi. Safi Khan, the nazim, and other
officers of the Subah buried her corpse in a mausoleum

(garden) which had been built by a mason under her
direction.



CHAPTER XIX
19TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1086 A.H.

9th November, 1675—27th October, 1676.

* * ® L

‘Id-ul-fitr, 9th December/Ist Shawwal. Saif Khan
Fagirullah, son of Tarbiyat Khan, was restored to his title,
and received a special robe, a sword, and a nansab, on
returning from the life of a hermit. [148] Abul Muhammad,
daughter’s son of Ibrihim ‘Adil Khan and son of Bahar
Khan, a scholar, came from Bijapur, had audience, got a
robe and was created a 3-hazari (2,000 tr.) with the title of
Khan and a present of 60,000 rupees. His brothers and
sons got proper imansabs. On Friday, the 17th December/
9th Shawwal, Amir Khan from Bihir had audience, Tarbiyat
Khan was appointed in his place. On Sunday, the 2nd
January, 1676/27th Shawwal, Shaikh Nizim married Bai
Phupdevi [cor.], the daughter of the Raja of Kishtawar to
Muhammad Sultan.

THE EMPEROR’S RETURN FROM HASAN ABDAL
70 DELHL.

On ‘Thursday, the 23rd December, 1675/15th
Shawwal, began the return journey from Hasan Abdal. The
first stage was Kalabagh. Hunting at many of the stages
(on the route) the Emperor arrived at the garden of Lahore
on Friday, the 21st January, 156th Zil. Q., Amanat Khan,
the commandant interviewed. As Qazi ‘Abdul Wahhab had
died at Delhi on Friday, the 26th November/18th Ramzan,
his son Shaikh-ul-Islam, who was th_e Qazi c:f Delhi, came
to Court by command and received his father’s post of Qdzi
of the army. Maulvi ‘Abdullah of Sialkot, son of Mulla
‘Abdul Hakim decgased, who combined piety with scholar-
ship, virtues with polished manners and had not so lzgg
had the satisfaction of ever meeting the Emperor, [149]
had been requested from Hasan Abdil to come t.o\Lahhorg
after the Emperor’s arrival there. The Maulvi rcéached
Lahore two or three days before the Emperor and fa
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several interviews with His Majesty. After being honoured
with a robe, 200 mohars, and a female elephant, he returned
home. Ekkataz Khan who had gone as envoy to Balkh,
returned after four years and three days, and was granted
audience and a robe. He presented eleven horses, leather
goods and a knife. Mulla Muhammad Tahir, brother of
the eminent Mulla ‘Auz Wajih, and an envoy of Subhin
Quli Khan, came with Fkkataz Khan and received a robe
and 7,000 rupees. ILutfullah Khan became darogha of
filkhGnah vice Faizullah Khan, Turktiz Khan was given
a robe, a horse, a quiver with a sheath (qurtan) and ordered
to Kabul. On Saturday, the 19th February, 1676/14th
Zil. H., Muhammad ‘Azam was sent as Subahdar to Multan.
Khw3ja Talib conveyed to his house a robe, a jewelled sword,
200 Arab, ‘Iraqi, and Turki horses, two elephants with
talair and silver saz, and 1 kror dam. Sultan Bidar Baklht
got a robe, a horse, and an elephant; Mulla Muhammad
Tahir, envoy of Balkh, 4,000 rupees and a palki, [1507] with
a carpet, and his companions 2,000 rupees. The joyous
news. was received that a son had been born to Muhammad
Muazzam (cor) who was named Khujista Akhtar; Khusrau
Chela conveyed to him a pearl necklace, a pearl cap and
5 pieces {than) of cloth. Dilir Khan was sent on the Deccan
expedition, with a robe, a horse, an elephant, and a jewelled
dagger. Ghairat Khan was made faujdar of Jaunpur vice
Husain Beg Khan deceased. Ibrihim Khan came from
Bihar and had audience. On Wednesday, the 29th March,
1676 /24th Muharram, the imperial order was issued;
Ruhullah, an armed personal attendant, conveyed to the
Amir-ul-umara, a robe, a jewelled dagger, and a farman
praising him for the conquest of Morang, and appointing
him Subahdar of Orissi vice Rashid Khan, with two krors
of dam as reward. His agent too got a robe. Mulld ‘Auz
Wajih, who had turned hermit, was restored to the rank of
a_hazari. Himmat Khan became Subahdir of Allahabad
vice Hasan ‘Ali Khan and was granted a robe and one lakh
of rupees. ‘Abdur Rahim Khan succeeded him as darogha
of ghusalkhana, Ruhullah Khan replacing the latter, .as
al_<_hta begi. Sarbuland Khan who had been removed from
his mansad, was reinstated ; Darab Khan came from Ajmir,
had audience,. and became darogha of topkhana vice Multafat
Khan; Sayyid Ahmad Khan replaced him [1517] at Ajmir.
Qa_wamuddm Khan was sent to Kashmir as Subahdar.
Wrince Muhammad Sultan received a present of jewels worth
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seven lakhs of rupees. Muhammad Mu‘azzam received a
tora of jewelled tassels (jhumka) worth 9,000 rupees and a
jewelled punchi worth 50,000 rupees. ‘Abdur Rasul Khan
was made giladar of Kulbarga, which was conquered this
year by the imperialists. Hamza Khan was appointed
qiladar of Kaliani, Irij Khan fanjdar of Irijpur vice Khan
Izﬁlmin, Tahmasp Khan that of Arapanwira vice M‘asum
an.

The Emperor learnt that Islam Khan, nizim of Malwa,
who had been appointed to serve under Khan Jahan Bahadur
Kokaltash, was standing with the vanguard on Tuesday, the
13th June/11th'Rabi. S. Accidentally at a time when the
battle was still evenly bhalanced, the gunpowder caught
fire while being distributed at that spot. His elephant
being panic-stricken blindly rushed into the ranks of the
enemy who surrounded him, cut the girth of his howdah,
brought him down to the ground, and cruelly cut him to
pieces with his son ‘Ali Beg Khan. His eldest son, Afrasiab
Khan, was favoured by the Emperor with an increment of
5-sadi (same tr.) [152] and made a 2}-hazari (1,500 tr.).
His younger son Mukhtar Beg got 3 sadi (200 tr.) more and
became a hazari (400 tr.). His property, amounting to three
lakhs of rupees, 2,000 ashrafis and other articles, which had
been seized by the State at Ujjain and Sholapur, was given
to his sons, and they were ordered to make good the dues
from their father. On Sunday, the 24th September/26th
Rajab, Muhammad Akbar was sent as Subahdar to Milwa,
on the death of Islam Khan, and received ' special robe with
a balaband and a sarpech of ruby, two Arab and ‘Iraqi horses
with gold saz and one elephant. Mullda Muhammad Tahir,
envoy, when taking leave for returning, received an elephant,
10,000 rupees and a jewelled ‘asa. On 3rd October, Sultan
Mu‘izzudin was married to the daughter of Mirza Mukarram
Khan Safavi. He received a robe with chahdr-gab, a pearl
necklace worth 10,000 rupees, a smarani worth 10,000 rupees
and an elephant with taldir. Yalangtosh Khan Bahadur on
the day of his marriage received a robe, an emerald sarpech,
a horse with gold siz and an elephant with silver saz.
Sultin Quli got the title of Khan and the faujdari of
Islamabad Mathurd wvice Mubariz Khan_ Mir-kul., On
Sunday, the 8th October /10th Shaban, Asad Khan ‘éVaS
appointed grand Wazir, and received a spec1aISrob§ antha
jewelled ink-pot worth 5,000 rupees. (153] On Sunday, ‘;
15th October, 1676 /17th Shaban Muhammad Mu‘azzam wa
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sent on the Kabul expedition with many high commanders,
artillery, treasure and material and given the title of Shah
‘Alam Bahadur, a special robe with half-sleeves, jewels
worth two lakhs of rupees, swords with jewelled saz, three
good Arab,, ‘Iraqgi and Turki horses, with jewelled saz and
wrought saddle, and onedakh of ashrafi. Sultan Mu‘izzuddin
received a robe, a jewelled kalgi and sarpech, a horse named
Koh-i-Razm (Rock in battle) with gold saz, a sword.with
enamelled wsdz, an elephant with silver saz, a bow and a
quiver; Sultan Muhammad ‘Azim a robe, a kalgi, a sarpech
and a smarani; Sultan Daulatafza a pendent of ruby ; Sultan
Khujistah-Akhtar an emerald kangan (wristlet); Amir
Khan, Saif Khan, Raja Ram, Singh, and other grandees
were rewarded with gifts. MYighal Khan was removed from
his rank of 214 hazari (1,400 tr.). Muhtasham Khan got
the faujdari of Sahiranpur. Himmat Khan hastened to
take up his post as Subahdar of Allahabad vice Hasan ‘Ali
Khan ; Mubammad Shuj‘a son of Qaiamuddin Khan, came
from Persia, had audience and was made a hazari (300 tr.).
An' annual pension of 12,000 rupees was settled on ‘Aqil
Khan who had resigned his office and taken to a life of
retirement. Ibrahim Khan [154] applied, for resigning his
mansab; it was granted. Iftikhar Khan was appointed
faujdar of Bangashat. '

On Friday, the 27th October, 1676/29th Ramzan,
- while the Emperor was returning from the Jam‘a mosque,
and had alighted from the boat in” order to mount the
movable chair (takht-i-rawan), an ill-fated disciple of Guru
Tegh Singh threw two bricks, one of which reached the
chair. He was seized by the retinue and ordered to be made
over to the kotwal.

[RETURN OF THE EMPEROR FROM LAHORE TO DELHI |

Qn Thursday, the 24th February, 1676/19th Zil. H.,
the Emperor left Lahore. Kamaluddin, son of Dilir Khan
was created a Khan. On 2Ist February/16th Zil. H.,
Dost@ax_"Binu‘ Begam, wife of Muhammad Sultan, died in
the sarai of Rustam Khan. On Monday, the 27th March/
22nd Muharram, the Emperor arrived at Delhi. On Satur-
day, the 24th June /22nd Rabi. S., Raja Ram Singh came
from ‘Assam and had interview.

While the Emperor was mounting his horse in the
. square (chauk) before the Hall of Audience, a complainant
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flung a stick at him. It fell on the other side of His
Majesty’s umbrella ; the man was made over to the kotwdl.

The scouts (qarawals) showed a deer of pure white
colour. On Thursday, the 13th July/12th Jamad. A., a
son was born to Sipihr Shukoh and Zubdatunnisi Begam ;
he obtained the name of ‘Ali Tabar. The Emperor went to
Sipihr Shukoh’s house to see the child. On 5th August/5th
Jamad. S., [155] a son was born to Muhammad Sultin, he
was named. Mas‘aud Bakht. On Wednesday; the 30th
August /1st Rajab, Muhammad Sultin was married to the
daughter of the brother of Daulatibadi Mahal. On Friday,
the 1st September/3rd Rajab, Muhammad Akbar was
married to the daughter of Alah Quli, son of Murad Quli
Ghakkar.

The Emperor learnt that Muhammad Muhsan, son of
Khan Jahan Bahidur, had been slain in battle at the fort of
Naldrug. On Thursday, the 19th October/21st Shaban,
while the Emperor was mounting his horse after returning
from the Jam‘a mosque, a wretch came forward with an
uplifted sword. The retinue arrested him; a small wound
was inflicted on the finger of Mukarram Khan. The mace-
bearers wanted te slay him, but the Emperor forbade it,
settled on him a daily allowance of half a rupee and sent him
as prisoner to Ranthambhor. On Wednesday, the 25th
October /27th Shaban, a water-carrier approached the
Emperor on the steps of the Jam‘a mosque and cried out
salim ‘alekum. He was ordered to be made over to the
kotwal. )



CHAPTER XX
920TH YEAR OF THE REIGN. 1087 A.H.

28th October, 1676—XL7th. October, 1677

& £ * Ed

The Emperor passed the month of Ramzan in fasting
and prayer. On most days, especially from the 17th of that
month onwards he went to the mosque of the ghusalkhinah
day and night, and theré held [156] the Court of Justice,
On Monday, the 27th November/Ist Shawwal, occurred
the ‘Id-ul-fitr. Shah ‘Alam Bahadur was a 40-hazar
(25,000 tr.); he got an increment of 5-hazar troopers.
Muhammad ‘Azam was a 15-hazari (9,000 tr.) and now
received an increment of 5-hazari zat. Yalangtosh Khan
Bahadur, a hazari (500 tr.) received promotion of 500 (200
tr.) ‘Itigad Khan, Mir Kul, after his removal from mansab,
was reinstated as a 2-hazari (1,000 tr.). Sayyid Mustafa,
son of Sayyid Murtaza Khan, became a 5-sadi (100 tr.).
On Monday, the 27th November, 1676/1lst .Shawwal,
Ruhullah Khan became Khan-i-saman vice Ashraf Khan.
Yalangtosh Khan Bahidur foolishly stabbed hiinself with a
knife, his rank was reduced by 5-sadi (200 tr.). Kamgar
Khan was dismissed from his mansab.

Mulla ‘Auz Wajih, the leading theologian died. His
home was Akhsikat in Samarqand. During his study under
Mir ‘Auz Tashkandi, he surpassed all his class-fellows.
After having served for sometime as a teacher in Balkh, he
came to the Emperor Shah Jahan’s Court in the 13th year
of his reign, and took service as mufti of the camp. In
Aurangzib’s reign he wa$ Censor of the army for a short
time, and exerted himself far beyond any other holder of
the post in putting down vices. ,[157] The rest of his life
he spent in teaching, being highly honoured by the nobility.

When Muhammad ‘Azam, who was coming from
Multan for interview, reached Aghribad, Mih Binu
on behalf of His Majesty conveyed to him the present of a
betel-tray, a small tray, a do-ghara, a dish (rikabi), and a
spitoon (ugaldan) of stone set with jasper. He was granted
interview on Tuesday, the 16th January, 1677 /22nd Zil. Q.,
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and presented with a robe with sarpech, other special
clothing, and nine horses. Sultin Bidir Bakht and
Sikandar Shian received two sarpeches worth 5,000 rupees
each. On Saturday, the 17th February/24th Zil. H. Mirza
Beg, a servant of Shah. ‘Alam Bahadur, brought a letter
and 1,000 mohars on the occasion of. the birth of a son, who
was named Muhammad Hunrdiyun. A jewelled Sarpech for
the Prince and a jewelled cap and a pearl necklace for the
Sultan (grandson) were sent with him. On Monday, 'the
19th March/24th Muharram, at the recommendation of
Shah ‘Alam Bahadur, Amir Khan was made Subahdayr of
Kabul vice ‘Azam Khan Kokah. Bakhshi-ul-mulk Sar-
buland Khan was presented with a stone ink-pot set with
jasper. Manohardis, qiladar of Sholipur promised 50,000
rupees as peshkash for being given the title of Raja. The
Emperor accepted it. On Friday, the 18th April, Muham-
mad.‘Azam was made Subahdar of Bibdr wice Tarbiyat
Khan and presented with a special robe, a dagger, a sarpech,
a kalgi, two horses, and five krors of dam as reward. Tar-
biyat Khan was made faujdar of Tirhut and Darbhanga, vice
Hidi Khan, Diarab, Khan made Mir Tuzuk wvice Ruhullah
Khan, [158] Mukarram Khan dirogha of mace-bearers vice
‘Abdur Rahim Khan, Sayyid Khan faujdar of Bangashat
vice Iftikhar Khan, Khan Zaman Subahdir and qiladar of
Zafarabad Bidar. Good fortune brought Shah Beg Khan
Kashghari to India. At interview he received a special robe,
a dagger with gold hilts and pearl ‘ilaqa, a jewelled jigha, a
shield wrought with gold flowers, a female elephant and
5,000 rupees in cash. Seven dishes and three trays of bread
and a palki with carpet were sent to his house. He was
created a 114 hazdri (200 tr.). Kishan Singh, son of Ram
Singh coming from Kabul had audience, and was granted
leave for four months to visit his home. ‘Ina‘yetullah_, son
of S‘adullah Khan deceased; became bakhshi of Shagird-
peshah vice Hakim Muhammad Muhas_an. A .mafcebeag_el:
carried to Hasan ‘Ali Khan a farman appointing him
Subahdir of Agra. Muhammad Isma‘il son of Umdat-ul-
mulk Asad Khan married the daughter of Amir-ul-umara
Shaista Khan. He was presented w1t}} a robe and a horse
with gilt saz, and given the title of ‘Itiqgagd Khan. He 1ilad;
brought his own kalgi and sahrd; the Emperor took t ?ﬁn
with his own hands and made them over to Sultan Slplk_r
Shukoh to be placed on his head. Kamyab Khan bflea?ﬁe
fanjdir of Saharanpur vice Muhatasham Khan, and the

13
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latter that of Miwat vice Fulad Khan. Himid Khan became
Subahdar of Ajmir wice Sayyid Ahmad Khan. Khwaja
N¢amatullah, who had brought a letter from thg_ king of
Bukhird received 400 rupees. Muhammad Qasim Khan
collector {1597 of the: port of Cambay, beca'me that of Surat
vice Ghiasyddin Kham-Kam Bakhsh, on finishing the memo-
rising of the Quran, received a robe, two hors;s with gold
siz, a jewelled sarpech, a pearl necklace, a shield wrought
with jewelled flowers (gul), a quiver, and a bow-case,
Khanahzad Khan became thanadar of Ghaznin vice Alah
Yar Khan, and the latter got the farmer’s post of giladar
of Kabul. ‘Azam Khan Kokah was appointed Subahdar of
Bengal wvice the Amir-ul-umird, and rfeceived a robe, a
jewelled dagger, and a horse worth 500 mohars with gold
saz, ‘Inayet Khan became peshdast of the Khilsa office
vice Kifayet Khan. Mughal Khan, who had been dismissed,
was reinstated as a 2-hazari (1,000 tr.); Fazlullah Khan,
dismissed, was restored to his mansab and sent to serve in
Bengal.

DEATH OF PRINCE MUHAMMAD SULTAN

The Prince was taken seriously ill. For a short time
he remained weak and confined to bed. On Sunday, the
3rd December, 1676/7th Shawwal [160] the Emperor, at
the imperial hunting-lodge of Malir, learnt of his death.
Inspite of his fortitude, the Emperor wept on hearing this
news. Ruhullah Khan Khan-i-saiman, Siadat Khan, ‘Abdur
Rahim Khan, Shaikh Nizim and Mulla Muhammad Y‘aqub
were ordered to bury him near the tomb of Khwaja
Qutbuddin, and to get the whole of the Qurdn recited and
alms distributed for the peace of his soul. He was born in
1639 A.D./1049 A.H. and lived 38 years 10 months.

A letter came from Muhanimad Akbar to say that he had
entered Ujjain on Saturday, the 23rd December,.1676 /27th
Shawwal. Sultin ‘Ala Tabir, son of Sipihr Shukoh, died
and the robe of mourning was given. _On Sunday, the 28th
]an1_1ary., 1677/4th Zil. H., Akbarabadi Mahal of Shah
Jahan died. Bakhshi-ul-mulk Sarbuland Khan was ordered
to abolish the tankhwi of eight and seven months, and to
give the nagdis tankhwa for six months only. On Friday,
the 30th March/5th Safar, the Emperor learnt that
Fazlullah Khan, who had been appointed to Bengal, had
been mortally stabbed by a servant with a dagger. On
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Tuesday, the 3rd April/9th Safar, Sikandar Shan, son of
Prince Muhammad ‘Azam, died. A letter came from Khan
Jahan Bahadur to say that on Monday the 14th May /21st
Rabi. A., Naldurg had been captured by the imperialists. On
9th June/17th Rabi. S., the death occurred of Sultdn [161]
Mas‘aud Bakht, son of Sultdin Muhammad deceased. News
came from Ujjain that Kishan Singh Hada had tome to
interview Prince Akbar; while putting on the robe of
honour he had a sudden altercation with the Prince, and
stabbed himself to death in the stomach. His four servants
slew fifteen men (of the Prince) before they were slain. On
Saturday, the 4thr August, 1677/14th Jamad. S., Prince
Muhammad ‘Azam reached Patna ; and Shih ‘Alam Bahidur
reached Kibul on Thursday, the 15th- August/25th
Jamad. S. Qutbuddin Khan and Raja Indraman Bundela
died. ‘Abdur Rahman Khan, the bakhshi and news-writer
of the Deccan, was informed that Khan Jahan Bahadur was
summoned to the Court, and that Dilir Khan was ordered
to keep watch till the arrival of another Subahdar, and that
the affairs of the place were to be conducted with his advice.
‘Umdat-ul-mulk Asad Khan was sent to the Deccan with
a large army and-a vast store of materials.



CHAPTER XXIL.
21ST YEAR OF THE RRIGN : 1088 A.m.
18th October, 1677—6th October 1678.

. " Prince Akbar came from Ujjain, had interview on
Tuesday, the 30th October/13th Ramzan, and received a
robe with half-sleeves, a balaband, and 5 borses. [162] On
Sunday, the 18th November/2nd Shawwal, the day follc_;w-
ing the ‘Id-ul-fitr, the Emperor sat on the throne; according
to the custom of the celebration (of coronation) betel-leaves
and scents were distributed among the persons present at
Court. The Emperor ordered the few apparel that had been
used in the decoration of the coronation festivity to be
removed, and said to Bakhshi-ul-mulk Safi Khan, ‘I abolish
the celebration ; return the peshkash sent by the Amir-ul-
umaira, and the other grandees are not to make any presents
to me. The clerks should use inkpots of China-ware and
gilt stone, instead of silver ones. The amounts of in‘am,
which were broughf into the Court on silver trays, should
henceforth be brought on shields. Men who have no
such drawers as are sanctioned by the canonical law, should
come dressed in socks. In the khil‘at-khanah embroidered
cloth should be used instead of stuff with gold and silver
flowers worked on it. The factory of do dami (extremely
fine cloth) established at Chanderi should be abolished.
Erect a kathra of lapis lazuli set in gold, in the place of the
uncanonical kathra (railing) of gold and silver. Do not plant
rose-beds in dny imperial garden, except in that of Aghrabad
and Nurbdri. No mansabdir above the 4-sadi should begin
the construction of pucca houses without permission.’’
gAnother_ text adds,] ‘‘remove the gold and silver censers

or burning aloe-wood which are brought into the royal
residence.”’

. On Monday, the 26th November/10th Shawwal, Kim
Bakhsh was made a 8-hazdri (2,000 tr.) and given a tuman,
a tugh, a banner, kettle-drums, an umbrella, 30 borses,
and 15 elephants. [163] Winter dresses were presented to
the princes and peers of the Court and the provinces. On
Wednesday, the 28th November/12th Shawwal, Ibriahim
Khan was appointed Subahdir of Kashmir vice Qawamuddin
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Khan; Muhammad Yar Khan-son of ‘Itigid Khan became
darogha of -the goldsmith’s department wvice Khidmatgir
Khan, Sazawir Khan'became faujdar of Qanauj. Muhammad
Nfaim, mushrif *of the stable, became bakhshi of Kim
Bakhsh. Khwaja , Bahauddin, son of Khwaja Parsa,
daughter’s son of Subhan Quli Khan, king of Ralkh, came
from vilayat and received a robe, 14,000 rupees in cash,
and a jewelled dagger. Khwija Khidmat Khan became
darogha of jewellery market (jawahir bazar), vice ‘Itigad
Khan. Mughal Khan became akhta begi, vice Ruhullah
Khan, Munawwar Khan was sent as faujdir of Raitha,
Mahoba, and Jalalpur Khabdup, vice Subhakaran Bundela.
Muhammad Kézim, author of the ‘Alamgirnamah became
dirogha of the sale department. Ai Begam, sister of
Najabat Khan the son of Sarbuland Khan, died. Namdar
Khan conducted Najibat to the Emperor to receive a robe
of condolence. On Monday, the 15th April, 1678/3rd
Rabi. A., Sayyid Murtaza Khan died ; of high birth, charit-
able and brave, he used to keep [164] his soldiers on high
pay and in great splendour. The Emperor sent Bakhtawar
Khan to make inquiries before his death. The Khan
brought to the Emperor this prayer from the Sayyid,
““I had hoped to give up my life in the service of my master.
But it is pot to be, hence my grief. Others present gold
and gems to His Majesty, I wanted to present a few lives
(of the enemy) in exchange of mine. That might probably
be of use to His Majesty.”” After the Sayyid’s death many
of his servants, from hazaris to commanders of 80, were
taken into the imperial service, and the footmen too were
provided with posts in the workshop and store departments
(karkhanazat). .

On Thursday, the 18th April, 1678/6th Rabi. A.,
Shaikh ‘Abdul ‘Aziz died. Two days before, Bakhtdwar
Khan had sent the author to him, to carry the imperial
command that there should be no slackness in his,treatment,
and that if he wished, the Emperor was ready to sensv iny
of the Yunini doctors that he desired to treat him. en
I went, I found him reclining in bed and engaged in cqllll-
position ; his words were being written down by hﬁs pupi sﬁ
such as Mir Hadi, Muhammad S‘aid ‘Ajaz, an};i ot :;f).r o
hearing the imperial message he replied to the aut?ot,

gy : of treatment.
have no prejudice for any particular SySte? of these men

But I ha faith in the book-knowled
(i.e., thea‘ggurrignia:ioctors of the Court). Ig any of them be
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fit for being given a call, I have no objection. I have chosen
as my doctor ‘Abdul Malik, on whose bo&_)k-learning,
diagnosis, experience, and prudence I have reliance. Life
is not so precious an article that for prolonging it [cor.]
we should make such frantic exertions. We must be
drowned in water, when it rises above the head.’”’ I reported
this speech to Bakhtawar Khan, who asked me to write it
down, and then read it to His Majesty. The Emperor [165]
said to the Khan, ‘“You will, not believe that the greatest of
scholars has said so. The fear that we feel springs from
the thought of how our acts would be judged by God.”

Lutfullah Khan became darogha of ‘arz-i-mukarrar
vice him. Ashraf Khan became news-reader wice
Lutfullah, Muhammad Yar Khan became dirogha of
qurkhanah vice- Imamwardi, who became faujdir of Saharan-
pur, Muhsan Khan darogha of chini-khanah vice Muham-
mad ‘Ali Khan. On Monday, the 8th July 1678/28th
Jamad. A., Himid Khan came to Court and received a robe
of condolence and the post of darogha of khas-chauki wvice
his deceased father. Iftikhir Khan went to Ajmir in his
place. Qawamuddin Khan came to Court from Kashmir
and got a robe. ‘Abdur Rahim Khan became akhta begi
vice Mughal Khan, ILutfullah Khan was graciously
authorized to enter the fort in his palki.

‘The news-writer of the Deccan reported that Dilir Khan
had a stiff fight with the army of Golkonda; an elephant
was killed by a rocket, the elephant ridden by the Khan
was wounded by a musket-ball ; the servant who rode on the
clephant behind the Khan was killed by a rocket; the fire
of the rocket even fell on the collar of the Khan, but it was
extinguished with the water of his leather-bottle, many of
the enemy' as well as the Khan’s followers were siain.

Fighting and guarding his own troops he reached his tent
at evening.

., On Sunday, the 20th January, 1678 /6th Zil. H. Shah
Alam Bahadm: from Kabul interviewed the Emperor and
received a special robe and a jewelled jigha. His sons and
subordinate grandees [166] received robes and jewels.
24th January/10th Zil. H., the Emperor went to the
mosque, to say the two-fold ‘Id-uzzuha prayers. On

Wednesday, the 8th May/26th Rabi
Shivaji’s attack on Mungisjlﬁatan, abi. A., he learnt ‘of

The news-writer of Surat reported that a ‘mare had
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delivered a colt with three legs; the third leg was close to
the chest, and all the three legs were used in walking.

Murad Bakhsh’s daughter was married to Khwija
Y‘aqub, brother’s son of Khwija Silih Nagshbandi; the
Emperor presented g robe, a horse with gold saz, a figha of
jasper, 4,000 rupees in cash and a female elephant. First
Sarbuland Khan conveyed the groom to the deorhi (portico)
of the Begam Sihib for salutation. Next the knot was tied
in the mosque of Akbaribadi. ‘The marriage settlement was
two lakhs of rupees. Sulaiman Shukoh’s daughter was
married to Khwaja Bahauddin, son of Khwija Parsiy and
the same favours were conferred on him too. Sultin-ud-din,
the son of Sayyid Mubammad successor of Qutb-i-‘Alam
(sainted dead), brother’s son and son-in-law of Sadr-us-sadur
Razawi Khan, received a robe, a female elephant, and 1,000
rupees when leaving for Ahmadabad.

On Monday, the 29th April/17th Rabi. A., Qawimud-
din Khan was made Subahdar of Lahore, and Kimgir Khan
bayutit vice Rahmat Khan, Sayyid Muhammad Bijapuri,
one of the sonis of Ghaus-ul-‘azam, who was highly revered
by all there, came to Court and received a pension of 6,000
rupees a year. On Friday, the 5th July/25th Jamad. A.,
Akbar was appointed Subahdir of Multan and presented
with a special robe, a pear]l necklace, a ruby neck-pendant,
[167] two horses with gold saz, and an elephant with talair,
Safi Khan was appointed to serve under him, ‘Abdur Rahim
Khan becoming his deputy. The daughter of Kirat Singh was
married to Muhammad ‘Azim ; 63,000 rupees, jewels, a. gold
litter (chaudol), a palki, and five dolis with silver;railings,
‘were given as dowry. On the day of marriage the Prince
received a special robe, a pearl necklace and a jewelled
kalgi; Qamruddin, son of Mukhtir Khan was created a
Khan. A peshkash of eleven laklfs of rupees was received
from ‘Adil Khan Bijapuri. Amir-ul-umara Shaista Khan,
who had come from Bengal, was granted audience in the
private chamber. He received a splendid robe, a dagger
with its handle set with jasper, saz of enamel with ‘ilaga,
and dhup with saz of gold. He was honoured by being pre-
sented with the truncheon (“asa) of jasper whlc_h _the Emperor
carried in his own hands. The Amir-ul-umalja’s peshke_lsh
amounted to thirty lakhs of rupees in cash and jewels costing
four lakhs of rupees. It includefi a mirror, before which,
if 2 watermelon was placed, it dried up and drops of water
trickled from it. Another was a casket (sanduq) to one side
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of which a [toy] elephant was tied and to the other a goat;
the elephant could not pull it away but the goat dragged
away the casket and the elephant. TI}e Am1r-}11-umﬁri
according to his request, attained to the highest point of the
ambition of courtiers, and was authorized to come in a palki
up to the ghusalkhanah, and to sound his band (naubat) after
that of Shih ‘Alam Bahadur. The Khan [168] went by
command to interview Shah ‘Alam Bahadur, and presented
to him 200 mohars and 2,000 rupees. After embrace he was
seated near the Prince’s masnad, and presented with a robe
with chaharqub and a dagger with handle of Jasper.

On Sunday, the 16th June, 1678/6th Jamad. A., the
Amir-ul-umara was sent as Subahdar to Agra vice Hasan
‘Ali Khan, and rewarded with a special robe and two Arab
and ‘Iraqi” horses. ‘Abdur Rahman Khan, bakhshi and
news-writer of the Deccan, was deprived of the title of Khan,
because he had altered the amount that Bahadur Khan had
collected from the ruler [of Bijapur] in entering it into his
news-letter. When Babadur Khan, after his removal from
the subahdari, reached the Court from the Deccan, he was
punished for some serious offences and for his tyranny in
extorting peshkash, by being deprived of his rank and title,
—his property in cash, articles, furnitute, and elephants
being confiscated. The Emperor, however, graciously over-
looked the offences of this old servant and granted him an
interview, on Thursday, the 23rd May/11th Rabi. S., when
he was restored to his former rank and title. By command,
‘Aqil Khan conveyed (him) to the presence of Shah ‘Alam
Bahadur, who gave him a robe and dagger worth 7,000
rupees. ; s

News came that ‘Azam Khan Kokah, the dismissed
Subahdar of Bengal was coming to Bihir, when he died -at
Dacca on Friday, the 2th May/12th Rabi S. The new
Subahdar, Prince Muhammad ‘Azam, hastened from Patna
to that side (on hearing of it). [169] Nurullah Khan was
appointed deputy of the Prince for governing Orissi. Saif
Khan was made Subahdar of Bihir. The Emperor condoled
with Khan Jahan Bahadur, the younger brother of the
deceased, and presented robes to his two sons. Robes were
sent with a macebearer to Silih Khan and other sons of the
deceased. The property of the deceased—twenty-two lakhs
of rupees and 1,12,000 mohars—was confiscated.

On Wednesday, the 18th September, 1678/11th
Shaban, Prince Shih ‘Alam Bahadur with a vast army was
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sent to govern thg su})ahs of the Deccan, and presented,with
a special robe with jewelled balaband, a pearl necklace, a
jigha, three horses, an elephant with gold saz, and one lakh
gshrafs in cash; and to his original stipend of six kror dam
was now added four kror dam, besides (the increase of) his
manseb. His sons were promoted and rewarded properly,
and his followers favoured with robes, horses, and elephants.
Qawamuddin Khan, Subahdar of Lahore, was entrusted
with the faujdiri of Jammu in addition. Raja Jaswant
Singh Bundela was sent to punish the sons ﬁf Champat
Bundela [i.e., Chhatfa S3l and Angad]. -

The Emperor dearnt that grain had become dear in
Lahore. He ordered the addition of another twenty rupees
daily to the expense of the relief kitchen. News came from
Kabul that the kings of Balkh and Bukhara were at war
with each other, and in both places grain was so dear that
men [170] were eating carrion and other forbidden things.
On Saturday, the 21st September /14th Shaban, news came
that ‘Umdat-ul-mulk. Asad Khan had started from Burhan-
pur for Aurangabad. Jin Beg, son of Bakhtan Beg,
got the title of Atish Khan. It was ordered that on Sundays
and Thursdays ‘Iniyet Khan and Kifayet Khan should
come to the Emperor for reporting the diwani business.
Asiish Banu, daughter of Murad Bakhsh, and wife of
Khwaja Muhammad Salih, died. Amir Khan, Subahdar of
Iéabul, reached his post on Saturday, the 8th June [27th

abi: S. )

- News came from Jaunpur that it began to rain on
Wednesday, the 29th May/17th Rabi. S.; the lightning
struck the eastern hall* where Ghairat Khan was sitting;
six men died, two regained consciousness after a time; the
Khan was hurt in the leg, but remained safe.‘ On Monday(i
the 20th July/19th Jamad. S., Muhammad "Azam _en_teref
Dacca. From the papers sent by Shafi Khan diwan Od
Bengal, the Emperor learnt that the Amir-ul-umard ha
drawn (spent) one kror and thirty-two lakhs of rupees 13
excess of his tankhwi for twelve months. He ordered,
that the amount should be entered as due from the
Amir-ul- umara.

i i istake for Sharqig.
. i cads ITwan-i-sharqruya. Ts it a misars
built E)}’letglg‘f:tq%e’ézlzans? For Subhan the MS. reads Bakhtan,

i
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7th October, 1678—25th September, 1679.
*® & £ *

[171] On Wednesday, the 16th October/10th Ramzan,
he ordered Mir Mughis, who was going to Bengal as diwan,
to carry to Prince Muhammad ‘Azam a jewelled sarpech
worth 85,000 rupees. On the 12th birthday of Kam Bakhsh
he was presented with a pearl necklace -and shield with
jewelled flowers (gul). Khwija Muhammad Salih Nagsh-
bandi got a robe on his marriage with the daughter of Shaikh
Mir deceased. Condolence robes were presented in connec-
tion with the death of Ghids-ud-din Khan to his brothers
‘Abdur Rahim Khan and ‘Abdur Rahman Khan, and to
his son' Raziuddin. Bahramand Khan and Sharfuddin
got mourning robes for the death of their mother. Abul
Muyhammad Khan Bijapuri became faujdar of Oudh wice
Tahawwar Khan; Darab Khan was sent with a strong force
to chastise the Rajputs of Khandela and demolish the great
temple of the place. Bahramand Khan became his deputy,
;111'1d Khwiaja Mirza became darogha of the elephants vice

im.

On Wednesday, 6th November, 1678/1st Shawwal,
occurred the festival of ‘Id-ul-fitr. News came from
Peshawar, that Maharaja Jaswant Singh had died on
Tuesday, the 10th December/6th Zil. Q. ‘Id-uz-zuha took
place on Monday, the 18th January, 1679. [172] Bahramand
Khan became Mir Bakhshi vice Lutfullah Khan, Tahir
Khan was appointed faujdir and Khidmatguzar Khan
qiladar of Jodhpur, the home of the deceased [Maha-] Raja;
Shaikh Anwir became min and ‘Abdur Rahim kotwal of
the place.

THE EMPEROR’S FIRST JOURNEY TO AJMIR

On Thursday, the 9th January, 1679 /6th Zil. H., the
Emperor marched out of Delhi for Ajmir. Kiamgar Khan
was made qiladar, Fulad Khan faujdar, and ‘Ttimad Khag
diwan of Delhj, '
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On Friday, the Tth February/6th Muharram, Khan
Jahan Bahddur was sent with Hasan ‘Ali Khan and other
high amirs to take possession of the country of the deceased
[Maha-] Raja. On the 14th February/18th Muharram,
Kumar Kishan Singh, grandson of Raja Ram Singh came
from home and had audience. Ruhullah Khan became
ikhta begi vice ‘Abdur Rahim Khan. On Monday, the 17th
February/16th Muharram, ‘Umdat-ul-Mulk Asad Khan
from the Deccan interviewed the Emperor at Kishangarh.
On Wednesday, the 19th February, the Emperor arrived at
Ajmir; after visiting the tomb of Khwaja Mu‘inuddin, he
entered the palace: On Wednesday, the 26th February/
25th Muharram, the late Maharaja’s agent reported that
his two wives who were pregnant [173] had after reaching
Lahore delivered two sons ‘with an interval of a few hours
between them. Shiista Khan from Agra had audience on
the 28th February/27th Muharram. On Sunday, the 2nd
March /29th Muharram, Shahrukh, a servant of Prince
‘Azam, brought to the Court a despatch announcing the
conquest of Gauhati, and received a reward of 1,000 rupees.
The Emperor granted to the prince a pearl necklace of 91
beads worth two lakhs of rupees, and a jewelled turban-end
worth 25,000 rupees. )

On Monday, the 10th March/ Tth Safar, Prince
Muhammad Akbar came from Multin; had audience, and
received a robe with half-sleeves and a balaband, News
came from Multin that ‘Izzat Khan, the dismissed Subal}dar
of Tatta, had arrived at Multin as the deputy of Prince
Akbar, and Safi Khan had started for Lahore. Sayyid
‘Abdullah was sent to fort Siwdnah to attach the property
of the deceased Raja. The’Amir-ul-umara was sent back to
Agra with a special half-sleeve robe, a balaband and a
jewelled dagger. Darab Khan yvho had been sent with a
strong force to punish the Rajputs of Khandela and to
demolish the great temple of the place, attacked the place 02
the 8th March/5th Safar, and slew the three hundred an
odd men who had made a bold defence, not one of them
escaping alive. The temples of Khandela and Sanula and
all other temples in the neighbourhood were demolished.
Tahawwar Khan became faujdir of Ajmir vice Iftikhar
Khan. [174] The Emperor permitted the agents of Rana
Raj Singh to present his letter. He begged that his fo.r:
Kumar Jai Singh might make his bow to the Emperor 3 i
was granted. Muhammad Na‘im was ordered to act as his
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guide. On Tuesday, the 1st April, 1679 /29th Safar, Indra
Singh, son of Rdo Rai Singh went to the tent and brought
him to,the Emperor. At interview the Kumar received a
special robe, a mecklace of pearls and emerald, an arsi of
jasper, a jewelled punchi and a female elephant. Faizullah
Khan and Mukhtir Khan, who came to the Court from
Moradibad and, Milwa, were sent back to their posts.
Amanullah Khan became faujdar of Gwalior vice Mu‘atamad
Khan. On Monday, the 10th March /7th Safar the imperial
camp left Ajmir for Delhi, which was reached on Wednes-
day, the 2nd April/1st Rabi, A. :

_ As all the aims of the religions Emperor were directed
to the spreading of the law of Islam and the overthrow of the
practices of the infidels, he issued orders to the high diwani
officers that from Wednesday, the 2nd April, 1679/1st
Rabi. A., in obedience to the Qurinic injunction ‘‘till they
pay commutation money (jazia) with the hand in humility”’
and in agreement with the canonical traditions, jazia should
be collected from the infidels (ziinmis) of the capital and the
provinces. Many of the honest scholars of the time were
appointed to discharge the work (of collecting jazia). May
God actuate him to do that which He loves and is pleased
with, and make his future life better than the present !

[175] On Sunday, the 13th April, 12th Rabi. A.,
Prince Muhammad Akbar was sent to Lahore, and presented
with a special robe of half-sleeves, a quiver, a bow-case, two
‘horses with gold saz, a jewelled sarpech, and a muttaka.
Muhammad Zamin Luhani was made a Khan, and Shih
Beg Khan Kashghari got the title of ‘Abdullah Khan.
Iftikhar Khan and others, after being rewarded, accom-
panied the Prince. On Saturday, the 19th April /18th
Rabi. A., Kumar Jai Singh, son of the Rina, was sent back
to his home with a robe, a pearl sarpech, a ruby, pendent, a
jewelled turban-end, an Arab horse with gold trappings and
an elephant. To'the Rani Raj Singh were sent a farman,
a robe, a jewelled sarpech and 20,000 rupees.

On Sunday, the 25th May/24th Rabi. S., Khan Jahan
Bahadur came from Jodhpur, after demolishing the temples
and bringing with himself some cart-loads of idols, and had
audience of the Emperor, who highly praised him and
ordered that the idols, which were mostly jewelled, golden,
silvery, bronze, copper or stone, should be cast in the yard
(jilauk hanah) of the Court and under the steps of the Jam‘a
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mosque, to be trodden on. ‘They remained so for some time
and at last their very names were lost. On Monday, the
96th May/25th Rabi. S., Indra Singh, son of Rio Rii
Singh, grandson of Amar Singh, was appointed Raja of
Jodhpur 1n succession to his uncle Jaswant Singh, and given
the title of Raja, a special robe, a sword, [176] with jewelled
saz, a horse with gold saz, an elephant, banner, tugh, and
kettledrums. He presented a tribute of thirty-six lakhs of
rupees which was graciously accepted. It was formerly the
practice of the Emperors to apply the tikd with their own
hands to the foreheads of the great Rajas, and in this reign
Asad Khan had by command put the #2ka on the forehead of
Raja Ram Singh. The practice was now forbidden, salutation
(taslim) alone being declared to be-enough.

fAqil Khan became Bakhshi-i-tan vice Safi Khan. On
Tuesday, the 24th June /25th Jamad. A., Darab Khan of the
Bani Mukhtar (Sayyid clan) died. Mourning robes were
presented to Jan-sipar Khan, his brother, to Muhammad
Khalil, Muhammad Taqi and Muhammad Kimyab, his
sons, and to his som-in-law Lashkari. Ruhullah Khan
succeeded him as mir atish; and Bahramand Khan became
akhta begi vice Ruhullah, ‘Itigdd Khan bakhshi of the
ghadis vice Bahramand. News came from the army of
Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam that Sharza Khan Bijapuri
bad interviewed him, the Emperor created him Rustam
Khan, and sent him a letter, a robe, a horse, an elephant,
a banner, and kettledrums. .

As Raja Jaswant Singh had left no son when he died
in (the province of) Kabul, his trusted servants, viz. [177]
Sonang, Raghunathdis Bhitti, Ranchhor, Durgads and
others, reported to the Emperor after the Raja’s dgath that
two of his wives who were pregnant had, after their arrival
at Lahore, delivered each a son. These servants after
reporting the fact of the birth of the sons, begged that
mansab and the kingdom might be conferred (on ome of
them). The Emperor ordered that the sons should be sent
to his Court, and that when they would coine of age, mansab
and rdj would be granted. These ‘shallow-bram.ed people
after reaching Delhi pressed their request with great
insistence. At this time one of tflle two sons died._ Wh?n
the Emperor learnt that these wmkqd men mischievously
wished to flee, carry the second son with the two mothe§s5 tlc;
Jodhpur, and raise a tumult there, he on Tuesday, thed ]tJ
July, 1679/16th Jamad. S., ordered both the Ranis and the
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child, who were living in the mansion of Rup Singh
Rathor, to be seized and placed in Nurgarh. Fulad Khan
Kotwal, Sayvid Hamid Khan with the men of the khas
chauki, Hamid Khan, son of Diud Khan, Kamaluddin Khan
son of Dilir Khan, and Khwija Mir (who had got the title of
Salibat Khan) with the servants of the cavalry (risala) of
the late Prince Sultan- Muhammad, were ordered to make
these wicked men abstain from their criminal plan, [178]
and to prevent them from carrying out their crude design,
and if they foolishly engaged in fight, to give them proper
chastisement. ‘The officers appointed tried counsel and
friendly dissuasion; but the wretched infidels rashly took to
fighting, and after slaying many of the imperialists, large
numbers of the defenders perished. When the Rajputs found
themselves hard pressed by the imperialists, they slew the
two Rianis, who had been brought into the field in male
attive, left the second son, who had been concealed in the
house of a milk-vendor there, and then broke and fled.
Fulad Khan who had learnt the fact about the second son,
took him from the milk-vendor’s house to the Court. By order
he was shown to the Raja’s servant-girls who had been made
prisoners, and they acknowledged him to be the Raja’s son.
He was kept in the harem in charge of the servants of
Zeb-un-nisi Begam, and named Muhammadi Raj. The
Khan next day secured the ornaments and other things of
the child. In the tumult the property of the Raja, the two
Rinis, and the other Rajputs was taken, away by plunderers.
What d[179] the imperial clerks seized for the State was
ordered to be delivered into the treasury (kotha) of the
bait-ul-mal. The corpses of both the Ranis and of Ranchhor
the Rajput chief, and the heads of thirty of their captains
were counted. The rest, who had escaped from the imperial
officers, reached Jodhpur on Wednesday, 23rd July/24th
Jamad. S. They under the instigation of Durgidas and
others imputed to Raja Jaswant Singh two counterfeit boys,
one Ran-thamb (who died) and the other Ajit Singh, and
caused disturbances. Tahir Khan, faujdar of Jodhpur, who
had not shown any vigour in obstructing the fugitives, was
dismissed and deprived of his title of Khan. Indra Singh,
who was too incompetent to rule the country and put down
the disturbances, was summoned to Court. ’

.. On Sunday; the 17th August/20th Rajab, the Emperor
visited the garden of Khizirabad. A strong force was sent
under Sarbuland Khan to wrest Jodhpur from the Rajputs.
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On Saturday, the 23rd August/26th Rajab, the
Emperor learnt that Raj Singh (Rathor), one of the officers
of the Raja, having gathered together a countless host, had
encountered Tahawwar Khan faujdar of Ajmir; a severe fight
was waged for three days; after the discharge of arrows and
bullets, fighting at close quarters took place ; mounds of the
slain were formed on both sides; at last Tahawwar Khan
gained the victory [180] and Raj Singh with numberless
men went to hell. Indeed, so great was the valour exhibited
(by the impenalists) that the Rajputs mever again came
forward to fight, but hid their heads in deserts and
wildernesses.

On Friday, the 29th August, 1679/2nd Sha‘ban,
Muhammad Akbar from Lahore had audience; a robe and
special jewels worth 77,000 rupees, were conveyed to his
house by Khwaja Himmat,

THE EMPEROR’S SECOND JOURNEY FROM DELHI TO AJMIR

On Wednesday, the 3rd September/Tth Shaban, the
imperial camp started for punishing the rebels. That day
Muhammad Akbar was sent from the stage of the village of
Pilam, to go in advance to Ajmir, and was presented with a
special robe, a balaband, and seven horses. His subordi-
nates, too, received favours. ‘Itimdd Kban Burhanuddin
became diwan of Delhi, Mir Hidayetullah bakhshi and news-
writer, Aflitun, qiladir, ‘Abdullah Chalpi, bayutit, Nuf-
ul-Haq, son of Qizi ‘Abdul Wahhab became a Q_azx, Abu
S‘aid, son-in-law of the (deceased) Qazi, became dirogha of
the ‘adalat ; and other officers were appointed to various posts
and sent away. [181] On Tuesday, the 9th Se_ptember /13th
Shaban, the Amir-ul-umird became Subahdir of Bengal,
vice Prince Muhammad ‘Azam, and Safi' Khan became that
of Agra. Farmans and robes were sent (to them) with
macebearers,

On Tuesday, the 16th September/20th St_xabalxll,
Muhtasham Khan, faujdar of Miwat, interviewed while t }?
Emperor was riding. On Thursday, the 25th / 29;1
Shaban, the Emperor entered the ]'z_lhéngm palace 0}13 :ck g
bank of the Anasagar lake, after visiting the tomb of Shai
Mu‘inuddin and presenting 5,000 rupees there.

——TT—eTTS



CHAPTER XXIII
923RD VEAR.OF THE REIGN : 1090 A. H.'

26th' September, 1679—14th September, 1680
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The Emperor spent the whole month of Ramzan in
prayer. Himmat Khan, Subahdar of Allahabad, had
audience on Friday, the 26th September/lst Ramzan, and
was at once sent to serve under Prince Muhammad Akbar
and presented with a specjal robe and a horse with gold sdz; a
coloured sarpech adorned with an emerald for the Prince was
entrusted to him. On the 2nd October /7th Ramzan, a letter
accompanied by a peshkash of 400 mohars was received from
Prince Muhammad ‘Azim announcing the birth of a son to
the daughter of Kirat Singh. [182]. The child was named
Muhammad Karim. On the 4th October/19th Ramzan, a
a letter was received from Dilir Khan stating that the fort
of Mangalbida had been wrested from Shivaji.

' On Sunday, the 26th October, 1679/1st Shawwal,
occurred the ‘Id-ul-fitr. * * * A farman of praise was sent
to Sujan Singh for his having captured Shivaji’s fort. Hafiz
Muhammad Amin Khan, Subahdir of Ahmadibad, had
audience, and was rewarded along with his companions.
Fakhar Khan was sent to Delhi with a robe. Tahawwar
Khan was given a robe, a quiver, a bow, and an elephant,
and sent to occupy Mandal and other parganahs. Indra
Singh was made thanadar of Nimbaj, Raghunith Singh
that of Siwinah and Dhimin, and Muhakam Singh Mertid
that of the village of Pur. On the 24th November, a letter
with 900 mohars was received from Muhammad Akbar,

announicing the birth of a son, who was given the name of
Nekusiyar.

THE EMPEROR'S MARCH FROM AJMIR TO UDAIPUR

On Sunday, the 30th November/7th Zil. Q., the
Emperor started from Ajmir to punish the Rana. Prince

‘Akbar, coming from Merta had audience at Deorai. [183],
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MUHAMMAD ‘AZAM’S RAPID MARCH FROM BENGAL

Traversing this vast distance, in spite of its difficulties
in obedience to the Emperor’s command, was one of the feats
of this Prince. Trustworthy men who accompanied him
narrate that after midnight the Prince entered a palki and
slept. Mustafa Kashi, Lohrasp Beg, Qasim Beg and three
or four officers like them, waited on the Prince by turns.
From day-break to.noon he rode on horseback, so that at
‘the time of his alighting not more than two or three men
were with him. Gradually the others dropped in.

He left the baggage, harem, and karkhinas with Mir
Hadi and 1,000 troopers at Patna with orders to follow him.
From Patna to Benares, which was traversed in seven days,
he was accompanied by Jahan-zeb Banu Begam. At
Benares, Mir Khan and Shih Quli Khan Bakhshi were
ordered to convey her stage by stage under escort of 2,000
troopers ; they reached (Delhi) in twenty-five days, while
the Prince by rapid marches finished the journey from
Benares in twelve days and three hours, and had audience
on Tuesday, thé 16th December, 1679/23rd Zil. Q.* That
day he had travelled seventy kos.

One day when he was riding on a wretched post-horse
[184] he said to Qasim Beg, ‘‘My quiver now appears to
me heavy”’. The Khan replied ‘“This servant may remove
it”. ‘The Prince asked ‘“What will you do with your own
quiver?’”” He replied “‘I shall fasten your quiver en my
back,” and did so. Five hundred Khush-aspa troopers
formed his retinue, and many men were favoured with the
gift of horses. ‘T'welve troopers, four footmen, one chobdar,
one road-measurer (jarib-kash), and two time-keepers
(gharialis) who had been constantly in attendance, arrived
with the Prince.

One day, during the.journey, while the Prince and his
son Bidir Bakht were riding on post-horses, under the
protection of God, the Shahzada felt very jchlrsty. They
reached a well near a village; a water-carrier presented a
cup of water, the Prince gave him two dshrafis. A v.111a1n
saw it and imagined that he was a macebearer carrying g
large number of ashrafis. He barred the road and shoute

* 22ud October, 1679 “Recd. 2 letiet from Dacca dated the 13th instant

. = i the 6th, and on
advising th i altan ‘AZam had left the city on L :
the 12th b:;aghixi??:)cuemiy fowards Rajmahal” Hughly diary, quoted iy

Fort St. George, Diary and consultation book for 1679,
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to the servants not to advance, ‘The Prince djd not attend
to it, and the servants did not stop at his bidding. The
wretch came forward violently. The Prince pierced him
with an arrow through the breast. The villain fell down
there and did not rise up again. 'The servants went on their
way. Suhrab Beg, one of the officers, who was following
the Prince like a shadow, reached the place, recognised the
arrow, [185] cut off the villain’s head, and after extracting
the arrow hastened to overtake the Prince. He showed the
arrow and uttered this couplet in the place of a prayer :

““To all four quartets will spread the fame of thy royal
command,
Even as thy arrow has reached the heart of thy foe.”

After this the Prince ordered that some charn and two
anna, four anna pieces of gold and silver, copper coins and
cowries also should be kept in his pocket. At many of the
stages the officers of the jagir of Shah ‘Alam Bahadur and
other grandees brought costly horses, camels, and mules,
and presented kids and fowl. But nowhere was cooked food
procurable, except one day from the house of the Qazi of
Malpur. So he {usually) lived on dry bread, dry fruits, and
fried barley. One day the Shahzada spoke of [tasting]
khichri.- The servants went to a sardi, cooked it, and
brought it'in a second-hand dish or katora of wood. Both
father and son were hungry, but the Prince after a look at it,
ordered his son to eat it, He in aversion refused to eat it.
The Prince consoled him by saying, ‘‘God willing, we shall
get food from thg Emperor’s own table in two or three
days.” ® ¥ %

On the 17th December, 1679 /24th Zil. Q., Bidir Bakht
was made a 8-hazart (2,000 tr.), ‘Abid Khan was given the
title of Qalich Khan. On Saturday, the 8rd January, 1680/
11th Z{l. H., when the Emperor marched from Mandal
[186], it was learnt that tHe men of the Rini had evacuated
the pass of Debari. Hifiz Muhammad Amin Khan reported
that some of his servants had ascended the hill and found
the other side of the pass also deserted ; (evidently) the Rina
had evacuated Udaipur and fled. On the 4th January/12th
Zil. H., the Emperor encamped in the pass. Hasan ‘AH
}{__han was sent in pursuit of the infidel, Prince Muhammad

Azam and Khan Jahin Bahidur were permitted to view
Udaipur. Ruhullah Khan and Ekkatiz Khap went to
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demolish the great temple in front of the Rinad’s palace
which was one of the rarest buildings of the age and the
chief cause of the destruction of life and property of the
despised worshippers. Twenty machator® Rajputs were
sitting-in the temple vowed to give up their lives; first one
of them came out to fight, killed some and was then himself
slain, then came out another and so on, until every one of
the twenty perished, after killing a large number of the
imperialists including the trusted slave, Ikhlas. The temple
was found empty. The hewers broke the images.

As Mir Shihabuddin’s luck was in the ascendant, the
Emperor summoned him when the Mir was stationed at mid-
night with a party of scouts (qaghalchis) round His
Majesty’s tent and said, *‘It is some days since Hasan ‘Ali
Khan entered the pass in pursuit of the infidel. No news
has come of him. You should go and get the news.”’ With-
out any delay he set out with the party of gaghalchis to
execute the command. Inspite of his ignorance of the state
of the strange country, [187] the ups and downs, diversity
of the roads, the long distance, and the fear of robbers, he
was guided by fortune to the army of the Khan. He pro-
cured news and a letter from the Khan and immediately
returned, reaching the imperial camp at night, two days
after his starting, and had audience. Without the mediation
of Bakhshis to present him for making his bow of promotion,
he received an increment of 200 making him a 7-sadi, the
title of Khan, an elephant, and a special bow and quiver,
and was again sent to Hasan ‘Ali Khan to convey the
Emperor’s orders. This was the beginning of his advance-
ment.} I.shall hereafter narrate in the ‘proper place only
one of the many instances of his promotion.

Sarbuland Khan Mir Bakhshi, afteg a long illness @ied
on Saturday, the 27th December, 1679 /4th Zil. H. He was
a faithful officer, good inwardly and outwardly.

On Friday, the 16th January, 1680 [24th Zil. H.,
Himmat Khanywag sent to Allahabad. Akbar was presentid
with a sarpech of ruby worth 40,000 rupees and sent (Z
Udaipur. A force with abundant materials and equipmeft

—

* Machator. jum-bemused Rajputs °" _
bnt.t:( a(;hat\go l;W_a_r(’),plu (Platt’s Hindusgtm Dwtzm‘m’dyg' Firuz Jamg, was the
- TMlgr Shihabuddin, better known as G_hﬂZl-% 5 ntlhe 1above 18, et ooe
father of the first Nizam-ul-mulk Asaf Jah._ﬁ KOE e e ond Madsirule
AhkameitIlamgiri (text ed. by me) §33; Kha oy U 206
umars, i, 832.

«who never rise from their beds,
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was despatched under Hasan ‘Ali Khan to punish and
pursue the Rand ; his companions were rewarded when taking
leave. Shaikh Raziuddin, the leader of his companions, did
good service in this expedition and got the title of Khan.
Ruhullah Khan became Mir Bakhshi vice Sarbuland Khan
deceased, but the name of the post was not verbally men-
tioned. Salabat Khan [188] replaced him as darogha of
topkhina, Silih Khan becoming darogha of ghusalkhina
vice Salabat. Tahawwar Khan got the title of Padishih
Quli Khan.

News came from Lahore that Sayyid ‘Ali Akbar, Qazi
of the place, never bowed to anybody on account of his
honesty, bravery and spirit, but in contrast with him his
sister’s son Sayyid Fazil was foolish, violent and abusive
and had made the lives of the nazim and kotwal miserable
by his words and deeds. At last they attempted his life.
The Qazi died a shameful death in the conflict with Mir
Qawamuddin Khan, the nazim. He and Nizimuddin, the
kotal, were removed from their ranks and posts. The
kotwal was executed in Lahore and Qawamuddin was
summoned . to Court. Prince Muhammad ‘Azam became
Subahdar of the Panjab vice him, 4nd received a turban
end and-jewelled muttaka. Lutfullah Khan became deputy
Subahdar, Abu Nasr Khan becoming dirogha of ‘arz-i-
mukarrar vice him. Qawamuddin Khan on reaching the
Court at Ajmir, was subjected to much disgrace in the
Court of the-Holy Law, till at last Sayyid ‘Ali Akbar, the
son of the deceased Qazi, at the entreaty of the grandees of
the Court gave up the demand for his execution in considera-
tion of his old age. About the same time the Khan died,
out of pity for his pwn condition.

On Saturday, the 24th January, 1680/2nd Muharram,
the’ Emperor went to view lake Hdaisagar, constructed by
the Rand, and ordered all the three temples [189] on its
banks to be demolished.

News came that Hasan ‘Ali Khan having crossed the
pass on Wednesday, the 2lst January/9th Zil. H., had
attacked the Rana, who had fled leaving his camp and pro-
perty behind. In this expedition much grain was captured
by the soldiers and it led to cheapness. On the 29th
January /7th Muharram, Hasan ‘Ali Khan brought to the
Emperor twenty camel-loads of tents and other things cap-
tured from the Rana’s palace and reported that one hundred
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and seventy-two other temples in the environs of Udai
had been destroyed. The Khan received the title of Bahigzi
‘Alamgirshahi. On the 8lst January/9th Muharram
Khan Jahan Bahadur was sent to Bhainsror (cor.), and
pre(slented with a robe, a jewelled dagger, and a horse with
gold saz. \

On Monday, the 22nd February/1st Safar the Emperor
went to view Chitor ; by his order sixty-three temples of the
place were destroyed. On Friday, the 26th/5th Safar,
Khan Jahan Bahadur came from Bhainsror and had audience
at Chitor and was honoured by being presented with a half-
sleeve from the Emperor’s own person. On Sunday, the
28th February/7th Safar, Hafiz Muhammad Amin, Nazim
of Ahmadabad, was sent to his post, and given a robe, a
horse, and an elephant. On the Ist March Khan Jahan
Bahddur Zafar Jang Kokaltash Khan became Subahdar of
the Deccan wvice the eldest Prince, and was presented with
a robe, a jewelled dagger, a horse, and an elephant, Shaikh
Sulaiman, darogha of ‘adalat, got the title of Fiazil Khan.
On Thursday, the 4th March /12th Safar [1907 Mubammad
Akbar was appointed with a well-equipped force to guard
the environs of Chitor, and presented with a special robe, -
a pearl necklace, a jewelled jigha, a horse, and an elephant.
Hasan ‘Ali Khan, Raziuddin Khar apd others were re-
warded with robes and sent. with the Prihce. Hakim
Shams3, who had reached the Court with the.daughter of
‘Adil Khan Bijapuri, received a special robe, 4 horse with
gold saz, an elephant, the rank of 8-hazari (1,000.tr); the .
title of Shamsuddin Khan and posting under Khan Jahdn
Bahadur, :

THE, EMPEROR’S RETURN FROM UDAIPUR TO AJMIR

On Saturday, the 6th March, 1680, he started from
Udaipur. ‘Abdullah Khan who had been deprived of his
annual pension, was given the rank of a 2-hazari (hazarktr.)
and made qiladar of Agra vice ‘Abdur Rasul Khan; Mukar-
ram Khan was sent to chastise, the rebels near Ranthambhor,
with a robe and an elephant.

~ On Tuesday, theei?lfith March /24th Safar, S’Zalangtosh

Khan Bahidur was sent to bring the Emperor's consort‘,c
Aurangibadi Mahal, who had been .summoned to Cour‘f
along with Zeb-un-nisi Begam. Qabil Khat, brother ?d
‘Abul Fath Qabil Khan, mir munshi, of Tatta, an o
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servant of the days of Prince-hood, who, in consideration
of (his brother’s) long service and intimate knowledge of
the Emperor, had been brought up and favoured by His
Majesty, was led astray by his evil luck. On account of his
improper lapses [191] he was removed from his rank of
a hazari (70 tr.) and the post of being close te the Emperor’s
person and ginungoship of the subah of Tatta, with his
son-in-law ‘Abdul Wias‘i. On his application the Emperor
wrote “‘CGo to Delhi”’. After his arrival, Fulad Khan was
ordered to confiscate his house, toplace him on a horse in
the same state in which he would come out of his house, and
to expel him from the city. It was done. During his two
and a half years of close attendance on the Emperor (tagar-
rab) he had amassed twelve lakhs of rupees in cash, besides
articles and a newly-built house. All these were now con-
fiscated. He went to Lahore and died there. Fazail Khan
became darogha of dakchauki vice Qabil Khan and his
heart’s desire was gratified. Shaikh Makhdum of Tatta,
munshi . of Muhammad ‘Azam, became munshi of the
Emperor. He received the rank of 5-sadi (300 tr.), a dagger
with sadahkar, 2,000 rupees in cash, and ten pieces each of
cloth, fotah,"jimawar, and kinkhab. Afterwards he rose to
be a 114-hazari and got the title of Fazil Khan and the post of
Sadr, which he held 4ill his death. His post- under the
Prince was given fo Shaikh.‘Abdul Wali, son of Shaikh
‘Abdus Samad J‘afarkhani,

On Monday, the 22nd March, the Emperor arrived at
Ajmir, *and after first™ visiting the temb of Khwija
Mu‘inuddin enteredsthe palace. [192]. Mughal Khan, son
of Tahir Khan, catfie from the Deccan, had audience, and
was made First Mir Tuzuk. Salabat Khan was removed
from his rank.for some offence and succeeded by Bahramand
Khan in the post of darogha of topkhina. ‘Abdur Rahim
Khan replaced Bahramand as akhia begi. Hayiat Beg, son
of Bagi Khan got™the title of Khan, Khwaja Kamal that of
Khanjar Khan, and ‘Abdul Wihid, son of Mirza Khan,
that of Mir Khan. Kamgar Khan, son of Hushdir Khan,
who*had been removed from <is rank, stabbed himself in

the stomach in four places, but recovered through the kind
attention of his relatives. ’

_ On Wednesday, the .31st March, 1680/10th Rabi. A.,
Waris Khan, news-reader, who had written the third
.volume of the Padishahnamah, was killed with a pen-knife
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by a mad student, whom the Khan had been taking care of
with a view to saving him from molestation by other men
and whom he made to sleep near himself af night, Or;
Monday, the 5th April; 1680/15th Rabi. A., a letter was
received from Shah ‘Alam Bahadur, saying that the khutba
had been read in His Majesty’s name in Bijapur, and coins
stamped in gold and silver in his name. The courtiers
bowed to express their congratulation.

On Thursday, the 6th May/16th Rabi. S., Muhammad
‘Azam advanced one stage, by command, to welcome his
sister, and conducted her and Aurangibadi Mahal to the
Emperor’s harem. The Emperor learnt that [193] Nazar
Bey the Ataliq of Subhan Quli Khan, King of Balkh, was
coming to Court. Orders were issued to pay him 5,000
rupees from the treasury of Kabul and the same sum from
that of Lahore. Qalandar Bey, envoy of ‘Balkh, had audi-
ence and received a robe, a dagger, and 1,000 rupees in cash.
Haiji Shaf‘i Khan became diwan of Bengal vice Mir Mughis,
and was, succeeded by Sharif Khan as darogha of dagh and
tashiha.: Hamid Khan was appointed to punish the rebels
of Sojat and Jitiran. Muhammad Mirak, macebearer, got
the title of Khan. Iftikhar Khgn became faujdar of Jammpur
vice Shuji‘et Khan, Multafat Khan who had been pre-
viously dismissed was now restored to thé rank of a 3-hazari
(1,000 tr.) and appointed faujdir of Ghazipur Zaiania. On
Thursday, the 20th May /1st Jamad. A., Bahrainand Khan,
dirogha of topkhanah, whe had kis tuarters in 2 garden on
the other side of the lake of Anisagar, was sitting in the
shade of a tree, when the lightning struck (him). The Khan
jumped into a reservoif, and recovered his senses after a few
hours,

On Wednesday, the 9th June/21st Jamad. A., 1_1ev_v§
came that Khag Jahin Bahidur had reached Aurangaba
and interviewed Shah ‘Alam Bahadur, and the latter had
started for the Court. On the 14th June/26th Jamad. A.,
Muhammad ‘Azam and Bidar Bakht after being r11chiy,
rewarded started on the expedition against the Rana}.1 [194]

azar Bey was given the title of Aurang Khan agnld t fe éigh
of 2-haziri (700 tr.), Muhammad Amin, the tlIt{i o
Quli Khan, and Haji Muhammad, that of Mlz an. -

On Fri 5th June, Muham:_naq ‘Azam reache
Chitor. Mrflfgﬁ;g?i%\kbgr, after interviewing (him) during
a ride, started from Chitor for Sojat and Jitaran,
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News came from the Deccan that on Friday the 14th
May, 1680/24th Rabi. S., Shivaji after returning from a
journey dismounted from his horse, twice vomitted blood
in the excess of heat, and sank down into the pit of hell.*

Abu Turab, who had been sent’to demolish the temples
of Amber, returned to Court on Tuesday, the 10th August /
24th Rajab, and reported that he had pulled down sixty-six
temples. Khwiaja-Mu‘atamad Khan, giladar of Gwalior;
died on Thursday, the 26th August/10th Shaban.

* The death -of Shivaji oc ; 2 Apri i
coirespond to 14.Rahi, AJ. 109%2??1, o othe 4t Apeil, 1680, which would
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15th September, 1680—3rd September, 1681,

® * * *

Khidmatguzar Khan was appointed bakhshi and news-
writer of Chitor. On Saturday, the 25th September,
1680/11th Ramzan, Ekkatiz Khan [195] died. His sons,
Mir ‘Abdullah, Mir Nurullah, and ‘Atiullah, received
mourning -robes. ‘Aqil Khan, second bakhshi, became
Subahdar of Delhi and #eceived a special robe and a jewelled
dagger, with pearl ‘ilaga. On Saturday, the 16th October/
2nd Shawwal, Ghaznafar Khan was sent with 400 cavalry,
Muhammad Sharif khush-manzil, and gqarawals, to ascer-
tain the stages from Ajmir to the lake of Rijsamudra. On
Sunday, the 24th October/10th Shawwal, Himmat Khan
became First Bakhshi; a robe and gold do-patia were sent
to his house. The same day, the property of Mu‘atamad
Khan amounting to twelve lakhs and 50,000 rupees, hesides
jewels and animals, came to Court from Gwalior. On Tues-
day, the 9th November/26th Shawwal, Hamid Khan went
towards Mertd 4o punish the Rithor rebels. Of his comrades
Shihibuddin Khan received a robe and .a female elephant
.and the others robes. Ruhullah Khan became second
bakhshi. On Saturday, the 18th November/Ist Zil. Q., he
received a robe, a horse, an elephant and a banner, and went
to serve under Muhammad Akbar. Mughal Khan was sent
to chastise the rebels of Sambhar and Didwéna. Mulkhtar
Beg, son of Islam Khan Rumi received the title of Nawazish
Khan, a robe of honour and permission to wear the
customary dress of India. : \

On yTuesday, the 30th November/18th Zil. %}-,
Muhammad N‘aim; bakhshi of Kambakhsh, and ot eg
officers of that Prince received robes from the Emper Of('i‘g?
went fo serve under Akbar. Sadruddin, son of anyanfmth -
Khan [196] received a robe for the de_ath of his fa "eI{(.)
Udwat Singh Bhadauriya became giladar of Cl}ltor._l &
Shahimat Khan was sent a Jarman, appointing him qtladar
of Kabul, vice Sayyid Khan deceased.

16
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On Saturday, the 18th December, 1680/6th Zil. H.,
Lutfullah Khan who had reached the Court from Lahore,
became dirogha of ghusalkhana wvice ‘Abdur Rahim Khan,
who became third bakhshi and received a jasper inkpot.
Sazawar Khan became akhta begi vice him. Abul Qasim,
son of Qdzi ‘Arif, peshdast of the third bakhshi, received a
shawl. Rij Singh and Prithvi Singh Rathor each got a robe
and 2,000 rupees. Aghar Khan became rahdar of Kabul
and received kettledrums. A robe and a horse with gold
saz were sent to Qalich Khan with Shihdbuddin Khan,
Dewafkan, son of Dianat Khan, got the title of Mu‘atamad
Khan, and the diroghaship of dagh and tashiha vice Sharif
Khan., Bidar Bakht was rewarded with a pearl necklace
and ruby pendant on completing the memorisation of the
Quran,

REBELLION OF PRINCE MUHAMMAD AKBAR
* * & &

_ [197] On Friday, the 7th January, 1681/26th Zil. H.,
the Emperor learnt from the letters of spies, approved
observers and other well-informed persons that through the
instigation of the Rathors and some ungrateful imperial
servants, Prince Muhammad Akbar had rebelled, promoted
those of the imperial officers who agreed with him, and
imprisoned those whom he suspected of being-unfriendly.
~[198] The Emperor’s heart was deeply grieved to hear of
this sad occurrence. Relying on God’s help he turned his
attention to remedying this mischief. Bahramand Khan,
Mir Atish, was ordered to dig trenches round the army, to
place men to defénd the. passes, and to mount guns on the
hillocks near the imperial abode. Orders were sent to Hifiz
Muhammad Amin Khan, nizim of “Ahmadabad, and other
chiefs, thgt they should assist each other and firmly guard
the frontiers of their provinces. At this time when the
1mperial army was dispersed in the task of punishing the
rebel [Rajputs], the only -men with the Emperor were the
servants whose total number did not exceed 10,000 troopers.
The Emperor often said ‘““The hero (Akbar) has got a fine
opportunity. Why is he delaying (to attack me)?” .

On Monday, the 10th January /29th Zil. H., during his
hunting excursion, both at the start and on return, he viewed
the mahallas (muster) of many of the commanders and the
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entrenchments’ of ‘Umdat-ul-mulk Asad Khan and others
‘Umdat-ul-mulk was ordered to inspect the trenches at the
end of every day. Orders were sent to imprison in the fort
of Garh-Bithli the agent of the Prince Akbar, the agents of
Shuj‘det Khan, son of Najabat Khar, and Paidishah Quli
Khan, son-in-law of ‘Inidyet Khan who had misled  the
Prince. Shihabuddin Khan, son of [199] Qalich Khan, had
gone towards Sirohi for punishing Sonang, Durgidis and
other Rathors who wanted to go to Gujrat. At this time the
enemy (Rajputs) in a large body came to the Prince and
guided him in his rebellion. The Prince sent Mirak Khan
to Shihibuddin to induce him with favours and gifts to join
him. The Khan had a large force with him and was at some
distance from the Prince’s army; he very wisely marched
away, rapidly covered sixty kos in two days, and joined the
Emperor, bringing Mirak Khan with himself. Every one
of his comrades down to commanders of 200 was favoured
with interview ; he received robes, praise, and high prome-
tion ‘which will be gradually set forth. Mirak Khan, whé
had left his tent and belongings in the Prince’s camp, was
. presented with a robe, 2,000 rupees in cash, and an incre-
ment of 200 (50 tr.). Muhammad ‘Arif, brother of Shihdb-
uddin Khan, got a robe and promotion. All his subordinates,
of high and low rank alike, were rewarded with robes and
promotion. On Monday, the 10th January/30th Zil. Hd_
the Emperor when riding to hunt, reviewed the troops and
the entrenchments. Hamid Khan, who had been sent with
the men of the chauki-i-khas and other trodps to punish
Durjan Singh of Merti, returned by forced marches and
interviewed the Emperor while he was riding [200].

On Wednesday, the 12th January/2nd Muharram, a
letter was received from Shih ‘Alam Bahadur stating that
‘he had reached the lake of the Rand and was soot-coming
to meet the Emperor.. Asad Khan, Muhammad ‘Ali Khan
Abu Nasar Khan, and*others went to reconnoitre in the
direction of the lake of Pushkar, and .returned. mema(’{
Khan, who was seriously ill, was left in the fort to guar
Ajmir, .
On the 18th January/3rd Muharram, after performing
the Rriday praye{' andn;t{ading the fatiha at the tomb oé
Shaiklr Mu‘inuddin, the Emperor_st_arted_fl‘om AJmlﬁ’- ]T;d
stopped at the camp of Deorai. Shihdbuddin Khan, w Zr my
- gone forward for scouting reported that the eneﬁny sdurin
was dispersed at Kurki, therefore he had stayed there g



124 MAASIR-I-ALAMGIR} [Cu. 24

the night instead of coming to the Emperor. The High
Bakhshis reported that the troops with the Emperor num-
bered 16,000 cavalry.* They were commanded to marshal
the army :—the Centre, the Vanguard and the Front Skir-
mishers together numbered 10,000, the Right and Left
Wings and the Advanced Reserve were together 6,000
strong. *

Spies brought the news that the Prince was advancing
to fight the Emperor, but his soldiers were in despair, many
escaping when they got an opportunity. Kamiluddin Khan
and others came and joined the Emperor’s camp. After the
morning prayer on Sunday, the 15th January/65th Muhar-
rain, the Emperor considering it necessary to punish the
rebels, rode nearly three miles, dismounted at Doraha (cor.)
{201), and sat down within the pavilion and cloth-screens of
his touring camp (dauriya). News came in quick succession
that the enemy were coming. He said, ‘‘Don’t advance.
Let them come on.”’ After thie zubar prayer, Shah ‘Alam
Bahadur had audience. The tent, which had been at Deorai,
was brought by order and pitched for His Majesty’s
residence.

At one prahar and two gharis of night, the Emperor
.was kneéling on the prayei-carpet and Shah ‘Alam Bahadur
-was present, when the news came that Padishah Quli Khan,
hiiving come from the enemy’s army, had reached the door
of the audience hall. Lautfullah Khan dirogha of the
ghusalkhanah, was ordered to bring him in unarmed. The
wretch, who had evidently some wicked intention in his
mind, strongly objected to taking off his arms after reaching
the deorhi of the ghusalkhanah. Lutfullah Khan coming in
reported, ‘‘He says that he is a hereditary servant (khanah-
zad), and had never been made to enter anywhere deprived
of his arms.”” The Emperor said, “He must not come in
armed.” Lutfullah Khan then went back to him. He was
seized with despair, and wanted to run away. But his ingra-
titude clogged his steps. As soou as he stepped out of the
screen of the door of the ghusalkhinah, the men of the
1mperial retinue and the slaves fell upon him. As he wore
cuirass and coat of mail under it, the blows produced. little

effect. One struck him on the throat and silenced his dis-
turbance.

* Text misprints shahzadah for shanzdah.
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On Satu‘rday ) tlie 15th January /5th Muharram, news
came that Himmat Khan, the First Bakhshi, son of Islam
Khan Bahadur of the days of Princeship, [2027 had died.
He was a good man, charitable, benevolent fo all ; and used
to entertain in his assembly all kinds of men of learnine
and skill, and reward them. Both father and son had a well.
balanced nature, and were expert in composing prose and
verse.

Before dawn on Sunday, the 16th January, 1681/6th
Muharram, the Emperor learnt that Muhammad Akbar,
who had encamped one and a half kos from him (the
Emperor’s tent), had fled away at midnight leaving his
fanuly and children behind. * * ¥ * [203]. The courtiers
made their bows for this victory. Music of rejoicing was
played for three hours. Muhammad ‘Ali Khan, Khin-i-
saman, went to confiscate his stores (kdrkhanajat). Darbir
Khan, nazir, brought to the Emperor Nekusiyar and
Muhammad Asghar, the sons, and Safiyyat-un-nisi,
Zakiyyat-un-nisa and Najibat-un-nisa, the daughters, and
Salima Banu Begam the wife (mahal) and other relatives of
the Prince. Muhatasham Khan, the son of Shaikh Mir
deceased, M‘amur Khan, Muhammad N‘aim Khan, and
Sayyid ‘Abdullah were released from the Prince’s prison and
interviewed the Emperor receiving robes. Shihdbuddin Khan,
who had gone in pursuit, killed many of the followers aqd:
fatigned stragglers of the Prince’s party. Shih ‘Alam Baha-
dur was sent in pursuit of the Prince. Qalich Khan, Khan
Zamin, Indra Singh, Ram Singh, Sujan Singh and others
were appointed under him. Fifty thousand ashrafis were
presented to Shah ‘Alam Bahadur, two lakhs of rupees to
Prince Mu‘izzuddin, three thousand ashrafis to Prince
Muhammad ‘Azimunddin, and fifty thousand ashrafis to Shah
‘Alam’s followers. Ruhullah Khan was ordered to carry this
treasure to the Prince. : h

On Monday, the 17th January/7th Muharram the
Emperor returned, and after visiting the tomb of Kh{rggla
Mu‘inuddin entered the palace of Ajmir. On _thedi ;
]anuary/ch Muharram, news came that the thanadar o
Mandal had been slain and that small fort had been capi;lre
by the rebels, As for the men [204] who had joined 1‘{&1 3111;;
mad Akbar in revolt, it was ordered that KhYVaJ'f‘SM aftz 4
and Muhrim should be imprisoned in Garh:Blthll,l, urtaze
Quli in Alwar, Fariq (or Qazzdq) Kbhan in Guwa igf’ 2 "
Muhammad Hitim, son of Ghaznafar Khan in Kangra,
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Qizi Khubullah, Muhammad ‘Aqil, Shaikh Taiyyab, and

Mir Ghulam Muhammad of Amroha, who had affixed their

seals to a decree declaring the deposition of His Majesty

as demanded by religion, were sent to fort Garh-Bithli after-
being tied to planks and severely flogged. Many others were

flogged and imprisoned. Zebunnisa Begam, whose letters to

Muhammad Akbar were discovered, was deprived. of her-
annual pension of four lakhs of rupees, her property was

confiscated, and she was lodged in fort Salimgarh. On the

23rd January/13th Muharram, Kambakhsh was married to

Fakhr-i-Jahan Khanam, daughter of Barkhtirdir Beg, man-

sabdar. On the 26th January/16th Muharram, Auranga-

badi Mahal, Salimi Banu Begam (wife. of Muhammad

Akbar) and other dependents were sent to Delhi, News came

from the army of Shah ‘Alam Bahadur that he had reached

Jalor and Muhammad Akbar Sanchor, and that Qalich Khan

was hastening in pursuit with a force. .

The news-writer of the army of Muhammad ‘Azam
reported that he (the Prince) having learnt that the Rina’s
diwan Dayildas wanted to make a night attack, had sent
Dilawwar Khan against that wretch. A battle ensued ; [205]
many of the enemy were slain; after slaying his wife he
broke away ; his daughter and a few other persons were taken
prisoners. Qalich Khan who had come to Court without the
Prince’s permission, was refused audience. At first IThtimam
Khan, kotwal, kept him under surveillance; then he was
made over to Salabat Khan. Muhammad Ibrahim surnamed
Shuj‘det Khan left Akbar and came over to Shah ‘Alam,
who sent him to the Court, where he was made over to
Salabat Khan and kept under surveillance in the Akbari
palace. Hafiz Muhammad Amin Khan sent a letter stating
that Muhammad Akbar, having advanced with the Rithors
by way of the hill of Dongar to the territory of the Rani,
wanted to go to Ahmadabad; at this time spies bropght the
news that after passing by Rajpipla he had gone to the
Dfaccaq by way of Sarangarh. Sazawar Khan was imprisoned -
with his son for an offence, made over to Jalal Beg- Ming-
bashi. Muhammad Shaf‘i mushrif of ghusalkhinah, who
evidently shared his guilt, was dismissed from his rank and
post. Mughal Khan became akhtabegi vice him, and Bahra-
mand Khan, Mir Tuzuk vice Mughal Khan. Mirzi Muham-
mad, son of Murshid Quli Khan got the mushrifi of ghusal-
khanah. Tdpidas, peshdast of Ruhullah Khan, and Bil-
kishan his munshi were made over to the kotwil, as they -
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were securities for Gangirim, an ‘amls of Khi 3
Bahidur, who had rebelled in the province of Allah:ba{?.l-mx
letter came from Khan Jahian Bahidur stating [206] that
Muhammad Akbar had passed by Burhanpur on Stnday,
the 16th May, 1681 /7th Jamad. A., and entered the territory
_of Sambh3, who had kindly and honourably given him
shelter in his dominion. Muhammad Masih and other sons,
brothers and sons-in-law of Himmat Khan deceased, received
mourning robes. Ashraf Khan became First Bakhshi vice
the deceased, and Kamgar Khan became news-reader vice
Ashraf Khan, his own place of bayutat being taken by
‘Inayet Khan. Bad‘i-uz-zaman Mahibatkhini whose skill
helped him in the service of the Emperor, got the title of
Rashid Khan and became peshdast of khialsa wice ‘Inayet
Khan. On Sunday, the 30th January, 1681 /20th Muharram,
Mir Sayyid Muhammad Qanauji came from Delhi and had
audience: One thousand rupees and two trays of fruits were
sent to him,

On Tuesday, the 1st February/22nd Muharram,
Shihibuddin Khan with the division under him, received
robes, a dagger, and a kalgi. On Tuesday, the 1st March,
Irij Khan was appointed Subahdar of Burhanpur vice Khan -
Jahdn Bahidur; (on 1st March) Afrasiib Khan, son of Islam
Khan, came from his faujdari of Dhamuni and had audience.
Sayyid Ashraf [var. Sharif] was made a khan and mir-1-

- saman of Begam Sahib. On Sunday, the 20th March / 10th
Rabi. A., Faizullah Khan left for Moradabad, after recetving
an elephant and a robe. ‘Iniyet Khan became faujdar of
Ajmir, and began to make strong exertions for punishing
the Rithors. [207] Khan Mirza, envoy of the rruler. of
Urganj, had audience on Friday, the 25th March /15th Rabi.
A., and received a robe and belt-dagger. On ﬂ.‘e 16&5
April when taking leave, he was presented with a Jewelled
igha, 5,000 rupees, a wmohar weighing ﬁft}_’ mohars, an d
a rupee weighing one hundred rupees. A jewelled Is{‘gor
worth 2,000 rupees was sent with him to Anusha Khan;
ruler' of Urganj. .

On Saturday, the 9th April/30th Rabi. A, Muba-
madi R3j, son of Jaswant Singh came to Court romf ]
on the 23rd April /14th Rabi. A., Hamid Khan, soﬁ ?;'of e
Khan, became faujdir of Bhojpur, Mirak Kha“Kt—ﬁ 1 wice
Jalandhar Doab, Murid Khan giladar of Gahu band
Shahamat Khan, and Raja Mandhita, thanadar of- or'ctn ¢
Saifullah Khan, mir bahar, who had Jomed the service o4
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Shah ‘Alam Bahidur, and received no reward, was ordered
‘to be “paid 5,000 rupees- on behalf of the Prince, which
ampugit was to be deducted from the cash dues of the Prince,
Ashraf Khan, ‘Mir Bakhghi, and Itimad Khan) peshdast of
the daftar-i-tan, received crystal ink-pots. On Sunday, the
8th May/80th Rabi. S., Qalich Khan having been released
from, the prison of punishment, had audience. On Thursday,
the 23rd June/16thr Jamfad. S:, he received for the second
time the high-post of Sadr, wice Razavi Khan deceased. -

The Rana had fled from hig country and abode * * * and
received sgvere chastisement from the imperial army. The
thousand years” home of the desert-rat was overturned by
the hoofs of the horses [208] of ‘The imperialists. He fled as
far:as.his frontier, and then, when his powers were exhausted
and no resource was left save to beg for quarter, he begged
Prince Muhammad ‘Azam to intercede for him, offered to
cede the parganahs of Mamdal-Pur and Badhnur as.a substi-
tute for jazia and to interview the Prince as the means of
saving his country and. property. The Prince, pitying him,
reported his requests to His Majesty, who overlooked the
Ran3a’s offences and resolved to gratify the Prince by acced-
ing to his proposal, Accordingly on Tuesday, the 14th
June, 1681 /7th Jamad. S., the Rana interviewed the Prince
at the lake of Rajsamudra. Dilir Khan and Hasan ‘Ali
Khan advanced to conduct him to the Prince. He presented
500 ashrafis and eighteen horses with™gold and silver saz.
The Prince graciously ordered him to sit on the left side and
presented him with a robe, a jewelled sword, a dagger with
phulkatara, a horse with gold sdz, and an elephant with
silver saz. His title of Rana was restored and he was created
a b-hazari (same tr.) and then permitted to return. His
followers received 100 robes, ten jewelled daggers and forty
horses [209]. When the Rana went to.the hotuse of Dilir
Khan, the Khan on his part sent men to welcome him : nine
thans of cloth, one jewelled sword, a shield with jewelled
gul, a spear carved in relief, nine horses and one elephant
were presented to him; and three cloths, a jewelled dagger,
a jewelled arsi, a jewelled armlet (bazuband) and two horses
to the son of the Riana.

_-Multafat Khan after removal from the faujdari of
Ghazipur Zamania had become faujdar of the environs of
Agra. He was wounded in attacking ‘a village and died on
Sunday, the 26th June/19th Jamad. 8. On F riday, the Ist
July, 1681/24th Jamad. S., Khian Zaman Khan, son of
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‘Azam Khan and son-in-law of Asaf Khan w

with Shah ‘Alam from the Deccan and so Jong 1;:1-‘1,1:&1 'uci?:i];:
the Prince, became Subahdar of Burhanpur vice Irij Khan
and received a robe, a horse with_ gold "trappings ami
an increment of 1,000 troopers, making him a b-haziri
(2,000 tl'.). On the 6th ]uly/29th ]amad S_’ Shah ‘Alam
Bahidur who had hastened from Sojat aund Jitiran, inter-
viewed the Emperor. Tarbiyat Khant was appointed faujdar
of Jaunpur on the death of Iftikhir Khan who had beeq
appointed to this post after his removal from the Subahdari
of Ajmir. Nizamuddin Ahmag became faujdir of Sirhind
vice Shukrullah Khan, Jansipir Khan -became qiladar of
Bidar vice Mir Muhammad Khan, deceased. Bahramand
Khan [210] became darogha of ghusalkhianah vice Lutfullah
Khan, who became darogha of ‘arz-i-mukarrar vice Shihab-
uddin Khan, ’

News came from Moradibad that Faizullah Khan, son
of Zahid Khan Kokah of Padishih Begam, had died. He
had great intimacy with the Emperor, and the Begam Sahib.
He lived like one of the free, and never bowed his head in
supplication to any man. He was good, agreeable- and
charitable, indifferent to the affairs of this world. His only
companions were all kinds of rare animals, beasts of prey,
wild beasts, birds, grazing cattle, and serpents, that were
procured for him from far-off countries and ports. In short,
he had an odd naturé., Eventually he got elephantiasis, and
used to be carried about on an elephant. When he had to
see His Majesty, he did not come to the darbar, but inter-
viewed him’ while passing with his cortege. Afrisiab Khan
became faujdir of Moridabad wvice him. .
" On Sunday, the 10th July/4th Rajab, Prince Muham-
mad ‘Azam and Sultin Bidir Bakht returned from the war
with the Rin3, and had audience in private. .13i Yah

On Tuesday, the 19th July/13th Rajab, Siddi ¥ahya
brought to the harem Shahar Banu, the daughztgl‘ 0
‘Adilshzh Bijapuri. She was matried to Muhammad %Zam
on the 26th July/20th Rajab, The Emperor tied the sahard,
Qazi Shaikh-ul-Islam telebrated the marriage, in the 1}1;)15 %E .
of khas and ‘am (Jam’a mosque). Ip accqrdance :imt) the
€xample of the Prophet (at hl;zs marriage with Khadija
marriage portion was 500 dirham.

Oxg1 S%.turday, the 30th July/24th Muhma?n,; [2&15%
Muhammad Kam Bakhsh was married to Jamiaf: unr of
alias Kalyan Kumari, daughter of Amarchand, sister

17
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Jagat Singh, zamindar of Manobarpur. The Qazi tied the
knot in the mosque of khds and ‘am. The dowry was
50,000 rupees. Sher Muhammad Kohati got the title of
Sher' Khan. . .

On Saturday, the 6th. August/1st Shaban, a letter was
'received from Khan Jahin Bahadur, to say that Akbar was
living in the fort of Pali,:near fort Maspuli;* 200 cavalry
and 800 infantry were with,him; and Sambha had assigned
g pension to ‘them.

ARMY SENT UNDER MUHAMMAD ‘AZAM TO EXTIRPATE SAMBHA
AND THE KINGS OF BIJAPUR AND HAIDARABAD-—THE CHASE
OF MUHAMMAD AKBAR FROM AJMIR TO THE DECCAN—
THE GRANTING OF THE TITLE OF SHAH TO PRINCE ‘AZAM.

On Sunday, the 31st July, 1681/25th Rajab, Prince
Muhammad ‘Azam got the title of Shah, and was appointed
to the Deccan expedition. Khidmatgir Khan conveyed to
his house a robe with a-balaband and a sarpech. The Prince
niade his salutation in the khawabgih, and was there pre-
sented with a half-sleeve woven with pearls worth two lakhs
fifty thousand and four hundred ripees, and with a sword,
two Arab and ‘Irdqi horses, a Gaj-minik elephant and five
hunting-leopards in the Audience Hall,_ Sultan Bidas
Bakht, at the same time as his father, [212] received a robe
of farewell, a horse, and a jewelled latkan. The Prince’s
followers were rewarded.

On Thursday, the 18th August/18th Shaban, order
was issued to ‘Umdat-ul-mulk Asad Khan to conduct, under
the escort of his own men, Hakim Muhasan Khan to Delhi
and bring to the Emperor a receipt stamped with the seal
of Fnlad Khan. Raja Bhim Singh, brother of Rini Jai
Singh, came to Court in hope of service. Muhammad N*aim
who had conveyed a robe of condolence for the death of Rani
Rij Singh to his son Rina Jai Singh, returned and had
audience. He had received (from the Rini) 4,000 rupees in
cash, two horses, 19 thans of cloth, and four camels. He

was permitted to retain them instead of surrendering them
to the ‘State: :

*In Ind. Atlas, 25 S.E., there is a Pali, 26 miles N.N.W. of Raygad,*

K] m:le’s E. of Na}gothna. This awas the place' (as the Eng. F.R. say), Zgout

l;w g;;y;‘ lsi égugxee); ft;ol'xg Nagotl_n;s,a (Ormei 268)i at the foot of Paligarh. (269).
) €Xt 18 a copyist’s error for Bicholim (in P i

to which place Akbar rem;g'ed, but later, (in Portaguese territory),



CHAPTER XXV
25TH YEAR OF THE REIGN. 1092 A. m.
4th September, 1681—23rd August, 1682.

¥ & * ®

The Emperor’s march from Ajmir to Burhanpur

. On Monday, the 5th September/2nd Ramzan, the
Emperor issued orders for his camp to be moved from Ajmir
towards Burhanpur. On Thursday, the 8th/5th Ramzan,
he started from that city and halted at the stage of Deorai.
On Friday, the 9th September/Gth Ramzan, Shibzada
Muhammad ‘Azim was sent back to Ajmir, after bging pre-
sented with a special robe, a pearl smarani, a jewelled
-dagger, a sword, a horse, and'an elephant [213]. ‘Umdat-
ul-mulk Asad Khan was appointed to accompany him, and
received a special robe, a jewelled dagger, and a horse.
‘Itigad Khan, son of Asad Khan, Kamiluddin Khan, son of
Dilir Khan, Raja Bhim and his son, Dinddr Khan, son of
Nimdir Khan {who became Marhamat Khan) and others,
after being given robes, jewels, horses and elephants' were
appointed to this army. ‘Inayet Khan, faujdar of Ajmir; and
Sayyid Yusuf Bukhiri, gila‘dar of Garh Bithli, were sent
back. On Saturday, the 10th -September /7th Ramzan,
news came from Delhi that Jahinara Bann Begam had died
on Tuesday, the 6th September, 1681/3rd Ramzan. She
was buried in the compound of the sepulchre of Shaikh
Nizam-ud-din Aulia, wheére she had constructed her OWI‘E
tomb in her lifetime. The Emperor was very sotry to hear O’E
the death of his loving eldest sister and forbade the bgat(l;_:lg_ o
naubat for three days. This lady, now wrapped up ml' 1vm§
forgiveness, was endowed with the gracious qua ‘t{" :k
charity and the noble trait of benevolence. She alwgyfi °e g
care fo be polite in her manners to her equals andWe_ilf ";71 or
her gifts and compassion on the geperal public. ( thle head
death) the shade of bounty was withdrawn from d from
of the world, and the store of liberality dlsappea_l‘?i to be
the hand of the age. The Emperor grdered her title to
written as Sghibat-uz-zomini. * * *
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[214] He bestowed favours ofi her Sservants and
dependants. Uzbak Khan Nazar Bey, who had been dis-
missed from rank and permitted to go to Mecca, died on
Wednesday, the 2lst September/18th Ramzan. On
Monday, the 10th October/7th Shawwal, Mukhtar Khan
had audience and the next day received an ‘asa with a jasper
handle. On Saturday, the 22nd October/19th Shawwal,
news came that Fulad Khan, faujdar of Delhi, had died.
Shukrullah Khan succeeded him. On Thursday, the 27th
October /24th Shawwal, Qalich Khan was sent on the
'Deccan expedition, and presented with a special robe, a
horse, and kettledrums. Shihabuddin Khan was ordered to
guard the rear of the imperial army till the arrival of the
camp-followers. * News came that Muhammad ‘Azam had
left Burhanpur for Aurangibad on the 29th Qctober /26th
Shawwal, and reached the latter place, on Friday, the 11th
November /10th Zil. Q. :

On.Sunday, the 13th November/12th Zil. Q., the
Emperor reached Burhinpur. News came that on the 14th
November, ‘Itiqgad Khan and other imperialists had attacked -
the Rathors who had assembled in-a body of nearly 3,000
troopers in Merta ; a severe battle was fought. Five hundred
of the enemy [215] fell in the battle including Sonang, his
brother ‘Ajab Singh, Shyamaldis, Bihiridas, Gokuldas-
and other chiefs, killed or wounded. The rest fled away.
Many of the imperialists were slain. Sardar Tarin, Sher
Afkan and others were wounded. ‘Itigdd Khan received
an increment of 500, and his followers too were rewarded.
On Tuesday, the 22nd November /21st Zil. Q., Abdunnabi
Beg Rozbhani, got the title of Khan and the daroghaship
of the Deccan'artillery. At midnight on the 23rd November,
two chambers of gunpowder near the citadel of Burhinpur
fort caught fire; many men were killed. That very night
robbers attacked the camp (daira) of Lutfullah Khan Kokah,
near Lalbagh, at Dacca; six men were slain, twenty
wounded and the property was looted.

 The news-writer of Junnar wrote that a son was bortt
to a zamindar, having two branches or horns of the length
of a ﬁnger.on his head. The child died after two days. A
woman delivered a daughter with a black head and face and
a red and white nose ; the child lived.

. Hasan ‘Ali Khan, coming from Islamabad (Mathura)
interviewed, and, after being given a robe, a horse and an
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elephant, was sent on the Deccan war. Raziuddin Khan
who was by command superintending the imperial house-
hold and the force attached to it; was sent away. On Mon-
day, the 21st November/20th Zil. Q., the Emperor [216]
visited the tomb of Shaikh ‘Abdul Latif. After reading the
fatiha, he prayed to the saint’s soul for help in crushing the
enemy of the true faith. On the 22nd November/21st Zil.
Q., Rahman Quli, envoy of Bukhira, reached the Court.
He présented two horses, ten pairs of dana-i-kesh, and one
camel. He was rewarded with a robe and 5,000 rupees and
sent back. Ghaznafar Khan was sent to convey treasure to
the army of Muhammad ‘Azam Shah. Shihiabuddin Khan
became Mir Bakhshi of ahadis. Salabat Khan was restored
to his rank and made darogha of artillery vice Bahramand
Khan.

On Wednesday, the 30th November/29th Zil. Q., the
zamindar of Chanda visited the Emperor and presented four
elephants and nine horses. On Sunday, the 1st January,
1682 /2nd Muharram he was sent home with a special robe,
a horse with gold saz, an elephant, and an emerald sarpech.
A letter was received from Khan Jahan Bahiadur stating
that he had plundered Siwapur. Muhammad Shah, son of
Muhammad Ali Khan Dara Shukohi, was sent as envoy to
Golkonda. Ruhullah Khan was sent to attack Bijapur.
Shihibuddin Khan and the servants of the retinue, and
Fath M‘amur, son of Dilir Khan, were ordered to accom-
pany him. Lutfullah Khan became news-reader vice
Kamgar Khan.

On Sunday, the 5th February 1682/7th Safar ‘Abdur
Rahim Khan, the third bakhshi died and was buried in his
father Islim Khan’s tomb at Aurangabad. Kamgar Khan
succeeded him [217]. News came that the Rathors had
attacked the parganah of Mandal-Pur and carried off much

property.

PHE EMPEROR’S MARCH FROM BURHANPUR TO
AURANGABAD .

He started from Burhanpur on the 28th February,
1682/1st Rabi. A. On the 1st March, Muhamma(i
Mu'‘izzuddin was sent away from Bahadurpur to sta;lr1 a
Burhanpur, after being presented with a rcbe, a sarpech, a

in, the mazim was
sword, and an elephant. Khan Zaman, -
appoh;ted to accompany him and received a spec:gl robe.
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Hamid Khan was ill, interviewed the Emperor, and was
kindly ordered to- stay im Burhanpur till ~his -perfect
recovery ; and the Emperor untying the balaband from his
own waist presented it to him. Shaikh Jahan, daughter’s
son of old Shaikh -Ibrahim, qiladdr and faujdar, was sent
back to Asir.

On the 19th March, 1682/20th Muharram, Muhammad
‘Azam Shah, having come from Aurangabad to Kumiri,
interviewed the Emperor. On Wednesday, the 22nd
March /23rd Muharram, the Emperor reached the palace of
Aurangabad. Yalangtosh Khan Bahadur became qurbegi
vice Abu Nasar Khan. The Emperor visited the ab-pash-
darah (the watershed of -the valley) and the garden of
Farman Biri. The gardeners were all rewarded. Kumir
Kishan Singh, son of Raja Ram Singh died on Monday, the
10th April/12th Rabi. S., of wounds received in a brawl.
On the 13th April, his son Bishan Singh got his father’s
place with the mansab of a hazari (400 tr.). On Sunday,
the 16th April/18th Rabi. S., ‘Indyetullah, son of S‘adullah
Khan, got the title of Ikhlas Khan. Jamshid Khan, son of
[218] Daud Khan who was lying ill in Burhanpur, died.

On Thursday, the 6th April/8th Rabi. A., Chimndji,,
zamindar of Kharg-garh and servant of Sambha, came to
the Emperor and received a robe. Makarand Singh, son of
Pratab Singh, zamindar of Kilibhit, was imprisoned by
Khan Jahin Bahadur for non-payment of money dues. By
order he was sent to Court. He was only seven years old.
On Thursday, the 11th May/14th Jamad, A., he was
released from prison and permitted to return home. On
Saturday, the 18th May/16th Jamad. A., Yadgar ‘Ali, the
agent of Sikandar ‘Adil Khan, king of Bijapur, was given
a robe and 2,000 rupees, and Shaikh Hasan, the agent of
Sl_ddi Mas‘aud Bijapuri, a robe and 1,000 rupees and dis-
missed. The elephant and ring sent as peshkash by Sikan-
dar were not accepted but returned with the agent. Muham-
mad M‘asum, agent of Qutbulmulk, king of Golkonda,
Interviewed and received a robe. He presented as peshkash
two lakhs and 44,000 rupees.

On Saturday, the 20th May /28rd Jamad. A., Sharif
Khan went out to forage when the enemy appeared, and a
severe fight was fought, many of the infidels being slain.
Zahid Khan Churighisi, and Saifullah and Ahasanullah,
grandsons of S‘aid Khan, were slain. Qamruddin- Khan,
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qariwwal begi,_killed a nilgiu with three shots of his musket
and pl_‘esent_ed it to the Emperor, its length was 8 gaz and
634 girah, its height 2 gaz and 3 girah, and its tail 1 gaz
and 3% girah.

On Tuesday, the 23rd May /26th Jamad. A., Ruhullak
Khan was sent to chastise the rebels near Ahmadnagar,
and received a sword [219] damascened with gold. Hayat
Khan was appointed sazawal for the assault on fort Ramsij.
On Wednesday, the 14th June/18th Jamad. S., Muhammad
‘Azam Shah was given leave to march towards Bijapur. A
robe, two horses, an elephant, a muttaka, a kalgi, a punchi
and an arsi were presented to him. Bidar Bakht was given a
robe, a horse and an elephant, and sent with his father.
Muhammad Panih, adopted son of the Shah (‘Azam) got
an emerald parkhanah. Shamsuddin Khan and other sub-
ordinates of the Prince were rewarded. Sharif Khan became
Sadr-of Hindustan vice Qalich Khan. Yaswant Rao Deccani
was made a 4-hazari (same tr.) and given a jewelled arsi.
‘Abdullah, ‘Abdul Hadi, and ‘Abdul Biqi, sons of Iftikhir
Khan came to Court after their father’s death and received
mourning robes.

On Monday, the 26th June/1st Rajab, news reached the
Emperor that on the 16th Hifiz Muhammad Amin Khan,
Subahdar of Ahmadabad, had died. He was endowed with
uprightness, greatness, goodness of speech, and devotion to
the Emperor. He had a wonderful memory. During his
Subahdari of Ahmadabad he succeeded in memorising the
Qurin, in a very short time. Mukhtar Khan replaced him
as Subahdir [220] of Ahmadabad, Khin Zamin becoming
that of Malwa in his place. Mughal Khan was ordered to
. ‘stay in Burhanpur in the place of Khin Zaman. Muftakhar
Khan, son of Fakhar Khan became qariwwal begi wvice
.Qamruddin Khan, son of Mukhtar Khan, while the latter
accompanied his father. Atish Khan became Mir Tuzuk
vice Silih Khan. Kanhoji Deccani interviewed  the
Emperor and was made a 5-hazari (same tr.). Qn Fﬁfigy,
the 18th August, 1682/24th Shaban, Khan _]ahan_B_lal a Illlé
Zafar Jang Kokaltash came from Gu]shanabad [Nasik] a
had audience. He received a special robe, 2 jewelled ‘ggge}‘é
and fourteen trays of food from the royal table. : I?éyl
Munawwar Khan was sent to Burhanpur vice Mughal Khan.
Mir ‘Abdul Karim, son of Amir Khan, sarbart of khaygase}f,
a favourite of the Emperor, became darogha of the
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ja-namazkhanah vice ‘Abdul Qadir, son of Hafiz Ibrahim,
Ikhlis-kesh, news-writer, one of the disciples of Mulla
‘Abdullah Sialkoti, was given this special name on Sunday,
when he was converted to Islam and made mushrif of the
purchase department [221]



CHAPTER XXVI
26TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1093 A. m.

24th August, 1682—13th August, 1683

* * ® *

On Friday, the 25th August/2nd Ramzan, Hamiduddin
Khan, son of Mirza Abu S‘aid, brother’s son of Nur Jahin
Begam, was sent as faujdar of Mungi-Pattan, vice Karam-
ullah Khan deceased. The sons of the deceased received
robes. On Monday, the 28th August/5th Ramzan,
gracious robes for Yaqut Khan and Khairiyat Khan, faujdar
of the country of Danda Rajpuri, were entrusted to
Bahramand Khan. On the 30th, Kban Jahan Bahadur
Kokaltash was sent to Gulshanibad with a special robe, a
kamarband, a horse, and an elephant. Jagdeo Rai, brother
of Jadav Rai Deccani, had audience and received a robe. On
Saturday, the 2nd September/10th Ramzan, Muhammad
Taqi, son of Dirab Khan, was married to Bahramand
Khan’s daughter, and received a robe, a horse, and a pearl
sahra. Salih Khan, son of ‘Azam Khan deceased, became
mir bakhshi of the dhadis vice Shihabuddin Khan. Sayyid
Yusuf, one of the sons of Mir Sayyid Muhammad Gisudaraz
[222], was given leave to go to-Gulbarga, and presented
with a female elephant. All the servants at the Court and
the provinces received robes for the rains. On Mozzgiay , the
18th September/26th Ramzan, Muhammad Mu‘izzuddin
came from Burhanpur and had audience, receiving 2 robe.
Ranmast Khan, brother of Khizir Khan Pani, Daud Khan
and his brother Sulaiman Khan interviewed an_d _recelved
robes. Sayyid Mubiarak Khan, giladar of Daulatiabad, came
to Court and later went back. Lutfullah Khan becage
darogha of the imperial retinue and khas chaukz.d (ﬁl ‘iz?
28th September/6th Shawwal, Prince Muhamma ufter
zuddin was sent to punish the rebels near Ahmad{:{igalr A tz:zka
being given a robe, a pearl necklace, an emerald mu e
a powerful horse, and an increment of a hazlcgl troo]%éué
making him a 8-hazari (6,000 tr.). Ranmast ﬂaim, g
Khan,. Ghaznafar Khan and other subordmate.tc})1 Cgv o
servants (of the Prince) were sent away With TEWEIGS:

18
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Sharif Khan, Sadr died on Wednesday, the 4th October /12th
Shawwal. His sons, Muhamiad ’Adil ar}d Muhammad
Silih, received robes of mourning. Shaikh Makhdum
munshi became chief Sadr, and Muhammad Salih Kambuh
peshdast of the Sadr wvice Mir Husain. Sarddr Tarin
became faujdar of Shiwgdon. ‘Azizullah Khan brother of
Ruhullah Khan became Mir Tuzuk wvice Mubhammad Yair
Khan. Ikhlas-kesh became mushrif of Ja-namaz-khanah,
[223] Hedayetullah, son-in-law of Khalifa Sultan, was sent
as diwan of Delhi. Shukrullah Khan became faujdar of
Sikandarabad and XKamil Khan that of Saharanpur,
Muhammad Masih, son of Himmat Khan, became Mir
Tuzuk vice Sildh Khan. On the 23rd October/2nd Zil. Q.,
the Emperor learnt that ‘Inayet Khan faujdar of Ajmir
had died. On Thursday, the 2nd November/12th Zil. Q.,
Hamida Banu Begam, mother of Ruhullah Khan died.
The Emperor graciously sent Muhammad Kam Bakhsh and
Ashraf Khan, Mir Bakhshi, to Ruhullah’s house to condole
with him and bring him to Court. Robes were given to him
and to his brothers. Zinatunnisi Begam visited his house
by, command.

On Tuesday, the 5th December /15th Zil. H., Kamyab
Khan was appointed bakhshi of the Deccan and sent to the
army of Khan Jahan Bahadur. Sayyid Muhammad, sister’s
son of Hafiz Muhammad Amin Khan deceased, came from
Ahmadabad and had audience, receiving a robe, Subhin-
wardi, son of Yalangtosh Khan Bahidur, from Delhi, had
interview, and received a robe. On Tuesday, the 26th
December /6th Muharram, Shihabuddin Khan was appointed
in his absence-: darogha of the macebearers vice Mukarram
%(h:.m. Sayyid Ughlan acted as his deputy. Muhammad

Ali Khan, Khan-i-simin, owing to great weakness fell
down from the kathra; the Emperor gave him a phial of
rose-water, bid-i-mishk and a few pomegranates, The
building of a fortified city-wall for Aurangabad had been
entrusted to [224] Thtamam Khan. ‘Abdul Qadir, son of
Amanat Khan guaranteed that he would complete it in four
months. On Saturday, the 20th January, 1683 /1st Safar,
Khan Jahin Bahadur came within three kos of Aurangibad
for interview, A robe was sent with his 'son Nasrat Khan
to convey to him the order that he should not come to have
interview, but must proceed towards Bidar, and stay there

*On p. 518 Khizir Kh. Pani is mentioned as Batanj,
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so that he might go in pursuit in whatever direction he
might hear of Akbar coming. On Tuesday, the 6th
February /18th Safar, Khan Jahin Bahidur reported to the
Emperor that the rebel Akbar, having come out of the
territory of Sambha, had fled away in 2 ship.

The Emperor ordered that mansabdirs. below two
hazaris must not wait to have the fatiha read when taking
leave of the Emperor, the exception to it being those officers
in whose case the Emperor would himself raise his hand to
bless them by means of the fatiha; and that dismissed Qazis
should not be reappointed Qazis.

On Thursday, the 22nd February/5th Rabi. A., Sildh
Khan was entrusted with one hundred Arab, ‘Iraqi, Turki
and Kachhi horses, a hundred camels, twenty mules, a tall
elephant, jewels worth 80,000 rupees, a robe worth 2,000
rupees and other dresses worth 14,000 rupees, for Muham-
mad ‘Azam Shah, robes for Bidir Bakht and Gaiti Ard
Begam, and robes for all their officers according to their
ranks ; and he was ordered to summon each of the comman-
ders separately for istighal, give him his robe; and after
making bows for the Emperor they were to go to the Prince.

On Wednesday, the 28th February/11th Rabi. A., by
command, Kam Bakhsh held audience in the old ghusal-
khanah [225] and conferred favours on the officers of the
Emperor and his own. Bahramand Khan was ordered to be
present whenever the Prince held Court, and to rqman!‘
standing. On Sunday, the 4th March, 1683 /15th Rabi. A.,
Kim Bakhsh was married to Azarm Banu, daughter of
Siadat Khan Safavi. Khidmatgir Khan conveyed to the
Prince’s house a special robe with half-sleeves woven with
pearls, and Khidmat Khan jewels worth two lakhs and
96,000 rupees. Five lakhs of rupees in cash, two Arab and
‘Iraqi horses, and an elephant were presented to the Emperor
(as salami). The knot was tied in the mosque in the presence
of the Qazi Shaikh-ul-Islam. After one prahar of night was
over, the Emperor himself placed a pearl sahra on the
Prince’s head ; and, by order, all the grandees formed a le_mc;
on foot from the deorhi of the ghusalkhdnah to the deorhi o
the mahal of Zinatunnisa and conducted the 1_)r1degroom. A
grand and joyous festivity marked the occasion.

i Husain

On Sunday, the 11th March/22nd Rabi. A,
Miana, one ofythe grandees of Bijapur, interviewed thE
Emperor, and was welcomed at the gate of the ghusalkhana
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by Atish Khan. At the time of interview Ashraf Khan from
the platform (chabutra) said ‘welcome’. He was granted
the rank of 5-hazari (same tr.), a banner, kettledrums, the
title [226] of Fath Jang Khan, and 40,000 rupees as in‘am.
His brothers and relatives got proper robes and ranks.

Man Singh, son of Rup Singh, faujdar of Mandal-Pur,
was given the faujdari of Badhnaur in addition, vice Dalpat.
Udwat Singh, son of Maha Singh Bhadauriya, got the title
of Raja on his father’s death. Saif Khan, the dismissed
Subahdar of Bihiar, reached Court,on the 8th March, 1683/
19th Rabi. A. As he had taken out of the treasury of the
province 56,000 rupees without the authorisation of the
Emperor, he was refused audience. By order Mughal Khan
kept him confined in the guard-room of Bahramand Khan,
till the 3rd April/15th Rabi. S., when the money was made
good. Mukarram Khan, after deprivation of the fortune of
audience, was honoured with.an interview on Saturday, the
31st March 12th Rabi. S.; Khusrau Beg the slave brought
the property of Hafiz Muhammad "Amin Khan deceased
from Ahmadabad to the Court : seventy, lakhs of rupees and
onie lakh and thirty-five thousand ashrafi and Ibrahimi coins,
seventy-six elephants, 432 horses, 117 camels, 114 mules,
ten chests of Chinaware of all kinds, sixty carts (rahkala),
one maund of shot, 54 maunds of gunpowder,

On Saturday, the 21st April/4th Jamad. A., the
Emperor learnt that Durjan Singh Hada had taken Bundi
by siege. On the 25th Muhammad Sharif ambassador of
the king of Bukhara, had audience and received a robe.
Bakhshi-ul-mulk [227] Ruhullah Khan reached the Court
from the Konkan expedition and received a robe, a jewelled
dagger, and an Arab horse. ‘Azizullah Khan his brother,
Navqﬁzish Khan Rumi, and Akrim Khan Deccani, each
received a robe and an elephant. Sayyid ‘Abdullah of Barha
alias Sayyid Miin, one of- Ruhullah’s subordinates and a
servant of Shah ‘Alam, a hazari (600 tr.) received a mansab
in the imperial service (zabita). Sayyid Nur Muhammad of
Barha got the title of Sayyid Khan and Sayyid Muzaffar,
one of the grandees of Haidarabid whom Abul Hasan
Qutbulmulk had imprisoned through the prompting of his
all-powerful minister Madanna Brahman, and who had been
released from prison by the imperial ambassador at the
instance pf the Emperor, arrived at the Court. On the day
of interview he received a special robe and a jewelled dagger.
His two sons got high mansabs and the titles of Asilat Khan
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and Najabat Khan. On the 9th May/22nd Jamad, A. i
Singh, brother of Chhatra Singh, Za/mindéz' of Gafhé,}gé
audience, and received a robe ; Sayyid Ahmad, brother of the
ruler of Barbary (maghrib-zamin), came to the Emperor and
was highly favoured, receiving a robe, a jewelled dagger,
and 5,000 rupees. Mughal Khan was appointed to extirpate
Durjan Singh. Anirudh Singh, grandson of Bhio Singh
Hada, was sent to Bundi, after receiving a robe, a horse, an’
elephant and kettledrums, [228] Udwat Singh, son of Maha
Singh Bhadauriya, Sayyid Muhammad ‘Ali, sister’s son of
Hafiz Muhammad Amin Khan deceased, Khwija Bahi-
uddin, son-in-law of Sulaimin Shukoh, and others, after
being rewarded with robes, horses and elephants, were
appointed to accompany the aforesaid Khan. On Monday,
the 21st May/4th Jamad. S., Ayyub Beg, ambassador of
Kashghar, was dismissed after being presented with a robe,
a dagger and 2,000 rupees.

Khwaja *Abdur Rahim was appointed envoy to Bijapur
and received a robe, a horse, and 1,000 rupees. Sayyid
‘Abdullah was restored to his title of ‘Izzat Khan and
appointed diwan of the army of Muhammad ‘Azam Shah.
Dilir Khan, Fath Jang Khan and others, who had been
appointed to the Bijapur expedition, were ordered to stay at
Court till the arrival of Muhammad ‘Azam Shah. Kishordas,
son of Manohardas Gaur, became giladar of Sholapur.
Shihabuddin Khan having come from the side of Junnar,
interviewed. . )

On Friday, the 29rd June/l4th Rajab, Princes
Muhammad Mu‘izzuddin from Zafarabad |Bidar] and
Muhammad ‘Azim from Burhanpur, arrived and had
audience, Prince Muhammad Raf‘i-ul-qadr showed a pxec§
of nastaliq writing of his own, and received a sarpech 1?
ruby. On Sunday, the 15th July/30th Rajab, when the
41st year of Shah ‘Alam Bahadur’s life began, he was5 Iilgd
sented with a jewelled turban-end worth one lakh andNf o
rupees. ‘The Emperor learnt that the great scholar 1 dl':l da
‘Abdullah, son of Mulla ‘Abdul Hakim Sialkoti had 1‘?&;
The Emperor [229] favoured his four sons and WlldoW W%th
robes and increase of stipend. This prince of scho ars,f;wr)
all his learning was strongly inclined towards PLEtY (1 dq o
and had secular learning united with spiritual know in%; -
The Emperor, who recognised wisdom and sanctity, "
the true value of such men, and,“’hﬂe he was Etaymgthe
Ajmir, wrote him a letter with his own hand, -offering
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sadrship to him. And that intimate courtier, Bakhtawar
Khan, who on account of his friendship with scholars’ and
hermits was the- intermediary of their applications to the
Emperor, was ordered to write to the Mulld on his own
behalf giving him a hint of this matter. After the farman
and the letter had been received, the Mulld wrote in reply
to the Khan ‘‘(The present) is the time of separation, (from
the world) and not a time for acquiring fame in this world.
In obedience to the Emperor’s command, I am going to the
Court and shall secure the blessing of visiting the tomb of
Khwaja Mu‘inuddin and interviewing the Emperor’’. The
Emperor liked these words from this chief of wise men. - As
he had written, he came to Ajmir and stayed at Court for
some days, constantly enjoying the Emperor’s company.
After performing the pilgrimage to the saint’s tomb he
returned home with the Emperor’s consent, and died there
(shortly) afterwards.

[230] The Emperor learnt that Prince- Muhammad
‘Azam Shah, who had been summoned to the Presence from
the bank of the Nir4, had arrived by forced marches, inspite
of the excess of rains and abundance of mud, and that on
account of the lack of porters he had brought only a small
tent. The Emperor ordered one of his own tents to be
pitchied . (for the Prince) near the mosque of the ‘Idgih. In
the evening the Emperor learnt that on the way while the
Prince was coming on horseback, the elephant of Fath Jang
Khan turned mad, charged the troops, and approached the
Shah. He shot an arrow at it; it came nearer. His horse
sl}led; dismounting he faced the elephant and hit its trunk
with his sword. By this time his retinue, who had been
scattered, gathered together and slew the elephant with
blows. Prince Muhammad Kam Bakhsh and Ruhullah
Khan went (by order) immediately and presented (to the
Prince) 4,000 rupees from the Emperor, 500 mohars from
Kam Bakhsh and 100 mohars and 1,000 rupees-on behalf
of Ruhullah. - The Prince Kim Bakhsh departed after one
quarter of the day and four hours. Next day, when the
interview with the Emperor was to take place, the Prince
}v_lth all the grandees down to hazaris, advanced to meet
Azam. Every one made presents according to his rank.
By command, ‘the Shih reached the citadel, playing joyous
music from his own camp. Prince Bidir Bakht had also
the honour of being received in audience. [231] As the

hah’s mansion (haveli) was out of repair, he was permitted
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to live in the apartments close to the old hall of audience
till its repair. Muhammad Salim Aslam, a servant of
the Emperor wrote a long masnavi on this incident,
[omttted]] R

[234] Rashid Khan reported to the Emperor that His
Majesty had ordered fifty-two ‘lakhs of rupees spent in
Gauhati to be recovered from the Amir-ul-umara; but the
latter had written that in all seven lakhs of rupees only were
spent; the balance of the amount was. the price of the
materials previously sanctioned as subsidy in aid of the
Bengal administration. The Emperor ordered only that
amount to be recovered from him. On Thursday, the 26th
July, 1683, a parastir (servant-girl) bore a son to the Shih
[‘Azam], who presented 1,000 mohars to His Majesty ; the
child was named Wala-jah. Haiji Shaf‘i Khan was sent to
superintend and ascertain the revenue of the new territories
conquered for the Emperor by Khan Jahan.

Qazi Haidar, Shiv3ji’s munshi, came to the Emperor
for service ; he was given a robe, ten thousand rupees, and
the rank of 2-hazari. Hakim Muhasan Khan by command
came to the Court with the treasure convoy of Delhi, and was
released from the imprisonment of punishment. Mirzi
Sadruddin got the title of Khan and the faujdari of Ramgir.
On the 27th July/12th Shaban, the Emperor was shown a
jewelled necklace (hir), a pearl arsi, and two elephants,
which Qutb-ul-mulk had sent to Khan Jahédn and the latter
to the Court. On the 5th August/21st Shaban [235] the
Emperor visited the guard-room of Muhammad ‘Azam Shah
situated within the fort of Aurangabid. The Prince received
as present a ring worth 275 rupees, Jahinzeb Banu Begam a
pearl necklace and ruby pendent worth 14,000 rupees, Gaiti-
Ard Begam, daughter of the Shih, a pearl necklace worth
19,000 rupees, Bijapuri Mahal a jewelled wristlet (karah)
worth 2,200 rupees. The Shih presented as peshkash
two lakhs; 98,400  rupees, which the Emperor graciously
accepted. Ranmast Khan got the title of Bahidar Khan.
On Monday, the 13th August/29th Shaban, a letter fvag
received from Mughal Khan stating that he had assali) te
Bundi with lightning speed; arrows and bullets hadd Eeﬁ
showered for three prahars; at last Durjan Singh had fle
away under cover of the darkness of the night. T hereupog
Anirudh Singh had entered Bundi with his own troops an

other officers of the Emperor.
A————————r



CHAPTER XXVII
27TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1094 A. H.

14th August, 1683—1st August, 1684

* * & %

[236] The Emperor spent the month of Ramzan in the
mosque of the palace, in doing deeds of charity.

On Monday, the 20th August/7th Ramzan, Muham-
mad ‘Azam Shah was sent on the Bijapur expedition, after
being presented with a robe, a sarpech, a jewelled dagger,
an elephant, 100 horses, and two lakhs of rupees.. Bidar
Bakht was presented with a robe, a sarpech, a kalgi, a
dagger, and an elephant and sent with his father. Sayyid
Sher Khan, Ikhlas Khan, Kamailuddin Khan and others
appointed to the army of the Prince were varjously favoured.
On Friday, the 17th August, 1683/4th Ramzan, a letter
was received from Ibrzhim Khan, Subahdir of Kashmir,
stating that through the exertions of his son Fidai Khan,
the land of Tibet was conquered from its zamindar Dalai
and added to the Empire. The Emperor ordered his courtiers
to make their bows for the conquest and the music of joy to
be played. The Khan was rewarded for the victory with an
increment of 2-hazari tr., making him a B-hazari (same tr.
2,000 do-aspa) one kror of dam as in‘am, the despatch of a
farman full of praise.and the presentation of a~special robe,
a jewelled phul katara dagger with pearl “iliga worth 7,000
rupees; an Arab horse worth 200 mohars with gold sdz and
an elephant from the Emperor’s own stable worth 15,000
rupees. His duteous son [237] from a T7-sadi (400 tr.)
became a hazdri (700 tr.) and was presented with a special
fob_e,_a sword wrought with gold, with enamelled saz, an
Iragi horse with gold sdz, worth 100 mohars, and an
elephant worth 11,000 rupees.

Atish Khan went by command to the army of
Muhammad ‘Azam Shah and brought to Court Muham-
mad Hadi, son of Mir Khan. He was at first kept in the
custody of Ruhullah Khan and then in that of Salibat Khan.
On Friday, the Tth September /25th Ramzan, he was ordered
to be imprisoned in the fort of Daulatabid,
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" On the 15th September/3rd Shawwal, as commanded
by His Majesty, the advance-tents of Shih ‘Alam Bahidur
came out of Aurangdbad, playing sweet music, with the
object of extirpating the enemy in the direction of Konkan
and Ramdarah and other lands of the Marathas.

Dilir Kbhan Afghin died of severe illness. He had
fought well in many battles. He was a powerfully built man
and of great strength. He had a wonderful appetite, control
over his clansmen, and good luck all through his life.

I shall now give some description of the tombs of the
saints of the Faith and the village of Ellori. FEight kos
from Aurangabid and three kos from the fort of Daulatabad
are the blessed tombs of Shaikh Burhinuddin, Shaikh Zain-
ul-Haq, Shaikh Muntakhabuddin Zar-bakhsh, Mir Hasan
[238] of Delhi, Sayyid Raju, father of Mir Sayyid Muham-
mad Gisudariz and other knowers of God, many of whom
were followers of Nizamuddin Aulia. These are places of pil-
grimage to the world. These holy men came to this country
and repose here, through the exertions of Muhammad Shah
Malik Jun3, son of Tughlag, who considered the fort of
Deogiri the centre of his kingdom, named it Daulatabad,
wished to make it his capital, and removed the people of
Delhi with their families to this place.

A short distance from here is a place named Ellora
where in ages long past, sappers possessed of magical skill
excavated in the defiles of the mountain spacious houses for
a length of one kos. On all their ceilings and walls many
kinds of images with lifelike forms have been carved. The
top of the hill looks level, so much so that no sign of the
buildings within it is apparent (from ,outsu;e)_. In ancient
times when the sinful infidels had dominion over this
country, certainly they and not demons (jinm)* were the
builders of these caves, although tradition differs on the
point ; it was a place of worship of the tribe of false believers.
At present it is a desolation in spite of its strong founda-
tions ; it rouses the sense of warning (of docm) to those whg
contemplate the future (end of things). In all seasons, lat}
particularly in the monsoons, when this hill and the plain
below resemble a garden in the luxuriance of its Veget&itlon
and the abundance of its water, people come to see the place.

o
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A waterfall a hindred yards in width tumbles down from
the hill. It is a marvellous place for strolling, charming to
the eye. Unless one sees it, no written description can
correctly picture it. How then can my pen adorn the page
of my narrative ? [239]. .

THE EMPEROR’S MARCH FROM AURANGABAD 10
AHMADNAGAR

On Friday, the 12th October, 1683/1st Zil. Q., the
Emperor reached Karnpurd. The sound of artillery struck
the ears of the enemy. Muhammad ‘Azam Shah and Bidar
Bakht who had come to the Emperor were sent to Gulshana-
bad [Nasik] on Tuesday, the 80th October/19th Zil. Q.,
with robes, sarpech, elephant, and a short sword (nimchah).
Pam Nayak, zamindar of Sagar, interviewed and received
a robe, a.sword and a dagger. The zamindiri of Chinda
was transferred from Ram Singh to Kishan Singh.

On Tuesday, the 13th November/3rd Zil. H., the
Emperor arrived at the earthen fort of Ahmadnagar, built
by Dilir Khan. Qazi Shaikh-ul-Isldm, son of Qazi ‘Abdul
Wahhab; was seized by a longirig for God, on account of his
merit and natural godliness. He decided to renounce the
world, and though the Emperor pressed him not to resign
the Qaziship for which such men are pre-eminently fit, he
did nof recoil from his purpose. The Emperor had to assent.
At the recommendation of that favoured holy man, he gave
the Qaziship of ‘thé imperial camp to Sayyid Abu S‘aid,
son-in-law of Qazi ‘Abdul Wahhab. He came from Delhi,
had his interview, and received a robe, a sword, and a
dagger. - \

On Tuesday, the 20th November/10th Zil. H.,
Muhammad Khalil [240], envoy of the king of Shahr-nau,
interviewed, receiving a robe and 1,000 rupees. The
agents of the zamindar of Srirangpatan arrived with
peshkash and received 200 rupees. Sayyid Ughlan was
appointed tutor of Kam Bakhsh. Muhammad Silik, Qazi
of Aurangibid, became Qazi of Delhi, and Muhammad
Akram, mufti of the Emperor’s camp, took his place as
Qizi of Au;-anga_bifi.’ Mir- “Abdul Karim, became amin of
the seven chaukis in addition to the-daroghaship of the ja-
namaz-khinah. Sarbuland Khan (originally Khwiaja Y¢4qub)
was sent to chastise the rebels near Bahidurgarh. Kamgar
Khan +became akhta begi vice Mughal Khan; Shuja‘et
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Khan, son of Qawamuddin Khan, Mir Atish; and

Khan bakhshi of the ahadis. At midnight, on Tli\é[:;al);b
the 18th December/9th Muharram, Ruhullah Khan was
sent to punish the enemy near the river Nird and Bahramand
Khan towards Ashti. M‘amiur Khan, who had got the title
of Dilir Khan, attacked the enemy and gained a victory,
being rewarded with a robe, & farman, a tugh, and a banner.
On Monday, the 24th December, 1683/15th Muharram,
Shihabuddin Khan, who had repeatedly defeated the enemy
in severe fights was created Muhammad Ghiziuddin Khan
Bahadur. [241] His brother, Muhammad ‘Arif, got the
title of Mujahid Khan, and Muhammad Sidiq Khosti that
of Sidiq Khan, while robes, elephants, horses and promo-
tions were granted to Dalpat Bundela, Raja Udwat Singh and
other subordinates of the Khan according to their respective
ranks. Mir Hashim, servant of ‘Azam Shah, brought to the
Emperor the Prince’s letter announcing the birth of a som,
and 1,000 mohars as nazar. The child was named Zi-jah,
and presented with a cap woven with pearls, a jewelled
chashmak, and'a pearl string (lari). The Mir got a robe
and 500 rupees.

News came that the enemy had spread near Pattan.
At midnight Bahramand Khan received a quiver and bow
- and (set off to) carry out the ordet (to beat them away). On
Sunday, the 27th January, 1684/19th Safat, a letter was
received from Khan Jahan Bahadur, stating that t}le enemy
had gathered together on the bank of the Krishna; he had
hastened from a distance of thirty kos, and after a severe
fight slain countless infidels, and captured their property
and women. - A farméan was sent to him in praise of his deed.
. Of his sons Muzaffar Khan got the title of Himmat Kh::}l_lﬂ,=
Nasrat Khan that of Sipahdir Khan, Muhammad Som'‘i
that of Nasrat Khan, Muhammad Baqa that of Muzaffar
Khan, and Jamiluddin Khan son-in-law of [Bahadur Kban]
and the son of ‘Azam Khan Kokah that of Safdar Khan.
‘Umdat-ul-Mulk Asad Khan [242], who had been (left) at
Ajmir, came to Court. On Saturday, the 2nd E eb‘f“‘”’}l’l/
2gth Safar, Bakhshi-ul-mulk Ashraf Khan advancedhto Zﬂf
door of the ghusalkhanah to welcome him. On the "
Muhammad ‘Azam Shah and Bidar Bakht had audience, 5'17 o
left for Bahidurgarh on Wednesday the 13th Fe})‘rt;lir%{/han
Rabi. A., after receiving_robes and jewels. Saldba

* Another text reads Shaf'i.
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having come from Naulakhah-Audh received a robe at inter-
view. Muluk Chand, diwdn of ‘Azam Shah, after receiving
a-robe was ordered to take with himself sixty elephants
which had been presented to the Prince. Sufi Bahadur came
from Kashghar in search of service, had interview, and
received a robe, a dagger band with gold saz, a sword, and
1,000 rupees. .
- On Tuesday, the 11th March, 1684/4th Rabi. S.,
Randaula Khan died. On Sunday the 16th/9th Rabi. S,,
Shukrullah Najam-i-Sani got the title of ‘Askar Khan,
Sayyid Ahsan, son of Khan-i-dauran, that of Ahsan Khan,
Muhammad Murad, son of Murshid Quli Khan, that of
Muhammad Murad Khan. On Monday, the 31st March/
24th Rabi. S., Ghaziuddin Khan Bahadur was sent towards
Punid and Garh-namuna, and presented with a quiver and
bow, 10,000 rupees and two maunds of gold. Qamruddin,
son of the daughter’s son of S‘adullah Khan deceased, got
his first mansab of 4-sadi (100 tr.}. On Saturday, the 5th
April /29th Rabi. S., Muhammad N‘aim became diwin of
Delhi. On: Sunday, the 20th April/15th Jamad. A.,
Bakhshi-ul-mulk Ruhullah Khan was appointed with a
strong force to reinforce Shah ‘Alam Bahadur. [243] With
him were sent 20,000 ashrafi, 100 horses, 500 camels,
twenty-five mules, for the Prince, and robes jewels,
elephants, and horses for the Prince’s sons and officers. On
the same day Muhammad ‘Azam Shah, Bidir Bakht, and
Wilajah were presented with robes, jewels, horses and
elephants, and sent away. Safi Khan was appointed to
guard the subah of Aurangibid. Bahramand Khan coming
from_ Gulshanibad, interviewed and received an elephant.
ShuJi‘et__Khan gat the title of Saf Shikan Khan, a special
robe, a figha, a banner and a tugh, and was sent towards
Srirangpatan. One hundred and twelve servants of the
rebel Sambhi, who were imprisoned in the chabutra of the
ko‘twah,'were executed. Muhammad Yar, son of Dilir Khan
M‘amuri, got the title of M‘amur Khan and was sent to his
fathe;. On Sunday, the 11th May/6th Jamad. S., a daily
pension of eighty rupees was assigned to Sultin Wilzjah.
On Saturday, the 17th/12th Jamad. S., news was
brought by Khwaja Vakut of the birth of a son to Kam
Balt_h:sh; the Khwija got a robe, and the Prince a robe with
a balaband, and a jewelled turban-end, Haji Ism‘ail khis-
nawis, who hit upon the phrase ‘‘the son of Kam Bakhsh’’
as'giving the date of his birth, got a robe. The child was
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pamed Ummed Bakhsh, Shuji¢ i
Court in hope of service, andhl:iieci:eg{fﬁdarabadi came to
(same tr.) and the title Shuji‘et Khan e‘Ir%n'l‘{ of 3-hazari
sent with a strong force towards Zafzu:'ba]dtha'd‘Kh{m el
Mll:a]f Khan, faujdir of Jalandhar doa‘lb odar. [244]
Gujrat‘._ On Sunday, the 18th May 16?34,/fgcame that of
Shah, ‘Alam Bahadur from the Konkan had e
received a ;obe and jewels worth three lakhzudle;ce' oo
rugeel\z. His sons got robes and jewels. Ruk aﬁ th’OOO
?(nh unawwar Khan interviewed receivin bu N an
an, who had gone t ni g robes. Mughal
; g to back Anirudh Singh [of Bundi
andiroot out D}lr_]an Singh, came back victoriou |
audience, receiving a robe and praise H"'S ETey
%z:xdarabadl made his bow of service to the Ex;Jl -
T 2 o Bl o s T
- , bad audien ,
ﬁg IXGC?PtO.l' off Hafiz Muhammeadce}imliiedlvglzghe s\%i:rf
dd. min went from Agra to Kabul, h ] a
war Khan to present him to the Empero: froerq 1sfeersxt;i:ge Ba};lfm:a-
Efﬁts)entatlgl} he was given a mansab under Muﬁamm:;
" ﬁ?lzh‘ s ability made him rise to the post of dirogha
of toalll—;la]lzidtggle,;dtha:cr 1?rinc}e;. bAf’cer Akbar’s revolt he
d. ere he bragged of being a. hi
%Ersop connected with great amirs an§ %hus inﬂuen%eg E)guli
Wa;lsan and his ministers, and got the title of ‘Ain-ul-mulk.
Emen Qutb‘-ul-mulk had occasion to send an envoy to the
o lf)eror, Jtafar was appointed to the office on account of
'elsb alse pretensions. He had no help but to come on the
En;l assy. ‘l}t the audience Bakhtiwar Khan said to the
saidp?zr‘or, This man [245] is so and so.’’ 'The Emperor
AL ,See the mischievousness of Abul Hasan! He has sent
- mar s.officer as envoy to me.”’ J‘afar knew me and sent
- e;sage asking me to see-him. After beholding his
sgnint our, wealth and prodigality in the market as a buyer, 1
P o him to ask ““Why did you come here ?’ He said, ““The
”ere of seeing (old) friends brought me here.” I replied,
of ou have acted very ill.”" After two days the kotwal all
ang sudden went to his house, brought him to the chabuira,
o hconﬁscated his household furniture and slaves, with
uch cash. After a time he was given the rank of a 8-sadi
and was sent to Bengal.
B On Monday, the 30th June/27th Rajab, Zinat-un-nisa
K_gam came from Aurangibad to the Court. Muhammad
am Bakhsh, Siadat Khan and Kamgar Khan advanced
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to welcome her and conducted her to the imperial harem.
On Thursday, the 24th July /21st Shaban, 500 mohars were
presented to the Emperor by Muhammad ‘Azam Shah as
nazar for the birth of a son to the mother of Walajah. The
courtiers bowed. The child was named Walashan. On Fri.
day, the 1st August/29th Shaban, the Emperor learnt that
Mirzi Muhammad and Bihari Das, jeweller, who had gone
to Qutbulmulk, had received—the former 10,000 rupees,
an elephant, and an arsi, and the latter 8,000 rupees and an
elephant—and they had returned leaving the presents with
the ambassador. The Emperor ordered them to be returned
(to Qutbulmulk). An acknowledgment-receipt bearing the
seal of ‘Abdur Rahman qiladar of Bahadurgarh, for two
wives, one daughter, and three slave-girls' of the wretched
Sambha, .was placed before the Emperor. Khan Jahin
Bahadur Zafar-Jang Kokaltash, Dilir Khan, Ghiziuddin
Khan Bahadur, and other high grandees [246] and warriors
had up to this time captured from the enemy and added to
the Empire so many forts and mahals attached to them
that it would require a volume 'to give details about
them, * * *



CHAPTER XXVIII
28TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1095 A. m.

2nd August, 1684—21st July, 1685

* * ® *

The Emperor passed the whole month of Ramzan in
religious performances in the retreat of the mosque. On
Sunday, the 8rd August/2nd Ramzan Mughal Khan became
Subahdar of Malwa vice Khan Zaman deceased, and received
a robe, an elephant named Zulfigdr, and promotion to the
rank of 3%4-hazari (3,000 tr.). On the 6th/5th Ramzan
Siadat Khan was given the title of Mu‘azzam Khan, and
appointed Qush begi vice him, H3ji Shafi Khan became
commandant of Aurangabad vice Safi Khan, who was made
nizim of Agra vice Muhatasham Khan, who [247] was
made subahdir of Allahabad wice Saif Khan deceased.
Muhammad Tagqi, son of Darab Khan, Matlab Khan and
other relatives of Mukhtar Khan, Subahdag of Ahmadabad,
who were mourning- his death were graciously presented
with robes. ‘The family of Bani-Mukhtar is well-known to
the world for many excellent qualities. Mukhtar Khan was
pre-eminent among them and renowned for goodness of
every kind. ) X

ryin the afternoon, on Tuesday, the 19th August/18th
Ramzin, Qizi Abu S‘aid united Prince Mu‘izzuddin to
Sayyidunnisa Begam, daughter.of Mirzi Rustam son of
Mukarram Khan in the presence of the Emperor and Shﬁh
‘Alam Bahidur ; 1,000 rupees and a robe were p?esentﬁé y
His Majesty to the Qazi. News came of the deathof Kifdyet
Khan J*afar who was without mansab, at Delhi on Saturg?"
the 23rd August/22nd Ramzan, and of Saif Khan, Subahdar
of Allahabad, ou the 26th August. ‘ )

On'Monday, the 1st September/1st Shawwal, occuriig
the ‘Id-ul-fitr. * * * On Thursday, the 4th Septemberr/t :
Shawwal, Salibat Khan became mutasaddsi of uthehpo o
Surat wvice - Kartalb Khan Mahammad B";%: K“:l; o ‘;":j
appointed faujdar of Ahmadabad. Khanahza ban, o
of Himmat Khan, was made dirogha of the servants %(han
retinue, vice the former. Salih Khan sott of “Azam
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“Kokah became faujdir and diwan of Bareli. [248] His son
Nuruddin received a robe and accompanied him. Kamyab
became bakhshi of the archers vice him. VYalangtosh Khan
Bahadur who was enjoying an annual pension, received a
mansab on the 2nd September, 1684/2nd Shawwal.
Bahram, brother of J‘afar Khan, father of Bahramand
Khan, died at Delhi. To Umdat-ul-mulk Asad Khan,
sister’s son of the deceased, was presented a half-sleeve of
silk embroidery, which the Emperor took off from his own
person. Ashraf Khan condoled with Bakhshi-ul-mulk
Bahramand Khan and brought him to Court, where he
received a mourning robe.

On Monday, the 8th September/8th Shawwal, the
marriage entertainment of Mu‘izzuddin took place. He was
presented with a baladast khil‘at, precious jewels worth one
lakh and 50,000 rupees, a horse ‘with gold sdz, and an
elephant with silver siz. To Sayyidunnisi Begam were
presented jewels worth 67,000 rupees. After the maghrib
prayer, Shah ‘Alam Bahidur and other Princes with great
pomp conducted the bridegroom through a lane bordered by
lighted lamps from his own mansion to the imperial palace.
The Emperor placed a pearl sahra on the bridegroom’s head
with his own hands. The celebration was supervised by
Zinat-un-nisi Begam. After two pds the bride reached
the bridegroom’s house. On Sunday, the 21st September/
21st Shawwal, Ghaziuddin Khan Bahidur when sent
conquer fort Rahiri, [2497 received a special robe and five
horses. His~son Qamruddin received a sword, and other
officers robes. On Wednesday, the 8th October/9th Zil. Q.,
100 Turki and hill horses were sent to Muhammad ‘Azam
Shah as aid. Fakhruddin was sent as thinahdar of. Supi,
Abdul Hadi Khan as faujdir of Chakan and Marhamat
Khan, son of Namdir Khan thinahdir of Garh-Namuni.
On Saturday, the 25th October/26th Zil. Q., Bakhshi-ul-
mulk Ruhullah Khan, after being presented with a robe,
a dagger and a horse was sent to punish the enemy. Qasim
I‘(han, Muhammad Bad‘i of Balkh, Ilthimullah Khan, and

Abdur Rahman, officers of Shah ‘Alam Bahidur received
an increment of 1,000 troopers; Hayat Abdali, who had come
to Court from Qandahir, and other officers of the force were
favoured with promotion, robes, horses, elephants, swords
and jighas. Padamji, Ekkoji, Malhir and Rao Subhanchand,
sent b_y Ghizmdd_l_n Khin Bahidur, each received robes.
Shahzada Daulat-Afzi was presented with a ruby sarpech
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with a pearl pendant. Kifiyet Khan Hitim Be
appointed diwan of the subahs of the Deccan, ‘Iniyetgullvgﬁf
mushrif of the jewellery department and khil‘atkhinah,
became news-wnter and mustaufi of @ima. Sultan Ummed
Bakhsh, son of Kam Bakhsh, died on Sunday, the 2nd
November/4th Zil. H., [250] The Emperor visited the
Prince’s house to comsole him.

News came that Rim Singh, zamindir of Chinda, had
been defeated. by the imperial army; on Sunday, 2nd
November /4th Zil. H., he fled to the hills with 200 troopers,
leaving his family behind ; ‘Itigid Khan, Hamza Khan and
Kishan Singh entered Chanda. On Wednesday, the 19th
November /21st Zil. H., Rim Singh came to Chanda with
three men and wanted to enter his mansion. Murid Beg, a
servant of Kishan Singh, who was guarding the door, rose
t§ oppose him. Ram Singh stabbed him with a jamdhar,
but was himself attacked and slain by others. Murad Beg
died the next day. On Wednesday, the 8rd December /6th
Mubarram, the Emperor sent a robe, a farmd'n,'an.d an
elephant to Kishan Singh. A robe was sent to Hari Singh,
zamindir of Garha.

Biltun Beg, sister’s son of Qalich Khan, came from
Bukhard, and received a sword, a dagger with gold saz,
2,000 rupees and the rank of 6-sadi {200 tr.). ‘Abdul Qadir,
son-in-law of Mukhlis Khan deceased, who had wrested fort
Kondana from the enemy and entrusted it to ‘Abdul Karim,
reached the Court on Sunday, the 14th December/ 17th
Muharram. . By receiving an increment of 100 (50 tr.) he
became a 5-sadi (100 tr.). Ihtamim Khan Sardar Beg becamt;
dirogha of nawara vice Saifullah Khan. The daughter o
Sayyid Muzaffar Haidaribadi was married to Kamgaé
Khan, who received a robe. ‘Itigad Khan, who had returne
from Chanda to the Court, [251] became Qurbegi thes
Yalangtosh Khan, receiving a robe, an elephant gnh 5,,‘;
increment of 5-sadi (150 tr.) which made him a &-318:0
{400 tr.). Hayit Khan became dmin of the seven chawels v 1
Mir ‘Abdul Karim. Khidmatguzar Khan died; is s of
Muhammad Quli received a robe of mourning. His pos i
dirogha of the slaves and of the haltmg-l.)l,ac_efi (ma_néizi
yere given to Fath Mubammad and D08 Pypiy
Haidar munshi got the title of Kha;Iill- Khan: Haji Tsm'ail,

munshi and sadr, got the title of Fa ge, who

the head of the khushnavises (calligraphists) of the a
20
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used to ‘write the Emperor’s own farmans, got the title of
Raushan-raqm.,

On Sunday, the 28th ‘December, 1684/1st Safar,
Qizi Shaikh-ul-Islim begged permission to visit Mecca
and Medina. He was presented with a doshala of parm-
narm (soft downy wool) and the pamphlet Adab-i-ziarat.
A casket full of supplicatory letters to the Prophet was
entrusted to him, to be conveyed to the Prophet’s ‘tomb;
the casket was to be opened before the door of the latticed
enclosure of the sacred tomb, the pouch taken out and carried
inside the enclosure for being deposited below the hallowed
lintel. ‘

Suhrab Khan, son of Bargindiz Khan, was sent to
convey to the Bakhshi-ul-mulk Ruhullah Khan at Bijapur,
a big gun taking one maund balls, and three other guns
[252] taking 20 seer balls. ‘Itigad Khan was sent to
punish the rebels scattered near Parnir and Sangamnir.
Rashid Khan, peshdast of the khilsa office, was sent to
Indur for deciding the question of sowing the chena millet.*

The sons of Khan-i-Zaman after their father’s death
came to Court from Burhanpur, and received robes and
promotions. Atish Khan was sent towards Nawalgonda with
a strong force and a company of 500 troopers of Kam Bakhsh.
Hamiduddin, son of Thtamam Khan became dirogha of the
" khatam band-khanah vice his father. On the 22nd January,
1685 /26th Safar, news came that Ghaziuddin Khan Bahadu
had set fire to the petia at the foot of fort Rahiri, slain many
of the infidel chiefs, plundered their money and things, taken
possession of the women, seized their cattle, and gained a
great victory. Sayyid Ughlian, who brought this joyous
news, received an elephant. Shih Muhammad, chobdar of
Ghaziuddin Khan Bahiadur, who had come from the Khan
without change of dress, received a robe and two hundred
rupees. ‘The Khan was created Firuz Jang and presented
with kettle-drums. More than one hundred and fifty robes
were sent for his officers, high and low. On Thursday, the
29th January/4th -Rabi. A., Khanahzid Khan went to
Aurangabad to bring the Emperor’s consort (parastir)
Udipuri Mahal. [253] On Wednesday the 4th February/
10th Rabi. A., winter robes were presented to all imperial
servants at Court and the provinces. )

...* The printed text has been corrected from the MS. Chena is a kind of
millet, panicnm miliaceum, Indur, now named Nizamabad, is a district soutlt
of the junction of the Manjera and the Godavari,
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DEATH OF BAKHTAWAR KHAN

On Monday, the 9th February, 1685/15th Rabi.
jakhtawar Khan ddrogha of the khawises d/ied, after tlhiﬁ;
ears of service. His Majesty was very sorry to hear of the
leath of this confidential companion, wise minister, and
iighminded man. By his order the bier was brought near
he ‘adalat-gah; the Emperor himself acted as Imim,
ollowed the bier a few steps, read the fatiha, distributed
ilms, and had the whole Quran read, and the corpse sent to
the tomb which the deceased had previously built at Delkhi.
He was a great friend of scholars, hermits, and poets and
tried to further their desires. He was an expert in the
classic style and knowledge of history, wrote the Mirat-ul-
‘alam, and was unrivalled in good breeding and benevolence
to mankind. Yalangtosh Khan Bahadur succeeded him as
dirogha of the khawases, Hakim Muhasan Khan as darogha
of the jewellery department and Mir Hedayetullah as that of
the gold-ware. I, Muhammad Siqi, the author of this
history, was the diwin and munshi of Bakhtiwar Khan,
and used to show to the Emperor for correction the drafts
of secret orders written by him. [254] The Emperor kindly
took me into his service and immediately made me news-
writer of Thursdays. * * *

DEATH OF DARBAR KHAN NAZIR.

On Thursday, the 26th February, 1685 /2nd Rabi. S.,
Darbir Khan superintendent (nazir) of the harem (mahal)
died. He.was an old, high-minded, and benevolent officer,
devoted to His Majesty, who similarly ordered his bier to
be brought and himself acted as Imim at the funera] prayer.
The corpse was sent to Delhi. (In succession to him)
Khidmat Khan became ndzir, in addition to holding his pos‘;
of (darogha of) petitions, and Shaikh ‘Abdullah, son o
Shaikh Nizim, became superintendent of the medl.c_all stigiesli
Onu Saturday, the 14th March/18th Rabi. S., Shuja‘et ?)e
Haidarabadi died. His son Malik Miran received 2 ro

and a mansab. e s 1

On Monday the 16th/20th Rabi. S., Ruhgllah Slgﬁg
¥as sent to punish the enemy near Bijapur anc PO,
with a special robe, a jewelled kalgi, and silver

ims.  With him were sent two and a halii1 131;%?1 gf :;%‘Zecsﬁ
2 jigha with diamond parkhanah, and a.n; of pearls for

for (“Azam) Shah, a necklace of two stri
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Jahinzeb Banu Begam, a jewelled muttaka for Bidar Bakht,
n smarami for Walajah, a pearl necklace do-lari for
Wailashin and [25%] thirty-two robes for Sarafriz Khan,
Fath Jang Khan, Kanhoji, Basant'Rao, an'd others. On
Saturday, the 21st March, 1685/25th Rabi. S., Wafadar
Khan grandson of S*aid Khan Babadur, was given the title
of Zabardast Khan and sent as envoy to Balkh, with the
reward of a robe, a dagger, a sword, a shield with jewelled
sdz, a jewelled jigha, a quiver, a bow, a horse, an elephant,
10,000 rupees, and an increment of 5-sadi (100 tr.). An
elephant valued at 18,000 rupees and other presents and
precious things were sent to Subhdn Quli Khan along with
him. Shafqatullah, who had the title of Saziwar Khan,
was given pardon for his fault, and made the second
mir-tuzuk,

Khujistah Akhtar coming from Aurangabad, had
audience on Monday, the 23rd March/27th Rabi. S.,
receiving a robe and a jewelled bracelet (bazuband). Khwija
‘Abdur Rahim returned from the embassy to Bijapur, and
received a robe, an elephant, and 5,000 rupees. Mir ‘Abdul
Karim in addition to I})xis post at the ja-namaz-khanah, got
the darogha-ship of nagqash-khanah. I became mushrif of
this department. On Thursday the 26th March/1st
Jamad. A., Firuz Jang Bahadur had audience and received
a special robe, a jewelled dagger, five horses and seven
tolahs of rose-‘attar.

The Emperor learnt that on Friday, the 27th
March/2nd Jamad. S., the siege of Bijapur had begun.*
Khan Jahin Behadur Zafar Jang had begun to dig
entrenchments [256] from the side of Zuhrapur, at
a distance of half a kos, and Ruhullah Khan and Qasim
Khan at a distance of a quarter kos from the fort walls.

~ A courier brought the message that on Tuesday, the
14th April, 1685/20th Jamad. A., the Rithors had cagtured
fort Siwanah. Purdil, son of Firuz Khan Miwati, was slain
with many men, Sharza Bijapuri boldly advanced towards
the army of Muhammad ‘Azam Shih on the bank of the
Tungabhadri river. After a severe fight and losing many
men, he fled. On Sunday the 12th April /18th Jamad. A.,
a slave came from Muhammad Akbar to the Emperor with
two horses as peshkash, He was refused audience but

* ) -
Show.Actu':ﬂly four days later than this date, on 1st April, as the dkhbarat
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cmpmanded_ to go to the deorlii of the Lady -Nawwab
(Zinat-un-nisd). On -Thursday, the 23rd April/29th
Jamad. A., Sarbuland Khan (Khwija Y‘aqub) died.

DESCRIPTION OF THE CITY AND FORT OF AHMADNAGAR

The fort of Ahmadnagar is situated oma plain; for
giving it firmness and strength, the foundation of this hill-
like fort has been sunk to the lowest stratum of the earth.
It would not be wrong to say that this nail of the hill had

"been inserted to prevent earthquakes. Around the fort is
a champaign. Within the fort are buildings and fresh
gardens, under which cellars of great rarity have been built.
Around the fort is a deep ditch ever full of water. Two
canals come into the fort from outside. [257] The city of
Ahmadnagar is situated a quarter kos from the fort; it has
no defensivé wall. Formerly it was without an equal for
its buildings, the abundance of canal water in every house,
and the extent of habitation. The late Danishmand Khan,
who had passed some time here when he was a merchant,
used to say that Ahmadnagar excels Kashmir i many
points. In the environs of the city are the gardens of
Farah-bakhsh and Bihisht-bagh, which present a wonderful
spectacle. They were built by Saldbat Khan during the
period of the insanity of Murtaza Nizimulmulk, in his
name. In order to preserve their memory I shall give the
length and breadth of these two gardens and a description
of their buildings which are rare. -

The garden of Farah-bakhsh is 2000 zir‘a in length and
breadth (alike) which makes (the area) 278 bighas. In the
middle of it is a reservoir 528 zira (square), which makes
the area 19 bighas. An underground channel brings water
to it from the foot of the hill. In the centre of the reservoir
is a lofty and wonderful building in two storeys, having
160 hujra (rooms) and a high cupola. Archgrs. practise
shooting at its summit. Bihisht-bigh is 812 zir‘a in length
and breadth alike which makes the area 100 bighas. In the
middle is an octagonal reservoir, which is also fed with canal
water. In the centre is a building now in ruins. On the bank
of the reservoir are a charming building and a neat Turkish
bath, fit for the residence of elegant pelople. , : )

i om the fort is a halting place (manzu),
knowli;“;es {\zdt):njf:r Samba’ or Manzil Saba. I/t is said that a
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high building has been constructed in the waist of the hill.
The fountain of the garden leaps up of itself incessantly to a
height of 100 yards, through the force of the water that
comes from a spring in the hill. The Emperor [258] visited
this ‘“flower of the earth’’ and ordered the ruined houses to
be repaired. The tomb of Saldbat Khan situated on the top
of the hill, is a wonderful building. The climate of this
tract is not very hot; at night one has to use coverlets.

THE EMPEROR’S MARCH FROM AHMADNAGAR TO SHOLAPUR

On Sunday, the 26th April, 1685/2nd Jamad. S., the
imperial camp moved from Ahmadnagar, on an auspicious
day and hour, and was pitched near the Farah-bakhsh
garden. On Wednesday, the 29th April/5th Jamad. S., the
Emperor went there. '

On the 30th.Sayyid Ughlan got the title of Siadat
Khan. This noble-minded Sayyid, the tutor of Firuz
Jang Khan, had come to Hindustin from Persia (vilayat)
with him, and had the fortune of being enrolled in the
Emperor’s service, and rose to homour and high position
through the Emperor’s fayvour. .

Qazi Sayyid Abu Sa‘id, owing to some ailments, begged
hard to resign his high office, [added from ms.]. Arjunji,
uncle’s son of Sambha was made a 2-hazari (1000 tr.) and
presented with a robe and a horse. ‘Izzatullah Khan was
appointed giladar of Ahmadnagar. On Friday, the 1st
May/2nd Jamad. S., Firuz Jang Bahadur was sent to stay,
at Ahmadnagar and presented with an- amulet containing
the Quran, a special robe, and 20,000 rupees. His com-
panions were rewarded with robes and daggers. Khwija
‘Abdullah [259] son of Muhanimad Sharif, who had been
the Qazi of the Fimperor’s army before his accession, became
Qazi of the Court. On Saturday, the 23rd May/29th
Jamad. S., Qamruddin, son of Firuz Jang, got the title of
Khan. On Sunday, the 24th May/1st Rajab, the Emperor
reached Sholapur. °‘Itigdd Khan was sent towatds
Zafarabad {Bidar], receiving a special robe, a quiver, and
a bow; his followers got robes, swords, and horses.
Bahramand Khan was ordered to hasten toward Haidarabad.
On Saturday, the 30th May/7th Rajab, when Shah ‘Alam
Bahadur was coming to Court on horseback, a man ran
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towards him with an uplifted sword; he was seized and
made over to the Prince’s kotwal, by imperial command,

ARMY SENT UNDER SHAH ‘ALAM BAHADUR
AGAINST ABUL HASAN,

As the Emperor had ordered that Muhammad M‘asum
and Muhamma-d ]‘afar, servants of Haidaribid, who were
staying in the imperial camp as envoys, should lodge in the
quarters of Thtamdm Khan, kotwal, and that the letters
they wrote to Haidarabad and received from that place,
should be first shown to the Khan, and [260] that he
should report to the Emperor if he found anything worth
reporting, spies worked hard to get news (of the enemy).
As the time for the destruction of the Haidaribadi ruler
bhad come near, a letter from Abul Hasan reached his
servants, saying ‘‘His Majesty is a great man, and has
acted like the-great up to this time. But now that finding
Sikandar (‘Adil Shah) an orphan and powerless, he has
besieged Bijapur and pressed him hard, it is proper that,
besides the large army of Bijapur, Raja Sambhd should
exert himself with a countless host to aid this helpless king
from one side, .and I should appoint 40,000 tr. under the
command of Khalilullah Khan Palang-hamla to conduct the
war, and see on which side the Emperor can encounter .and
resist his many enemies. You, who have been detained
near the kotwili chabutra, should not be a,l’armed at the
news, as your release would come about soon. The Khan
sent this letter to the Emperor. Therefore on Sunday, the
26th June, 1685/6th Shaban,,the Prince was sent against
Haidarzbad, receiving a special robe, a jewelled daggﬁff: a
muttaka, and twenty horses. His sons and high o cerg
were favoured with robes, jewels, horses, lephants, h‘m
promotion, On the 15th July/ 23rd Shaban Rﬁhl.xllalﬁ K lalgé
coming from Bijapur was sent to Ahmadnagar 1o the 3 o
of Firuz Jang Bahadur. Kamgar Khan became da_l_rogKa;1 o
the retinne wice Khanahzad Khan, and Mukhtar t (a)g
.darogha of the stable vice the first-named and was s;: on
Sunday, ‘the 19th July/27th Shaban, to con\’rze% laaatd ﬁzgto
having a jasper hilt with ‘ilaga, [261] and %hq% d rain-
‘Azam Shah and a smarani of peatl, 2 P“"{{l ”;n:fl K%an
coat (farghal) for . Prince Bidar Bakbt, SRR, foo
nizim of Malwa, died on Tuesday, the o
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Shaban, and Tarbiyat Khan, faujdir of.Jaunpur on the
19th/27th Shaban. Mir ‘Abdul Karim was punished for an
offence by being removed from the dirogha-ship of ja-namaz-
khinah, Muhammad Sharif khawas of the touring camp
(cor.) taking his place,

The Emperor said, ‘‘I had at first put off the chastise-
ment of this vendor of China-ware, this ape-like buffoon
and this drummer [Qutb Shah]. Now that this hen has
come forward crowing, I can’t wait any longer.”’ Inspite of
the delay and hitch which it would cause to the Bijapur
expedition the Prince was ordered to extirpate the wretch.
Khan Jahin Bahadur Zafar Jang, who was staying at the
thanah of Indi for comveying provisions to the army of
Shah ‘Alijah [‘Azam], was ordered to join the army of the
Prince and exert himself much in rendering good service.



CHAPTER XXIX.
29TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1096 A.m.

22nd July, 1685—11th July, 1686.

~

® ® * &*

[262] Sikandar_ Bey, who had come from Persia
(vilayat) to Court, received a robe, a jewelled dagger and
10,000 rupees. Amainullah Khan, son of Alahwardi Khan
and Fath M'amur Khan son of Dilir Khan died fighting
heroically in the trenches of Bijapur. Kamiluddin Khan,
son of Dalir Khan and Fath Jang Khan Miana were wounded.
A mourning robe for Amanulla Khan was sent to Hasan
‘Ali Khan Bahadur ‘Alamgirshahi. The powder magazine
of the army of Muhammad ‘Azam Shih caught fire; nearly
liOO bahalias (hill-climbing infantry) and musketeers were

illed.

On Thursday, the 13th August/23rd Ramzan, Irij
Khan Subahdir of Berir and Sayyid Sher Khan, an officer
of the army under ‘Azam Shah, died. Firuz Jang Bahidur,
coming from Ahmadnagar, had audience; the E_mperor
presented to him a dagger adorned with a sher-mahi handle
taken out of his own belt and received in his own hand the
nazar presented by the Khan Bahadur. Mir Khan, diwan
of Muhammad ‘Azam Shih, was sent as deputy (naib)
Subahdar of Burhanpur. On Monday the 24th Angust/4th
Shawwal, Sikandar Bey received the title of Khan and the
rank of 3-haziri (same tr.). Husain ‘Ali Khan became.
Subahdir of Berir vice Irij Khan deeeased, and Raziuddin
became his naib. Lutfullah Khan was sent to convey fo
Shah ‘Alam Bahadur certain orders of the Emperor: [263]
Siddat Khan became darogha of ‘arz-i-mukarrar vice him.
Khwija Hamid, son of Qalich Khan got the title of Khan
and a’female elephant, and was ordered to convey treasgrﬁ
to ‘Azam Shah’s army. Qn Thursday the st October /. % _l;.i,
Zi.Q., Qalich Khan went .as Subahdir to Zaxlcara a y
Teceiving a robe, a zarah (steel armonr), and an i’\fpha f?a'
Asalat Khan and Najabat Khan, sons of Sayyid . o r
Haidarabadi, Akrim Khan, Nasit Khan and Sayyid Hasan,

han were sent with him,

a
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The Emperor learnt of a famine in the army of
Muhammad ‘Azam Shah; it was so severe that a grain of
wheat laid the snare of seduction'for a hundred Adams, and
in the fear that the lack of gram would render them weak,
all the soldiets felt themselves helpless. Every day severe
fighting took place, in the trenches and also with the out-
lying troops. The soldiers had no sleep and food, the two
sustainers of life. Death rode rampant. There came no
food from any side. A letter “‘By order” was written to
the Prince saying, ‘‘As you have come to such a pass, teturn
to the Court with your army.”” The Prince after receiving
the letter held a councit of consitltation with his chief officers.
First he turned to Hasan ‘Ali Khan Bahidur ‘Alamgir-
shahi and said, ‘“The carrying out of the expedition depends
on the co-operation of the officets. I have received such a
letter from the Emperor, Your advice is important in these
matters of peace and war; haste and delay. [264] You have
seen and undergone many difficulties and hardships of this
kind. What is your view of this case?”’ The Khan
replied, ““In View of the good of the army and happiness of
the people at large, I think a retreat is advisable. When in
the Balkh campaign, Prince Murid Bakhsh owing to the
rigour of winter could not stay there, he had to give up sieges
and battles by order of Shah Jahin and return to Court.
What our men are undergoing is known; and your Highness
has received the order to retreat.”” After this the Prince
turned to the others; they all supported the Khan. 'The
Prince then said, ‘“You have spoken for yourselves. Now
hear from me! Muhammad ‘Azam with his two sons and
Begam will not retreat from this dangerous place so long as
he has life. After my death, His Majesty may come and
order the removal of my corpse for funeral.” My companions
Tay stay or go away as they like.”’ Then they all said
m concert, ““Our opinion is the same as your Highness’s.”
When the Emperor learnt of this determination of the
Prince to stay, he ordered Firuz Jang Bahadur on Monday,
the 4th Octobelj, _1685/ 16th Zil. Q., to set out with a large
army and provisions beyond calculation [265] to reinforce
and supply the Prince’s army. The Emperor excnsed the
branding of the horses of the 3trd and 4th fractions of their
contingents in the case of the sadj and 4-sadi in attendance
on the Emperor and mansabdars out on expedition. ‘The
mmperial ‘officers wete ordered’to buy for the State horses
after taking them out of dagh and send them to the Prince,
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for distribution to the men who lLad lost their horses in
action. Firuz Jang, on the day of taking leave, was
presented with a robe, the mdhi, and an elephant for carrying
it, four banners (nishan) and four hairy (two-humped) camels
for carrying them, and was permitted to kiss the feet of the
Emperor, who stroked him on the back with his hand. His
officers were favoured with robes, horses, elephants, and
promotion. Firuz Jang reached the Prince with the speed
of lightning, and the famished army gained the hope of life,
The Shah appointed his revived troops to punish the enenty
who used to sally ouf of the fort for fight. -

It happened by chance that when Firuz Jang was
staying at Rasulpur in the environs of Bijapur, six thousand
infantry, sent by the wretched Pam Naik with provisions
carried on the head in aid of Bijapur, were advancing by
stealth at night, and arrived at this place at midnight,
thinking that a Bijapuri force must be staying so near the
fort. Firuz Jang, who had been informed of it by spies,
seized the. opportunity; [266] and fell upon them before
dawn ; no living creature escaped from the Mughal swords
with his life; a crushing defeat was inflicted on the enemy.
Sixty-two mansabdars sent by Firuz Jang to convey the
heads of the enemy received a reward of 2,000 rupees. A
mohar weighing 1,000 mohars was sent to Firuz Jang.

On Saturday, the 10th October, 1685/22nd Zil. Q.,
‘Itigdad Khan was sent as thianahdir of Indi up to'the bank
of the Bhimi. Of his comrades Sayyid Nur-ul-bahar of
Birha got the title of Saif Khan and others robes, horses
and elephants, at the time of their departure.

Marhamiat Khan was sent as thinahdar of Mudgal
between Zafarabad [Bidar] and Haidarabad; his followers
were rewarded with robes, horses, elephants and cash.
Pahir Singh Gaur, who had caused disturbances mnear
Ujjain attacked with a large force Muluk Chand, naib and
officer of ‘Azam Shah, who had ridden out to punish him.
After a stiff fight an arrow. hit the rebel, and he died.
Muluk Chand’s letter reporting this victory Was shown to
the Emperor. The courtiers bowed and invoked' blessings.
Robes were presented ‘to Fazdil Khan, who had previously
learnt of the matter from the letter of a secret-writer and
reported it to the Emperor, to ‘Indyetullah, agent, Wh‘l’
presented Muluk Chand’s letter to the Briperor, and-‘Abdul
Hakim, a servant of the Prince, who brought the rebel’s
head to the Emperor. [267] His Malesty-or,del’-ed the head
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to be sent to the Prince. Muluk Chand was rewarded with
the title of Rai-i-Riian, a robe, and promotion making him
in all a 7-sadt.

CONQUEST OF HAIDARABAD BY SHAH ‘ALAM BAHADUR

On Sunday, the 18th October, 1685/30th Zil. Q.,
despatches from Shah ‘Alam Bahidur and Khan Jahin
Bahadur announcing the capture of the city of Haidarabad,
the shutting up of Abul Hasan in the fort of Golkonda, the
interview of Ibrahim, the enemy’s commander-in-chief (who
had been created Khalilullah Khan), Muhammad Taqi the
courier, Sharif-ul-mulk, Abul Hasan’s sister’s husband, and
others with the prince, the recommendation of mansab for
each of them, and the arrival of Abul Hasan’s supplicatory
letter, were brought to the Emperor by Mir Hashim, an
officer of the Prince. The courtiers made their bow of
thanks-giving for the victory; joyous music was played.
The Emperor ordered Abul Hasan’s letter to be shown
to him, Mirza Muhammad Shirdzi,* son of Hakim
Fathuddin, and uncle of Hakim Muhasan Khan, presented
to the Emperor the following verse as embodying the date
of the victory. [268] * * * He received a robe. Prince Shih
‘Alam Bahadur got an increment of 10,000 making him a
40-hazari (30,000 tr.). Mir ‘Abdul Karim, the ex-dirogha of
of the ja-namaz-khanah, was ordered to carry robes and
Jewels to the Prince, his sons, Khan Jahin, Ibrahim, sar-i-
lashkar, and the high grandees serving. under the Prince.
Muhammad Shaf‘i, mushrif of deorhi, Alah Yar, mushrif
of the qarawwals, Mir Hashim, servant of the Prince, Sayyid
Abu Muhammad son of Munawwar Khan, and Kalyan, son
of Hird mason-were travelling together on the way to their
work. When “they arrived at Mangal, four kos from
Haidarabad, Shaikh Nizim Haidarabadi with a numberless
force appeared like a flood coming on to sweep away houses.
abllxoutgh f:he_sei ment h:}ii no§ such a force with them as to be

.6 o resist, yet they fought valiantly, and exceptin

Mir ‘Abdul Karim who fell down woundgd [269] andp wa%
afterwards carried off as a prisoner, all the others perished.

* Surnamed Ni‘amat Khan ‘Ali, and finally Danishmand Khan. He wrote a

well-known account of the siege of Golkond i ial hi
of Shah ‘Alam I, entitled Bah&dur-Shah:zﬁtnle;z‘.i o ncomplete Otjﬁcml history
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Najabat Khan and Asilat Khan, sons of Sayyid Muzaffar
who had been sent with an escort from Zafarabad Supplieé
by Qalich Khan, fled after some fighting, on account of
their previous understanding with the enemy, and joined
Shaikh Nizam. Many men who had joined them like a
caravan and not for any other reason, weré slain. The
enemy captured the jewels and robes sent by the Emperor
and other articles, including the property of the merchants
and travellers. After four days Mir ‘Abdul Karim was
conveyed by the men of Abul Hasan from Golkonda to the
camp of the Prince on the border of the city of Haidarabad
and then they disappeared. Muhammad Muraid Khan
envoy (hajib), getting news of it, carried him:to his own
house. In a few days his wounds healed; he interviewed
the Prince, reported to him the orders verbally sent to the
Prince through him, and then took his leave. He reached
the Court with Khan Jahin Bahadur, who had been
summoned by the Emperor. On Thursday, the 20th
October/11th Zil. H., Muhammad Ibrihim, sar-i-lashkar
was on the Prince’s recommendation made a 6-hazari
(same tr.) with the title of Mahibat Khan, Sharif-ul-xpulk
a 3-hazari (300 tr.), Muhammad Tagqi the running courier,®
a 2-hazari (300 tr.) with the title of ‘Itibir Khan, On Mon-
day, the 2nd November /15th Zil. H., Saziwir (cor.) Khan
died. His son Rahmatullah was given a mourning robe.

The Emperor received a letter from Firuz Jang an-
nouncing the capture of the raised battery of Bijapur. An
emerald ring was made over to Siddat Khan for being sent
to Firuz Jang. [270] On Wednesday, the 9th Decenber
1685/22nd Muharram, a mourning robe was sent to
‘Umdat-ul-mulk Asad Khan for the death of his mother
at Delhi. Rahim Bey arrived from Turan and Hajt
Muhammad Raf‘i, son-in-law of Saf S.hllfan Khan deceased,
from Irin; they received robes. Mirzi Muhammad, son
of Haji Qasim, naskh-navis, who had gone to Mung1-}’a§an
to copy the Quran, and returned to Court after comp Ieétﬁng
it, received a reward of 1000 rupees. Bahramand Khan
was sent towards Patan. Sikandar Khan and others vZere
appointed to accompany him. Ink-pots 9f Jz}sperk stone
were presented to Siadat Khan, dirogha of ‘arz-i-mukarrar,
and Fizil Khan, sadr. Mukhtar Khan was gived a quiver

d
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* The printed text reads Tagi we D3ud. The MS. reads Tagi dawddu, or
tunning conrier, which I have accepted.
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and bow and sent to the thanah of Halsangi. On Thursday,
the 24th December /7th *Safar, Khan ]a}aﬁn Bahadur came
from Haidarabad, had audience and received a robe. Robes
were also given to Subhianji and eight:other Deccanis
brought by the aforesaid Khan Bahidur. On Thursday
the' 31st De%ember/llith Safar, Rashid Khan was com-
manded to go to Hindustan in order to regulate certain
mahals. The haveli of Bakhtiwar Khan deceased, situated
in Delhi, was presented to Siadat Khan. A gracious farman
was sent to Aniir Khan, Subahdar of Kabul, announcing the
grant of a special robe and an: increment of a hazar ‘zat.
Hatim, who had been formerly a servant of the Rana, became
faujdar.of Tuda-Bhim. ‘ o

Braj-bhushan Qawamuddin-khini, a convert to Islam
under the name of Dindir, became mushrif of the ja-namaz-
khanah, vice Jkhlas-kesh, who. became mushrif of petitions
vice Raushan-raqm, [271] Qamruddin Khan who had come
to Court, was sent (back) to his father with the gift of an
elephant. With him ;were sent a. robe and a sword for his
father. Ahmad Aq3, ambassador of the Sharif of Mecca,
had audience, and received a robe and 2,000 rupees. On
Sunday, the 81st January, 1686/16th Rabi. A., Mahibat -
Khan and Sharif-ul-mulk, had audience. ‘The Khan
received a special robe, 3' sword with gold sdz, forty-one
horses, an elephant, 50,000 rupees and nine tolahs of
‘attar, while the latter received a robe, z dagger with a
crystal handle, 10,000 rupees: and seven tolahs of ‘attar.
His sons, Hedayetullah and ‘Indyetullah got robes. ‘Abdul
Qadir Deccani got the rank of 2-hazari (1,000 tr.) and an
elephant. Achlaji the son-in-law of Shivaji, received the
rank of 5-hazari, (3,000, tr.) and kettledrums, a banner, a
jewelled punchhi and an elephant on the day of interview.
Saf Shikan Xhan darogha of the artillery,. had come from
Bijapur; after being given a dagger and an elephant, he
was immediately ordered to return. Yalangtosh Khan'
Bahadur was punished by removal from his post and rank.
In his place Silah Khan, son of Wazir Khan Shahjahani,
became -darogha of the khawises, an officer close to the
Emperor, with the title of Anwir Khan. Suhrib Khan
became Mir Tuzuk vice Silah Khan, On Saturday the 6th
March, 1686/20th Rabi. S., Khan Jahin Bahadur [272]
was sent to Burhdnpur to bring the Emperor’s consort
(parastar) Aurangabadi Mahal; the Emperor with his own
hands presented him with a jewelled dagger with a phul
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kaldra aqd pearl “tlaga. An emerald smarani was made
over to him for the parastar.

The sons of Khan Jahan and .Ruhbullah Khan saluted
each other by raising the hand to the head. The Emperor
ordered that in future nobody at Court should raise his
hand to the head to salute another; and if any-
body disobeyed the order, he should mnot enter the
ghusalkhanah.

Mir Jalaluddin, one of the Servants of ‘Abdul ‘Aziz
Khan, king of Bukhiri, who after a pilgrimage to Mecca
wished to return to Court but had died at that place, came
to the Court, and received a robe, a dagger with a gold
bandle, and 1,000 rupees. Hedayetullah, son of Tarbiyat
Khan, came to Court after his father’s death and received
a mourning robe. On Tuesday, the 16th March/1st
Jamad. A., Zain-ul-‘abidin a relative of Abul Hasan, had
audience and received a robe. Abul Hasan cut off and sent
to Shiah ‘Alam the head of Madanna Brahman as a proof of
his cwn obedience and submission. The Prince sent it to
the Emperor with Bahadur ‘Ali Khan. Hamiduddin Khan,
Jaujdar of Patan, was made giladar of Qandahar. The
dismissed Rustam Beg came to Court. The late Haifiz
Muhammad Amin Khan’s haveli at Delhi was presented to
Mahibat Khan. Sayyid Zain-ul-‘abidin became giladar
and faujdar of Sholapur vice Sayyid Anwir Khan deceased.
Mukhtir Khan, after receiving a jewelled dagger, [273]
was sent to Bijapur.

Bakht-buland was given the zamindari of Deogarh alias
(cor.) Islamgarh, and a robe, an arsi, and a h?:_'se. Bula_nd
Afghin, a servant of Prince Muhammad ‘Azam Shah,
brought to the Court the heads'of the sons of Pahar Singh
Gaur sent by Rai-i-Raian Mulukchand, and got a robe.
The heads were ordered to be ‘taken to:the Prince. Img](;
and Tukoji, brought by Faziil Khan, -each got a ro}tlae an
an elephant. Rai-i-Raian Mulukchand died; Ba ravgx;
Khan became .deputy Subahdar of Malwa vice hlm.'bédi
Wednesday, the 21st April/7th Jamad. S, Aﬁl_ran%z;iﬂce
Mahal reached the Emperor’s camp from Delhi. [Prigee
Muhammad Kam Bakhsh advanced to the d_oorBofhEder ort
near the deorhi to welcome her.” Khan Jahan Ba 2 ;lﬂicer
interviewing received a robe, so also did his sons-an oficer
Sayyid Mupawwar Khan. His eldest son Himmat k
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after receivifig a robe, a sword, and an eleghant, was sent to
Bijapur. Jaswant Singh Bundela received a robq, an
elephant, and kettledrums; Fazil Beg, brother of Padishah
Quli Khan the rebel, got the title of Tahawwa_r Khan and
was appointed under Himmat Khan. Sayyid Mubirak
Khan, qiladar of Daulatabad, got the title of Murtaza Khan.
Marhamat Khan was ordered to convey treasure to Bijapur,

At midnight Khwaja ‘Abdur Rahim Khan conducted
to the Emperor the two sons of Vindhachal, who was
brother of Ram Rai munshi of Fazil Khan ‘Ala-ul-mulk,
[274] They accepted Islam.and were named S‘adatullah
and S‘adullah. At the end of next day, the Khwija, by
command, placed both on elephants and carried .them
through the city, with flags flying and music playing.

- On Monday, the 3rd May, 1686 /19th Jamad. S., Khan
Jahan Bahddur was sent towards Agra in order to punish
the rebels of Hindustan, and was presented with a special
robe, a jewelled sword, a horse with gold saz, an elephant,
and two krors of dam. His sons other than Himmat Khan
and Munawwar Khan received robes when sent along with
him, ‘Abdul ‘Aziz Xhan, qiladir of Junnar, died. His
son Abul Khair Khan gained his place. Jan Sipar Khan,
faujdar of Zafarabad, who had come to Court, was sent
away. Fizil Khan, mir munshi and sadr, got in addition
the darogha-ship of petitions, wice Khidmat Khan. Mir
Hasan, son of Ruhullah Khan, was married to the danghter
of Amir Khan and received the title of Khinahzid Khan
and a horse with gold sgz. Ihtamim Khan became ndizir
of the imperial harem vice Khidmat Khan.  Bahramand
Khan was sent to the thanah of Indi. Muhammad Matlab,
his deputy, laid his head on the ground of service. On
Monday, the 7th June, Shih ‘Alam Bahidur had audience,
recejving a robe with a gosh-pech and a jewelled punchhi.
[275] All the Shahzidahs and sultins got robes. On his
birthday, Fnday, the 12th June/80th Rajab, the Prince
recejved an arsi with a ruby stone worth 40,000 rupees.
Mumin Khan, the Prince’s servant, brought to the Emperor
100 ejephants from Abul Hasan., Muhammad M‘asum,
envpy of Abul Hasan, got a robe at interview. Qalich Khan
frqm Zafarabad had audience. Muhammad Matlab became
Mir Puzuk vice Saifullah Xhan deceased. Muhakam Singh
Chandrawat came to Court from home and got a robe.
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THE EMPEROR’S MARCH FROM SHOLAPUR TO CAPTURE
THE FORT OF BIJAPUR

* * * "

As Sikandar (‘Adil Shah) was not befriended by the
happy arrival of Khizir,* he could not reach the elivir vite
of dominion. ‘The sharers of his power, [276] appointed
Siddi Mas’aud, ‘Abdur Rauf, and Sharza the general, to
exercise control over him and they treated him as of no
account. Persisting in self-will and haughtiness, they even
quarrelled among themselves; the king could not leave the
city, but oppressed the citizens. Having come under the
influence of the infidel Sambhi, he used to be his co-sharer
in harming the Muslims. He considered the strong fort
of Bijapur as his refuge in evil days.

One day Shaikh Muhammad Nagshbandi of Sirhind
had audience. In course of conversation he said, ‘‘I have
heard that Your Majesty wants to march against Bijapur”.
The Emperor replied, ‘“The only benefit which we kings
derive from our position in the world is the gaining of fame.
I had wished that one of my son§ would gain it; but it 1s
not to be. I therefore, wish to go {in person) and see what
sort of barrier this wall is that it is not being, removed from
before us.”” On Monday, the 14th June, 1686 /2nd Shaban,
the imperial standards moved from Sholapur in that direc-
tion. On Saturday, the 26th June/ 14th Shaban, Ifrmce
Muhammad ‘Azam and Bidar Bakht [277] had audience,
and received robes. Bahidur Khan and Rao Anup Singh,
son of Rio Karn, got robes on.interview. Op Saturday,
the 3rd July/21st Shaban, when the jmperlal camp reached
Rasulpur, three kos from Bijapur, Firuz Jang Bahadur had
andience,” and after receiving 30,000 rupees, ten horses
worth 9,500 rupees, an elephant with_silver saz, anii_I a
special robe, was sent to the post of Bidar Bakht. 13
son Qamruddin Khan received a jewelled dagger with Peta}f
‘iliga. On Sunday, the 4th July/22nd Shaban t:
Emperor ordered the trenches to be advanced, the E‘{Vfirsu
be overthrown by cannonade, and the moat ta be filled up.
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CHAPTER XXX.
30TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1097 A.H.

12th July, 1686—30th June, 1687.
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[278] Nawazish Khan was made faujdar and qiladar
of Mandasor, receiving a robe. Suhrib Khan was given a
jewelled jigha. Sarafraz Khan and D3ud Khan got robes
at interview. Abul Khair, son of Shaikh Nizim, became
darogha of ja-namaz-khanah vice Muhammad Sharif, and 1
(the author) became mushrif (of that department) wvice
Dindar. Muhammad Mumin, son-in-law of Irij Khan, was
appointed naib subahdar of Berir wvice Raziuddin Khan
deceased, who had been administering the province as the
deputy of Hasan ‘Ali Khan and had fallen down dead while
talking with his soldiers. On Saturday, the 21st August,
1686 /11th Shawwal, Qalich Khan was appointed to the
trenches after receiving'a bow and a quiver. Kamailuddin
Khan, son of Dilir Khan, recovered from his wounds, inter-
viewed and received a robe, a sword, and a mace (“asd) set
with jasper. ‘Itigad Khan coming from Ahmadnagar, had
audience. Raja Bhim Singh came from Ajmir by command
and had audience.

On Saturday, the 4th September/25th Shawwal, the
Emperor rode to the edge of the moat, in order to inspect
the battery which had been raised opposite the turret
(kangurah) of the fort, and to learn the reason why the
conquest was still delayed. Great noise was made by the
cortege, and rockets and muskets began to be fired with
great moise from the fort. [279] Flaming cannon-balls
passed over His Majesty’s head. Mir ‘Abdul Karim,
through his ingenuity, composed an extempore hemistich
embodying the date, ‘‘Bijapur will be soon conquered”,
which he showed to the Emperor after scrawling it on a bit
of paper with a lead pehcil. The Emperor took it as a good
omen and said, “God grant it be so!”’ Thank God, the
capture of the fort was accomplished that very week. On
Saturday, the 11th September, 1686 /3rd Zil. Q., the slave
[aldl was rewarde;q witl: the title of Sarbarah Khan for his
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excellent work in trenchin e
wollected in two months aﬁa t&:lt}ée dlm_penal warriors had
necessary for destroying the enem ays all the materials
companions, seeing death near, b y,- Sikandar and his
faults and cried for quarters’ %gged ‘pardon for their
September, 1686/4th Zil. Q., the n Sunday, the 19th
Il\illf mgir, and all the people of the c:));ntwas captured by
?1‘ i e, were glorified by coming under th r}l’f ugh and low
The banners of Islam, which had been tu mperor’s rule.
1}1?1 this country for a long time, againnu ull:?f% upside down
rom every side of the earth the cry “Trptlh ed their heads.
hood ’lzramshed” rose to the vault of the zk came and false-
Sik dhe Emperor graciously [280] acceptg’éi the
mli s?ln (allr, who thus escaped the imperial wmthpr?yer of
Audiee s.) He was granted an interview in‘ the( (1); b}i}s
o ence-hall, and presented with a special rob ewelled
agger with pearl “1ldga and phul katdra worthe',7(z)1OJeweued
a pearl necklace_: with emerald pendant worth 13,000 runecs.
afJe“felled kalgi, and a jewelled ‘asa. He was i tzupe'es’
of Sikandar Khan and an annual pension ofg Zsz 1 ilﬁltl?f
ml;gle&_ A tent was fitted up for his residence wit}?i t}?
%u albar, and supplied with all necessary articl Si andar
ey, who held the fi | ry articles. Sikandar
: eld the title of Sikandar Khan, had the lett
a Al{)dadded to his name (i.e., became Iskandar Khan(;r
h rob:r Rauf and _Sharza came to interview, each receivinr;
e a sword, a jewelled dagger with pearl ‘ildqa, a horse
b gO}d saz, an elephant with silver saz, and thé rank of
b Zg" (same tr.). The first was entitled Dilir Khan the
lel?ht‘RuStam Khan. To Mahibat Khan, Sharif-ul—n:;ulk
o Oal ar Khan and Sarafraz Khan elephants were presented:
and aGllcxh Khan a dagger and a horse, to Lutfullah Khan
Kha kaznafar Khan banner and tugh, to Saf Shikan
e nt ettledrums, to Himmat Khan a sword with jewelled
B eo Qamruddin Khan a jewelled dagger. [281] The
muli %):a(linKlills presence graciously permitted Umdat-ul-
Wafs domoot ax; to sit cross-legged on a cushion, Khwaja
to. him gha of the sukh-sajya-khanah (cosy bed) carried
o a masnad, a gold-woven sofa, (takza-gah) and a
zani ornamented with gold-embroidered figures, an

E‘;fi"ed (from the Khan) a robe and 1,000 rupees. e
Pg'OI‘ permitted him to keep the momney.
asan *‘Ali Khan Bahadur ‘Alamgirshahi died of

Jero and commander,

se ;
vere illness. He was a matchless 1
ess of speech, and

unique in benevolence to all, truthfuln
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goodness of action. His sons, Muhammad - Mugim and
Khairullah, received robes. Mahabat Khan became Sub-
ahdar of Berar vice the deceased, and was presented with a -
robe, a steel coat of armour (zarah), a helnet, 7ék shalwar
(trousers) and du-balgha. Muhammad Sadiq became his
deputy.
On Sunday the 19th September/1lth Zil. Q., the
Emperor’s tent was moved from Rasulpur to the tank
half a kos from the fort and opposite the gate of Alapur.
That day he rode out to view .the citadel, the buildings
and outer breastwork of the city-wall. On Friday the 17th
Sept. /9th Zil. Q., Ashraf Khan, Mir Bakhshi, died; with
him withered the rose in the garden of correct under-
standing and rapid writing. Ruhullah Khan became First
Bakhshi vice him, and Bahramand Khan Second Bakhshi
vice Ruhullah, while Bahramand was succeeded by Kamgar
Khan as darogha of ghusalkhanah; Kamgar’s place of First
-Mir Tuzuk was taken by Qasim Khan. [282] Mourning
robes were conferred ‘on Muhammad Husain and Muhammad
Baqr, brother’s sons of Ashraf Khan. In the night of 25th
September /17th Zil.Q., the Emperor summnioned Sikandar
to his presence, kindly requested him to sit down, and
presented him with a diamond sarpech and three packets of
, betel-leaf. * * * Ruhullah Khan was appointed nazim of
Bijapur, which was now named Dar-ul-Zafar, and he was
made a 5-hazari (4,000 tr.) by an increment of a hazari zat
and trcopers. ‘Azizullah Khan became qiladir, Muhammniad
Raf‘i diwin,-S'ddat Kban bakhshi and news-writer, Siddi
Ibrahim kotwal and faujdar, Hiji Muqim darogha of
artillery; Zain-u]-‘Abidin and Muhammad J‘afar dirogha
and Amin of ddgh and tashik, Abul Barkat Qazi,
Muhammad Afzal censor (of the newly conquered pro-
. vince).  On Thursday, the 14th October/6th Zil. H.
Sikandar Khan got a present of 10,000 rupees. Khanahzad
Khan was sent towards Miraj. Himmat Khan Bahidur
son of Khan Jahin Bahadur was made “Subahdar of
Allahabad; he was a 21-hazari (2,200 tr.) and received
eighty lakhs of dam as in‘dm. Kifayet Khan Hatim was
sent towards Sagar for settling the new territory, his
son-in-law J‘afar accompanying him as the diwan of that
mahal. [283] The Khan got an” elephant. Ikhliskesh
became pesh-dast of the Mir Bakhshi vice Yar ‘Ali Beg, who
ijt;ecame peshdast of the second bakhshi. Raja Anup Singh
ecame faujdar and qiladar of Sagar. ‘Abdul Wahid Khan
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was sent to .thg new territory; Qadirdad Khan became
giladar of Miraj; Qﬁs_xm Khan was sent towards Basava-
patan, and Shaikh Chind was sent as qiladir of that place.
On Saturday, the 23rd October/15th Zil. H., 150 mohars
were presented to sixteen men of the family of Sikandar
Khan, the fingers of whose left hand had been cut off and
who had thus been excluded from the succession according
to the agreement of their grandfathers; these men were
ordered to stay at Sholapur with their children and families,
stipends being granted to each. Sipahdar Khan, son of
Khan Jahin Bahadur became Subahdir of Iahore wvice
Mukarram Khan. ‘Itigad Khan was detached to punish the
force sent by Sambha, which had spread near Mangalbeda
and was presented with a jewelled crest (kalgi) with par-
khanah of heron’s feather.

RETURN OF THE EMPEROR EROM BIJAPUR TO SHOLAPUR

On Saturday, the 30th October, 1686/22nd Zil. H.,
the Emperor left Bijapur [284] and reached Sholapur, on
Tuesday, the 2nd November/25th Zil. H. He ordered
Sikandar Khan to be brought with the cortege of the ladies
of the imperial harem, and his mihi-maratib, umbrella and
other insignia of kingship to be deposited in the store-rcom.
That day Firuz Jang was sent to capture fort Ibrahimgarh
in Haidaribad, and presented with a special robe and‘an
elephant. ‘The officers appointed to the army of Firuz Jang,
Dilir Khan, Sharza Khan, Jamshid Khan, Maluji, Gopal
Rao, Kamiluddin Khan, Rio Dalpat, Saf Shikan Khan,
Aqi ‘Ali Khan, ‘Abdul Qadir Khan, Jahingir Quli Khan,
Safi Khan, Udwat Singh Bhadauriya, Sarbarah Khan {slave)
and other officers, high and low, were rewarded with robes,
jewels, horses, elephants, promotions, titles, etc: On
Saturday, the 6th November, 1686/29th Zil. H., the
Emperor visited the fort of Sholapur. On Sunday, the 21st
November /15th Muharram, Bidar Bakht was married tg
the daughter of Mukhtar Khan, Qazi ‘Abdullah pronounces
the nikih. The settlement on the bride was two lalffhsho
Tupees. The Shihzidah was presented by his grm}d at e
with a robe, a ruby sarpech, an arsi, a pear] neck ace(i am
ek-lari, eight rings, one lakh of rupees, two horses aﬁl ae
elephant. [285] The bride received a ring, 2 pear] J:xhec 2%; 4
and a jewelled bracelet (anant). On Monday, h eSharif
November /16th Muharram, ‘Ali an,*'ew

*Named Ahmad Aga on p. 271
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of Mecca, after being given a robe, a dagger, a horse and
3000 rupees, was permitted to depart. ‘Aisha, daughter of
Sikandar Khan was presented with a cap with pearls
attached. Mir “Abdul Karim became amin of the seven
chaukis for the second time,

THE EMPEROR MARCHES FROM SHOLAPUR
TOWARDS HAIDARABAD -

Abul Hasan, the ruler of Haidarabad, was stupid and
sunk in sinful lust; misled by his evil fortune, he shut his
eyes to the sins punishable in the next world, and made the
vagabond Hindus the managers and administrators of the
affairs of his State, and gave currency to the rites of that
accursed race. And, those travellers in the wrong path of
futile wandering and ignorance, those carrion-eating detnons
(ghul) of the wilderness, (namely) the Persians (i.e., Shias)
with the support of that worthless sect (the Hindus) began
to practise there publicly all kinds of shameful sins. No
respect was left for Islam and its adherents; mosques were
without splendour, while idol-temples flourished; the
requisites of canonical practice remained closed under bolts,
while the gates of irreligious practices: (bida’t) were flung
open. In the excess of his intoxication with the wine of
negligence,. Abul Hasan did not distinguish the night from
the day; thanks Yo his addiction to evil company and his
badness of aims,-he refused to prefer Faith te Infidelity. In
the many.kinds of injury that the hellish Sambhi had
inflicted, ofi worshippers of the True God, Abul Hasan
became his helper and ally. On seeing a single (really) un-
substantial frown and on hearing one vain threat (from that
Maratha king), what vast sums did he not send to that
enemy, and simply through his meanness of spirit and
cowardice kept himself safe from plunder by that
man? [28%

This Emperor of Emperors is the asylum of Muslims.
He honours none but the people of the true Faith ; he injures
none but ‘the infidels and heretics (ahal-i-bid‘at) ; the sharp:
ness of his sword has cleansed the face of the earth fron
the filthlof the blood of disturbers; although he has conquerec
with his bright sword strong forts, the spring-breeze alone
can* open the buds in the garden. Our Emperor’s zeal

*I have omitted the negative particle of the text, in order to make
sense of the passage. & P bext, dn o
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for the Faith and his delicate sense of honour as a master
of the world, persuaded him that, inspite of his wielding a
world-conquering sword, he ought first of all, by following
the generous policy of admonition and direction, try to
remove the cotton-wool of heedlessness stuffing the ears of
Abul Hasan, anq open the gates of entrance into the Islamic
land of right guidance before the face of that unlucky man.
His Majesty repeatedly sent messages full of advice and
good counsel to that wretched fellow urging him to abandon
his alliance with the infernal infidel enemies (of Aurangzib
and Islam), his vicious attachment to practitioners of
irreligious acts (heresy, bid‘a), and the sins of appointing
Brahmans as his ministers (peshkar), in giving help (in the
form of money and troops) to the hostile misbelievers
(kafirs), the promotion of various degrees of prohibited
practices [such as drinking wine] and treading the open
path of cherishing vain ideas (of independence). The result
(of listening to this advice) would be that his innocent
subjects would not be helplessly trodden under the feet of
the imperial cavalry and he himself would personally
remain safe from the tempest of overthrow and humiliation.
But as Fortune had deserted him, Ruin instigated him (to
refuse). He gave his house up to plunder (at Haidarabad)
by the army of Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam, who had
been appointed to guide him to the right path of sub-
mission. At that time, Abul Hasan by procrastination, t.e.,
by deceiving the Prince with promises and flattery and
clouding his intellect with many kinds of fraud and spells,
secured his release from the grasp of the Prince,and made
the increase of, his treasure [287] and trodps and ‘the
strengthening of the four walls of his fort (Golkonda) the
veil over the eyes of his knowledge and the lock on his
pardon-begging tongue. .

Therefore the Emperor had no help but to act according
to the verses :—

You should fondle the heads of asses with the stick in

your hand, ;
Wheén ‘they set their refractory steps outside the

right path.

On Sunday, the 5th December, 168629t Muharram,
th? Emperor siarted from Sholapur to visit _the t(;{)nb <_>f
Mir Sayyid Muhammad Gisudaraz at Absandbad Gulbarga.
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He repeatedly visited the holy place. Twenty thousand
rupees were presented to the representatives of the holy sainf
and the residents including the hermits and beggars. Afte
passing a week -there, the camp moved towards Zafarabad
Bidar, where it stayed for twenty days, in the vain hope
that Abul Hasan would come to his senses. But the latter
was not guided by Providence to such good fortune. There-
fore at last on Friday, the 14th January, 1687/10th
Rabi. A., the Emperor mounted his horse to punish that
luckless man. When Abul Hasan heard of it, he in terror
of the imperial army, could think of no place of refuge save
his fort. So he shut himself up in it and remained
bewildered with his face to the wall, like~a picture, lips
despairing of laughter, eyes full of tears, head vacant of
sense, tongue speechless. At this time, [288] when the
day of his destruction had drawn near, he wished to submit
and make a new protestation of fidelity * * *, The Emperor
did not assent to his prayers: the only reply given to him
was the sword. The Emperor advanced and then halted
two stages from Haidaribad. Firuz Jang who had been
sent from Bijapur to conquer Ibrahimgarh, hastened to the
Court by way of Haidarabad after accomplishing his task
Despatches from him were now received announcing tha
he had arrived at and taken possession of the city o
Haidarabad, for His Majesty. But thanks to the powe.
of the fortune of ‘Alamgir, the enemy, inspite of their
countless ‘number and incalculable wealth were struck with
such terror that during the advance of the imperial army,
no humar being appeared either before the Emperor’s own
foree or the army of Firnz Jang.

On Friday, the 28th January 1687/24th Rabi. A., the
Emperor ordered the enemy’s army which had assembled at
the foot of the fort [289] like swarms of ants and flies
around a carrion or on a lump of sugar, to be driven away.

/The imperialists made great efforts, in carrying out the
command. As they say, ‘““The wind came and the gnats
fled”’, the enemy fled, leaving their property, children and
families in the hands of the imperialists. Qalich Khan
galloped up to the fort and warited to enter it immediately.
But God had willed it otherwise. * * ¥ A zamburak ball hit
him on the_shoulder-blade and save Lutfullah Khan who
had heroically accompanied him in this bold enterprise,
none advanced to aid him. So the Khan had to return on
horse-back from that terrible place of slaughter, and reached
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his own camp (daira). By the Emperor’s command ‘Umdat-
al-mulk went to visit h.lm i his sickness. At that time the
surgeons were extracting the splinters of bones from his
shoulder-blade, and he was sitting composedly and talking
with the persons present without any contraction of the
muscles of his forehead, and was sipping coffee with the
other hand. He remarked, “I have got an admirable
stitcher! *‘Although the surgeons and physicians, by
command, employed all sorts of remedies [290], he died
after three days. The Emperor bestowed robes and other
favours on Firuz Jang Bahadur and other sons of the
deceased and on Siadat Khan.

On Monday, the 7th February, 1687/4th Rabi. S.,
orders were issued for digging trenches. Although guns,
muskets, and rockets were fired incessantly day and night
from the fort, which seemed as if made »f fire, the heroes
of the imperial army under the leadership of Saf Shikan
Khan recked not being burnt or slain, but carried the
trenches to the foot of the ditch in the space of one month.
This work, which usually takes years, was finished in a
twinkle of the eye. Heavy guns were mounted opposite
the fort, the pillars of which were demolished by the fire of
their guns, but success remained distant. Saf Shikan Khan,
having constructed a lofty gun-platform raised it up to the
height of the turret of the fort and mounted guns on it, yet
owing to his spite and enmity with Firuz Jang, he withdrew
his hand from the work and resigned. Salabat Khan
became Mir- Atish vice him. [291] He too could not dis-
charge the duty as it should have been _and re51gm?d-
Sayyid Ghairat (‘Izzat) Khan succeeded him. At mid-
night owing ta the neglect and self-will of the chiefs, th(ei
enemy fell upon the raised-battery, spoiled the gun, boun
and carried off (‘Izzat) Ghairat Khan, Sarbarih Khans(:‘l[_
slave), and a party that had fallen into their hands. ad
Shikan Khan was punished with removal from mansab 1?{1[1'
Imprisonment. Salabat Khan was again appon_ltedh ul?
Atish. Lutfullah Khan and the party of the khas chatc
and other eager soldiers were appointed to guard the dfﬁls of
battery. The Khan stayed for three days in the mi te‘:her

¢ river which flows at the foot- of the fort, when 2000 50
orce arrived and expelled the enemy and firmly esf;li clIzzat
the battery. After two days Abul Hasan sent ba azat

an and others with robes.  They came by the way d this
attery, But owing to the severity of the rains ang i
23 ’
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unseasonable delay, much of the battery was ruined.
Saf Shikan Khan guaranteed that in a short _time he would
construct batteries up to the turret by the side of another
bastion ; he was released and did what he had promised.

At this time owing to excess of rain the river Manjera
raged in flood. No provision could come: from the neigh-
bourhood. Famine prevailed; wheat, pulse and rice dis-
appeared. [292] Cries of grief at the disappearance of grain
rose from the famished on all sides of the camp. Of the
men of Haidarabad, not a soul remained alive; houses, river
and plain became filled with the dead. The 'same was the
condition of the.camp. At night piles of the dead were
formed round the Emperor’s quarters. Daily sweepers
dragged them and flung them on the bank of the river from
sunrise o sunset. The same thing happened every day and
night. The survivors did not hesitate to eat the carrion of
men and animals. Kos after kos the eye fell only on mounds
of corpses. The incessant rain melted away the flesh and the
skin; otherwise the putrid air. would have finished the
business of the survivors. Affer some months when the
rains ceased, the white ridges of bones looked from a
distance like hillocks of snow. Through the grace of God
to the survivors, the rains abated, the violence of the river
ceased, and provisions came from the surrounding country.
In the place of Sardir Khan, karori-ganj, Sayyid Sharif
Khan, son of Mir Sayyid Muhammad Qananji, the spiritual
guide of Shah Jahan, and an honest, able and accomplished
man, was appointed. Thanks to the gracious aim of the
Emperor, the custodian of the livelihood of the people, the
scarcity was removed, and cheapness restored.

IMPRISOI:IMENT OF PRINCE MUHAMMAD MU‘AZZAM

* % * [203] The Prince, in spite of his excellent under-
standing, reason and imagination, was so misled by his
bad companions and evil counsellors that the Emperor
apprehended from him mischief and disloyalty, which was
likely to cause affliction to the Prince himself and disgust
%’ the ,EmPeTOI' ’s mind. For some time he overlooked the

rince’s conduct, not wishing such a scandal to be made
Pubfhc.. But when the Bijapur nndertaking was thrown into
gonSI'llimn’ some men who used to convey secretly messages
So A ikandar in the fort, were captured and executed. On
aturday, the 28th August 1686/18th Shawwal, others
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of his disloyal servants i ;
aruuery’ ‘Aziz Afghin S]_\{Igﬁ';f tMIl{lmln Khan dirogha of
d Brdaban Purfan (the < \f Khan the second bakhshi
expelled from the camp. Thenilmg) were ordered to ‘be
sightedness had been extinguish gl‘qp of wisdom and far.
by all this darkness of evilg?oru;E . the Prince’s council
And in conducting the war aga?xfsézﬁ'-\evﬂ_ counsellors).
overcome by the fraudulent seduction a:f_ldarabad,‘ pe Jwas
Hasaz. [294] Gradually the letter S }t:_ the foolish Abul
into the fort of Golkonda through ths e sedt fo be sent
writer of the trenches, fell intcg)r F iri medm}n of the secret-
other signs of disloyalty bore witnez ]tang s hends.
matter, One night the Khan went fSS <1)1.the fath o e
Emperor and showed the letters, and rc%nx: ine 1gdg1ngs fo the
of. the Prince’s self-will, and var’ious ac‘csm‘rr'1 Sf the .Emperor
disloyalty. The Emperor summoned H v 1I§(obed1ence and
brqther of Ihtamim Khan, who was :stmt _han, Y the
Prince’s diwan-i-khas, and’said ““Car ethQarogha of the
ftr:;lclg, Shzlllikh Nizam Haidarabadi waII;Z’s tolilzri-((ie; ’;(;gthhte
ck on the army to-night; sen : '
c\:’fi Itlh:etenlze'my. P:is your gmen Wﬂ(li g:%;?:nlﬁfgag eK‘gx
in round your tent %
order was issued tz Ihtamin(lausixagrll ar%)t. wa;r gﬁ necesifIary
day the Prince with his sons Muhar;lmad Mu‘izzrlfl'd' exg
Muhammad ‘Azim was brought to the Emperor ﬁn v
sitting in the Hall of Audience. After th4e lg)rince, }Xdocgvnis
and sat down for some time, the Emp id, ‘¢ e
oy W s peror said, ““I have
spoken to Asad Khan and Bahramand Khan about certai
matters, Hold co i i g
conference with them in the prayer-room.”’
The three princes went, willy nilly. They were stri ed
of their arms, and detained there while a tent was bI;Ii)n
pitched (for them), and then they were taken to the tenég
The Emperor rose from the Court and went to the harem b;}
way of the deorhi of the khas parastar. Crying ‘‘alas!
alas !’ he strick his hands on the two knees and continueci
saying, ‘I have- razed to the ground the work of forty
years!’”’ [295] In short, through the exertions of Ihtamam
Khan guards were posted round (the Prince’s camp.) The
imperial clerks confiscated the goods and slaves of the
Prince’s household, in one twinkle of the eye, and as it were
carried a drop of water to the ocean. Ihtamam Khan was a
hazari; he mnow got ‘the title of Sardir Khan and the
increment of 500. His son Hamiduddin, who was a 2-sadi,
received an increment of 2-sadi (50 tr.).
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In the course of a long period, mines were run by
Jamshid Khan, treasure (mal) was brought by ‘Abul Wahid
Khan; the Emperor went to the quarters of Firuz Jang
Khan by way of the old raised battery; high officers were
appointed to make the assault; they worked hard all day.
Firuz Jang Khin Bahadur and Rustam Khan were wounded,
many of the bold fighters were slain at the end of the day.
Kim Bakhsh was sent with ‘Umdat-ul-mulk Asad Khan (as
reinforcement) ; the men could not advance one inch, owing
to the shower of musket bullets, rockets, chadar and hugqa
(bombs) without being slain or wounded. But still the
object was not gained. After spending the night in the
quarters of Firuz Jang, the Emperor returned to the camp
at early dawn without ceremony. Various other plans were
tried; immense wealth was spent. The godless atheists,
in greed of gain, co-operated with the enemy and played
their juggling tricks. - Some avaricious traitors joined him
and after at first getting hopes from him, (at last) went
to hell through his deception. Some by sending in grain
[296] caused their own perdition and met with the fate
of ungrateful persons. The siege was protracted. The
Emperor decided that a fort of wood and mud should be
built round the fort of Golkonda. In a short time it was
completed, and guards were placed at the gates, ingress and
egress being forbidden except on producing pass-ports. By

“this time Firuz Jang Khan recovered from his wound and
had audience, receiving a robe, a zarah, a special jahalam,
and a jewelled mace. A robe was presented to the
wounded Rustam Khan; Bahrim Khan, son of Mahibat
Khan deceased, was killed by a cannon-ball. A mourning
robe was given to his brother Farjim. Jan Nisir Khan’s
brother was slain, and for this reason favours were conferred
on the Khan. Shuja‘et Khan, brother of Saf Shikan Khan,
Mir Abul-mu‘ala, bakhshi of the army of Firuz Jang Khan,
FEkkatdz Khan, Suhrab Khan, Muhammad Hakim .and
other wounded and scorched soldiers recovered through the
Emperor’s gifts.

. _On Saturday, the 28th May, 1687 /26th Rajab, Shaikh
Nizam, the best servant of Abul Hasan, who commanded
the force outside the fort-wall, came to interview the
Emperor, presented 500 mohars and 1,000 rupees, and
received the title of Mugarrab Khan, the rank of 6-haziri
;522321’521) a lis.pecml robe, a sword, a dagger with pearl ‘ilaga,

] shield, a banner, kettledrums, 100,000 rupees in
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cash, twenty Arab [297] ‘Irdqi, Turki and Cutchi horses,
and two elephants. Malik Munawwar, Shaikh Lad, Shaikh
‘Abdullah and his sons, and some of his relatives got high
titles, ranks,—none less than 4-haziri,—robes, banners,
kettledrums, horses, and elephants.

Asuji Deccani, who was Sambha’s qiladir of Salhir,
had audience, receiving a robe, a standard, a tugh, kettle-
drums, a horse, an elephant, and 20,000 rupees. Sarbuland
Khan brother of Sarfaraz Khan was given a standard, a
tugh, and kettledrums. Mankoji, Sambhi’s giladar of
Sangola had aundience after the capture of this fort and
received a robe and the rank of 2-hazar: (1000 tr.).

On Friday, the 20th May/18th Rajab, Muhammad ‘Ali
Khan, Khan-i-saman, died. He was noble-minded and
generous ; everybody who went to him had his wish fulfilled.
He had rectitude, piety, honesty, truthfulness, and sagacity.
Kamgir Khan got his post, and was succeeded by ‘Itigad
Khan as dirogha of the ghusalkhinah, near the Emperor’s
person. Iftikhar Khan, son of Sharif-ul-mulk Haidarabadi,
sister’s son of Abul Hasan, had audience, receiving a robe
and the rank of 8-hazari (1000 tr.). Sharif Khan, who was
appointed karori-ganj of the camp and collector of jazia for
the four subahs of the Deccan, was ordered to tour in the
subahs, in order to see that the jazia was collected according
to the rules of the Holy Law. [298] Mir ‘Abdul Karim,
in addition to his own dutie§, became deputy of the Khan,
in the post of karori-ganj. Sharif-ul-mulk died on Saturday,
E:}e 95th June, 1687 /24th Shaban. Robes were presented to

is sons.



CHAPTER XXXI.
31sT YEAR OF THE REIGN (1098 A.H.)

1st July, 1687—19th June, 1688.

® * £ ®

On Thursday, the 7th July/7th Ramzan, the Emperor
rode out to inspect the trenches and the raised battery of
Saf Shikan Khan which had been carried in a short space
of time up to the height of the turret of the fort a second
time. For two hours the Emperor viewed the condition of
the fort on foot. Muhammad ‘Azam .Shah, who had started
to punish the rebels of Hindustan before the Emperor set
out from Sholapur, and had reached Burhanpur, and
[299] Bakhshi-ul-mulk .Ruhullah* Khan, who. had been
engaged in administering the disordéred subah of Bijapur,
both reached’ the Presence by-command on Sunday the
10th July/10th Ramzan. '‘The Prince was placed in
command, of the operations against the fort.

CAPTURE OF GOLKONDA FORT. .

At midnight, on Wednesday, the 21st September /24th
Zil. Q., the Bakhshi-ul-mulk with a party of heroes in-
cluding Bahidur Khan, ahd others on the look-out for an
opportunity, was walking round the fort, when through the
treachery of Sarandaz -Khan Batni Bijapuri, who had
deserted to the imperial service before the capture of
Bijapur, and afterwards joined Abul Hasan and become his
trusted officer, they entered the fort through a back door
(khirki) close to the old entrenchment. The- Prince who
was staying at the river that flows at the foot of the fort
in order to support this corps, now reached the entrenchment
and struck up the music of victory. The Bakhshi-ul-mulk
reached the haveli of Abul Hasan, and in spite of the frantic
opposition of him and his companions, captured and brought
him away to the presence of the Prince. ‘Abdul Wali, son of
Shaikh ‘Abdus-samad J‘afar Khani, munshi of the (3001
Emperor presented a quatrain embodying the date, * * *
Out of his innate graciousness ‘Azam Shah refrained from
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ordering this doomed man to be given the due meed of his
acts, but, with the Emperor’s permission brought him to
his (the Prince’s) own tent. At the end of the same da ,
he took him to the Emperor’s quarters. That captive in
the prison of error, after being freed from the terror which
filled his heart, was lodged in a tent pitched for him;
he fell under the Emperor’s gracious indifference instead
of wrath, ® * #

[y

Thank God that such a strong fort was captured in the
space of eight months and a few days. What a marvel that
after one year’s interval, in the same month two forts whose
fall had not been previously imagined as possible were
captured. Mir ‘Abdul Karim found out the date of this
wonderful conquest in the words *“‘Conquest of the fort of
Golkofida, God bless it *’ and was praised for it.

I shall now describe the strength of this fort, the charms
of this city, and the climate of this country. In former
times Golkonda [301] was called Mangal; its Raja was
named Dev Rai. After him it was captured by the
Bahmanis. After the fall of the Bahmani dyhasty, the
fort was taken possessionr of by ‘Ali Naqi Qutbul-mulk,
a ghulim of .Sultin Mahmnd Bahmani, who was m
charge of it. The fort is situated on a hill, the summit
of which pierces the armour of the sky like the blade
of a sword.. The celestials meet the terrestrials here.
None but ‘Alamgir ever conquered this fort. On mo
side has it any Jedge that might supply 2 handle for the
- noose of the fancy of capturing it to raise itself. But it had
a hillock which might have helped a very great general to
attack it siccessfully. Before his accession to the throne.
when Aurangzib invaded this country but afterwards g:ﬁ-
ciously paradoned ‘Abdullah Qutb-ul-mulk, he, 1n ; ‘;-
thought that Aurangzib might return, built a stroug ior :
round this, hillock and included it within the fort o
Golkonda, and thus gained security. * * *

. . he
The city of Haidarabid is situated two kos from the
fort of Gollonda; it was founded by Muhammad o
Qutb-ul-mulk, [302] who was infatuated by the cowsesr
Bhigmati and named the city Bhignagar after _herl.l s been
wards it got its present mame, Now that 1';1 :1‘1 bah of
amnexed to the Empire, turned into an a_ddmo.x(l1 S
the Deccan, it has been named Dar-ul-jihad Hat dal:}ll o xr;ind.
1§ a very.pleasant place, delightful to the body an
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The cultivated area is more extensive than fancy can
picture, the houses higher than one can imagine; the air
is. so moist, the fountains so pure and flowing, and the
verdure so fresh that you may think that the flowers and
herbs of the land have the colour of emerald and ruby. * * *
It would verily require another volume to describe in
detail the coming of the Haidarabadis to the imperial Court,
their gaining of mansabs from sevens hazari to 5-sadi, and
the admission into the imperial service of professional men,
men of skill, and artisans of every kind. :
On Monday the 26th September/29th Zil. Q.,
Muhammad Kam Bakhsh was made subahdar of Berar. He
had been. a 10-hazdri (5,000 tr.), and now received an
increment of 5;000 tr. - ‘Umdat-ul-mulk Asad Khan and
Firuz Khan each received an increment of a hazar tr. and
became a 7-hazari (same tr.). Mahibat Khan was promoted
by the.addition of a hazar zat (1000 tr.). His grandson
[803] Muhammad Mansur, newly come from Persia
(vilayet), had audience and received the title of Mukarramat
Khan and the rank of 14-hazéri (1000 tr.)» ‘Abdullah,
adopted son (khinda)- of Abul Hasan got the rank of
4-hazari (same tr.). Lutfullah Khan was a 2-hazgri (1000 tr.)
and now got an increment of 200 troopers. Muhammad Yar
Khan' got an increment of 5-sadi and became a 2-hazdri
(300 tr.). Mir Muhammad Amin son of Mir" Bahiuddin,
brother’s son to Qalich Kharn deceased, came to the imperial
Court after his father had been slain in Turin on the
_suspicion of being in league with Anushd#Khan, the king
of Urganj, who was at war with his own father-in-law ‘Abdul
‘Aziz Khan, king of Bukhari, and was graciously favoured
with the title of Khan and the rank of 2-hazari (1,000 tr.).
Mukhlis Khan, son of Saf Shikan Khan, who was acting as
his father’s deputy in the daroghaship of artillery, got the
post for himself with an increment of 200 tr. making him
a hazari (800 tr.). ‘Indyetullah, mushrif of the jewellery
de_partmqnt, a4-sadi (50 tr.), got an increment of 10 troopers.
Yar ‘Ali Beg, a 4-sadi (40 t,) got an increment of 15
troopers. Shukrullah Khan, son-in-law of ‘Aqil Khan, was
appointed faujdar of the environs of Haidarabad vice Siddi
Yahya, [304] He was a 5-sadi (same tr.), and now got an
increment of a hazar troopers. Mir ‘Abdul Karim was
appointed dirogha of fines. Lutfullah Khan became dirogha
of the servants of Muhammad Mu‘azzam, each of whom now
&Kot a mansab, according to his position and rank, ir the
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Emperor’s establishment. The depressed Khidmat Khan
was appointed nazir vice Sardir Khan, who became darogha
of filkhanah vice Mu‘atagad Khan. Muhammad Matlab
became a Khan.

CONQUEST OF THE LAND OF SAGAR,

When the Emperor’s mind was freed from the tasks
of occupying the spacious kingdom of Haidarabad, taking

ession of all its forts, sending administrators and
regulators on all sides and granting interviews and posts to
the Haidarabadi officers, he sent a large army under
Khinahzid Khan, son of Ruhullah Khan, against the land
of Sagar. This country is situated between ‘Bijapur and
Haidarabad; and Pam* Nayak of tribe of Dhedh is its
infamous ruler. Fortune likes to favour the mean and the
servile; and so this utterly worthless infidel, lower than the
meanest of tribes in every generation from grandfather to
father, uplifted his [805] arroganf head in authority over
fhis country.” By reason of his commanding 12,000 tr. and
one lakh of infantry and his possessing some strong forts,
especially the place of his residence, which was one of the
famous strongholds of the time, he held up his head as the
equal of the kings of Bijapur and Haidarabad. None could
extirpate him. Nay more, Muslims adoring him as 2 leader
considered him as their mediator and defender iq evil days,
so that'at the siege of Bijapur he had the audacity to send
6,000 fighting footmen, with provisions carried on the head,
who were slain by Firuz Jang, as has been already narrated.
And also at*the siege of Golkonda he had repeatedly aided
the Haidarfbadis and thereby made his own downfall sure.

Khinahzad Khan was instructed that if this misguided
man agreed to visit the Emperor he should not take steps
to desolaté his” country or slay and imprison his subjectsci
otherwise he should serve him right. The Khan h;}steng-
to the country and wakened him from the sleep of prld?’ h'y
sending the imperial order to him. As the PeOplel?i lg
country were not destined for ruin, nor were his Weaﬁ' ant
household effects doomed to destruction, in spite of his no

0 ] I

es—Padam, P. 239,
1t D?%‘ida my H;stm'y af

Pi *The text writes the name varionsly on differe
id, pp, 264, 304 and 305. The correct name is Pam
Au'rangztb,-.Vol. V, Ch. 56, §2).

4
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believing in a Day of Judgment, he on receiving the
imperial message and anticipating a vast army, sent word
to say that he would surrender his kingdom to the King of
Kings and submit to the Emperor. And so his effects were
saved from déstruction [306], and none of his men was
killed. According to the Emperor’s instructions, the Khan
guarded his family and did not permit a blade of grass to be
destroyed. He came out of the fort and met the Khan; and
on Monday, the 28th November, 1687 /2nd Safar, the fort
bowed to the Muslim leaders. In a place where since the
far-off foundation of the world none had been able to utter
the cry of prayer (mamdz), the Musalmini drum was so
loudly beaten that it deafened the ears of false believers.
The cry ‘‘Islam is true,-infidelity is false” rolled up to the
dome of the sky, and strengthened the spirits of the
Islamites. The Khan after appointing a defender of the
fort and regulating and taking possession of the neighbour-
hood, came to the Court with the Niyak, and was properly
rewarded. His father -had served well at ‘the siege of
Golkonda, and now the son, too, showed no less ability in
capturing Sagar. Pam Nayak was a strange creature, of
an uncouth shape. * ¥ * [Verses] :

Night has gone into mourning at beipg taken for
his emblem, .

The day has turned into night on account of the bulk

. of this black cloud. '

Bears and pigs would have felt deeply disgraced if
likened to him.

Even the washer of the dead was disgusted at the
sight of him.

) [307] I do not know how in the dark recess of his heart
this light flashed that he should acquire the fortune of
seeing the Emperor. On Tuesday, the 27th December,
1687 /2nd Rabi. A., the Emperor granted him an interview
and honoured him by giving him a place to stand far above
his condition. After attending the Court for five or six days
he suddenly set off to visit hell. Verse :—

. ‘It is better that such a bad-liver should be dead.”

His sons and relatives were given proper mansabs. His
Majesty ordered the country of Sagar to be called
Nasratabad, The land is delightful, fresh, and fertile, * * *
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THE EMPEROR’S RETURN FROM HAIDARABAD, TG BIJAPUR

As the only work agreeable to the Emperor was to
regulate the world and train mankind, and he never desired
to seek bodily repose from this task of conquering countries,
therefore, inspite of the agreeableness of the climate of
Haidarabad, [308] he decided to march to thiose cities his
stay at which would lead to the most satisfactory conclusion
of the affairs.of the empire, especially to inflict proper
punishment on the militant and unclean infidel Sambhi,
who had formed a protective- alliance with those two lost
travellers in the wrong path, namely Sikandar and Abul
Hasan, and who by the assertion of this false claim left
these two rulers in the enjoyment of no trust or respect of
the public.

On Wednesday, the 25th January, 1688/1st Rabi. S.,
the Emperor started for Bijapur. At an auspicious hour
Khin Bahadur Firuz Jang was appointed to capture the fort
of Adoni from Mas‘aud Habshi, a slave (ghulam) of the
father of Sikandar, who during the confusion in the
government of this dynasty became the supreme head of
affairs, and ungratefully left to his master’s son nothing
save the name of king and carfied off and stored in that
strong fort the chief treasures, buried hoards, choice
articles, and precious jewels. 25,000 tr. were appointed to
accompany the Khan Bahadur. Muhammad ‘Azam, aftgr
being variously favoured, was sent to extirpate Sambhi ;
49,000 experienced tr. followed him. On Tuesday, the
Tth February/14th Rabi. S., the Emperor reached [309]
Zafarabad Bidar, and lodged on the bank of the tank of
Kamthinah. Here Abul Hasan, who had never during
his fifteen years of reign travelled farther than from the
city of Haidarabad to Muhammadnagar, one kos distant,
and to whom this daily riding (with the Epmperor) was very
painful, begged permission to take to a life of retirement.
The Emperpr ordered Jan-sipar Khan to convey him tlo
Daulatibad, and the officers to get ready for him suc 5
articles of bed and board as are indispensable to pampere
worldlings of weak faith. Fifty thousand rupees a year was
fixed for his needs. What marvellous kindness was it (ﬁn
the part of His Majesty to nurse such a felon in the cradle
of ease and comfort and pardon his sins!

It would be no exaggeration to call that tank the Tigris.

hosoever sits on the embankment om its northern side,
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gives repose to his own life. Nowhere are the air and water
better than here. The sown fields about this blessed water
are green; the cultivators are mnot beholden to the rain-
clouds. They scatter the seeds one year, and reap the har.
" vest for some ygars after. Here the great saint Khwaja

Muhammad Y‘4qub Joibari left the caravanmserai of life.
The Emperor [810] had great kindness for the deceased.
He conferred favours on his relatives and sent his corpse to
bis ‘home’ to be buried in the vault of his {forefathers.

After three days’ halt here the army again marched.
On Saturday, the 25th February/3rd Jamad. A., the
Emperor reached the outskirts of Gulbarga, and made a
pilgrimage to the tomb of Mir Sayyid Muhammad Gisuda-
riz, removing the veil of poverty from the heads of the
residents of that blessed place. After seven days’ halt the
army resumed the march towards Bijapur. On Thursday,
the 15th March, 1688/22nd Jamad. A., the Emperor
reached that city.” All kinds of inhabitants; faqirs, and
hermits, who had fallen into want through the ruin of the

city and its environs, were relieved by the Emperor’s
charity. * * % [311]



CHAPTER XXXII
32ND YEAR OF THE REIGN :

"20th June, 1688—S8th June, 1689

* *® & £ d

I have no space to mention the numberless strong forts
which were conquered by the imperial officers during this
time. As the conclusion of the affair of the rebel Rajarim
Jat under the command of Muhammad Bidar Bakht and the
supervision of Khan Jahin Bahiadur Zafar Jang and other
heroes, was a grand event, and as great feats were per-
formed, much activity displayed and large sums spent in it,
I ought to narrate a little of it. On Saturday, the 1lth
August /3rd Shawwal, the Emperor learnt from the news-
writers of this army that the infernal dog bad gone to hell
through a gun-shot, on Wednesday the 4th July/15th
Ramzan; the neighbourhood had been cleared of the rebel
infidels, and vast multitudes of people were praising and
blessing the Emperor for giving them peace. [312] On the
5th September, 1688/19th Zil. Q., the rebel’s head was
brought to the Emperor. .

Kimgir Khan was married to the daughter of Sayyid
Muzaffar Haidarabadi, and received from the Empftljof_a
robe, a horse, and a sahra worth 10,000 rupees. I‘timad
Khan, brother’s son of ‘Ali-ul-mulk Fazil Khan recew_ed
the post of Khan-i-siman of the Emperor’s household vice
Kamgar Khan, and an increment of 500 zat (100 tr.) making
him a 2-hazari (400 tr.), a kalgi and ‘asa of jasper. 1\/£1rza
‘Mu‘izz got the title of Musavi Khan and the post of daftar-
dar-i-tan vice hira. Khwija ‘Abdur Rahim Khan became
bayutit vice Muhasan Khan, Mu‘atamad Khan succeedle
him as darogha of digh and tashihd. I‘tigdd Khan ‘in, t :e
.death of his wife (the daughter of Anur—ul-um_araISﬁal:ag

an) received a special robe and a dagger. _A}m ilan 3
Haidarabadi had three daughters : by the imperia comu 4 to
the first was married to Sikandar Bijapuri, the sec?llb S
Muhammad 'Umar son of Shaikh Muhammad Na’qs 3?3
of Sirhind, the third, to ‘Umdat-ul-mulk Asad Khanls [hant]
son ‘Inayet Khan who received a robe, a horse, an €ephatit,
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and a sahra. Mukhlis Rhan, Mir Atish, was sent to bring
the water of the river Krishna to the city of Bijapur, by an
aqueduct and was presented with a dagger.

Fazl ‘Ali, son of that Murshid Quli Khan who was a
servant of the days of prince-hood, became a2 Khan and news-
writer of the kachari of the High Diwdn. When conferring
the title the Emperor said ‘“Ask him if he wants to have
‘Khan’ added to his name or his father’s title.”” The man
for certain reasons (of his own) chose the title of Fazl ‘Ali
Khan. The Emperor said ‘“My parents and I are the sacri-
fice of ‘Ali (Qurban-i-“A1i). Tell this fool, ‘Ali is gone, you
will be Quli’, Fazl Quli Khan is better.”” T remember other
remarks of His Majesty suited to this subject. A courtier
of Indian origin made suit that two house-hold slaves had
finished memorizing the Quran and hoped to be permitted to
recite it to His Majesty. 'The Emperor ordered them to be
brought to him at night. When they appeared and the
courtier ‘said ‘“The sons of so anid so are present,”” His
Majesty cemarked, ‘‘Don’t utter the name of a heretic
(Shi‘a).” The courtier was surprised and said, “I was
speaking of so and so.”” The Emperor replied, ‘‘Well,. if
you don’t believe me, ask the names of both.”” He went
out, asked, and reported, ‘“They are called Hasan ‘Ali and
Husain ‘Ali.”’ The Emperor retorted ‘“My parents and I
are the sacrifice of ‘Ali. What connection have Hindustanis
with this name? Through evil desires they are afflicted with
friendship for the heretical Shi‘as, leave the right path and
go astray. May God awaken us from the drowsiness of the
negligent !’ [314]

Mihrunnisa Begam received permission to go to Delhi.
Lutfullah Khan was ordered to escort her. Sardar
Khan darogha of fil-khanah, on getting a robe and an
Increment of 100 tr., became a 13{-hazdri (500 tr.). Sayyid
Abu §'aid, the dismissed qazi of the camp, died. Mourning
robes were presented to his sons Nizimuddin and Faiyaz-
ud-din. * * Saf Shikan Khan became dirogha of ‘arz-i-
mukarrar vice Siadat Khan. Prince Daulat-afza died, and
by command was buried in the tomb of ‘Ali ‘Adil Khan
Bijapuri. ‘Indyetullah, mushrif of the jewellery-depart-
ment, became Khan-i-simian of the household of Zinat-un-
msa Begam. Lashkar Khan, son of Khan Jahan Shah-
jahini, who hac_l. the title of Munawwar Khan was appointed
defender of Bijapur. Hamiduddin Khan son of Sardar
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Khan, became darogha of fil-khanah vice his father ; he was
a 5-sadi, and now received an increment of 100 troopers.

I shall now write about the victories of Prince *Azam
Shah and Firuz Jang. The Prince after taking leave of the
Emperor for punishing Sambha turfied [815] his ‘attention
to the conquest of t!1e fort oi:' Belgaum which was one of the
strong forts belonging to Bijapur. In a short time he put
the garrison to hard straits by running trenches and bom-
bardment. Those foolish men had set up as their chief a
boy, whose father had been governor on behalf of Bijapur
but had died a short time before this. When they found
their efforts unavailing, and the imperialists firmly deter-
mined, they capitulated, and the fort with its dependencies
was conquered and named ‘Azam-nagar.* ‘Through the
kind mediation of the Prince, .the boy made his bow at Court
and received a snitable mansab. The Prince returned to
Court as it was the season for going into quarters (chhauni).
Firuz Jang Bahadur who had been engaged in besieging the
fort of Adoni, first invited the [Adilshahi] slave Mas‘aud
to visit the Emperor, but at last on seeing that the old fool
chose the wrong path, he plundered and occupied the pros-
perous districts of the country, burnt the wadi, slew the
men who had boldly come out of the fort, ran trenches,
fired guns and muskets, and so pressed the besieged hard.
[816] At last he came out of the fort with all humility,
stating his demands, on the 6th August, 1688/8th Shawwal.
The fort was renamed Imtidzgarh. )

When Khan Firuz Jang’s despatch announcing the
conquest arrived, the bearer and Siadat Khan were rewarded
with robes; the band played joyous notes; the courtiers
made their bow of invoking blessings. The Emperor in his
infinite mercy gave the wretch Mas‘aud the title of Khan
the rank of 7-hazari (same tr.) and the faujdari and jagirdari
of Moradibad, and ordered that he should accompany the
army of Firuz Jang Khan till he left the Deccan. His stg)nS
and relatives were highly favoured. Firuz Jang Khan a tﬁr
taking possession of the materials in the fort andd the
regulation and occupation of the neighbourhood, reacht(’-i the
court on Monday,"the 19th November/5th Safar, an hwas
rewarded for his excellent services. [317] ‘Itimad Khan,
Khin-i-simin, got the title of Fazil Kh.an and Mir Husain,
son of Amanat Khan got his father’s title.

® Printed text reads * Azamabad, but the O.P.L. Ms. reads ‘dzamnagar,
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THE GREAT PLAGUE—MARCH OF THE EMPEROR FROM BIJAPUR
0 THE COUNTRY OF SAMBHA .

Khan Firuz Jang, on his return from the capture of
Imtidzgarh, stayed at Court for a few days and was then
sent to extirpate the infidel. ‘The Emperor resolved to
march in aid of the Prince. Friday, the 14th December/
1st Rabi. A., was chosen as the day for starting, and porters
who had gone to distant parganahs were summoned back
to the Court. :

In the middle of the month of Muharram (16th October
—14th November, 1688) a terrible plague broke out and
carried off men. The health of the people ‘became impaired
and ruined, by declining- from their normal condition.
Joyous practices ceased. All sat down in mourning. Death
wanted to remove the seed of human kind altogether from the
world. I cannot say that the great Day of Judgment had
come ; but this was a day of doom at the power of which
great and small alike lost their lives, * * * [318]

A bubo appeared in the armpit or the corner of the thigh;-
high fever and unconsciousness raged; the treatment of
physicians produced no effect. Few men lived through two
days; but most died within two or three days. Even those
who lived and had lost no dependant, on seeing the prevailing
state of things, considered themselves as dead. How fine
would it have been if this thought had remained in the mind
in times of prosperity! In short, none looked after any-
body else; everywhere the vry rose “My own self { my own
self I’ The half-dead people abstained from all worldly
works and affairs and lay in expectation of death every hour.
Among the victims were, the Emperor’s parastar, the old
and devoted hand-maid, Aurangabidi-Mahal, Muhammadi
Raj, the son of Maharaja Jaswant Singh, who had been
brought up in the imperial harem and attained to the age of
thirteen years and a high mansab, Fizil Khan Sadr, and
many” other grandees. The middle class men and the
common people, Muslims and infidels, who died cannot be
numbered, but are conjectured to have been not less than a
lakh. Many were afflicted by disorder of the brain or lost
th_e use of their eyes, tongues and ears. Among the highest,
Firuz Jang Bahadur received injury in his eyes. Who spoke
or heard anything of the plight of the common people ?
Historians have not recorded any such havoc in any former
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age. The oldest man living has not seen or heard of such
an epidemic, which lasted for two months, * * # [319]

In the midst of such a destruction the Emperor. relvi
on the help of God, came out of Bijapur on tl?e abéve-glerxlf
tioned date with strength of heart and firmness of purpose.
Praised be God that after one week of violence the epidemic
began to abate. Through the grace of God, the Emperor
marched to Akluj. As according to the physicians the eye
of Firuz Jang Khan was not likely to be healed soon, the
Prince alone was sent off with the army to the country of
the enemy [Sambha].

CAPTURE AND EXECUTION OF SAMBHA :
® * ® *

While the Emperor [820] was staying at the aforesaid
place for transacting certain affairs, the ears of the world
were gladdened by a happy news from the invisible world.
The merry music of victory, which the ears of the Muslims
bad been expecting, resounded through the sky. Peace and
safety were restored through the blessings of the justice
and virtues of the Emperor. Disturbance sank down. Satan
was chained. To speak more plainly, through the power
of the Emperor’s fortune, the infernal infidel Sambha was
made prisoner by the army. .

Shaikh Nizam Haidaribidi, surnamed Mugarrab
Khan, a brave general who with his sons and relatives
enjoyed among, themselves the ranks of 25-hazari (21,000
tr) 'in recognition of his military capacity, had been
appointed from Bijapur before this to capture fort Parnala,
which was in the enemy’s possession. Like a prudent and
watchful man, he had sent spies to .brmg in news of the
infidel. Suddenly they brought to him the true news that
Sambh3, on account of his feud with the family of the
Shirkés, who were connected with him by k}nshxp, had gone
from Riiri to fort Khelni, and after making a settlement
with that family, and gaining composure of mind aé)é)ft
provisioning this fort, . he had gone to Sangameswar [ (]1
where his minister Kavi-kalas had constructed gardens amd
lofty buildings, and was there engaged in merriment an

pleasure. Attended by a party of honour-seeking devoted

. in utter
followers, the Khan out of devotion to the Emperor, 10 U
disregard of his life started from Kolhépur, from which the

25
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above place was forty-five kos distant, and the path full of
hill-tops and passes so difficult and dangerous that travellers
.have not seen the-like of them on earth. He made forced
marches. Although the spies of Sambha informed him that
the Mughal army was coming, that man intoxicated with
the wine of folly and pride had them beheaded by giving the
signal of a frown and saying, ‘“You heedless men, you are
mad. Can a Mughal force arrive here?’” The Khan after
patiently enduring much fatigue, suddenly came upon
Sambha with the speed of lightning or the wind; that cursed
wretch charged him with the support of four or five thousand
Deccani spearmen; Kavi-kalas was accidentally hit by an
arrow and fled. After a little fight Sambha concealed him-
self in a hole in the mansion of Kavi-kalas in the hope that
none had noticed him. Spies gave correct information to
the Khan as to his hiding-place. The Khan without pur-
suing the fugitives, surrounded the haveli. His son Ikhlas
Khan entered by the steps with a company of heroes and
dragged that low fellow and Kavi-kalas by the hair to the
elephant ridden by the Khan. [322] -

* ¥ % *

Twenty-five of his chief followers with their wives and
daughters were made prisoners. This news reached the
Emperor at Akluj, which was henceforth named As‘ad-
nagar. He ordered Hamiduddin Khan, son of Sardar Khan,
the provost-marshal (shahua) of the -camp, to hasten to
Mugarrab Khan and bring the captive chained and
manacled. The victorious Khan came ouf of the country
‘(in_safety) by prudent management, and through the good
luck of ‘Alamgir none of the infidel chiefs made any effort
(to rescue the prisoner). On Friday, the 15th February,
1689/5th Jamad. A., when the imperial army after march-
ing frgm As‘adnagar had encamped at Bahadurgarh,
Sambha was brought to the court. The Emperor out of his
dfvot}on to Islam ordered that from two kos before the camp
the disgraced and unlucky Sambha should be made to wear
a wooden cap* (the badge of a condemned criminal) and his
comrades should be clad in the dress of buffoons, punished
In various ways, mounted on -camels, and brought to the

* Kulah--Zangula--a ridical i ) . i
! ~ ; d
many little bells and foxes* tm‘l: u::{d qhapeq cop, IO which are Suspende
: . » in ny person detected in sellin,
short weight is exposed to public viev'}v.hlclf P - &
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encampment and the darbir with drums beating and
trumpets pealing,—so that the Muslims might be heartened
and the infidels disheartened by seeing it. The night pre-
ceding the morning on which he was brought to the Court,
was without exaggeration the shab-i-barit because nobody
slept till morning for the pleasure of seeing the spectacle;
and the day was like the day of ‘Id because all men old and
young went out to see such a scene of joy and happiness. In
short, this man, who deserved a degrading parade and execu-
tion, was taken round the whole camp, and then [3823)
brought to the Emperor, who was sitting in the Hall of
Public Audience. He ordered him to be removed to the
prison of retribution. That very moment the 'Emperor
descended from the throne, and kteeling on the carpet of
prayer bowed his head to the ground in thanking God and
raised his hands in prayer to the Judge of Actions and
Promoter of Hopes. The cloud of the Manifestation of the
handiwork of Providence was dissolved and drops of Marvel
(at God’s power) fell from his far-sighted eyes. (Verse)

The peak of his cap is in high heaven, [and yet]
His head is ever bowed down to the earth in reverence.

As Sambhi had previously ignored the value of
imperial mercy, and fled first from the Emperor’s court 10
the company of his father, and the second time from the _late
Dilir Khan, therefore that very night his eyes were deprived
of the power of seeing, and the next day the tongue of the
deceitful speaker Kavi-kalas (was cut out). * * * [324]

Where was Sambha in his heaven-facing stronghold of
Riiri! and where was his present disgrace and captivity 1zt
retribution for his ingratitude! Of the various verse}sf
embodying the date composed by rhetoricians, that o
‘Iniyetullah, the agent of ‘Azam Shah, 11z, v Thest

*‘Sambhi became a prisoner with wife and son’’, i ei ]
expresses the event, and it was accepted by :(111. Hlsjc:i\p orL,
was rewarded for this splendid service with the title oa
Khan-i-Zaman Fath Jang, a reward of 50,000 rupeefi’d e
special and resplendent robe, a horse with Jewecllleldhsa e
and saz, a dagger, a dhup, with jewelled - purdalah, ; |
promotion raising him to the rank of 7-hazari (‘S?Elle )
Of his sons, Ikhlas Khan got the title of Khan-i-"A atf; ]
fobe, and promotion making him a 5-hazari (sa:imgh =k
-Shaikh Miran the title of Munawwar Khan and Sha
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“Abdullah that of Ikhtisis Khan, Ihtaram Khan and other
relatives and companions of the Khan each got a robe and a
mansab. In consideration of the harshness and insult that
he had practised by slaying and imprisoning Muslims and
plundering the cities of Islam, the destruction of this wicked
infidel preponderated over the reasons for keeping him alive,
[325] and the decision of the masters of the Holy Law and
Faith and the counsel of the dignitaries of the Church and
State were in favour of despatching this hellish robber.
Therefore, after the arrival of the Emperor at Koregaon
on Sunday the 3rd March /21st Jamad. A., he was executed
along with Xavi-kalas with the sword on Monday, the 11th
March, 1689/29th Jamad. A. '

I shall finish the account of this matter by narrating an
event which was the preface to the Emperor’s success. Be-
fore this, when the capture of Sambha never came on the
tongues of the people and was regarded as an impossibility,
Sayyid. Fath Muhammad, one of the sons of Mir Sayyid
Muhammad Gisudaraz, who after spending his long life
in the military profession had taken to retirement in his
home at Ahsanabad Gulbarga, and whose son Sayyid Badi‘-
ullah (whose forehead indicated his asceticism and goodness
and fitness to be the successor of a saint) had been appointed
successor at the saint’s own tomb by the Emperor on account
of his devotion to the saints of olden times and kindness to the
members of this family, and who had been granted the
sairghul (rent-free land) of some fertile villages, besides
[826] lavish ind‘ms,—came to the camp, interviewed the
Emperor. who loved hermits, and narrated, ‘‘I have often sat
in prayer face to face with the illuminated tomb, with a view
to [fore-] seeing the end of this infidel’s career. One night I

-dreamt that I was travelling in order to visit holy places, and
was passing over a hill difficult to traverse. A party was
setting up poles. | They asked me ‘“Where are you going ?’’
I made my wish known. They said ‘“A hog has established
himself in this hill for a long time past. You, too, should
exert yourself with us to catch him.’” After dawn it struck
me that I should soon come to the army, and take part in
this holy war till the completion of the affair of the wicked
infidel.”” ‘The Emperor was greatly delighted to hear these
word§, and showed respect to and conferred favours on the
Sayyid. In less than ten days the wish of the people was
gratified. The very day that the news of Sambha’s capture
reached the Emperor he summoned the Sayyid and after
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giving him good wishes and pecuniary aid permitted him to
depart. By way of showing gratitude for this wonderful
victory, ten thousand rupees were sent to the blessed tomb
for the poor and the attendants.

On Tuesday, the 2nd Aptil/2Ist Jamad.S., the
Emperor left Koregaon to see the fort of Islimibid or
Chakna. Prince Muhammad ‘Azam, who was encamped
five kos in front of it, came there and had interview. That
day after bidding farewell to the Prince [827] His Majesty
returned to his mansion.

» One of the events of this auspicious year was the
capture of the chiefs who had accompanied Rma [Rajaram]
in his adversity. This infidel, the younger brother of
Sambha, had been kept in prison by the latter. After
Sambha’s death he became chief and gained some authority
in Rairi. Before the capture of Raiiri, while Zulfigar
Khan was pressing the besieged very hard, he disguised
himself as a yogi and fled from the fort. (Verses)

Behold this coward, who will never
See the face of good fortune.

He sought his own personal ease,
He left his wife and son in distress.

When this news was confirmed by the letters of spies,
the Emperor issued orders to ‘Abdullah Khan Barha,—who
after he had acted for some time as the deputy of Bakhshi-
ul-mulk Rubullah Khan when the latter was summoned to
Haidarabad, and had become himself Subahdar of Bijapur,
and had then by the Emperor’s command gone to capture
two strong forts in the dependencies of Bijapur,—now to
capture Rami if he wandered on that side. Spies brought
to him the true news that Rama [Rajaram] lay concealed
for some time, but had now gathered about 300 followers
of the rank of chiefs, [828] and after passing within a few
kos of that place had entered within the frontiers of the Rant
of Bidnur. The Khan deferring to another time ‘the:
capture of the forts, first sent his eldest son Hasan Al
quickly in that direction, and himself making forc_ed maqelﬁgs
for three days and nights reached the enemy at night thlf in
the border of the zamindari of t}us she-bear, near fnhed ort
of Subhangarh and Jari, belonging to her -and sxtugt;: <}>1n
the bank of the Tungabhadri, in the island of which the
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enemy had taken refuge. He reddened his sword in their
blood. Many died and went to hell. Other men, more than
a hundred, including chiefs like Hindu Rao, and Vyankoji,
the brother of Santi, and Baharji and Manid Ghorparé,*
were taken prisoners. In the midst of this tumult of
lamentation, Rama [Rajaram], leaving his turban, coat
and shoes, not to speak of his weapons behind, fled in such
a manner that nobody got information of it. Although the
Khan had performed such a grand feat, yet his ill-luck
made him show negligence in the affair of the escape of
Riama. And the she-bear too was suspected of having
concealed Rami and afterwards let him go. At the first
news that Rama had been captured, the Emperor: ordered
Hamiduddin Khan to bring him to Court.. On the arrival
of the second news, he ordered the prisoners to be confined
in the citadel of Bijapur. Jan Nisar Khan was appointed
with a large party [329] to invade the zamindari of the
she-bear. The Satanic Santd at this time triumphantly
resisted the Khan, Matlab Khan and Sharza Khan. At last
the affair of the Rini ended in her paying a small money-
tribute under the name of fine. As he (Santi) was destined
to live some time more, he escaped being caught by the
imperialists. It was a wonder that Hindu Rao, Baharji and
some others of the prisoners escaped from this strong prison,
—escape from which is incredible except in concert with the
guards. On the matter being reported to the Emperor the
remaining eighty prisoners were executed. Iashkar Khan
became nazim vice ‘Abdullah Khan. His son Wajih-ud-din
the giladar of the citadel and Faujdir Khan the kotwal were
punished by diminution of mansab.

* : = o _ -
hmniﬁ'fhéhg/frg;“zads——Hmdu R50, Yekoji the brother of Santa, Baharji, and



CHAPTER XXXIII.
33RD YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1100 A.x.

9th June, 1689—28th May, 1690 [330].

* * ® *

Haji Shaf'i Khan became daftar-dir of tan vice Musavi
Khan, who got the former’s post of diwin of the Deccan.
Robes for the rains were presented to all the imperial
servants at the Court and the provinces. Abul Khair Khan,
son of ‘Abdul ‘Aziz Khan, became giladir of Rajgarh.
- Mukhtar Khan Mir-Atish vice Mukhlis Khan, who became
(d{ir?gha of) ‘arz-i-mukarrar vice Muhammad Vir Khan,
Mir Abdul Karim, a favourite of the Emperor was rewarded
with the title of Multafat Khan for his good services as
karon-g:an.), when he made abundance and cheapness to
appear 1n stead of scarcity and famine at Haidarabad, and
thus deserved the Emperor’s recogition. Hamiduddin
Khan, son of Sardir Khan, worthy of upbringing, got the
title of Khan and was sent to bring Muhammad Khujista
Akhtar, the son of Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam, from
Am‘a_ngabad to the Court. Kamgir Khan with a party was
appointed to escort the servants of the harem of Mu‘azzam
to Shahjahanabad. Mubarakullah, son of Iradat Khan and
grandson of ‘Azam Khan became faujdar of [331] Islamabad
Chakna and Kamiluddin Khan son of Islam Khan W3la-
. shahi, qiladar of that place. Ikhlas-kesh became news-writer
of the kachari of Khan-i-simin, vice Sharfuddin. When
Salibat Khan applied to come to Court, ‘Itimdd Khan
became diwan and faujdar of the blessed port of Surat vice
him. Jan Nisar Khan Abul Mukaram, receiving a dagger
with a jasper handle and sdz, was sent to punish the enemy.
On Wednesday, the 10th July 1689/2nd Shawwal, Bakhshi-
ul-mulk Ruhullah Khan was appointed to wrest the fort of
Raichur from the infidels. Mukhtir Khan became his
deputy. Before the capture of Sambhi ‘Itigdd Xhan had
been sent to conquer fort Raiiri, the home and treasure-
house of this villain; on Saturday, the 19th October/15th
Muharram he captured the fort and made the mothers, wives,
daughters, and sons of Sambhi and of Rama [Rajaram]
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i:yrisoners. ‘Umdat-ul-mulk presented to the Emperor his
son’s despatch announcing the conquest and received a
special robe, and a jewelled jigha adorned with a heron’s
feather (par-i-kaling). The band played joyous tunes. The
courtiers made their bows and presented peshkash. ‘Abdur
Rahim Khan bayutit was ordered to go to Raiiri and
confiscate Sambhia’s property. [332] ‘Itigdd Khan had
audience on Saturday the 23rd November, 1689 /20th Safar
and was rewarded by promotion to the rank of 3-hazari
(2,000 tr.), and presented with a robe, a horse, a jewelled
quiver, a bow, 30,000 rupees in cash, and the title of
Zulfigar Khan Bahiadur. The Emperor graciously ordered
that tents fit for holding Sambhi’s mother (Shivaji’s wife)
and other relatives of the deceased should be set up in the
gulalbar and they should be made to alight there with all
respect and privacy. Close to the misl.of ‘Umdat-ul-mulk,
the misl of the Riani* bazar was located for her servants and
dependants to live in. Annual pensions were fixed on all
of them according to their position. Shidhu, the nine year
old elder son of Sambhia, was given the mansab of T-hazari
(same tr.), the title of Raja, and a robe, a jewelled dagger,
arsi, borse, elephant, kettledrums, and standard. Madan
Singh and Adhu (Madhav) Singh, his younger brothers,
were given mansabs and gifts and ordered to live with their
mother and grandmother. Imperial clerks were appointed
to the establishment (sarkar) of each, to manage their house-
hold affairs. Qamruddin Khan son of Firuz Jang Khan,
had come to Court; he got leave to depart after being given
a robe, a jewelled dagger, and an increment of 5-sadi
(200 tr.) making him a 2}-hazari (2,000 tr.).

CONQUEST OF RAICHUR

On Friday the 29th November, 1689/26th Safar,
Bakhshi-ul-mulk Ruhullah Khan [333] captured the fort of
Raichur, whigh was now named Firuznagar. A robe and a
farman of praise were sent to him. His son Khianahzid Khan
was promoted to 11-hazari (600 tr.). On“Wednesday the
18th December/16th Rabi. A., the. imperial camp started
on the return journey from Koregaon towards Bijapur. On
Friday the 3rd January, 1690/2nd Rabi. S,, the army
arrived at this city for passing some time. After passing
fifteen days, on the 9th February, 1690/10th Jamad. A.,
the camp reached the village of Badri, Bakhshi-ul-mulk
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Bahramand Khan chose a neat place on the bank of
Krishna for the imperial quarters. The Emperor likedﬂi{::e
and presented the Khan with a diamond ring. Here His
Majesty stayed for two months.

. One day while the Emperor was holding thé high Court
of Justice, Saldbat Khan, the first Mir Tuzuk, presented a
man who said, ““I have come from the far-off land of Bengal
to become your majesty’s disciple. I hope that I may gain
my desire.”’ The Emperor smiled, took out of his pocket
and gave the Khan about 100 rupees and bits (churn) of
gold and silver to be presented to the man and said, ‘“Tell
him that the favour he expects from me is this!”’ The
Khan gave him the money, but he flung it away and [3834]
jumped into the river. The Khan raised a cry lest he should
be drowned. By command some people swam and rescued
him from the river. , His Majesty turning his face towards
his inner circle, said to Sardir Khan, ‘A man has come
from Bengal with the silly notion of becoming my disciple.
(Hindi verses)*

Tupi lende bawri dende, gahare nilaj,
Chuha khadan mawli tu kal bandhe chhaj!

“Take him to Miin Muhammad Naf’i Sirhindi and
‘request him to admit him as a disciple and to lay the cap
of Sirhind on his head.”” God be my witness that there is
(not) in this age any Shaikh or fagir except this Emperor,
who reveals the ascetic behind the veil of the king and exalts
asceticism by this type of kingship, who has reached such
a degree of holiness as to train a disciple and lead him
up to the rank (of a perfect hermit). But in spite of his
possessing power that stretches up to the heavens, his ngtlﬁre
is marked by humility, and in spite of his possessing riches
and the materials of pomp, he is 2 man of prayer. (Verse)

£ that king of kings under
I am the servant o g dngs under nty

oy Is of the lord and
Are cofbined the externa’s (‘)che soul of the ascetic.

———er————

. P i i let, for what it
* L ofter the following forced mt;t;s;e}tat;?;lu ‘g]]ihlnsf ;ﬁgn& on 8 peaked

26
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On Saturday), the 15th February 1690,/ 16th Jamad. A.,

the'Emperor learnt from the letters of the réws-writers that
fort Sansani had been wrested from the infidels by
Muhammad Bidar Bakht, [335] and the vanquished had
been sent to'Hell, On Sunday the 18th May/19th Shaban,
the imperial camp marched from Badri to Galgala. Aminat
Khan diwan of Bijapur, became ddftardar of tan wvice Haji
Shaf‘i Khan; Abul Mukdram succeeded him. Khwaja
‘Abdur Rahim Khan became dirogha of dagh and tashiha
vice Mu‘atamad Khan deceased. A robe, and a sarpech were
sent to Muhammad ‘Azam, and a robe, a jewelled quiver and
bow, a horse, an elephant, a sarpech, a gracious farman, and
the title of Bahadur to Bidar Bakht.” Muhammad Mu‘azzam
was presented with five maunds of rose-water and two
" maunds of the essence of -bid-i-mishk? Udwat Sing, who
had cothe from home and had audiencg; received a robe and
the title of Raja. Khan Jahan Bahddur Zafar Jang
Kokaltash was made Subahdar of Allahabad, and his son
Himmat Khan that of Oudh and faujdar ot Gorakhpur.
‘Abdullah Khan became faujdar of Nander vice.Sazawar
-Khan and Sardar Khan that of (the circuit of) twelve kos
round the camp, receiving a promotion of 400. The
Emperor learnt that Safdar Khan, son of ‘Azam Khan
Kokah, faujdir of Gwalior, had attacked a garhi, and been
killed by musket shot. Prince [836] Khujista Akhtar was
brought from Aurangabad to the Court by Hamiduddin
Khan dirogha of the fil-khinah. The Prince had audience
and was ordered to stay with his father. As Hamiduddin
Khan paraded the elephants in a stout condition, he received
an increment of thirty troopers. It was learnt from the
letters of news-givers that Rustam Khan Sharza, who had
been appointed to patrol on the side of fort Satira, had been
attacked by the enemy in that district, defeated after a long
contest, and made prisoner with his family and children.



CHAPTER XXX1V.
34TH YEAR OF THE REIGN: 1101 Ak, -
29th May, 1690—18th May, 1691.

Khwija Khidmatgir Khan became nazir and dirogha
of the jewel department vice .Khwija Khidmat Khan, who
became caretaker (wali) of the tomb of Shah Jahan, thus
taking to a life of retirement. The Emperor ordered the
officers (governors) [837] of every province to send 2,000
rupees to the Khan (latter) as a standing practice. Lut-
fullah Khan was sent-to the thanah of Khatav. Shaikh
Abul Mukaram, - ‘was _appointed thanahdir of Buda
Panchgaon. Ahmad Aqi, ambassador of the Kaisar of
Roum, Nazag-Bey, envoy of the king of Bukhard, and
‘Abdur Rahim Beg, envoy of the king of Kashghar, had
audience; presented the letters and gifts of their masters;
and wére’ rewarded, with their followings at the first
interview, during the period of their stay, and at the farewell
audience, with all kinds of gifts and presents, consisting of
_robes, precious jewels, horses, elephants, and some cash.
In return for the friendly presents of these kings, rare
objects and woven stuffs of Hindustan and jewels and
precious and substantial articles were sent to them.
Hamiduddin Khan was ordered to convey treasure to the
army of Muhammad ‘Azam Shah. Mir Nuruddin became
giladir of Murtazabad Miraj. Jan Nisir Khan, was
presented with a robe and an elephant (and sent) to punish
the enemy. Diinat Khan, son of Amanat Khan, became
diwin of the subahs of the Deccan vice Musavi Khanf
deceased. ‘The late Khan was ome of the pure breedh9
Irin, unique by reason of his greatness of characlteé‘, 1?_
patronage of scholars and artists, [838] his knowle gi o
the rational branches of learning, and his skill in poetry.
He was a son-in-law of Shih Nawiz Khan and thus senior

to His Majesty (by marriage).

ASAD KHAN GOES BEYOND THE KRISHNA

90/19th Safar
On Wednesday, the 12th November, 16 ;
‘UmdaI:-ul-fm?ﬁf Iggad Khan set out by command to punish
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the enemy roving on the further side of the river Krishna.
He was presented with an amulet containing the Quran
in a diamond-ornamented khanah (cover), a special tobe,
and a horse.worth 500 mohars. His chief subordinates were
favoured with robes, jewels, swords, horses, and elephants,
All others got robes according to their positions. Multafat
Khan dirogha of ja-namiaz-khanah, got the post of the head
of abdar khinah (close to the Emperor) in addition to his
own duties, vice Khwija Hayat Khan- Wafa. Muhammad
Mun‘im got the aminship of; the 7-chauki vice him. On
Monday, the 23rd February, 1691/4th:Jamad. S., the
Emperor marched from Galgalaj'newly named Qutbabad,
and alighted outside the fort of Bijapur opposite the gate
of Rasulpur, this being his fourth visit to the environs of
Bijapur. On Saturday, the 11th April/22nd Rajab, Khan
Jahan Bahadur was appointed nizim of the Panjab wice
Alijah: Himmat Khan, his son, succeeded him as the
subahdir of Allahabad. [339] On Monday the 18th May,
29th Shaban, Bakhshi-ul-mulk Bahramand Khan, who had
gone to beat the enemy, had audience, receiving an incre-
ment of 5-sadi, which made him a 3%-hazari (2-hazar tr.).
Mukht3dr Khan was sent to punish the enemy. Muftakhar
Khan, one of his subordinates, was appointed to go to
Sholapur, and then return escorting Shaikh-ul-Islam, who
was coming to court by command.



-

CHAPTER XXXV.
35TH YEAR OF THE REIGN.
19th May, 1691—6th May, 1692.

On Wednersay, the 27th May, 1691, 9th Ramzan,
Muhammad Kam Bakhsh was sent to put down the rebels
of the country of Jinji and to root out the enemy who ruled
there. By an increment of 5-hazari (3-hazar tr.) he became
a 30-hazari (15-hazar tr.). [340] He was presented with a
robe, a sarpech and half-sleeves, a jewelled dagger, sword,
shield, kalgi, inkpot and manik, twenty horses with saz
of enamel and gold, a horse with silver sdz and two lakhs
of tupees in casﬁ'. Among his companions, Bakhshi-ul-mulk
Bahramand Khan and other chiefs, and his clerks, were
presented with jewels, robes, horses, and elephants. Dindar,
zamindar of Islamgarh [Deogarh in Gondwana], was given
the rank of a hazdri (same tr.) a robe, a horse, an elephant,
the title of Raja, and permission to go ‘home’.

From Raja Bishan Sing, (faujdar of Mathura) came 2
letter with a gold key announcing that Garhi Soghar had
been wrested from the infidels on the 21st May /3rd Ramzan
and that the baffled enemy had fled ruined to nooks and
corners. On Friday, the 19th Juhe/2nd Shawwal, Hami-
duddin Khan was sent to punish the enemy towards
Sakkhar,* receiving a jewelled jigha. Mukhtar Khan Mir
Atish, was appointed to punish the rebels near Ra1b_agh and

i, receiving a robe and an elephant. Gl.lazmddm
Khan Bahidir Firuz Jang and his son Chin Qalich Khan
were favoured by female elephants. being preS_ented to Fhez_n.
Lutfullah Khan became dirogha of the khas chauki vice
Salabat Khan, Mukhlis Khan Qurbegi, Khanahsad Khas,
son of [341] Ruhullah Khan and Jan Nisdr Khan Wf,’ge cac
promoted to be a 2-hazari (700 tr.). Salabat Khanl gcﬁn;e
a 2% -hazari (1200 tr.), Sayyid Saif Khan Nur-IIl -ha %7;3
a 1¥/_hazari (700 tr.), Muhammad Yir Khan, a 12/66 atz a)
400 tr) and Khidmatgar Khan, a hazont ( . r:r;
Lutfullah Khan was removed from hlS’ mansab of ZA -naza
(1000 tr.) for some offence.

* Sakkhar, near Shorapur in ihe country of the Berads.
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RELEASE OF PRINCE MUHAMMAD SU‘AZZAM FROM CAPTIVITY

At the beginning of the Emperor’s displeasure, the
Prince and his sons were not allowed even to cut the hair
of their heads. Six months passed in this way. Khidmat
Khan nazir who had been %a@ib of Shah Jahan, and could
speak boldly in consideration of his old services, urged this
matter before the Emperor beyond limit. At that time the
Emperor only ordered the Prince to be reformed [by
punishment.] After a time, when the 'violence of his
anger gradually abated, and the natural-kindness of His
Majesty returned, transcripts of Quranic prayers were
repeatedly entrusted to Sardar Khan, muhafiz, with the
order ‘‘Convey these to this second Joseph and captive Jonah
and tell him to be engaged in reciting them, so that the
kindness of God may incline my heart to 1elease [342] him,
and cause him to be freed from the pain of separation from
me.”” A fine idea was contained in this rare expression,
so that the aforesaid Khan submitted to the Emperor, ‘It
is in your Majesty’s discretion to release him.’ The
Emperor replied, ‘‘Yes, but the King of kings—supreme
is His wisdom—has made me ruler. of the habitable globe;
so that wherever oppression is practised by anybody on
another, the victim may hope that he will complain to me
and will thus secure justice. -Owing to certain earthly con-
siderations, I have inflicted hardship upon him. But the
time has not yet come for releasing him. He has no asylum
except the Court of God. Then, he ought to be kept in
hope that he may not despair of me and ccmplain to God;
ffor, if he complains to God where shall I have refuge?’’ As
it was destined that this Prince would one day become
sovereign, the Emperor’s heart was inclined to this that
the Prince wonld come out of his sufferings and troubles
into the sunshine of royal favour. He began to give gradual
and systematic relief to the Prince, with every caution .

and. care ;so that even a fly might not trouble this soul-sick
patient. * * # =* :

On the day when His Majesty marched away from
Badri, he ordered the said muhafiz, {8431 that whenever
the Emperor would ride away from his halting-place, the
imperial tent should be kept_standing with its carpets and
decorations uncharged, and the Prince be brought from his
quarters to it, shown all the places and made to sit every-
where for'some time, so that all his senses and limbs might
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acquire a proper change of relish from the deligh
efthilaratiog. It was QOne. The Prince said to the Iiu%é?g;d
] ought to have an interview. How can the thirst for an
interview be slaked by a mere view of the house?’’ "This
went on till the news of the death of the Prince’s mother
Nawwib Bai came from Delhi. Pavilions were spread from
the courtyard of the Private Audience Hall to the Prince’s
quarters, and a screened lane formed, and the Emperor
with Zinat-un-nisi Begam visited the Prince and condoled
with him. After this, on Monday, the 20th July, 1691/
4th Zil.Q., the Prince was granted an interview. He was
ordered to perform the zuhar namdz in company of the
Emperor and to come and perform the Friday prayer in the
mosque of the palace (Bijapur), whenever the Emperor went
to the Jaim‘a mosque to say his Friday prayer. And simi-
larly, the Prince sometimés came by command to the baths
situated in the fort for washing and purifying his body, and
sometimes in order to enjoy delights he visited the garden
and tank of Shahibad, founded by the Emperor. In short,
the veil was gradually removed. ]

Khwija Daulat Mahalli (eunuch). was ordered to bring
the Prince’s family from Delhi to the court. [344]
Muhammad Mu‘izzuddin and Muhammad ‘Azim each
received the rank of 9-hazari (2000 tr.), Muhammad R?:f‘l-
ul-qadr that of 7-hazari (1000 tr.), and Muhammad Khujista
Akhtar received a robe. They made their bows for
these favours in the Hall of Public Audience. Hamiduddin
Khan received an elephant and a robe. On Monday, the
20th July, 1691, Bakhshi-ul-mulk Rubullah Khan was sent
towards Nasratabad Sakkhar, his followers being rewarded.
Tahawwar Khan, son of Salabat Khan, became sazawal of
the army of Kgm Bakhsh; he was a 8-sadi (800 tr.), and
now rcceived an increment of 100 (50 tr.). Lutfullah
Khan after dismissal, was reinstated. Saf Shikan Khax;
brought to the Court the harem ladies and dependants o

nhammad Mu‘azzam who had arrived from Delhi at

Aurangabad. News came that on Sunday, the 4th October /
21st Muharram, ‘Umdat-ul-mulk Asam Khan had 1n1}:leré
viewed Kam Bakhsh at Kadapa, and that the two had i‘{eaﬁ. ‘é
Jinji, on Wednesday, the 16th December, 1691/5th Rabi. q

On Friday, the 18th December/7th Rabi:S., a ma’
pauper unsheathed a sword in the Jam'a moscg}%-ﬁ He
towards the Emperor. ‘The bodyguard captufie ;he' 24th
was made over to Salibat Khan, On Thursday,
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December /13th Rabi.S., while the Emperor was riding out
to hunt, Muhammad ‘Azam and Bidar Bakht interviewed
him, and accompanied him during the whole journey [845)
and on the spot received their leave to set out for Nasratabad
Sakkhar. Bakhshi-ul-mulk Bahramand Khan, who had come
by command from Kam Bakhsh’s army-to the Court, had
his interview on Thursday, the 31st December, 1691 /20th
Rabi. S. On Saturday, the 16th January, 1692/7th Jamad.
A., Zulfigir Khan Bahadur was rewarded for the capture
of fort T'rinomali by being promoted to the rank of 4-hazdri
(2,500 tr.). On Tuesday, the 26th April, 1692/19th
Shaban, Sultins ‘Azzuddin and ‘Izzuddin, sons of Prince
Mu‘izzuddin, and Muhammad Karim and Farrukh Siyar,
sons of Muhammad ‘Azim, had audience, receiving increase
of their daily stipend, favours, robes and jewels.

On Tuesday, the 3rd May/26th Shaban, the Emperor
started from Bijapur, and halted at Qutbabad for the second
time. During his stay he used fo visit the city for the
purposes of offering his (daily) prayers, Friday prayers,
and ‘Id (prayers). Rashid Khan daftar-dar of khalsa was
appointed to collect the money and ascertain the revenue
of some khalsa (mahals) of Haidarabad. The Emperor’s
favourite and pupil, ‘Inayetullah, mustaufi of dima and
news-writer of the kachari of Khan-i-siman, became the
deputy of the Khan and got the title of Khan and an incre-
ment of 100 making him 800 [cor. 6007 (60 tr.). Sardar
Khan [846] an old and trusted household slave, died. He
was devoted to the Emperor’s good and the service of the
people inwardly and outwardly alike." He loved faqirs.
His son Hamiduddin Khan who deserved the Emperor’s
favour for giving indications of fidelity, got the kotwalship
and other posts vice his deceased father.. The Emperor
visited the mosque which was being built close to the private
Audience Hall, for saying his five daily [cor.] prayers and
performing his constant devotional exercises, and laid a few

stonscs with his own hands in order to accumulate spiritual
merit. :
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7th May, 1692—25th April, 1693.

® E 3 ' *

On Sunday, the 8th May/2nd Ramzan, Muhammad
Mu'‘izzuddin was sent to punish the enemy, spread near
Asa‘dnagar (Akluj), being given a robe with balaband and
sarpech, twenty-one horses, an elephant, and an increase
of a hazdr zat (same tr.), making him a 10-hazdri
(3,000 tr.). [847] Prince Raf‘i-ul-qadr got an increment
of a hazari zat,” becoming a 8-hazari (cor. 1,000 tr.)
Muhammad Khujista Akhtar received his first mansab,
T-hazari zat. Amanat Khan became defender of Auranga-
bad vice M‘amur Khan, who become faujdar of the country
of Bir; the former was a 13£-hazari (600 tr.) and now
received an increment of 300 troopers, the l:at_ter was a2 114-
hazari (400 tr.) and nmow received an addition of 400 tr.
Muhimid Khan son of Sayyid Murtaza Khan deceased, who
had been previously kmown as Hamid Khan,—became
faujdar of Miwat and was made a 3-hazari (2,500 tr.) by
an increment of 500 tr. ‘Abdur Razzaq Khan Lari, of
Haidarabad, became’ faujdir of Konkan and the environs of
Rairi, receiving an increment of a hazdr troopers, making
him 2 4-hazdri zat and A-hazdr tr., a horse, an elephant and

kettledrums.

MARRIAGE OF PRINCE MUHAMMAD A‘AZIM

V 1
o , the 26th June 1692/21st Shawwal,
Muhalgmasc;1 n'(flkazjgn;\. [-ud-din] was married to the daughter

Khali e bride-
of Ruhullah Khan, son of Khalilullah Khan. The
groom reczived a s:zrpech worth 17,000 rupees, 2 bizzu}imzd
worth 8,000 rupees, a horse with jewelled saz, an ; Oe% aI},,;;
and an increase of a hazdr zat making bhim a 10-haza

(2-hazar tr.). Sayyid Muhammad and Sayyid Muhammad
27 -
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J‘afar Gujrati, successors at the tombs of Qutb-ul-‘Alam
[848] and Shah ‘Alam, came from Ahmadabad to interview
the Emperor, and according to the fixed custom each
received a robe, an elephant and a certain pecuniary aid
when going back, On Tuesday, the 5th July 1692/1st
Zil. Q., the Emperor issued an order to Himmat Xhan son
of Khan Jahin Bahadur Zafar Jang, Subahdar of Allahabad,
to come to Court. Buzurg Ummed Khan, son of Amir-ul-
umira, Subahdar of Bihar, succeeded him at Allahabad,
and Muzaffar Khan, another son of Amir-ul-umara, became
faujdar of the sarkar of-Jaunpur vice him.

Ruhullah Khan died.” In lineage he was like the Sun;
in acquirements foremost_in. all points; of all good manners
he was the master and he set his heart on hestowing favours
on the people. As he was the son of the Emperor’s maternal
‘aunt’s son (cor.) and was adorned with many noble qualities,
his departure grieved His Majesty, God pardon him! One
of the signs of his being most probably pardoned was the
fact that the Emperor visited him in his last moments and
prayed to God for pardon on his behalf. At the time of his
death he recited -the verse:

With what pride is (thy) servant leaving the
world, [349]

That yot have come to his (bed) head at the time
of his giving up life!

. Khinahzad Khan, his worthy and favourite son, got an
increment of 500 zat (300 tr.) making’ him a 2-hazéri
(1,000 tr.), and became Qurbegi wice Mukhlis Khan.
Bahramand Khan became Mir Bakhshi vice the deceased,
and received an increment of 500 (same tr.) making him a
4-hazari (2,000 tr.). Mukhlis Khan succeeded him as
secpnd bakhshi, ‘receiving an increment of 500 zat
which made him a'2}-hazari (700tr.). ‘Azizullah Khan,
:brother of the deceased, became 1%-hazari (600 tr.). Khwaja
Abdur Rahim Khan'died. Mir Husain Amanat Khan
became bayutit wice him. ‘Indyetullah Khan became
diwan-i-tan wice the last, receiving an increment of 100
(20 tr.) making him a 7-sadi (80 tr.). The diwanship of
sarf-i-khas too Wwas -entrusted to him, and he received a
further promotion by twenty troopers. Salibat Khan,
begged permission to go to Delhi-on account of severe
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illness, but died after pas§ing a few stages. At this time
he used frequently to recite (verse):

I have myself come and betaken myself to the
corner of the sepulchre,

That my bones may not burden any body’s
shoulders.

[350] He was honest and skilful in conducting business,
and quick and expert in pleasing his master. Muhammad
Bad‘t of Balkh, after dismissal was reappointed 3-hazari
(700 tr.). On Friday, the 22nd July, 1692/18th Zil. Q.,
the Emperor ordered that Munhammad Mu‘azzam should
come to the Court-house (‘addlat-gah) and have the honour
of an interview and kissing the ground. On Friday, the
2nd September/1st Mubharram Khidmatgar Khan, nazir
got an increment of 500 (150 tr.), Mubammad Yar Khan
that of 500, making him a 2-hazari (400 tr.). Kakar Khan,
an’ officer of the army of Kim Bakhsh, was appointed
thinadar of Jinji, and received an increment of 500 (300 tr.)
becoming a 1}-hezari (700 tr.). Mir Husain, mushrif of
macebearers, was sent to Delhi to bring the servants (ladies)
of the harem of Muhammad Mu‘izzuddin to Court.
Muhammad Jamil, envoy of the ruler of Hadramaut, got
leave to return, a robe, and 2,000 rupees. On Mondg_y, the
24th October/23rd Safar Raf‘iulgadr and Khujista Akhtar
were ordered to come to the mosque for the zuhar prayer 1n
company_ with their father. Lautfullah Khan and Asilat
an were sent to the thanah of As‘adnagar. Two thousand
troopers who had been reduced from Raf‘i-ul-qadr’s mg@sag
were restored to him. Khwija Mubarak was appointed ndib 1(1)
Khidmatgar Khan in the post of nazir of the estatghsh-
ment of Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam. Raja Udwat Singh,
zamindir of Urchha, serving in the armiy of Firuz Jangt
Khan was made faujdar of [851) Irij with an 1ncr¢6mf n)
of 500 24t (same tr.), making him a 2-hazart (1,50 tlil‘e
‘Abdul Hai, mushrif of farrashkhanah, reported to he
Emperor that according to his command the res1denc§-ten o
the Prince had been charmingly furnished. The 'n'lpethe‘
ordered Khidmatgar Khan and (other) seryants to joun On
Prince’s cortege and convey him to .this n?ags,m%'amil_
Wednesday, the 30th November 1692/1st Rabt. 55, 24N
uddin Khan, faujdir of Hindaun-Bayana, _Waslpg%o () in
500 23t (same tr.) to the rank of Q-kazanf( {2t quarter.
reward for his having extirpated the rebels of that q
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‘Ttigagd Khan, son of the Amir-ul-umirid deceased, became
Subahdir of Agra and faujdar of its environs, receiving an
increment of 200 tr. which made him a 1}-hazari (1,200 tr.)
Zulfigar Khan Rahidur was made a 4-hazari (3,000 tr.).
Khudibanda Khan son of the late Amir-ul-umara,* became
fanjdar of Bahraich; he was-a 9-sadi (400 tr.) and now got a
hundred more. Abul Muhammad Khan Bijapuri, was a
3-haziri (1,000 tr.), and now got an increment of 500
troopers. Mukhtar Khan a 8-hazari (1,500 tr.), was now
given back the 500 zat (100 tr.) which had been reduced
from his mansab. Hamiduddin Khan passed in review the
elephants in a robust condition ; 200 troopers were added to
his rank of -hazari (600 tr.). On Thursday, the 12th
January, 1693/15th Jamad. S., Muhammad ‘Azim was
presented with sixty pieces of cloth, coats, sarpech, fota,
half-sleeves, and [352] balaband. Anwar Khan dirogha of
khawases, son of Hakim ‘Alimuddin entitled Wazir Khar
in Shah Jahan'’s reign, died, leaving nothing on earth. Or
Wednesday, the 1st March/14th Rajah, Multafat Khan,
daroghd of dbdar-khinah, received the above post vice the
deceased,- and was promoted by a hundred zat (60 tr.) to
the rank of a hazgri (150 tr.). His office brought him close
to the Emperot’s person. .

Letters of spies informed the Emperor that owing to
‘'the scarcity of grain which prevented the army from standing
firmly, Zulfigar Khan Bahadur had retired twelve kos
abandoning the trenches at Jinji. Some time before this,
letters had been received stating that- the enemy had
crowded round Zulfigir Khan at the siege of Jinji, that no
provision was coming to him, and that if any reinforcement
arrived, he would be relieved from distress. An urgent
ordeg' was issued to ‘Umdat-ul-mulk Asad Khan, who was
staying at Nandiyil, to hasten to his son’s aid. As he
delayed in going, the Emperor wrote another farman with
bis own hand in open court, when I happened to be present,
_and overheard the Emperor saying to Fazail Khan Mir
Ml‘lnshl, *‘Asad Khan represents himself as eager to see his
son. Now that the latter is hard pressed, he delays and
neglects in hasteningto him. He might well say (verse)

‘O Angel of Death! I am not heavy,
Iam (only) an unfortunate old man.’ [353]

*S@ista Khan died in April, 1694. (P. 368.)
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“It is easy to make a boast but quite another matter to
prove it true.”” As, before going to that side ‘Umdat-ul-
mulk had openly said in his own circle, ‘“The Emperor has
pot yet assigned any task to me. If I were to be com-
missioned, he would see what a Turk can do” and this
speech had been repor_ted to the Emperor, His Majesty now
addressed the aforesaid Faziil Khan and Qabil Khan, the
dirogha of the library, ‘‘His Turkship is over. How runs the
proverb?’> Both of them recited it, as they had heard it,

‘Digar ba-khud manaz ke Turki tamam shud,
‘Don’t brag again; as your Turkship has ended,
(i.e., your boast has failed).’ ’

This verse was embodied in the farman.



CHAPTER XXXVII,
37TH YEAR OF THE REIGN !
26{511 April, 1693—15th April, 1694.

# % % At the gracious arrival of the blessed month of
Ramzan, exhilarating to the Muslims, the bud of ‘Id
blossomed in the garden of fasting, and the thorn and
bramble of the oppression and irgury done by the infidels
were totally swépt away from the flower-bed of the age. * %

A glazed- palki was sent by the Emperor to Prince
‘Azam Shah, who was attacked by dropsy, [354] so that
when journeying he might travel in care and safety. The
Emperor ordered that excepting those who Lad been granted
palkis by himy none of the Princes, shihzidas and amirs
should come in g palki within the gulalbar. After a time
permission was given to ‘Umdat-ul-mulk Asad Khan and
the intimate servant Muyltafat Khan to come [in -their
palkis] so far. The agent of the Rani of Bidnur presented
her letter and tribute, consisting of 300 hun.

THE SAD CONDUCT OF KAM BAKHSH
* % '* *

‘Umdat-ul-mulk, after conquering the fort of Nandiyil
in Kadapa district, which is the frontier of Karnitak
Haidarabadi, had encamped. The Prince was sent from the
Court to capture fort Wagingera in company with Bakhshi-
ul-mulk Bahramand Khan [355] and engaged in the work.
When Bakhshi-ul-mulk Ruhullah Khan was appointed to
this task, the Prince by command turned to reinforce
‘Umdat-ul-mulk. When he arrived at Kadapa, an imperial
Q;der was received directing him and ‘Umdat-ul-mulk to go
to’the aid of Zulfigar Khan Bahadur Nasrat Jang, who was
bes:egm_g Jinji and who had been put to hard straits by the
assembling of the enemy and the failure to get provisions.
The Prince, in his pride of youth and under the influence
of the evil counsels of flatterers and his disinclination to
listen to the words of experienced and far-seeing ‘men,
travelled all the long way from beginning to end, stage by
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tage on horseback, the journey including hunting and
isiting (noted) places. Bahramand Khan util%sing his gppor-
unities, pleased the Prince by his smoothness (of tongue)
ind gentleness, and left for the Court. ‘Umdat-ul-mulk,
nspite of his great weakness and the infirmities of age, had to
mdergo trouble and hardship in observing proper etiquettes
ind travelled all the way on horseback in constant sadness.
But as the kernel of complaint turns into the grain of vexa-
tion in the soil of friendship, and the result of mutual opposi-
tion is calamity and disgrace, the ill-feeling between the
partisans of the two chiefs grew stronger. The displeasure
and bitterness on the two sides increased through the inter-
vention of bad men. When the army came near Jinji, Nasrat
Jang Khan advanced to welcome the Prince, and had audi-
ence. The Prince sat in the audience-hall. [356] ‘Umdat-ul-
mulk, Nasrat Jang, and Sarfaraz Khan got permission to sit
down; Lashkar Khan, son of Sayyid Khan Jahan of Barha
had expected equality of treatment with Nasrat Jang, but on
being disappointed in that hope, left the audience-hall in
anger, and never again went to interview the Prince. The
servants of the Prince alleged to Lashkar Khan that this
incident was due to the machination of the father and the
son, while these [two] generals made him believe that it
was owing to the Prince’s disfavour. All the materials for
illfeeling and malignity were thus assembled, and these
things increased the irritability and disturbance in the
mind of the Prince. Meantime, through the agency of
some reckless fools, the Prince opened a secret corres-
pondence with Rama [Rajaram] in the fort. The enemy
were greatly encouraged by this occurrence and Pl‘ac,tlsed
mischief-creating and ~ deception and misled the Prince.
Nasrat Jang ‘who watched every direction and paid one
thousand rupees daily to his spies in the fort, learnt the
truth about this secret affair, and the father-and the son
wrote to the Emperor about the state of affairs and “éeil‘e
permitted, at their request, to station Rao Dalpat Bu’a e
In constant attendance at the Prince’s residence, an tg
forbid the Prince’s riding, holding court, and the ingr eésstanI_
egress of strangers without the permission of U.n;fa f}l;e
mulk. The quarrel became public. The spies wit 1:111 his
fort repeatedly sent news that the Prince in concert Wl or

wicked servants [357] wanted to enter the fort on’:itk and
mght, by reason of his difference with ‘I.deaf‘“l‘m{: t]:eir

asrat Jang. The father and the son being shaken by the
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fear of the king ol men, held a consultation with the chiefs
of the army and with the consent of them strengthened the
chauki (sentry) and strictness (in examining visitors) at the
door of the Prince, and by common consent called in the
thanahdars from around the fort. As soon as the army
wilhdrew from around the fort, the enemy getting news of
it came out in a strong body to fight, and a battle raged o
every side. ‘Umdat-ul-mulk was busy at the base-camp
(bungah) in guarding the Prince, Nasral Jang was engaged
m the trenches in planning to remove the large guns and
other siege materials. They could not help the thanahdars;
everyone who could come away safely by his own exertions
did so; the rest were destroyed. Isma‘il Khan Makha, a
great commander, who held the thinah 1n the rear of the
fort, stood up to fight; but the enemv were too many and
he was wounded and carried off through the cxertions and
reinforcement of Santa. A great confusion occurred. Nasrat
Jang hastened the work of withdrawal from the trenches;
the large guns were (mekh zadah) damaged by hammering
nails into their touch-holes, and having ar1anged his men
he carried off all the property to the camp. At this time the
enemy in great confidence, joy, and vigour surrounded
Nasrat Jang in a body of one lakh of horsemen and infantry.
The (Prince’s) camp was two kos and the fort-wall only a
quarter kos from the place. The audacity of the infidels
was beyond measure, and death faced the Muslims. At this
time the Khan Bahadur and all the other commanders had
not with them more than [358] 2,000 troopers. The Khan
relying on God’s help and keepmg the Emperor in his
remembrance, joined the battle with a loud cry. The heroes
made brave Charges, a greal give and take battle was fought.
About three thousand infantry of the enemy were slain by
the Islamic ghézis, and three hundred cavalry too. ‘The
Khan Bahiadur, on an elephant drove them back to the door
of the fort, the garrison shut the gate. In this conflict one
thousand 1n[ant1y of the enemy petished. The 1mper1ahsts
gained the victory and the enemy took to flight., The
Muslims captured one thonsand mares which the enemy had
left behind when fleeing to the fort. About four hundred
horses and four elephants of the victorious warriors were
slain by cannonball and zemburak fire. And the same
number of eager fighters from among the mansabddrs of
the retinue and other corps became martyrs, Few were
nnwounded, After such a greal victory the Khan Bahadur
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atrived at the camp at the end of the day, and met “Umdat-
ul-mulk. As they had learnt that the Prince and his
advisers had formed the plan of imprisoning the father and
the son when they would come to visit him, the two rode
out and unceremoniously enteted the Prince’s house and in
fidelity to their master, took their master’s son [359] nto
their custody. Next day the Khan Bahddur reassured and
cheered all the members, great and small, of the army, and
made them happy by the presentation of elephants, horses,
robes and cash rewards. He gained victories (several) times
over the enemy. As grain was exhausted and the troops
had not the strength to stand up, he made some sort of truce
with the ettemy, marched away to the imperial dominions,
and halted. At this time orders were received from the
Emperor commanding that the Prince should be sent to
Court with Muharram Khan. ‘Umdat-ul-mulk set out for
the Court. The Khan Bahadur [Nasrat Jang] returned
after four months, again laid siege to the fort, and pressed
the garrison hard. I shall narrate in its place the capture
of the fort and the escape of Rami |Rajaram] and Santa.

On Wednesday, the 14th June 1693/20th Shawwal,
Kam Bakhsh arrived at the Court, and through the
mediation of Zinatunnisa Begam had an interview with the
Emperor in the harem, He presented one thousand mohars
as nazar and the same number of rupees as nisar.

An imperial order was issucd that no amir to whom a
sarpech of jewellery was granted should wear it except on
Sunday ; they should be content with it and should not make
another (sarpech) themselves and should not wrap their
head [with any such unauthorised sarpech]. [860]

On Sunday, the 13th August, 1693/21st Zil. H.|
Khan Jahidn Bahadur Zafar Jang Kokaltish Khan, the
dismissed niizim of Lahore, had audiencg. His son Himmat
Khan Bahadur the dismissed Subahdir of Allahabad, prayed
for an audience, but was ordered to convey the family of
Muhammad ,Mu‘izzuddin to him at Parnila. Hamiduddin
Khan, who had gone to punish the enemy returned and had
audience on Saturday the 7th October/16th Safar, Formerly
he had to stand outside the barrier (katra) railing; the
Emperor now graciously gave him the honour of standing
within it. ‘Indyetullah Khan on the occasion of the death
of his maternal uncle Mulli Muhammad Tahir, received
a shawl balaband., On Thursday, the 9th November,

28
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1693/20th Rabi, A., ‘Umdat-ul-mulk Khan Jahin Bahadur
informed the Emperor that Himmat Khan had had a three
days* fight with Sant3, and had defeated the infidel after
great exertions. Raja Anup Singh became faujdir of
Nasratabad Sakkhar, R‘adandiz Khan, qiladar of Imtiazgarh
Adoni, Sardar Khan that of Muhammadabad Bidar, and
Mfamur Khan, faujdir of Bir and Shiwgdon, receiving
promotions and rewards.

ARRIVAL OF ‘ALIJAH ‘AZAM AT COURT.

Prince ‘Alijah, who had been summoned to Court on!
account of his illness, (arrived) with Muhammad [361]
Bidar Bakht Bahidur and Shahzida Muhammad Walajah
on the 22nd October /2nd Rabi. A., and had audience. As
he had not yet fully recovered, the Emperor wished to be
himself his physician and nurse. (The Prince) resided in
the tent which had been set up for his residence in the
middle of thé gulalbar close to the Hall of Private Audience,
and in which a hall and two rooms had been built for
sheltering him. On Sunday the 5th November, 1693 /16th
Rabi. A., Muhammad Walajah became a 7-hazari (2,000 tr.)
and was given a standard and kettledrums. Khan Zaman
Fath jang, an officer of the Prince’s army, had audience.
Hakim-ul-mulk and Fazail Khan Mir Hadi, Mir Munshi,
who had been sent by the Emperor to the Prince for treating
and soothing him respectively, returned with him and had
audience. The Emperor went once every day to see the
Prince, and partook of the Prince’s sick-diet with him and
Zinat-un-nisa Begam. And that was the only food which
the two took till the Prince recovered. Thank God, through
the blessed efforts of the Emperor, the Prince recovered from
such a fatal illness. Muhammad S3lim Aslam a servant of
the Prince found the date of recovery in the verse :

““The Prince’s medicine was only the Emperor’s
prayer.”” [862]

The Emperor heard it and praised the poet.

On Saturday, the 23rd December, 1693 /5th Jamad. A.,
the Prince (on recovery) came to the Private Aundience Hall,
sat down before the Emperor, and so gladdened him.
Hakim-ul-mulk, who had shown marvellous skill in the
treatment, was rewarded with promotion of a haezar zat



1693] ILLNESS OF ‘AZAM, HOW CURED 219

making him 4-hazari. Shih ‘Ali Jah narrated the history
of his own illness thus: ‘‘Three years before this dropsy
appeared, Hakim M‘asum Khan used to say indirectly in
my presence but plainly by messengers that he had observed
the symptom of dropsy in me and was trying as far as
possible to guard my health and check the disease, and that
he would feel satisfied if I took medicine, followed a strict
regimen, and abstained from the things that caused the
disease. I did not listen to the words of the deceased. Two
years after his death I reached the brink ; when I was about
to go towards Jinji, this disease appeared. Although Hakim
Mubammad Shaf‘i, Hakim Muhammad Raza, and Hakim
Muhammad Amin Sawji, worked hard, the disease became
severer, till it came to this that the girth of my sleeve was
increased to 14 gira and yet I felt it as too tight. The girth
of the cloth of my drawers (pdijama) was one yard and
six gira. I abstained from whatever was fit to be given up.
Instead of water I drank essence of white succory and night-
shade. The doctors, as they were of good intention, used
to say ‘‘the Prince does not abstain’’: [363] At night all
gave up hopes of recovery and expected my skin to crack.
The Begam, Muhammad Bidir Bakht, Gaiti Ara, Bakht-
un-nisi, and some other inmates of my harem, who
surrounded my couch, and I werg half dosing and half awake,
when a*luminous man with beard and moustaches, yellow
like wheat and barley, appeared at the foot of the bed facing
me, and standing near he said, ‘Up to this time no part of
the disease has gone away. Make sincere and un’relapSI.pg
penitence, and God will give you quick recovery. I sg}d,
‘I shall repent in any form of words that you command, and
God willing, shall not relapse into the sin, And so 1;1
repented at the direction of that internally and externally
great being, and felt ease of body. He vanished. Iinformed
the Begam and other people and gave them the glad news
of my recovery. That instant I felt inclination fo pass
water, passed two large ewer-fuls in one discharge, and fel;
the traces of lightness and relief. - Up to dawn this Sorlt. o

urination occurred five times, and seven patts of my swel 1tr}11g
disappeared, Men asked me, ‘Could you recogmsca t:
great person who appeared at the bidding of the ria’
Healer» T answered ‘I do not know him of hlsDnam' h
But on the second day, Shaikh ‘Abdur Rahr:aand ar\g:n
wrote from Adoni forty kos from that place. “To ;’ Yg g
three gharis of night remained, His Holiness the L0
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mander of the, Faithful ‘Ali, the son of Abu Talib, said to
me, “T'o night I have given him dust, and.begged his
recovery of God; he will speedily recover. Don’t doubt at
all.” After my recovery, my servants, such as [364]
Mustafa Kishi and others distributed their own household
property with a certain amount of cash to fagirs and poor
men. Mir Zain-ul-‘Abidin gave away 12,000 rupees. After
my bath of recovery Hedait Khan held feasts for a week
and entertained (all) people, -at an expenditure of 15,000
rupees. The Begam sent 60,000 rupees as present to the
blessed Najaf and the exalted Karbala. One lakh and
twenty thousand rupees were sent to the poor of Mecca and
Medina and other sacred places from (my) own pursé. The
Begams and Shahzadas gave away some amount of gold to
the poor., When Hakim-ul-mulk and Faziil Khan arrived
from the Emperor, only a little swelling on the face and
hands was left. The Hakim prescribed electuary of gold;
on taking it a [new] swelliig appeared. He said “There
is no fear, it will now totally disappear’ Then I started for
the Court. I gave 2,000 ishrafis to the Hakim, with a robe

and an elepbant. Favouts were conferred on Fazail Khan
too.”’

Munawwar Khan son of Fath Jang, (by an increment
of b-sadi) became a 33-hazdri (2,000 tr.). ‘Ali Mardan Khan
Haidarabadi had been captured by the’ enemy; on being
released he'was made a 5-hazari (same tr.). ‘Umdat-ul-mulk,
whp ‘had retired from Jinji, and By command stayed at
Nasratahad Sakkhar, arrived at Court on Monday, the 8th
January, 1694 /21st Jamad. A., at the Emperor’s invitation,
Ot account of the affair of Kam Bakhsh, he had anticipated
the, severe anger of the Emperor. On the day of interview,
_when ‘he arrjved [365] at the place of making salim, Mul-
tafat Khan who was standing close to the throne by virtue
of his office of ddrogha of the khawases, recited in a low
tone :—(verse) ‘Forgiveness has a sweetness which venge-
ance lacks.” The kind Emperor said, ‘““You have tecited
it at the right time”’. Looking kindly at the chief of minis-
ters he ordered him to kiss his 'toes, and raised his Head
from the dust of distress. Sipahdir Khan son of Kokaltish
Khan Zafar Jang, who had become Subahdir of Allahabad
vice Buzurg Ummed Khan deceased,* got in addition the
faujdari of Jaunpur, and'the increment of 500 tr. to his

P

* On p. 369, ke is said to have died on 12th Mag, 1695.
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rapk of 3-hazari (2,500 tr. 7 ;
Rbinahzid Khan, who had gons earas i 25 in‘dm.
guard the way, arrived at Court on Thu afi 5. e Bh
February, 1694/22nd Jamad. S. Bidir Bakht o, e
chastise the enemy, receiving a dagger ith was sent to
}umdle( ;.m)i pearl ‘ildga worth 10 00% ru;:aes : I%ign(nlbg@
ang, (his) sens and relatives, an poi ¢
Prince’s army were rewarded withdr:&: rspri%l,ggt;d o t%le
horses, and elephants. On Thursday the 8th l\g ‘ fw; o
Rajab* Muhammad Mu‘izzuddin, gix’ring u thearci / 15;
Parn3la, came to Court; he was granted alzh) intersvieegve; i
company with his son ‘Izzuddin in the private chambem
Mukhtar Khan became Mir Atish. Nawizish Khan Ru i
became defender of chakla Moradabad. -
A Sayyid of Barha, who was a mansabdir and officer
of t__he imperial service and Amianullah, a trusted servant of
Shih ‘Alijah, were friends. [366] One day as they were
going tqgether to the same place, they had words, their
friendship was broken up, and a quarrel followed
Aminullah fatally stabbed the Sayyid with a cutlass
(jamdhar). The other Sayyids in a body went to the resi-
dence of Amanullah, situated in the camp of the Prince, on
whose side too, a large party appeared; a great tumult
occurred. ‘The Emperor on being informed sent Mukhtar
Khan Mir Atish; to the place to try his best to brine about
a reconciliation. ‘The Khan tried to catry out the command
and put down the tumult, but the Sayyids could-mot be
pacified. He reported the matter.. The Emperot wrcte on

the sheet of the letter the Qura‘m;c verse :—

“If two parties of the faithful quarrél, reconcile them,”
and if either of them rebel against the other, you may fight
against the.party that has rebelled until it inclines to the
commandment of God'’. That day passed. Next day the
Sayyids in a body sat down outside the Court of Justice.
Th? Emperor ordered them to go to the Qazi-ul-quzit, whose
decision according to the Holy Law would be carried out.
These fools cried out, *“We wo'nt go to the Qizi. We shall
settle the matter with our entmies.”

The .Emperor became angry on hearing these words;
he rolled nip his sleeves and cried out, A gjoup of men who
have often been beaten by me and felt my anger, dare give
such a reply when asked to conform fo the Holy Law! Let
lk W

had audience on the 28th or 20th

® Akhbarat sh that Mu‘izzaddin .
March ; so the ;tl?wligtz‘; was“t‘he date on which he started from Parnald.
]
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as mar'iy of them as may be here, come on in a body.’* He
ordered all the Sayyids serving in the khds chauki and the
old retinue to be dismissed, and to be expelled from the tent
in front of the door of the ghusalkhanah where they used to
sit. [867] Na man durst now speak a word. Saif Khan
and Sayyid Khan and other chiefs of the Sayyids like them,
took refuge in the houses of influential grandees and pro-
tested' a thousand times, “We were not in it’’. They
remained under disfavour and removal from service for some
time, and were then reinstated through petitioning and
mediation. They restrained their breath in their throats
and sat down on the knees of good manners. On one of
these days some twenty of the servants of Mu‘izzuddin
became rude to his diwan Fazl ‘Ali Khan and like ruffians
acted so violently that every one who tried to reason with
them met with abuse only. When it was reported to the’
Emperor, he ordered Hamiduddin Khan to go and punish
these men, as the recent affair of the Sayyids had disgusted
his mind. When the Khan went there they did not withdraw
but rushed into the burning fire. The capacity of moths is
well-known ; if a thousand of them collect together, they
cannot fill a closed fist. But when those few desperate
men charged these thousand men, all of the latter were
shaken and they fled away uncontrollably. At this time the
elephant of the Khan Bahadur frightened by the crowd and
tumult, stampeded -out of the field and ran for one kos
towdrds the Badshahi ganj. ,The Khan saw before him a
Jargé 'thatched house ifi. which grain was heaped up. The
instant the elephant came beside it, he coolly jumped down
»on it from His howda [368]. People pursued and brought
back the glephant. The Khan returned to the battle on
another remount. Ultimately the men were destroyed by
the fire of their own kindling, ‘



CHAPTER XXXVIII.
38TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1105 aA. m.

16th April, 1694—4th April, 1695.

* * * ®

News came that Amir-ul-umdri Shiista Khan,
Subahdar of Agra, had died. The excellent qualities and
praiséworthy virtues of this noble amir were such that the
fame of his liberality and charity envéloped the sky. His
memorials are the many caravan-serais and bridges which
he built at the cost of lakhs all over Hindustan. Salih Khan,
son of ‘Azam Khan Kokah, got his father’s first title Fidai
Khan and leaving the faujdiri of Gwalior, became Subahdar
[369] of Agra wvice the deceased. Bakhshi-ul-mulk Bahra-
mand Khan, a 4-hazari (2,500 tr.) got an increment of a
hozari, on Tuesday, the 8lst July/1694/18th Zil. H,
Zulfigir Khan Bahidur a 4-hazari (3,000 tr.) got an incre-
ment of a hazari zat. Bakhshi-ul-mulk Mukhlis Khan a
2,500 zat (600 tr.) got a promotion of 500 (100 tr.). By an
increment of 500 Fazil Khan Khin-i-simdn was imade
a 2L-hazari (500 tr.). On Sunday the Tth October /97th
Shabin, Ism‘ail Khan Makhi came to Court on being
released by the ememy, and was madg guard of the road
from Indi up to Murtazabad; receiving ap addition of & hazdr
to his rank of 5-hazdri (same tr.). Khénah'zaq‘Khan ’becam:
. dirogha of the servants of the khas chauki. * Aska‘r Khan
Haidarabidi  was made Subahdar of Oudh. . Raja Bhim
Singh 5-haziri, died. ‘Itigad Khan and Abul Mu ala, sans
‘of the Amir-ul-umara, and Murlidhar, diwdn of the'same
deceased, reached the Court on Friday, the 14th Dec_eill{l‘beﬁ'!
1694 /7th Jamad.- A., and got mourning robes. Ikblaskes :
after transacting certain business for which he had "ri‘een sen
by the Emperor to Ujjain, returned to Court. -On duighai ’
the 12th February, 1695 /8th Rajab, Buzqrg,qmnllgh ]
Subahdir of Bihir, died. His brothers Itigdd Khan an

Abul Mu‘ala, received mourning robes. Fidai Khan' became
, RS

a1 i £ Golkonda service, created
nfiammed AL e od ig the Fort St,’ George

® “Agkar Rhan, evidently M .
‘Askar ‘Al{ Khan by Anrangzeb, Often mentione

Diary of 1688-90;
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Subahdar of Bihir vice Buzurg Ummed, being [870]
succeeded at Agra by Mukhtar Khan, who was succeeded as
Mir Atish by Khanahzad Khan, who received an addition of
500 to his rank of 2§-hazari. The Emperor ordered the high
bakhshis to enter in the records the mansab' of Muhammad
Mu‘azzam as 40-hazari (same tr.).

Orders were issued at Court and in the provinces that
no Hindu except Rajputs should bear arms, or ride
elephants, palkis, or Arab and ‘Iriqi horses. On Monday,
the 1st April, 1695/26th Shaban, the Emperor marched
from Qutbabad, and on the 3rd April/28th Shaban arrived
at Bijapur for the fifth time. His camp was set up near
Nauraspur and Afzalpur. .



CHAPTER XXXIX.
39TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1106 A. H.

5th April, 1695—24th March, 1696.

® * * *

The Emperor passed the month of Ramzan here, as
Brahmapuri was not fit for his residence (as yet). One day
Khan Jahin Bahddur Zafar Jang presented to the Emperor
a small circular China ewer in the Court house (‘adalatgah),
[371] saying that it was the cup of Moses. The Emperor
glancing at it, gave it to Princes Muhammad Mu‘izzuddin
and Muhammad *Azim. On its neck were inscribed two lines
of drawings resembling writing. ‘The Shahzadas said,
‘“Then this writing must be Hebrew.”” The Khan Bahadur
looking at the characters said, ‘‘l don’t know Hebrew or
Mebrew. The man who sold it gave this information’’.
The Emperor said ‘“These are letters, and the workmanship
is not bad”’. Many wonderful and fantastic anecdotes are
current among the people about this merry and virtuous
Khan. But as the above incident happened in my presence,
I write it as his memorial. . ) ) .

The Emperor ordered Nizir Khidmatgar Khan with
Khwija Manzur to take a special robe to Muhammad
Mu‘azzam’s house, and bring him to the prayer-roomt' to
make his bow for it. He then came with the Emperor to thg
diwin-i-‘adalat, offered two-fold prayers and was Pefﬁlltte
to kiss the feet . The Emperor kissed his forehead.]aﬁlft€§
being presented with a diamond sarpech worth one L wod
rupees, a sword, two horses with enamel and gold ng: 1?1:0
an elephant with silver saz and talair, he was §en’c1 ack &
his mansion. Khudibanda Khan son of Amir-u -‘lé?%ro‘;'
after his father’s death came to Court from thg'falllijhail >
Bahriich, and got 3 mourning robe. Hamiduddin ll-ljazciri
cheiving an increment of 100 tr. became 2 I3

00 tr.). . . 4 .
As )the [3;72] eldest son of the Emperorsil\n}fla}? Aslaa:; n:’I;
His Majesty’s right hand and durmgl') n : iven that
‘retreat’ (disgrace), Shah Alijah had E ee rogr CWhat
honour, the eldest prince ‘asked the Kmperor,

29
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is your Majesty’s order about my right on the day of ‘1d?”
He replied, “‘Go to the ‘Idgah before my cortege and you
will sit on my right side””. He did so. When the cortege
reached the steps, Mu‘azzam advanced, interviewed, and
kissed the feet of the Emperor, who, after shaking hands
with him took his left hand in his own right hand and went
to the mosque, and so it happened that the eldest son sat on
the right, touching the Emperor. Shah ‘Alijah who came
behind and had a special sword in his hand, deposited it be-
fore the Emperor, and touched the arm of his brother wish-
1ing him to make room for him and let him sit down on the
right side of the Emperor. His Majesty’s glance fell on
that side; with his right hand he grasped the skirt of ‘Alijah
and brought him to the left side. Who else had the audacity
to advance or hang back? After the prayers had been said
and the khiatib had ascended the pulpit (mimbar), as soon as
the Emperor’s name was uttered (by the Khatib), His
Majesty rose up holding the hand of ‘Alijah, and made a
sign to the eldest Prince to depart. Shah ‘Alam went out
with his sons by .the third door and the Emperor by the
second.

Zakiat-un-nisi and Safiyyat-un-nisd, daughters of
Muhammad Akbar, who had. come to Court by command,
were ordered to be margied to Raf‘i-ul-qadr and Muhammad
Khujistah-Akhtar. On Thursday, the 9th May, 1695 /5th
Shawwal Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam [873] came to the
prayer-room and made his bow for the robe of farewell to
[act as Subahdar of] Agra, which had been sent to his
mansion with Khwija Manzur. He then went with His
Majesty to the diwan-i-‘adilat, and kissed his feet, the
Emperor kissing his forehead, and dismissing.him after
reciting the fatiha. 'Of his sons Muhammad Raf‘i-ul-qadr
and Khujistah Akhtar were sent with him, and Muhammad
Mu‘izzuddin and "Muhammad ‘Azim were left with the

Emperor; (they) were ordered to accompany the Prince to
his camp (daira).

THE EMPEROR’S MARCH FROM BIJAPUR TO BRAHMAPURI
RENAMED ISLAMPURL (1695).

. On Saturday, the 11th May/7th Shawwal the imperial
army moved from Nauraspur and Afzalpur, and reached
Brahmapuri on the bank of the Bhima on Tuesday, the 21st/
17th Shawwal. By order, -all the Emperor’s sons, shah-
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zidas, and nobles made their ‘‘bow of blessing”, on the
occasion of arrival here. On the way to his mansion the
Emperor passed by the tent of Shah ‘Alijah ; the circuit of
the daira appeared to him to be too large. The surveyor
was ordered to measure the area, and restrict it to the area
of Aurangzib’s own daira before his accession. A son was
born to Muhammad ‘Azim and the daughter of Ruhullah
Khan [374], the father presented 500 mohars as nazar; the
son was named Ruh-ul-quds. On Friday, the 23rd August/
22nd Muharram a son was born to Bidar Bakht and Mukhtar
Khan’s daughter. Shah ‘Alijah made his bow at Court and
presented 500 mohars; the newly-born child was named
Firuz Bakht. On Sunday, the 22nd September /22nd Safar,
Muhammad Mu‘izzuddin and ‘Azim, when getting leave to
go to Agra, went to visit Shah ‘Alijah and each received a
robe with baldband, half-sleeves, turban-end and necklace of
pearls, and an elephant. Khudabanda Khan was married to
‘Umdat-ul-mulk’s daughter, and got a robe. Zulfigir Khan
Bahidur was promoted to a 5-hazari (4,000 tr.), Bakhshi-
ul-mulk Bahramand Khan a 5-hazari (3,000 tr.), Bakhshi-
ul-mulk Mukhlis Khan a 8-hazdri (1,000 tr.) and Hamid-
ud-din Khan a 2-hazari.

A SHORT ACCOUNT OF THE DISASTER THAT BEFELIL KHANAHZAD
KHAN AND QASIM KHAN BAHADUR.

When the Emperor learnt that Santa after robbing the
imperial dominions was hastening with heavy loads to his
own country, [375] and would pass within eighteen’ kos of
the imperial camp, he ordered Qisim Khan, an active and
able officer who was commander of the country of Serd and
had arrived near Serd, to go with his army to the path.ci‘lf
the enemy and to punish him severely in company wit:
Khinahzad Khan, Saf Shikan Khan, Sayyid Asalat Khag,
Muhammad Murad Khan and ‘others who had been sent ‘tﬁy
the Emperor with forces composed of the mansabdars of the
khds chauki, the khas retinue and a large party from the
T-chauki and artillery. ‘

On Sunday, the ]}.’ch January / .23rd Jamad. S.,* the "L_“B

*The date given here is wrong by twe- months. Ag‘e’;bfg“ﬁg‘:’ﬁz’jﬂggj
that Qisim Khan had been killed more than 2 montht h ;ace-bearers sent
1696, and that 19th January, 1696 was the date on “(hlcdd-’ on. returned to

succonr Khinhziad after the disaster and urge Hanndnbe m1695 records “A
the Emperor’s side. Fort St. George Diar%,oithlsn ;;&mme:;’ are coming 'isto
fredible report that o Maratha army of 890, N, qgh of Sird.”

these parts and have already defeated Qasim
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forces united six kos from the track of the_ enemy. As
Qasim Khan’s household property was at Adoni and he
wished to entertain Khwija Khanahzid Khan and others
to his heart’s content, he brought out of the fort showy
articles, like Karnataki tents not yet used, gold, silver,
copper and china vessels of all. kinds, and sent them the
next day with his own advance-tents and those of other dmirs
to a distance of three kos (in advance). The enemy learning
of the arrival of the advance-tents, divided his army into
three bodies, of which one went to plunder the eamp, the
second to encounter the army, and the third was kept ready
(in reserve). At four gharis after dawn the first body fell
upon the advance-tents, slew and wounded many, and
carried off everything. All of a sudden the news reached
Qasim Khan, who without rousing Khanahzad Khan from
his sleep, hastened to the battle. [376] Before he had gone
one kos, the second body of the 'enemy told off for the battle
appeared and began to ight. Khanahzid Khan, on waking,
heard of it and leaving the baggage camp, porters, burdens,
and tents there, advanced quickly. As the enemy had a
numberless force of ““black infantry’’ musketeers and a
very large body of cavalry too, a great battle was fought,
and many were slain on both sides. In spite of the firmness
of the imperial generals and men, and the loss of the enemy,
the latter did not yield one foot of ground or show the least
shaking. At this time the third or reserve division of the
enemy fell upon the camp and baggage left behind and
plundered everything. When this news reached Khianahzid
Khan and Qasim Khan in the very heat of the battle, their
firmness was shaken, they held a consultation and resolved
to go to the place where the advance .tents had been sent,
where there was a small fort (gilacha) named Dodderi and
a tank before it. Fighting for a kos they arrived at the
tank in the evening. The enemy now left this party at
peace, and formed their ddira on one side. The imperial
men who were in the small fort shut the gates upon them.
The two Khans shared the food they had brought with the
others; and the common soldiers had nothing to eat except
the water of the tank, not to speak of grass and gram for
the horses and elephants. As the night closed, the enemy
ﬁlrrounded [877] the imperialists who stood ready to fight.
ﬁuﬁ for three days the enemy only appeared in view without
C%_mlg ; till some thousand infantry from the zamindar of

italdurg, who had been humiliated by Qasim Khan,
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came out to fight on getting an opportunity. On the fourth
day, before it was dawn, ten times the former number of
(black) infantry darkened the plain and began to fight. As
the artillery ammunitions had been plundered, and what
had been brought with the soldiers had been exhausted, the
troops sat down in helplessness, after running about and
groaning and sighing for some hours. As the enemy con-
tinued to hail musketballs, many men were destroyed here
also. The survivors, seeing the path of egress closed to
them, forced their way into the small fort. Trustworthy
reporters who were present at the catastrophe and fought
boldly said, ‘‘One-third of our soldiers were slain by the
infidels in the two advance-tents (pesh-khanahs), on the
way, and on the bank of the tank. The enemy besieged the
fort on all sides and felt sure that the garrison would die of
hunger. On the day of entering the fort, all the soldiers,
high and low, were given bread of jawar and bdjra out of
the provisions of the place, and the straw of old and new
thatches to the cattle. On the second day neither was bread
left for men nor barley for the horses. In this irremediable
distress, if life departs let it depart; Qasim _Khan’ was an
inveterate opium-eater, his life depended on it, the lack of
opium [378] became the tause of his death. He died on the
third day, and thus escaped the enemy, who became bolder
on hearing the mews. The garrison were correspondifigly
depressed. Though the enthusiasts said, ‘““How long should
we bear hunger and die in this miserable way? Let us once
fling ourselves on the infidels, and gain either martyrdom
or victory. In either case, we shall escape from distress and
gain merit,” the chiefs did not assent to it. And while many
died of hunger and the horses chewed each other’s tails
mistaking them for straw, the enemy overthrew one tower
and raised tumult on all sides. Khanahzad Khan begged f?r
safety, and a truce was made on condition that he woug
surrender to Santd the cash, articles, jewels, horses, an

elephants of Qisim Khan, besides twenty lakhs 'of ruPe*}S%
and that the son of Balkishan, his trusted munshi and Chlg

officer of his household, would be hostage. It was agrej:r_e .
Santi sent word that the men might come out of thef :{e
without any misgiving and stay two nights 1o front o the

gate; those who had anything need fear no mole'i:c}élltlc_m, eriasi
might buy from his soldiers what they needed. 1he side the
soldiers eft the fort after three days. From oue si The

enemy gave them bread and from the other water. y
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forces united six kos from the track of the enemy. As
Qisim Khan’s household property was at Adoni and he
wished to entertain Khwiaja Khinahzad Khan and others
to his heart’s content, he brought out of the fort showy
articles, like Karnataki -tents not yet used, gold, silver,
copper and china vessels of all kinds, and sent them the
next day with his own advance-tents and those of other amirs
to a distance of three kos (in advance). The enemy learning
of the arrival of the advance-tents, divided his army into
three bodies, of which one went to plunder the eamp, the
second to encounter the army, and the third was kept ready
(in reserve). At four gharis after dawn the first body fell
upon the advance-tents, slew- and wounded many, and
carried off everything. All of a sudden the news reached
Qasim Khan, who without rousing Khanahzad Khan from
his sleep, hastened to the battle. [376] Before he had gone
one kos, the second body of the enemy told off for the battle
appeared and began to fight. Khanahzid Xhan, on waking,
heard of it and leaving the baggage camp, porters, burdens,
and temts there, advanced quickly. As the enemy had a
numberless force of ““black infantry’’ musketeers and a
very large body of cavalry too, a great battle was fought,
and many were slain on poth sides. In spite of the firmness
of the imperial generals and men, and the loss of the enemy,
the latter did not yield one foot of ground or show the least
shaking. At this time the third or reserve division of the
enemy fell upon the camp and baggage left behind and
plundered everything. When this news reached Khinahzid
Khan and Qasim Khan in the very heat of the battle, their
firmness was shaken, they held a consultation and resolved
to go to the place where the advance tents had been sent,
where there was a small fort (gilacha) named Dodderi and
a tank before it. Fighting for a kos they arrived at the
tank in the evening. The enemy now left this party at
peace, and formed their ddira on one side. The imperial
men who were in the small fort shut the gates npon them.
The two Khans shared the food they had brought with the
others; and the common soldiers had nothing to eat except
the water of the tank, not to speak of grass and gram for
the horses and elephants. As the night closed, the enemy
§1rrounded [377] the imperialists who stood ready to fight.
ﬁu}fitfor t.hr'ee days the enemy only appeared in view without
C% ating ; till some thousand infantry from the zamindir of

italdurg, who had been humiliated by Qisim Khan,
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ame out to fight on getting an opportunity. On the fourth
lay, before it was dawn, ten times the former number of
black) infantry darkened the plain and began to fight. As
ihe artillery ammunitions had been plundered, and what
had been brought with the soldiers had been exhausted, the
troops sat down in helplessness, after running about and
groaning and sighing for some hours. As the enemy con-
tinued to hail musketballs, many men were destroyed here
also. The survivors, seeing the path of egress closed to
them, forced their way into the small fort. Trustworthy
reporters who were present at the catastrophe and fought
boldly said, ‘‘One-third of our soldiers were slain by the
infidels in the two advance-tents (pesh-khanahs), on the
way, and on the bank of the tank. The enemy besieged the
fort on all sides and felt sure that the garrison would die of
bunger. On the day of entering the fort, all the soldiers,
high and low, were given bread of jawar and bajra out of
the provisions of the place, and the straw of old and new
thatches to the cattle. On the second day neither was bread
left for men nor barley for the horses. In this irremediable
distress, if life departs let it depart; Qasim Khan was an
inveterate opium-eater, his life depended on it, the lack of
opium [378] became the tause of his death. He died on the
third day, and thus escaped the enemy, who became bolder
on hearing the news. ‘The garrison were correspondifigly
depressed. Though the enthusiasts said, ‘‘How long should
we bear hunger and die in this miserable way? Let us once
fling ourselves on the infidels, and gain either martyrdom
or victory. In either case, we shall escape from distress and
gain merit,”’ the chiefs did not assent to it. And whxlf. many
died of hunger and the horses chewed each other’s tails
mistaking them for straw, the enemy overthrew one tower
and raised tumult on all sides. Khinahzid Khan begged for
safety, and a truce was made on condition that he would
surrender to Santa the cash, articles, jewels, horses, an

elephants of Qasim Khan, besides twenty lakhs of ruPe?S%
and that the son of Balkishan, his trusted munshi and chlg
officer of his household, would be hostage. It was agr‘;e "
Santi sent word that the men might come out of thef fﬁe
without any misgiving and stay two nights 111 front o the

gate; those who had anything need fear no moles’t};ltl‘.’n ’ o 3{
might buy from his soldiers what they needed. The ngap the
soldiers feft the fort after three days. From one SIG -/

enemy gave them bread and from the other water. y
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stayed two nights at the gate of the fort. On the third day,
Khanahzad Khan started for the Court with an escort of the
enemy. Hamiduddin Khan Bahddur who had been sent
from the Court and Rustamdil Khan from Haidarabad to
aid the besieged, united near Adoni. [379] They gave neces-
sary help to the defeated nobles in the form of tents, dress,
and cash. R‘adandaz Xhan, qiladar, exerted himself in
helping beyond his means, and articles more than they
needed were collected, from the houses of all (the citizens)
and from all sides. The enemy, who after gaining such
booty had started for their homes, wished to fight Himmat
Khan Bahadur, who on account of the smallness of his force,
was staying at Basvapatan inspite of his having received an
order to punish the enemy.

DEATH OF HIMMAT KHAN.

The Khan Bahadur who had not. more than a thousand
soldiers with him, reached the enemy, and seemed likely
to defeat them, when suddenly, a musket-shot struck his
breast, and he died instantly. The elephant-driver wanted
to turn back, but Baqi Beg, commander of the Khan's con-
tingent, arrived there and told him, ‘““The Khan is alive;
drive the elephant forward. I shall drive away the enemy’’.
He encountered the enemy and stood his ground well. But
how long can a headless (army) make a stand ? There was a
small fort at hand, and he entered it. The enemy plundered
his baggage, and besieged the fort for some days. Then
finding it froitless, they withdrew; Baqi Beg seized the
opportunity and came to Court. The Emperor ordered
Khanahzad Khan to go to Zafarabad (Bidar) as Subahdar,
Saf Shikan Khan to Dhimuni as faujdir, Sayyid Asilat
Khan to Ranthambor as giladir, and Muhammad Murad
Khan to Dohad and Godra as faujdar.- The other soldiers
joined the imperial camp. [880] The Emperor gave to Khan
Jahan .Bahﬁdur and other sons of the deceased General
mourning robes, for the death of Himmat Khan, and con-
soled them with his gracious words. With his own hands
he presented to that high grandee (Khan Jahin) some khat-
dali and said, “For a long time I have been eating these.
instead of betel-leaf’’. Biqi Beg got a mansab of 5-sadi.
Lutfullah Khan became akhta-begi wice Saf Shikan Khan
and darogha of khas-chauki vice Khinahzid Khan, while
Ikhlis-kesh, amin of jazia for the province of Bidar became
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imin and faujdir of the parganah of Indur vice Muhammad
Kizim. He was a 4-sad: (50 tr.) and now got 100 tr. more,
Shah ‘Alijah went towards Bahadurgarh, receiving a robe
with half-sleeves, a balaband, and a muttaka of emerald with
a ruby set in it :» Prince: Wilajah got a robe and arsi, and
Jahinzeb Banu Begam a neck-pendant of ruby. Multafat
Khan dirogha of khawases, was promoted tc be a 1}-hazari
'(200 tr.).



CHAPTER XI..
40TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1107 A. H.

25th March, 1696—13th March, 1697.

& * & &

[381] On Wednesday, the 25th March /1st Ramzan he
started from Islampur for Sholapur, in order to observe the
fast, say the Friday prayers, attend constantly at the
mosque, and perform the prayer of I’d.

Sultan Muhi-us-sunnat, son of Prince Muhammad Kam
Bakhsh, had interview; a daily allowance was assigned to
him. Sher-afkan Khan son of Shahwardi Khan became
faujdar of Narwar and was promoted to be a 13-hazari (1,700
tr.). Arslan Khan a hazari, got an increment of 500. Tarbi-
yat Khan getting an increment of 200 tr., became a 2-hazari
(1,200 tr.). Sayyid ‘Azmatullah Khan by receiving an incre-.
ment of 500, became a 2-hazari (900 tr.). Bakhshi-ul-mulk
Mukhlis Khan presented to the Emperor a poetical work!
(diwan) of Saib in Saib’s own handwriting contain-
ing one lakh of couplets. As most of his poems
are considered the choicest in the world and as they
deal with moral advice and spiritual improvement,
the Emperor accepted it. And for a long time the
following ghazal was recited in the Emperor’s Court, and
men of wit used to imitate it, [omitted]. [382] Tarbiyat
Khan, who had gone to pumsh the enemy towards the hill
of Mahadeo had audience on return and got a robe. ‘Itiqid
Khan son of Amir-ul-umira deceased, became faujdar of
Islamabad vice Raja Bishan Singh. On Monday, the 2nd
August, 1696 /13th Muharram, promotion of a hazar troopers
was awarded to each of Raf‘i-ul-qadr and Khujistah Akhtar.
Ramchand, thanahdar of Khatav, was promoted to be a
2-hazar (1 500 tr. do aspa), Dhundi Rao, brought by
Tarbiyat Khan got the mansab of 13-hazar: and the thana-
dari of the hill of Mahadeo. Raja Kalian Singh, zamindar
of Bhadawar, who had come to court, was given leave tg
depart. He was a 7-sadi (400 tr.), and now got an increment
of 200 zat (same tr.), Khudabanda Khan became first mir
bakhshi of the ahadis vice Murid Khan. The Emperor learn
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that Prince Muhammad N
oly/220d Zi ad Mu‘azzam .
%)myp/eror.d [gélé II{'-’dStarfed for M&?t%u? o Friday, the 2nd
of Iradat Khan]l radat Khan II named l’\([by order of the
environs of Aura son of ‘Azam Khan bec: ubarikullah, son
(1,000 tr angabad and was ame faujdar of the
0 tr.). Hamidud promoted
Santi and to raise tllll din Khan 'who had fo be a T-sadi
and received prai e siege of Garh Dodd gone to Fonish
Rustamdil Kb se and the title of Bahad ert feached Court
promotions S:,i}? and other subordin ur. At his request
promotions,  Shuja'et Khan Muh gates received proper
learnt th:t ;__be_came a 4-hazari (saexlnnéfnad Beg, nazim of
was endowedAV?';};hKahsacnﬁS}lbahdar of Dtell-l'l)i. h'g}iledE:in P e
ence (of worldly poss eticism, freedom of spirit inde v
with vigilance and essions), and control of mi d ﬁl epend.
Mahabat Khan Ibn- treated his peers with nh. ¢ served
applied rahim, who was m haughtiness.
Pﬁace—b?ﬂ%ﬁ«Empm for per miss?gz ?;1 l‘);}hdar of Labore,
vpaiv gs of Delhi. A ‘by order’ ew the fort and
Emperor euI: ::plthe }%han (‘Aqil Khan)graflt;nv% t&e prayer
certain Objectiong ! Fi shall mot invite him (to tﬁo o) o
of ct ! First, he is te him (to the fort) for
> als:c(;h fI:;sltﬁ]?sn (til}at he should bz f\ll?;svgiags (xirligvr;i iy, maxi
room, iversion. Secondl w an imper’a
handfeclll ?‘;;?1 been closed, lest (the t}ﬁintgewégﬁys of
seer is H’Ot e chambers are without carg e’cs1 112 shoutd e
palace sh sluch (an important person) tI})mt E; anh.the sight
Then. a ould be cleaned and spread with 2;1‘ fs sake 44
I exr;ectgal‘n'i‘ﬁz rlenftervi:}rv he will not behave in I:i?.mgiig
. ore i
ot admittng him.” ere A e and scat
message about this desire, ‘Aqil Khan did i,
his destina sharp and rough reply, and he had tm‘ilte o
selfwil] aatilon. ‘The Emperor shut his eyes to tcl)xeef(‘f f?r
honet nd haughtiness on account of his long s ee,
impo rtz , and devotion, and entrusted the dis%h g of
accom lt'lth tasks to him. He was not without :;tge 0§
poeticflls ments. Rizi was his pen-name and he has leerfx;a \
peerless work and masnavis behind. He considered himsel%
of Mau] iln_solwng the difficult minute points of the masnavi
Muhna Rumi, He was liberal and charitable by nat
hammad Yar Kb i e Cour
to Delhj Var Khan, who after going from the Court
Delki pis was without employment, became Subahdar of
oy gotc:nt?e deceased. He wasa 21-haziri (1,500 tr.) and
ncrement of 5-sadi (same tr.)- Sadruddin Khan

30
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a 13-hazazi got 500 zat more, besides a position of honour.
Ekkataz Khan, son of Ekkataz Khan became faujdar’of
Ahmadabad [corr. Jahanabad] Korah, a dependency of the
province of Allahabad, vice ‘Abdus Samad Khan. Tahawwar
Khan, son of Salabat Khan, went to Saharanpur as faujdar.
Chhatra Sal, an officer of the force of Lutfullah Khan, be-
came a giladar and faujdar of Nasratabad Sakkhar, wvice
Sarfaraz Khan. Khan-i-‘Alam, son of Khan Zaman Fath
Jang, a 6-hazari (4,000 tr.), got an increment of a hazar tr.
Munawwar Khan, his brother, a 4-hazari (2,000 tr.), got 500
tr. more. Fathulla Khan a 2-hazari (500 tr.), got an incre-
ment of 200 tr. Khanahzad Khan, who had been appointed
[385] Subahdar of Zafarabad, had audience. ‘



CHAPTER XIL1.
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14th March 1697—2nd March 1698.

* * £ ®

The Emperor went from Islampuri to Sholapur to per-
form the religious duties of Ramzin. After performing the
two-fold prayers of “Id-ul-fitr (13th April) he returned to
Islampuri. Prince Mubammad Kim Bakhsh, ‘Umdat-ul-
mulk and others, great and small, who were in the base
camp (bungah), had audience and presented peshkash.
Bakhshi-ul-mulk Mukhlis Khan, had a son born to him, for
which he presented nazar to the Emperor, who named the
child Muhammad Hasan. ‘Abdur Rahim, son of Fazil
Khan Khin-i-simin, came to the Court from Delhi: his
father presented some beautifully-woven pieces of China
cloth (khatdi) and was praised. Kifiyet Khan Mir Ahmad,
the dismissed diwan of Bengal, became peshdast.of the
Khilsa office vice Rashid Khan deceased. Hedayetullah, son
of ‘Iniyetullah Khan, peshdast of the diwin-i-tan, became
mir-i-simin of Zinat-un-nisa Begam vice his father. Subhian-
wardi, son of Yalangtosh Khan [886] Bahadur offered pre-
sents on the birth of a son; the child was qam_ed_ Rghman-
wardi, Fazil Khan resigned the post of Khan-i-saman, and
became Subahdir of Kashmir vice Abu Nasar _Khalill-
Khinahzid Khan got the post of Khan-i-siman with the
title of Ruhullah Khan. Abu Nasar Khan became Subahda(li'
of Lahore vice Mukarram Khan who was summone
to Court. Khudibanda Khan became bayutat of the
Emperor. Sarup Singh, son of Raja Anup (cor-y Singh, Wai
sent to his father. He was a 7-sadi (59_0 tr.) andhnow g;)e
300 more. Matlab Khan and (cor.) Wath“ddl%f. alé:ﬁ:ch
sent towards Indapur to punish the enemy., (111_1 T sed
Khan Bahidur son of Khan Firuz Jang, being disp

with his father, came to Court. t(e_)rxxlrie(v‘;/?lal.lfitté% an;a:ntg}g
imperial camp, he was granted anhl(rilast of Ruhullah Khan,

waiting, Ikhliskesh became peshdas
hin-%simin.asB?fiir Bakht Bahadur was orde:eiolzg
g to Shih ‘Alijsh at Bahadurgarh, recelving
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and an ‘Iraqi horse with gold saz. Matlab Khan, a hazari
(400 tr.), got an increment of 500 (100 tr.). Ihtamam Khan,
by name Alah Yar, became akhta begi vice Lutfullah Khan,
Tahawwar Khan, son of Saliabat Khan, [887] came to
Court, on being removed from the faujdari of Saharanpur,
and got the post of darogha of qurkhanah. Prince Muham-
mad ‘Azim (Shahzada) became Subahdir of Bengal and
faujdir of Kuch Bibar, vice Ibrahim Khan who became
Subahdar of Allahabad vice Sipahdar Khan, ‘and 'whose son
Zabardast (cor.) Khan became faujdar of Jaunpur: Accord-
ing to the Emperor’s custom every year, rain-robes were
presented to the princes, the Sultans, the high amirs, and
high and low among the officers at Court and the provinces.
Mu‘atagad Khan, grandson of Lashkar Khan Shahjahini,
was appointed defender of the Subah of Burhanpur wice
‘Ifayet Khan son of S‘adullah Khan deceased. Zulfiqar
Beg, son of Darib Beg macebearer, showed the fruits of
good training; he was promoted from the mushrifi of the
stables to that of the diwan-i-Khas, Multafat Khan and
‘Indyetullah Khan were given rings set with ruby stones.
Ism‘ail Khan Makha was appointed faujdar of Islamgarh
alias Rairi vice ‘Abdur Razzaq Khan Lari, who became
faujdar of ‘Adil-Khini Konkan.

FLOOD OF THE BHIMA

One of the marvellous occurrences of this mirage-like
deceptive world, which is a testing ground (for true manhood)
was the raging up in billows, of the waterless calamity-breed-
ing ocean and the whirling of the fire-showering circle (the
heavens), in a tempest of clouds. It took the form of the out-
break of a second Noah’s flood, on the morning of Monday,
the 19th July, 1697/10th Muharram, in the river Bhima.
Owing to heavy rains at a distance, [388] a terrible flood
swept down, the very sight of which robbed people of their
lives; none had the courage to look at it. FEvery moment the
current, violence and wildness increased.

* * * *

At a distance of thirty kos from Bahadurgarh was the
camp of Shah “Alijah; the stores of fodder and fuel (panthi
wood) which the merchants had collected, came down the
river without being scattered. Many of the villages were
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lotally destroyed by the force of the flood. The men and
rattle seated on thatehes were carried helplessly down, by
the swift flowing water. Natural enemies like cats and mice,
dogs and hares, looking at each other trembled for their own
lives and drifted down peacefully together. After the water
had extended and covered the plain, the misls of ‘Umdat-ul-
muwk Asad Khan, Mukhlis Khan and others—many of
(these) rich men having built charming houses on the bank
of the river at great expense—were destroyed by the flood.
The rich memn got into boats and reached the barik of safety
after being tossed about. Others lost both life and property
in the river, * *

- [389] The hillock on which stood the mansion of Wald
Shukoh, the tents of Shah ‘Alijah, of Kam Bakhsh and
other great and poor men, was forty yards high, more or,
less. In three days only four yards of it remained above
water. ‘Through God’s grace, the water began to subside,
in the middle of the third night, and the people were released
from the captivity of water, * * * ¥

As the illness of Khan Jahan Bahadur Zafar Jang grew
severer, the Emperor while returning from Sholapur visited
him at his house on Saturday, the 20th November, 1697/
16th Jamad. A. The Khan was confined to his bed and could
not rise; the Emperor sat on the masnad, and the Khan
continued to lament that he could not kiss the imperial feet.
He said, ““I had wished to die in battle and thus be of service
to Your Majesty.”” The Emperor replied, [390] You
have been devoting yourself to my service all th’rough your
life, and yet your desire for it is not satisfied !’ Behold a
servant’s devotion and a master’s favour ! On Tuesday, the
23rd November, 1697 /19th Jamad. A., the Khan died. He
was a grand amir, full of piety and virtues, and a great com-
mander, His assembly (muhafil) was of great splendour, 1_31
which few persons spoke except he alone; he h1mse1‘f‘ Ssza1
what he desired; others had nothing to say except ‘Yes,
it is s0!”” He did not like much talk. In his assembheg,
the topics of conversation were mos_t!y verse, prose, sword,
jewel, horse, elephant, and aphrodisiacs. He did sofman;;
well-executed tasks and acts of bravery that even a iew 0
them can not be recorded here. . g

On Friday, the 24th December, 1697 /20th Jamad. S.,

2 5 3 20-
Kam Bakn de Subahdar of Berar. He was a 20-
haziri 77,5510‘”;?),111 2n:'1 now got 3,000 tr. more. Mirak
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Husain, his diwan, went as his deputy. As ‘Umdat-ul-
mulk’s illness made it difficult for him to sign his name,
the Emperor in order to expedite business ordered ‘Inayet--
ullah Kban to sign. ‘Umdat-ul-mulk Asad Khan placed
before His Majesty Zulfigir Khan Bahadur Nasrat Jang’s
despatch, announcing that the Islamic heroes, with God’s
help, {391] had captured Jinji which was situated on a high
hill and enjoyed the greatest fame and pre-eminence among
the forts and strong places of Karnatak in respect of height
and abundance of materials of war and defence, and that he
had slain large numbers of the infidels; and that the wretch
Rama [Rajaram] who had taken refuge in this stronghold,
being frightened at seeing the valour and hearing of
the assault of the ever-victorious army, had fled away from
the fort, leaving his family, property and things behind.
On Monday, the 7Tth February, 1698/16th Shaban, this
strong fortress, consisting of seven forts, was forcibly cap-
tured and annexed to the Empire. Four wives, three sons
and two daughters of the luckless infidel, his dependants,
friends, and assistants were made prisoners. And the hun-
dred other forts which make up the kingdom of Karnatak
with some ports of the Europeans, were annexed to the’
empire. The powerful and rich zamindars (of the country)
submitted and sent suitable tributes to the Emperor through
the Khan Bahadur. ‘Umdat-ul-mulk in reward for the
excellent work, [392] got an increment of a hazdr tr. making
him a 7-hazdri (same tr.); Nasrat Jang by an increment of a
hazar tr. became a 5-hazdri (same tr.), Rao Dalpat, an officer
of Nasrat Jang, who had endured great labour antl hardship
in this war, was a 2}-hazdri (1,300 tr.), and got an incre-
ment of 5-sad (200 tr.). The conquered fort was named
Nasrat-garh. ‘Itigdd Khan who was appointed Subahdar
of Agra, mece Mukhtar Khan, had his 500 conditional tr.
made unconditional, and was given kettledrums. Siadat
Khan died of pestilence. His son got his title, ahd with his
other relatives received mourning robes and promotions.
The post of darogha of the diwan-i-khas, vacated by his
death was given to Ruhullah Khan as an addition to his own
post of Khan-i-saman ; Qazi ‘Abdullah became Sadr.



CHAPTER XLII.
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3rd March, 1698—20th February, 1699,

* ® & &

As in the last year, this year too, the Emperor went to
Sholipur to pass the month of Ramzan in religious obser-
vances. On the 2nd April occurred the ‘Id-ul-fitr. Shah-
zada Bidar Bakht Bahadur who had been summoned from
Bahidurgarh to Court, halted at Deogion. Bakhshi-u}-
mulk Bahramand Khan and Mansur Khan, Mir Tuzuk,
advanced to welcome him and conducted him to the Emperor.
Before coming to the Audience Hall, the interview took
place in the mosque. He was sent towards Parnala and pre-
sented with a robe with sarpech of ruby and emerald, a
jewelled punchhi, a horse, and an elephant. The officers of
Lis force all got suitable favours. Bhagu Banjirah, who
on his first coming to the Emperor had got the rank of a
5-hazari (4,000 tr.) and had afterwards joined the enemy,
again came over to the Emperor and was restored to his
former rank, and given a robe, a horse, and an elephant.
(Verse) :— :

This my court is not a tourt of despair ; Even if
you have broken your repentence hundred times,
come (unto me) again.

Qizi ‘Abdullah died of (lateral) paralysis. Muhammad
Akram, one of the heredita(ry muftis of Delhi, who had been
serving as qazi of Aurangabad was summoned to court to
act as qazi of the imperial camp. ‘Inayetullah Khanfwlalts
ordered that, as the department of the Sadr was a part of the
department of the diwan, he should discharge the fornIlgr
work as deputy, till the appointment of another Sadr. Thz
Was a 9-sadi (70 tr.), and now got a sadi (80 tr.) more. h
Lmperor sent with Nur-ul-Haq a gracious farman, eage:hy
viting his brother Shaikh-ul-Islam [894] to come to the
urt, as he had not come once to the Court after his &'es];g‘;
Natjon of the qaziship and return from the Holy Land, bu
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was staying at Ahmadabad. The Emperor’s desire was to
appoint him Sadr, if he consented after reaching Court.
The holy man was planning to go to the Court, when a severe
illness overtook him and he hastened to the world for which
he had been feeling a great desire. The Emperor sent orders
to Muhammad Amin Khan, to hasten to the Court from the
army of Firuz Jang Khan, in order to take up this post (of
Sadr). Arshad Khan Abul ‘Ala, son-in-law of Amanat
Khan, had reached court after service in Kabul, and was
now appointed diwan of Khilsa vice Kifayet Khan deceased.
 News came to the Court that Amir Khan Subahdir of
Kabul had died on Thursday, the 28th April, 1698/27th
Shawwal. He was a perfectly beneficent amir, of high
dignity, one of the chief servants of the Crown, and a loyal
expert officer. Among his great feats was the regulation and
settlement of the disordered administration of the province
of Kabul. The Emperor greatly trusted him. As he was the
son of the Emperor’s maternal aunt and had done excellent
services and had thus displayed his greatness of character
in the period of prince-ship, His Majesty was very sorry
for his death. He sent an order to Mu‘azzam to start for
taking charge of Kabul, with [895] a sarpech worth 50,000
rupees. . '
On Friday, the 20th May, 1698/20th Zil. Q., Durgi-
das Rathor, through the intercession of Shuji‘et Khan
Subahdar of Ahmadibad, brought to Court, as the instru-
ment of his pardon, Buland Akhtar, son of Muhammad
Akbar, who was born during that Prince’s wanderings in
the land of the Rithors, left there on his flight from the
country, and brought up by the Rijputs with a view to
causing tumult and confusion. At his interview Durgadas
came with his wrists tied together. The Emperot ordered
him to be unbound, and gave him a robe, a jewelled dagger
and the rank of 8-hazari (2,500 tr.). Buland Akhtar had
audience in the private-chamber and got a robe and a
sarpech; his residence (daira) was placed within the gulal-
bar. Abul Fath Khan, son of Khan Jahin (Bahadur)
deceased, got a robe and a horse and permission to go to
Delhi, in order to be married there. Neknim Khan, son of
Himmat Khan, and grandson of Islaim Khan, became
bakhshi and news-writer of the force of Bidir Bakht Bahi-
dur and was made a hazdri (300 tr.) by an increment of a
sad, (200 tr.). Chin Qalich Khan Bahadur after punishing
the enemy near Bijapur, came to Court. Satva Daflé, had
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wdience, through the mediation of Mun‘im Khan, a

‘he rank of a 6-hazdri (5,000 tr.) and kettledrums. ’Batllzis%?f
al-mulk Mukhlis Khan became a 8-hazari (200 tr.). Tar-
biyat Khan [396] Mir Atish, who was sent towards Berir
to break up the enemy’s ckhauni, became a 23-hazari (1,200
tr.). Ruhullah Khan, Khan-i-simin, got the same mansab.
Muhtashagm Khan, son of Shaikh Mir deceased, was
reinstated after dismissal, as a 2-hazari (1,000 tr.). Chin-
Qalich Khan Bahadur was sent against the ememy near
Kota, and presented with a belt dagger.

Hedait-kesh Bholanath, a convelt io, Islam, son of
Chhattar Mal, became the head (kul) news-reporter after his
father’s entry into hell. Fazl ‘Ali Khan (son of) Murshid
Quli Khan became diwan of Multan. Mulla Abul Qisim
had been enjoying a daily stipend of one rupee, on condition
of chanting the Quran at the tomb of Shah {Alijah’s mother
in'Aurangabad. He was admitted as one of the new Deccani
mansabdars, and on account of his accomplishments he
become a high officer and the first bakhshi of Kam Bakhsh
and diwan of Bijapur, and got the title of Dardit Khan. He
used to say, ‘I have a taste for poetry (taba’-i-mauzani)
too’’. He took the pen-name of Tez-hush on account of his
acuteness. Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur who had gone to
demolish a temple and build a mosque (in its place) in Bija-
pur, having excellently carried out his orders, came to Court
and gained praise and the post of darogha of ghgsalkharfah!
which brought him near the Emperor’s person. Askfu' Al
Khan Haidarabadi, was appointed Subahdir of Berar wice
Kim Bakhsh. Muhammad Amin Khan on coming to Court,
got [397] the post of Sadr of all Hindustan, and three
emerald rings with silver enamel. Muhanim.ad Akram cax'nci
to Court from Aurangibad and became Qazi of the tmperial,
camp. Haibatullah ‘Arab, having brought from Haidara-
bad things worthy of Emperors, presented the_n? .‘ﬁi&nlllor}llq
them was a copy of the Nekdiya written by Mulla ‘Ab g }? Y
(the cook); the Emperor had got the first volume and ha

ith

been longing for the second. He rewarded the man wi
i rs, a mansab of
an elephant, an increment of fifty troog;:voy 2 mansab of

hazari, and 1,000 rupees. Qutbuddin, :

had audience. On thg day of interwegoge waig: enaa;;)]}a):é
: ohi mohars,

10,000 rupees, a mohar weighing £ farewell, a female

-weighing 200 , and on the day o : ~
élelﬁla:tg and 1288%5 rupees. Zabardast Khan, subahdar of

dh, was promoted to be a 3-hazdri (2,500 tr.). Fathullah
31
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Khan was appointed to patrol round-Parenda, and presented
with a robe and an enamelled dagger.

YAQUT, EUNUCH, WOUNDED WITH AN ARROW :

Khwaja Yaqut, nazir of Kam Bakhsh, owing to his
sincere fidelity and devotion to his master’s interests, some- :
times spoke to him true but harsh wo:ds [398], which
offended some ruffians who had access to the Prince and
stuck in his service. The villains wished to pierce him with
an arrow. On Monday, the 12th December, 1698/18th
Jamad S., when he was returning at night from the Prince’s
palace to his own house, a rascal, who was waiting on the
way for an opportunity, shot a two-forked lance-like arrow
at him. As he had some life still left in him, the Defender
of Life prevented ‘the arrow from entering into the
membrane of his stomach, and made his arm serveasa
shield. Otherwise he would have been killed.

(Verse) If the enemy is strong, the Protector is stronger
still.

When the Emperor learnt of it, * * * he decided to
inquire into the matter in order to protect his servants and
ordered the chief of police of the camp to imprison five of
the chief jam‘adars of the Prince’s service, and to exert
himself in finding out the archer. The kotwal, after getting
hold of four men who loyally surrendered themselves,
reported that the Kokah (foster-brother) of the Prince was
reftactory. The Emperor ordered that Khwija Muhammad,
the Prince’s bakhshi, [399] should bring the man to His
Majesty. The bakhshi, after softening him with flattering
words brought him in his company near the imperial palace,
when he turned back at the instigation of some wicked men.
What could he do? Fate was adverse to him. Khwija
Muhammad reported to the Emperor, ‘“He will not come,
and is making preparations for disobedience.’’ The Emperor
ordered that the Prince should expel him from the camp.
The Prince summoned him, gave him two kundred dshrafis,
a tent, and porters, and sent him away, and was displeased at
his expulsion.” He had not yet crossed the river, when the
Emperor sent a message to the Prince, ordering him to bring
this man with himself to His Majesty’s Court and to inter-
cede for the pardon of his insolence. The Prince summon-
ing him back, took him to the Court. On being informed of
it, the Emperor ordered the Prince to come to the Preserce,
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lavg'ng ‘Ehe _Kokah in the diwan-i-khis. The Prince
iplied, ‘“This man and I must have audience at the same
lace,” and after taking off his own balaband, he tied the
‘okah to his person firmly round the waist. When these
npleasant acts were reported, the Emperor ordered him to
emain in the Court-house (‘adalatgih). Then according to
ommand, Bakhshi-ul-mulk Mukhlis Khan conveyed good
dvice to him. As fate was then hostile to the:Prince, he
lid not listen to the good counsel. Hamiduddin Khan Bahi-
lur was ordered to separate this bad companion from the
Prince. The Prince drew his dagger (katdr), the Khan
grasped his hand to wrest it. The Khan received a cut, but
through God’s mercy the Prince remained safe; and what
happened happeng¢d to that wretch. [400] The Emperor on
learning of it, ordered that a tent should be set up near the
jewel-room and the Prince confined in it by way of punish-
ment, and the Kokah should be sent to prison for punish-
ment. The Prince was dismissed from his mansab, and all
his wealth, furniture, and insignia of dignity were confis-
cated. By order, the Prince’s chief officers were brought
before the Emperor, presented with robes, and taken into
His Majesty’s service. Lo
At this time the head of Sant3, sent by Ghaziuddin
Khan Firuz Jang, reached the Court, and was ordered to
be paraded through the chief parts of the Deccan. In many
places of this book something has been already narrated
about the villain; the rest of his history is this :—After
the affair of Dodderi and the martyrdom o.'t: Himmat thin
Bahidur, Santi wanted to go towards Jinji. An 1mp§r1a1
order to pursue him reached Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur
who left the company of Ruhullah Khan to carry out the
order, arrived quickly, fought with him, and recovered soms
of the elephants of Qasim.Khan.. Then an order reache
the Khan that Bidir Bakht had been-ordered to chase him,
and that he should come to Court leaving some of his Oﬂg.cegs
who had been appointed to accompany the Prince be mh.
The Shahzada too had severe fights with the w{etgh,4v(‘)’li’
escaped in safety every time. On the way to Jmalh[ ]
the villain had had a fight with Dhani Jadav, dw o wa1
conveying Raja Rama to Jinji, on account of an olh qqari':“.,
Santa triumphed, and capturing Amrit Rao, brot er:ln-h ad
of Nigoji, the companion and assistant of Dhanaé, Raia
him trampled down by an elephant. He also capture ag 4
Rima, but Dhan3 escaped. The next day Santd appear
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with his hands tied together before Raja Rama and said,
*“I am the same servant (as before). My rudeness was due
to this that you wanted to make Dhana my equal, and to
reach Jinji, through his help. I shall now do any service
that you may command”. He released and conducted Raja
Rima to Jinji. In fighting with Zulfigar Khan Bahadur,
intriguing to instigate Kam Bakhsh, throwing the siege into
confusion, and in capturing Ism‘ail Khan Makha, he took
a leading part. When the fort was captured, he fled with
Raja Rama, and went towards Satara to fight with Dhana,
who was there. In this battle with Dhana fortune deserted
Santa, he was severely defeated and fled from the field with
only a few men to the zamindari of Nigoji, with whom he
sought refuge. Nagoji politely’ gave him shelter in his
house ; but his wife, whose brother had been slain by Santi,
urged. her husband and another brother not to let him go
away alive. Nagoji dismissed him with friendliness but his
wife’s brother went in pursuit, seeking for an opportunity
of wreaking vengeance. At this time an imperial order to
pursue Santa [402] reached Firuz Jang, and in addition to
his own troops, the troops of Shahzada (Bidar Bakht) and
Hamiduddin Khan were placed under his ccmmand. Matlab
Khan, who was appointed sazawal, on hearing this news
came tipon Santa, ’lPhe stories vary, but he was either seized
by the Khan and sent to hell, or was slain by the same
claimant of blood (Mané’s brother-in-law) ; his head fell into
the hands of the soldiers of Firuz Khan and was sent to the
Emperor. * * #* # In return for this splendid service, the
Khan was rewarded with a turban (“@mat), in addition to
praise; and Matlab Khan got an increment of 500.
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21st February, 1699—9th February, 1700.
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The Emperor went to Sholipur to pass the month of
Ramzin and to celebrate the ‘Id. Mansur Khan was ordered
to bring the harem of Kam Bakhsh from the base (bungah).
M‘amur Khan became faujdar of Karnatak vice Atish Khan
deceased. Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur [403] became
darogha of the second jewellery department vice Muharram
Khan (Khwija Muharram ‘Ali-Mardan Khani) deceased.
Rustam Beg Khan Circassian, ome of the relatives
of Rustam Khan Bahadur Shah-Jahani, who had newly
come to India and got into service, became giladar of Man-
galbidi vice Yahya Khan. The Emperor ordered that Kam
Bakhsh should perform the zukar prayer in the mosque of
the palace of Hasan-bari and the ‘asar prayer in company
with the Emperor. Muhammad Amin, deputy of Sarbarah
Khan Kotwal, was ordered that, as Mirak Husain the dis-
missed diwin and niib of the Prince had misappropriated
large amounts of imperial money, he should confine him in
the chabutra and realise what the diwdni officers would
report as due from him.

I knew this noble; he had many praiseworthy qualities
but had no genius for conducting business. One of the many
mistaken acts which are notorious through the world is this :
like two or three other grandees whose names need mot be
mentioned here, and who delighted in the praise of mean
people and their own servants for their alleged practical
ability and honesty,—he too remained satl.sﬁe.d with sug:hda
[false] reputation. At last the whole thing" was exposed.
During his niibship of the subah, his wicked sons, 1i;1m3u3
hereditary acquaintances, roguish faqirs, pm;bl;;i ande
and glib, who enjoyed the confidence of this grahdee, toal
seeing him so negligent and inexperienced, mlsapprolznaded
the money of the Emperor and the Prince, and at lastdgrzhe
him in the police lock-up (chabu.tm-z-kotwalz),. an : in
they themselves quickly fled to their homes, leaving him tq
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suffer. [404] In short, some virtuous nobles, like Mukhlis
Khan, Multafat Khan and ‘Inayetullah Khan, finally took
pity on him, came to his aid, and together spoke well of him
to the Emperor, so that he was released from confinement,
but did not look up again, till death came to him.

By order Khudabanda Khan went to guard the base,
and ‘Umdat-ul-mulk came to Court to'perform the prayer
of ‘Id. On the day of ‘Id Kam Bakhsh wode on horseback
in the cortege of the Empéror. Peshkash was presented
to His Majesty (by many). Rewards and favours were con-
ferred (for the ‘Id), Buland Akhtar came to make the bow
of blessing for the ‘Id. Ruhullah Khan after transfer from
the darogha-ship of the diwan-i-khas, got an increment of
5-sad to his former rank of 2}-haziri. Hedaitullah Khan
presented nazar on the birth of a son. Mansur Khan-darogha
of artillery of the Deccan, reported that his brother Muham-
mad Yusuf Khan giladar of Qamrangar (Karnul) had sent
as prisoner, a man who had given himself out in that neigh-
bourhood as the.rebel Akbar. He was ordered to be made
over to Hamiduddin Khan.

On Thursday, the 20th April, 1699/29th Shawwal,
Kam Bakhsh went to a tent, pitched one chain (jarib) out-
side the gulalbar. On Tuesday, the 16th May /26th Zil. Q.,
the messengers of Rana Amar Singh had audience: they
brought one elephant, two horses, nine swords, and nine
drawers of leather as peshkash. [405] Kimgar Khan and
Raja Man Singh son of Rup Singh (Rathor) were 24-hazaris,
each got 500 more. ‘Abdur Rahim Khan, brother of Khan
Firuz Jang, a hazari, got 500 more. On Tuesday, the 30th
May, 1699/10th Zil. H., Kam Bakhsh went to and returned
from the ‘Idgah before the arriyal and return of the imperial
cortege. On Sunday, the 18th June/29th Zil, H., he made
his bow for being restored to his rank of 20-hazdri. On
Saturday, the 24th June/16th Muharram, Chidi Qalich
Khan Bahadur returned to Court after chastising the enemy
near Kotd. The Emperor ordered Bakhshi-ul-mulk Mukhlis
Khan to advance to the gate of the fort of Islampuri to wel-
come him and to.conduct him to his presence. By an incre-
ment of 500 (200 tr.) he was made 3}-hazari (3,000 tr.). On
Monday, the 10th July/22nd Muharram, Muhammad
Ibrahim, son of Najabat Khan deceased, who had the title
of Khan-i-‘Alam, after being released from prison, ‘was
restored to the rank of 8-hazari (2-hazar tr.) and appointed
faujdar of Jaunpur, Indra Singh and Bahadur Singh, sons
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of Rind Raj Singh, were made 2-hazari (1,000 tr.) and a
hazari (500 tr.) respectively. Muhammad Amin Khan
reported to the Emperor from the letter of Firuz Jang Khan
that the zamindar of Islamgarh, on being defeated by the
imperial forces had fled and that Islimgarh had been cap-
tured. A bogus Buland Akhtar, the son of Shuja‘ who had
appeared mear Allahabad, was captured and conveyed to
Gwalior by a mace-bearer, who brought a receipt under the
seal of the qiladdr. A cup of midwiyam stone* [406] sent by
*Shuja‘et Khan to Multafat Khan was shown to the Emperor.
As 1t was dappled, the Emperor liked it. The Khan was
ordered to write to Shuji‘et Khan to make vessels like the
cup and tray and send them to the Emperor.
The Khan made and sent extremely nice vessels with some
additional things, wviz., throne, cistern and bedstead of one
piece and many carpet-stones of exquisite fashion and size.
They were accepted by the Emperor. Wahid Khan, grand-
son of the famous Chagtai, became thinadar of Ghorband;
he was a 3-sadi (same tr.). Satvd Daflé,} who had come to
Court, fled from the army through the deception of the
dragon of ill-luck. Tarbiyat Khan Mir Atish, Sayyid Khan,
Shukrullah Khan Kashghari and others were 'sent to pursue
and punish him. H3ji Khanam, sister of Khan Jahin
Bahidur, came from Delhi to Court after ler brothey’s death
and received jewels worth 5,000 rupees, a half-sleeve, a
do-shala and 2,000 rupees in cash. Nasrat Khan son of
Khan Jahin Bahadur, a 9-sadi (500 tr.) got 1(_)0 more, while
his youngest son Abul Fath Khan, a 7-sadi (300 tr.) got
8-sadi (100 tr.) more. Zidullah, son of ‘Iniyetullah Kh?'n
presented suitable peshkash on the birth of a son. Mukhl 1?
Khan conducted to the Presence Muhamuiad Tagi, the é}lllle.
of the merchants of Persia; he preserited 2. Quaan, af torl
langar, 27 tiqa of gold-embroidered cloth, and ‘atr o fitna.
Ruhullah Khan became darogha of the imperial retmt;le .wc?
Zulfigir Khan Bahadur [407] and Siadat Khan that oa
‘arz-i-mukarrar vice ‘Abdur Rahman Khan. He was

7 . Saf Shikan Khan
hazari (200 tr.), and now got 500 more. ‘ordered
became agent of the Crown Prince. The Empel‘m‘

—,

. . d on
* Stones nsed as weights to keep carpets stretched; usually place

th 3ii Rao Chavan
) ;ogggz'Daﬂé-Ile was Satvaji Rio Daflé, the father ;;f tﬁ? lbl'l::gh at the
ifle, The latter was mortally wounded in (rying g :&Zg given to the family

fiege of Satard, and the jagirhof J‘atg’dﬁ‘:’ ! o{'hBea]fZ?:i% entered BlJ';aIIJf;‘v1 1; S?vati::i

in ray the jage Y. -8-1916. &

ﬂbor:tw?ggé. T(liitgihzo;a;he ,17gesent .C,I;ff :fl Jfgth 42? wme, 8

Daflé is frequently mentioned in Akhbarll, agh. %
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that Sarup Singh, son of Anup Singh, should bring the
dependants of Raja Rama from Zulfigar Khan Bahadur to
the Court; and that the dependants of Shivd who were in
the misl of the ‘Umdat-ul-mulk, should be hrought by
Hamiduddin Khan from that place -and kept near Raja
Shahu in the gulalbar. Hifzullah Khan, son of S‘adullah
Khan, Subahdar of Tatta and faujdar of Siwistdn, got an
increment of 800 4o his rank of 2-hazari (700 {r.), at the
request -of Muizzuddin. “Hamiduddin Khan Bahidur a
Q-hazari (1,400 tr.), got 100 tr. in addition. Shaikh
S‘adullah was removed from the mushrifi of the khawases.
I got that post in addition to my former one. Nasrat Jang
Khan had audience, and received a robe, a horse, an
elephant, and a jewelled dagger.

EMi’EROR’S MARCH TO CAPTURE THE FORTS OF THE
INFIDELS U

Congquest of Vasantgarh alias Kilid-i-fath :

[408] The Emperor after four years’ stay at Islam-
puri, ¥ * * wished to set out on expedition in person and to
trample under the hoofs of his horse the land and forts of
the infernal infidels. He ordered that a cutcha wall (lit.
fort) with a circuit of two and a half kos should be built
around the small fortalice of stone and plaster which had
been constructed a year earlier to enclose the Emperor’s
quarters. This work was finished in fifteen days. Zinat-
un-nisa Begam, the mother of the Prince, (i.e., Udipuri),
and 'other ladies of the harem, and the families of all
(comthon) people were left, in this safe base under the care of
‘Umdat-ul-mulk Madar-ul-mahim Asad Khan with a suit-
able force.

.On Thursday, the 19th October, 1699 /5th Jamad. A.,
the Emperor started at an auspicious moment. [4097] I can-
not record the marches and places of alighting at all the
stages (of his journey). .In short, he reached the ontskirts
of Murtazibad Miraj in twenty days. Prince Muhammad
‘Azam, who had been summoned to the Emperor from Ped-
-gion, had audience here, and received various favours, a
special robe, a jewelled dhakdhaki, and a horse with
enamelled saz. As true news was received that Raja Rama
had gone towards Berar, Bidar Bakht was ordered to leave
his camp at Murtazabad and hasten in pursuit of him.
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Ruhullah Khan was given a robe and a swor id-
iddin Khan Bahddur a robe and a katgr aidarxl)idle{rignfo
-avage the tract between Parnilagarh and Sataragarh, leav-
ing not th.e name or vestige of habitation. On the’ way
shen the imperial camp reached the neighbourhood of the
parganah of Karad the Emperor learnt that an imperial out-
post (thanah) once stood here, but the enemy had ruined it,
and that a mosque built here in former times was without
2 lamp. The FEmperor marched two kos in that direction
and [410] said two-fold prayers in the mosque and issued
an order to populate the place and restore the thanah. The
runaway ryots being reassured with promises of safety and
reward, resumed their residence there. A party was
appointed to guard them. From this place the Emperor
went to a thanah named Masur, where a body of Islamic
troops were staying. Opposite it, at a distance of three kos
on the top of a strongly fortified hill was a firmly-built fort
named Vasantgarh, belonging to the enemy and famous for
its strength, * * *

The Emperor ordered Tarbiyat Khan Mir Atish to
ascend the hill and fight the devils. The Khan did in two
days the work of two years, carried the artillery-men under
the gate of the fort, and placing guns opposite to_it, got
ready for destroying the enemy, who did not abstain from
cannonade and showering fire. On learning of it the
Emperor ordered his tent to be pitched on the bank of the
Krishni, which flows at the foot of the fort at:a distance of
one kos, and said, “My object in this journey is_nothing
except holy war (ghaza), so please God and His Prophet.
Next morning I shall mount my horse to conduct the assault,
and raise my banner to slay the infidels’’s [411] On seemg
the tent set up so near and hearing of the Emperor’s deter-
mination, the enémy lost heart. *** # They, cried quarters
that very day, and wanted only to escape with”their honour
(family). As the Emperor is the protector of the weak, he
graciously ordered that the garrison s.hould be allowed 30
go out }\;vithout their arms, instead (;i; beg:xg I}uzsgcflzii;go'fhé

t night the enemy got their opportunity o
fort, and next mg’ngﬁng, SatuI:'d.aY , the 25th November,
1699 /12¢th Jamad. S., the fort was conquered and renam
Kilidi-fath. Much buried treasure, Provisions, an
Weapons were seized by the imperialists 1 the fogt. S. the

On Friday, the 17th November/ 4th J am.aﬁ ht with
Emperor learnt that Bidar Bakht had had a severe ght W

32
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Rimi on the further side of the Niri. Khan-i-‘Alam and
Sarafraz Khan had distinguished themselves and the enemy
had fled leaving his camp and baggage behind. The Shih-
zida and other [412] good warriors had rewards sent to
them. Khan Bahidur Nasrat Jang was ordered to serve
under the Shihzada and punish the vanquished Riamai
[Rajaram] wherever he might raise his head.

Two servants of Mubammad Akbar from Qandahir
brought to the Court' a letter begging forgiveness and a
casket of ‘attar. A robe and a farman,—stating that so long
as he did not come within the frontiers of India he would
not be pardoned, but that on his entering the imperial domi-
nions a gracious order appointing him Subahdar of Bengal
and conferring other favours would be issued to him,—were
sent to Akbar with these men.

Aminat Khan mutasaddi of the port of Surat, died ; his
elder brother Dianat Khan succeeded him. Saifuddin Khan
Safavi became giladar of Sholapur. Lutfullah Khan became
Subahdar of Bijapur ; he was a 2}-hazari (1,400 tr.) and now
got 500 zat (600 tr.) more.

CAPTURE OF SATARA,

[413] * * * On Friday, the 8th December, 1699/25th
Jamad. S., the imperial tent was pitched at the foot of the
fort, at a distance of half a kos. On the other side was placed
the camip ofs ‘Azam Shah. The army surrounded the
environs of the fort. By order, Tarbiyat Khan Mir Atish
began to run trenches. In a few days the heroes reached
the waist (of the hill) and carried heavy guns [414] up. A
terrible fire was directed upon the fort. But what looked
like the wall of the fort was entirely rock, thirty yards high,
and above 1t- had béensplaced sixty yards of muzawwar and
sangchin (loose stones); there was no~wall which ‘could be
shaken (by bombardment). As Satiri was the refuge and
abode of the hellish infidel Rimi [Rajaram], it was full of
all the materials of strength, such as artillery, provisions,
abundance of water from fountains which flowed even in
summer, and soldiers of skill and desperate courage. Day
and night, rockets, muskets, huqqa, chadar, mashk and
matwila were fired incessantly (from the fort). The count-
. less force of the enemy outside the fort fell on the provisions

and burnt the grass, the means of life of the cattle, for twenty
miles round, On some occasions they boldly approached
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he camp but were put to flight. Scarcity of oraj
eached the extreme point. Those who lgokeg atlil:lien Sxft(;drizli
spect of things thought the conquest of the fort an impos-
ibility. The Emperor relying on the Helper of fihad-
ighters in the path of Allah, remained as firm and courage-
yus as ever to vanquish the infidels, till at last, 18 zir'g from
ke door of the f9rt a raisgd battex:y was erected opposite the
tower ; in procuring materials for it not a tree was left within
thirty or forty kos. From the side of the Prince, too, all
the trenches were run to the foot of the fort. It was ordered
that miners should run mines under the foundations of the
fort. [415] Within a few days twenty-four yards of hard
stony soil were excavated from the neighbourhood of the
same raised battery. With these men (the miners) were
present, according to command, two thousand Mavlé infantry
who were very expert in capturing forts. One lakh and
thirty thousand rupees, the salary of three years, was paid
in advance to these men. And materials for scaling the fort,
such as, ladders with steps, rope-ladders (mal), and leather
covers (jamah) were provided. * * * .
And as in the opinion of the chiefs the mere assembling
of these materials was not likely to result in the capture of
the fort, Tarbiyat Khan made a portable ladder from the
foot of the same raised battery, which (battery) was
twenty four yards in height. For the materials of this ladder
he used up a thousand camel-litters and bags, of sack-cloth
and (even) fine linen—the last of which was so scarce that
less than four yards of it could be had for a rupee—-and all
the firewood of the plain around. After making a glacis,
he carried the mine to the foot of the fort, and planted the
wooden ladders above it. But the business did not prosper
beyond this that the Khan had mounted rahkalas (smz}tlll
cannon) on the former raised platform (damdama) andlt ¢
garrison could mot show their heads above the fort-wal (ﬁ
fire muskets but had to sit down in bi_ding behind the wa .
aud throw stones. The plan of storming the walls was nge
likely to succeed. The Emperor ordered that undle&‘ tun
leadership of Ruhullah Khan, Fathullah Khan shou rOn
atother trench from the side of the gate of the f}cl)rt.Khan
Friday, the 15th March, 1700/5th Shawwal, the trench
boldly ‘following the right plans (416) carried the trves
under the rewni (fausse-braye) of the fort in one mf Iimi.n he
biyat Khan, in order to remedy the weakness i P& e e%j .
bad shown in the work of forming ladders, EXCRVAER
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recess in the sangchin of the fort, and made a cavity four
yards on one side and ten yards on the other in the length of
the wall. ‘There was only a thin screen between the garrison
and the heroes who kept watch in this recess. But from
neither side did any body dare to cross this zir‘a of land.
It was decided to fill the whole cavity with gunpowder and
overthrow the wall, in order to open a path for the easy
entrance of the storming party. The Emperor ordered that
in addition to the cavalry, infantry, artillery, khaschauki,
Afghan and Ghakkar clansmen, other troops, and Kar-
natakis, who were present there day and night, Bakhshi-ul-
mulk Mukhlis Khan and Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur
should go with some thousand troopers and wait for the
opportnnity so that, when after the explosion of the mine,
the forlorn hope* would enter the fort, they might reinforce
them. On Saturday, the morning of 13th April, 1700/5th
Zil. Q., at first a fuse was fired, the fort-wall fell inside and
a large body of the garrison were burnt. In the expectation
that this wall too would be thrown down inside, no warning
was sent to the storming party to run back; but the (second)
match was fired. The wall fell on the Mughal side, hills
of stone and clay were showered on the thousands of men
ready for the movement ; those who had hidden themselves
in mud-holes in wait for the opportunity (to storm), found
ready graves there. [417] Many were flung into the nadir
which. resembled the coffin of (their) destruction, and their
limbs were scattered. In short, nearly two thousand brave
soldiers perished. Although a wide path for men opened
of itself {in the wall) and some infantry ran to the top of
the wall and cried ‘““Come on! there is rione here’’, yet so
overcome were the men of the trenches by fear that none
advanced. The plan was upset. What was done produced
no better result than if it had not been done; so that, when
after a few hours, the opportunity passed away and the enemy
saw that nofie appeared on that side, they mounted the wall
and-made the hot place hotter still, occupied it firmly, and
began to fire their muskets. As the damdama too had been
th_rown down, the rahkalas had fallen down, and the soldiers
withdrew their hands from their work, who could encounter
the enemy? At this time the Emperor boldly supported
them from behind, so that they began to enter the fort over
heaps of the slain. Ves, without the leader works fall into

:Bi‘i:b?l‘?iwii;)].}ﬁji“ Chavan Daflé, ancestor of thé chief of Jath {in_ the
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confusion ; without the com
come as limbs without the h?;dn fi:fregl?f Iiiarts S encroes be.
lakh, in the absence of that Sil;ole indi e soldiers are one
they do not amount to one, and bif hm idua) (the leader),
he does not need the aid of this laklie a%one enters the feld
doubhabout it. (Verse) ¥ * # of mex. ‘There is no
18] This was the : i
foresight ordered a tent to lt-:?;(i)'?cl.lefihien IamperQr badn his
in order to go there personally with the i? e o e b
;(I)?dud tl:ie operations. As Providence \?irslﬁzdmig ?;I;}cshflf
s own design, all the ministers joi o o die.
suading His Majesty by entr:::ypn}fﬁi; oaethert .
imperial cortege was kept ready to start but a?ty’ tl(l)O’ ihe
had been thrown into confusion what would be ?:ll; ngdork
bis going there? The Emperor * * * repeatedly s 'edg“HA o
excellent would it have been if I had been w}i,tha:.h’ O\Z
had thus accomplished a great success!”’ He sent cigter?;lg
fx‘l‘e):siages to’the demoralised troops urging them to be firm,
ly are you overcome by mere imagination and agitation
of mind? The enemy have not triumphed over you. Onl
your plan has miscarried. Well, if a roof falls down, do no}é
a body of men perish in the sleep of neglidence?”’ That
very day Sarfaraz Khan, Maniji, and the trogps of Bakhshi-
ul-mulk Bahramand Khan were ordered to go and hold the
trenches in company with Tarbiyat Khan. The relatives
of some of the buried persons, who could make their way to
the places where they were trapped, extracted the dead and
the wounded and carried them to their quarters. What was
more strange was that the bahlia infantry, saddened by
the sinking down of their brothers, sons and friends, and
angry with the Mir Atish, [419] on seeing that it was
impossible to extract the dead from under the hill of stone
and clay—and as it was the rule of their bad religion to
burn the.dead, secretly set fire that night to the entrench-
ments, which were entirely of wood. The fire burnt for
seven days and nights. Where was the water to quench this
wilderness of fire? Many Hindus and some Muslims that
could not be brought out, were burnt together.

This nobleman (Tarbiyat Khan), in the hope of bread
and fear of life, which all slaves of the Emperor have, had
made such exertions in. conquering the fort as the imagina-
tion cannot picture. ‘But ‘‘Men plan, Cod alone performs’
Haly. Ged ! the fortune of the Emperot was such as.in these
eighty-five years of his life .wherevet .lie. fuined: lis- face,
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many remote objects and many high designs hastened to wel-
come him. On Tuesday, the 5th March 1700/25th Ramzan,
news came that Rima, [Rajaram] who had made a dash
towards Berar, had returned disappointed to his home and
gone to hell there. On Wednesday, the 20th March/10th
Shawwal, news came that his 5-year old son, whom his
chiefs had set up as their king, [420] had died too. On
seeing these divine aids and fearing extirpation, Parsuram,
the chief officer of the infidel’s household, came out of the
fort (Patli) seven kos from Satara, and got the Emperor’s
pardon through the mediation of Ruhullah Khan. Subhan,
the commandant of Satara, a prudent and lucky man, on
seeing that other (Maratha leaders) were going to outstrip
him in offering submission, and serving their own ends, that
the fort wall on the side of the trenches of Tarbiyat Khan
had fallen down for seventy yards up to half the tower, that
many men had, been destroyed by artillery fire, especially
the gun ‘Mulk-zabt’, which had been mounted on a hillock
behind the trenches of the Prince and commanded the fort,
was demolishing the houses in the fort; that 400 men had
been destroyed at the explosioti of the mine, that Fathullah
Khan had run lofty entrenchments to the gate of the fort,
and was wishing to break the gate and demolish the wall
at one blow,—found no refuge left to him except begging the
Emperor’s forgiveness, and sent an envoy (mianji) to Prince
‘Azam Shah to beg for quarters. He, taking pity on the lives
of the thousands of men and women in the fort, interceded
with the Emperor who granted his request. [421] The order
of pardon was issued : the garrison were allowed to go in
safety out of the fort. On Sunday, the 21st April, 1700/
13th Zil. Q., our banners mounted the towers and parapets
of that fort of infidelity. * * #

As the fort was captured through the mediation of the
Prince, it was named ‘Azamtirid. The next day, the Prince
brought Subhin with his hands and neck tied together to
the Emperor who ordered him to be unbound and enrolled
in the imperial service. He was given a mansab of 5-hazari
(2,000 tr.) a robe, a katdr, a horse, an elephant, a tugh, a
tandard, kettledrums, and 20,000 rupees. * * *

[422] The siege of the fort from its commencement on
3th December, 1699/25th Jamad. S., to its conclusion on
21st April 1700/13th Zil. Q., occupied four months and
sighteen days. I shall now narrate briefly the other events
that happened during this period.
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On Wednesday, the 6t

S., four hundred éashrafis segt%?:e‘%ﬁg;&g?g/%rd Jamad
base as peshkash for the conquest of K'l_jlgqlk from the
presented to the Emperor. Bakhshi-ul-mulllc M-l-liat}'l, han
by commapd’ conveyed Kam Bakhsh to Shih ‘li&lh e Kb
at the Shah’s request it avas ordered that at thlJa}'l; e
holding Court Kam Bakhsh too should come. Shaikh Hacia.
son of Hamid Khan got the title of Khan %)n '1}{:1ukh Farid,
96th December/14th Rajab, Bidar Bakht retul;e§day’ the
the punishment of Rama, [Rajaram] had ’audienmnﬁ\ffro}n
{ﬁ:g(} gfdj audlenceﬁ%% reéceived many favours »Oncgz'xtura;:;t
th January, /25th Rajab, Ikhlas Kh i
the title of Thtamam Khan went out for p ipno bad
the enemy appeared one mile from the ié;t;cil;ncg;mwlfen
severe bat"Ele was fought; he was slain with his son ap:l a
son of Najabat Khan deceased, and many soldiers were glaii
(ﬁ‘ wounded. The post of the deceased [423] was given to
amiduddin Khan, who got a special robe with a jewelled
Exst-muttaka.. The Emperor learnt that Muhammad Amin
K an was having- ap encounter with the enemy one and a
alf kos from the camp, and that if he got reinforcement he
might vanquish the rebels. Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur
was ordered to go to his aid. Bakhshi-ul-mulk Bahramand
Khan and Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur who had gome to-
v;lards Khativ to bring in provisions, beat and drove away
the enemy whe_rever he appeared, and conveyed large
supplies to the imperial camp. After interview they were
%ralsgd. Bahramand Khan got an emerald muttaka and
Kﬁmx_duddm Khan a sarpech. Ramchand, thanadar of
L ativ, was promoted to be a 2-haziri (3,000 tr.). On
4 ednesday,. the 31st January, 1700/20th Shabin, the
Klilown Prince was made Subahdar of Lahore vice Ibrahim
an; a sword, a dagger, a shield, a quiver and a bow-case
were presented to Buland Akhtar. He made his bow in the

private chamber.




CHAPTER XLIV.
A47TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1111 A. 1.

10th February, 1700—28th January, 1701.
*® *® L] *®

[424] Fizil Khan, Subahdar of Kashmir, was ordered
to administer the Panjab as the deputy of the Crown Prince.
He was a 23-hazari (1,200 tr.) and now got an increment of
500 (200 tr.). Vijay Singh, zamindar (bumi) of Amber,
got the title of Raja Jai Singh on the death of his father,
and his brother (Jamuni) got the title of Vijay Singh. He
was a haziri (800 tr.) and now got an increment of 500
(1,200 tr.). Chin Qalich Khan Bahadur was restored the
500 zat deducted from his rank, and became a 4-hazari
(8-hazar tr.). Chhatra Sal Bundela [cor. Rathor| became
qiladar of ‘Azamtdri. On Monday, thé 22nd April, 1700/
14th Zil. Q., the Emperor visited the fort, and performed
the two-fold prayer of thanks in the old mosque, built by
the Bahamani kings, which was white-washed at His
Majesty’s command. , :

CAPTURE OF FORT PARLI:

_ “When the Emperor [425] had finished the conquest of
Azamtard and had appointed its qiladar and faujdar, he
wanted to conquer Parli-garh. He ordered Fathullah Khan
to go in advance and besiege the fort. The Khan reached
the fort that very day and decided to run trenches directed
towards the tower under which was a small door of the fort,
The imperial officers-quickly conveyed the siege materials
collected at Satara to the foot of Parli. On Tuesday, the
30th April/22nd Zil. Q., the Emperor having traversed the
intervening space in three days, encamped on the plain in
front of the fort-gate. The Prince’s camp was located before
the imperial mansion. Ruhullah Khan became mir murchal.
Chin Qalich Khan Bahadur and the soldiers of the Prince,
and other forces of the army surrounded the hill of the fort
on all sides forming a circuit of a few kos. Parli is even
stronger than Satara. In short, the Khan without heeding
its strength, worked hard to run trenches and to mount guns
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on a hillock commanding the fort, doing the

in as many days. But what shall I wrﬁe ab;rliﬂt{hgfeﬁz;:
5426] of rain and scarcity of grain and fodder? * * * The

ark clouds showered day and night like the eyes of orphans

Houses were submerged. * * * In short, owing to the flood
of the rivers and the non-arrival of provisions from all sides,
famhine: became severe. I wonder at the firmness- and
strength of the Emperor who, without being alarmed by it

encouraged and consoled the soldiers. At last the Khan
carried the trench under a very broad and long sloping rock,
which on one side fifteen yards high and on another ten
yards high, was situated opposite the small door. It was
very difficult to mount this rock, but if it could be captured
the conquest of the fort would be easy. On Tuesday, the
4th June, 1700/27th Zil. H., a few ladders were placed on
the side which was ten yards high, and the heroes were
ordered to escalade so that the enemy would assemble to
oppose them. Then the Khan mountedethe reck by means
of another ladder secretly planted [elsewhere], with a body
of heroes, and brought under their swords the ememy in
the plain which extended up to the small door of the fort,
and afforded ground for horse-riding. The infidels unable
to resist ran to the door and the Mughals arrived there
speedily. As it was not [427] the Khan’s intention to enter
the fort, he wished to mount the rock, station his men on
it, and mounting a gun on it break the door. At this time
he himself went down to send up bundles of wood and straw
to make a refuge for the soldiers (on the rock). In the course
of the fight three or four Mughals and one Bahalia entered
the small door pell-mell with the infidels; others too wanted
to do the same, when spddenly a Mugl}al was shot down,
and the Bahalia losing heart, fled away 1n such a way as to
mingle himself with others in flight.  Seizing the OPEOE'
tunity the enemy closed the door, and began to fire mlilis ets
and throw huggas from the top of the wall, and sgt rti o
the gunpowder which, in anticipation of such a day ; ety
had hidden underground on the way leading fo ﬂ(lle o
Fagirullah Khan, grandson of Fathullah Khan an Scllxdy
or seventy other men were killed, and many were ‘}"I’O"‘tn eo%
The rest who could not maintain their stand on t edopdl

the rock for its lack of shelter as it was exposed to dead’y

A took up their old
attack on all three sides, descended ﬁfo ’Slge hela)trts of the

position. But this feat struck terror
infidels, Next morning they permitted the two men who

33
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had entered the fort with them to go out by the gate towards
the imperial army, and crying quarters besought the Prince
for safety. As the Emperor had based the work of conquest
on the counsel of the Prince and he always accepted the
Prince’s suggestions, according to the Emperor’s order the
Prince’s men sent the garrison out of the fort on Sunday,
the 9th June/3rd Muharram, [428] without their weapons,
property and wealth. This seat of Islam, which through the
tricks of the hellish Shiva had gone out of the possession
of the Bijapuris and been turned into a seat of war (dar-ul
harb) verified the verse ‘“Truth came and falsehood dis-
appeared’’. The old mosque was filled again and the new
temple was destroyed; this fort had been built by Ibrahim
‘Adil Khan in 1625 A.D./1035 A.H. and as he used to
give the name of Nauras to all newly-made things, (such
as the title of the book of Mulla Zahuri, the name of the city
of Nauras-i-Ibrahim, and the name of the dam or coin
Nauras,) it was nd® named Nauras-tara, * * ¥

MARCH OF THE IMPERIAL ARMY TOWARDS
BHUSANGARH :

After the capture of Nauras-tard, the Emperor wished
to march towards Bhusangarh. Although getting out of
such a bad place was regarded by high and low in the army
as a great boon, yet owing to material and celestial cala-
mities there was no beast of burden left in the wide camp.
* #* * The soldiers considered it a great comfort to stay
there, [429] and could not march under the load of fatigue.
But the Emperor is the custodian of the comfort of his people
and if he had not wished it, none could have come out of that
dangerous place. )

The return march commenced on Friday, the 2Ist
June, 1700/15th Muharram. The gypsies willy nilly, had
to load their household goods on cocks. One march was
followed by two halts, in order to enable the men mounted
on pack-saddles devoid of baggage to arrive by any means
they could find. Many of the army passed over five kos in
t}}ree stages, and reached the Krishna which was in such a
high flood that the banks could not be seen. The army
finished the crossing in a few days, and with great difficulty
reached Sabitgarh and the neighbouring villages. On
‘Thursday, the 25th July /19th Safar the camp arrived near
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Bhusangarh. The rains we < :
army regained peace of min:il? bfl‘cll;e t\(:i;};;lr houses. The
and nu_llahs ceased. The people got saf ce of the rivers
The Prince was ordered to go to Khﬁ%ldesli1 (:iy l:md omiort.
and stay at Burhanpur, in order to refresil h? and of repose
_the war-worn soldiers were sent to various ﬂols ’.trﬁpps. ond
in the old dominion. Orders were sent toutliIS o HIac_es
governors to send fresh troops to the Em - pr0v1qc1al
Bidir Bakht, who with his own troops [4I§(e)rorl.l dPrmce
guarding the base, was summoned to the Prese]nc ; 2&: er
interview he was deputed to conquer fort Parnila ein dffit
tion ta hJS. own troops, Zulfigair Khan Bahadur Néxsrat?} ;
was appointed to serve under him; and after me
Tarbiyat Khan, Mi i ’ erors sole
arbiy 1, Mir Atish, too. As the Emperor’s sol
wish was to give ease to the people, he decided to mfi:_
Khawaspur, which was about one day’s journey, his base
so that the soldiers accompanying him might en,joy repose
during his stay there. On F riday, the 80th August 17%0/
26th Rabi. A., the army started for the place, and on the
arrival there the soldiers really gained ease through the
ff::f;iﬁf-ﬂ‘f *al*mfdance of grain, fodder and most other
. In a waterless river, the name of whose bed (qald) is
the mirage of abundant water’’, and on both banks and
middle of which many commanders and soldiers of the right
and fronte(divisions) [431] had pitched their tents, never
dreaming that up to the day of Resurrection, a drop of water
would descend on it except in the rainy season, the verse.
The oven spouted forth water”” at Noah’s deluge came to
be proved true. On the night of Tuesday, the Ist October,
1700/28th Rabi. S., there was rain in the heights, the
hill streams set their faces towards it. While the men were
fast asleep in their tents, all on a sudden the water came
down raging from both banks and spread over the plain,
turning the land into water. The tents were ruined. Vast
numbers of men and animals were drowned. The rest
becamq prisoners of water. If the remaining period had
en night and the flood had continued longer than four or
five gharis of day, no one would have remained alive. By
the grace of God the dawn appeared ; the men saved their
lives, They sought for the traces of their houses and found
tone, Giving up all hopes of their property they went
erying in all directions. In some misls which had beet
ocated on distant and high hillocks, no news arrived of
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what happened (in the river). Praised be God that no harm
befell the imperial tent which was pitched very high, * * *

As I have not yet recorded certain incidents from the
beginning of the 44th year [432], 1 shall now narrate them
to the end of the Sh‘aban (last month) of that year, it being
necessary for the historian of events to preserve the chain
of narrative.

Zulfigir Khan Bahadur Nasrat Jang, who had been
ordeted to punish Dhana Jadav returned to Court, after
crushing him. He and his companions Dand Khan, Dalpat,
Ram Singh, and others, got praise, robes, jewels, and pro-
motion. Prince Muhammad- Mu‘izzuddin, Subahdar of
Multan, was rewarded for having wrested the fort of
Dhaohar from the possession of the zamindar of Dogra,
with an increment of 2-hazar tr. making him a 12-hazari
(6,000 tr. doaspa). Prince Mubammad ‘Azim, Subahdar
of Bengal, got the hazir tr. that had been reduced from his
rank. Hifzullah Khan Subahdir of Tatta, a 2-hazari,
(same tr.) got 500 more at the Shahzada’s request. Fazil
Khan Subahdir of Kashmir, who had declined to act as
deputy Subahdir of Lahore, and applied for permission to
come to Court, had the 200 tr. which had been given him
on condition of.being deputy, taken away from his mansab,
and his application was granted. On the way, he died at
Burhanpur. He was an upright, honoured, aftd faithful
man. ‘Indyetullah Khan was ordered to give jagir for
3,000 tr. to Kam Bakhsh in tankhwa and not to insist on
a new memorandum (yad-dasht). Khudibanda Khan
bayutat, became Subahdar of Muhammadabad wvice ‘Askar.
Khan, with an increment of 500 (same tr.); Faziil Khan,
mir munshi, dirogha of the library, [433] became bayutit
vice him. ‘Indyetullah Khan became diwan of Bidir Bakht
Bahadur. The Emperor learnt that Hindus did not take
(cooked) food during imprisonment, and hence Raja Shihu,
son of Sambhd, used to eat sweet-meats, fruits, and
pakwan, instead of (cooked) food. Hamiduddin Khan
conveyed to him this message, ‘““You are mot a prisoner;
you are living in your own house. You should eat cocked
food.””  Zinat-un-nisi Begam who had been summoned
from the base, arrived on Saturday, the 12th October,
1700/10th Jamad. A., mounted on a chaudol. XKim
nglgsh and Buland Akhtar welcomed her by advancing.
Fidai Khan, Subahdar of Bihar, got the fanjdari of Tirhut
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and Dirbhanga. He was a 214-haziri (same tr.) and now
got an increment of 500 zat unconditionally, When the
affairs of the country fell into confusion on the death of
Bulbaris Khan, king of Kashghar, the Emperor ordered
Arslan Khan, son of Shah Khan and grand-son of the late
king’s uncle, who was in the imperial service, to go home
and take possession of the kingdom. Sardir Khan of the
Crown Prince’s army, was permitted to help him.
Sadruddin Mubammad Khan became Subahdir of Khandesh
vice Mu‘ataqad Khan, and was made a 2-hazari (same fr.)
by an increment of 500 troopers [434].

EMPEROR’S MARCH TO CAPTURE PARNALA

On Monday, the 16th December, 1700/16th Rajab,
His Majesty marched towards Murtazabad Miraj, arriving
there on Wednesday, the 1st January, 1701/2nd Shaban.
Bakhshi-ul-mulk Mukhlis Khan, son of Saf Shikan Khan,
grandson of that Qawamuddin Khan who had been Sadr of
Persia, and brother’s son of the renowned Khalifd Sultan,
died of severe illness on Saturday, the 3rd January, 1701/
4th Sh'abin and was buried in the tomb-garden (rauza) of
the saint Sayyid Shamsuddin, sitnated in the new city
(Miraj). He combined nobility.of birth with perfection in
the discharge of his profession. Independence (_)f earthly
needs and freedom of spirit were natural to him. The
Emperor used often to say about him, ‘I have a young
Khalifa Sultin with me”’.” Ruhullah Khan became second
bakhshi vice the deceased, and was succeeded by Saf Shikan
Khan in the posts of Qurbegi and bakhshi of the ahadis.




CHAPTER XLV.
45TH YEAR OF THE REIGN :
29th January, 1701—18th January, 1702.

\The Emperor stayed at Miraj during the month of
Rdmzin. When' it was over, on Sunday, the 2nd March,
1701/8rd Shawwal, he started for the conquest of Parnila
and Pawangarh, close to it, a very lofty fort nowise inferior
to Parnala in strength. On Saturday, the 9th March/10th
Shawwil, the imperial camp was pitched in the environs of
the fort, at a place (facing) the door of the fort, on the bank
of the river that flows under the fort within gunshot. [435]
That day I took omens in the poetical works of His Holiness
Hafiz concerning the conquest of the fort, and my eyes fell
on the following couplet :

The heart which has the invisible world in sight
possesses the cup of Jamshid,
Why be anxious about a ring which gets lost for a
moment ?

In truth, this ring of auspicious inscription (i.e.,
Parnala) had often been taken possession of by Muhammadan
kings. Shivi wrested it from the ‘Adil-khani kings.
Afterwards, when the whole country of the Deccan was
cleansed of the filth of infidel dominion, it was captured by
the imperialists through the exertions of Muhammad
‘Azam. Then Sambhi recovered possession of it through
some of its defenders conducting themselves like infidels
and the negligence and cowardice of its giladir. ‘Thank
God, it now again came into the hands of the Muslims.
In short, Nasrat Jang Khan, was sent to punish the rebel
‘thieves’ on whichever side they might raise their heads.
Shiahzida Wala-tabar and other forces having come, some
o;f the troops accompanying the Emperor were ordered to
pitch their tents on the other side of the fort. The army
surrounded the circuit of both the forts, seven kos in extent.
Under the supervision of Tarbiyat Khan trenches were
run, and guns [436] began to play on the enemy. In a short
time five towers of the fort were demolished down to more
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than half their height. Thi
marvellously in. breaking thl: Eggrlll;a?gi? exerted himself
lanes (tunnels) into the hilly region. H and running up
distance of some jarib (land-measﬁ iy g excavated a
ground, he made a path, through whrllcltlhg tﬁope)f ider the
men could walk abreast at their full height fe i armed
some paces a chamber was made large e%xoﬂch ¢ a distance of
sqldlers. On all sides of it windows wer b0 scat pwenty
wind to blow and the sun to shine in Ir-§ m‘? e
artillerymen in this house to prevent -withetli e
}he enemy frop:i showing their heads above the ew;;l{nu%{ﬁtiz
ane was carried under the tower i :
p}aimg, ax]x\d its base was hollowed ﬁﬁt v;r(l)l lrcnlilct}l:ih%ltn;s pv:f:;
of heroes kept watch in it wit i !
hugqa and matwala of theuenemt;o.ut;r?anft tl(:sl‘fh}fd lb(}{ t}}x.e
lane inside the fort-by carrying it under the out:r EI; ; ;S
work of the gate. But as delay occurred in the pr ess ‘E
the work, the rainy season was close at handP Zﬁfies'fh?
country on account of its bad weather in the rains tlis
intervention of some rivers difficult to cross and th:
difficulty of bringing in supplies, was not fit for the encamp-
ment (chhauni) of the imperial army, the Emperor ordergd
lIl*‘_athullah Khan, who had gone to Aurangabad to refresh
is broken troops and had recently returned to the Presence
[?37] to run a second trench from the side of the troops
OKEhe Emperor’s son, under the command of that Prince
g{ham Bakhsh] and with the co-operation of Mun’im
: an. The Khan, in one month, cut away the stony soil
?1‘ 11the high hill and carried the lane to the foot of the gate.
3 e garrison of both the forts fought (for a long time).
thut when they saw the running of lanes, and the skill of
e musketeers, and apprehended that Tarbiyat Khan from
!:11116 side and th_hullah Khan from the other would destroy
Klj- impregnability of their fort, that Muhammad Murad
- an with his followers and Khwija Muhammad, bakhshi
:) the army of Kam Bakhsh wished to overthrow the
owers and battlements of Pawangarh, that the besieging
?t!;my' had left to the garrison little chance of flight, and
at it was the Emperor ‘Alamgir who never gave up his
‘l:}lrpose on account of rain or other accidents and these
nere troops who never left their work undone, * ¥ they saw
: }(1) recourse left to them but to submit and sent men
Efough the mediation of Tarbiyat Khan [438] to_the
mperor’s son and the Shahzada to beg for quarters. These
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two gracious omes taking pity on the multitude of likely
victims recommended the prayer for mercy, which the
Emperor granted. Trimbak, the giladir was permitted to
depart with his life and property. On the 28th May, 1701/
1st Muharram, the conquest was accomplished, and the
two forts annexed to the Empire. Parnila was so high
that Azamtara could not lift its head above the wall of
the former. * * * [439] Parnild was renamed Nabishah
Durg.

I shall now narrate certain former and synchronous
events of this year. Sher Zamin Khan, giladar of Kabul,
became n3ib Subahdar vice Nasir Khan, who was punished
by reduction of his rank by 500 zat (600 tr.); Sadruddin
Muhammad Khan Safavi, got the tittle of Mirza. The
Emperor learnt that Ghaziuddin Khan Bahadur Firuz Jang
had arrived by command to guard the base. Chin-Qalich
Khan Bahadur, son of Firuz Jang, having left his father
on account ofill-feeling, by command went to Aurangabad.
Jin Sipar Khan, son of Mukhtir Khan, nizim of
Haidarabad died; the subadarship was entrusted to the
agents of Kam Bakhsh. Rustam-dil Khan, son of the
deceased, '(Jan Sipar Khan) became ndib_ (Subahdir) and
received an addition of 500 zat (same tr.) to his rank of
hazari (500 tr.). Bulbaris Khan became guardian of the
base at Murtazibad, and received an addition of 500 zat
(100 tr.) to his rank of 134-hazari (500 tr.). Daud Khan
became faujdar of Karnatak Haidarabadi (Bijapuri) as
deputy of Nasrat Jang.

As the Emperor could not ride out to perform the two
prayers of ‘Id-ul-fitr (28th February, 1701) owing to the
violence of his catarrh (nazlah),” [440] Kam Bakhsh with
his sons and Buland Akhtar, made the bows of congratula-
tion (for the ‘Id) to the Emperor, who ordered that instead
of the name of nazar that of nidz should be applied to the
presents made by the Princes, and that of nisar to those of
the amirs. Qutbuddin, envoy of Turan, who had received
his congee, begged the Crown Prince on reaching Kibul

to admit him into the imperial service ; he was given the rank
of a hazari (200 tr.),

] O.n Friday, the 18th April, 1701/21st Zil. Q., the
hghtnm_g struck the courtyard of the diwin-i-khas; a kahdr
of the gbdar-khana was hit by it and killed but the other
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men remained safe. ‘The Princes, Sultans, and amirs of
the Court and the provinces sent money for tasaddug to the
Emperor. Hifzullah Khan, son of the late S‘adullah Khan,
Subahdir of Tatta, died. Among the sons of the Khan he
was not without ability, Khanahzid Khan, son of S‘aid
Khan Babadur Shih-Jahani, was appointed Subahdir of
Tatta and faunjdar of Siwistén, at the requést of Mu‘izzuddin.
He was a 2-hazari (100 tr.) and now got an increment of
500 (700 tr.) and the title of S‘aid Khan. Multafat Khan
got the title of Khinahzad Khan. Ism‘ail Khan Makha
became faujdar of Nabishahdurg. He was a 5-haziri (4000
tr.) and now got 1000 tr. more. Muhatsham Khan son of
Shaikh Mir, had been appointed a 2-hazari zat, he got back a
hazar tr. which had been reduced. Hamidudddin Khan
Bahadur got [441] a robe and waist-mutiaka, Tarbiyat
Khan Mir Atish a robe and sarpech. Xhairdndesh Khan
Kambuh faujdar of Etawah, got seven lakhs of dim as
in‘am and the faujdari of Dhamuni also. Chin Qalich Khan
Bahidur became faujdar of Karnatak Bijapuri vice M‘amur
Khan; a 4-hazini (8,000 tr.) before, he now got an incre-
-ment of 600 tr.

News came to the Emperor from the subah of
Ahmadibad that Shnji‘et Khan Muhammad Beg, the
nizim, had died on the 16th June, 1701/20th Mubarram.
He was a wonderfully fortunate man, as he rose from a
low position to the dignity of an amir. He was an upright
and efficient officer, an able general and administrator,
never committing any biunder, and possessing many noble
qualities.* Arshad Khan, diwin of Khilsa, died.

‘INAVETULLAH KHAN BECAME DIWAN OF TAN AND KHALSA.

‘Indyetullah Khan, in addition to his post of diwan ﬁ)f
tan, got the post of diwan of Khalsa vice the deceased. He
was a 114.hazari (150 tr.), and now got 100 tr. n;ore.
'Umdat-ul-mulk Asad Khan, who had been summoned éom
he base to the imperial army, had audience on Thursday,
he 28th August/4th Rabi. S., Lutfullah Khan was tr_aglés-
‘erred from the subahdari of Bijapur to that of Auzragxogoatr \
ind by an increment of 500 tr. became a 3-hazari (2, .

*The MS. here adds the following words which ha;&_& bf:ix;a Ct;gtmi . rllr;r
¢ printed text ;—*“The people of the subah ackpowledge ‘i * this officer’s
ower and resd the jatika on bis tomb.” For an accontt O g Wy
ble administration, see Sarkat’s History of Aurangz0, ¥. ’

34
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Abu Nasar Khan [442] son of Shaista-Khan was restored
to his rank of 2%4-hazari (1000 tr.) and got the subahdar-
ship of Malwa vice Mukhtar Khan and an increment of 500
(1,500 tr.). ‘The Emperorf issued a farman on Shah ‘Alijah,
who by command had formed his chhauni at Dhar in
Mailwa, to march to Ahmadabad as Subahdar. As I have
finished’ briefly narrating the events of the whole year,
I shall turn to the account of the Emperor’s march from’
Nabishahdurg towards Khatav. -

Account of the conquest of Sadiqgarh, Namgir, Miftah
and Maftuh : * * * #* # 'The Emperor who had stayed
for some time in the environs of Parnili in order to capture
it, started for Khatav for the benefit of the people, as the
abundance of provision in that place would give comfort to
the creatures of God, and also the report of the march of the
imperial army would lead to the recovery of forts Wardhan-
garh, Namgir, and Chandan and Wandan, from the bands
of the infidels. (4437 With this view, the army started on
Thursday, the 29th May, 1701/2nd Muharram.

Fathullah Khan, who had been created a Bahadur in.
reward of his splendid services, was ordered to go with an
advanced detachment and put down the rebellious infidels.
The Khan hastening, struck at the waist of the hill-garrison
of all the four forts, and slew. a number of the enemy, and
seized innumerable cattle and prisoners. On seeing this
feat and the arrival of the army, the garrison of Wardan-
garh saved their lives by flight, leaving the fort empty,
on the 6th June/10th Muharram. As the Khan Bahadur’s
name was Muhammad Sidiq, the fort was renamed Sadig-
gath. On Monday, the 23rd June/27th Muharram, the
Emperor ordéred his' tents to be pitched in the environs of
the fort, which is two kos from Khativ, for the purpose of
chhauni. From this place he sent the Khan Bahadur with
a large force under the command of Bakhshi-ul-mulk
Bahramand Khan to conquer Nandgir. In ten or twelve
days, the giladar of Nandgir in fear of his life interviewed
that great minister, and surrendered the key to the Khan
Bahadur [444] and the fort was renamed Nimgir, on
‘account of the renowned (chiefs) having turned to its con-
quest. From this place the Muslim army started for the
conquest of Chandan and Wandan, which were remamed
Miftah and Maftuh. First Chandan was besieged, and in
a short time the garrison begged for quarters. Next, fort
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Wandan, a first-rate fort, was encircled by the army. The
garrison had no recourse except to beg for safety. On
Monday, the 6th October, 1701 they evacuated the fort, * * *

These four strong forts were conquered not in
‘months [445] but in four days * * * four

In the course of this time, Umdat-yl-mulk Asad Khan
came by command from the base to the Court and had
audience. Ghaziuddin Khan Firuz Jang arrived from
Berar and was appointed to guard the base. Mukarram
Khan, who had taken to a life of retirement on a pension,
came from Delhi to see the Emperor, and after a few days
was given leave to return to his place of pious retreat.

Capture of Khelna and other events : [pp. 446-447] * *

The Emperor turned to the conquest of this (Khelna)
fort. For this purpose the army started from the neighbour-
hood of the fort of Sadiqgarh on the 7th November, 1701/
16th Jamad. S., and reached the environs of Malkapur in
twelve stages. On account of the roads from this place to the
Ambi-ghit being difficult to traverse and for the purpose
of removing obstacles and intricacies, there was a halt of
seven days (here). Bidar Bakht, who at the time of return-
ing from Nabishahdurg [448] had been given leave to
pass the rainy season mear Hukri, and Gokak and the
neighbouring tract, and had conquered many of the forts
of the infidels in a short time, was now ordered to come to
‘see’ fort Khelna with his troops by way of Borgaon, and
having burnt many villages and wadis on the way, met the
Emperor at this stage. Owing to unseasonable rain, all
sorts of hardship were borne at this unpleasant place. At
last through the agency of F athullah Khan Bahadur, came
the joyful news of the roads being cleared and this dlstancs
of four kos which was extremely hard to pass, was traverse
by the army with its abundant baggage with the greatest
ease, )

On Saturday, the 6th December, 1701/16th Rajab,
the skirt of a hJIBIX,’ which on account of the spac1ousn§fsb<1>
its open space and the elevation of the ground was sui % g
for the residence of the army, was fixed upon as the %uar ell,;
of the troops. As Khelni is three and a half ko}f. rO;n‘m;
and the imperial army had not passed through this r gior

" Huker! and Gokak, in the Belgaon distret (Bom. Gaz. xff. 567 and 500
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moré than two or three times in such large numbers and
with such materials (before?), the haughty heads of the
inhabitants of that quarter were trampled by the chargers
of the imperial army. In all the paths of this hilly tract
are impregnable forests and dense thorny jungle, at which
even the sun dares not look. [449] Loity and stout trees
abound on all sides like the wretched infidels. The branches
were so intertwined that éven an ant could hardly pass
through them. The path that there was, was difficult even
for footmen. The defiles and pits were deeply sunk. The
hills were firmly rooted in the soil. The Khan Bahadur
was ordered to remove these difficulties and hindrances
from the path. Under his supervision and efforts, sappers
(men with spades and axes) and stone-cutters in one week
wonderfully accomplished the work. Hills were removed;
ups and downs levelled, and trees cut down. Thus a level
road was made broad enough for a hundred horsemen to
march abreast easily.

On the 23rd December, 1701/3rd Sh‘aban, the Khan
Bahadur was presented with a special quiver and sent to
guide the imperial army under the command of Umdat-ul-
mulk Madéar-ul-mahim Asad Khard and with the co-opera-
tion of Hamiduddin Khan [450] Bahadur, Mu‘nim Khan,
Ikhlas Khan, and Raja Jai Singh, and begin the siege of
the fort. On the 26th December/6th Shaban, Umdat-ul-
mulk was given the title of Amir-ul-umara, a jewelled
dagger, 4000 ashrafi as reward and the honour of kissing
the Emperor’s feet, and sent (to the siege). On that day
the Khan Bahadur with Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur,
Mu‘nim Khan and some other brave warriors entered the
pass before dawn. As the ememy had strengthened the
walls of the towers on it and occupied before-hand the
hillock overlooking the fort which the Khan Bahidur had
kept in view for mounting guns on, the Khan turned to
them. Having posted Hamiduddin Khan Bahidur to guard
the ambuscade on the left, Fatfiulla Khan Bahadur himself
went to the right side. Having extinguished with the wind
of valour their first day’s fuse, he with 13 or 14 men
suddenly fell upon the devils without number, and doubled
the height of the hillock with the heaps of the slain. The
enemy saw no recourse save in flight. They flung them-
selves down in bewilderment from the hillock and wanted
to run to the fort. The Khan Bahidur [451] before he
started had sent (some) men armed with jazirahs . (long
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natchlocks fired from rest) to punish the enemy, and these
vere staying in the road leading to the fort. The enemy
inding tnis road ‘closed by this measure, fled to the jungle
ind hid themselves under the trees. At this time another
livision of the imperialists had arrived close behind (the
irst), and spreading out captured many of the enemy. The
Rhan Bahadur sent them into the pit of destruction by
ying rocks to thegr waists. After this victory, he thought
it good generalship to take a firm stand on the hillock.
Tents were pitched there. - In the evening the news reached
the Emperor. The Khan Bahiadur was rewarded with an
increment of 200 tr., a standard and a jewelled dagger,
Hamiduddin Khan Bahddur with a katar, Mu‘nim Khan
with an Arab horse with gold coated saz (as his horse had
been killed) and the Emperor’s own food. Promotions
were given to all the followers (baradari) of the Khan
Bahadur. The night was spent in entrenching. Next day
another hillock was captured from which arrows and guns
could be shot into the fort. Guns were mounted on the
hillock so as to burn and demolish the houses of the
garrison. A covered lane was commenced. [452]

On Sunday, the 11th January, 1702/22nd Shaban, the
Emperor went to view the work done and inspect the fort, and
ordered the trenches to be pushed on. And on Friday, t.he
16th January/27th Shaban, he removed his camp from its
former position to the plain half a kos from the fort in order
to back the front division and expedite the work.



CHAPTER XLVI.
461TH YEAR OF THE REIGN ;

19th January, 1702—7th January, 1703.

* % *® *®

On Monday, the 19th January, Bidar Bakht, who had
been sent to patrol round the base camp and that region,
was ordered to turn back and station himself near Nabishah-
durg. Muhammad Amin Khan, Sadr-us-sadur, was given
a promotion of 200 tr. and a standard, and sent to descend
through the pass (kotal) of Amba ghat into Tal Kokan, and -
devastate the enemy’s land up to the gate on the further
side of Khelna, and close the path of ingress and egress to
the garrison of the fort. Tarbiyat Khan by command, sat
down at the entrance- (mouth) of Amba ghiat. Muhammad
Amin Khan, [453] plundered the parganahs and villages
of that tract, seized many captives and cattle, and engaged
in closing the Kokani gate of the fort.

I shall now record the deeds of Khan Bahidur
Fathullah Khan. Haying planted guns and jazirahs he
boldly carried the (covered) lane up to the ditch situated
before the rewni of the fort. The garrison, on their part
incessantly fired guns and muskéts, day and night, and
carried away the lives of men of all kinds working in the
covered gallery (lane of safety). The Khan Bahadur firmly
pursued his work. The lives of friends and foes alike were
not worth purchasing at half a grain of barley. The enemy
who had run a concealed lane from the gate of the fort, and
sat in the rewni for offering opposition, on seeing that the
Khan Bahadur had made planks (dhabs), arrived in front
and wished to mount the ladders,—lost their senses and stood
perplexed with their faces to the walls. * * * They destroyed
the ladders, which had been raised from the midst of the pit
to the level ground under the gate. The Khan Bahadur
having made ladders out of kajawahs (camel-litter) and
fastened dhabs above them, advanced in front of the
advancing party.

_ I shall now briefly narrate the deeds of Muhammad
Amin Khan. He had been sent to close theé Kokani gate.
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Having bravely traversed the sky-high hill of Machal, [454]
he arrived at a hillock opposite the gate overlooking the rewn:
of Khelna. The enemy had built stone-walls on 1t and deep
ditches before it. * * In short, for a time the veil of difficulty
covered the face of the progress of the undertaking. On
Wednesday, the 4th March, 1702/15th Shawwal, in utter
disregard of life, he climbed the hillock with honour-seeking
heroes, expelled the enemy from the redoubt and drove them
back to the rewni. Heaps were formed by the slain. The
road was closed to the garrison and victory was gained.
The Emperor on hearing of it gave the title of Bahadur to
the Khan and sent him a dhup (Deccani sword), a robe, and
a farman. ' His comrades got suitable promotion, swords,
waist-daggers, horses, elephants, and robes.

The Emperor in his foresight summoned Bidar Bakht
from Nabishahdurg, and ordered him [455] to attempt the
conquest of the fort from the side of the Kokani gate, with
his own troops and those of Raja Jai Singh, the defender of
the trenches of Fathullah Khan Bahadur, and a few thou-
sand infantry sent by Yaqut Khan, collector (mutasaddi)
of Danda Rajpuri. He began to run trenches and overthrow
towers and battlements by cannonade. Muhammad Amin
Chan Bahadur was recalled to the Emperor on account of
illness. Although Fathullah Khan Bahadur with great
exertion fastened dhabs to the extremely hard rock and
reached the waist of the tower, and ran lanes from all sides,
* ¥ *# yet the success of the work did not come in sight at all.
Inspite of the severe bombardment by the shots of the guns,
Sher-dahan and Kark-bijli, which could split hills, only a
few stones were loosened from the tower. The enemy ceased
not to shower incessently matwalahs weighing 100 maunds
and 200 maunds. Some nights they made sorties and fell
on the trenches. The Khan Bahadur personally fought to
resist them. One day he was himself helping the labourers
in binding the dhabs, when a stone fell from above on a plank
16 fingers’ breadth in width, and broke it to pieces. The
Khan being hit on the head by it rolled down a long distance
and at last reached the edge of the Kajawah, which arrested
his descent and saved his life. His waist and (some) other
limbs were severely bruised. After a month he was able to
leave his bed, had audience, received a special sarpech, and
returned to his work. " He was [456] planning to make a
feint and assault the fort from the side of another tower,
when through the exertions of Bidar Bakht the rewni of the
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fort was captured on the 2Tth April, 1702/10th Zil. H.,
which meant in effect that the fort of Khelna was conquered.
In this assault Raja Jai Singh and his men 'did $plendid ser-
vice. At the breaking down of this barrier the enemy lost
their composure of mind, even though they were as
numerous as (the armies of) Gog and Magog. * * * The
Shahzada .was rewarded with a jewelled sarpech, the Raja
with the increment of 500 zat (2-hazar tr.), and other heroes
with promotion and favours. Asadullah, son of Saifullah
Khan, who used to travel on the roads with great speed and
bring intelligence, was given his father’s title. The Shah-
zada (was) ordered to carry the guns forward and batter
down the gate of the fort—which was not so very strong,
high and hard to open as the gate on Fathullah Khan
‘Bahadur’s side. But what shall I write of the severity of
the rain, which fell incessantly and fast, gallopping like a
two-horsed* trooper without let or hindrance, and ran for
10 and even 20 days at a time without opening’ the eyes or
raising the head? But inspite of all this, the warriors of
both the [457] trenches moved with the speed of the wind
sarsar : as they had no fear of the enemy, so they paid no
heed to this cruel calamity. Fathullah Khan in spite of the
road for assault not being prepared, the dhabs (planks)
having fallen down, and confusion having overtaken the
work, determined, that if he had to make an assault he
should at once climb the wall with the speed of wind and
thunder. Parashurim, on seeing all these preparations for
his ruin, sent to the Prince some Brahmans to make certain
requests and to offer to surrender the fort. A few days were
spent iff carrying messages to and fro, through the media-
tion of Bakhshi-ul-mulk Ruhullah Khan and Fazail Khan
bayutat, who had been deputed by the Emperor. At last,
His Majesty granted no prayer except this that he and the
garrison would go out with their lives. On Thursday, the
4th June/19th Muharram, Parashuram planted with his
own hands the flags of the Shihzada and the Bakhshi-ul-
mulk ; and on Sunday, the 7th June, 1702/22nd Muabarram,
he came out under the veil of the darkness of night. By the
Emperor’s command none hindered him. * * *

[458] The Emperor renamed Khelni as Sakhkharland
(=God made hell subject to us). ‘The hills and soil of this

* Dy-ispa—a irooper who carrles a spare horse with him and can there-
fore always travel very fast,
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tract are wonderful : there is (as it were) no trace of hill
or land, you see only herbs and flowers. Those who want to
behold God’s skill will find nothing so appropriate for their
purpose as this garden-like hill and plain. There is not a
tree that does not confer some benefit. It has no flower that
does not charm the brain with its smell. Every grain of
this wide plain can supply the revenue of countries from
its fruits and aromatic roots; every particle of its dust
attracts the heart. * * * ’

On Wednesday, the 10th June, 1702/25th Muharram,
the Emperor visited the fort by way of the trenches of Fath-
ullah Khan Bahadur; Zabit Khan with sufficient materials
was made its qiladar. Its faceis very strong. * * * But inside
it has no buildings, gardens or reservoirs that excel those of
other forts or can please the mind. As it is a frontier fort
and the vast kingdoms of Balaghat and Painghat (Talkokan)
were annexed to the Empire through its conquest, and as
Emperors have a thousand secret political reasons for every
affair, therefore its conquest [459] was regarded as a great
victory. Next day the Shidhzada was rewarded with one
lakh of rupees as wn'a@m, by the Emperor in greatness of joy,
and sent towards Hukri and Raibagh to form his encamp-
ment. Fathullah Khan Bahaddur was rewarded with a
jewelled jigha and the addition of ‘Alamgirshahi to his title.
Ruhullah Khan and Hamiduddin - Khan Bahadur each
received an increment of 200 tr. Khanahzad Khan, a 2-
hazdri (400 tr.), close to the Emperot’s person, got an incre-
ment of 500 tr. and an elephant. Mu‘nim Khan became
darogha of filkhana and was promoted to be a hazar: (300
tr.). ‘Abdullah Khan, (cor.) brother of Khwaja Lautfullah
(an old servant of the days of Princeship), the dismissed
giladar of Agra, was removed from his rank of 2-hazari
(1,000 tr.), for some reasons. Mir Abul Wafa, grandson of
Zianddin Khan deceased, elder brother of Khinahzad Khan,
was made ddrogha of ja-namaz-khana in addition to his
former post,.vice Fath Muhammad Qul, the deceased old
servant. ‘The fineness of understanding and ingenuity of
intellect which was innate in his fertile genius, displayed
itself in the Emperor’s Court in a short time. One instance
of the brilliance of his genius was this : A letter was received
by the Emperor from Muhammad Mu‘azzam Bahadur Shah
written in cypher (khatt-i-ramz). As it could not be
deciphered, the Emperor handed Jds private {nemorandum-
book over to the Mir saying [460] “‘I have left (undeci-

35
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phered) two or three obscure hints (ramz) of this letter,
Compare them with these and extract the meaning.”’ The
Mir, guided by his penetrating sight and quick-moving
brain, brought that puzzling ramz out of the veil of obscurity
into the light of deciphering, and, writing out the purport
of the Prince’s letter in full, showed it to the Emperor. The
Emperor praised him and formed~a high opinion of his capa-
city, He was rewarded for this with a mohar weighing 50
mohars, 500 rupees, and an addition of 20 tr., to his rank
by which he became a 4-sadi (30 tr.).

On' the 18th February, 1702/1st Shawwil, the ‘Id-ul-
fitr was celebrated as usual. As the Amir-ul-umari was ill,
the Emperor graciously ordered that he would issue from
the inner side of the hall of justice which was henceforth
ordered to be designated ‘‘the hall of the oppressed”’, enter
the passage and sit down in the kathra at a distance of aone
zir‘a from the steps of the hujra (cell). For three days he sat
there and afterwards stood as before. ‘Iniyetullah Khan
was presented with an elephant. Mukhtir Khan, nazim of
Agra, a 23-hazari got an increment of 500. Tarbiyat Khan
Mir Atish, a 8-hazari (500 tr.), got 500 more. Dianat Khan
mutasaddi of the port of Surat, by an ipcrement of 500 be-
came a 2-hazari (150 tr.). On the 27th April, 1702, occurred
the ‘Id-uz-zuha. On Tuesday, the 25th August/12th Rabi.
S.,* screens were set aip round a tent containing the pro-
phet’s relics. [461] The Emperor acquired blessing by
making a pilgrimage (zigrat) and keeping vigil there. Inci-
dentally he learnt that a person had come within the gulal-
bar in a palki. An order was issued that none should come
in a palki except the Amir-ul-umard, Bahramand Khan,
Ruhullah Khan, Khinahzid Khan and Hamiduudin Khan
Bahadur. ‘Azizullah Khan Qurbegi was made giladar of
Qandahar (within the Deccan) vice Saziwar Khan, A 1i-
hazari (800 tr.), he got an increment of 200 tr. Bidir Bakht
was ordered to guard Aurangabad. Lutfullah Khan, nizim
of that place was sent as Subahdar of Berar as deputy (ndib)
of Khan Firuz Jang. But before reaching the place he died.
He was endowed with learning and great bravery, and
repeatedly did excellent service, and spent most of his life
in high offices at the Court or in commanding troops outside.
On Thursday, the 5th November /25th Jamad. S., Bahra-
mand Khan Mir Bakhshi, brother’s son of Ja‘far Khan,

*On the 1ith Rabi. S. Shaikh ‘Abdul Qadir Gilani died; the 12th
aRabi. A. the Prophet passed away, Qadir Gilani died; on

’,
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son-in-law of the Amir-ul-umari died of paralvs;j -
mand Kdm Bakhsh condoled with the gm'ir?lfll?ﬁmggéczl:d
brought him to Court. ‘The Emperor soothed his wounded
heart with consolatory words, and presented him with a
special robe and a jewelled sarpech. The deceased Khan
was a noble possessed of dignity, modesty, grandeur, purity
of nature, gracious looks and amiability. Zulfiqgir Khan
Bahadur Nasrat Jang became Mir Bakhshi vice the deceaséd.
[462] Khudabanda Khan became faujdar of Karnatak-
Bijapuri vice Chin Qalich Khan being restored to his former
post. Muhammad Yar Khan nazim of Delhi, became fauj-
dar of Moradabad, and by an increment of 500 (same tr.)
was raised to the rank of 3}-hazari (300 tr.), and presented -
with kettledrums. As Mun‘im Khan had shown delay in
going to reinforce Muhammad Amin Khan, he was punished
with decrease of 200 zat (50 tr.) and removal from the post
of (darogha of) filkhanak, Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur
getting that post and an increment of 500 zat (250 tr.) to his
rank of 2-hazari (850 tr.). Although I had numerous offices
and was appointed to write urgent secret orders, yet the post
of munshi of the nazarat was added to them. The post of
newswriter was cdnferred on my son Hafiz Muhammad
Mubhasan vice myself. L

News came to the Emperor from Delhi that Zebunnisi
Begam had died. The Emperor was so_sz}ddened by the
news as to shed tears, but had to resign himself to God’s
will. Order was sent to Sayyid Amjad Khan, Shaikh
‘Ataullah, and Hifiz Khan (Nur Muhammad) to give alms
(for the benefit of her soul) and build her tomb in the
appointed place, namely the Garden of Thll“i}"thousand
(Tis Hazari), which was a legacy from Jahanara.

% ™ * »

~ [463] Return of the Emperor from Sakhkharlana to
Bahadurgarh and some other events.

On %Vednesday, the 10th June, 1702/25th Muhatrramr,1
the imperial army set out towards Bahadurgarh. One (tzie
imagine how very long a time the army took to crossl, mhich
midst of this heavy and incessant rais, the pass (kotal) (g{f ich
it had traversed in many days even in dry weather. o
baggage-animals, * * * ¥ the camels refused to sc:it ocf) tﬁg
this-path; the elephants began to carry the lola s O he
camp in a dazed condition, but through the inclemency
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the weather sank into the mud like donkeys. * * * * What
was (to be) undergone was undergone. Porters carried on
their heads the property and baggage of all the men (of the
army). * * * * [464] Rich men, reposing in the paradise
of comfort, somehow or other arrived at the foot of the kotal
which was the first halting-place. Owing to the non-arrival
of the stores (karkhanazat), the imperial army had to delay.
Thie Emperor ordered the things to be entrusted to the com-
mandant of Sakhkharlani. After seven days the forward
march was resumed. The nullah in the way permitted the
imperial cortege to pass, and then opened its mouth to devour
the people. For some time a halt had to be made here.
Whosoever was drowned was drowned, and he whom fate
saved was saved. As the march for the next stage was re-
newed, the same nullah was encountered. It was a strange
fraud of the deceitful (nullah) that it first cunningly allowed
the passage of the advance-tents of the Emperor and other
owners of advance-tents, and afterwards ran like a rash
horse, making all people utterly helpless. The owners of
elephants with much persuasion and coaxing rescued from
the nullah their usurped property. Others could only cry
Alas! and strike their foreheads. At 14st at a distance of
one kos the Emperor took the left side road to Malkapur.
In this stage a nullah obstructed the path withous heeding
the lamentations of the people. * * * In this evil time grain
sold at a rupee a seer; fodder and firewood appeared only
by mistake. The helpless people died from the heavy rain.
Having trodden their property underfoot, the men passed:
their time in peace of mind, [465] and wondered at the
hardness of their lives, .

One day Muzaffar, a mansabdir of the Emperor’s own
retinue, interviewed His Majesty during his journey. After
alighting at the mansion the Emperor addressed Hamid-
uddin Khan Bahadur, saying ‘‘Dilarim was a slave-girl
(parastar) of long service; after bringing up (her) daughter
she had married her to Muzaffar, who to-day came under my

notice during the journey as a whitebearded man. Have the
couplet

““Fix your heart on the Heart’s Delight (Dilaram) that
__you have, .
Withdraw your eyes from the rest of the world,”’

and this hemistich, ‘“You will be unique if you be devote/d
to one”, written in a large hand and carving them on 2
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;tone-slab, bring the;n t »
yrder in a few dbays and (;’rlélseen‘t dThe Khan carried out the
vho said ““Give this stone-slabet tl}& piece to the Emperor
Delhi and fix it on the tomb Ofoth uzaffar to carry it to
Five hundred rupees were presented te %e_ceased Dilaram.”
issued to the clerks of Delhi to give o him. An order was
on the revenue of the provincegf » a tankhze’)a (assignment)
m:;nli_ ?ficler two years when he retuorrrlleeg:grtlsx S%%ary fo the
ot his 1a d - e Emperor he
gO e and St‘andard (kamal) salary and an incrgmerft o?
[466] On Saturda
- Y s the 4th ‘s !
Emperor crossed the nullah on azluge’ %1792/ 19th Safar, the
tent at a distance of one kos from i phant and pitched his
down in the h : om it. He gOt a place to Sit
o | ujra (small room or recess) of the ‘adalat. T
Prince and other grandees had not even th alat. 1he
n tzlflr tents. His Majesty, patient as a mcfuﬁfz{er to st.and
as the ocean, used freque;ltl to “A i 11, spacious
showering rain, a little wind isyblo say, little cloud is
), - g. Why then have th
people been seized with despair ?’v’v’m He en e
EY repeating the (Quranic) veI;'ses, “0O y: \:ﬁzogéfi%si 'tzlee ?
elp with the patients and with prayer, for God is wi‘;h t;e
[ﬁatlent. But ye understand not. With a little fear and
“nz‘lier, and loss of wealth and lives and fruits, will we
:lhr:nyapﬁefy(;u! b‘it bear good tidings to the pat’ient who
0 sfortune happens to the ‘Veri ,
God’s and to Him shaﬂpwe return’?.l*say’ Verlly, we aze
Ah! After a few days of darkne
. , th
again and cheered the pe};ple. ss, the sun broke forth
the 10;1 Sunday, the 26th July, 1702/12th Rabi. A., when
: abouring army after traversing fourteen kos [467] in
dne month and 17 days, reached the foot of fort Nabishah-
Tu;g (Panhala), the sun again shone in the former manner.
e men in need of food began to stir, and appetite and
;leii;rc;ce ;gam prevailed. The chill passed away from the
oy orters ran on all sides. A load descended from
e heads and necks of the people. * * *
The men lagging behind, in a condition which may no
}naln ever see! came up limping. On Wednesday, the 29th
uly/15th Rabi. A., the imperial camp reached Vadgdon.t

* Quran, ii 150-151. A warnin i i '
, . g to the faint-hearted in the Prophet’s army,

uttered before the bettle of Bedr or that of, Ohod. oo

§ + Vadgdon, 13 miles east of Panhals, and 4 miles couth of the right bank

of the Varna

v
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After a stay of one month and eight days, it set out for
Bahadurgarh. On Sunday,-the 6th September/24th Rabi.
S., although the rain did not cease, and news came of the
flood in the Krishna river, these difficulties could ot deflect
the Emperor from his purpose. Covering nine kos in sixteen
days of march and halt, the whole army reached the river
bank. The river was violent and wavy. The army began to
cross in boats. [468] In this state of hardship half the army
crossed over in ten days. The Emperor embarked to cross
to the other bank. The imperial camp stayed for twenty
days more on. the opposite bank, till the whole army had
crossed in safety, * * *

Hence he marched by stages to As‘adnagar, where he
halted a few days, and then encamped at Bahidurgarh. In
travelling through these (last) stages, the Emperor gazed
on a road four kos from beginning to end in length, bordered
on both sides by the paraphernalia of the army of Ghazi-
uddin Khan Bahadur Firuz Jang, The Khan had sent from
the base of Islimpur his mahalla (troops for review) with
splendid equipment and.decorations and material exceeding
the means of a high grandee, and guns above the allowance
of a general, and abunhdant peshkash of every kind. Among
them a short sword was accepted by the Emperor and named
‘““the Young Ghazi”’. Muth of the attillery was confiscated
to the State. The Emperor issued an order that the amirs
should not keep miore guns than those allowed. It is proper to
give here a copy of the sentences written by the Emperor
himself, according to which a ‘By order’ letter [469] was
written to Bidar Bakht, ‘“The mahalla which Khan
Firuz Jang, a T-hazari, showed in his quarters, contained
guns, gajnal, shutarnal, ghornal, and all (other) things, as
many as he ought to maintain according to his mansab, nay,
more than what ought to be kept by a general, in addition
to what had been placed under him by the Government.
Why do you, who are getting double his salary, waste your
money, and spend it without any use (in return for it) ? The
doing of what is required of us as a duty, is in itself an
evidence of perfection. Verse:—Only a little of life is
left, and yet the master of the house is senseless with
prlde Pro# o ok



CHAPTER XLVII.
47TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1114 A. H.
8th January, 1703—27th December, 1704.

* * L &

Conquest of fort Kondand: On Thursday, the 38rd
december, 1702/24th Rajab, the army set out for the con-
juest of Kondana and on Sunday, the 27th Dec./18th
shaban arrived at the foot of the fort.

[470] Muhammad ‘Azim, the Subahdir or Bengal, got
n addition the Subahdari of Bihar, vice Shamshir Khan,
who became Subahdir of Mu‘azzamabid Oudh. A promo-
tion of 500 zat unconditionally in each case was given to
Najabat Khan, Subahdir of Burhinpur and faujdar of
Baglina, a 2-hazari (1500 tr.), Shiv Singh q_1.1adar of
Rairi, a hazdri (same tr.) and Sarindiz Khan, naib of the
subah of Berir on behalf of Khan Firuz Jang, a 13-hazari
(500tr.). Muhtasham Khan became giladar of Naldurg
vice Qasim Khan, Bidir Bakht the nizim of the subah of
Aurangibid became Subahdir of Khandesh (in addition?).
A 15-hazdri (10-hazar tr.), he got an increment of Q-hazar
tr. Nasrat Jang Khan was sent to punish the enemy near
Burhanpur, and rewarded with a jewelled muttcfka and four
elephants. Sultan Muhi-us-sunnat, son of Kam Bakhslh,
got the rank of 7-hazari (2,000 tr.), 2 standard and kettle-
drums. Mu‘izzuddin, Subahdir of Multan and Tattl? ;Nai
rewarded for hjs exertions in extirpating the tur uﬁnd
Bakhtiir, by the sending of a royal letter, a robe, a jewe ed
dagger, and praise. He was a-i2-hazari (8-hazar tr.) dm;f
Tow received an increment of 2-hdZar, ir. and a llr‘xe‘gi; o
ten lakhs of dam. ([471] Chin Qahc'.h Khan Baha . %is
the Subahdari of Bijapur, a sarpech, and a horse, 8T8 8
son an elephant and a horse as reward, Kim aZinat-un-
sent with a robe and a jewelled sarpech to bring ZHe o
nisi Begam from Islampuri to Bahad'urgarh- a f;nf On
Muhammad Amin Khan was appointed under thl retired
Saturday, the 13th March, 1703/6th Zil. Q., the
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Fazail Khan,* son of Wazir Khan, (Mir Haji}, Mir Munshi,
Bayutat and deputy Khin-i-gémﬁn, died. Virtues and
accomplishments were the upper garment of this expert one
of our times. He used to say about himself, ‘““The man is
present. Where is the work ?”’ The Emperor said about
him, “He used to discharge the duties of deputy Khan-i.
siman in such a way as almost to illuminate my house’’.
‘Abdur Rahim, son of Fazil Khan deceased, who came to
Court from Delhi after his father’s death, got the post of
bayutit, the title of Khan and increase of rank. The
Emperor said, ‘‘Fizil Khan ‘Ala-ul-mulk and Fazil Khan
(Burhanuddin) have great claims on me for their services.
I shall cherish and bring up this house-lold servant’’. And
he too had great capacity and worth. But he died in a few
days in the bloom of youth. And as none was left of this
family except Ziauddin, brother’s son and (own) son-in-law
of Fazil Khan Burhanuddin, he was summoned to Court
from the diwidni of the country of Chindpatan [472], given
an increment of rank, the title of Khan and the post
of bayutat. The good services and ability of Fathullah
Khan Bahadur in conquering forts and punishing the enemy
are so much in circulation in the mouths of people that there
is no need to record them here. He had set his heart on
being appointed to Kabul and bad often requested the
Emperor about it; on Friday, the 28th May, 1703/23rd
Muharram, his desire was granted. He got an increment
of 500 to his rank of 2}-hazari (1,000 tr.) and started for
Kabul in great joy; Muhammad Quli, newly arrived from
Persia (vilayet), got a hazari (100 tr.), thé title of Khan,

* Mulld ‘Ala-ul-mulk Tuni, Fazil Khan I, (life in M.U. 1i. 524), one of
the most learned Persian emigrants to India, died m June 1603 only sixtcen
days after being appointed High Diwan. His brother’s son named Burhan-
ud-din came to India about this titne and was enrolled in the Dellii Govern-
ment service, being created Qabil Khan, ‘Itimad Khan (Dec. 1674), and
finally Fazil Khan III (in Nov. 1688). He held the posts of Khan-i-Samin
(1688-1697) and Subahdar of Kashmir (1697-Oct. 1700), dying on the way at
Burhinpur when coming to Court. (His life in M.U. 1i. 34-38). In 1703,
}&isl SO;] Abdur Rahim was appointed bayutit, vice Fazail Khan deceased,

elow). -t

Fazail Khan, was originally Mir Fladi, the son of Wazir Khan Mir Haji,
the diwan of Prince Mubammad ‘Azam, and a disciple of the scholar-saint
Shaikh ‘Abdul ‘Aziz of Agra. (His life in M.U. iii. 38-40). Enrolled in the
service of Prince Muhamiad ‘Azam, over whom he acquired very great
influence, after his Shaikh’s’death in April 1678. After having been detained
at Agra without employment or liberty for many years from 1683 (probably
because the Emperor suspected him of inclining the Prince towards the
Shia creed), he was called to the Emperor’s Court, appointed Chief-Secretary
(Mir Munshi), keeper of the imperial hbrary, deputy Khan-i-Siman and
bayutst, with the title of Fazail Khan. He died on 13 March 1703. There
Was no connection between this Faziil Khan and the two Fizil Khans above,



1708] CAPTIVE SHAHU AND MADAN SINGH 281

a robe, and 2,000 rupees.  Khwija Muhammad, who had
got the title of Amanat Khan got the faujdari of Sangamner
in addition to his faujdari of Bijapur, and an elephant. To
the wife of ‘Abdul Khalig Arab, Imim of the Court, five
jewels were presented. Iradat Khan, gil‘adar of Gulbarga,
a hazari (700tr.), got an increment of 800 troopers.
Bakhshi-ul-mulk Ruhullah Khan got a jasper inkpot.
Ziaullah Khan, son of ‘Inayetullah Khan, became diwdn
of Agra. Bakhshi-ul-mulk Mirzi Sadruddin Muhammad
Khan, was presented with an elephant, a horse, and a robe,
and sent to guard the base at Bahadurgarh. A 2}-haziri
(800 tr.), he got an increment of 500 (250 tr.). Raja Shahu,
son of Sambha, was presented with an arsi having a ruby
set in it, a gold punchhi set with diamond, five jewelled rings
[478], a jewelled dagger, and a horse with gold saz. Fath
Danlat Qul conveyed Shahu to Kam Bakhsh, by command.
The Prince gave him a robe and an drsi as reward. By
order, the tent of Raja Shahu was pitched near the mansion
of Kam Bakhsh. Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur, darogha of
the diwdn-i-khas, presented a wooden bangla fit for sitting

on in the “‘Court of the oppressed’’. An increment of 500.

(300 tr.) was made to his rank of 8-hazari (1,700 tr.). Mir
Khan, son of Amir Khan deceased, had gone to Aurangibad
for marrying the daughter of Bahramand Khan ; he inter-
viewed and presented costly articles; set with gems
(murass‘a). A robe was given him. Madan Singh, brother
of Raja Shihu, came from the base and had audience,
according to command. Prince ‘Alijih got the subahdiri of

Ajmir'in addition to that of Ahmadabad. A 40-hazari-

(80,000 tr.), he got an increment of 10-hazdr tr. Udwat
Singh, qiladar of Sakhkharlani, a 3-hazari (1,200 tr.), got
an increment of conditional and unconditional 500 (300 tr.).
Siadat Khan, son of Sidgdat Khan Ughlan, a 2-hazdri
(200 tr.), got an increment of 500 (same tr.). Ghalib Khan
son of Rustam Khan Sharza Bijapuri, a 83-hazari (3.000 tr.),
got promoted by 500 (samme tr.).. Alahdad Khan Khweshgi
became faujdar of Mandla (?) vies Rahmandid Khan. A
hazari [474] (500 tr,) be was promoted by 500 (same tr.).
Chin Qalich Khan Bahadur, Subahdar of Bijapur, was
appointed faujdar of Talkokan Adilkhani, ‘Azamnagar
Belgion, and thanadar of Sanpgion, vice Saif Khan, A
4-hazari (3,000 tr.), he got an increment of a hazdr tr. and
a kror of dam as reward. Niaz Khan was appointed his
deputy, getting an increment of 500 tr, to his rank of 500

36
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(800 tr.). Khinahzad Khan, close to the Emperor’s person,
was given the title of Mir.

After having done the recording of certain events of
this year, I shall now narrate the conquest of Kondana and
other events. 'The Emperor ordered his soldiers to mount
the hill under the command of Tarbiyat Khan, Mir Atish,
and fire on the besieged. The Khan mounted (big) guns
on a hillock opposite the tower of this tall fort, and for some
time engaged in burning the enemy and demolishing their
towers and battlements, so that the beastly enemy were
driven out of their grazing ground. On Thursday, the
8th April, 1703/2nd Zil. H., this and other forts capitu-
lated. It was renamed Bakhshenda Bakhsh. Truly it is
so strong a fort that no amount of exertion but only the
Giver’s. gift could have led to its conquest. As the rainy
season was impending and the difficulty of the road extreme,
[475] in view of the fact that the Emperor’s aim was
restricted to the conquest of fort Rijgarh, it was decided to
pass the rainy season at Muhidbad Puna, and afterwards
pursue the object. On Saturday, the 24th April, 1703 /18th
Zil. H., the return march to that place was ordered, and it
was reached on Saturday, the 1st”May/25th Zil. H.

I shall narrate an incident'of this period which shows
the Emperor’s regard for his servants, recognition of merit,
and attention to the rules governing men and perfect
justice. :

At the time of the imperial camp alighting at Puni, by
chance the quarters of the Amir-ul-umara were located on a
low land and those of ‘Iniyetullah Khan, nizim of Khilsa
and tan on a higher tract. After some time when the Khan
had enclosed the land adjoining the quarters of his harem,
Vasant, eunuch.of the Amir-ul-umari, sent a man to say
““Get out of this place, the nawwab’s tent will be pitched
here’’. The Khan sent reply ‘‘Very well; please wait till I
have found some other spot in this misl, in which I have to
take up (my) quarters’”. ‘The eunuch gave a rude answer.
The Khan removed his tent to another place in the same
neighbourhood, and the Amir -ul-umard’s tent was set up
there. From the news-sheet of Ikhliskesh, news-writer of
the kachari [476] of the diwan, this matter came to the
Emperor’s knowledge. He immediately ordered Hamidud-
din Khan Bahadur to go and tell the Amir-ul-umara, ‘It
was not done well. You should go to your former place or
some other spot. The man who had set up his tent before,
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should remain in his o »

the order. . The Rmir-um;?;edé]a Tge. Khan conveyed
it. The Khan Bahidur leaving hiye Ln consenting to
friendly manner to ‘Indyetullah Khan’l:;1 ht ot I a
the occurrence, saying “It is better h ouse and narrated
Amir-ul-umara and say that you h o shond g 1o
and that you dom’t wish Bi nf :1 zilve got another place
‘Inayetullah Khan said ‘“You we(:ltct az;%e his quarters.”
by command. How can I go to him w(;th etAH(lilr-1%%"umara
Khan Bahidur on coming;r> to the Em out order 7' The
whole affair. Next day when the Kmixgilio;n;ep‘orted fhe
His Majesty at the time of holding Cou ;. ﬁra eror
ordered Ihtamam Khan Qul to takegthe Ff . e1 perer
‘Indyetullah Khan and make him be dmn'-u “whot had
oo 3 e h g pardon for what had

ccurred. Asad Khan had not so many lives that he coul

disobey the order now. He submitted and catried (e; iothd
?rder. Amir Khan sent me to convey this mes e to
‘Indyetullah Khan. ‘‘Such an order has been issuecsiageBt‘:
it is advisable that you should quickly petition the Em ergr
to postpone the visit of the Amir-ul-umara.”” My goig at
mid-day and the visit of the Amir-ul-umari to the Kh;gn’s
house happened at the same time. My message remained
undelivered. By chance ‘Inayetullah Khan was at his bath
Th_e Amir-ul-umara came and sat down in the diwin-
khanah in which the carpet had not been yet spread. The
Khan quickly came out, the Amir-ul-umari took his hand,
rose, and riding brought him to his own house. [477] He
presented one than of cloth by way of welcoming to the
Kban and never to the end of the period of their .being
togegher did he in any way express complaint or displeasure
(against the Khan) but increased his favours and attempts to
please. Such men have lived under the sky and passed the
stages of their lives in this excellent manner !

After a stay of six months and eighteen days, inspite
of famine on account of drought, death of the poor,
lamentation of the weak, the disappearance of wheat, vetch
and rice, the filling of Shiahganj. (royal market) to the brim
with the groans of the stricken beggars, the Emperor’s
resolution would not turn back, let the celestial firmament
turm back if it will ! So, on Wednesday, the 10th November,
1703 /12th Rajab, the army marched out for the conquest
of Rijgarh. Four kos from this fort* is a kotal reaching

—

*Puna? according to Khafi Khan.
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up to the sky. Although for two months labourers had
been working hard to level the ups and downs, yet when
can the looks of earthly men rise to the sky, and where
can the hand of the celestials be equalled by that of the
terrestrials ? * * * In seven days the army crossed the pass,
and after [478] passing one more stage, arrived on Sunday,
the 28th November/30th Rajab, at the narrow plain at the
foot of the fort. )

Fort Rajgarh is a hill second only to the fort of the
towered sky. '

% % % L d

Its circuit is twelve kos, Imagination cannot estimate
its height. Its thorny jungles and spectre-haunted chasms
can be traversed only by the wind. Nothing can descend
on it except rain! In former days, the ‘Adilkhani kings
possessed it. The infernal Shivd after gaining possession
{of Rijgarh], made terraces on three sides around it on a
ower level [mdchi] and there built three strong forts,
namely Suveld and Padmavati situated towards Kokan
uplands, and Sanjivani on the side of Kokan lowlands;
he thus made its capture by any enemy impossible.
On Thursday, the 2nd December, 1703 /4th Shaban, the
Emperor issued orders that under the supervision of Hamid-
uddin Khan Bahadur and management of Tarbiyat Khan,
Mir Atish, the army should begin the attack on the fort.

{479] The infidel now. in hell (namely Shivaji) had
formed a triangular enclosure, which is called a sund
(? elephant’s trunk) in the language of military fortification,
by erecting two thick walls from the postern-gate (wicket)
of the fort of Padmawat to the end of the hillock, and making
these two walls meet at a point. Below both of these (walls)
the path declines so sharply and is so full of slippery holes
that no one can pass there.on foot. At the junction of the
two walls, Shiva had built an even stronger tower, which

opened upon the back of the hillock opposite to it. Here he
had collected war materials.

As the apex of this tower is thirty yards in height,
straight as a stretched rope, the two active generals told off
by the Emperor for the attack; working from the side of
Padmawat, built a raised battery, lofty as a hill, opposite
this tower and carried the work up to the sang-chin
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(protective bulwark of loose stones round the raised plat-
form). While this work was being pushed on, although the
garrison erected batteries of their own, they did not succeed
(in stopping the imperialists). Our thundering guns,
which were planted at certain points to demolish the fort-
towers and walls, did havoc to them in many places.



CHAPTER XL /VIII.
48TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1115 A.m.
28th December, 1703—16th December, 1704.

A marriage was settled-between Hedayetullah Khan,
son of ‘Inayetullah Khan and the daunghter of Muhammad
Afzal, son of Faizullah Khan deceased. [480] The Emperor
presented him with a robe and a horse. Shamshir Beg,
grandson of Aghar. Khan was married to the daughter of
(R3ja) Ram. The bridegroom was presented with three
jewelled rings and a robe. Taqi Khan, grandson of
Bahramand Khan, ‘was married to a daughter of Shiista
Khan, he was presented with ornaments worth 5,000 rupees.
Shaista Khan became faujdir and qiladiar of Mandu wvice
Nawazish Khan, son of Islam Khin Rumi. Mir Ahmad
Khan, diwan of the establishment of Bidar Bakht Bahadur
was appointed deputy Subahdar of Khindesh. Rustam
Khan Sharza Bijapuri, who was naib-Subahdar of Berar on
behalf of Khan Firuz Jang, and had been captured in battle
with Nima [Sindhia], secured his release and returned to
the Khan; from his rank of 7-hazdri (same tr.) a hazar (same
tr.) was reduced. ‘Id-ul-fitr occurred on the 27th January,
1704 /1st Shawwal, 1115. Raja Neknam was married to
the daughter of (R3ja) Ram and presented with a robe.
Padaji, thanadar of Buddha Panchgaon, son of Shivaji’s
uncle, was a 23-hazari (1500 tr.); he now got an increment
of 500 zat. Sarfaraz Khan had been removed from his rank
for an offence ; at Kam Bakhsh’s request he was restored to
the mansab of 6-hazari (5-hazar tr.). Saif Khan, son of Saif
Khan Fagqirullah, the dismissed qiladar of Belgdon, became
ndib-Subahdar of Bijapur on behalf of Chin Qalich Khan
Bahadur. [481] Mukhlis Khan who was formerly Mut‘aqad
Khan was sent to Agra as giladir. Firuz Jang Khan was
rewarded for his punishment of Niimi, with the title of
Sipahsalar, an increment of 2-hazar tr. which made him a
7-hazari (10-hazar tr.) and a kror of dam as in‘am.
Muhammad Amin Khan Bahadur a 3-hazari (1000 tr.) got
an increment of 500 zat (200 tr.). Dilir Khan an officer
under Firuz Jang Khan, a 7-hazari (same tr.), got 500 tr.
added to his rank. Sipahdir Khan nizim of Allahabad, a
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4-hazdri (3,000 tr.), was rewarded for the chasﬁsement of
Mahabat, zamindar of ]aunpur with an increment of 500 tr.
Hamid Khan Bahadur, brothér of Khan Firuz Jang, a 23-
hazari (1500 tr.), got an increment of 500 zat (200 tr.).
Raja Indra Smgh 3, 3-hazari (2-hazar tr.) got an increment
of 500 zat, Rahimuddin Khan brother of Khan Firuz Jang, a
‘hazari (250 tr.) got 500 zat (100 tr.) more. Sayyid Husain,
successor at the tomb of Mir Sayyid Muhammad Gisudaraz,
‘was presented with a jewelled dagger and a horse with gold
saz. Khidmatgar Khan Khwaja ‘Talib, nizir of the
Emperor’s harem, died at the base after a penod of illness
from paralysis. The FEmperor had received him from Shih
Nawaz Khan as part of his wife’s dowry; he was an old
good-natured servant. Murhamat Khan son of Amir Khan
deceased, [482] a hazari (250 tr.), got an increment of
150 troopers.

Kamgar Khan, dismissed Subahdar of Orissa, came to
Court. Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur who received the
blessed cap of Mian ‘Abdul Latif, and Tarbiyat Khan a
dagger, were sent to chastise the enemy spread near the
river Ghod nadi. Mun‘im Khan who had become diwan of
the establishment of the Crown Prince wice Muhammad
Aslam Khan, became diwan of the Panjab vice Sayyid
Mirak Khan. Kam Bakhsh had been reinstated as a
20-hazari (10,000 tr.); 5,000 tr. of his former reduction was
now restored. °‘Ali Naq1 daughter’s son of Shah ‘Abbas,
king of Iran, was led by fortune to visit the ‘Emperor. Five
thousand rupees were given from the treasury of the port
of Surat for his travelling expenses. On coming to court,
he got the rank of 3-hazari (1,000 tr.) a robe, a horse, an
elephant, and a jewelled jigha. Muhammad Muhiuddin, son
of Sikandar Khan Bijapuri, was married to the daughter
of Sambha. The Emperor presented a dowry worth 7,000
rupees. ‘The marriage of Raja Shahu, the son of Sambha,
was settled with the danghter of Bahadurjl He was
presented with a jewelled belt, an enamelled sarpech, and
a jewelled jigha, worth 10, 000 rupees. ‘The Emperor re-
celved a present sent by Muhammad ‘Azim on the occasion
of the birth of a daughter to Sultan Farrukh Siyar [483].

Qazi Akram Khan got an elephant. Robes for the
rains were sent to all the 1mper1al servants at the Court and
in the provinces. Rustamdll Khan was appointed faujdar
of XKarnatak-Bijapuri vice Salabat Khan. A 1}-hazari
(1,000 tr.), he got 500 zat (1,000 tr.)- more and a kror of
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dam as in‘am. Khwija Zihid, ambassador of Balkh,
received on the day of interview a gold coin weighing 100
mohars and a rupee weighing 100 rupees. On the day of
taking congee he received a robe, a jewelled dagger, and
5,000 rupees in cash. A farman with robe was sent to Bidar
Bakht appointing him Subahdar of Malwa in addition to
Aurangabad. Dzud Khan,*naib of Nasrat Jang, became
Kam Bakhsh’s deputy in governing the subah of Bijapur,
vice Muzaffar Khan. A 5-hazari (same tr.), he got a hazari
(same tr.) in addition. Murshid Quli Khan, defender* of
the province of Orissd and diwan of (the establishment of)
Muhammad ‘Azim and of the province of Bengal, was a
11-hazari (1,000 tr.) 4and now got an increment of 500 zat
(100 tr.). Hamiduddin Khan Bahiadur and Tarbiyat Khan
who had gone to chastise the enemy, returned to Court
according to command. On the 21st November, 1704/4th
Shaban,t the Emperor learnt that Firuz Jang Khan had
started from' Berar towards Hindustan to chastise Nimi
Sindhia and Chatrasil Bundeli. News came from in-
formants on the frontier of Persia that Prince Muhammad
Akbar, who had fled into the wilderness of disappointment
and whose affairs have been described in previous years
[484] had died. The Emperor consoled himself by reading
the verse of tarjie and said, ‘“The great disturber of
Hindustan has subsided.”” He sent the news to Zinat-
un-nisa Begam, and presented a mourning turban-end to
Akbar’s son Buland Akhtar. Condolatory turban-ends
were sent to his eldest son Nekusiyar in the fort of Agra,
to Raziyyat-un-nisi{ Begam, wife of Raf‘i-ul-qadr and
Zakiyyat-un-nisa Begam, wife of Khujistah Akhtar, the
daughters of the deceased.

I shall now turh to the narration of the history of the
remaining portion of the siege of Rajgarh. . .

On Sunday, the 6th February, 1704/11th Shawwil,
our heroes mounted the tower and penetrated inside ‘the
wall, driving the enemy, who had come up to oppose them,
back to confinement in the fort. They firmly established
themselves here. Although these prisoners closed the door
of submission on themselves and for a time did not slacken
in discharging guns, muskets, rockets and stones, and

* Haris (in text) ; Akhbarat says that he was faujdar of Orissi, (evidently
the snbahdarship of Orissa was then kept in abeyance).
The year wrong. According to Akhbdrdl, 2nd December, 1703,
+On pp. 203 and 372 her name is given as Safiat,
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through the lack of shelters many of the holy -warriors met
with martyrdom, yet the sight of their valour and sacrifice
of life, shook the resolution of the enemy;- [485] their
generals Firangaji and Damaiji* sent an envoy to the hotise
of Bakhshi-ul-mulk Ruhullah Khan to beg for quarters. At
the Khan’s intercession the Emperor ordered that the
garrison mxght go out without arms or armour. On
Wednesday, the 16th February/2lst Shawwil, they with
their own hands planted the imperial banner on the top of
the fort, and themselves retired to the pit of ruin. That
very day Bakhshi-ul-mulk Hamiduddin Khan Bahidur with
other grandees entered the fort by the door, and raising to
the sky the loud shout of conquering four such forts, ex-
pelled the infidels as he had been’commanded. * * *

Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur, who a few days before had
received the increment of 500 zat (300 tr.), making him a
34+hazary (2-hazdr tr.) was now rewarded for his heroism
with the permission to beat the maubat. -Tarbiyat Khan
was rewarded for the conquest of the fort with an increment
of 500 zat (200 tr.) which made him a 8}-hazari (1,800 tr.).
[486] The Bakhshi-ul-mulk, who had been promoted to be
a 33-hazari (1500 tr.) was presented with a costly jewelled
sarpech. 'The fort was renamed Nabishahgarh.

Capture of Torna fort : “Torna was situated four kos
from Raijgarh. On - Wednesday, the 23rd February,
1704 /28th Shawwil, the imperial tent was pitched in its
neighbourhood, and the heroes, as usual, were sent to
attempt the capture of the fort. * * # In spite of the strength
of the fort, Tarbiyat Khan engaged himself in running
trenches on the side of its gate. Muhammad Amin Khan
Bahadur closed the path of egress to the garrison on the
other side. Other guards enclosed it around. * * * [487]:

- Amanullah Khan, grandson of Alahwardi Khan Jfafar,
who was famous for his reckless valour in this family of
brave men, in the night of Friday, the 10th March,
1704 /15th Zil. Q., When the 89th lumar year of the
Emperor’s life began, inspired some Mavlé infantry, from
his own side, so that first one of them in disregard of life
went up to the sangchin of the fort and fastened a rope ladder

Ao,

*The printed text of M.A. gives the names as Fardwniji and Himanji
(which I correct as Firangaji ancf D3maji. Khafi Kh. (ii. 513) names only
Hamaji.- The Marathi annals and the akhbarals are silent as to the names,
The Ms. reads Faraunfi and Hahdnji,
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(mail) strongly to a rock, and then twenty-five others of the
same party ascended the hill by means of the noose (rope-
ladder), entered the fort, and raised the din of fighting,
The Khan, his brother ‘Ataullah Khan and some others
in disregard of their lives followed them quickly on hearing
of it. Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur, who was walking on
every side in search of an opportunity, tied a rope to his
waist like the first party and entered close behind, The
infidels who offered resistance were slain. The rest fled to
the citadel and shut the door. Although this hard enter-
prise in this simplified form was one of no small (danger),
yet where could cowards resist the charge of heroes, and
1#88] the enemy became helpless and begged for quarters.

he Emperor permitted them to leave the fort without their
arms. ‘The fort was renamed Fatuh-ul-ghaib. The Khan
Bahidur Hamiduddin was rewarded with a robe, a fathpech
and doshala fyom the Emperor’s own wardrobe. Amanullah
Khan by an increment of 500 zat (200 do aspa tr.) became a
1}-hazari (700 tr.). Others were properly rewarded. As
through the blessedness of the aims of the Emperor, the
people escaped the hardships and dangers of passing the
rainy season in this fatal region, the Emperor set out on
the return march towards the old dominions for making
chhauni in the neighbourhood of Junnar. [489] On
Wednesday, the 15th March, 1704 /20th Zil. Q., Mir Khan,
close to the Emperot’s person, got his father’s hereditary
title of Amir Khan, The Emperor said, ‘“When your
father Mir Khan became Amir Khan he presented to-the
Emperor Shah Jahan one lakh of rupees in return for the
granting of alif (to his name). What will you present?’’
He replied, “May a thousand thousand lives be sacrificed to
Your Majesty! My life and property are all propitiatory
alms (tasaddugq) for the sake of Your Majesty !”’ Next day
he, presented to the Emperor, a Quran in the handwriting
of  Yaqut. The Emperor remarked, ‘You have made a
present which exceeds the world and its contents in price,”
and gave him an elephant. On Tuesday, the 9th May,
1704/15th Muharram, Bakhshi-ul-mulk Ruhullah Khan
died in the fulness of his youth and prosperity. Mourning
robes were sent to the houses of his sons Khalilullah Khan
and ‘Itigad Khan (who afterwards got the title of Ruhullah
Khan). They came to bow to the Emperor who consoled
them. The daughter of the deceased came to Court; she
was consoled with the present of jewels worth 5,000 rupees,
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Mirz3 Sadruddin Muhammad Khan becasme sscond Bakhshi,
vice the deceased. Mir Khinahzid Khan was ordered to act
as his deputy pending his arrival from the base. Khuda-
banda Khan became Khan-i-siman vice the decessed. Om
Monday the 17th April, 1704/23rd Zil. H., the Emperor
fixed his camp at [490] the village of Khed, which was
renamed Mas‘audabad. ~After staying here for seven and
a half months, the army started for Wagin-gera. * * *

MARCH FOR THE CONQUEST OF WAGIN-GERA

I have already narrated some of the incidents of the
capture of Nasratabad Sagar from Pim Naik, his coming
to the imperial Court at Haidarabad through the mediation
of Khanahzid Khan, son of Ruhullah Khan, and his flight
to hell shortly afterwards. [491] Afterwards: when
Ruhullah Khan, son of Khalilullah Khan, was ordered in
the 32nd year of the reign (to go) from Fathibad Koragaon
to conquer Raichur, Pidia, brother’s son and adopted son
of Pam Naik, who, in.the 28th [corr: 27th] year at the
time of the Emperor’s dismounting at Ahmadnagar, had
came to Court and received a mansab, was taken by the '
Khan with himself, as likely to render help in the work.
This trickster informed the Khan, after the conquest of
Raichur that if he could get permission he would like to go
to Wiagingera for a week, replenish his materials and equip-
ment, and come back. This place was a.village within the
jurisdiction of Sagar. Its habitations are situated on a
hill. After Sagar had been wrested from Pam Niik,
it developed into the home and refuge of the infidel (rebels).
The Khan being deceived gave the permission. The wretch
after reaching his shelter violated his promise, took up an
attitude of opposition, and tried to strengthen this place,
i.e., to make a gamargha with twelve or thirteen thousand
musketeers, * * ¥ :

When the Khan employed force against him, he kept
himself safe partly by force and partly by money. The
Khan was summoned to Counrt; and he outwardly conducted
himself as a tenant, continued to pay revenue, but gradually
gathered together wealth, built a wall on one side of. the
hill, and assembled [492] fighting footmen, and thus
constituted Wagin-gera. By increasing the buildings of the
town and the cultivation in its neighbourhood, he acquired
power and authority, and became the leading partner of the
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Marathas in raising disturbances and rebellion, and dis-
possessed Jagid, the legitimate son of Pam Naik, the heir
to the estate. The latter betook himself to the Court and
took service there. After learning of Pidid’s robberies on
all sides and his devastation (of the property) of high and
low, the Emperor sent ‘Azam Shah to extirpate him. Then
he interviewed the Prince and saved himself from destruction
by paying seven lakhs of rupees (as tribute). And during
the governorship (lit., domination) of Ghaziuddin Khan
Bahiddur Firuz Jang, he followed the same policy, and by
paying in all a tribute of nine lakhs of rupees saved himself.

When the Emperor’s attention was absorbed in con.
quering the country of Bijapur, this short-sighted man again
provoked his own ruin. Till at last, the Emperor being
free from the conquest of those great forts and the opening of
so many difficult passes leading to Junnar, the time of
retribution on the infidel arrived. On Sunday, the 22nd
October, 1704 /4th Rajab, the Emperor set out towards it.



CHAPTER XLIX.
49TH VEAR OF THE REIG/N“ 1116 a.g..
17th December, 1704—5th December, 1705:

[493] * * * ‘Azizullah Khan uncle of Ruhullah Khan
deceased, who had been summoned from Aurangabad after
the latter’s death, had audience. At Firuz Jang’s request,
the hazari zat (same tr.) deducted from the rank of Rustam
Khan, ndib-Subahdir of Berir, was restored; Mir Khan,
son of Amir Khan deceased, a hazari (500tr.) got an
increment of a 100 tr. Tahawwar Khan, son of Saldbat
Khan deceased, darogha of Qurkhanah, got the title of
Fidai Khan. The ‘Id-ul-fitr occurred on the 16th January,
1705 /1st Shawwal, 1116. °

Buland Akhtar’s tent was a saracha with dasbak. On
account of some offence, the Emperor ordered that it should
be a tent (tambu) with galandari and an enclosure of cloth
screens (ganat.) Hafiz Nur Muhammad, Mir-i-siman of the
establishment of Gauharara Begam, having written and
corrected selections from the Ahig-ul-ulum, sent it as a
present to the Emperor and was rewarded with an elephant,
1000 rupees in cash, and the title of [494] Hafiz Khan.
Rustamdil Khan, the dismissed faujydar of Karnatak-
Bijapuri, was appointed naib-Subahdar of Haidarabad, vice
Daud Khan and received an increment of 500 zat (same tr.)
to his rank of 2-hazari (1,000 tr.). Chin Qalich Khan
Bahadur, nazim of Bijapur, got the faujdari vice him. He
was a 4-hazari (same tr.), and now got an increment of
2,000 tr. and 5 lakhs of dam as in“am.

On Tuesday, the 18th March 1705/28th Zil. Q., news
came from Ahmadabad that Jahdnzeb Banu Begam, wife of
Shah ‘Alijah, had died. Some trusty female friends, who
had access to her, said, ‘‘a pimple of the size of a lentil
appeared on the nipple of her right bosom. For some time
medicine was taken, yet the swelling grew wide and thick
and its inflammation at times caused a burning fever. The
doctors applied medicines. At last Monsieur Martin, the
Frenchman, said ‘““Thefe 'is a skilful woman-surgeon
(hdziga) among my relatives at Delhi. If she is summoned
and aftes examining the patient tells me the details of the
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case, she will be quickly cured.” After her arrival, the
Begam said to her foster-brother (Koka), ‘‘Summon her,
and inquire about her age and habit of drinking wine.’’ The
Koka after inquiry reported, ‘‘She is 40 years old, and
drinks wine.”’ The Begam said, ‘It is certain that I shall
not be able to save myself from this disease which is daily
increasing. I don’t wish that my body should be touched
by a sinner.” Although the Shih pressed her, it had no
effect. The disease lingered for two years, and at last she
died.”’ In all two lakhs of rupees were spent in furnishing
the corpse, shrouding it, distributing money and food [495]
(to beggars), sending the corpse to Delhi, and burying it in
the cemetery of Khwija Qutbuddin Bakhtiar. The Shih
gave up hearing music and seeing dances, of which he was
very fond from his youth. All her jewels were sent to
Bidar Bakht, Her other things and cash were made over
to the officers of Najib-un-nisa Begam.

Sayyid Asilat Khan, an’ officer serving under the
Crown Prince, came to Court by command. At the Prince’s
request he received an increment of 500 zat (200 tr.) making
him a 13-kazari (700 tr.). Ya‘qub Khan at the recommenda-
tion of Ibrahim Khan became faujdir of Pakhli Dhamtur
vice Rahmandad Khan and got an increment of a hazar
troopers. Kanhoji Shirké, a 5-hazari (same tr.), got an
increment of a hazdr zat. Murid Khan, son of Himmat
Khan, became qiladar of the port of Surat, vice Dilir Khan
deceased. Hamid Khan Bahadur quarrelling with Firuz
Jang Khan came to Court. He was a 2-hazari (1,000 tr.),
and now regained the 500 zat (same tr.) which had been
reduced. Vasudeo, zamindar of Chandankera, got his first
mansab (a 3-hazari zat) and an elephant. Raja Shahu, by
command, went to and came back from the house of Firuz
Jang with the troops of Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur. [496]
Monday, the 4th June, 1705/2nd Safar had been fixed for
giving leave to Kam Bakhsh to go to Haidarabad. But the
Emperor postponed it. Chin Qalich Khan Bahidur
Subahdar of Bijapur, got in addition the posts of (faujdar of)
Nasratabad Sakkhar and Mudgal vice Burhianullah Khan
and Kamil Khan; Saif Khan got the qiladari and faujdari
of ‘Azamnagar and Talkokan vice Chin Qalich Khan, with
an increment of 500 zat (1,800 tr.). Mirza Safavi Khan
was married to the daughter of Mu‘azzam Khan deceased;
he was given a robe with a sarpech and 12,000 rupees in
cash. Bakhshi-ul-mulk Nasrat Jang Khan was gresented
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with a ring with 'a ruby set in it, worth 5,000 rupees.
‘Inayetullah Khan's wife was presented with a pearl badhi
worth 8,000 rupees and other jewels. Hamiduddin Khan
Bahadur’s’ daughter was presented with an udrdj and
makrt with two pearls, Sipahdar Khan, nazim of Allahabad,
a 4-hazari (3,000 fr.), got an increment of a hasdr zat.
Fathullah Khan Bahadur ‘Alamgirshahi got the thanahdari
of Lauhgarh vice Alah Yar Khan, with an increment of
200 tr. On Sunday, the 2nd September /4th Jamad, A, a
farman was issued calling Shah ‘Alijah to- Court. On
Sunday, the 9th September, 1705/1st Jamad.S., -the
subahdarshlp of the Panjab was given to the Crown Pnnce
vice Zabardast Khan. The subahdari of Burhinpur and
Aurangabad was given to Shah ‘Alijah vice Bidar Bakht.
Ibrzhim [497] Khan, dismissed Subahdir of Kashmir,
became Subahdar of Ahmadabad vice the agents of Shih
‘Alijah, A b-hazari (same tr.) he got an increment of a
hazar zat (same tr.). Zabardast Khan, his son, became
Subahdar of Ajmir vice the agents of Shah ‘Alijah: A
hazari, he got an increment of 500 (1,000 tr.). Mun‘im Khan
diwan of the establishment of the Crown Prince and of the
Subah of Kabul, became deputy governor of the Panjab on
behalf of the Prince, and faujdar of Jammu on his own
behalf. A hazari (500 tr.), he got 500 zdt (same tr.) more.
Nawizish Khan became Subahdar of Kashmir. Mu‘izzuddin,
Subahdar of Multin and Tatta became (also): faujdar of
Lakhi jungle vice Zabardast Khan. Hayatullah Khan son of
Chin Qalich Khan Bahadur was presented with an elephant
and a jewelled dagger. Mirza Safavi Khan became third
Bakhshi, - Tarbiyat Khan, Mir Atish, was made qil‘adir of
Nabishahdurg and Muhiabid up to the river Bhimi. He
got a hazar tr. seh-bandi. Bagi Khan, son of Bagi Khan,
uncle of Hamiduddin Khan, ‘became giladar of Agra wice
Kamgar Khan. A 134-hazari, he got 500 zat (300 tr.) as
an increment. Tarbiyat Khan, Mir Atish, got in addition
the daroghaship of the Deccan artillery vice Mansur Khan.
His son Muhammad Ishdq was appointed his deputy.
Wazarat Khan ‘Arab Shaikh Muhammad, diwdn of Kam
Bakhsh, was sent to settle Haiderabad.

On Friday, the 16th November, 1705/10th Shaban,
[498] the subahdari of Malwa was ordered to be continued
to Bidar Bakht. Mukhtir Khan nazim of Agra, in reward
for the conquest of Sansani, a possession of the rebel
Rajaram Jat, which was captured, for the second time on
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Tuesday, the 9th October, 1705/2nd Rajab, got an addition
of 500 zat to his rank of 3-hazari. The Emperor learnt that
Durgadas ‘Rathor, who had left the army of Shah ‘Alijah,
had returned. He was ordered to be restored to fhe rank of
8-hazari (2-hazar tr.).

I shall now turn to the siege of Wagin-geri. The inter-
vening space was covered in three months and a few days,
and on Thursday, the 8th February, 1705/4th Shawwal,
the army arrived near it. Chin Qalich Khan Bahadur, son
of Khan Firuz Jang, nazim of Bijapur and jagirdar of this
country, who had hastened with the advanced detachment
by command, took up a position a quarter of a kos from the
fort, in company with Muhammad Amin Khan Bahadur,
Tarbiyat Khan Bahadur and the officers of the artillery.
The Emperor’s camp (ddira) was located at a distance of a
kos. Everyday the enemy sallied forth and fought the
imperialists. And as some thousand active musketeers and
vigorous troopers, Hindu and Muslim, mostly of the Sayyid
and other tribes, and servants of the best of Khalifas were
opposed to them, severe struggles took place. The big guns
from the top of the hill caused tumultuous slaughter; rockets
followed each other vehemently. One morning Chin Qalich
Khan Bahadur, Muhammad Amin Khan [499] Bahadur,
Tarbiyat Khan Bahadur, ‘Aziz Khan Ruhila, and Ikhlis
Khan Miana, on the look out for opportunities, seized a
hillock named 13l Tikri, the capture of which would greatly
weaken the enemy. The enemy learning of it, came in a
large body, and so stoned the occupants of the hillock that
they could not stand. The heroes waited for an opportunity
to encircle the infantry. But the work did not prosper and
they turned back. Although Kam Bakhsh and the Amir-
ul-umari were sent, the efforts of the warriors did not
succeed. The Emperor after the retreat ordered them to
give up the endeavour from that side and try to promote the
work from other sides. :

That day, when Chin Qalich Khan ‘Bahadur and Muham-
mad Amin Khan Bahadur were riding out with a party to
select the places for the trenches, by chance a cannon-ball fell
upon them. Two legs of the horse of one and a foreleg of the
horse of the other were blown away ; but the two generals got
down in safety. The Emperor on hearing of it sent with his
personal (servant) Amir Khan two Arab horses with gold
saz for the two generals and one precious perfumed pastile
of amber for Chin Qalich Khan and gratified them, In
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short, the heroes planned to run trenches between Lal Tikri
and the hillock opposite the petta and Dhedapur, Muhammad
Amin Khan Bahadur established an outpost for repelling
the enemy between Lal Tikri and the place of the trenches.
Sultan Husain, surnamed Malang, with the men of the
Prince kept his hold on the conquered hillock for some time.
[500] And similgrly, Bagr Khan, son of Ruhullah Khan
boldly maintained himself long on another hillock. These
two parties encountered the enemy day and night, and
checked their assault. In spite of the daily crowding of the
enemy against these men, it seemed likely for the work to
succeed soon, when the news spread that the Marathas were
coming to aid the enemy. On Thursday, the ‘8th Match,
1705/23rd Zil. Q. Dhana Jidav and Hindu Rao with five
or six thousand troopers arrived near the imperial army.
As the families of many (of them) were living in the protec-
tion of this fort, they ‘kept the imperial army in play, 4nd
carried off the families by the other side of the hill. They
advised the chief of Wiagingerad thus,— “With all our joint
armies and materials, you and we cannof oppose the
Emperor. If your hill be of iron, it would be dissolved and
if your fort be of brass, it would be overthrown by him.
Don’t ruin your country. Don’t overthrow your zamindari.
Don’t rely too much on your remaining property. Save your
army from being scattered.” Regarding the Marathas as
his helpers in his evil day, he had kept them attached to him
by means of a daily subsidy of some thousands of rupees.
The money went out of the purse of this Iuckless man, but
what came from them (the Marathas) in return? The
Marathas at his instigation, appeared on some occasions from
the various sides of the camp, but being broken they fled to
the hills. Several times great feats were performed through
the forward movement of Mupammad Amin Khan Bahadur,
Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur, Amanullah Khan [501] and
other heroes. In the meantime, the rebel chief made over-
tures for peace. He gave a letter containing a prayer for
safety and some other requests to ‘“Abdul Ghani Kashmiri,
a hawking grocer, who had no (merchandise) under his arm
save fraud and duplicity and had attained to (influence on)
the chief by tricks and deception. - As that unclean fellow
was not ome of the grandees known to the Emperor, he
brought the letter to Hedayetkesh, the ggneral news-reader,
who had once had an occasion to speak to him and said,
‘I had gone to take a walk towards the fort, and was delayed

38
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by having to perform the evening prayer. At that time
some men of the Berad Chief arrived and carried me away
bound. He after some inquiry wrote and gave me this
letter’’.

Hediyetkesh reported the matter to the Emperor, who
in spite of his prudence, experience, the indications of the
approaching end of the siege, and knowledge of the worth of
that worthless fellow, said that the prayers would be
granted. The Prince was ordered to be the mediator for
these affairs. The rebel chief sent to the Court his brother
Som Singh, who desired the zamindari, the name of Pidid
and a mansab for him; he got rewards and a mansab on
coming. Muhatasham Khan, son of Shaikh Mir, a debtor
of the Kashmiri, who was living without a mansab and
making no exertions (in the siege) and had been through
the deception of that unclean creature appointed as qiladar,
was taken inside the fort with some men after being given a
mansab. [502] Som Singh spread the tale that Pidid had
turned mad and fled from the fort. The Kashmiri brought
a message from his mother that the wretch had fled with the
Maratha devils, that Som Singh might now be permitted to
come to the fort and engage in the duties of zamindir, and
that the fort would be vacated in a week. It was done. The
Kashmiri was given a mansab of 3-hundred. Hedayetkesh
for a few days got the title of Hadi Khan and promotion.
The fire of the trenches was stopped. The generals were
summoned to Court. As the deceiver had imagined that
according to his fraud and promises the Emperor would
march away and his jugglery and hypocrisy would succeed
but the affair did not result as he had expected,—he delayed
in evacuating the fort and admitting the imperialists, and
opened the door of disturbance with the desire of fighting.
He knew not what enormoung materials for ensuring the
success of the work the Emperor had kept in view during
the negotiations for peace and what mass of water had been
poured [by him on the tree of] his object during the few
days that the fire of slaughter was extinguished!

To put'it shortly, in this interval of delay Bakhshi-ul-
mulk Zulfigdir Khan Bahidur Nasrat Jang who had been
ordered to come to Court from Burhinpur with treasure,
quickly arrived with Rao Dalpat, Rim Singh and a strong
force ; Daud Khan who was acting at Jinji as niib of Nasrat
Jang arrived speedily with Bahadur Khan and a large party;
Yusuf Khan, qiladar of Qamarnagar and Kimyab Khan



1705 BERADS EVACUATE WAGIN-GERA 299

[508] qiladdr of Gulbargd and other faujdars and qiladars
with excellent corps arrived. The Emperor ordered Nasrat
Jang to capture the fort and punish the enemy. The day
following the interview, the Khan went to view the fort on
the side of the hillock of Sultin Husain and Bagr Khan.
The enemy firing muskets from their perches in the petta,
advanced to fight, and were beaten, many being slain, and
the rest fleeing to their holes, and firmly holding the wall
of the petta. In this day’s fight many of the followers of
Rao Dalpat, after fighting valiantly, were slain or wounded.
Jamshid Khan Bijapuri was killed by a cannon-ball. Nasrat
Jang firmly planted himself a short distance from that wall.
By order Hamiduddin Khan Bahidur, Tarbiyat Khan
Bahadur and others joined Nasrat Jang. Chin Qalich Khan
sat down between the trenches and 1.3l Tikri to punish the
enemy. After a few days he was ordered to patrol round
the fort with Muhammad Amin Khan and other Mughals,
and Bakhshi-ul-mulk Mirza Sadruddin Muhammad Khan
Safavi, to keep his place hot for him. Meantime Nasrat Jang
had captured some wells situated on the skirt of the hill
whence the enemy used to draw water, and by setting up
palisades (katgara) and making head-covers (? ‘‘tortoises’’
or wide shields), had come close to the wall. ‘Till at last on
Friday, the 27th April; 1705 /14th Muharram [504] relying
on God and the Emperor, he appointed for the assault Diud
Khan with his brothers from one side, and Hamiduddin
Khan Bahadur, Tarbiyat Khan Bahadur and other heroes
from another ; while he himself stood on horseback to support
them. The heroes, eager for honour, ran on foot from both
sides; the enemy who fought while fleeing could not resist
the onset. Vacating the pettah they fled to the fort. The
victors, traversing the ups and downs for one kos on foot,
slaying and breaking the enemy, firmly established them-
selves, When the accursed’Berads and Marathas saw these
victories, the Berad chief knew that he had no refuge save
in flight, and stationing a body of musketeers to check the
imperialists during the day, fled out of the other side of the
hill with the Marathas, the companions of his days of
adversity. Towatds evening the party of musketeers set
fire to the houses and property (man) and fled. The
conflagration and the disappearance of the unfortunates
revealed the real circumstance. Diud Khan, Mansur
Khan, and others ran towards the chief’s house, and found
it empty. Before his flight he had confined Muhtasham
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Khan in his house. After the conquest of the fort the
door [505] was opened to the Khan. This great victory
fell to the lot of Nasrat Jang through the grace and good
fortune of the Emperor.

Next day, when Nasrat Jang interviewed the Emperor
he was rewarded with a jewelled sword, a horse with gold
saz and an elephant with silver accoutrements; Daud Khan
with a sword and a horse; his brother Bahadur Khan with
an increment of 100 tr. and the granting of kettledrums;
Rao Dalpat was rewarded by the promotion of his sons, and
Rim Singh by an increment of 500. Hamiduddin Khan'
Bahadur’s exertions, were rewarded with an increment of
300 tr. and a special robe, and those of Tarbiyat Khan Bahi-
dur with an increment of 200 tr. and the granting of naubat;
Matlab Khan and Amanullah Khan each received an in-
crement of 200 tr. and the maubat. Saifullah Khan, Mir
Tuzuk, who was that day wounded in the arm with a
musket-ball, received 100 mohars. Next day Amir Khan
(close to the Emperor’s person), Bakhshi-ul-mulk Mirza
Sadruddin Muhammad Khan (Safavi), and ‘Inayetullah
Khan, 'the chief of ministers, each received a promotion of
6500. Khwaja ‘Ambar got the title of Khidmatgar Khan,
Khwaja Bakhtawar the title of Khan and [506] each
of them got an increment of a 100 zat (5 tr.).
Qizi Akram Khan became, by an increment of 100, a hazari,
Chin Qalich Khan Bahidur and Mubhammad Amin Khap
Bahadur, who had gone to patrol in the neighbourhood,
done excellent work, and worked hard in the pursuit of the
enemy, were summoned to Court after the enemy’s escape.
The first by an increment of hazar zat became a 5-hazari
(same tr.) and received 1 kror and 50 lakh dam as in‘am,
an enamelled sword, and an elephant. The second received
a sword and the increment of 500, which made him a
4-hazari (1,200 tr.). Sayyid Sarfaraz Khan was given back
the 500 tr. formerly deducted, and thus became a 6-hazari
(5,000 tr.), and also received a special robe and 1,000 mohars
as reward. Faridun Khan and Hasan Khan, sons of
Jamshid Khan deceased, received, the first 500 zat (300 tr.),
the second 500 (200 tr.) as increment, ahd thus each became
a 11-hazari.. Mughals and other clans, Hindu and Muslim,
of the forces of the two Khan Bahidurs, were favoured with
promotion; horses, swords, and daggers.

In short, a great celebration was made for the victory.

he Muslims universally rejoiced. The peasants and
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commonalty, the hlgﬁ people and Sayyids of this country
became composed and happy at the extirpation of the

wicked infidel. The fort was renamed Rahman-Bakhsh
Khera.

[607] THE STAY OF THE ARMY AT DEWAPUR.

As the chief object of conquering this country was to
spread Islamic practices in an infidels’ land and to improve
the condition of all the slaves, Chin Qalich Khan was sent
with a portion of the army to hasten and settle the neigh-
bourhood, reassure and compose the ryots, who had fled
far away in terror and hidden themselves, and send messages
of their being treated with justice and favour, in order to
induce them to return to their old homes and engage in
cultivation (again): and to exact tributes from some re-
fractory chiefs or to punish them. In view of furthering
these works, the return of the timid inhabitants to Rahman-
Bakhsh-Kher3, the building of a fort and a mosque here,
and the passing of the rainy season, the Emperor ordered
that some place should be selected in the neighbourhood
which was suitable for the imperial camp. The officers
chose Dewapur, 8 kos from Rahman-Bakhsh-Kherd, near
the Krishna. The Emperor reached the place in one march.
It was a truly charming seat, the cause of comfort and re-
pose to the people. Thanks to the Eniperor, repose was
enjoyed. During the stay here, the tributes that had been
collected reached the Emperor; the peasantry returned to
their homes and engaged in tillage; the rebels were
chastised. Under the supervision of {Khwija Mas‘aud
Mahalli, a strong fort and a beautiful mosque were built,
the supermtendent being rewarded with the title of Mas* aud
Khan. At this time, [508] Bakhshenda-Bakhsh Kondana,
having been recovered by the enemy through the cowardice
of the qiladar and the tricks of the enemy, the Emperor
sent Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur and Tarbiyat Khan
Bahadur with a party of heroes, after favouring them with
proper promotions and rewards and helping them with
money, to hasten tHere.

ACCOUNT OF THE EMPEROR’S ILLNESS

Owing to the fickleness of fortune, every soundness of
health is closely linked to some kind of illness, and every
happiness goes hand in hand with some misery. At this time,
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when the people had acquired a little repose, suddenly a
strange disorder and bewildering distress took place, owing
to the illness of the Emperor who was the life of the world
and the cause of the repose of men, * * #

At first His Majesty, through his natural strength of
mind and firmness of purpose, did not allow himself to be
overcome by the disease, and so did not give up the tran-
saction of business,’ but sometimes like the sun in the
eastern sky, he showed his face at the small door of the
Court (of Justice). The prayers of men reached his
knowledge through the medium of petitions and letters, and
he used to write suitable answers firmly with his own hand.
Thereafter, through the severity of the illness and the
increase of the pain, extreme depression seized him, and at
times he became unconscious. It seemed likely, that through
this terrible [509] occurrence, the kingdom and the faith
would. break up. The people preferred their own death to
their lives, but could not get it (death). Great agitation
seized the camp. Wild and heart-sickening rumours began
to spread. Fools formed the unlucky ambition of boldly
practising oppression in this disorderly country, where the
enemy Jay in ambush everywhere in search of opportunities.

For ten or twelve days this state continued; till at last
the life-giver of the world breathed new lives into the bodies
of the frightened people; and the removal of the Emperor’s
illness gave peace and safety to the world. The turbulent
enemy and evil-natured wrong-doers scattered the dust of
despair on their heads. Amir Khan used to narrate, ‘“One
day in extreme pain the Emperor muttered,

‘By the time you reach your 80th or 90th year,

You will have met with many afflictions from Time
(or Fortune);

And when from that point you reach the stage of
a hundred years,

Death will assume the shape of your life.’

The low moan reached my ears, I quickly said to him _
‘Peace be with Your Majesty ! Shaikh Ganja has composed
all these couplets merely as the preface to the following
couplet : —

“*Then, it is better for you to be cheerful,
For in cheerfulness you can remember God !’
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. The Emperor said ‘Recite again’. I recited it a
number of times. He ordered me to show it written, I
did so. He read it for a time. The Giver of mercy to the
helpless, the Remover of the pain of troubled hearts,
bestowed strength on the Causg.of the world’s comfort, and
[510] next morning the Empétor came to the Court of the
oppressed The people got back their lives. The Emperor
said “Your couplet gave me perfect recovery and brought
wonderful strength to my weak heart’. The methods
which doctor Haziq Khan employed in the Emperot’s treat-
ment were worthy of the ancient doctors. Praised be God,
and again praised be God! This lucky man was, in reward
of his excellent services, weighed against gold and presented
with a sarpech. The Emperor after gaining relief from the
use of China root (Smilax China) which had done great good
to his constitution, sent away, to guard his own subah,
Chin Qalich Khan Bahadur, who in excess of agitation had
quickly reached the camp. On Tuesday the 23rd October,
1705 /16th Rajab, the Emperor set out for Bahadurgarh in
a palki (takht). The rest of this month (Rajab) and the
whole of the next (Shaban) were spent in the journey. On
the way, Qazi Akram Khan died. He was unparallelled
in legal knowledge and uprightness. The Emperor in
recognition of his merits used to speak of him under the
name of ‘the late most learned man’.



CHAPTER 1.
50TH YEAR OF THE REIGN : 1117 A, H.
6th December, 1705—25th November, 1706.

* * % [511] On Thursday the 6th December, 1705 /1st
Ramzan the imperial camp reached Bahadurgarh. As the
officers, appointed to recover Bakhshenda-Bakhsh had only
made a tour and circuit and putting ‘off the accomplishment
of their purpose to another time, had returned to Court,
Zulfigar Khan Bahadur Nasrat Jang, who after the capture
of Rahman-Bakhsh-Khera had been sent towards Aurangi-
bad in pursuit of the thieves, was summoned to Court, and
had interview at Bahadurgarh. - .

On the 23rd January 1706/19th Shawwal* when the
imperial army began its march for Ahmadnagar, the Khan
(Nasrat Jang) after being suitably favoured, was sent against
Bakhshenda-Bakhsh. In addition to his own troops,
Tarbiyat Khan Bahadur, zil‘adar of this quarter, obeyed
orders (by joining Nasrat Jang). Shahu, son of the
infidel Sambha, who was residing within the gulalbar, was
ordered to accompany the army of Nasrat Jang. On Friday
the 25th Janmary, 1706/21st Shawwal, for some political
reasons, his tent was ordered to be pitched close to the daira
of the Khan and he was presented with a special robe and
two costly udraj. ‘The imperial camp returned to Ahmad-
nagar, after the lapse of 22 wyears, on Sunday, 20th
January /16th Shawwal. [512]

On Thursday the 21st March, 1706/17th Zil. H. in-
formants reported to the Emperor that Nasrat Jang had
recaptured Bakhshenda-Bakhsh, and expelled the beaten
garrison- without arms and accoutrements. Prince ‘Alijah,
who had been engaged in governing ‘Gujrat, on hearing of
the Emperor’s illness, had in his excess of love and devotion
applied for permission to come ‘to Court. By order, he
arrived and had audience on the 25th March, 1706/21st
Zil. H. Bidar Bakht was ordered to put-down the enemy
who had spread towards the province of Gujrat, on account
of the delay in the arrival of Ibrahim Khan who had been

* The printed text wrongly gives Sha‘ban,
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transferred from Kashmir to the Subahdifi of thifat In
the place of the Shihzada, the subahdarship of Burhanpur
was entrusted to Najabat Khan, and the defence. of Malwa
to Khan-i-‘Alam. News reached the Emperor from Delhi
that Gauharard Begam, his younger sister, had died. He
was [513] deeply grieved, and repeatedly said, ““Of the
children of Shah Jahin, she and I alone were left!, *  #

‘He gratified her dependants with many kinds of con-
solation and favour. He appointed Hafiz Khag, her
mirsiman, as diwan of Lahore vice Muhammad™ Aslam
Khan. Sayyid Muhammad, grandson of Qazi Miuhammad
Aslam deceased who was the Emperor’s ustad, was appointed
Sadr of the same Subah. Khwija Zakriz and Khwaja-
Yahya, sons of Sarbuland Khan Khwija Musa and
daughter’s sons of Prince Muhammad Mu‘izzudin, had
audience and received robes and cash gifts. Tarbiyat "Khan
Bahadur’s daughter received ornaments worth 4,000 rupees
to the delight of her father. Chin Qalich Khan Bahadur
became faujdar of Firuz-Nagar vice Yusuf Khan, and also
faujdar of Talikota vice Qudratullah Khan. Muhammad
Muhasan, brother’s son of Bakhshi-ul-mulk Mirza Safavi
Khan having newly come from Persia, interviewed the
Emperor. Amat-ul-Hamid, daughter of Hamiduddin
Khan Bahidur was presented with ornaments worth 2,000
rupees. Sarafriz Khan, a 6-hazari (5-hazar tr.) was re-
warded for the pursuit of Pidia Naik with the increment of
a hazdr troopers: Jagia, deshmukh of Nasratibad, a
2%-hazari (1,500 tr.) received an increment of [514] 5-sadi.
Mulla Haidar, ustad of Muhammad ‘Azim, and Qazi of
Delhi, had been summoned to Court to be made Qazi of the
1mper1a1 camp. He now arrived and got the high post.
At Nasrat Jang’s request, the zamindari of Mau-maidina
was given to his officer Raja Ram Singh Hada vice Rdo
Budh Singh. This Emperor, so gracious in the material
and spiritual spheres alike, had been permitted by Shaikh
Abdul Latif, the chief of saints, to put away from himself
the surname of Abul-Faiyzz (‘‘the father of bounties’’), and
now, out of kindness and ‘%fvour to ‘Alijah, that prince was
directed by His Majésty to add this title to his own
name.*

* The printed text is defective, having omitted, af the beginning of this
sentence, the words Faiydz-i-surat wa mo'ni az and thus made a mess of it,
The Bihar Ms. supplies the omission,

39
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Khudabanda Khan, Khan-i-saman, a 2}-hazari (1,000 tr.),
got an increment of 500 zat (200tr.). The enemy who
were commanded to be henceforth written of as ‘thieves’,
appeared two kos from the camp. The Emperor ordered
Khan-i-‘Alam, Bakhshi-ul-mulk Sadruddih Muhammad
Khan Safavi, and others to go and chastise them. As they,
in the thick of the battle, sent reports of the numerical
superiority of the enemy to the Emperor, he sent
Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur and Matlab Khan to their aid,
after presenting them with amulets for safety. The enemy
were beaten back. Khan-i-‘Alam and Munawwar Khan
were sent to Shah °‘Alijah, with the present-of swords.
[6157 A ring set with an emerald, carved with the name of
Chin Qalich Khan Bahidur was sent to him. Biqi Khan,
giladar of Agra, a 2-hazari (600 tr.), got an increment of
500 zat, and said in gratitude,—

‘““The work succeeds through the Emperor’s favour;
Béqi) (1, he and 2, the rest) is a mere pretext (as the doer
of it)!”

Gaitiara Begam and ‘Iffat-ari Begam, daughters of
Shah ‘Alijah, and Bakht-un-nisi Begam, daughter of Bidar
Bakht, came to Court : each was presented with ornaments
varying in price from eight to ten thousand rupees. Nasrat
Jang Khan hastened with light kit, for punishing the
‘thieves’ near Aurangabad sending his baggage to Court
with Ram Singh Hadi. Abul Khair Khan, faujdar and
giladir of Junnar, son of ‘Abdul ‘Aziz Khan, who had
received his father’s title, became administrator (wali) of
the tomb of Mian Shaikh ‘Abdul Latif, situated in the
Daulatmaidan quarter of Burhanpur. Qamruddin Khan, son
of Muhammad Amin Khan, was presented with a yamani
sarpech, and Muhammad Hasan, son of Mukhlis Khan de-
ceased, with a jewelled ring. On Tuesday, the 18th June,
1706 /17th Rabi. A., a round box- full of jewels and one
bundle of special dresses were sent to Sultans Dadar
Bakhsh and Diawar Bakhsh, in condolence for the deaths of
their parents, Izid Bakhsh and Mihr-un-nisi Begam, the
daughter of the Emperor. On Sunday the 80th June/29th
Rabi. A., at the end of the night the Emperor learsit that
Buland Akhtar had died. Khwija Ma*saud Khan was sent
to convey his three sons and the ladies {5167 of his harem
to the fort of Ahmadnagar. Jewels and mourning robes
were presented to Chamni Begam, the daughter, and to
Sultan Fatibi Qaribs and other sons of the deceased,
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Satvd Daflé, who was at Islampuri, died. On. Thursday
the 25th July, 1706, Tarbiyat Khan shadur 'was' sent
towards Rahman-Bakhsh-Khera to chastise the’ ‘th:evqs
Abu Nasar Khan (son of Shaista Khan), an officer serving
in Bengal, became Subahdir of Oudh vice Mirzi Khan-1-
‘Alam deceased. A 3-hazari (2,000 tr.), he received an
increment of 500 tr. Siw Singh, giladar and faujdar of
Rairi, became q1ladar and faujdar of Nabxshahdurg,
vice Lodi Khan, and also qiladar of Chakna wice ‘Abdullah,
thanadar of Shirwal.. A 1}-hazari (1,000 tr.), he received
an increment of 500 zat (300 tr.). ‘Azzuddin, son of
Mu‘izzuddin, and Muhammad Karim, son of Muhammad
‘Azim, had been enjoying daily allowances; each was
presented with forty lakhs of dam. The Crown Prince sent
the robe of appointment for the post of his Court agent to
Muhammad Ikhlas-kesh, (whose name, through the grace
of the Emperor had been prefaced by the holy word
‘MuhammadIze and thus rendered famous as Muhammad
Ikhlas), and the latter made his bow to the Emperor.

Mehtar Mubarak, messenger of the king of Balkh,
had audience, and presented as peshkash, twelve horses and
five mules. Two dalis of robes, an elephant, and a horse
were sent to Mu‘izzuddin Bahadur in reward of his conquest
of Malik Ghazi. Muhammad Razi, son of ‘Ali Mardan
Khan Haidarabadi became -qiladir of Ramgarh wice his
deceased father. [517] A hazam (200 tr.), he received an
increment of 200 tr. Mandhatd, sen of Rao Kianhu, an
officer under Nasrat Jang, was appomted in company with
Yasin Khan to conquer the forts Hanumant-garh and
Parichhitgarh, within the promised period of one year.
‘Inayetullah Khan, mutasaddi of tan and khalsa, used to
stand on the carpet. The Emperor granted him the
honour of standing within the railing (katra). Mehtar
Mubidrak, the envoy, on_the day of taking congee, received
a robe, a dagger, an elephant, and 5,000 rupees in cash.
Yusuf Khan, qiladar and faujdar of Qamarnagar, became
giladar and faquar of Tmtidzgarh vice Chin Qalich Khan
Bahadur. A hazari w(600 it.), he received an increment of
500 tré ' Zinat-un-nisa Begam had bled herself. The price
of tasaddug was sent to her, viz., 2,000 rupees from the
Emperor; 2,500 rupees from Shah ‘AhJah 1,000 rupees
from Kim Bakhsh. Hamiduddin Khan Bahadur showed
the Emperor some sarpeches of chikan-work whlch he
graciously accepted. * * *
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* & * [518] Muhammad Amin Khan Babadur with
his comrades, having returmed safe and laden with spoil
from the chastisement of the enemy, was received in audi-
ence. He was honoured with the title of Chin Bahadur,
‘Aziz Khan Bahadur Ruhela, was exalted by the addition,
to his name, of the word ‘‘Chaghtai’’ which was the desig-
nation of honour of his father Bahidur Khan, Mirzi Beg,
son of Nasrat Khan deceased, who had brought to Court the
articles of the crown Prince’s peshkash, was presented with
a jewelled dagger and sent back. With him were sent to the
Prince, a jewelled dagger, waist-muttaka, and punchhi worth
50,000 rupees.

Mubammad Amin Khan Chin Bahadur, a 4-hazari
(1,200 tr.) received an increment of 300 tr. ‘Aziz Khan
Bahadur Chaghtai, a 23-hazari received an increment of 500
zat; Sulaimin Khan, son of Khizir Khan Batani, a 1}-
hazari, got an increment of 500. Khwija Khan, brother’s
son and (own) son-in-law of Siadat Khan Ughlan, a 13-hazari
(500 tr.), had a hundred troopers added to his rank. A mar-
riage was settled between the daughter of Amir Khan
deceased and Sultan ‘Azzuddin, son of Mu‘izzuddin. Ten
thousand rupees .were given to her for expemses. Chin
Qalich Kbhan Bahadur, nizim of -Bijapur, was summoned
[619] to Court, and had audience. Mun‘im Khan, niib

Subahdar of Lahore, a hazari, got an increment of 500 zat
(100 tr.).

DEATH OF THE EMPEROR !

* % * &

After accomplishing holy war by wresting the spacious
land_of Deccan from the hands of hellish infidels, and con-
quering the forts of this region, on Sunday, the 20th
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January, 1706/16th Shawwal [520] he alighted at Ahmad-
nagar. After one year of residence there, owing to the
fickleness of fortune, he fell severely ill at the end of the
month of Shawwil of the 51st regnal year (26th December,
1706—23rd January, 1707). RBut * * he recovered from the
illness. According to his usual custom, he came to the
*Court of the oppressed’’ several times and engaged in the
business of the State. In the course of this time, Shah
‘Alijah was sent to remedy the disorders of the subah of
Milwa, and Kam Bakhsh started for Bijapur as Subahdar.
After a space of four or five days, a severe fever attacked
His Majesty, and for three days, although the severity of it
continued, he by exerting his natural strength of purpose
and loftiness of spirit came to the Court (‘adalatgah) at every
one of the five hours of prayer, for the purpose of offering
his prayets with the congregation, reciting God’s name and
performing (other) religious duties; and he did not neglect
a single item (of worship), In these days he frequently
recifed this couplet :

‘“In a twinkle, in a minute, in a breath,
The condition of the world changes.”

[621] In the afterncon of Thursday, the Emperor was
shown a petition of Hamiduddin Khan Bahidur proposing
the giving away of an elephant as tasaddug, and begging
that 4,000 rupees, the price of the elephant, might be
entrusted to the Qazi-ul-qazat Mulla Haidar for distribution
among the poor. The Emperor wrote the letter sad
(‘correct’) on it. On the top (of the sheet), while he was in
a condition which was almost that of the parting of life, he
wrote ‘‘Convey this worthless person (khaksar) to the first
stage’””. On the morning of Friday, the 20th February,
1707/28th Zil. Q. 1118, the Emperor came out and went
to his bed-room (khabgah) to perform his morning prayer,
and engaged in reciting God’s names, and in spite of his
being overcome by unconsciousness and difficulty of breath-
ing, his fingers moved in counting the beads of the rosary and
(his tongue)-in repeating the phrase ‘“There is no deity save
God””. When nearly one quarter of the day was over, in
accordance with his own wish,—he used to say that it is a
great boon to die on a Friday,—he passed away, * * *

. The Qazi, scholars, and pious men engaged in furnish-
ing and shrouding his corpse for burial, in the terms of his
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last will, [522] performed the funeral prayer, and kept his
body in the khabgah, till at last at the request of Zinat-un-
nisa Began, second daughter of the Emperor, Prince
Muhammad ‘Azam, who had been halting twenty-five kos
from the imperial camp, arrived on Saturday, the 22nd
February, 1707/30th Zil. Q., and went into the deepest
mourning.

On Monday, the 24th February, the Prince in extreme
grief carried the corpse on his own shoulders up to the hall
of justice, by way of escorting it reverently, and then sent
it away. According to His Majesty’s last will, he was buried
in the courtyard of the tomb of Shaikh Zainuddin [at Rauza,
near Daulatabad] in a sepulchre built by the Emperor in
his ewn ‘lifetime. * k&

{623] This place, called Khuldibad, is eight kos from
Aurangabad and three kos from Daulatabad. The red stone
platform (chabutra) over his grave, not exceeding three
yards in length, two and a half yards in breadth, and a few
fingers in height, has a cavity in the middle. It has been
filled with earth, in which fragrant herbs have been planted.

* % * He is (now) remembered under the title of Khuld-
wmakan.

& * * *

Through the numberless blessings of the angelic soul
of this repository of Divine pardon, (after his death) not a
trace appeared of those disturbances and ruin which descend
on mankind during world-convulsing changes, and so the
people reposed on the cushion of comfort exactly as they had
passed their days in _peace and happiness during the lifetime
of this ever-living soul. God’s pardon and mercy be on him !
The petiod of his'life was 91 years and 13 days (lunar) and
that of his reign 50 years, 2 months and 27 days. It is
impossible for me to say anything that can truly number
the years of this Unique One of the Celestial Court. What
can we speak of the life of a man who has been gifted with
the life eternal? For ever-awake hearts like him, it is the
rule to avoid the word ‘death’. Verses :—

The pious have never died and will never die.
When applied to such men the name of death is -
properly speaking ‘translation’.
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That passionate pursuer of perfection, Muhammad
Ikhlas (kesh) used to narrate, ‘‘In the night preceding that
Friday on which [524] His Majesty went to visit the garden
of divine pardon, ‘Inayetullah Khan and myself were dis-
tracted and depressed in mind and body at the imminence of
such a great calamity ; we took sorts by opening the poems
of ‘the Tongue of the Invisible’ (the Diwan-i-Hafiz) at
haphazard and our eyes fell on the following ghazal :—

So long as any trace or name of the tavern and
the wine will remain (K}l earth),
My head will be the dust on the road of the Magi.
On the soil that will bear the mark of the sole
) of thy foot,
For years to come masters of sight (truly-sighted.
) men) will prostrate themselves in adoration.
When thou passest by my tomb, cheer up,
It will be a place of pilgrimage to the drunkards
of the world ( = Sufis).

““Despair seized our souls, we passed the night in dis-
traction of mind and anguish of heart. Next morning when
one watch (three hours) of the day was over, the inevitable
event took place. The night of the following Saturday (i.e.,
the night of the Friday, according to the Christian almanac)
we came together again. Mulla Haidar, the Qazi of the
imperial army, arrived as a guest; we told him that we had
taken sorts out of the Diwan-i-Hafiz. However much we
tried, we could not recollect the verses.

We called for our books, but our baggage had been
already packed up. Our company broke up. I fell asleep,
when I dreamt that I was passing by a grave; a holy man
(Hazrat) appeared with half his body standing out of the
grave ; he spoke to me,

“The verses you have forgotten are these—
When thou passest by my tomb, cheer up,
It will be a place of pilgrimage to the drunkards
( = Sufis) of the world.” ”’

Verses.

He never dies whose heart is (ever) awake with love.
My eternity has been inscribed on the pages of the world,
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[5625] The noble character of this perfect Sovereign.
As his blessed nature dictated, he was characterized by
perfect devotion to the rites of the Faith; he followed the
teaching of the great Imam Abu Hanifa (God be pleased
with him!), and established and enforced to the best of his
power the five foundations of Islam (five daily prayers). He
was ever performing the purificatory lavation (before prayer)
and repeating the blessed words (of the Prophet) and other
holy sayings and prayers. He used to perform the obliga-
tory prayers for the time (of the day) in the masjid or with-
out a masjid, in congregation, and all the sumnan and
nawafil and the dearly loved (mustahabbdt) ceremonies
publicly and with perfect humility. Fasting every month
on the 12th and 18th days from the new, moon (the brightest
days), every week on Monday, Thursday and Friday, he
used to perform the Friday prayer in the congregation
mosque (Jam’i) in the company of all the Muslims and the
community of the faithful,

The sacred nights he used to pass in wakefulpess. With
the light of the grace of God, he kindled the lamp of the
church and the State. In his excessive quest of truth, in the
sanctum sanctorum of the mosque of his royal residence,
at nights he held converse with the men of God. In his
private chamber, he never reposed on a cushion (masnad).
He used to pay the canonical zakat (contribution to the poor
of 21 per cent every year) on the income that he had drawn
and spent for his own food and clothing before his accession,
in ways which were free from scruple or doubt, and what-
ever during his kingship he had added to the former by
setting apart certain villages of Delhi and two or three salt-
producing mahals for-his privy purse; caleulating the zakat
on the income of his royal sons also, he used to send the
amounts to the néedy. 7The blessed month of Ramzan [526]
he spent in fasting (in the day-time), and to the very end
of that month he used to remain busy up to midnight in per-
forming the Sunnan prayer and the tariwih* and in chanting
the entire Quran in full congrégation along with crowds of

ious and learned men. On the 10th day of the month of
wharram (“Ashurah), he resided in the mosque in con-
tinual prayer. The performance of the ceremonies pres-
cribed for the pilgrimage to Mecca—which was an obligation
of the faith and the goal of his heart’s desire—had outwardly

* Twenty or more }genuﬂe;{ions made afgér the last prayer of Ramzig.
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to be postponed by him owing to certain obstructions and
difficulties; but in order to atome for it, he conferred so
many favours (money) on the pilgrims going to the two Holy
Cities that it was equivalent to the Great Hajj itself. And
during his reign he used to send large amounts of money,
for some years annually, at others once in two or three years,
to the pious men living in retreat in those Holy Cities, and
a large number of men in those holy places were permanently
employed by him on daily stipends to act as his deputies in
walking round the Ka‘ba, bowing (to the Prophet’s tomb),
reading the two copies of the Quran written by this pious
Emperor with his own hand and presented to Medina, count-
ing the beads, repeating the Islamic credo and performing
other acts of worship.

The characteristic qualities of scholars and the morals
of perfect men, as they ought to be, were truly found in this
Emperor of angelic character. His Majesty from the dawn-
ing of his understanding, being fully aware of the [canoni-
cal] duties and prohibitions, out of the perfect continence
of his passions, never partook of any thing except the cano-
nically sanctioned pleasures.

All the agents of pleasure and entertainment, such as
sweet-voiced singers or charming players on musical instru-
ments, were gathered in large numbers round his throne,
and in the first few years of his reign he occasionally listened
to their music and had a perfect expert’s knowledge of this
art; yet out of extreme abstinence he [later on] totally gave
up listening to music [527].

Those of the court chanters, singers and musicians
who repented of their sinful art, he made happy by the grant
of daily stipends and land as ‘‘aid to living’;., Mirza Mukar-
ram Khan Safavi, who was an expert in the musical art,
once said to His Majesty ‘“What is Your Majesty’s view of
music?”’ The Emperor answered (in Arabic) ‘It is
mubah,* neither good nor bad’’. The Khan asked, ‘“Then
what kind of it is in your opinion most worthy to be heard ?”’
The Emperor replied, ‘I cannot listen to music without
flutes, (be-mazamir) especially pakhawaj, but that is un-.
animously prohibited (hardm); so I have left off hearing
singing too’’.

Y -

$ Mubah, literaliy “allowed”, i.e., an action which a person, according
to the uMuslim eé:rgn Jaw, ma} do or let alone, it being attended with
neither praise nor blame; indifferent. (Encyclopaedia of Isiam, iv, 322.2

40
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He never wore garments declared ignpure by the Canon
[such as robes of unmixed silk yarn], and not at all used
vessels of gold or silver. In his company, no improper
word such as of slander or obscenity or falsehood was
spoken. -His courtiers were instructed that when speaking
or reading they should substitute some elegant word for
every word that hdd any suspicion of being objectionable.
Out of his love for doing justice, everyday, with open fore-
head and tender heart, he used to stand up two or three
times, and grant justice to plaintiffs who used to find access
in crowds without any obstruction to his court of justice and
owing to the excessive kindness of His Majesty, used to
state their plaints without the least fear or despair: and
if in pleading their suits, they used any bombast (hyperbole
in praise or censure) or exaggeration (or straining any point}
of language or wrong pronunciation (or wrong expression),
he did not at all get angry, and no lowering of anybody’s
dignity was ever seen on His Majesty’s part. Many
times his courtiers urged him to prevent (the plaintiffs) from
displaying too much boldness (of speech). But he used to
reply ‘“From hearing [528] such words and the occurrence
of such cases, the (sovereign’s) character acquires an angelic
patience’’. Never did he do any act which was without bene-
fit to the populace. The tribe of harlots was expelled from
Delhi, and the same order was published in all the provinces
and all sides of the imperial dominions.

The work of the Censor of Morals was carried out to
the full among the gemeral public, both high and low. In
administering such a vast empire he never had recourse to
any punishment except the kadud and siyasat authorized by
the Islamic Holy Law (Shara‘) and never issued an order
for the killing of a man through the force of anger or the
vehemence of passion, and hone else had the power to do
such deeds. By reason of his recognition of the dignity of
others and his appreciation of merit, he used to honour
Sayyids, Shaikhs and learned scholars (ulama). Through
the auspices of this hearty endeavour, the Hanafi creed (i.e.,
the Orthodox Sunni faith) has gained such strength and
currency in the great country of Hindustan as was never
seen in the times of any of the preceding sovereigns. By one
stroke of the pen, the Hindu clerks (writers) were dismissed
from the publi¢ employment. Large numbers of the places
of worship of the infidels and great temples of these wicked
people have been thrown down and desolated, Men wheo ¢an
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see only the outside of things are filled with wonder at the
successful accomplishment of such a seemingly difficult task.
And on the sites of the temples lofty mosques have been
built. His Majesty personally taught the credo to many
of the infidels who came to him, guided by their good for-
tune, with a view to being converted to Islam, and he best-
owed on them robes of honour and other [529] favours.
About the middle of his reign he decided to levy the
jaziya tax on the Hindus, as ordained by the Shara‘ and it
was enforced -thronghout his empire; and this rare piece of
goad work (hasnat-i-gharib) had not been done in Hindustan
and the Hindus had not been degraded to such a degree in
any other period. He used to spend so much money in reli-
gious alms (khairat), beneficent public works, (like the
building of public inns, mubarrat), and pensions (idrarat),
that the expenditure of former rulers had not reached even a
hundredth. part of it: In the blessed month of Ramzan he
used to distribute among the needy 60,000 rupees and in
other months smaller amounts than that. Numerous free
kitchens (balghurkhanah or langar khanah) for feeding the
weak and the poor were established in Delhi and other pro-
vinces ; wherever there was no inn or sarai for the accom-
modation of travellers before, they were built by him. The
repair of (old) mosques throughout the empire was carried
out at the expense of his Government, and they were also
supplied with a staff of imam, mu‘azzin and khatib (for
each), so that a huge amount of money was spent on this
work. In all the cities and regions of this vast kingdom,
he assigned adequate subsistence-allowances in the form of
daily stipends and land grants (imlgk) to (Islamic) scholars
and teachers, and provided food-money (cost of maintenance)
for their students according to their condition and number.
All the aim of his exalted heart was“devoted to making
the general Muslim public act according to the legal deci-
sions and precedents of the theological scholars (ulama) of
the Hanafi school ; but seeing that these rulings as found in
the existing law-books were confused (li¢. mixed) on account
of the diversity of opinion among the qazis and muftis and
the weakness (i.e., little weight or authority) of the tradi-
tions, and the contradictory nature of the declarations of
those ancient authorities—and above all as these rulings were
not embodied in one book, so that till many law books were
[580] collected and men (in India) could acquire adequate
mastery of the science of jurisprudence, it was impossible to
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make a correct extract (of the Quranic precept applicable to
the particular case),—(therefore) the heart of this Emperor,
the asylum of the Faith, was set on this that a syndicate of
celebrated theologians and well-known scholars of Hindu-
stan should go through the long authoritative books on juris-
prudence, which had been collected in the imperial library,
extract the rulings of muftis, and compile one comprehen-
sive book out of them all, so that all may find out the autho-
ritative rulings (on their cases) with ease. This great work
was entrusted to a board presided over by that highest of
scholars. Shaikh Nizim (of Bhagalpur in Bibar) and all the
scholars engaged in the work were given good pay and sub-
sistence. About two lakhs of rupees were spent in preparing
this book, which was entitled the Fatdwa-i-‘Alamgiri, and
which rendered the world independent of all other books on
jurisprudence.

Among His Majesty’s many favours to the public was
the abolition of the taxes-on grain and other food-stuffs, the
charge for road-patrols (rahdiri), the excise duty on cloth
and other articles subject to the sair (octroi), especially the
duty on tobacco, which last article yielded a vast revenue
and the excise-officers used to practise astonishing outrages
on the modesty of women* in searching their persons, under
the suspicion of its being smuggled.

Anmnother of his gracious concessions was the remission
throughout his dominions (of certain cesses)t on the Mus-
lims in particular and the aforesaid items on. the people in
general, the total annual yield of which taken together ex-
ceeded thirty lakhs of rupees. He also abolished the rule of
realising from his mansabdars the unspent Government ad-
vances to their grandfathers and other kinsmen, which under
the standing practice of the finance department used before
his time to be recdvered by gradual deduction from the pay of
their mansabs, and credited to the Exchequer, and which
every year brought in a large total. [531] His Majesty also
forbade the practice of escheating to the State the property
of the dead hobles who had left behind them no debt due to
Government, but he let their heirs succeed to their legacy,—
whereas in former reigns the imperial collectors used strictly
to confiscate such property and this rule proved a source of
suffering to the surviving relatives. The Emperor also sent

* For ezamples, see Manncci’s Storia do Mogor, ii. 175, Khafi Khan, ii. 88.

T For a list of the cesses (dbwidbs) remilted by him, see J. Sarkar’s
\Mughal Administration, Ch. V, Sec. 8 and 9.
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his farmans to every subah ordering that the taxes (hasilat)
should be collected only in accordance with the rules of the
Holy Quranic Law.

The military activities that His Majesty had performed
both before his accession to the throme and after it, have
been embodied in the course of the occurrences described in
this auspicious history. Here I shall write only a little
about the wonderful firmness.of His Majesty, which was
witnessed when the imperial army (of Shah Jahan) invaded
Balkh, and ‘Abdul ‘Aziz Khan opposed him in battle. A
hostile force, more numerous than ants and locusts, com-
pletely encircled the imperial army and engaged in fighting ;
in the very heat of the engagement, the time of the zuhar
prayer arrived ; His Majesty disregarding the dissuasions of
his officers, alighted from his mount, adorned the ranks of
prayer in congregation, and performed the mamazes, obli-
gatory, sunnat and mafl, with firmness* and perfect
composure of mind. ‘Abdul ‘Aziz Khan, as soon as he
heard of this act of bravery, was overpowered by the force
of the verse ‘“‘Help is from God”’, and gave up the fight,
saying, ‘“To quarrel with such a man is to ruin one’s self’’.

Among the admirable pursuits of His Majesty, which
adorned him with divinely bestowed conditions (halat-i-
wahabiya, ecstasy?) was his diligent study of religious
books, such as the Commentaries on the Quran, the Tradi-
tions of the Prophet, and works on jurisprudence, [532] the
writings of Imam Muhammad Ghazili : selections from the
books of Shaikh Sharf Yahia of Maner, Shaikh Zain-ud-din,
Qutb Muhi Shirazi, and other books of the same class, which
he perused constantly.

Another of his brilliant characteristics was the memo-
rising of the Word of God : although from the beginning of
his fortunate life he had committed to memory certain of
the chapters (sura) of the Quran as the result of his follow-
ing the guidance of chanters, yet the Quran was completely
memorised by him only after his accession to the throne,
with great exertion and angelic persistence. The date of
his commencing this work of memorising will be found from
the numerical value of the letters in the blessed sentehce
Sangarek—falatansi (=1071 A.H.) and the date of comple-
tion from the phrase Lawh-i-mahfuz (=1078).

® Ba-ta’dil-i-drakan, (1) on equal terms with the nobles (the pillars of the
State), or (2) with the firmness of pillars,
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The hand-writing of His Majesty in the naskh style
was exceedingly firm and wellformed, and he showed great
energy in writing it. . Two copies of the Holy Qurin
transcribed with his own hand—on the tablet (lawh),
marginal lines in gold and silver, and binding of which
7,000 rupees had been spent,—he had presented to Medina.
He could also write the nastaliq and shikastah hands very
well. :

He posdessed great skill in prose composition and
letter-writing, and was well-versed in prose and poetry
(literatdre). But holding firmly to the precept of the holy
verse : ‘‘It is the erring who follow the poets’’, (Qurdn,
xxvi, 224), he did not incline to the hearing of useless
poetry. How then could he be expected to listen to
adulatory verses? But poems breathing moral advice (he
liked). Verses [533].

In order to please God the High and Splendid, I have not
Turned my eyes on any ghazal (fawn-like beauty)
nor my ears on any ghazal (erotic ode).

It is beyond the power of the pen to embrace all the
noble traits of the character of this Choice One of the Age,
and to recount them. (Verses omitted) * * *

ACCOUNT OF THIS HOLY EMPEROR’S CHILDREN

This perfect-natured Sovereign brought up his sons in
such a way that through his outward and inward exertions
they became endowed with high accomplishments and
orthodox learning and came to possess an abundant share
of virtue, submissiveness to God, abstinence from wun-
canonical aets, the sciefice and practice of kingship and
generalship, and skill in many useful arts.

Guided by the Emperor, they committed the Quran to
memory and acquired some amount of polite learning (under
twelve heads), gained skill in writing different kinds of
hand, and mastered the Turki and Persian languages. So,
too, all the females of his harem (daughters) under his
direction learnt the necessary rules and doctrines of
religion, and all engaged in the worship of God, reading
and transcribing the Quran, and the acquisition of virtues
and provision for the next world. )
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The Iord had given His Majesty five sons and five

" daughters. [534] Here I shall give a brjef account-of each

of them, although the affairs of the Emperor’s sons and

daughters have been narrated among the events of the life

of this Emperor in the ‘Alamgirndmah apd this history
of mine.

Sons :—1. Prince Muhammad Sultdn, borne by
Nawab Bai, 4th Ramzan, 1049/19th December, 1639. He
was noted ‘for his noble manners and admirable qualities;
memorised the Qurin, could read and write Arabic, Persian
and Turki sufficiently well. In the wars of His Majesty,
this Prince performed brilliant exertions and gave proofs of
his valour. Died in the 20th year of His Majesty’s reign.

2. Prince Muhammad Mu‘azzam Shih ‘Alam Baha-
dur, born on the last day of Rajab, 1053 /4th October, 1643,
from the womb of the same queen as the above. This epi-
tome of the “Book of Night and Day’’, owing to his bleéssed
character and the teaching of His Majesty, from the dawn
of his reason, acquired noble traits of character and manly
accomplishments. When young he memorised the Quran.
He has mastered the art of reading the Qurin with the
correct intonation; and he chants the verses with such a
- clear melodious voice, that [585] the listener’s ears are
never satiated with hearing it. Before reading the verses,
one.verse is [cor. from ms.] the manzil ( ? phase, stage)* with
regard to this Chosen One of the Times. He spent the
time of his youth mostly in acquiring learning and united
theoretical knowledge to practice. For his knowledge of
the Prophet’s traditions, the trustworthy men of the age
call him ‘‘the foremost master of the Hadis”’. He has such
a minute and accurate knowledge of canot law that he can
extract the Quranic or Hadis rule applicable to any case
(very quickly). He speaks Arabic so correctly and elegantly
that even the Arabs of Arabia praise it; and he has a perfect
knowledge of the Turki and Persian tongues; in writing
various kinds of hand he can serve as a master and guide to
others. He spends most nights in wakefulness, performing
the nafl, the daily tasks, the chanting of the Quran, the
reading of books on the Hadis, commentaries on the Quran,
Canon Law, and right conduct (saluk).- The morning

*M&qab'zl-i-dyat-kh&ndan ayile bud [Ms. reads ast] monzil dar ‘shd:n-i-an
barguzidap-i-rozgdr. Does the variant in the prnted text mean that he
learnt the Qurani¢ verses one by one? '
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prayer (fajar) he offers'at daybreak, and sits on a prayer
carpet (musalla) elevated one spear’s length, sometimes two
spears’ lengths.

Next he appears at the window (of darshan) and delights
the eyes of the people waiting to see him, and listens to the
petitions of oppressed persons seeking justice ; here he stays
as long as may be required on each particular day. Then
he sits in the Hall of Private Audience and conducts the
administration of the revenue and the Government on the
reports of the High Diwans, Bakhshis and other officers.
After the prayer (of noon), he retires to the harem and takes
his meal and repose for his health’s sake. After offering
the ‘asar namaz, he remedies the pain in the hearts of the
oppressed. Before sunset, the officers in charge of the
armoury present the weapons before His Majesty. [536]

After the sun has set, kindling the lamps of adoration,
he performs the ‘ashd prayer at one-third of the night past,
and then retires to bed... May the gracious God keep
the shadow of this great monarch for ever on the heads of
tle people of the world!

3. Prince Mubammad ‘Azam, born on 28th June
1653 /12th Shaban 1063, to Dilras Banu Begam, the
daughter-of Shih Nawdz Khan Safavi, The lustre of great-
ness shone from the first lunar station of his forehead and
the star of intelligence glittered from the horizon of his life.

By the excellent training of His Majesty (Aurangzib)
he ascended to the pinnacle of perfection and gained an
abundance of accomplishments and excellent qualities.
That Emperor used to be extremely delighted with this
Prince’s noble character and excellent manners. He had a
wonderful brilliancy and firmness; in contests of quick
repartee and discovering the aptest word he was everywhere
very nimble-witted.

He had attained to the status of a comrade of his father,
who often used to say ‘‘Between this pair of match-
less friends, aseparation is imminent”’. On the 18th
Rabi.A. /8th June, 1707, three months and twenty days
after the Emperor ‘Alamgir’s death, he died after fighting
bravely in battle (against Shah ‘Alam I, at Jajau.) [537].

4. Muhammad Akbar, born on the 12th Zil. H.,
1067 /11th September, 1657, to the Begam (Dilras Banu).
Under the teaching of his father, he acquired ‘sublime
accomplishments, His death-took place in Iran in the 48th
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year of ‘Alamgir’s reign. He had run away from the side
of his august father to the wilderness of disappointment, but
two things prove that his end was good : the first is,—“The
Emperor used to say that Akbar never gave up attending
the congregated prayer with the (Sunni) community and he
had not the least fear of the enemies of the faith (i.e., the
Persian Shia’s). Secondly, it was his fortune to be buried
at the holy Mashhad at the place where the shoes are left
behind by pilgrims to the tomb of the eighth Imam Musa.”
It would not be inapt to quote here the ‘‘letter by order’
(hasb-ul-hukm) which the wise minister ‘Inayetullah Khan
wrote by command to Prince Bidar Bakht : ‘‘When Muni‘m
Khan, the Court agent of the eldest Prince Shah ‘Alam, on
being appointed his diwdn, got his congee for Kabul, advice
was sent through him to his master urging him not to be
negligent towards the mischievous vain intentions of
Akbar-i-abtar,* who has ruined his present world and the
next, and is residing at Fardh} near Qandahir, and by the
advice of the ruler of that country (the Shah of Persia) would
not go away elsewhere. He is waiting there in the expecta-
tion that if the inevitable thing to which flesh is subjeet
(namely the death of Aurangzib) should take place through
‘the stroke of misfortune, and Shih ‘Alam would move out
of Kabul to Hindustan, Akbar would then enter Kibul and
Multan with the help of the Persian (king), that deceitful
carrion-eating demon (ghul).} (In Arabic) ‘“The evil
example of those who take unto themselves other gods
besides Allah”, (Quran, xxv. 3.)

““To this grandson who will (soon) be with his august
father ‘Alijah (Mubammad ‘Azam) let me say by way of

® Akbar is an Arabic superlative meaning the greatest, while ablar is
its antithesis, meaning the worst. So, after this prince’s rebellion his imperial
father ordered his name to be written in all official papers as ablar and also
as the Rebel (Baghi). The Shah of Persia refused to give military aid to
Akbar in a war with his father, (which was an act of impiety), but promised
to lend him a Persian army after his father’s death, for contesting the throne
with his brothers, which was a common thing in Islamic and other history.

+ Farih is south-west of the Maghal province of Kibul, which then
inclnded Ghazni but not Qandahir, and Akbar’s presence just beyond the
frontier was a standing menace to the peace of Hindustan. (See Sarkar’s
Studies in Aurangzb’s Reign, Ch. VI and House of Shivaji, Ch. XI.)

3 Ghul is Persian for the ignis fatuus, ““Will of the wisp”, who lured
travellers into the wilderness at night by his false light, killed them and then
ate the corpses, digging them out of graves. Spelt in Enghsh as ghoul,
(See Encyclopaedia of Islam, ii. 185.)

. & This letter to Bidar Bakht has been given in an incorrect form in the
printed text. I have translated the full origimal letter as given in ‘Indyet-
ullah’s Ahkam (my transcript of the Rampun State Library Ms, collaled with
the Safdar Nawab Ms, of Patua.)

41
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parting advice (wasiyyat) that as far as possible [538] he
should follow the policy of concord and abstain from fighting
and quarrelling, because to quarrel is to ruin one’s own self,
and a strange revolution will take place. Take pity on the
people, because the poot faithful community will be trodden
down (in a war of succession). (Arabic) ‘“And the end is
for the pious and the next world is better and more lasting
than this. Do what you choose.’’ (Quran, xxi. 132 ; Ixxxvii,
17; xli. 40.)

5. Prince Muhammad Kim Bakhsh, born on the 24th
February, 1667 /10th Ramzan, 1077 A .H., to Bai Udipuri.
Brought up by the Emperor, he memorised the Quran, and
studied the standard books more than all his brothers, and
acquired a great knowledge of the Turki language and skill
ih writing various kinds of hand. How can I embrace
within the limits of my writing his bravery and liberality,
which were characteristic of these .excellent princes? On
3rd Zil. Q., 1120/3rd January, 1709, two years after
Auradgzib’s death, he fell, fighting like a Rustam or an
WAsfandiyar.

DAUGHTERS :

1, Zeb-un-nisa Begam, born on the 10th Shawwil,
1047/ 15th February, 1638 (text wrong by one year), to
Begam (Dilras Banu). Through the auspicious upbringing
of the God-knowing Emperor (‘Alamgir) she learnt the
Quran by rote, for which she received from the Emperor a
rewar.d of 30,00(_) gold coins. She completefy mastered the
Arabic and Persian languages, and in writing various kinds
of hand, such as nastdlig, naskh [639], and shikastah
correctly, she had full competence. She appreciated the value
of leax_'mng and skill; and all her heart was set on the
collection, copying and reading of books and she turned her
kind attention to improving the lot of scholars and gifted
men. The result was that she collected a library the like
of which no man has seen ; and large numbers of theologians,
scholars, pious men, poets, scribes and calligraphists by this
Ieans came to enjoy the bounty of this lady hidden in the
harem of grandeur; e.g., Mulla Safi-ud-din Ardbili by her
order took up his residence in-Kashmir and engaged in
making a translation (into Persian) of the ‘“‘Great Commen-
tary on the Qurin’, which came to be entitled Zeb-ut-
tafasir, *“The ornament’ of commentaries’’. QOther tracts
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and books have been composed in her honoured name. She
died in her father’s life-time, in the 46th year of his reign,
1113, (26th May, 1702).

2. Zinat-un-nisa Begam, born 1st Shaban, 1053/5th
October, 1643, to Begam Dilras Banu. Her fathex brought
her up in the knowledge of the doctrines and the necessary
rules of the Faith. Vast numbers of people received their
livelihood from her bounty.

3. Badar-un-nisi Begam, born on 29th Shawwal,
1057/17th November, 1647, to Nawab Bai. Her father
made her memorize [540% the Quran, and read books on the
Faith. She spent her life in doing pious deeds. She died
on 28th Zil. Q., in the 13th year “of his reign/9th April,
1670.

4. Zubdat-un-nisi Begam, born on 26th Ramzan,
1061 /2nd September, 1651, to Dilras Banu Begam. She
employed herself in adoring the Creator and thus gaining
boundless rewards; was married to Sipihr Shukoh, the son
of Dara Shukoh, and died in the same year as her father,.
(in February, 1707).

* 5. Mihr-un-nisa Begam, born on 38rd Safar
1072/18th September, 1661, to Aurangabadi Mahal. She
died in the 50th year of her ‘father’s reign, 1116 A.H./
1706 A.D. She was the wife of Izid Bakhsh, the son of
Murad Bakhsh. God be pleased with them!
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Aghabini-must not be mistaken for Agha-Khani, that title being a
19th _century creation. I suggest Agha-bashi, chief of the
Aghias or a certain class of Turkish Court officials or inferior
officers up to the grade of captain. Encyclopedia of Islam,
i. 180.

Ahadi-—‘gentleman trooper’, or soldier on a higher pay and status
than the ordinary and serving directly under the Emperor.
IR. 10, 43. BL. 250.

Aima—1]and granted either rent-free or subject to a small guit-rent,
to learned and religious persons of the Muslim faith or for

_ religious and charitable uses in relation to Islam. WIL. 13.

Akbta-begi—master of the horse. IR. 21,

Anant—a bracelet of gold, usually in the form of a snake with its
tail entering into its mouth, (named after the Anant snake on

_ which Vishnu reclines.)

Argaji—a perfume of a yellowish colour, compounded of several

_ ingredients. FB. 30. :

Arsi<—a small mirror set on a thumb-ring. FB. 29,

‘Arz-i-mukarrar—confirnation of an order (for appointment, promo-
tion, etc.}, by reporting the order to the Emperor a second
time. IR, 13, 18.

‘Asa—a long stick or mace, coated with silver, carried before a man
of rank. WL, 34.-

‘Atr of fitna—scent or essence of the flower fitna (which see).

Bahlia—infantry armed with muskets ; (mostly Rajputs of Oudh) see
Crooke’s N. W. Provinces, 212-213, WIL. 46 calls them
Baheria, ‘‘a clan of Rajputs in Jaunpur and Chunar”.

Bait-ul-mal—the public treasury into which payments on various
accounts are made, and according to the sources from which
they are derived, applicable to the support of different classes
of persons; an escheat property that falls to the Crown on
failure of heirs goes into it. WL, 48.

Bakiwal-—head cook, superintendent of a kitches. FB. 118.

Bilaband—(1) turban-ornament, IR. 29. (2) a coat of a particular
kind. FB, 01.

Baladast (khil‘at)—(probably) a superior kind of khilat.

Barg-andaz—Match-lockmen. IR. 20, 166.

Bayutiat—short for ‘diwan-i-bayutat’, an officer who registered the
property of deceased persons, in order to secure the payment
of the dues of the State as well as to safeguard the property
for the heirs. SK, 53.

Baz—(p. 67), a mistake for tir. See Shamsher.

Bazuband—a bracelet or an amulet worn on the arm. FB. 00.

Beldar—a gdigger. IR. 173.

Bid-i-mushk—musk-willow, celebrated for its fragrance. FB. 155.
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Chabutra of Kotwil-platform in front of the police-prefect’s office,
where criminals or their severed heads were exposed to public
view. SK. 66-71.

Chadar—{1} a missile of spreading fire. IR. 131.

Chakmag—battle-axe, IR, 81,

Chamar-—fly-whisk, usually made of the tail of the Yak cow.

Char-qab—‘chir-qubd is a vest without sleeves, It covers only the
breast and the back and reaches up to the shoulders. The
front and the arms are covered with frills made of (small)
pearls’’. (Letter ¢. 10 Dec. 1784 of the Maratha envoy in
Delhi. Dillivethil M. Rajkaranen, i. No. 133.)

Chaughara—a small box with four partitions for holding betel-leaf,
nut, chunam, and spices, or for perfumes. FB. 336.

Chauki-i-khas—~the special watch or guard placed round the
Emperor’s person.

Haft chauki—~the patrol conducted by noblemen round the Emperor’s
residence, one on each day of the week. IR. 188. BIL,. 257.

Chobdar—a mace-bearer, a servant whose business is to announce
the arrival of company. FB. 332.

Daftardar—Registrar, recorder. FB. 384.

Digh—branding of horses at muster. IR. 46.

Dam—a small coin of which 40 made a rupee. IR. 6.

Dana-kesh—a kind of embroidered neck-cloth, worn in cold weather
over the cloak. FB. 372,

Dangal—crowd, party.

Diarogha—superintendent or chief of a department or office.

Diar-ul-insha—*‘writing office’’, Secretariat.

Deorhi—literally a gate ; the audience or office held in the front room
or portico. FB. 410.

Dhakdhaki—dhuk-dhuki, an ornament worn on the breast. FB. 401.

Dhup—a straight sword. Usually Deccani. IR. 76.

/ Diwan—(1) Hall of Audience. (2) Revenue minister.

Do-aspa—a trooper ‘with two horses and receiving higher pay than
the ordinary. IR. 23.

Do-balgha—

Do-dami—flowered muslin, the flowers worked with a needle. FB.
301.

Doli—also dola, a sort of sedan in which women are camed inferior
to a palki. WL, 147.

Do-patta—a kind of veil in which there are two breadths, a sheet for

covering the body when sleeping. FB. 391.

Do-shila—two shawls sewn together ; (a single shawl is never worn

by Indians.) FB. 394.

Ek-lari—an ornament (necklace) with one string only.

Fath-pech—a mode of tying the turban. FR, 535. Probably here, a
cloth for tying the beard (fatha).

Fﬂkhanah—Elephant stables, also the department of elephants.

Fitna—a species of mimosa or acacia, bearing flowers and having a
powerful scent. FB. 535,
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Fota—a cloth which they wrap round the middle when going to
bathe. FB. 539.

Gaj-manik—see BL. 118. An excrescence resembling a large pearl
on the forehead of a first-class elephant. FB. 609, “it is a
popular idea among the Hindus that the finest gems (manik)
and pearls (moti) are to be found in the heads of elephants
and serpents.”’

Gajnal—a small gun, mounted on an elephant. IR. 135.

Ghor-nal—a long musket or swivelgun fired from horse-back. IR. {11
has Ghor-dahan. -

Ghusal-khanah—literary ‘‘bath-room”’, but in Mughal history applied
as the popular name to the Emperor’s hall of private audience,
because in the new palace of Agra fort built by Shah Jahan
this hall occupied the site of Akbar’s bath-room (now demo-
lished). It is a fanciful theory of some European writers that
the Mughal hall of private audience was so called because
every Emperor gave audience to his select grandees when he
was washing ! This theory is due to the false analogy of
Louis XIV of France giving audience to his nobles when he
was rising from his bed (whence the term levee), and the
nobles handed to His Majesty his soap and towel!l! It is
tiue that Akbar allowed the highest officers to report urgent
business to him when he was bathing. Abd. Hamid, Padishah-
namah, IA. 148.

Gulalbar—outer enclosure of the Emperor’s own residential tents.
IR. 199.

Huqqa—hand-grenade. IR. 282.

‘Tlaga—lace-work (FB. 526) or pearls strung in the form of a border.
Ina‘m—literally, a present or gift; in this book, a cash gift over
and above the pay of a person’s mansab.' BL. 271. Later (esp.

in the Deccan) it came to mean a rent free grant of land.
WL. 217-218.

Jahalam——correctly Jihlam, the vizor of a helmet, (Steingass spells
it as chahklam). IR. 68.

Jilau-khanah—yard for the parade of led horses. BIL,. 142 n.

Jamdhar—a kind of dagger. IR. 86. EG. Plate I. no. 27.

Ja-namaz-khanah—the Emperor’s prayer-room the materials of which
were kept in an anteroom of the palace ; chapel.

Jigha—an ornament of gold and jewels worn in the helmet. FB. 308.
crest, aigretle,

Jhumka—the bell-shaped pendant of an ear-ring. FB. 306.

Kajawah—a camel’s saddle ; a kind of camel’s litter in which females
travel. FB. 561.

Kalgi—an ornament on the turban.

Kamar-band—a girdle, a long piece of cloth girt round the loins.
FB. 581.

Kangan—also Kankan, an ornameni worn on the wrists by women,
bracelet. FB. 586.
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arah—a ring worn on the wrists, ankles etc. FB. 570. i
arori—collector of the Government dues of a certain area (originally
estimated to yield one kror of dam or Rs. 2,50,000), or market
place. SK. 86.
Jhds—literally, special ; superior kind of articles made for the
Emperor’s use, or articles already used by the Emperor.
‘hatam-bandi-khanah—department of setting shells. FB. 356 gives a
different meaning.

hawis—a domestic servant, a page.

{hil‘at—robe of honour conferred by the Emperor and other high
persons.

{hil‘at-khanah—department or factory for the manufacture and
storing of robes of honour.

{hush-aspa—possessing excellent or superior horses.

{hush-manzil—an officer whose duty was to select good places for
the Emperor’s halt during his marches ; he fixed the limits
of each stage of the journey.

Rhutba—the royal titles as proclaimed from the pulpit before prayers.

Kirkiraqg-khinah-—-ward-robe of a peculiar kind. Full description in
Sarkar’s Mughal Administration, p. 193. .

Langri—(misspelt as langar), a large shallow metal pan used for
kneading bread in or serving rice. FB. 650.
Latkan—drops worn in the ear. FB. 642.

Mahalla—parade of an officer’s contingent of troops. IR. 46.
Mahi maratib—mahi o maratib, or fish and standard, the highest
insignia of distinction. IR. 31-33.
Makri—an ornament for the ear resembling a spider’s web.
Manik—gem.
Mashk—Ileather-bag.
Masnad—royal seat, usually a cushion or carpet raised above the floor.
Mir Tuzuk—chief marshal, an officer whose duty it is to preserve
order in a march or procession. FB. 722.
Misl—station, department ; here encampment.
Mufti—assistant to the Qazi or judge ; he consulted the old Arabic
works on jurisprudence and stated the abstract law bearing
} on the case to the Qazi, who pronounced the sentence. SK. 27.
Muttaka—cushion or couch. FB. 665.
Muzawwar—? probably, a retaining wall or buttress (pushia).

Naqdi—troops paid in cash. IR. 14, 20.

Naqqar-khanah—band-room..

Nazar—present made to a superior.

Nazir—superintendent of an office, esp. the harem.

Nidz—offering made usually in fulfilinent of a vow, or by way of
dedication or prayer.

Nimchah—A short sword. IR. 75, 112.

Nisar—literally sacrifice ; money waved round the head of the
Emperor and then scattered among the people to ensure God’s
blessings for his health or victory,
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Pakhwiaz—a kind of drum, a timbrel. FB. 201,

Pan—betel-leaf, chewed in India.

Parastar—(1) servant-girl, (2) concubine, sometimes also married wife,
Par-i-kaling—feather of the heron, used as a crest,

Parkhana—

Parm-narm—

Peshdast—office assistant, head clerk (?)

Phul-katari—a kind of dagger. .

Prahar—one quarter of the day or night, 3 hours.

Punchhi—an ornament like a fish-tail.

Qur—'T'he Turkish standard of balls and the Yak cow’s tail fixed
on a rod and borne aloft; imperial insignia ; the officer in
charge of these was called the Qur-begi.

Rahkala—wheeled field-piece. IR. 135, 139, 140.
Rak—Shalwar—Shalwdr means trousers. If rdk be taken as rak (or
vein, rag), it would mean striped trousers.

Sadr—civil judge (and royal almoner.) SK. 28.

Sadr-us-sadur—the chief Civil Judge and Almoner, i.e., supervisor of
the religious endowments of the Emperors. SK. 29,

Sihra—a wreath worn on the head by a bridegroom and a bride at the
marriage ceremony.

Sarbari—a porter who carries loads on his head, but on p. 135, chief.

Sarf-i-khdas—literally privy purse, the Emperor’s private expenditure.

Sarpech—an ornament in front of a turban. FB, 464,

Sawar—{1) trooper, (2) additional men assigned to a mansabdar as
a mark of distinction. IR. 5-8.

Saz—trappings, harness, accoutrements, ornament.

Sehbandi—militia, or irregular troops enlisted for assisting in revenue
collection.

Shagird-pesha—menials.

Shamsher-band-o-baz (p. 67)—wrongly printed and translated. The
correct words are Shamsher-bandi-e-tar-i-nugra, “‘a sword-belt
decorated with silver filigree work’. IR. 75 is doubtful about
it.

Shutar-nal—a long piece fired from the back of a camel.

Smarani—a small rosary or string of beads for prayer. FB. 477.

Sukh-sajya-khinah—department or store of cosy beds for the
Emperor.

Suzani—a kind of coverlet, sometimes ornamented with needle work.

Tabar-dar—wood-cutter, a man plying an axe.

Takht-i-rawan—Iliterally, portable throne, litter for the Emperor’s
riding.

Talair—?

Tashiha—verification at muster. IR. 53.

Tan—short for tankhwa. .

Tankhwa—cash payment of officers, usually by an order on a treasury
as distinguished from jagir or payment by the assignment of
the land-revenue of a marked place.

Taqah—a single silken garment. Steingass, 806.
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‘hin—one entire piece of cloth, sometimes 20 or 40 yards.

lop-khianah—the artillery department, which included all fire arms,
not only cannon, but also muskets and rockets whether handled
by horsemen or infantry.

fora—a bag containing a thousand rupees. FB. 250.

{uighun falcon—not mentioned among the various classes and breeds
of falcons kept by Akbar. BL. 293-295.

[fuman tugh—a kind of standard. IR. 31, 34.

WVala-shihi—the household troops, or men raised and paid by the
Emperor out of his privy purse. IR. 40.

famburak—a long musket fired from a camel’s back, and resting on
a prong. IR. 135. .
Zarah—or Zirikh, a kind of armour. IR. 66. Coat of chain mail,
EG. 120.
fat—the personal rank of a mansabdar, as distinct from his sawar
. or trooper rank. IR. 5.

Note.—Words commonly used in Muslim religious practices and
Persian and Arabic literature are not included in this list.
‘The following works will supply fuller information or authority
on my translation :

Abbreviations—

BL—Eng. trans. of the Ain-i-Akbari, vol. I, by Blochmann (1873.)

EG—Egerton’s Handbook of Indian Arms, (London, 1880.)

FB—F;)élées)’s Dictionary, Hinduslani and English, 2nd ed. (London,
6.

IR—W. Irvine’s Army of the Indian Moghuls, (London, 1903.)

SK.—Jadunath Sarkar’s Mughal Administration, 3rd ed. (1935.)

WL—\ikgslgo)u’s Glossary of Judicial and Revenue Terms, (London,

42
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The reference is lo the pages of lhis translation.

bdul Aziz XI.—S. of Mulla Abduil
Rashid of Agra, introduced to Aur.
and app. darogha of arz-i-mukarrar,
62; retires, S5.

bdul Aziz II.—created Dilawar Kl1., 82.

bdul Karim, Mir (Amir Kh.)—S. of
Amir Kh, Shah Jahani, Sarbari of
Khawases, app. darogha of Ja-
namaz-khans, 135-136; amin of
7-chaukis, 146; removed, 153;
plundered while conveying gifts to
Shah Alam, 164; reapp. amin of
7-chaukis, 174; deputy Karori-ganj,
181; app. darogha of fines, 184;
created Mnultafat Kh., 199; sent to
Rairi, 200; darogha of ja-namaz-
khana, 204; of abdar-khana, 212;
also of khawases, 231; created
Khanazad Kh., 265; deciphers
obscarities in cypher, 273-74; com-
panion of Emperor, created Mir
Kh., 282; Amir Kh., 290; at the
siege of Wagingera, 300; attends
to Emp. in his illness, 302.

\

\bdul Wahab I. ({Qazi)—officiates at
marriage of Azam, 49; of Muham-
mad Sultan, appt. Qazi-nl-gnzat,
77; falls ill, 88; death, 92; sons—
Qazi Abul Mukarram, 54; Shaikh-
ul-Islam, 91,

Abdul Wahab IT.—messenger of the
king of Machin, interviews the

Emp., 53.

Abdullah I, Mulla—S. of Mulla Ab-
dul Hakim Sialkoti, death and
character, 141-142,

Abdullah II (Qazi)—S. of Md. Sharif,
created Qazi of court, 158; offi-
ciates at the wedding of Bidar
gl‘%kht, 173; app. Sadr., 238; death,

Abdullah III (Sayyid)—envoy of Haz-
ramant, arrives at court, 32.
Abdullah_ {Sayyid) of Barha alias
Sayyid Mian—app. to the imp.
service, 140; naib subahdar of Bija-
pur, full subahdar of the place,
sent to pursue Rajaram, 197; app.
fanjdar of Nander, 202. PP

Abdullah Kh, I.—ruler of Kashghar,
seeks shelter in India, 42; at court,
46; goes to Mecca, 48; death, 88,

Abdullah Kh, II.—title of Shah Beg
Kh. of Kashghar, 108; giladar of
Agra, 117,

Abdullah Kh, INI.—adopted son of
Abul Hasan, Golkonda Saltan,
created Kh. and 4-hazari, 184.

Abdunnabi Kh, I.—transferred from
Fathpur Jhunjhunu (Khanwa), app.
fanjdar of Mathara, 48; killed, 53.

Abdunnabi Kh. Il.—or. Abdunnabi Beg
Rozbhani, app. darogha of Deccan
artillery, 132.

Abdur Rahim Kh. I.—S. of Fazil Kh.,
app. bayutat and created Kh., dies,
280,

Abdur Rahim Kh. I1.—S. of Islam Kh.,
app. darogha of ghusalkhana, 92;
removed from the daroghashl& of
mace-bearers, 97; app. akhtabegi
102; app. naib subahdar of Multan,
103; akhtabegi, 1i8; 3rd bakhshi,
122; death, 133.

Abdur Rahim Kh. (Khwaja) IIT.—app.
envoy to Bijapur, 141: app. bayu-
tat, 189; confiscates Sambhu’s pro-
perty, 200; darogha of dagh and
tashih, 202; death, 210.

Abdar Rahim Kh. IV.—brotaer of
Firuz Jang, created 14 hazari, 246,

Ablar Rahman 1.—Mir, 6th son of
Islam Kh., app. envoy to Haidara-
b;d, 81; qgiladar of Bahadurgarh,

0,

150.

Abdur Rahman II (Shajkh)—darwish
of Adoni, 219.

+Abul Mukarram I. (Khwaja)—see Jan
Nisar Kh. 1.

Abul  Mukarram 1I.  (Shaikh)—app.
faujdar of Budhpanchgaon, 203.

Aghar Kh.—besieges Bakkhar, 89 R
sent ag. Afghans, 84; app. thanah-
dar of Jalalabad, 89; subshdar of
Qabnl, 122.

Agra—-Subahdars—Saif Kb. app. Sept.
1659, 18; Kushdar Kh. (1665~—~Ang.
1671) 32, 68; Namdar Kh. app. Oct.
1671, 69; Sarbuland Kh., 8 May,
1672, 73; Himmat Kh., Oct. 1672,
74; Safi Kh, removed April, 1674,
82; Mutamad Kh., Apr. 1674, 82;
Hasan Al Kh., 1677, 97; Shaista
Kh,, 16 June 1678, 104; Safi Kh., 9
Sept. 1679, 111; Muhatasham Kh.,
remo;nl, A!ug 1684, 151; Safi Kh.,
app. Aug. 1684, 151; Itiqad Kh., 30
Nov. 1692, 212; Shaista gih., remov-
ed, 223; Muazzam, gth May, 1695,
228, Mukhtar Kh., removed 1698,
238; Itigad Kh., app. Feb. 1698,
ggg; Mukhtar Kh., 1702-1705, 274,

Ahmad Kh. 1. (Mir)—diwan of Bidar

Bakht, app. depnty suba
Khandesh,p286. puty subahdar of
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Ahmad Kh. II. (Sayyid)—app. subahdar
of Ajmir, 92

Ahmad Khwafi (Mir)—created Mustafa
., app. to govern Karnatik, 16;
sent as envoy to Turam, 3IT

Ahmad (Khwaja)—Bukhara envoy, at-
rives at Delhi, 22; leaves, 23.

Ahmad (Mulla)—Bijapuri nobleman,
“enters Aur.’s service, created 6-
hazari, 33; dies, 34.

Ahmad Sa‘id (Haji)—sent to Mecca,
32; darogha of arz-i-mukarrar, 63;
diwan of Begam Sahib, 66. .

Ahmadnagar—mud-fort built by Dilir
Kh., 146; city and fort described,
157; Aur’s arrival and death, 309.

Akbar—S. of Aur, marries Salima Banu
Begam, 73, deputed ag. the Af-
ghans, 84; sent as subahdar of
Malwa, 93; marries daughter of
Alah Quli Ghakkar, 95; app. subah-
dar of Multan, 103; sent to Lahore,
108; sent ag. the Rana of Mewar,
115; app. to guard Chitor, 117;
rebels, 122; flees, 125 & 126; living
at Pali as Sambhuji’s pensioner,
130; sails away to Persia, 139;
death, 321. His sons— Nekusiyar,
Buland Akhtar, Md. Asghar.

Alawardi Kh. Alamgir Shahi—subahdar
of Allahabad, dies, 52,

Ali Mardan -Kh. Haidarabadi—cap-

tured and released by the Mara-

thas, created 5-hazari, 220..

Allahabad—Subahdars—Bahadur  Kh.,
app. Dec. 1666, 38; Alawardi Kh.
Alamgirshahi, 1669, 52; Mir Kh.,
app Mar.-Apr.,, 1669, 52; Daud
Kh., app. Aug. 1671, 68; Hasan
Ali Kh., removed March-Apr., 1676,
92; Himmat Kh., app. March-Apr.,
1676, 92; Muhatasham Kh., app.
‘Aug. 1684, 151; Himmat Kh., app.
Oct. 1686, 172; Khan Jahan Baha-
dur Kh., app. Feb. 1690, 202;
Himmat Kh., reapp. April, 1691,
204; Buzaurg Ummed Kh., app.
July, 1692—Jan. 1694, 210, 220;
Sipahdar Kh., app. Jany. 1694, 220;
Ibrahim Xh., mid 1697, 236; Sipah-
dar Kh., 1704, 287, in office, 1705, 295.

Amanat Kh. I.—alias Sayyid Ahmad,
Bengal diwan, 65.

smanat Kh. II.—alias Mirak Muinnd-
din, app. daftardar of Khalsa, 68;
diwan’ of KAatsa; 78, Tesigns, app.
giladar of “LahoreT 88.

\manat Kh. IIl.—or, Mir Husain, S.
of Amanat Kh. TI., created Amanat
Kh. Diwan of Bijapur, app. daftar-
dar of tan, 202; defender of Auran-
gabad, 208; Payutat, 210; mutsaddi
of Surat port, 250, we=

\manat Kh., IV.—title of Khwaja
Muhammad, faujdar of Sangamner
and Bijapur, 28t.
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Amin (Md.)—deputy of Sarbarah EKh.
Kotwal, 244.

Amin Kh. (Hafiz Muhammad)—S. of
Mir Jumla, sent ag. Jaswant Singh,
9; Mir Bakshi, punishes Yusufzas,
41; app._subahdar of Lahore, 42;
transferred to Kabul, 65; summon-
ed to court, 67; offends Aur. by
his vanity, 69; sent back to Kabui,
69; disaster in Khyber pass, 72;
degraded and transferred”to Gujrat

- as subahdar, 74; in Udaipur, 114;
returns to Afinadabad, 117; pro-
perty left at death, 140,

Amin Kh. II (Md.)—S. of Mir Baha-
uddin and brother’s son of Qalich
Kh., arrives from Turan, 184; app.
Sadr., Sadr-us-Sadur,
plunders” Tal Kdtfkan, 270; at the
siege of Khelna, wounded and re-
covers, 271; created Bahadur, 271;
created 314-hazari, 286; 4-hazari,
created Chin Bahadur, 308,

Amir Kh. I.—brother of Shaikh Mir.,
sent ag. Rao Karn of Bikanir, app.
subahdar of Kabul, 23; fights
Yusufzais, 40; arrives at court,
48; dies, 65.

Amir Rh, II,—see Mir Kh, I,

Amir Kh. III.—see Abdul Karim (Mir).

Anup Singh.—S. of Rai Singh Sisodia,
condoled on his father’s deathy,
78-79; app. fanjdar of Sagar, 218,

Asad Kh.—S. of Zulfigar Kh. Qara-
manlua, 16; app. deputy diwan, 64;
First Bakshi,p 67; resigns o
diwani, 78; sent™fg. Afghans, 84;
app. wazi¥, 93; sent to the Dec-
can, 99; prépares ag. Akbar’s
attack, 123; app. under Azim, 131;
given a seat of honour, 171; arrests
Shah Alam and his son®~¥#3; sent
ag. Marathas, 204; granted honour,
214; proceeds to Jinji, 215; hitch
with Kambakhsh, 215-216; inti-
macy with the Emp., 220; put in
charge of the base-camp at Islam-
puri, 248; his sons (1) Md. Ismail
surnamed Itigad Kh, (2) Inayet Kh.

Awrangzib—writes to Sh. J., 2; is join-
ed by Murad, 2; defeats Jaswant
(Dharmat), 2; defeats Dara at
Samugarh, 3; arrives at Agra, 3;
arrests Murad, 4; pursues Dara to
Panjab, 4; first coronation, 4; in
Panjab ag. Dara, 4-5; marches ag.
Shuja, 6; defeats Shuja (Khajwa),
6-7; Dara at Deorai, 11; second
coronation, 13; road-toll on grain
abolished, 16; provides for famine
relief, 20; bunts, 23; falls ill, 25;
visits Kashmir, 29; stops birth-day
weighing, 48; forbids castration of
children, 48; orders the removal
of two stoue-elephants, 49; forbids
use of cloth of gold in garments,
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50; bans the teaching and public
practice of Hinduism, 52; visits the
tombs of saints of Delln, journey
to Agra to suppress the peasant un-
rest, 57; hunts, 57; bans saluta-
tion by raising the hand to the
head, 62; cuts down the expenses
of the roval houschold, 62; bans
ribbon frills, 66; stick thrown at
him, 78; visits Hasan Abdal, 81;
charity to an old miller, 82-85; bans
drawing up of almanacs, 90; two
bricks thrown at him, 94; stick
flung at him, 95; assailed by a
man with uplifted dagger, 95;
salamed by a Bhisti, 95; takes
Rs. 50,000/~ from Manohardas Gaur
for granting him the title of Raja,
97; abolishes coronation festivities,
100; starts for Ajmir, 106; levies
Jazia, 108, eulogises Bahadur Kh.
for demolishing temples, 109; bans
applying tika mark, 109; marches
ag. Akbar, 123; regard for scholar
saint, 141; arrives at Ahmadnagar,
146 ; sends a casket of snpplicatory
letter to the Prophet’s tomb, 154;
personally joins the siege of Bija-
pur, 169; visits the tomb of Sy.
Md. Gisndaraz at Gaulbarga, 175;
marches towards Haidarabad, 176;
superintends the siege of Golkonda,
180, 182; marches to Chakna, 197;
declines to initiate a Bengali Mus-
lim disciple, 201; makes Muazzam
tepentant, 206-7; assailed by a
pauper, 207; lays a few stones in
a mosqne under constrnction, 208;
taunts Asad Kh., 213; regulates
the wearing of sarpech, 217; affec-
tion for Azam, 2i8; angry ag. the
Sayyids of Barha, 221-222; settles
the order of precedence between
Muazzam and Azam, 226; visits
Kh. jahan Bahadur in his illness,
237; accepts Nehaiya and highly
rewards the donor, 241; bmlds a
base at Islampuri, 248; captures
Vasantgarh, 250; at the siege of
Sataga,.252-3 ; removates old mos~
que inside Parli fort, 258; at siege
of Khelna, 269; worships Prophet’s
relics, 274; on Dilaram, 277; bears
the hardship of marching in rain
and flood, 277; bigh sense of jns-
tice as bet. nobles, 282-83; on hear-
ing of Akbar’s death, 288; falls
ill but views his approaching end
with good cheer, 302; recovers,
303; attends to state duties during
high fever, death, 309; buria), 310;
character—orthodoxy, 312-13; puri-
tanical simplicity, valonr and piety,
314-6; calligraphy, literary  skill
and attitude towards poetry, 318;
sons and daughters, 318-32,
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Anz Wajih—app. censor, 14; nrges the
execution of Tahir, a Shi'a, 74,
witness at the wedding of Muham-
mad Sullan, 77; reinstated l-hazari,
92; death, 96.

Azdin—S. of Aar., marries Rahmat
Banu, 47; marries Jahanzeb, €9;

app. subshdar of Multan, 92;
app. subahdar of Bihar, 97;
app. subahdar of Bengal, reaches
Dacca, [04; recovers Gaunhati,
107; app. subahdar of Pan-
jab, 116; returns from the war
with the Rana of Mewar, 129,

marries Shalir Banu, princess of
Bijapur, 129; created Shah and
sent to the Deccan, 130; sent ag.
Bijapur, 135; his resolute stand at
Bijapur, 162; at the siege of Gol-
konds, 182; captures the fort, 183;
sent ag. Sambhi, 18%; captures
Belgaum, 191; sent ag. Sagar, 208;
attacked by dropsy, 214; jostles
with Muoazzam for a seat on the
Emp.’s right, 226; proceeds to-
wards Bahadurgarh, 231; at the
siege of Satara, 250; of Parli, 256-
7; cauntons at Dhar, 266; app.
subahdar of Gujrat, 266; also of
Ajmir, 281 ; app. subahdar of Ehan-
desh and Aurangabad, 295; arrives
at court, 304; sent to Malwa dur-
ing Aur’s last ililness, 309; reaches
Ahmadnagar to bury Aur,, 310;
death and character, 320; sons—
Bidar Bakht, Jawan Bakht, Sikan-
dar Shan, Wala Jah, Zijah, Wala-
shan, d. Gaitiara and Iffatara, 306.

Azim—S. of Shah Alam, bomn, 31; mar-
ries daughter of Kirat Singh, 103;
sent to Ajmir, 131; marries dangh-
ter of Ruhullah Kh., 209; subah-
dar of Bengal, 236, 260; and also
of Bihar, 279.

Badrunnisa Begam—FEmp's daughter,
dies, 62.

Bahadur Kh. I.—pursues Dara in the
Panjab, 4; and after Deorai, 11;
app. subahdar of Allahabad, 38;
defeats Shivaji, 79; created Kh.
Jahan Bahadur Zafar Jang Kokal-
tash, 88; caplures Naldurg, 99; de-
prived of his rank and title, 104;
deputed ag. Jodhpur, 107; demo-
lishes temples, 108; sent to Nasik,
137; defeats Marathas on the
Krishuna, 147; at the siege of Bija~
pur, 156; sent ag. the Jats, 168;
sent to capture Adoni, 187; app.
subahdar of Allahabad, 202,

Bahadur Kh. II~Ranmast Kh., bro-

ther of Khizir Kh, Pani i
title, 143. » gets this
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Bahlol (Khwaja)—Khidmatgar Kh.,
app commandant of Gwalior, 43;
app. wvazir and darogha of the
jewel dept., 203. .

Bahramand Kh.—S. of Mirza Bahram,
brother of wazir Jafar Kh. and
son-in-law of Asad Kh., 275; or.
Aziznddin, created Bahramand Xh.,
40; app. naib Mir Tuzuk, 106; Mir
Bakhshi, 106; akhta begi, 109; hit
by lightning, 119, app. Mir Tuzuk,
126; darogha of ghusalkhana, 129;
removed fromn the daroghaship of
artillery, 133; sent ag. the rebels
of Ashti, 147; sent towards Hai-
darabad, 158; towards Patan, 165;
to the thana of Indi, 168; removed
from the daroghaship of ghusal-
khana and app. 2nd bakhshi, ]g% ;
sent to Jinji, 205; app. Mir Bakh-
shi, 210; promoted to 5-hazari, 227;
sent ag. Nandgir, 266; allowed to
come in a palki within the gulalbar,
274; death and character, 274 and
275.

Bakhtawar Kh. I.—personal attendant
of Aur, 59; darogha of the Khawa-
ses, §1; death and character, 1S5,
142. ©°

Bakhtawar Kh. II.—Khwaja Bakhtawar,
created Kh., 300. R

Balkh—Khushi Bey, envoy, dismissed
with present, 41; Nazar Bey, Atalig
and Qalandar Bey, envoy, arrive at
Court, 119.

Bengal—Subahdars, Mir Jumla wuntil
31 March 1663, 27; Shaista Kh,,
app. May, 1663, 28; Azam Kh,
Kokah, app. 1677, 98; Md. Azam
(Prince), app. 1678, 104; Shaista
Kh. reapp. 9 Sept. 1679, 111; Md.
Azim (Prince), mid 1697, 236; also
faujdar of Kunch Bihar,

Bengali Muslim—wants to be Aur’s
disciple, 201.

Berar—Subahdars, Khan Zaman app.
Dec. 1675, 89; Irij Kh., dies 13
Aug. 1685, 161; Hasan Ali Kh.,
Aug. 1686, 170; Mahabat Kh., app.
Sept. 1686, 172; Kambakhsh, app.
26 Sept. 1687, 184; dgain 24 Dec.
1697, 237; Askar Ali Kh. app.
1698, 241; Firuz Jang subahdar,
gov. through his deputy Lutfullah
Kh., 274.

Bhagnagar—named after Bhagmati, a
courtesan, traditional name of Hai-
darabad, 183

Bhakkar fort—Dara’'s
sieged, 8-9.

Bhim Narayan—(Shd. be Pran Nara-
yan) Kuch Bihar Raja, occupies
Kamrup dt., 24; dispossessed cf
his capital, 24; recovers it, 27.

partisans  be-
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Bhim Singh—(Raja) brother of R’ana
Jai Singh, S. of Raj Singh, inter-
views Aur, 130; app. to Azam’s

army and sent to Ajmir, 131; 5

hazari, dies, .

Bidar Bakht—(S. of Azam) born, 65;
8-hazari, 114; memorizes the Quran,
122; at the siege of Bijapur, 169;
marries daughter of Mukhtar Kh.,
173; sent ag. Rajaram Jat, 189;
captures Sansani, 202; sent ag. the
enemy, 221; ordered to Bahadur-
garh, 235; defeats Rajaram Maratha
King, 249-250; interviews Emp, at -
Bhusangarh and sent ag. Parnala,
259; at the siege of Khelna, 267-
269; posted at Parnala, 270; re-
called to the siege of Khelna, 271;
captures the rewni of the fort, and

. camses capitulation, 271-272; re-
warded and sent to Hukri, 273;
subahdar of Aurangabad, 274; also
of Khandesh, 279; also of Malwa,
288; removed trom Aurangabad
and Khandesh, 295; but confirned
in Malwa, 295; removed from
Malwa and sent ag. the Marathas
in Gujrat, 304-305. Son—Firuz
Bakht, daughter Bakht-un-nisa, 306.

Bidnur—invaded by Jan Nisar Kh., 198;
Rani presents tribute, 214.
Bihar—Subahdars—Daud Kh,, Jan. 1662,
* 22; Lashkar Xh., until March 1668,
45; Ibrghim Kh., app. March 1668,
45; Amir Kh., removed Dec, 1675,
Tatbiyat Kh., app. Dec. 1675, 91;
Md. Azam, app. 13 April 1677, 97;
Saif Kh., app. May-June 1678, 104;
removed 8 Maych 1683, 140; Buzurg
Ummed Kh., until July 1692, 210;
reapp., in office until death 12th
Feb. 1695, 223; Shamsher Kh., re-
moved Jan. 1703: Md. Azim, app.
Jan. 1703, 279. .

Bijapur—invasion of Jai Singh, fails,
39; Adil Shah presents a ruby
through Muazzam, 52; daughter
of Adil Shah sent to Court, 117;
Bijapuri Princess Shahr Banu
arrives at the court and married
to Azam, 129; Azam launches cam-
paign ag. Bijapur, 143; fails, 1713
the Emp. arrives, 188; aqueduct
constructed for water-supply froin
the Krishna to the city, 190; Tt
fullah app. Subahdar, Dec. 1694

- 250 ; removed Sept. 1701, 265; Chin
Qalich Kh. app. 1703, 279; Kam-
bakhsh, govs. by a naib, 1704, 288;
Chin Qalich Kh., Nov. 1706, 308;
Kam Bakhsh app. Jan. 1707, 309.

Bikram Singh—Thanahdar of Gwalior,

87.
Bisram Kh.—Chief conrt-musician, dies,
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ishan Singh—(Ambar prince)—fanjdar

: hof h[atli’znra, captures Soghar, 205.

jraja Bhusan Qiamuddin Kbh.—{Din-
dar) convert to Islami, renamed
Dindar; app. mushrif of Ja-namaz-
khana, 166. . .

Bundi—captured by Durjan Singh, 140,
Mughat Kh., app. ag. the former,
141, captured, 143. .

Budaq Beg—Iran envoy, arrives at
Delhi, 21, .
Bukhara—Rustam Eey, euvoy, arrives,
41; Ekkataz Kh., sent as envoy,
64; Md. Sharif, sent back, reward-
&d, 66; Aurang Khwaja Chau-
raghshi, rewarded, 87; Rahman
Quli, envoy arrives, 133; Md.
Sharif, arrives, 140; Mir Jalaluddin,
servant of Bukhara ruler, returns
from Mecca, 167 Nazar Bey, en-
voy, arrives, 203; Qutbuddin, en-

voy, arrives, 241. .

Busarg Ummed Kh.—S. of Shaista
Kh., Subahdar of Bihar, of Alla-
habad, 210; death, 223.

Chamni Begain—daughter of Buland
Akhtar, jewels presented, 306.
Chanda—Gond kmgdom, contribution

levied by Dilir Kh., 39; zemindar
"presents elephants, 133; semindari
transferred ‘from Ram Singh to
Kishan Singh, 146; Ram Singh in-
vades, is killed, 153.
Chanderi—cloth factory, “100.
Chhatra Sal Hada F—dies at Samugarh,

3.

Chhatra Sal. II—Zamindar of Jam, 26.

Chhatra Sal Buudela 11I—(son of Cham-
pat Bundela), officer under Lut-
fullsh Kh., fanjdar and giladar of
Sagar, 234; qiladar of Satara, 256.

Chimnaji—Servant of Sawbhuji and
zamindar of Kharggarh, interviews
Aur, 134

Chin Bahadur— Title of Md.
K., 308.

Chin Qalich Xh.—son of Firuz Jang,
quarrels with his father and visits
court, 235, punishes the enemy near
Bijapur, 240; made a 3%-hazari,
246; sent ag. enemy near Kotah,
241; created a 4-hazari, 256; fauj-
dar of Karnatak Bijapur, 2635;
app subahdar of Bijapur, 279 “also
fanjdar of Talkokan Bijapuri, Bel-

faum and thanahdar Sanpgaon,
281; also faujdar of Bijapuri Kar.
natak, 293)m0f Sagar and Mudgal,
294; at the siege of Wagingera,
296, sent to pacify the Berad coun-
try, 301; meets the Emp., is sent
away to Bijapur, 303; app. faujdar
of Firuz Nagar and Talikota, 505.
F
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Daldal Muhamtmual {Dalai Mahamuni ?}—
Zamindar of Greater Tibet, sub-
mits and accepts Islam, 34.

Dalpat Rao—(son of Rao _Subh!:aran
Bundela), brings Deccani spoils o
Court, 79; rewardad for service
under Firuz Jang, 147; sent ag.
Ibrahimgarh, 173; guards Kaw-
bakhsh, 215; at the siege of Jinji,
created 3-hazari (1500 tr.), 238; re-
warded for victory over Dhana
Jadav, 260; his followers slain or
wounded at Wagingera_, 299, N

Danishmand Kh.—app. Mir Bakhshi,
43; nazim and giladar of Delhi,
dies, 65.

Dost Muhammad—XKhutba reader, re-
warded, 64.

Dara Shukoli—usurps power, 1; op-
presses Aur’s agernts, 2, lis anti-
Istamic policy, 2; defeated at
Samugarh, 3; flees from Agra, 3;
reaches Lahore and his doings in
Panjab, 5; pursued throngh Sindh,
8; retreats to Gnujrat, 9; defeated
at Deorai, 11; captured by Malik
Jiwan, 15; and murdered, 16,

Darab Kh.—son of Mirza Abu Sa‘id,
nephew of Nurjahan, 67; app.
darogha of ghusalkhana, 61 app.
darogha of top-khana, 97, Mir-
tuzuk, 97; sent ag. the R¥puts of
Khande&?, 106; death, 109; his
sons—Md. Khalil, Md. Taqi, Md.
Kamyab and son-in-law Lashkari,
09

J

109,

Darbar Kh.—app. naib of ghusalkhana,
80; nazir, 83; nazir of harem and
death, 155,

Doeud Kh. T Qureshi--S, of Bikhan Kh.,
Shaikhzada of Hissar Firuza, de-
serts Dara, 8; Subahdar of Patna,
conquers Palamuun and rewarded,
22; helps Jai Singh ag. Shivaji,
app. subahdar of Khandesh, 31;
Nazim of Allahabad, 68

Daud Kh. II Pani~S. e Rhizir Kh,
-Pani, officer of Muazzam, 138;

assists Nasrat Jang in punishiny

Dhana Jadav, 260: fanjdar of Kar-

natak Haidarabadi, 264; Kam-

bakhsh’s naib in the subahdari

of Bijapur, 288; removed, 293,

naib of Nasrat” Jang at Jinji, at

the siege of Wagingeia, 298-99,

latabad—fort, and prison, Md. Hadi

mmprisoned, 144,

Daulat Afza—son of Prince Muaszam,
born, 58; receives presents, 152;
death, 190,

Deccan—snbahidars—Shaista Kh.
July 1859, 15; Md, Muazzas
May 1663, 28; Rahadur Kl
Jan. -1673, 76; Dilir Kh.
Ang. 1877, 99; Md.
App. I8th Sept. 1678,

/I)au

+ app.
n, app.
1., app.
y officiates
Mvazzam, re-
104; Balindur
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Kh., reapp. 1st March 1680, 117;
Safi Kh., app. April 1684, 148.
Delhi—Nazims—Danishmand Kh. till
July, 1670, 65; Namdar Kh., app.
July, 1670, transferred to Agra,
Sept. 1671, 69; Safi Kh., app. Feb.
1674, 82; Aqil Kh. app. Sept. 1680,
121; Md. Yar Kh., app. end 1696,
233; Qiladars—Danishinand, until
July 1670, 65; Muatammad, app. Aug.
1670, 65; Multafat, app. Sept. 1671,
69; Kamgar Kh., app. Jan. 1679,
106; Aflatun, Sept. 1679, 111.
Deogarh—Kok Singh, chief, submits
to Dilir Kh., 39; Zamindari grant-
ed to Bakht-buland, its zamindar
Dindar interviews Aur,, 265; con-

quered, 247.

Deorai—battle, 11; Prince Akbar in-
terviews Aur.,, 112; the Emp.
halts, 131,

Dhamuni—faujdars—Ruhullah Kh., 79;
Saf Shikan Kh., 230; Khairandesh

Kh., 265.

Dhana Jadav—fights Sania, 243; de-
feated by Nasrat Jang, 260; ot
Wagingera helps besieged, 297.

Dharmat—battle-field, 2.

Dianat Kh, Y-—Astrologer-royal, order-
ed to seal the lefters of Muazzam,
64; death, 77; his sons—Dew Af-
kan, Shir Afkan and Rustam, 77.

Dianat Kh. II—son of Amanat Kh., or.

+ Abdul Qadir, builds a wall round
Aurangabad, 138; app. diwan of
the Deccan subah, 203; mutsaddi
of Surat port, 250, 274.

Dianat Rai—servant of Add Shah,
meels Jai Singh, 39.

Dilir Kh. I.—Younger brother of Baha-
dur Kh. Ruhela, pursues Dara, 8;
fights Shivaji, 33; reduces Chanda
and Deogarh, created 5-hazari, 39;
app. subahdar of Multan, 87; sent
on the Deccan expedition, 92; hard
fight withh the Golkonda army,
102; captures Mangalbida from
Shivaji, 112; app. to the Bijapur
campaign, 141; death and charac-
ter, 145,

Dilir Kh. II.—Mamur Xh. -created
Dilir Kh. beats the Marathas, 147;

. his son Md. VYar, 148,

Dilir Kh. III.—or. Abdur Rauf, grand-
son of Bahlul Kh. Miyana, intet-
views Aur., created Dilir Kh. and
6-hazari, 171; under Firnz Jang,
romoted to 7-hazari (7500 tr.), 286.

Dindar I.—see Braja Bhushan Qiyam-

. uddin Kh,

Dindar II.—Zamindar of Islamgarh

. (Deogarh), created Raja, 205.

Dindar Kh.—Marhamat Kh. s. of
Namdar Kh. app to Azam’s army,
}gé, thanahdar of Garh Namuna,

MAASIR-I-' ALAMGIRI

Dos% . Md.—Khutba-reader, rewarded,

Durgadas—Rathor chief, appeals for
the newly-born sons of Jaswant
Singh, 109; brings to Court Buland
Akhtar, 240; returns to Azam’s
army and restored to 3-hazari, 296.

Durjan Singh I.—(Rathor chief), de-
feated by Hamid Kh., 123,

Durjan Singh II.—(Hada chief), cap-
tures Bundi, 140; flies from the
place, 143.

Ekkataz Kh, I—Mir Tuzuk, 54; sent as
envoy to Bukhara, 64; returns, 92;
demolishes temples, 115; dies, 121,

Ekkataz Kh. II—son of Ekkataz I, at,
the siege of Golkonda, wounded,
recovers, 180; faujdar of Kota, 234.

Ellora—caves described, 145,

Famine—in Delhi, Lahore and other
places, 1660, 20; at L#hore, 1678,
105; in Azam’s camp during Bija-
pur siege, 162; in the imp. camp
at Golkonda, 178; in the imp.
camp at Satara, 251; in the imp.
camp at Parli, 257; in the imp.
camp at Puna, 1703, 283.

Fatwa-i-Alamgiri —~compiled by Sk.
Raziuddin Bhagalpuri, 58, 316.

Fath Jang I (Khan Zaman)—see Nizam
Shaikh Haidarabadi.

Fath Jang Kh. II—title of Husain
Miyana of Bijapur, enters imp.
service, created S5-hazari, 140.

Fathullah Kh. Bahadur—or. Md. Sadiq,
patrols round Parenda, 241-2; good
work at the siege of Satara, 251;
besieges Parli, 256; and Parnala,
263; created Bahadur and cap-
tures Wandan, 266; at the siege
of Khelna, 269-271; entitled Alam-
girshahi, 273; Subahdar of Kabul,
280; also thanahdar of Lauhgarh,
205, * :

Fazail Kh. I—or Sk. Sulaiman daro-
gha of adalat, 117; app. darogha
of dakchauki, 118.

Pazail Kh. Il—or. ~Mir Hadi, son of
Wazir Kh., Mir Munshi, attends
on Azam in his illness, 218; hayvu-
tat and Khan-i-Saman at deatl,

Fazﬁs—oname given to Gokla Jat's som
when converted to Islam, 58.

Fazil Beg—created Tahawwar Kh. and
app. under Himmat Kh., 168.
Fazil Kh, I—or. Mulla (?Ia-;:l-gl;lk
Tuani, app. wazir, 29; death, 29.
Fazil Kh. H—ot. QuTTKh, Burhan-

uddin, brother’s son of Fazil Kh.



INDEX 387

1., created Itimad Kh., 86; Diwan
of Delhi, peshdast of daftar-i-tan
128; crested Fazil Kh., 191; Khan:
iSuman and 2%-hazari, 223;
§nbahdar of Kashmir, adm. an:
jab as the deputy of Muazzam,
zcgebated 3-hazari, 235, 256; death,

‘azil Kh. JII.—see Makhdum (Shaikh).

ydai Kh. I—brings captive Md. Sul-
tan to Court, 17; takes charge of
Neta, 28; serves in Bengal, 53;
removed from snbahdari of Oudh
and sent to Gwalior, 65; sent ag.
Afghans to Peshawar, 72; leads
exp. to Jammu, 82; app. subahdar
of Kabul, 84; created Azam Kh.
Kokah, 90; app. Subahdar of
Bengal, 98; dies at Dacca, 104;

‘# property at death, 104

Fidai Kh. II—son of Ibrffiin Kh. con-
gquers Tibet, 144.

Fidai Kh. III.—see Salih Kh. IT.

Iidai Kh. IV—or, Tahawwar Kh. S.
of Salabat Kh. darogha of Qur.

. khana, created Fidai Kh., 293.

Iirpz Bakht-son of Bidar Bakht,

_ born, 227.

Firgz Jang—see Ismail (Md.}).

Gangaram—Amla of Kh. Jahan Baha-
dur, rebels in Allahabad, 127.
Gardens—Nnrmanzil, 3, 10; Sahibabad,

45; Dilkasha, 28; Hayat Bakhsh,

. 53; Aghrabad, Nulbari, 56; Farman-

r bari, 134; Farahbakhsh, Bihisht
Bagh, 156; Shahabad, 207.

Garha—Zammtidar Hari Singh inter-
views Aur., 141, 153.

Ghazinddin Kbh. Bahadur Firuz Jang—

. See¢ Shihabuddin Kh.

Gisudaraz, Sayyid Md.—(sen of Sayyid
Razn), 145; his tomb visited by
Aur., 175, 188; his son Sayyid Fath
Muhammad, 196; successor, Sayyid

« Husain, 287,
Gokla Jat—the Jat leader, captared,

58.

Goknldas—Rathor Chief, killed in ac-
tion at Merta, 132.

Golkonda—fort, 183; siege, 176~182;
_captured, 183.

Gujrat—Subahdars : Jaswant Singh be-
fore mid July 1662, 25; Mahabat
Kh., app. ‘mud July 1662, 25; Md.
Amin Kh., app. 11 June 1672, 74;
held until 16 June 1682, 135; Mnkh-
tar Kh., app. 16th June 1682, 135;
Shujaet Kipx., app. Subahdar 1684,
in office until 16th June, 1701, 240,
265; Md. Azam, app. subahdaf,
June 1701, 266; Ibrahim Kh., app.
subahdar, Sept. 1703, 295; Bidar
Bakht, interim subahdar, 304.
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Hadi Kh.—or. Hedait-Kesh -
nath, 8. of Chattermat, é4l?hc?;1§.
verted to Islam and app. head
news-reporter, 241; in office, 298;
.created Hadi Kh,, 298 !

Haji Shafi Kh.—~see Shafi Kh,

Hakims—Md. Amin, Mahdi, 25; San-
jak, 8¢; Masum, Md. Shafi, Md.
.Raza, Amin Sawji, 219.

Haji Muhammad—created Mir Kh.
119; see Mir Kh, IIL

Hamida Banu—(daughter of Malika
Banu, sister of Mumtaz Mahal),
martied tomKhalilnllah Kh. 1, 23;.
arranges the nuptials of Sipihr
Shukoh, 77. P ®

Hamid Kh. I (Muhammad Kh.)—S. of
Sayyid Murtaza Kh., sent ag. Sat-
namis, 71; app. subahdar of Ajmir,
98; app. darogha of Kbas chauki,
102; app. to guard the widows of
Jaswant Singh, 110; sent ag. re-
bels of Sojat, 119; sent ag. Durjan
Singh of Merta, 121, 123; faujdar
of Mewat, 209.

Hamid Kh. II.—S. of Dand Kh. app.
to guard the widow of Jaswant
Singh, 110; faujdar of Bhojpur, 127,

Hamid Kh. III.—or. Khwaja Hamid,
S. of Qalich Kh. created Xh. and
sent with treasure to Azam’s army,
161; guarrels with his brother
Firuz Jang, 234-hazari (1500 tr.), 294.

Hamiduddin Kh. I—S. of Mirza Abu
Staid and brother’s 8. of Nar
Jahau Begam, sent as fanjdar of
Mungi Patan, 137, app. Qiladar of
Qandahar, 167,

Hamiduddin Kh. I1.—S. of Sardar Kh.,
app. darogha of filkhana, 191; app
Shahna of the camp, 194; created
Kh,, 199; sent ag. Sagar, 205,
app. Lkotwal, 208; permitted to
stand within the kathra, 2117,
punishes _the unruly servants of
Muizzuddin, 222; 2-hazari, 227; sent
to raise the siege of Dodderi, 230;
created Bahadur after his return,
233; demolishes temple in Bijapur
and builds mosque, 2pp. darogha
of ghusalkhana, 241; pursues
Santa, 243; fights the Marathas,
255; rewarded, 265; at siege of
Khelna, 268-71; gets title of Alam-
girshahi, 273; app. darogha of fil-
%hana, 3-hazari, 275; darogha of
Diwan-i-khas, 281; conducts siege
of Rajgarh, 284; gets cap of Sk.
Abdul Latif and sent ag. epemy
pear the Ghodnadi, 287; yictory,
rewarde;l{,h 29]9, 3‘5 ks rebels mear

asan Ali . L—attac X

H A#gta, 57; app. fanjdar of Mathura,
57; captures Gokla, 58, punishes
rebels, 62, 63; fights in.Mewar,
116; demolishes temples, created
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Bahadur Alamgir Shahi, 117; sent
on the Deccan. war, 132 and 133;
at siege of Bijapur, 162; subahdar
of Berar, 170; death and charac-
ter, 171

Hasen Ali Kh. Barha IL-S. of Ab-
dullah Kh. Barha, pursues Raja
Ram, 197, 198. .

Hazramaut—Sidi Kamil’s envoy arrives,
32; envoy Md. Jamil rewarded,
211, N

Hedait Kh.—Retainer of, Azam, cele-
brates Azam’s recovery, 220.
Hedaitullah Kh. X.—or. Mir Hadi, app.
bakhshi and news'writer of Delhi,
111; darogha of goldware dept.,

155.
Hedaitullah II.—son-in-law of Khalifa
Sultan, app. diwan of Delhi, 138.

Hedaitullah IIl.-—Son of Golkonda
officer Sharif-ul-mulk, 166.
Hedaitullah IV.—S. of Tarbiyat Xh, I.,

167.

Hedaitullah V.—S. of Inayetullah, app.
Mir saman of Zinat-un-nisa Begam,
235, married to daughter of Md.
Afzal, 286.

Himmat Kh. I.—-S. of Islam Kh.

Badakhshi, app. darogha of

* diwan-i-khas, 52; promoted to 2nd

bakhshi, 65; app. subahdar of

Agra, 74; darogha of ghusalkhana,

ﬁ 2, sent i;co s}g{ﬁ hunder Akbar,

; app. first shi, 121; guards
Ajmir, 123; dies, 125 v

Himmat Kh. II.—or. Muzaffar, S. of

Kh. Jahan Bahadur, app. subahdar

of Allahabad, 172; app. subahdar

of Oudh and faunjdar of Gorakhpur,

202; reapp, subahdar of Allahabad,

204; fights Santa, 218; dies, 230.

Hindus—Study of Hindu scriptures and
public practice of the faith forbid-
den, 51; Jaziya -enforced, 108;
Hindu cletks dismissed, 314; paint-
ing of the tika mark forbidden, 109;
temples destroyed, see temples,
?nspners converted, eg. Gokla’s
family, 58; Ikhlas-kesh, 136; Bra-
jabhusan Qiyamuddin Xh. (Din-
dar), sons of Vindhyachal, Sadat-
nllah'and Sadullah, 168; Bholanath
{Hedait-Kesh), 241; forbidden to
wear arms or ride in palkies, 224;
women  married o  Muslims,
daughter of Raja Rup Singh, 22;
daughter of Raja of Assam, 47;
Phppdevi, daughter of Kishtwar
Raja, 91; daughter of Kirat Singh,
103; Kalyan XKumari, sister of Jagat
Singh, zamindar of Manoharpur,
130; Ra;.aram’s daugtiter, 286;
Shambhuji’s daunghter, 287; con-
verts rewarded, 315. :
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Husain Pasha—Gov. of Basra, greets
the Emp. on his accession, 20;
arrives at Court, 54. See Islam

Kh. I

Hushdar Kh.—S, of Muliafat Kh.
Alamgiri and grandson of Azam
Kh. Jahangiri, 71; subahdar of
_?gra, 32, of Khandesh, 68; death,
1.

Ibrahim (Mir)—S. of Mir Numan, son-
in-law of Safiyya Banu Begam, sent
to Mecca with presents, 17; creat-
ed Kartalab Kh. and app. faujdar
of Miwat, 76.

Ibra.]l:-lrim Md. Mir—s¢e Mahabat Kh.

Ibrahim Kh. I.—8. of Alt Mardan Kh.
subahdar of Yahore, 42; app.
subahdar of Bihar, 45; retires, 94;
app. subahdar of Kashmir, 100,
rewarded for the conquest of Tibet,
144 ; subahdar of Bengal, subzhdar
of Allahabad,. 236; subahdar of
Kashmir, and of Gujarat, 304-5.

Ibrahim Kh. II.—(Muhatasham Kh.) or.
Md. Ibrahim, son of Shaikh Mir,
66; restored to 1%4-hazari, 81; sur-
named Muhatasham Kh., 87; app.
faujdar of Langarkot, 87; of Saha-
ranpur, 94; of Miwat, 97; app.
subahdar of Allahabad, 151; rein-,
stated, 241; qiladar of Naldurg,
279. '

Iftikhar Kh.—app. Khan-i-saman, 29,
55; sent to Muazzam, and degraded
on return, 63; reinstated, sent to
Kashmit as subahdar, 69; removed
and sent to Peshawar, 77; rein-
forces exp. to Jammu, app. faujdar
of Bangashat, 94; subabdar of
Ajmir, 102; faujdar of Jaunpur,
119; death, 129; his sons, Abdullah,
Abdul Hadi, Abdul Bagqi, 135.

Ihtamam Kh. I.—or. Abdul Qadir, S.
of Amanat Xh., 138; darogha of
buildings, 82; kotwal, 126, 150;
builds a wall round Aurangabad,
138.

IThtamam Kh. II.—or. Sardar Beg,
darogha of nawwara, 153; nazir of
imp. harem, 168; tcreated Sardar
Kh., 179.

Ikhlas Chela—trusty servant of Aur.,
killed during the attack on Udai-
pur temple, 1i5.

Ikhlas-Resh—disciple of Mulla Abdullah
Sialkoti, converted to Islam, app.
Mushrif of purchase dept., 136; of
Ja-namaz-khana, 138; of petitions,
166; peshdast of Mir Bakhshi, 1J2+
app. news writer of the kachari of
Khan-i-Saman, 199; sent to Ujjain,
223; amin of J Bidar, fauj-
dar of Indur, 230-31; peshdast of

i



tnhullah Kh., 235; news-writer of i
be kachari o'f‘D,wan, 282; agent ﬁraiastg ofIttggad' hKh"’ oGP
»f Muazzam at court, 307,73 S Ahadis, 109; fights
) y, 91k and defeat. th
as Kh. I.—or. Inayetallah, S. of towards lesicsiar eMl;z.at_h e ooy Sent
S‘adnilah Kh. Bakhshi of Shagird- of Chanda, app. O\ Thepls fonquest
pesha, 97; created Ikhlas Kh., 134 38, rebels ronr Banes 193, sent
as Kh. J.—(or. Abul Md. grand- |  sent towsrdn gl ngamuer, 154;
son of Bahlul Kh. Mivana) created thanahdar of  Tndi lssxésfma D,
:hﬂg ;d—lsm:; Kh., si. garogha }:)f 1ghusalkhs;na, 181, sgg{
s Kk, III.~S. of Muqarrab Kh, o punish the Maratha -
Haidarabadi, capturesanmbhnji galbeda, 173; CﬂPtureSslgaeig: 1\!1[33;
and Kavi Kalas, created Khan-i- created Zulfiqar Kh. Bahadur, 200;
Alam and S5-hazari, 195. captures fort Trinomali, 208, sent
yet Kh. _L'—dﬂfttyiﬂ}f of Khalsa, towards Bidar, 149, at the conquest
app. fanjdar of Bateh, 68; app. of Chanda, app. Qurbegi, 153; sent
shdast of khalsa, {98) bayutat, ag. Parnala, 259; crushes Dbana
%mﬂpp_ faujdar of Kjmir, 127; Jadav, 260; sent ag. Maraths rovers,
G ) 362; a;?p‘.l lgfinr ~]t3§khshx, 275; sent
ayet Kh. II.—S. of Asad Kh. mar- 0 Prnsh yorathas near Burhan-
ried to a danghter of Golkonda par, 2;9,_9.1: the siege of Wagin-
Suitan, 189. %m;;h ggx,e sﬁ:\gﬂtﬁga: m{)a;gibadn tg
iayet Kh, III—S. of Sadullah Kh. : : o
, removed from the subahdari of goog court, 304; recovers Kondana,
Khandesh, 236. .
syaetullal, Raja—zamindar of Rajaar, | Ism’ail—rnler of Vemen, sends pre-
82 h sents, 32.

se i i
mayetullah Kh. I—See Ikhlas Kh. L | " ais o e Goh) onced Khnebna -

ma’éimnklhhnmahxhé II'.—S of Mirza Ragm, "154.
ireiiah (Emp.’s favourite), 208, | v i) Kh™IT. Makha—thanahdar at
)?h-}] tn,aﬁf the jewel dept. and Jinji, 216; captured by Santa, te-
" A, app. pews-writer and leased & app. fo guard the roads,

mustaufi of aima, 153; app. kh-i- 8 : . ?
saman to Zinat-nn-nissa Begam, %zgﬁisi‘;%dﬁgdgfh::aﬁ? uZ-‘éS.ZSG ot

L 190; agent of Azam Shah, 195.
Indra Singh I-S. of Rai Singh and | Itimad Kh, T.—or. Abdul Qawi (Mnlla),
grandson of Amar Singh, app. murdered by a prisoner under
Raja of Jodhpur, 107; conducts | _ enguiry, 37. .
the Mewar Prince Jai Singh to | Itimad Kh. II.—See Fazil Kh. II.
Anr,, 108; summoned to court, | Itimad Kh. IIl—or. Mulla Tahir,
109; app. thanmabdar of Nimbaj, diwan & fanjdar of the port of
AY

pursues Akbar, 125. o nrat, 199, f Shaista Kh
Indra Singh II-S. of Rana Raj Singh, R"‘fm%héoﬁ'—nﬁf’t%, So

created 2-hazari, 246-247. i .
Ishag I (Md.)—S. of Tarbiyat Kh., | Itigad Kh, IL—Mir Qul, restored to

app. deputy darogha of the | _ Z2-hazari, 96. .

Deccan artillery, 295. Itigad Kh. JII.—See Ism’ail (Md.) -

Ishag 11, ja)—se Ttigad Kh. IV.—S. of Shaista Xh. app.
&) Kas%::]a;& mt on embassy qsubahdar of Agra & faujdar of its

Ishaq III. . N h. environs, 212; fanjdar of Mathura,
§I. (Bd)—see Mukarram K 232; Subahdar of Agra, 238, ’

Isla i rusai Itigad Kh. V.—(Rnhnllah Kh.) son of
m Kh. (Rumi)~—or. Husain Pasha, qRuhuﬂa 1L 200,

arrives at court and created Islam . .
Kh., 54; punished bat pardoned, | Izid Bakhsh—S. of Murad l;akhsh,.
74, 75; app. nazim of Malwa, killed married to Mihir-un-nisa Begam,
in the Deccan, 93; his sons— .
Afrasiyab Beg and Ali Beg, 54;
Mukhtar Beg, 75.

Islam Kh., Rhweshgi—suppresses the . .
rebeltion of Rai Singh zamindar | Jafar—S. of Hushdar Kh. interviews
of Junagadh, 26. Aur., 71. . .

[sm’ail~ (Md.)—(Itiqad Kh. Zulfigar | Jafar (Md.)-——F:ormgr@y in  Prince
Kh. B. Nasrat Jang), S. of Asad Akbar’s service, joined Qutb Shahi
Kh. app. 3-sadi, 45; married to service, sent to Aur. as envoy, 149;
the daughter of Shaista Xh. punished, and sent to Bengal, 149.




340

Jafar Kh.—Subahdar of Malwa, app.
Wazir, 30; visited by Aur.,, 33;:
dies, 64; his sons—Namdar Kh
Kamgar Xh., wife, Farzana Begam,

Jahanara Banu Begam (Begam Sahib)—
arranges Shah J’s funeral, visited
by Aur., 34-35; death and barial,
181.

t

Jahanzeb Bann—Dara and Nadira

Banu’s daunghter, 47; married to

Azam, 49, accompanies him from

Patna to Bemnares, 113; death and

burial, 293-94.

Singh 1. Kachhwa—(Mirza Raja)

sent ag. Shuja, 1; dissuades Jas-

want from joining Dara, 10; pur-

sues Dara, 11; sent ag. Shivaji, 31;

Purandar {(reaty conclnded with

him, created 7-hazari, 33; fights

Bijapur, 38-39; recalled to Court,

dies, 41,

Singh I1.—8. of Rana Raj Singh,

107; interviews the Emp., 108.

Jai Singh IIT (Sawai)—at the <iege of
Kheina, 2712,

Jam—a principality in Kathiawar, its
zamindar Rai Singh sglain, 26.
Jan Nisar Kh, I.—or. Khj. Abul Mukar-

ram, app. to invade Bidnur, 198;
sent ag. the Marathas, 199; re-
warded, 201, app. diwan of Bijapnr,
202; sent ag. the enesny, 203; pro-
moted to 2-hazari, 205.

Jan Nisar Kh, II.-—See Lashkar Kh. II.

Jaswant, Maharaja—-sent ag. Aur., 1;
defeated at Dharmat, 2; treachery
at Khajwa, 7; betrays Dara, 10,
the title of Maharaja restored, 17;
removed from subadari of Gujrat,
and fajlure ag. Shivaji, 31; marches
to Lahore, 37; sent to the Deccan,
40; app. thanahdar of Jamrud, 68;
interviews the Emp. at Rawalpindi
and is rewarded, 82, death, 106;
song—Ajit Singh, Ranthamb, 110.

Jaswant Singh Bundela—sent ag. sons
of Champat Bundela, 105.

Jats—rebel, 57-58, Gokla captured by
Hasan Ali Kh., 58; operations ag.
them contd.,, 63; renewed rising
and Kh. J. Bahadur sent ag., 168;
Rajaram defeated and killed, 189;
Sansani captured, 202; Soghar cap-
tured, 205 ; Sansani recaptured, 295,

Jawahir Kh, (Khwaja)—treasurer bf the
Emp.’s private jewel dept., dies, 71.

Jaziya—levied, 108; collected from the
four subahs of 'the Deccan, 181.

Jmji—Kambakhsh and Asad Kh. reach,
205 and 207; Kakar XKh. app.
thanahdar, 211; Kambakhsh’s secret
overtures with Rajaram in the fort,
215; captyred, 238; named Nasrat-
garh, 392.

Jai

=

Jai

.
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Jodhpur—Admn. taken over by Aur.,
107, Indra Singh installed, 109;
posthumous son taken to Jodhpur
110; Rathors defeated, 132; nn:
subdued, 133; recover Siwana, 158,

Junagadh——named Islamnagar, 28,

Kabul—Subahdars—3Mahabat Kh,, 1659,
16, Sayyid Amir Kh. app. Jan.
Feb., 1662, 23; Mahabat Kh., app,
March, 1668, 45; Md. Amin Kh,,
app. about mid., 1670, 65; Mahabat
Kh.—1673, 79; Fidai Kh., app. 27th
Sept., 1674, 84; Amir Kh., app.
19th March, 1677; d. 28th Apri,

1698, 240; Muazzam, app. May,
1698, 240.

Kambakhsh—S, of Aur, born, 40,
made 8-hazari, 100; married (o

Fakhr-i-Jahan Khanam, 126; to
Jamiat-un-nisa alias Kalyan Kumari
129; to Azaram Banu, 139; rein-
forces the army at Golkonda, 180;
app. subahdar of Berar, 184; sent
ag. Jinji, 205; secret overtures to
Rajaram, 215; confined, 218, re-
called to court, 217; app. subahdar
of Berar, 237; disobeys the Emp.
and confined, 242-43; restored to
20-hazari, 246; aepp. subahdar of
Haidarabad, 264; snbahdar of Bija-
pur, 288; at Wagingera, 298; subah-
dar of Bijapur, 309: death and
character, 321.

Kamgar Kh. 1.-—S. of Hushdar Kh.,
removed from rank, stabs himself
but recovers, 118.

Kamgar Kh. II.---8. of Jafar Kh., app.
darogha of jewel market, 52, dis-
missed from mansab, 96; 2-hazari,
86; app. Bayutat, 103; app. qiladar
of Delhi, 107; app. news-reader,
127, app. third bakhshi, 133: app.
akhtabegi, 146; married to the
daughter of Sd. Muzaffar Haidara-
badi, 153; darogha of imp, retinue,
159; Mir Tuzuk, app. darogha of
ghusalkhana, 172; Kh.-i-saman, 181;
3-hazari, 246; removed from the
giladari of Agra, 295 .

Kamil (Sidi)—envoy from Abyssinia,
arrives at Court, 32,

Kartalb Kh, I—See Ibrahim, Mir.

Kartalb Kh. II.—(Muhammad Beg),
see Shujaet Kh, A

Kartalb Kh. III—See Murshid Quli
Kh. IL 3

Kashghar—Khwaja Ishaq, sent with
presents to Abdullah Kh., 33;
Abdullah, king arrives at court,
46; Abdur Rashid, envoy arrives,
50; Sufi Bahadur comes in search
of service, 148; Ayyub Beg envoy
sent back, 141; Abdur Rahim Beg,
envoy, arrives, 203.
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Kashmir—Subahdars—Saif Kh, 1665,
33-34; Mumtaz Xh., 1667, 42;
Mubariz Kh., remgved May, 1669,
53; Saif Kh., réapp. May, 1669 53;
Iftikhar Kh., app. Sept., 1671 69,
Qawamuddin Kh., app. April 1676,
92; Ibrahim Xh., app. 28 Nov,,
1677, 100; in office 1683, 144; Abu
Nasr. Kh., removed April-June,
1697, 235, Faz1l Kh. II, app. Apnl-
June, 1697, 235, Ibralum Kh., in
office, 1700, 256; removed, 295;
Nawazish Kh. app. Sept.-Oct., 1705,
295; Ibrahim Kh removed, beg.,
1706, 304. <

Kazim (Md.)-—Author

\
of ‘Alamgir-

namal’, app darogha of the Sale
dept., 101.
Kavi Kalash—Minister of Sambhuji,

captured, 194; executed, 196
Kegari Singh  (Bhadaurfya)—sent to
~Assam under Ram Singh, 43,
Klhalilullah Kh. I.—ag. Dara in Panjab,
5; subahdar of Lahore, 21; death,
23; his soms Mir Kh., Ruhnllah
Kh., Azizallzh, 23; widow Hamida
Banu, 23. /
Khalilullah Kh. II—Title of Ibrahim,
C.-mm-C. of Golkanda, who entered
imp. service. See Mahabat Kh. II.
Khalilullah Kh. IIT.--8. of Ruhullah
Kh. II.
Khanahzad Kh. I.—Qiladar of Kabul,
app. thanahdar of Ghazm, 98.

Khanahzad Kh. II.—S. of Himmat
Kh., app. darogha of the servants
of retinue, 151; escorts Udipuri
Mahal, 154; removed from the
daroghaship of retinue, 159.

Khanahzad Kh. III —or. Mir Hassan,
S. ot Ruhullah Kh., married the
daughter of Amir Kh., 168; sent
ag. Sagar, 185; Qurbegi, 210, re-
turned from patrol-duty at Garh-
Namniana, 221: darogha of the ser-
vants of Khas Chauki, 369; ‘app.
Mir Atish, 224; defeated by Santa,
228-30; app. subahdar of Bihar,
,230; app. Kh.-i-Sagman and creat-

_ed Ruhnllah Kh., 235.

Khan Babadur Zafar Jang Kokaltash--
see Bahadur Kh.

Khan-i-Alam I.—Title of Ikhlas Kh,
S. of Khan Zaman Fath Jang,
created 6-hazari, 234

Khan-i-Alam II.—Title of Md. Ibrahim,
S. of Najabat Kh., released from
prison, restored to 3-hazari, and
app. faujdar of Jaunpur, 246; app.
subahdar of Malwa, 305.

Khan-i-Alam III.—Mirza Kh., subahdar
of Oudh, dies, 307

Khan Zaman I.— S. of Azam Kh. and
son-in-law of Asaf Kh., 128-29; app.
nazim ,of Berar, 89; app. subah-
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dar and qiladar of Bidar, 97; app.
subahdar of Burhanpur, 129, subah-
dar of Malwa, 135; death, 151.
Khan Zaman 1I. Fath Jang—see
Nizam Shaikh Haidarabadi.

Khan Mirza—envoy of TUrganj, re-
warded, 127.
Khelna—(Vishalgarh) siege, 267-279;

capitulation, 272; named Sakkhar-
lana, Zabit Kh., qiladar, 273,
Udwat Singh, 287.

Khidmat Kh. (Khwaja)—darogha of
petitions, 50, app. darogha of
jewellery-market, 101; app. nazir,
155, 185; app. Wali of Shah J’s
tomb, 203.

Khidmatgar Kh. I —(Xhidmatguzar
Kh.), sent to make road m Kash-
mir, 26, created Khidmatguzar
Kh, 43; app. giladar of Jodhpur,
106; app. bakhshi and news-writer

of Chitor, 121; death, 153.
Khidmatgar Kh II.--—-se¢c  Bahlol
(Khwaja).
Khidmatgar Kh IIl.—or Khwaja

Talib, conveys gifts to Azam, 92;
nazir of the Emp.’s harem, dies,
287. } .

Khidmatgar Kh. IV.—title of Khwaja
Ambar, 300.

Khudabanda Kh.—S. of Shaista Kh.,
app. fanjdar of Bahraich, 212; app.
first Mir bakhhsi of Ahadis, 232,
app. bayutat, 235; app. to g@ard

‘ ttlx)g base, 246;Sfbahdar of Oudh,
260; fanjdar of Karnatak Bijapari,
275; Kh.~i-saman, 291; created 3-
hazari, 306. o~

Khush-hal Kh.—musician, rewarded,
48,

Khujista Akhtar-—(S. of Prince Muaz-
zam), born, 79, 92; enrolled as a
mansabdar, 209; married to Ak-
bar’s danghtdf™Zakiat-un-nissa, 288.

Kirat Singh—8. of Raja Jai Singh
Kachhwa, favoured, 34.

Kigshan Singh—app. Raja of Chanda,
enters the city, 153.

Kishan Singh Kachhwa—S. of Ram-
singh, app. to exped. ag. Kabul,
84; death, 134, ,

Iishan Singh (Hada)—interviews Ak-
bar and kills himself, 99. )

Kondana (Singhgarh)-—wrested from
the Marathas, 153; army sent ag.
279; captured and named Bakh-
sh#da Bakhsh, 282; recovered by
the Marathas, Hamiduddin Kh
sent ag., 301; recaptured by Nas-
rat Jang, 304.

Laliore—Subahdars—Khalilullah * Kh.,
23; ghim removed Dec.
1667, 42; Md. Amin Kh., app. Dec.
1667, 42, Fidai Kh. (in office 1672),
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72; Qawamuddin Kh., app. 29 Apr.
1678, 103; Md. Azam (with Lutfullah
as his deputy), 1680, 116; Mukar-
ram Kh., removed, 173; Sipahdar
Kh., app. 1686, 173; Azam, removed,
11 April, 1691, 204; Khan Jahan
Bahadur, app. 11 April, 1691, 204;
Mukarram Kh., removed, 1697,
235; Abu Nasr. Kh., app. 1697,
235; Ibrahim Kh., removed, 3lst
Jan., 1700, 255; Md. Muazzam, app.
3ist Jan., 1700, 255; Zabardast Kh.,
removed, Sept.,, 1705, 295; Md.
Muazzam, reapp. Sept., 1705, 295.

Lashkar Kh-—s¢e Munawwar Kh,
(Sayyid). .
lashkar Kh. II.—(Jan Nisar Kh.)

transferred from Subahdari of
Bihar, 45; app. Subahdar of Mul-
tan, 47; removed, 65; app. first
Bakhshi, 65. R

TLatfullah XKh.—$S. of Sadullah Xh. app.
darogha of dak-chauki, 52; remov-
ed from the daroghaship of arz-i-
mukarrar, 62; reapp., 66; app.
darogha, of filkhana, 92; m .
darogha of arz-i-mukarrar, ;"102)

~  app. deputy subahdar of Lahore,
116; app. darogha of ghusalkhana,
12¢; app. darogha of arz—i-mu@-
rar, {129; app. news reader, 433}
darogha of the imp. retinne and
khas chauki, 137; app. darogha
of the servants of Md. Muazzam,
184; sent to thanah Xhatav, 203;
app. darogha of khas chauki, and
punished, 205; sent to Akluj, 210,
darogha of khas chauki and akhta-
begi, 230; app. subahdar of Bija-
pur, promoied to 3-hazari, 250;
transferred to Awurangabad, 265}
to Berar as mnaib subahdar, but
dies on the way, 274.

Lutfullah Kh. 1I. (Kokah)-—his camp
near Lal Bagh, Dacca, raided by
robbers, 132. .

Madanna Pandit—Wazix of Golkonda,
murdered, his head sent to Aur.,

167.

Mahabat Kh. I. Lohrasp—S. of Mahabat
Kh., Khan-i-Khanan, app. nazim
of Kabul, 45; removed, 65; sent
to Deccan, 66; forbidden the court,
74; marches towards Kabnl, 79;
enters city, 80; removed and sent
ag. Bir Singh Gaur, 84; death, 87;
sons—Bahram, Farjam, 87.

Mahabat Kh. II.—or. Ibrahim Md.,
Mir, C-in-C of Golkanda, enters
imp. service, 164; created 6-hazari
and Mahabat Xh., 165; app. subah-
dar .of Berar, 172; occupies Amin
Kh.’s house in Delhi, 167; subah-
dar of Lahore, 233.
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Makarand Singh—S. of Pratap Singhf)
zamindar of Kalibhit in Hoshanga-:
bg;i dt., imprisoned and released,,

134. ,

Makhdum, Shaikh—Munshi of Md.
Azam, app. muoshi of Emp. 118;
created Fazil Kh. and Sadr., 153.

Malwa—Subahdars—Jafar Khan, remov-
ed; Najabat Kh., app. Aug., 1667,
29; dies Oct., 1608, 31; Wazir Kh.,
app. Oct.-Nov., 1668, 31; dies, 9
Oct., 1672, 74; Mir Kh., app: Oct.,
1672; 74; Islam Kh., uatil 13 June,
1676, 93; Akbar, app. 24 Sept.,
1676, 93; Mukhtar Kh,, removed,
June, 1682, 135; Khan Zaman, aup.
June, 1682, 135; Mughal Kh., app.
3 Aug., 1684, 151; Mukbtar Kh.,
removed, mid 1701, 266; Abu Nasr
Kh., app. mid. 1701, 266; Bidar
Bakht, app. 3 Aug., 1704, 288;
Kb.-i-Alam, app. \April, 1706, 305.

Mamur Kh., L—see Dilir Kh. II.

Mamur Khb. II.—or. Md. Yar, S. of
Mamur Kh. 1., created Mamur Kh.,
148; app. fanjdar of Bir, 209; re-
moved from fanjdari of Karnatak
Bijapuri, 265.

Man Singh—S. of Rup Singh Rathor,
faujdar of Mandalpur, app. that
gfsBadhnur, 140; created 3-hazari,
46.

Mathura—Temple demolished,
changed to Islamabad, 60.

Masaud (Sidi)—qiladar of Adoni, 187;
created Kh. and app. fanjdar and
giladar of Moradabad, 191.

Mas‘and Bakht-S. of Muhammad
Saltan, born 95: dies, 99.

Mecca—presents sent through Mir Ibra-
him, 17; Sd. Yahiya, envoy from,
32; rewarded, 32; Sd. Usman, en-
voy from, 48; rewarded, 48; S4.
Usmen, envoy from, 67; cash
money sent, 67; Sd4. Ali, envoy
from, 87; rewarded, 87; Ahmad
Aqa, envoy from, 166; rewarded,
166, 173.

Mir Khan I—S. of Khalilullah Kh.,
23; app. darogha of mansabdars,
51; removed from daroghaship of
the filou, app. subahdar of Alla-
habad, of Malwa, 74; Gismissed
from raitk, 82; ‘created Amir Khy/
and 4-hazari, 86; app. subahdar
of Kabul, 97, death, 240.

Mir Khan 1L.—or. Abdul Wahid, S. of

¢ Mirza Kh. got the title, 118.

Mir Khan Il.—or. Haji Muhammad,
got the title, 119, . .

Mir Khan IV.—sze Abdul Karim, Mir.

Mirak Kh. I—macebearer, 88; created
Kh., 119, 129; app. faujdar of
Jalandar Doab, 127.

Mirak Kh, II.—removed

nanie

from diwani

of Panjab, 287.
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Muazzam (Md.) Prince—removed from
subahdari of the Deccan, marries
the daunghter of Raja Rup Singh,
22; app. subahdar of the Deccan,
120, marches to XLahore at the
thieat of Persian invasion, 37, app.
subahdar of Deccan, 40, created
Shah Alam Bahadur and sent on
the Kabul expedition. 94, created
40-hazari (30,000 tr.}), 96, app.
subahdar of the Deccan, 105; re-
moved, 117; nterviews Aur. near
Ajmir, 123; pusues Akbar, 125,
marches towards Konkan and
Ramdorah, 145; sent ag. Haidara-
bad, 159; captures it, 164, arresied
and umprisoned for sending secret
messages to Golkonda Sultan dur-
ing the siege of the fortress, 179,
captivity relaxed, 206-7, restored
to 40-hazari, 224; jostles with Azam
for a seat on the Emp'’s right,
226, sent as subahdar of Agra,
226, deputed {o Multan, 233; app.
subahdar of Kabul, 240, of Lahore,
255; reapp. subahdar of Panjab,
295, character, 319-20, his sons
(1) Mumzaddin, () Azzuddin, (3)
Azim-ush-Shan, {4) Daulat Afza,
(5) Rafi-ush-Shan, (6) Md Huma-
vun, (7} Khujista Akhtar.

Muazzam Kh. I.—app. Qushbegi, creat-
ed Siadat Kh, 151,

Muazzam Kh II (Mir Jumla)—joins, 6, |

pursues Shuja, 8, rewarded, 18;
occupies Knch Bihar und Garhgaon
capital of Assam, 24, retreals to
Khizirpur, dies, 27.

Mnghal Kh.—S. of Tahir Kh. darogha
of arz-i-mukarrar, app darogha
mace-bearers, 63, Mir-tuzuk, @
Qush begi, 74; removed fror
mansab, 94; akhta -hegi, 101; app.
first Mir Tuzuk, @ sent ag the
rebels of Sambhir~and Didwana,
121; app. akhta begi, 126; app. ag
Durjan Singh, 141, attacks Bundi,
143; app. subahdar of Malwa, 151,

death, 159,
Muhammad Kanauj: (Sayyid)—Shah
J.’s ustad, 178; atranges funeral

of Shah J., 34; officiates at Azam’s
marriage, 49, rewarded, 127.

Muhammad XKh., Mir—removed from
qiladari of Bidar, death, 129.

Muhammad (Sayyid) I.—successor of
samnt Qutb-ul-alam at Ahmadabad,
209-210.

Muhammad (Sayyid) IL.—grandson of
Md. Aslam, Aur’s wustad, app
Sadr of Lahore, 305.

Muhammad Shah I.—brother of Ala-
wardi Kh Alamgirshahi, 52,
Muhammad Shah IT—S of Md. Ah
Kh. Dara Shukohi, sent es envoy

to Golkonda, 133

343

e

Muhammadi Raj—counterfeit son of
Jaswant Singh, came to Ajmir,
127; death, 192, &

Muhasan Md. I.—S. of Kh. Jahan Baha-
dur, slain at Naldurg, 95.

Mohasan Md II.—brother’s S. of
Mirza Safav:i Kh., arrives at court
from Persia, 305.

Muhasan Md III {Hafiz)--S. of Saqi

Mustad Kh., app. news-writer,
275.
Muhatasham, Kh.—see Ibrahim (Mir)
Muizuddin (Md), Shahzada—S of

Shah Alam, married to danghter
of Mukartam Kh. Safavi, 93; or-
dered to stay at Burhanpur, 133,
app to punish rebels near Ahmad-
nagar, 137; marries Sayyid-un-nisa
Begam, 151; at Parnala, 217; re-
turns, 221, sent to Agra, 227,
subahdar of Multan, also of Tatta,
rewarded for victory over the
zamindar of Dogra, 260; puts
down Bakhtiyar, 279, also faujdar
of Lakhi Jungle, 295; rewarded for
conquest of Malik Ghazi, 307.
Mukarram Kh, Safavi I-—visits the
court after a period of retirement,
52; death, 55, discourse with the
Emp on music, 313
Mukarram Kh. IT.—title of Muhammad
Ishaq, 2nd 8. of Sk. Mir, 1emoved
from the daroghaship of the Emp.’s
retinue, 89, joins Afghan war, 89;
wounded in saving Aur. from an
assailant, 95, darogha of mace-
bearers, 97; pumishes rebels near
Ranthambhor, subahdar of Lahore,
117, 173; summoned to court, 235
Mukhlis Kh I—or. Qaz Nizama,
death, 153.
Mukhlis Kh. II.—S. of Saf Shikan
Kh., grandson of Qawamuddin Kh
Sadr. of Persia, app. darogha «f

artillery, , 184, of arz-i-mukarrar,
199, Qur begi,#205; app. 2nd bakh-
shi, 210, ¢Feated 3-hazari, 227, ut

the siege of Satara, 252, bunal,
261,

Mukhlis Kh III.—title of Mutaqad
Kh., app qiladar of Agra, 286.
Mukhtar Beg—3rd S. of Husain Pasha
Islam Xhan Rumi, 75; created
hazari, created Nawazish Kh., 93,
anch permitted to use Indian dress,

121, see Nawazish Kh,

Mubkh#tr Kh I.—orig Mir Shamsud-
din, app. qiladar of Parenda, 19;
subahdar of Malwa, 108; subahdar
of Gujrat, 135; death, 15I,

Mukhtar Kh. IT —S. of Mukhtar Kh.
I or. Qamruddin Kh.,; 158; sent
to the thana of Halsangi, 165, sent

. te™Biyjapur, 167; app Mir Atish,
(199, acts as deputy of Ruhullah
Kh, 199; sent ag Marathas, 204,
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Mir Atish, 221; snbahdar of Agra,
295; promoted for capture of San-
sani, 296

Multafat Kh., I.--eldest son of Azam

Kh Jahangiri, dies at Samngarh,
‘\Iultafat Kh. II.—S. of Asalat Kh.
welcomes Persian  envoys, 21,

attacked in audience hall, 55; app.
q1ladar of Delhi, 69, darogha of
imp. retinue, 73; of topkhana, 87;
fanjdar of Ghazlpur 119, removed
fanjdar of of the emvirons of Agra,
death, 128,

Multafar Kh. III —2nd bakhshi of
Prince Muazzam’s army, expelled,
179.

Multafat Kh. IV -—see Abdul Karim
(Mir)

Multan—Subahdars .~—Tarbiyat Kh,
April, 1612, 21; Tahir Kh., remov-
ed 1st Aug., 1668, 47, Lashkar Kh ,
app. st Aug., 1668, 47, Mubariz
Kh , app. May, 1670, 65; Abid Kb,

app. Aug.,, 1671, 68, Dilir Kh,
app Dec., 1674, 87; Md. Azam,
app. 19th Feb, 1676, 92; Md.
Akbar, app. 5th July, 1678, 103

Munawwar Kh. (Sayyid)—S. of Sayyid
Kh:m Jahan, app. fanjdar of Barha,

~‘\lurshld Quli Kh I--app darogha of
dagh, 76-77, app. bakhshi of Dec-
can, 79

”\Iurshld Quli Kh., II —{Kartaib Kh),
subahdar of Orissa and diwan of
Azim 1 Bengal, 288.

Muzaffar (Sayyid)—uobleman of Hai-
darabad, imprisoned by Qutb Shah
but released by Aur, arrives at
court, 140.

Muzaffar—mansabdar of Aunr’s retinue,
married Dilaram’s daughter, 276
Muzaffar Kh T.—titlc of Md Baqg, S.

of Kh. Jahan Bahadur, 147

Muraffar Kh., II.—see Himmat Kh,

147
Muzaffar Kh III.—S of Shaista Kh,
app fanjdar of Jaunpur, 210

Najabat Kh I —restored to S5-hazasi,
26, escorts the Emp {o Kashmir,
28; app subahdar of Malwa, 29;
death, 31.

Najabat Kh. II —S of Sayyid Muzaffar
Haidarabadi, 140-141.

Najabat Kh. IIL.—S of Sarbuland
Kh, brother of A1 Begam, 101;
subahdar of Burhanpur and fauj-
dar of Baglana, 279.

Namdar Kh.—app. subahdar of Delin,
65, subahdar of Oudh, 88.
Nasrat Kh. I.—8 of Kh Jahan ‘Baha-

dur, created Sipahdar Kh., 147,
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follows Ram Singh “in the Assatd
exped., 43, sent ag. Afghans, 84;
app. subahdar of Lahore, 173,
subahdar of Allahabad, 220.

Nasrat Kh, Il.—or. Md. Sami, 8. of
Kh. Jahan Bahadur, created Nastat
Kh., 147, promoted to 1-hazar,
247.

Nawazish Kh. I--or. Mukhtar Beg,
app. faujdar and qiladar of Man-
dasor, 170, defender of chakla
Moradabad, 221, removed from
faujdar: of Mandu, 286; app. subzh-
dar of Kashmir, 295.

Nawazish Kh. II.—title of Md Abid,
S of Zahid Kh. Panjabi, 61.
Netaji—sent to the comit under arrest,
accepts Islam, named Md. Quh

Kh, 40

Nima (Sindhia)—captures Rustam Kh.
Byapuri, punished by Firuz Jang,
287, Firuz Jang again sent, 288

Nizam Haxdarabadl (Shalkh)——attacks
Mir Abdul Karim and his party,
164; joins the Emp. and created
Mngqarrab Kh., 180; captures Sam-
bhaj: and created Fath Jang Khan
Zaman, 194

Orissa—Subahdars—Tarbiyal Kli, app
May, 1667, 41 Safi Kh, Oct., 1669,

56; Rashid Kh., removed, 29th
March, 1676, 92, Shasta Kh., app
March, 1676, 92, Azam through his

nath Nurullah, May, 1678, 104,
Ramgar Kh., removed, Jan., 1704,
287, Mvrshud Quli Kh., 1704, 288

Oudh—Subahdars—Fidai Kh., removed,
May, 1670, Tathiyat Kh., app May,
1670, 65, Sadat Kl , removed Nov,
1675, 88, Namdai1 Kh., app Nov,
1679, 88, Hjmmat Kn II, app
Feb, 1690, 5203, also faujdar of
Gorakhpur, wAskar Kh., Haidara-
badi, app. Oct.-Nov, 1694, 223,
Zabardast Kh., 1698, 241; Askar
Kh., removed Sept -Oct , 1700, 260;
Khudabanda Rh., app. Sept-Oct,

L

1700, 260, Shamshir Kh, app
Dec., 1703, 279, Mirza Kh. Khan-
i-Alam, removed July, 1706, 307,
Abu Nasar Kh, app. July, 1706,

307.

I'adishah Quli Kh —see Tahawwar Kh
I

FPahar Singh Gaur—rvebeis, killed by -
Mulukchand, 163.

Pam Nayak.—Chief of Sagar, tries fo
succour the Bijapur: army, 163;
his strength and relation with the
Deccan sultanates, 185; surrenders,

interviews the Emp and dies, 186.7
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arenda . fort—surrenders, 19.

arli fort.—qiladar mnegotiates, 254;
siege, 256-257; surrenders, mamed
Nauras Tara, 258.

arnala fort.—Muqarrab Kh. sent ag.,
193; DMuizaddin stationed, 217;
Bidar Bakbt sent ag., 259: Emp.
marches ag., 262; siege and capi-
tulation, 263-264; named Nabishah-
durg, 264.

arsuram  I.—minister of Rajaram,
Maratha king, issues ont of Parli,
submits, 254.

‘arsutam II.—qiladar of Khelna, sur-
renders, 272. .

‘hupdevi—daughter of the Raja of
Kishtwar, married to Md. Saultan,
91.

Purhanar Banu Begam—daughter of
Shah J. and Qandahari mahal, pre-
sents made to, 36, 37; death and
burial, 90.

Qabil Kh. I. (Abul Fath)—of Tatta,
-Munshi, retires, 15.

Qabil Kh. 1I. (Barhanuddin)—see Fazil
KEh. IT

Qabil Kh. IlI,—or. Md. Sharif, brother
of Qabil Kh. 1., munshi, darogha
of dak and letter-office, created

"y Qabil Kh,, 87; Mir munshi, dis-
missed and punished, dies ut
Lahore, 118.

Qabil Kh. IV.—darogha of library, 213,
Qalich Kh.—or., Abid Xh. created
Qalich Kh., 114: punished, 126;
app. Sadr. for 2nd time, 128; sent
to Deccan, 132; app. subahdar of
Bidar, 161; app. to the trenches
at Bijapur, 170; wounded at Gol-
konda siege, 176; death, 177; sons
EFimz Jang, 178; Hamid Xh,,
1.
Qamarnddin Kh, I.—S. of Firuz Jang,
152; created Kh., 158; 2%-hazari,
200

Qamaruddin Kh. II.—8. of Muktar Kh.
IV, created Kh., 103; Qarawwal
Begi, 318; created Mukhtar Kh,,
_see Mukhtar Kh. IL

Qamarnddin Kh. III.—S. of Amin
Kh., receives presents, 306.

Qasim Beg—attendant of Prince Azam
during his march from Bengal,
113.

Qasim Kh. I—sent with Jaswant
Singh ag. Aur., 1.

Qasim Kh. II.—officer 6f Muazzam,
promoted, 152; at the siege of Bija-
pur, 156; app. first Mir Tuzuk, 172;
sent towards Basavapatas, 173;
app. commander of Sera, _fights

Santa and killed, 228-29.°

44
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P, el
Surat, 98,  OPP- colleptor
Qasim Kh. IV.-—removed

dari of Naldurg, 279,

Qawamuddin Kh. I.—Envoy of Abul
Hasan,_ arrives at qomrt, 89.

Qawamuddin  Kh, II—(brother of
Khalifa Sultan), Sadr. of Persia,
arrtves at court, 81; promoted to
3%-hazari, 86; app. subahdar of
Kashmu:, 92. subahdar of Lahore
and fanjdar of Jammu, 105; scufile
;vzxéh Qazi Ali Akbar, 116; death,

Qazi-ul-Quzat—Abdul Wahab, 49, 88;
Sd. Ali Akbar (offg.), 88; Shaikh-
ul-Islam, app. 26 Nov., 1675, re-
signs, Nov., 1684, 146; Sd. Abu
Said, app. Nov., 1684, 146; resigns,
30 Apnl, 1685, 158; Khwaja Ab-
dullah, app. 30 April, 1685, 158;
death, 239; Md. Akram, app. Apr.,
1698, 239; death Oct.-Nov., 1705,
303; Mulla Haidar, app. March,
1706, 305, 309.

Quran—QCopied by Mirza Muhammad,
165; Asad Kh. presented with
an amulet containing the Quran,
204; a copy presented to Awr.,
290 ; two copies made by Aur. with
own hand and presented tq Medina,
313.

friom gila-

Radandaz Kh. I.—(Shujaet Xh.), fanj-
dar of the environs of Agra, app.
giladar of Agra, 32; at the .burial
of Shah J., 34; app. ag. rebels near
Agra, 53; sent ag. Satnamis, 72,
created Shujaet Kh., 72; sent to
Kabul, fights and is killed, Bl.

Radandaz Kh. IIL—app. giladar of
Adoni, 218; helps Khanahzad Kh.
at Dodderi, 230. . . .

Raghunath (Raja)—Mutsaddi of diwani
affairs, dies, .

Raghunath  Singh (Slsogixa)—deserts
from Maharana's service to Aur,
54; created hazari, 54; thanahdar
of Siwana, 112.

Raghunath Das Bhatti—officer of Jas-
want, 109.

Raichur—Ruhullak sent ag., 199; cap-
tured, 200; renamed Firuznagar,
200. ) ]

airi—Firuz Jang sent ag., 152, 154;

R Rajaram besieged by Zulfigar Kb.,
197; captured, 199, 200; name‘d
Islaxigdarh, . 236.

ajgarh—description,

R ]%84: capitulztg.;s, 289;

arh, . .

Raj:gsxl'xlgl. Jat—defeated and killed,

189,

.

besieged by Anr.
nanred Nabi-
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Rajaram II. Maratha King—brother of
Sambhuji, flees from Rairi, 197;
in the territory of the Rani of
Bidnur, escapes, 197-98; at Jinji,
238; escapes from Jinji, his family
captured, 238; dealings with Santa,
243-44; proceeds towards DBerar,
248 dies, 254; his daughters (1)
married to Shamshir Beg, (2) to
Raja Neknam, 286.

Raj Singh—Rana of Mewsr, gets pre-
sents from Aur., 86; makes repre-
sentation to Aur., 107; rebels,
Azam sent ag. 119; called the
“Desert rat’, sues for peace, in-
terviews am at Lake Raj-

. sammdra, (128} death, 130.

Raj Singh II. thor chief and officer
of the Jodhpur Raj, fights ag. Ta-
bawwar Kh, and dies. IIIL.

Ram Singh I.—eldest S. of Jai Singh
Kachhwa, receives Shivaji at Agra,
36; deprived of rank, 37; created
Raja, 41; sent ag, Assam, 43; app.
to putsue Akbar, 125.

Ram Singh II.—Raja of Chanda, de-
feated and driven to ihe hills, 153;
killed during attempt to recapture
the palace, 153,

Ram Singh Hada—sent under Nasrst
Jang to punish Dhana Jadava, 260;
at the siege of Wagingera, 298; re-
warded, 300; app. commander of
Man-maidana, 305; conveys Nasrat
Jang’s baggage to court, 306.

Rani of Bidnur—presents leiter and
tribute, 214.

Ruhullah Kh. I.—2nd S. of Khalilullah
Kh., 23; and Hamida Banu, 138; re-
moved from akhtabegiship, 65;
app. fanjdar of Dhamuni, 79; app.
faujdar of Saharanpur, 89; app.
akhtabegi, 92; app. Khan-i-Saman,
96, 98; app. akhtabegi, 107; app.
Mir Atish, 109; fights the Rana
and demolishes temples, -114-15;
app. Mir Bakhshi, ({16 2nd Bakh-
shi, {121y sent ag. Bijapur, 133* re-
turg! om Konkan expd., 140;
sent ag. the rebels near the Nira,
147; sent to reinforce Shah Alam
at Bijapur, 148; at the siege of
Bijapur, 154-55; sent 1o Ahmad-
nagar, 159; app 1Ist bakhshi, 172;
app. subahdar of Bijapur, 172; in-
terviews Aur. at Golkonda, arrests
Abul Hasan, 182; sent ag. Rai-
chur, 199, 200; sent ag. Sagar, 207;
death and character, 210.

Ruhul'ah Kh. II.—Khanahzad Kh.,
created Ruhullah XKh, II. and
Khan-i-Saman, 235; removed from
daroghaship of diwani-i-khas, 3-
hazari, 2464 app. darogha of imp.
rétinue, 247, app. to raid tract bet.
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Parnala and Satara, 249; at the
siege of Satara, 251; app. 2nd
bakhshi, 261- brings about capitu-
lation of Khelna, 272; an«i-
Saman, death, 290; sons—Khalil~
ullah Kh., Itigad Kh,

Ruhullah Kh. III.-—or. Itigad Kh, 8.

* of Ruhullah Kh., created Ruhullah
Kh., 290,

Saf Shikan Kh. I.~—pursues Dara in
Panjab, 5; in Sindh, 8; guards the
Bhiwbar pass, 28; app. fanjdar of
Mathura, 53, app. darogha of top.
khana, 82; death, 87.

Shikan Kh, II.—(S. of Qawamud-
din Kh. Sadr.), app. Mir Atish,
147; created Saf Shikan Kh, and
sent towards Srirangapatan, 148;
at Bijapur, 166; at the siege of
Golkonda, quarrels with Firuz Jang
and resigns, imprisoned, 177; but
reinstated, 178; app. darogha of
arz-i-mukarrar, 190; sent ag. Santa,
227; removed from akhta begiship,
app. faujdar of Dhamuni, 230; app.
agent of Crown Prince, 247; app.
Qur-begi and bakhshi of ahadis,
261.

Safi Kh.—S. of Islam Kh. Mashhagii,
app. subahdar of Orissa, 58; nazim
of Agra, app. nazim of Delhi, 82;
Bakhshij-ul-mulk, 100; app. to Mul-
tan, 103; starts for Lahore, 107;
removed from post of bakhshi-i-
tan, 109; reapp. nazim of Agrg,
111; qiladar of Aurangabad, 121;
nazim of Agra, 157; app. to the
army of Firuz Jang, rewarded, 171,

Saif Kh, I ~S. of Tarbiyat Kh., con-
veys Sipihr Shukoh to Gwalior,
app. subahdar of Agra, 16, retires,
re-enters service, 25; subahdar
Kashmir, conquers Tibet, 33-34;
sent to the Deccan, reapn. subsh-
dar of Kashmir, 53; retires, 8%
reinstated, (173? 91; app. subahdar
of Bihar, 104, 140; subahdar of
Allahabad, death, 157,

Saif Kh, II.—title of Sayyid Nur-ul-
dahar of Barha, 163; 222.

Saif Kh, III.—S. of Saif Kh. I re-
moved from the gitadari of Bel-
gaum, app. naib subahdar of Bija-

S pur, 286; app. fanjdar and giladar
of Beigaum and Talkonkan, 295.

Saifuddin—Shaikh of Sichind, present
at Azan’s marriage, 49; visited by
the Emperor, 53 [misprint as
Saifullah.] ]

Saifullah I.—S. of Alawardi Kb, slain
by Shuja’s order, 15.

Saf

{



INDEX

saifullah II.—Gr. S. of Said Kh., guest-
supdt. to Abullah Khan of Kash-
ghar, 42; mushrif of Qushkhana,
reports a trues dream, 77; killed
in action, 134.

Saifullah Kh. I.—Mir Bahr., joins
Shah Alam, 127-28; removed, 153;
Mir Tuzuk, death, 168.

Sagar—Pam Nayak, zamindar, inter-
views, 146; sitmation & strength,
Khanahzad Kh., sent ag., 185;
surrenders, 186; remamed Nasra-
tabad, 186; Raja Anup Singh, fauj-
dar, 218; Sarfaraz Kh. and Chattra-
sal, fanjdar and giladar, 234,

Salih I (Md.) Khwaja—S. of Khwaja
Tahir Nagshbandi, married to
Murad Bakhsh’s daughter, 87;
marries daughter of Shaikh Mir,

106.

Salih II. (Md.)—officer of Kh. Jahan
Bahadur, 88: Qazi of Aurangabad,
app. Qazi of Delhi, 146.

Salih Kh. I. (Hakim)-—dies, 8i.

Salih Kh. II. (Md.)—S. of Azam Kh.
Kokah (Fidai Kh.), created Kh.,
82; darogha of ghusalkhanah, 116;
Mir Bakhshi of the Ahadis, 137;
faujdar and diwan of Bareli,
151-52; created Fidai Kh., removed
from fanjdari of Gwalior, app.
subahdar of Agra, 223; subahdar
of Bihar, 224; also fanjdar of Tir-
hut and Darbhanga, 260-6!. °

Salih Kh. ITT.—(S. of Wazir Kh. Shah
Jahani), Mir Tuzuk, 135; app.
darogha of Fhawases, created
Anwar Kh., 166; death, 212.

Santa—resists Mugha! invasion of Bid-
nar, 198; defeated by Himmat
Kh., 218; plunders imp. territory,

. defeats Qasim Xh., 227-230; his
end, head sent to Aur., 243-44.

Sarbuland Kh.—(S. of Ai Begam,
danghter of Mirza Shahrukh), sent
to Deccan, 40; app. Qurbegi, 53;
escorts Nawab Bai to Aurangabad,
64; app. Qushbegi, 66; subahdar
of Agra, 73; app. 2nd bakhshi, 74,
Bakhshi-nl-mulk and promoted to
4-hazari, 86; sent ag. Afghans, 89;
removed from mansab but rein-
stated, 92; his mother Ai Begam's
death, 10t; sent ag. Jodhpur, 110;
Mir Bakhshi, death, 115.

Sarbuland Kh. II.—or. Khwaja Vaknb,
sent ag. rebels near Bahadurgarh,
146; death, 157.

Sarbuland Kh. III.—brother of Sar-
faraz Kh., rewarded, 181.

Sarbuland Kh. 1V.-zor. Khwaja Musa,
his soms—Kh, Zakriya and Kh.

Yahiya, 305.
Sardar Kh. I.—officer of Ahmadabad,
opposes Dara in his invasion cf

Gujrat, 12.
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Sardar Kh. II.—or. Thtamam Kh., 179;
removed from the post of Karori-
ganj, 178; guards Shah Alam,
created Sardar Kh., 179; removed
from nazirship, darogha of filkhana,
113)5; l}{~h§zatz}'i, 1?0; faujdar of 12

S Toun e imp. ca 202;
death, 208. P TP, 2023

Sardar Kh. Bijapuri—alias Sarandaz
Kh., betrays the fort of Golkonda
to the Mughal army, 182; qiladar
of Bidar, 2i18.

Sardar Kh. Muhafiz—conveys certain
prayers to Shah Alam, 206; order-
ed to accompany Arsalan Kh. to
Kashghar, 261.

Satara—fort, Rustam Kh. sent ag.,
202; besieged, 250; capitulates,
254; renamed Azamtara, 254; Aur.
visits it, 256.

Shafi Kh.—app. diwan-i-tan, 48;/ app.
diwan of the Deccan, 64\;)diw£1
of Bengal, 105, 119; app. diwan of
Deccan for tevenve settlement,
143; app. giladar of Ayrangabad,
lgé ; daftardar-i-tan, 199 j removed,
202.

Shahu—S. of Shambhuji, taken cap-
tive at Rairi, created Raja and 7-
hazari, 200; interviews Awnr., 260;
rewarded, 281; betrothed io Baha-
durji’s daughter, 287: visits Firuz
Jang’s house, 294.

Shaikh-ul-Islam—S. of Qazi Abdul
Wahab, resigns Qaziship, 146; pro-
ceeds Lo Mecca, 154

Shaista Kh.—mat. uncle of Aur., sent
ag. Sulaiman Shukoh, 5; app.
subahdar of the Deccan, 15; cap-
tures Chakna and Parenda, 19;
night attack by Shivaji and tranms-
fer to Bengal, 28; conquers Chat-
gaon, 35; and Morang, subahdar
of Orissa, 92; removed from Ben-
gal, presents curios, app. subahdar
of Agra, 103-4, reapp. subahdar of
Bengal, 111; reapp. subahdar of

223, death and character,

523)
Sbaji—(S. of Shivaji) created 6-

hazari, 88; two wives, one daugh-
ter, captured, 150; his officer Asnjl,
qiladar of Salhir, deserts to - Aur.,
181; Azam deputed ag., 187; cap-
tnred and executed at Koregaon,
193-195, s family taken captive,
199-200; his sons—Shahu, Madan
Singh, Adhu Singh, 200; his
daughter married to Md. Muhi-

\uddln, 287. X . p
sharif Kh.—or. Khwaja Shah, create:
S Sharif Kh., 86; app.‘darogha of

dagh, 119; fights the ~D‘ecceuis,
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134; app. Sadr., 135; death, "138;
his sons—Md. Adil, Md. Salih,
138.

}

Sharif Kh. I. Sayyid—S. of Mir Sd.
Mubammad Qananji, app. karori-
ganj and collector of jaziya for
Deccan, 178, 181.

Shihabuddin, Mir (Ghaziuddin Kh,

Bahadur, Firuz Jang)—S. of Qalich
Kh., arrives at Court, 56; traces
out Hasan Ali Kh. and rewarded
with the title of Kh., 114; app.
Mir Bakhshi of the ahadis, 133;
app. darogha of mace-bearers, 138,
created Ghaziuddin Kh. Bahadur,
147; sent towards Puna and Garh
namuna, 148; sent ag. Rairi, 152;
gains a victory, created Firuz Jang,
154; sent towards Ahmadnagar,
158; joins Shah Alam in the cam-
paign ag. Golkonda,- 160; sent to
relieve Azam Shah at Bijapur, 162;
gets Mahi maratib, 163; defeats
Berads, 163, captures Haidarabad,
176; at siege of Golkonda,
intercepts  correspondence  bet.
Muazzam and Abnl Hasan, 179;
wounded at Golkonda, 180; ecap-
tures Adoni, 187, 191; eye-troubles,
192, 193; rewarded,” 205; pursues
Santa, .sends his head to court,
244; captures Deogarh, 247; app.
to guard the base, 264,.267; app.
subahdar of Berar, 274; his mahalla
inspected by Emp. 278; created
sipahsalar and rewarded for suc-

cess, ag. Nima, 286; app. to
chatise Nima and Chhatrasal Bun-
dela, 288.

Shivaji-attacks Shaista Kh, at Puna,
28; submits and concludes Puran-
dar treaty with Jai Singh, 33; ot
Agra, 36; house-interned but es-
capes, 37; captures Purandar, 62;
sacks Surat, 66: attacks Mungi
Patan, 102; death, 120.

Shuja—crowns himself, 1; advances,
5; defeated at Khajwa, 6-8; leaves
Tanda for Dacca, 17; escapes to
Arakan, 18.

_Shujaet Kh. I.—see Radandaz Xh.

Shujaet Kh. IL.—or. Ibrahim, S. of
Qawammuddin  Kh. deserts from
Akbar and joins Mnazzam, *126;
app. Mir Atish, 147; created Saf
Shikan Xh., 148; see Saf Shikan
Kh. IL

Shujaet Kh. III.—Md. Beg, Kartalb
Kh., faujdar of Ahmadabad, app.
mutasaddi of Surat port, 150, nazim
of Ahmadabad and promoted to
4-hazari, 233, presents articles of
miriyam stone, 247; death, 265.

177;.
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Shujaet Kh. IV.—of Haidarabad, joins
Emp. created 5-hazari and Shujaet
Kh., 149; dies, 155: his son Malik
Miran, 155.

Sikandar Kh.—or. Sikandar Beg, ar-
rives from Persia to court, created

_~Kh., 161; made Yskandar Kh., 171.

Sikandar Kh.—or, Sikandar Adil Shah,
surrenders, 171; created Sikandar
Kh., rewarded, 171.

Sindhia~see Nima.

Sulaiman Shukoh—S. of Dara, sent ag.
Shuja, 1; takes refuge in Kumaun
hills, 5; brought to court and
lodged in Salimgarh, 20.

Snltan, Prince Muhammad—eldest son
of Aur., in the battle with Shuja,
6-7; pursues Shuja, 8; captures
Allahabad, 9, joins Shuja, 15; de-
serts him, 17; in captivity at
Gwalior, 64; conveyed to Salim-
garh, 74; interviews the Emp.,
marries Murad Bakhsh’s daughter,
Dostdar Banu, 77; visits the tomb
of Sk. Qutbuddin, 78; restored to
the rank of 20-hazari, rewarded,
86; marries Bai Phupdevi, 91;
marries daughter of Daulatabadi
mahal’s brother, 95; dies, 98.

Surat—Mutsaddis of Port-—Mustafa
Kh,, 1661, 20; Ghiyasuddin Xh.,
removed, end 1676, 98; Qidsim Kh.,
app. end, 1676, 98; Md. Beg Kar-
talb Kh., removed, 4th Sept., 151;
Salabat Kh., app. 4th Sept., 1684,
151; Amanat Kh., death, 1699,
zzgg; Dianat Kh., app. end, 1699,

Tahawwar Kh. I.—removed from fanj-
dari of Oundh, 108; app. fanjdar
of Ajmir, 107; defeats Raj Singh
Rathor, 111; created Padishah Quli
Kh., 116; incites Akbar into rebel-
lion, 123; killed, 124.

Tabawwar Kh. II.—(or. Fazil Beg,
brother of Tahawwar Kh. I), creat-
ed Tahawwar Kh., app. under
Himmat Kh., 168; promoted, 207.

Tahir I.—Khwaja, Nagshbandi—father
of Md. Salih, 73 .

Tahir II. Md.—an old servant of Aur.,
app. diwan of Hasau Ali Khan,
execnted for carsing the first
three caliphs, 74.

Tahir IIL-—Md. Malla, brother of
Auz Wajih and envoy of Subhan
QOuli Kh. rewarded, 92; mat.
uncle of Imayetullah Kh., 217.

Tahir Kh.—removed from subahdari
of Multan, 47; faujdar of Miwat,
*71; faujdar of Jodhpur, 106; dis-
missed and deprived of the title,
110.
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Taj Sultana— (Bijapuri Mahal) wife of
Azam, gets present, 143,

Tagi Kh. I.—a courier of Golkouda,
interviews Aur., 164.

Tagi XKh. II.—a leading merchant of
Persia, interviews the Emp., 247,

Taqi Kh. 1II.—grand s. of Bahramand
Kh., married to the daughter of

. Shaistia Kh., 286.

Tarbiyat Kh. 1.—subahdar of Multan,
entertains the Iranian envoy Budaq
Beg, 21; sent on an embassy to
Iran, 29; punished on r , 37;
app. subahdar of Orissa, ¢1;)subah-
dar of Qudh, 657 app. darogha of
imp. retinue, 89; faujdar of Tirhut
and Darbhanga, 977 fanjdar of
Jannpar, 129;)death, 166.

Tarbiyat Kh.\n’./—sent ag. the enemy
to Mahadeo hill, 232; Mir Atish,
sent to Berar, 241; ag. Satva
Dafle, 247; DMir Atish, at the
siege of Basantgarh, 249; of Satara,
250; of Parnala, 262-63; rewarded,
285; posted at the Amba pass,
270; at siege of Kondana, 282; of
Rajgarh, 284; qiladar of Parnala
and Puna, also darogha of the
Deccan artillery, 295-296; sent ag.
the Marathas near Wagingera, 307.

Temples—fordered for destruction]
(1) Malarna, 53; (i) Khandela,
106; destroyed—Visvanath at Kasi, |
55; Kesho Rai at Mathura, 60;
Jodhpur, 108; Udaipur (before the
palace), 115; on Udaisagar Lake
(3 temuples), 116; Environs of Udai-
pur {172 temples), 116-17; Chitor
(63 temples), 117; Ambar (66 tem-

- ples), 120; Bijapur, 241.
'orna—besieged, 289-290; named Fath-
. nl-ghaib, 290,
Trinomali—fort, captured, 208.
Torkey—envoy of Turkey, arrives, 203.

Uddhav Bairagi—Hindu saint, punish-

ed, 53. .

Udwat Singh I Bhadauriya—S. of Maha
Singh B., 141; app. giladar of
Chitor, 121; created Raja, 140;
sent ag. Durjan Singh, ‘141; ag.
Ibrahimgarh, 173,

Udwat Singh 1I.—zamindar of Urchha,
created Raja, 202; serving in the
army of Firnz Jang, created fauj-
dar of Irij, 211; qgiladar of Kheluna,

281,

Ughlan (Sayfid)—app. tutor of Kam-
bakhsh,{ 14p; created Siadat Kh.,
158; app._darogha of arz-i-mukar-
rar, 261. !

Urganj—Khan Mirza, envoy, arrives
at cdonrt, 127.
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Vijay Singh—or. Jamuna Singh, br
ggs Sawai Jai Singh, got this title,

Vyank(;ji—brother of Santa, taken cap-
tive by Abdullah Kh. 198 = X

Wafa (Khwaja)—darogha  of
Sukhasajya-khana, 171.

Wafadar Kh.—s¢e Zabardast Kh, II.

Wagingera—fort, Kambakash sent ag,,
214; Ruhullah app. ag.,, 214;
strength, 291-92; Aur. marches ag.,
202; siege, 296-208; capitulates,
299-300; mnamed Rahmanbakhsh
Khera, 301.

Wala Jah—S. of Azam Shah, created
a 7-hazari, 218.

Waris Kh.-—news-reader and aunthor of

the

Padishahnema, Vol, (I, Ikilled
by a mad student, Q,l-g/
Wazir Kh.—Ordered to—"accompany

Muazzam to court, 15; subahdar
of Khandesh, app. subahdar of
Malwa, 3t; death, 74.

Vahiya K, Rumi—seni ag. the Sat-
namis, 71. .
Vahiya Pasha—Gov. of Basra, arrives

at court, 68.

Yalangtosh Kh. Bahadur—marries, 93;
created 134-hazari, 96; sent to bring
Aurangabadi Mahal to Ajmir, 117;
stabs himself,bereduigd 151 c;-:;.nk,
156; app. Qurbegi, 134; discharg-
ed bnlt) veapp., 152; darogha of
khawases, 155; deprived of post
and rank, 166; his son Subhan-
wardi, 138.

Yar Kh. Md.—S. of Itigad Xh. brother
of Shaista Kh., marnes the daugh-
ter of Farrukh Fal, 68; app.
darogha of goldsmith’s dept., 101;
darogha of Qur-khana, 102; pro-
moted to 2-hazari, 184; removed
from daroghaship of arz-i-mugar
199; app. subahdar of Delhi, 4233,5
fanjdar of Moradabad, 275 ..

Yashwant Rao Deccani—promoted 1o
4-hazari, 135. .

Vemen—its ruler Ismail sends pre-
sents, 32

abardast, Kh. L-—(S. of Ibrahim Kh.,
z bagr. s. of Ali Mardan Kh.), subahb-
dar of Oudh, 3-hazari, 241; remov-
ed from subahdari of Labore, 295;
subahdar of Ajmir, 205.
Zabhardast Kh. 1I.—or. Wafadar Kh.,
created Zahardast Kh. and sent
as envoy to Balkh, 156.
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Zakiat-un-nisa—daughter of Md. Ak-
bar, matried to Khujista Akhtar,
288.

Zeb-un-nisa—arrives at imp. camp at
Ajmir, 117, 119; punished for writ-
ing to rebel Akbar, lodged in
Salimgarh fort, 126; dies, buried
in Bagh-i-Tis hazari, 275; accom-
plishments and character, 322.

Zinat-un-nisa—Visits Rulinllah Kh.’s
hounse, 138; supervises Muizuddin’s

MAASIR-I-‘ ALAMGIRI

o marriage, 152; visits Shah Alam
after his mother’s death, 207; in-
tercedes for Kambakhsh, 217,
attends on Azam during illness,
218 and 219; arrives at Khawaspur,
260, 307; character, 323.

Zubdat-un-nisa—daughter of Aur., mat-
ries Sipihr Shukol, 77; death, 323,
Zulfigar Kh.—Qaramanln, father of

Asad Kh. Umdat ul mulk, dies,
16,
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